

Tetrahedron Vol. 62, No. 41, 2006

Contents

REPORT

Recent applications of 2,4,6-trichloro-1,3,5-triazine and its derivatives in organic synthesis Grzegorz Blotny

pp 9507-9522



A new recently published application of 2,4,6-trichloro-1,3,5-triazine (CC) and its derivatives in organic synthesis are reviewed.

ARTICLES

Palladium catalysed bis- and tris-cyclisations furnishing fused cyclopropyl carbo/heterocycles pp 9523-9532 Ronald Grigg,* Uthai Sakee, Visuvanathar Sridharan, Sukanthini Sukirthalingam and Ravishanker Thangavelauthum



Solid-phase synthesis of backbone-cyclized β-helical peptides

pp 9533-9540





Achieving saturated red photoluminescence and electroluminescence with readily synthesized maleimide-arylamine copolymers

pp 9541–9547

Li-Hsin Chan, Yu-Der Lee* and Chin-Ti Chen*



Introduction of ethynylene and thienylene spacers into 2,5-diarylthiazole and 2,5-diarylthiophene pp 9548–9553 Kei Kobayashi, Mohamed S. Mohamed Ahmed and Atsunori Mori*



Tandem versus single C–C bond forming reaction under palladium–copper catalysis: regioselective pp 9554–9570 synthesis of α-pyrones fused with thiophene

Sirisilla Raju, Venkateswara Rao Batchu, Nalivela Kumara Swamy, R. Vasu Dev, Bukkapattanam R. Sreekanth, J. Moses Babu, K. Vyas, P. Rajender Kumar, K. Mukkanti, Pazhanimuthu Annamalai and Manojit Pal*



Direct asymmetric aldol reaction catalyzed by nanocrystalline magnesium oxide pp 9571–9576 B. M. Choudary,* Lakkoju Chakrapani, Thekkathu Ramani, K. Vijay Kumar and M. Lakshmi Kantam*



Reactions of 1,4-bis(tetrazole)benzenes: formation of long chain alkyl halides

Andrew D. Bond, Adrienne Fleming, Fintan Kelleher, John McGinley* and Vipa Prajapati



Reactions of 1,4-bis[2-(tributylstannyl)tetrazol-5-yl]benzene with α , ω -dibromoalkanes led to the formation of several alkyl halide derivatives, substituted variously at N1 or N2 on the tetrazole ring. The X-ray crystal structures of a number of derivatives are discussed.

Synthesis of large generation poly(propyl ether imine) (PETIM) dendrimers Govindasamy Jayamurugan and Narayanaswamy Jayaraman* pp 9582–9588



Synthesis of chlorine-containing angucycline BE-23254 and its analogs Dipakranjan Mal* and Satyajit Dey



Nanostaircase formation in the solid state from self-assembling synthetic terephthalamides with pp 9603–9609 a common molecular scaffold

Sudipta Ray, Raghurama P. Hegde, Apurba Kumar Das, N. Shamala* and Arindam Banerjee*





pp 9577-9581

1,4-Addition of arylboronic acids to β-aryl-α,β-unsaturated ketones and esters catalyzed by a rhodium(I)–chiraphos complex for catalytic and enantioselective synthesis of selective endothelin A receptor antagonists

Takahiro Itoh,* Toshiaki Mase, Takashi Nishikata, Tetsuji Iyama, Hiroto Tachikawa, Yuri Kobayashi, Yasunori Yamamoto and Norio Miyaura*



 $10 \text{-} \text{Oxo-} 10\text{H-} 5\lambda^4, 10\lambda^4 \text{-} \text{thianthren-} 5\text{-} \text{ylideneamine as a probe for stereochemistry in the formation} \qquad \text{pp } 9622\text{-} 9627$ and amination of fluoro- λ^6 -sulfanenitriles

Takayoshi Fujii,* Tomoyoshi Takano, Shinsuke Asai, Hiroyuki Morita, Mitsuo Hirata and Toshiaki Yoshimura*



Synthesis of (S)-gizzerosine, a potent inducer of gizzard erosion in chicks Yasuharu Shimasaki, Hiromasa Kiyota,* Minoru Sato and Shigefumi Kuwahara

pp 9628–9634

pp 9610-9621



(S)-Gizzerosine, a potent inducer of gizzard erosion in chicks, was synthesized using successive zinc-mediated and palladium-catalyzed coupling reactions as the key steps.

Urea/thiourea-based colorimetric chemosensors for the biologically important ions: efficient and pp 9635–9640 simple sensors

Yeong-Joon Kim,* Han Kwak, Se Jin Lee, Je Sin Lee, Hyun Jung Kwon, Sang Ho Nam, Kyoungrim Lee and Cheal Kim*



Enantioselective synthesis and absolute configurations of aculeatins A, B, D, and 6*-epi*-aculeatin D pp 9641–9649 Paula Álvarez-Bercedo, Eva Falomir,* Miguel Carda and J. A. Marco*



A novel method for the reduction of sulfoxides and pyridine *N*-oxides with the system silane/MoO₂Cl₂ pp 9650–9654 Ana C. Fernandes^{*} and Carlos C. Romão

The system silane/MoO₂Cl₂ (5 mol %) proved to be very efficient for the reduction of aliphatic and aromatic sulfoxides and pyridine *N*-oxides to the corresponding sulfides and pyridines in good yields.



Aplysiadiol from *Aplysia dactylomela* suggested a key intermediate for a unified biogenesis of regular pp 9655–9660 and irregular marine algal bisabolene-type metabolites

Inmaculada Brito, Teresa Dias, Ana R. Díaz-Marrero, José Darias and Mercedes Cueto*



Two novel blue pigments with ellagitannin moiety, rosacyanins A1 and A2, isolated from the petals of pp 9661–9670 *Rosa hybrida*

Yuko Fukui,* Kyosuke Nomoto,* Takashi Iwashita, Katsuyoshi Masuda, Yoshikazu Tanaka and Takaaki Kusumi

The structure of rosacynanin A1 and A2 consisted of a common chromophore containing cyanidin with a galloyl group link between positions 4 and 5 of the flavylium nucleus and tellimagrandins (1 or 2).



Introduction of the Aib-Pro unit into peptides by means of the 'azirine/oxazolone method' on solid pp 9671-9680 phase

Simon Stamm and Heinz Heimgartner*



Gallic esters of 4,5-dinitrocatechol as potential building blocks for thermotropic liquid crystals pp 9681-9687 Roxana Judele, Sabine Laschat,* Angelika Baro and Manfred Nimtz



Stereoselective synthesis of (E)-4-alkoxy-2-aryl-5-chloro-2-thiazolines Antonio Guirado,* Raquel Andreu, Bruno Martiz and Sergio Pérez-Ballester



Synthesis of 7-hydroxy-6H-benzo[c]chromen-6-ones based on a '[3+3] cyclization/domino retro-Michael-aldol-lactonization' strategy

pp 9694-9700

Ehsan Ullah, Bettina Appel, Christine Fischer and Peter Langer*



pp 9688-9693

Synthesis and inclusion capability of a $\beta\mbox{-cyclodextrin-tetrathiafulvalene}$ derivative

Georgiana G. Surpateanu, David Landy, Catalin N. Lungu, Sophie Fourmentin, Gheorghe Surpateanu,* Céline Réthoré and Narcis Avarvari*



On the mechanism of conversion of 4-carboxy-3,4-dihydro-3-phenyl-1(2*H*)-isoquinolones to indeno[1,2-*c*]isoquinolines by thionyl chloride Xiangshu Xiao, Andrew Morrell, Phillip E. Fanwick and Mark Cushman^{*}

CH

HOOC

MeO

MeC

Dibromomethane as one-carbon source in organic synthesis: total synthesis of (±)-canadensolidepp 9713–9717Yung-Son Hon* and Cheng-Han Hsieh



SOCI2

MeO

MeO

CH3

A diastereoselective total synthesis of (\pm) -canadensolide is described. The key step is to introduce the α -methylene group by the ozonolysis of mono-substituted alkenes followed by reaction with a preheated mixture of CH₂Br₂-Et₂NH.

The synthesis of heterocyclic derivatives from pyran-2-ones and hydrazine hydrate. Ammonium cerium(IV) nitrate as an efficient oxidant in pyridazine chemistry Franc Požgan, Slovenko Polanc and Marijan Kočevar*



pp 9718-9725



pp 9705-9712

9503

 $(\mathbf{i})^{+}$

Regioselective dehydrogenation of 3,4-dihydropyrimidin-2(1H)-ones mediated by ceric ammonium nitrate

P. Shanmugam and P. T. Perumal*



Synthesis and complexation studies of intra annularly linked bicyclic cyclophanes Perumal Rajakumar* and Rajagopal Kanagalatha

Oxidative cleavage of ribofuranose $5-(\alpha-hydroxyphosphonates)$: a route to erythrofuranose-based pp 9742-9750 nucleoside phosphonic acids

Šárka Králíková, Miloš Buděšínský, Ivana Tomečková and Ivan Rosenberg*



Radical mediated stereoselective synthesis of (4R,8R)-4,8-dimethyldecanal, an aggregation pheromone pp 9751-9757 of Tribolium flour beetles

Yoko Kameda and Hajime Nagano*



pp 9726-9734

pp 9735-9741

Synthesis of calix[4]arene(amido)monocrowns and their photoresponsive derivatives Har Mohindra Chawla,* Suneel Pratap Singh and Shailesh Upreti

pp 9758–9768



Effect of a perfluorocyclopentene core unit on the structures and photoluminescence of fluorene- and pp 9769–9777 anthracene-based compounds

Mijung Han, Sooyong Lee, Jonghwa Jung, Ki-Min Park, Soon-Ki Kwon, Jaejung Ko,* Phil Ho Lee* and Youngjin Kang*

A series of fluorene- and anthracene-based compounds linked by perfluorocyclopentene core unit have been synthesized and characterized, and compounds **1** and **5** have been confirmed by X-ray single-crystal analysis. These compounds show a bright blue emission with high photoluminescence quantum efficiency.



Corresponding author () Supplementary data available via ScienceDirect



Full text of this journal is available, on-line from ScienceDirect. Visit www.sciencedirect.com for more information.

Abstracted/indexed in: AGRICOLA, Beilstein, BIOSIS Previews, CAB Abstracts, Chemical Abstracts. Current Contents: Life Sciences, Current Contents: Physical, Chemical and Earth Sciences, Current Contents Search, Derwent Drug File, Ei compendex, EMBASE/Excerpta Medica, Medline, PASCAL, Research Alert, Science Citation Index, SciSearch. Also covered in the abstract and citation database SCOPUS[®]. Full text available on ScienceDirect[®]



ISSN 0040-4020



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9507-9522

Tetrahedron report number 770

Recent applications of 2,4,6-trichloro-1,3,5-triazine and its derivatives in organic synthesis

Grzegorz Blotny*

Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, University of Maryland Baltimore County, 1000 Hilltop Circle, Baltimore, MD 21250, USA

> Received 21 June 2006 Available online 14 August 2006

Contents

1.	Introduction	9507
2.	2,4,6-Trichloro-1,3,5-triazine (CC)	9508
3.	Applications of CC in synthesis of substituted s-triazines	9509
4.	CC in dendrimers synthesis and supramolecular complexes	9511
5.	Cyanuric chloride in functional group transformation	9511
6.	Cyanuric chloride in solid-phase synthesis	9514
7.	2-Chloro-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine in functional group transformation	9514
8.	Applications of other derivatives of <i>s</i> -triazine in organic synthesis	9517
9.	Conclusion	9518
	Acknowledgements	9519
	References and notes	9519
	Biographical sketch	9522

1. Introduction

1,3,5-Triazine derivatives have been known for a long period of time. They have found widespread applications in the pharmaceutical, textile, plastic, and rubber industries, and are used as pesticides, dyestuffs, optical bleaches, explosives, and surface active agents. The chemistry of this group

* Tel.: +1 410 4552564; fax: +1 410 4552608; e-mail: blotny@umbc.edu

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter @ 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.039

of compounds has been studied intensively and has been the subject of many reviews. $^{\rm 1-6}$

Development of valuable methods for the preparation of many substances is still a challenge. The main issues in modern synthetic organic chemistry are selectivity, mildness, improvement of efficiency, and the avoidance of toxic reagents and by-products. From this point of view, considerable attention has been devoted to the development of new 1,3,5-triazine derivatives as reagents in organic synthesis.

Because common, nonsystematic nomenclature is prevalent in the chemical literature of triazine, it is important to briefly review the systematic and common names of some important derivatives, which are shown in Figure 1.

All of the *s*-triazine derivatives that have wide practical applications are 2,4,6-mono, di- or tri-substituted, symmetrical and nonsymmetrical compounds bearing different substituents. The most important reagent for obtaining these compounds is cyanuric chloride (CC), because of the

Keywords: 2,4,6-Trichloro-1,3,5-triazine; 2-Chloro-4,6-dimethoxy-s-triazine; Functional group transformations.

Abbreviations: CA, cyanuric acid; ICA, isocyanuric acid; CC, cyanuric chloride; TCICA, trichloroisocyanuric acid; M, melamine; BNCT, boron neutron capture therapy; TEMPO, 2,2,6,6-tetramethyl piperidine-1-oxyl; Z, benzyloxycarbonyl; Boc, *tert*-butoxycarbonyl; Fmoc, 9-fluorenyl-methoxycarbonyl; NMM, 4-methylmorpholine; DMF, dimethylformamid; MW, microwave irradiation; DMSO, dimethylsulfoxide; PEG, polyethylene glycol; CDMT, 2-chloro-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine; DMTMM, 4-(4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine; CF, 2,4,6-trifluoro-1,3,5-triazine; Trt, trityl; THF, tetrahydrofuran; TEA, triethylamine; Py, pyridine; *m*-CPBA, *meta*-chloroperbenzoic acid; DME, 1,2-dimethoxy-ethane; DIPEA, diisopropylethylamine.



Figure 1.

reactivity of its chlorine atoms toward nucleophiles. It is also important to stress that CC is commercially available and a very inexpensive reagent, which makes its applications even more attractive. In this review, the synthesis of new 2,4,6-derivatives of 1,3,5-triazine together with novel applications of cyanuric chloride and its derivatives, in a variety of synthetic transformations, will be presented. Because of the large volume of work in this area, only the most relevant recently published applications will be presented.

2. 2,4,6-Trichloro-1,3,5-triazine (CC)

The ease of displacement of chlorine atoms in cyanuric chloride by various nucleophiles, in the presence of a hydrochloride acceptor (usually sodium carbonate, bicarbonate, hydroxide or tertiary amines), makes this reagent useful for the preparation of mono-, di- and tri-substituted 1,3,5-triazines.² The substitution of chlorine can be controlled by temperature to run in a stepwise manner. An empirical rule, based upon observation, is that mono-substitution of chlorine occurs below or at 0 °C, di-substitution at room temperature and tri-substitution above 60 °C (Scheme 1).

The substitution pattern also depends on the structure of the nucleophile, its basic strength and steric factors, the substituent already present in the *s*-triazine ring and the nature of solvent used. Therefore the empirical rule given above is just a rough guideline, and there are many variations from these conditions. By controlling the temperature, time, and optimization of variables, such as solvent and base, the substitution of chlorine in CC with different substituents can be accomplished in one pot, if the correct order of addition of nucleophiles is followed (e.g., O-nucleophiles followed by

N-nucleophiles). For example, Menicagli ^{7,8} achieved nearly quantitave yields of both symmetric and nonsymmetric mono-, di- and tri-substituted alkoxy and amino 1,3,5-triazines by nucleophilic substitution of CC in one pot in the presence of a catalytic amount of 18-crown-6.

A new orthogonal method for solid-phase synthesis of 2,4,6trisubstituted 1,3,5-triazine was developed by Chang et al.^{9,10} They attached a primary amine to an aldehyde resin by reductive amination. This was then reacted with separately prepared mono-substituted dichloro-*s*-triazine. The trisubstituted derivatives were obtained by nucleophilic reaction with an amine,⁹ or by a Suzuki coupling reaction with phenylboronic acid.⁹ Cleavage of the resin gave the trisubstituted product (Scheme 2) with high purity. Unfortunately, the authors did not report the yields of this reaction.^{9,10}

An interesting strategy based on sulfones was presented by the same authors.¹¹ Separately synthesized 2-benzylsulfanyl-2,6-dichloro-1,3,5-triazine was reacted with amine bonded to the resin. After substitution of the third chlorine atom with a primary or secondary amine, the thioether was oxidized to benzyl sulfone generating a good leaving group. Reaction with another amine and cleavage of the resin gave the trisubstituted *s*-triazine (Scheme 3).

To avoid harsh conditions in the substitution of the last chlorine atom by an amino group Simanek et al.¹² treated chlorotriazine with either triphenylmethylamine and diphenylmethylamine or 2,4-dimethoxybenzylamine. The substitution was accomplished in 5–15 min using microwave technique. The acid labile benzylic groups were removed by trifluoroacetic acid giving the product with high yield.



HNu₁, HNu₂, HNu₃ = N, O, P, S, F nucleophiles ⁵



Scheme 3.

Scheme 2.

3. Applications of CC in synthesis of substituted *s*-triazines

Falorni et al.¹³ synthesized tri-functionalized orthogonally protected templates 1 (Fig. 2) in a one-pot procedure, which was used in a liquid-phase parallel synthesis.

By reacting CC with 3 equiv of p-hydroxybenzaldehyde, Tahmassebi and Sasaki¹⁴ obtained, a triangular- 'tripod' in



Figure 2.

a single step **2** (Fig. 2). It was used for the imprinting of a silica surface¹⁴ or for linking to N-terminus peptides by reductive amination to assemble three-helix bundle proteins.¹⁵ A linear template- 'dipod' **3** was also synthesized using a 2,4-dichloro-6-methoxy-1,3,5-triazine with 2 equiv of aldehyde, instead of CC.¹⁶

Gustafson,¹⁷ for the first time, incorporated a triazine ring in carbohydrates, peptides, aminimides, and α -ketoamides by the selective derivatization of CC in a one-pot procedure using automated parallel solution synthesis, e.g., **4** (Fig. 2).

Recently, the synthesis of a novel disubstituted exocyclic triazylamino nucleoside **5** (Fig. 3) library was reported using a stepwise amination of CC on a semiautomated synthesizer.^{18,19} The natural mimic nucleosides were obtained as potential antitumor and antiviral agents.

The temperature dependent reactivity of CC was exploited for the synthesis of different kinds of calix[*n*]arens,^{20,21} e.g., **6** and **7** (Fig. 3), as well as macrocycles containing triazine moeties linked by diamines,²² e.g., **8** (Fig. 3). Because of the presence of many hydrogen bond donors and acceptors these compounds exhibit very promising binding properties. CC was also used to link a calix[4]arene to a carbohydrate natural polymer.²³

By stepwise amination of CC with 5-(4-aminophenyl)-10,15,20-triphenylporphyrin, Carofiglio et al.²⁴ synthesized





porphyrin-dyads. Similarly amination with aminoporphyrin produced Zn(II) complex metaloporphyrin dyads like **9** (Fig. 3). CC was also used for obtaining porphyrin oligomers.²⁵ These compounds have found various applications like mimicking the selectivity and reactivity of enzymes, and as material for optoelectronics.

Zerkowski²⁶ utilized triazinyl amino acid **10** (Fig. 3) as building block for unnatural peptide analogs, which were obtained from CC by nucleophilic substitution with diamines and amino acid esters. The third chlorine in the triazine ring can be used for incorporation of other functionalities, or for attachment to a solid-phase resin. Several macrocyclic pseudopeptides were synthesized using these derivatives.

Recently, different *o*-carboranyl derivatives of 1,3,5-triazine were synthesized from CC as tumor targeting agents for boron neutron capture therapy (BNCT). One, two or three *o*-carboranyl residues were incorporated into *s*-triazine.^{27–29}

The remaining chlorine atoms were substituted by various amines^{27,28} or acids,²⁹ e.g., **11** and **12** (Fig. 4).

A new Sharpless asymmetric ligand was synthesized using CC, quinine, and 4-bromoaniline³⁰ **13** (Fig. 4). This new catalyst is inexpensive, and gives a good yield and enantio-selectivity in the dihydroxylation of alkenes.

The carbon nitride was synthesized by heating CC and sodium azide in benzene at 220 °C, which forms high quality nanotubes **14** (Fig. 4), by self-assembly.³¹

A fluorous derivative of a radical 2,2,6,6-tetramethyl piperidine-1-oxyl (TEMPO) was synthesized using CC **15** (Fig. 4), which is efficient, selective, and an easily recoverable catalyst for oxidation of alcohols.³²

 N^{α} -dichlorotriazinyl-arginylalkyl-amide monohydrochlorides, e.g., **16** (Fig. 4) were synthesized as new surfactants for application as antimicrobial and antihelminthic agents





Figure 4.

for wool and cotton, to protect these material from degradation. $^{\rm 33}$

4. CC in dendrimers synthesis and supramolecular complexes

Controlling the reaction temperature of CC with different diamines allowed Simanek's group^{34–40} and Lai et al.⁴¹ to synthesize dendrimers, e.g., **17** (Fig. 5), even without employing protection and deprotection processes. They have potential applications in medicine as vehicles for drug delivery, and in the area of electro- and optomaterials.

Triazine derivatives, such as cyanuric or isocyanuric acids and melamines (obtained from CC), can act as both hydrogen bond donors and acceptors. The hydrogen-bonding networks that form between them are responsible for forming supramolecular, well defined and stable aggregates. These aggregates were first described by Lehn⁴² and by Whitesides.⁴³ The noncovalently bonded assemblies can exist in different forms, e.g., as a cyclic rosette **18** (Fig. 5), and have been the subject of many structural studies^{44–53} and reviews.^{54–56} The Reinhoudt group^{46,52,56,57} combined synthesized calix[4] arene dimelamine with cyanuric or barbituric acid, and studied the aggregates formed between them.

5. Cyanuric chloride in functional group transformation

In spite of the enormous number of publications devoted to functional group transformation,⁵⁸ there is still a need for

mild methods that exhibit selectivity among functional groups, especially in the case of polyfunctional derivatives. In the older literature, one can find examples of applications of 2,4,6-trichloro-1,3,5-triazine in synthesis.^{59–66} Recently there has been a considerable growth of interest in the use of cyanuric chloride and its derivatives in organic synthesis.

Cyanuric chloride is often used for activation of carboxylic acids in various transformations. There is disagreement about the initial product of the reaction of carboxylic acids with CC. Some claim that the product is acid chloride, $^{59,61-63,67}$ which was isolated and characterized in some cases. Others^{68–72} argue that the acylated *s*-triazine is an intermediate, but there is a lack of direct proof of its formation.⁷³

Falorni⁶⁸ reported that carboxylic acids, including *N*-protected amino acids, can be activated with CC and subsequently reduced to their corresponding alcohols with sodium borohydride in water (Scheme 4). This method is particularly suitable for the reduction of *N*-*Z*, *N*-Boc, and *N*-Fmoc amino acids, and results in high yields without racemization. The authors suggest that 2-acyloxy-4,6-dichloro-1,3,5-triazine is formed as an intermediate.

Rayle and Fellmeth⁷⁰ successfully used CC for the preparation of amides, and claim that 2,4,6-triacyloxy-1,3,5-triazine is an intermediate (Scheme 5).

A new route in the synthesis of diazo ketones was reported by the Forbes group.⁷¹ Aryl carboxylic acids were activated by CC, and reacted with diazomethane (Scheme 6) to diazocarbonyl compounds with moderate yields. Unfortunately,





Figure 5.





Scheme 4.





Scheme 5.



Scheme 6.

during this reaction a significant amount of methyl esters were formed as a by-product. This reaction was carried out in water, in a one-pot procedure, which is an advantage over other methods.

Bandgar and Pandit⁷² applied CC for synthesis of acyl azides directly from carboxylic acids (Scheme 7). Various aryl, heteroaryl, alkylaryl, and alkyl carboxylic acyl azides were obtained under mild conditions with high yields.

 $R \longrightarrow OH \xrightarrow{CC \cdot DMF} R \longrightarrow CI$

R= alkyl, aralkyl, N-protected amino alcohol

Scheme 10.

The CC/DMF complex was also used for selective protection of primary alcohols by a formyl residue⁷⁸ (Scheme 11). Phenols, along with 2° , 3° benzylic, allylic, and propargylic



Scheme 7.

Recently, Giacomelli⁷⁴ reported a mild and simple one-step method for the preparation of hydroxamic acids. The carboxylic acid or *N*-protected α -amino acid was treated with CC in the presence of NMM followed by hydroxylamine hydrochloride (Scheme 8). Even though the reaction took 6–12 h, the purity and yields were high and no significant racemization was observed. No *O*-acyl or di and triacylated products were formed. Also, hydroxamic acids of *N*-protected dipeptides were obtained by this method.

$$Pg \stackrel{H}{\xrightarrow{}} OH \stackrel{O}{\xrightarrow{}} OH \stackrel{CC, NMM, DMAP(cat)}{\xrightarrow{} NH_2OH HCI, CH_2CI_2, 0^{\circ}C} Pg \stackrel{H}{\xrightarrow{}} Pg \stackrel{O}{\xrightarrow{}} H \stackrel{O}{\xrightarrow{}} OH$$

$$Pg = Z, Boc, Fmoc-protecting group$$

$$R = amino acid side chain$$

Scheme 8.

2,4,6-Trichloro-1,3,5-triazine was applied as a chlorinating agent for the preparation of sulfonyl chlorides from sulfonic acids under neutral conditions.⁷⁵ CC, sulfonic acids, and triethylamine or CC, sodium sulfonates, and catalytic amounts of 18-crown-6 acetone, after heating under reflux gave, good to excellent yields of alkyl and aryl sulfonyl chlorides (Scheme 9).

$$R-SO_{2}CI \xrightarrow{18-crown-6}{Acetone} R-SO_{3}Na^{+} + N \xrightarrow{N} + R-SO_{3}H \xrightarrow{NEt_{3}}{Acetone} R-SO_{2}CI$$

$$R = alkyl, aryl$$

Scheme 9.

Although Sandler⁶⁰ used CC for the preparation of alkyl chlorides from their corresponding alcohols, Giacomelli⁷⁶ elegantly improved the reaction by using CC and a dimethyl-formamid adduct⁷⁷ for chlorination (Scheme 10). Also, alkyl bromides were obtained by addition of sodium bromide to the CC/DMF adduct. The method was very mild, efficient, and chemoselective. *N*-protected- β -aminochlorides were obtained from their corresponding amino alcohols as well as chloroalcohols from diols.

alcohols did not react in the given conditions. *N*-protected β -amino alcohols were also converted to *O*-formates with some exceptions.

$$R \frown OH = \frac{1) CC/DMF, LiF}{CH_2 Cl_2, r.t.} R \frown O \frown O$$

R= alkyl, aralkyl, alkenyl

Scheme 11.

Ketoxime, upon treatment with the CC/DMF complex in dimethylformamide at room temperature, underwent the Beckmann rearrangement⁷⁹ with high yields and purity (Scheme 12). In the case of cyclic ketones, lactams were obtained in high yields. Aldoximes gave nitriles under the same conditions. Recently, other authors⁸⁰ performed a Beckmann rearrangement in acetonitrile using an acidic cocatalyst besides CC.



Scheme 12.

Cyanuric chloride catalyzes the oxidation of different types of thiols to disulfides using dimethylsulfoxide, resulting in high yields and purity.⁸¹ De Luca et al.⁸² used CC for activation of DMSO in the Swern oxidation (Scheme 13). A variety of aldehydes, ketones, and *N*-protected amino aldehydes were prepared with high yields.

Karimi⁸³ reported efficient deprotection of a variety of 1,3dithioacetals and 1,3-oxathiolanes to their corresponding carbonyl compounds using CC. The reaction conditions were mild and time short, and the isolated products were pure and of high yields. 1,3-Oxathioacetals and 1,3 dithioacetals of enolizable ketones gave ring enlargement product derivatives, for example, see Scheme 14.



Scheme 13.



Scheme 14.

A very mild method for the conversion of formamides to isonitriles using CC in the presence of a base was recently published by Porcheddu et al.⁸⁴ They postulate that the reaction proceeds through the formation of an O-acylated intermediate (Scheme 15).

$$\stackrel{H}{R} \stackrel{O}{\longrightarrow} \stackrel{CC, \text{ base}}{\xrightarrow{}} R^{-N \equiv C}$$

Scheme 15.

Using microwave irradiation (MW), alkyl, cyclic, acyclic benzylic and aromatic, and optically active isonitriles were obtained in a matter of minutes with high yields.

6. Cyanuric chloride in solid-phase synthesis

Solid-phase synthesis, since it's discovery by Merifield,⁸⁵ is now routinely used in automated synthesizers.⁸⁶ Cyanuric chloride also found applications in solid-supported strategy.

Masala and Tadei⁶⁹ loaded CC on different types of amino functionalized resins. These new reagents were used for activation of carboxylic acids to give amides and dipeptides



A new resin supported chlorinating reagent, based on CC, has been developed by Luo and co-workers.⁶⁷ Cyanuric chloride, loaded on a modified Wang resin, was used for the preparation of acyl chlorides (Scheme 17). The acyl chlorides were not isolated, but were converted to their benzylamides or esters. The yields were good, but chiral amino acids were racemized.

Polyethylene glycol (MeO–PEG–OH) was reacted with CC to give PEG-dichlorotriazine,⁸⁷ which was used as a soluble electrophilic scavenger that removes alcohols, thiols, triphe-nylphosphine, and phosphine oxide from the reaction mixture by selective precipitation and filtration (Scheme 18).

Marsh⁸⁸ loaded resins with *s*-triazine dendrimers, which have been used as proton and nucleophile scavengers **18** and **19**, respectively (Fig. 6) in the purification of combinatorially derived products.

7. 2-Chloro-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine in functional group transformation

2-Chloro-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine (CDMT) was recently found to have wide applications as a condensing reagent in peptide chemistry.⁷³ It is commercially available, but can also be easily synthesized.^{7,89} Activation of carboxylic acids by means of CDMT is a multi-step process, and was elegantly and thoroughly examined by Kaminski.^{73,,90,,91} It depends upon the specific reaction conditions, such as the order of addition of reagents.⁹² The reaction



Scheme 16.



Scheme 18.



Figure 6.

requires the presence of a tertiary amine, usually *N*-methylmorpholine (NMM). In standard procedure, the first step was reacting CDMT with NMM to form 4-(4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5triazin-2-yl)-4-methylmorpholinium chloride (DMTMM), and then the carboxylic acid was added in the next step generating an active ester **21** (Scheme 19), which subsequently gave with an amine the desired product.

No significant racemization was observed during the synthesis of peptides. Optical purity was found to be more that 99.5%.⁷³ Another sequence of addition of reagents, e.g., mixing CDMT with carboxylic acid and NMM, stirring for 1 h, then adding amino acid ester, lead to significant racemization via formation of azlactone.⁹² Another protocol was suggested by Garrett et al.⁹² The reaction was provided in a one-pot, one-step procedure, i.e., they mixed CDMT with acid and amine reagents and then NMM to the reaction medium. No significant loss of configuration was observed,

and the reaction was finish faster. When chiral tertiary amines such as strychnine, brucine or sparteine were used instead of NMM, using CDMT in coupling of racemic *N*-protected amino acid with amino components, the reaction proceeds enantioselectively.⁹¹

4-(4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazin-2-yl)-4-methylmorpholinium chloride was isolated and fully characterized.^{90,93} It is a stable compound that can be stored in the solid state at room temperature for up to a month or for several months in the refrigerator, without detectable decomposition. This reagent combined with carboxylic acid gave an active ester **21** (Scheme 19), and was used as condensing reagent for synthesis of esters and amides.^{94–96}

Taddei⁹⁷ reported the application of DMTMM to the solidphase synthesis of peptides. The yields and purity of the products were high.



R₁= alkyl, aralkyl, aryl, C-protected amino acid or peptide

Scheme 19.

Recently, Kaminski et al.⁹⁸ introduced 4-(4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazin-2-yl)-4-methylmorpholinium tetrafluoroborate as a more stable reagent than the corresponding DMTMM chloride. The new coupling reagent was used in ester and peptide synthesis, in solution, and in solid-phase synthesis.

DMTMM **21** (Scheme 20) can be generated by different protocols mentioned above. This active ester, without isolation was used for many transformation of carboxylic group.

Giacomelli et al.⁹⁹ prepared it using CDMT and applied it to the synthesis of *N*-methoxy-*N*-methylamides, commonly named Weinreb amides **22** (Scheme 20), a useful precursor to ketones.¹⁰⁰ A variety of these compounds were obtained quantitatively from carboxylic acids, and *N*-protected amino acids with high yields and purity. DMTMM was also used for this purpose, but the yields of Weinreb amides were lower.

It was reported that active ester **21** (Scheme 20), prepared from DMTMM was reduced by hydrogen and Pt/C as the

catalyst to the corresponding aldehyde **23** (Scheme 20) in good yields.¹⁰¹ Required optimization of the solvent, hydrogen pressure, temperature, and time of reduction are disadvantages to this method. Higher hydrogen pressure (5 atm) gave alcohols.

Activated esters of aromatic carboxylic acid, and *N*-Boc or *N*-*Z* protected α -amino acids were converted to ketones **25** (Scheme 20) or α -amino ketones by Grignard reagent in the presence of stoichiometric amounts of CuI.¹⁰²

Bandar and Pandit¹⁰³ reported the synthesis of 2-oxazolines **26** (Scheme 20) from acyloxy triazine. The active ester was reacted at room temperature with 2-amino-2-methyl-1-propanol giving the desired product with good yields.

The same conditions, were used for the selective preparation of monoacylated piperazine derivatives **27** (Scheme 20) with good yields.¹⁰⁴ Monoacylation of symmetrical diamines often becomes problematic due to competitive bisacylation.





Figure 7.

Recently, active ester **21** of formic acid was used for the formylation of amines and α -amino acid esters **28** (Scheme 20).¹⁰⁵ The reaction was conducted under reflux in methylene chloride, or under microwave irradiation to reduce the reaction time from hours to a few minutes. The yields were high, the products pure and no significant racemization of the chiral centers was observed.

Based on the reactivity of CC, Kunishima et al.¹⁰⁶ published preliminary data about a new immobilized dehydrocondensing reagent in a polymerized form (Fig. 7). This polymer reacts with carboxylic acids, in the presence of a NMM like CDMT or DMTMM, giving active esters, which with amines, gave amides in good yields.

8. Applications of other derivatives of *s*-triazine in organic synthesis

Markowicz and Dembinski developed a fluorous 2-chloro-4,6-bis-[(heptadecafluorononyl)oxy]-1,3,5-triazine (^FCDMT), an analog of CDMT, as a new coupling reagent in peptide synthesis.¹⁰⁷ It was prepared from CC and heptadecafluorononan-1-ol (Scheme 21), and fully characterized. It is believed that the mechanism of activation of a carboxylic acid by ^FCDMT is similar to that of CDMT (Scheme 19). The advantage of this method lies in nonaqueous and nonacidic isolation protocol. The fluorous by-product is insoluble in organic solvents. Extraction by chloroform or ethyl acetate gave, after filtration, di and tripeptides in excellent yields.



R= alkyl, aralkyl, cycloalkyl, aryl, N-Fmoc or N-Trt-amino acid residue

Scheme 22.

found less applications in organic synthesis. As a *N*-chloramine it was used mostly as a chlorination and oxidation agent, and was the subject of a review where references to it's different applications can be found.¹¹¹

Giacomelli applied TCICA for oxidation of primary alcohols, and *N*-protected- β -amino alcohols to aldehydes (Scheme 23).¹¹² The reaction was fast (15–20 min), yields high, and no overoxidation to carboxylic acids was detected. The secondary alcohols can be oxidized to ketones, but the reaction requires more than 6 h for completion. Because of this, primary alcohols can be selectively oxidized in the presence of secondary alcohols.

Very recently other authors¹¹³ found that TCICA in the presence of catalytic amount of potassium bromide and wet silica gel selectively oxidized benzylic and secondary alcohols.

It was reported that TCICA, in the presence of free radical TEMPO, converts primary amines to their corre-



Scheme 21.

2,4,6-Trifluoro-1,3,5-triazine CF (Scheme 22), with the common name of cyanuric fluoride, was prepared from CC.¹⁰⁸ It easily converts carboxylic acids as well as *N*-Fmoc and *N*-Trt amino acids, to the corresponding fluorides, which in turn gave excellent yields in both solution and solid-phase peptide synthesis.^{109,110} The fluorides were especially useful in the incorporation of sterically hindered amino acids without loss of configuration.

1,3,5-Trichloro-2,4,6-trioxo-*s*-triazine, with the commonly used name-trichloroisocyanuric acid (TCICA), is produced on a large scale for household and industry use, but has

sponding nitriles in mild conditions and with high yields (Scheme 23).¹¹⁴

Frouzabadi et al.¹¹⁵ published that TCICA is an efficient catalyst for the thioacetalization of aldehydes, and the transthioacetalization of O,O- and S,O-acetals (Scheme 24). The reaction was run at room temperature and was very selective in the presence of ketones.

Zolfigol et al. recently used TCICA to oxidize 1,3,5-trisubstituted pyrazolines to their corresponding pyrazoles (Scheme 25).¹¹⁶ The reaction was run at room temperature

 $R-CN \xrightarrow{\mathsf{TEMPO}(1 \text{ mol}\%)}_{CH_2Cl_2, \ 10^{\circ}C} R-CH_2NH_2 + \underbrace{\bigcirc N \\ Cl - N \\ O \\ Cl - N \\ Cl - N \\ Cl - N \\ Cl \\ R = alkyl, \ aryl \\ R = alkyl, \ aralkyl, \ aryl, \ alkeny, \\ R = alkyl, \ aralkyl, \ aryl, \ alkeny, \\ R = alkyl, \ aryl \\ R = alkyl \\ R =$

Scheme 23.





Scheme 24.

in carbon tetrachloride, or under solvent free conditions. In both cases the yields were good.



Scheme 25.

Trichloroisocyanuric acid was also applied for *N*-chlorination of amides, lactams, and carbamates as intermediates in organic synthesis.¹¹⁷ Primary amides gave *N*-mono or *N*,*N*-dichloroamides, depending on the ratio of reagents and the reaction conditions (Scheme 26). Chlorination of amino acid carbamates does not need the protection of the carboxylic function.

$$R \xrightarrow[C]{} N^{-H} \xrightarrow[acetone/CHCl_3 1:2,4 \text{ hrs}} R \xrightarrow[H]{} N^{-R^1(H)} \frac{1.1 \text{ eq.TCICA}}{CH_2Cl_2,r.t. 1-3 \text{ hrs}} R \xrightarrow[L]{} N^{-R^1(CI)}$$

Scheme 26.

Carboxylic acids can be converted to acid chlorides by a reaction with TCICA in the presence of triphenylphosphine under mild conditions.¹¹⁸ The acid chlorides were not isolated, but reaction with amines or alcohols afforded corresponding amides or esters (Scheme 27).

A very mild method for obtaining dialkyl chlorophosphates, by stirring TCICA with dialkyl phosphites in acetonitrile at room temperature was published (Scheme 28).¹¹⁹ The reaction was finished in 10–15 min, giving products in excellent yields.



N-protected amino acid residue

Scheme 28.

Kunishima et al.¹²⁰ very recently reported synthesis of new reagents for introduction of Boc and Fmoc protective groups into amines. By reaction of 4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazin-2-ol (obtained from CC) with di-*tert*-butyl dicarbonate or with 9-fluorenylmethyl chloroformate, they obtained *tert*-butyl 2,4-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazinyl carbonate or 9-fluorenylmethyl 4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazinyl carbonate, respectively (Scheme 29). Both are stable nonirritating compounds, which allowed the introduction of Boc or Fmoc group into amines and amino acids in the range of minutes, without detectable side reactions.



R= tert. butyl or 9 fluorenylmethyl

Scheme 29.

9. Conclusion

This paper has reviewed recently published applications of 2,4,6-trichloro-1,3,5-triazine, and its related derivatives in organic synthesis. Increased interest in CC lies in the different reactivities of chlorine atoms, which are easily controlled by temperature. It allows sequential introduction of various substituents into a s-triazine ring using a onepot procedure. These reagents also found applications in solid-phase synthesis by a combinatorial approach, as a template for peptides, for synthesis of dendrimers and noncovalently bonded supramolecular aggregates. Carboxylic acid's activation by CC or DMCT was used in many chemical transformations, and can be a valid alternative to other methods so as to avoid the use of toxic or expensive reagents. Sometimes the reactions needed hours to be completed, but these procedures have advantages over older methods in terms of yields, mildness, and green chemistry.

$$\begin{array}{c} O \\ R \\ \hline O-H \end{array} + TCICA \xrightarrow{Ph_3P, CH_2Cl_2} \\ \hline O^oC, r.t., 45 \text{ min.} \end{array} + \begin{array}{c} O \\ R \\ \hline CI \end{array} \xrightarrow{amines or alcohols} \\ \hline NEt_3 \end{array} A mides or Esters$$

Further applications of cyanuric chloride and its derivatives can be expected.

Acknowledgements

Support from the Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, University of Maryland Baltimore County is gratefully acknowledged. I thank Dr. R. M. Pollack for carefully reading the manuscript, for his critical comments, and valuable suggestions. I also thank Ms. N. Eaton for technical help.

References and notes

- Smolin, E. M.; Rapoport, L. s-Triazine and Derivatives in The Chemistry of Heterocyclic Compounds; Interscience: New York, NY, 1959.
- 2. Mur, V. I. *Russ. Chem. Rev.* **1964**, *33*, 92–103 and references therein.
- Quirke, M. E. 1,3,5-Triazines. *Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry*; Katritzky, A. R., Rees, C. W., Eds.; Pergamon: New York, NY, 1984; Vol. 3, pp 457–530.
- Bartholomew, D. 1,3,5-Triazines. In *Comprehensive Hetero-cyclic Chemistry II*; Boulton, A. J., Ed.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1996; Vol. 6, p 575.
- Comins, D. L.; O'Connor. Advances in Heterocyclic Chemistry; Katritzky, A. R., Ed.; Academic: New York, NY, 1988; Vol. 44, p 243.
- Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A.; De Luca, L. Curr. Org. Chem. 2004, 8, 1497–1519.
- Menicagli, R.; Malanga, C.; Peluso, P. Synth. Commun. 1994, 24, 2153–2158.
- Samaritani, S.; Peluso, P.; Malanga, C.; Menicagli, R. *Eur. J.* Org. Chem. 2002, 1551–1555.
- Moon, H.-S.; Jacobson, E. M.; Khersonsky, S. M.; Luzung, M. R.; Walsh, D. P.; Xiong, W.; Lee, J. W.; Parikh, P. B.; Lam, J. C.; Kang, T.-W.; Rosania, G. R.; Schier, A. F.; Chang, Y.-T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 11608–11609.
- Bork, J. T.; Lee, J. W.; Cheng, Y.-T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2003, 44, 6141–6144.
- Bork, J. T.; Lee, J. W.; Khersonsky, S. M.; Moon, H.-M.; Chang, Y.-T. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 117–120.
- Hollink, E.; Simanek, E. E.; Bergbreiter, D. E. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2005, 46, 2005–2008.
- 13. Falorni, M.; Giacomelli, G.; Mameli, L.; Porcheddu, A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 7607–7610.
- 14. Tahmassebi, D. C.; Sasaki, T. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 679–681.
- Tahmassebi, D. C.; Sasaki, T. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 728– 731.
- Shin, Y.; Liu, J.; Wang, L.-Q.; Nie, Z.; Samuels, W. D.; Fryxell, G. E.; Exarhos, G. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 2702–2707.
- Gustafson, G. R.; Baldino, C. M.; O'Donnell, M.-M.; Sheldon, A.; Tarsa, R. J.; Verni, C. J.; Coffen, D. L. *Tetrahedron* **1998**, *54*, 4051–4065.
- Varaprasad, C. V.; Habib, Q.; Li, D. Y.; Huang, J.; Abt, J. W.; Rong, F.; Hong, Z.; An, H. *Tetrahedron* **2003**, *59*, 2297–2307.
- Hysell, M.; Siegel, J. S.; Tor, Y. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 2946–2952.

- 20. Yang, X.; Lowe, C. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 1359– 1362.
- Wang, M.-X.; Yang, H.-B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 15412–15422.
- Löwik, D. W. P. M.; Lowe, C. R. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 2825–2839.
- 23. Engrand, P.; Regnouf-de-Vains, J.-B. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, *43*, 8863–8866.
- 24. Carofiglio, T.; Varotto, A.; Tonellato, U. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 8121–8124.
- 25. Ichihara, K.; Naruta, Y. Chem. Lett. 1995, 631-632.
- 26. Zerkowski, J. A.; Hensley, L. M.; Abramowitz, D. Synlett 2002, 557–560.
- 27. Azev, Y. A.; Dülcks, T.; Gabel, D. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2003**, *44*, 8689–8691.
- 28. Lee, C.-H.; Lim, H.-G.; Nakamura, H.; Kang, S. O. Appl. Organomet. Chem. 2003, 17, 539–548.
- 29. Ronchi, S.; Prosperi, D.; Compostella, F.; Panza, L. *Synlett* **2004**, 1007–1010.
- McNamara, C. A.; King, F.; Bradley, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 8527–8529.
- Guo, Q.; Xie, Y.; Wang, X.; Zhang, S.; Hou, T.; Lv, S. Chem. Commun. 2004, 26–27.
- Pozzi, G.; Cavazzini, M.; Holczknecht, O.; Quici, S.; Shepperson, I. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 4249–4251.
- 33. Piera, E.; Comelles, F.; Erra, P.; Infante, M. R. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans.* 2 **1998**, 335–342.
- 34. Zhang, W.; Simanek, E. E. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 843-845.
- 35. Zhang, W.; Nowlan, D. T.; Thomson, L. M.; Lackowski, W.; Simanek, E. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 8914–8922.
- Zhang, W.; Simanek, E. E. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2001, 42, 5355– 5357.
- Zhang, W.; Tichy, S. E.; Pérez, L. M.; Maria, G. C.; Lindahl, P. A.; Simanek, E. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 5086– 5094.
- Steffensen, M.; Simanek, E. E. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 5178–5180.
- Chen, H.-T.; Neerman, M. F.; Parrish, A. R.; Simanek, E. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 10044–10048.
- Steffensen, M. B.; Simanek, E. E. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 2359– 2361.
- Lai, L. L.; Wang, L. Y.; Lee, C. H.; Lin, Y. C.; Cheng, K. L. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 1541–1544.
- 42. Lehn, J. M.; Mascal, M.; DeCian, A.; Fisher, J. J. Chem. Soc., *Chem. Commun.* **1990**, 479–480.
- Mathias, J. P.; Seto, C. T.; Simanek, E. E.; Whitesides, G. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 1725–1736.
- 44. Timmerman, P.; Weidemann, J.-L.; Jolliffe, K. A.; Prins, L. J.; Reinhoudt, D. N.; Shinkai, S.; Frish, L.; Cohen, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 2000, 2077–2089.
- Lipkowski, P.; Bielejewska, A.; Kooijman, H.; Spek, A. L.; Timmerman, P.; Reinhoudt, D. N. *Chem. Commun.* 1999, 1311–1312.
- Prins, L. J.; Jolliffe, K. A.; Hulst, R.; Timmerman, P.; Reinhoudt, D. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 3617– 3627.
- 47. Prins, L. J.; Neuteboom, E. E.; Parashiv, V.; Crego-Calama, M.; Timmerman, P.; Reinhoudt, D. N. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 4808–4820.
- Arduini, M.; Crego-Calama, M.; Timmerman, P.; Reinhoudt, D. N. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 1097–1106.
- Archer, E. A.; Goldberg, N. T.; Lynch, V.; Krische, M. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 5006–5007.

- 50. Archer, E. A.; Cauble, D. F.; Lynch, V.; Krische, M. J. *Tetrahedron* **2002**, *58*, 721–725.
- Archer, E. A.; Krische, M. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 5074–5083.
- Timmerman, P.; Vreekamp, R. H.; Hulst, R.; Verboom, W.; Reinhoudt, D. N.; Rissanen, K.; Udachin, K. A.; Ripmeester, J. *Chem.—Eur. J.* **1997**, *3*, 1823–1832.
- 53. Perdigao, L. M. A.; Champness, N. R.; Beton, H. P. *Chem. Commun.* **2006**, 538–540.
- 54. Lawrence, D. S.; Jiang, T.; Levett, M. Chem. Rev. 1995, 95, 2229–2260.
- Conn, M. M.; Rebek, J., Jr. Chem. Rev. 1997, 97, 1647– 1668.
- Timmerman, P.; Prins, L. J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 3191– 3205.
- Mateos-Timoneda, M. A.; Crego-Calama, M.; Reinhoudt, D. N. *Chem.—Eur. J.* 2006, *12*, 2630–2638.
- Larock, R. C. Comprehensive Organic Transformation; VCH: New York, NY, 1989.
- 59. Senier, A. Chem. Ber. 1886, 19, 310-312.
- 60. Sandler, S. R. J. Org. Chem. 1970, 35, 3967-3970.
- 61. Venkataramen, K.; Wagle, D. R. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1979**, *32*, 3037–3040.
- Lahoti, R. J.; Wagle, D. R. Indian J. Chem. 1981, 20B, 852– 855.
- Lahoti, R. J.; Wagle, D. R. Indian J. Chem. 1981, 20B, 1007– 1008.
- 64. Olah, G. A.; Fung, A. P.; Gupta, B. G. B.; Narang, S. C. Synthesis 1980, 221.
- 65. Olah, G. A.; Narang, S. C.; Fung, A. P.; Gupta, B. G. B. Synthesis **1980**, 657–658.
- Chakrabarti, J. K.; Hotten, T. M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1972, 1226–1227.
- Luo, G.; Xu, L.; Poindexter, G. S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 8909–8912.
- Falorni, M.; Porcheddu, A.; Tadei, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1999, 40, 4395–4396.
- 69. Masala, S.; Tadei, M. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 1355-1357.
- 70. Rayle, H. L.; Fellmeth, L. Org. Process Res. Dev. 1999, 3, 172–176.
- 71. Forbes, D. C.; Barrett, E. J.; Lewis, D. L.; Smith, M. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 9943–9947.
- Bandgar, B. P.; Pandit, S. S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 3413– 3414.
- Kaminski, Z. J. Biopolimers (Pept. Sci) 2000, 55, 140– 164.
- Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A.; Salaris, M. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 2715–2717.
- 75. Blotny, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 1499-1501.
- De Luca, L.; Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A. Organic Lett. 2002, 4, 553–555.
- 77. Gold, H. Angew. Chem. 1960, 72, 956-959.
- De Luca, L.; Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 5152–5155.
- De Luca, L.; Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 6272–6274.
- Furuya, Y.; Ishihara, K.; Yamamoto, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 11240–11241.
- 81. Karimi, B.; Hazarkhami, H.; Zareyee, D. Synthesis 2002, 2513–2516.
- De Luca, L.; Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 7907–7909.
- 83. Karimi, B.; Hazarkhani, H. Synthesis 2003, 2547-2551.

- Porcheddu, A.; Giacomelli, G.; Salaris, M. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 2361–2363.
- 85. Merifield, R. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1963, 85, 2149-2154.
- Kates, S. A.; Albericio, F. Solid-Phase Synthesis: A Practical Guide; Marcel Dekker: New York, NY, 2000.
- 87. Falchi, A.; Tadei, M. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 3429-3431.
- Marsh, A.; Carlisle, S. J.; Smith, S. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2001, 42, 493–496.
- Cronin, J. S.; Ginah, F. O.; Murray, A. R.; Copp, J. D. Synth. Commun. 1996, 26, 3491–3494.
- Kaminski, Z. J.; Paneth, P.; Rudzinski, J. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 4248–4255.
- Kaminski, Z. J.; Kolesinska, B.; Kaminska, J. E.; Gora, J. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 6276–6281.
- Garrett, C. E.; Jiang, X.; Prasad, K.; Repic, O. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 4161–4165.
- 93. Kunishima, M.; Kawachi, C.; Iwasaki, F.; Terao, K.; Tani, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, *40*, 5327–5330.
- Kunishima, M.; Kawachi, C.; Morita, J.; Terao, K.; Iwasaki, F.; Tani, S. *Tetrahedron* **1999**, *55*, 13159–13170.
- Kunishima, M.; Morita, J.; Kawachi, C.; Iwasaki, F.; Terao, K.; Tani, S. Synlett 1999, 1255–1256.
- Kunishima, M.; Kawachi, C.; Hioki, K.; Terao, K.; Tani, S. *Tetrahedron* 2001, 57, 1551–1558.
- Falchi, A.; Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A.; Taddei, M. Synlett 2000, 275–277.
- Kaminski, Z. J.; Kolesinska, B.; Kolesinska, J.; Sabatino, G.; Chelli, M.; Rovero, P.; Blaszczyk, M.; Glowka, M. L.; Papini, A. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 16912–16920.
- De Luca, L.; Giacomelli, G.; Taddei, M. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 2534–2537.
- Nahm, S.; Weinreb, S. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1981, 22, 3815– 3818.
- 101. Falorni, M.; Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A.; Tadei, M. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 8962–8964.
- 102. De Luca, L.; Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 1519–1521.
- 103. Bandgar, B. P.; Pandit, S. S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2003, 44, 2331– 2333.
- 104. Bandgar, B. P.; Pandit, S. S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2003, 44, 3855– 3858.
- 105. De Luca, L.; Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A.; Salaris, M. *Synlett* **2004**, 2570–2572.
- 106. Kunishima, M.; Yamamoto, K.; Watanabe, Y.; Hioki, K.; Tani, S. *Chem. Commun.* **2005**, 2698–2700.
- 107. Markowicz, M. W.; Dembinski, R. Synthesis 2004, 80-86.
- Olah, G. A.; Nojima, M.; Kerekes, I. Synthesis 1973, 487– 488.
- Karygiannis, G.; Athanassopoulos, C.; Mamos, P.; Karamanos, N.; Papaioannou, D.; Francis, G. W. Acta Chem. Scand. 1998, 52, 1144–1150.
- Carpino, L. A.; Ionescu, D.; El-Faham, A.; Beyermann, M.; Henklein, P.; Hanay, C.; Wenschuh, H.; Bienert, M. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 975–977 and references therein.
- 111. Tilstam, U.; Weinmann, H. Org. Process Res. Dev. 2002, 6, 384–393.
- 112. De Luca, L.; Giacomelli, G.; Porcheddu, A. *Org. Lett.* **2001**, *3*, 3041–3043.
- 113. Zolfigol, M. A.; Shirini, F.; Choghamarani, A. G. *Synthesis* **2006**, 2043–2046.
- 114. Chen, F.-E.; Kuang, Y.-Y.; Dai; Lu, L.; Huo, M. *Synthesis* **2003**, 2629–2631.

- 115. Frouzabadi, H.; Iranpoor, N.; Hazarkhani, H. Synlett 2001, 1641–1643.
- 116. Zolfigol, M. A.; Azarifar, D.; Maleki, B. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 2181–2183.
- 117. De Luca, L.; Giacomelli, G.; Nieddu, G. Synlett **2005**, 223–226.
- 118. Rodrigues, R. C.; Barros, I. M. A.; Lima, E. L. S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2005**, *46*, 5945–5947.
- 119. Acharya, J.; Gupta, A. K.; Shakya, P. D.; Kaushik, M. P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2005**, *46*, 5293–5295.
- Hioki, K.; Kinugasa, M.; Kishimoto, M.; Fujiwara, M.; Tani, S.; Kunishima, M. Synthesis 2006, 1931–1933.

Biographical sketch



Grzegorz Blotny was born in Bydgoszcz (Poland). He studied chemistry at Gdansk Technical University (Gdansk, Poland) and completed his PhD in the field of peptide chemistry in 1966 with Emil Taschner and Zygmunt Ledochowski. As faculty at Gdansk Technical University, he completed his habilitation in 1983. During the period of 1983–1984, he was a visiting scientist at N.I.H. (USA). In 1985 he moved to the University of Maryland Baltimore County (Baltimore, USA), where he is a Research Associate Professor. His research interests focus on peptide chemistry and the development of new methodologies in organic synthesis.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9523-9532

Palladium catalysed bis- and tris-cyclisations furnishing fused cyclopropyl carbo/heterocycles

Ronald Grigg,^{*} Uthai Sakee, Visuvanathar Sridharan, Sukanthini Sukirthalingam and Ravishanker Thangavelauthum

Molecular Innovation Diversity and Automated Synthesis (MIDAS) Centre, School of Chemistry, Leeds University, Leeds LS2 9JT, UK

> Received 26 May 2006; revised 7 July 2006; accepted 27 July 2006 Available online 21 August 2006

Abstract—Catalytic bis- and tris-cyclisation of a series of acyclic carbo- and heterocyclic precursors results in formation of two or three rings, two or three C–C bonds and two asymmetric tetrasubstituted C-centres regio- and stereoselectively in excellent yield. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Palladium catalysed cascade reactions provide valuable strategies for the constructions of fused, bridged and spiro carbo/heterocyclic systems.^{1,2} Furthermore such cascades have demonstrated their utility for the construction of small strained rings. We and others have reported palladium catalysed cyclisations leading to di-, tri- and tetracyclic compounds containing fused cyclopropane rings.^{3–10} Additionally palladium catalysed tandem cyclisation–cyclopropanation is a novel way of assembling a variety of carbo/ heterocyclic skeletons with concomitant engineering of considerable additional molecular complexity not available via classical methods for the formation of cyclopropanes such as the reaction of diazo compounds with alkenes catalysed by Rh, ^{11a–e} Ru, ^{11f} Cu, ¹² Pd¹³ and Pt¹⁴ complexes, and Pt^{15a} and Au^{15b} catalysed cycloisomerisation.

In this paper we report full details of palladium catalysed bis- and tris-cyclisation cascades affording fused/spiro cyclopropyl carbo/heterocycles.^{3a-c} A general palladium catalysed bis-cyclisation cascade is shown in Scheme 1.

Oxidative addition of Pd(0) to the carbon-halide/triflate bond gives a vinyl palladium(II) species **A**. Cyclisation of **A** onto a proximal alkene gives the alkyl palladium(II) intermediate **B**. When R=H then **B** may undergo a β -hydride elimination to give **C**. If R≠H a second cyclisation occurs to form the tricyclic cyclopropane **D**.



Scheme 1.

2. Bis-cyclisation cascades

2.1. 5-exo-trig/3-exo-trig Cascades

2.1.1. Carbocyclic systems. Enol triflates **3a–c** were prepared (Scheme 2) to explore palladium catalysed 5-*exo-trig*/ 3-*exo-trig* cascades forming tricyclic cyclopropanes. Thus **1a–c** were treated with 1.1 mol equiv 'BuOK in 'BuOH and 4-iodo-2-methylbut-3-ene to give **2a–c** in good yields. Subsequent treatment of **2a–c** with Comins triflating agent¹⁶ in the presence of LDA at -78 °C afforded enol triflates **3a–c** in 77–81% yields.

When enol triflate **3a** was reacted in the presence of 10 mol % $Pd(OAc)_2$, 20 mol % PPh_3 , Na_2CO_3 (2 mol equiv), Et_4NCl (1 mol equiv) in boiling acetonitrile it afforded **4** as a single diastereoisomer in 88% yield. The bond forming sequence is detailed in Scheme 3. The relative stereochemistry of **4** was established by NOE studies on **5**, which was prepared

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +441133436501; fax: +441133436530; e-mail: r.grigg@leeds.ac.uk

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter @ 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.100



Scheme 2.



Scheme 3.

by LiAlH₄ reduction of **4**. Thus irradiation of both of the diastereotopic protons H_c (δ 3.45) resulted in 3% enhancement of the signal for the proton H_a (δ 0.90) showing that the cyclopropane ring and the –CH₂OH group are cis-related.



In a similar manner the analogous six-membered enol triflate **3b** underwent consecutive stereo- and regiospecific 5-*exo-trig* and 3-*exo-trig* cyclisations to give the 3/5/6-ring system 7 in 73% yield. The relative stereochemistry was established by NOE studies on **8**, which was obtained by LiAlH₄ reduction of **7**. Irradiation of both of the diastereotopic protons H_c (δ 3.45) resulted in 2.5% enhancement of the signal for H_a (δ 1.05).

The seven-membered ring enol triflate 3c cyclised under similar conditions to afford a 2:1:1 mixture of 9, 10 and 11 in 75% yield (Scheme 4). In this case double bond isomerisation proved more facile than in the case of the 3/5/5- and 3/5/6-ring systems. It would be expected that addition of Ag⁺ or Tl⁺ salts^{17,18} would suppress double bond isomerisation (vide infra **21**, **22**). Indeed addition of TlOAc (1.2 mol equiv) and reducing the reaction time to 5 h afforded **9** (76%) as the sole product.

The vinyl triflate **12** was prepared in 70% yield from β -tetralone in three steps by carboxymethylation, alkylation and triflation (Scheme 5) in order to study the formation of a tetracyclic cyclopropyl system. Cyclisation of **12** under the same conditions as described above afforded **13** in 90% yield. The relative stereochemistry of **13** was also established by LiAlH₄ reduction to give **14** followed by NOE studies. Irradiation of both of the diastereotopic H_c protons (δ 3.45) resulted in enhancement (2.5%) of the signal for H_a (δ 0.90) thus establishing their cis-relationship.





2.1.2. Heterocyclic systems. Enol triflate **16** was synthesised in three steps in good yield (Scheme 6). Methyl 4-oxopiperidine-3-carboxylate was *N*-acetylated in the presence of Et_3N in CH₂Cl₂. The alkyl side chain was then introduced in the presence of ⁷BuOK as base. Triflation of **15** was carried out using McMurry's method¹⁹ to afford **16** in 64% yield.

Enol triflate **16** successfully underwent a palladium catalysed 5-*exo-trig*/3-*exo-trig* cyclisation cascade to give **17** as a single stereoisomer in 62% yield.

A further heterocyclic precursor, vinyl bromide **18**, was prepared from 2,3-dibromocyclohexene and 2-methyl-2-propen-1-ol in 68% yield. It cyclised in the presence of 5 mol % PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂, Et₄NCl (1 mol equiv) and Zn dust





Scheme 6.

(2 mol equiv) in MeCN at 80 °C to afford **19** in 50% yield. There are two potential roles for the Zn dust: (a) as a reductant of Pd(II) to Pd(0) and (b) as a halogen sink²⁰ promoting formation of a more reactive, coordinatively unsaturated palladium intermediate. The relative stereochemistry of **19** was established by NOE studies. Thus irradiation of proton H_a (δ 3.92) effected enhancement (2%) of the signal of H_b (δ 1.10) establishing that the cyclopropane ring and H_a are cis-related.



2.2. 6-exo-trig/3-exo-trig Cascades

Vinyl halide **20** was synthesised in 55% yield from 2-hydroxyacetophenone and 2,3-dibromocyclohex-1-ene in boiling THF, followed by a Wittig reaction. Under standard palladium catalysed cyclisation conditions **20** gave a 10:1 mixture of **21** and **22** in 71% yield via successive 6-*exotrig* and 3-*exo-trig* cyclisations. The isomeric product **22** was suppressed by using modified reaction conditions previously developed by us.¹⁸ Thus when the reaction was repeated with 10 mol % Pd(OAc)₂, 20 mol % PPh₃ and 1.2 mol equiv TIOAc in boiling MeCN, **21** was obtained as the sole product in 76% yield.



We briefly looked at the *N*-analogue of **20**. Compound **23** was prepared in 70% yield from *N*-acetyl-2-isopropenylaniline in two steps by acetylation followed by alkylation. Cyclisation of **23** under our standard conditions over 8 h afforded **24** in a disappointing 37% yield. However, addition of Zn dust (2 mol equiv) improved the yield from 37 to 72% and reduced the reaction time to 3 h.



All the foregoing cyclopropyl forming cyclisations proceed regio- and stereoselectively and involve the formation of two rings, two C–C bonds and two chiral tetrasubstituted C-centres.

2.2.1. Mechanism. Cyclopropanation as an integral part of palladium catalysed cascades is often concealed by rearrangement of a cyclopropylcarbinylpalladium intermediate with accompanying ring expansion in appropriate cases. This process was first identified and explained, essentially simultaneously, by Torii²¹ and Negishi.²² Negishi formalised the rearrangement in terms of type I 25 and type II 29 substrates (Scheme 7).²² The key difference is that a type I substrate is processed via intermediate 27 in which the required syn alignment of bonds β to the palladium only allows either equilibration with 26 or β -H elimination to form 28. In contrast type II substrates 29 proceed via 31, which can equilibrate with 30 but additionally now possess a rotatable bond 31 (r) allowing the palladium to attain a syn alignment with either cyclopropyl bond a or b. syn Alignment with bond b triggers a cyclopropylcarbinylpalladium ring expansion affording 32 and subsequently 33 (or double bond isomer) in which the diagnostic olefinic geometry (R^1/R^2) has been inverted.²³ For very elegant examples of stereochemical control of such processes see Torii et al.²¹ Solvent effects on type II processes have been interpreted in terms of equilibration of **31** and **32**.²⁴



Scheme 7.

A stereochemical feature not heretofore discussed is the influence of an allylic stereocentre in the type I substrates, which is present in 3a-c, 16, 20 and 23 in this work. The fusion of a new five- or six-membered ring onto an existing 5–7-membered ring in these examples always results in a cis-arrangement of the allylic substituent and the

cyclopropyl ring (vide infra). Mechanistically the initial cyclisation pre-ordains all the subsequent cascade stereochemistry (Scheme 8) and is controlled by the four-centre C-Pd/alkene transition state **34**, ease of coordination of the alkene and (presumably) tether length. The reaction then proceeds via a second four-centre transition state **35** to product. The initial cyclisation $34 \rightarrow 35$ places the CH₂PdX group on the *exo* face of a bowl shaped transition state minimising steric interactions. The second cyclisation affords **36**, which lacks the rotatable C-C bond necessary to effect a *syn* relationship between the Pd-C bond and the cyclopropyl 'a' bond in **36**.





2.3. Tris-cyclisation cascades

Tris-cyclisation substrate **39** was prepared in two steps via sequential alkylation procedures in good yield (Scheme 9).



Scheme 9.

Under our standard palladium catalysed conditions **39** undergoes an initial 5-*exo-dig* cyclisation to give a vinyl palladium intermediate **40**, followed by a 5-*exo-trig* cyclisation process forming an alkyl palladium intermediate **41**, which then undergoes a 3-*exo-trig* cyclisation followed by β -hydride elimination to give **44** in 62% yield (Scheme 10).^{3a} Addition of formic acid and piperidine as hydride ion source in place of Na₂CO₃ also afforded **44**. This indicates that all three cyclisation processes: 5-*exo-dig*, 5-*exo-trig* and 3-*exo-trig* are faster than hydride ion capture processes and also that β -hydride elimination **42** \rightarrow **43** is faster than

hydride ion capture e.g. $42 \rightarrow 44$. This process results in formation of three rings, three C–C bonds, and two chiral tetrasubstituted C-centres.



Scheme 10.

3. Summary

We have demonstrated novel regio- and stereoselective palladium catalysed bis- and tris-cyclisation cascades allowing access to polyclic cyclopropyl carbo- and heterocycles, regio- and stereoselectively in good yields. The stability of the cyclopropyl products arises by suppression of the cyclopropylcarbinyl palladium(II) rearrangement due to lack of a rotatable C–C bond, which prevents a *syn* alignment between the Pd–C bond and the relevant cyclopropyl C–C bond. Related cyclisations^{7–10} were reported subsequent to our preliminary communications.³

4. Experimental

4.1. General

Melting points were determined on a Reichert hot-stage apparatus and are uncorrected. Mass spectral data were obtained from a VG Autospec instrument operating at 70 eV (EI and FAB) or ZD 2000 electrospray instrument (ES). Accurate molecular masses were obtained from the EPSRC Swansea Mass Spectroscopy service using perfluorotributylamine or polyethylenimine as an internal standard. Microanalyses were obtained using a Carbo Erba MOD11016 instrument. IR spectra were determined on a Nicolet Magna FT-IR 560 spectrometer. The IR samples were prepared as thin films by evaporation of a solution of the compound in DCM onto a germanium plate. Nuclear magnetic resonance spectra were recorded on QE 300 and Bruker 400 instruments operating at, 300 and 400 MHz, respectively. Solvents were dried according to established methods, unless purchased dry from Aldrich in sure-seal bottles. Palladium acetate was supplied by Johnson Matthey and used as received. The term ether refers to diethyl ether and the term petrol refers to the 40–60 $^{\circ}$ C boiling point fraction of petroleum ether.

4.2. General procedure for alkylation of 2-oxocycloalkane carboxylates

2-Methyl-4-iodo-1-butene (1 mmol) was added to a stirred solution of methyl 2-oxocycloalkane carboxylate (1 mmol) and KO'Bu (1 mmol) in Bu'OH (10 ml). The solution was slowly heated to boiling and maintained under reflux for 19 h. After cooling, the mixture was treated with water to dissolve precipitated salts and extracted with ether (3×25 ml). The combined ether extracts were washed with saturated brine, dried (MgSO₄) and evaporated in vacuo to leave an oil, which was purified by column chromatography or kugelrohr distillation.

4.2.1. Methyl 1-(3-methyl-3-butenyl)-2-oxocyclopentane carboxylate (2a). 2-Methyl-4-iodo-1-butene (6.89 g, 35 mmol), methyl 2-oxocyclopentane carboxylate (5.0 g, 35 mmol) and 1 M potassium *tert*-butoxide in *tert*-butanol (42 ml) were reacted by the general method. Workup in the usual way followed by distillation afforded the product (6.0 g, 81%) as a colourless oil, bp 77–79 °C/0.03 mmHg. Found: C, 68.35; H, 8.40; C₁₂H₁₈O₃ requires C, 68.55; H, 8.50%; $\delta_{\rm H}$: 1.75 (s, 3H, Me), 1.91–2.30 (m, 10H, 5×CH₂), 3.75 (s, 3H, OMe), 4.70 (s, 2H, =CH₂); *m*/*z* (%): 210 (M⁺, 1), 151 (4), 142 (100), 110 (89), 55 (36) and 41 (28); $\nu_{\rm max}$: 1770, 1680, 1485, 1280, 1190 and 930 cm⁻¹.

4.2.2. 1-(3-Methyl-3-butenyl)-1-methoxycarbonyl-2-cyclopentenol triflate (3a). n-Butyllithium (19.64 ml, 1.6 M solution in hexane, 0.03 mol) was added slowly via a syringe to a stirred solution of diisopropylamine (4.4 ml, 0.031 mol) in freshly distilled THF (10 ml) while maintaining the temperature between -30 and -20 °C. The resulting solution was stirred at that temperature for 0.5 h. Compound 2a (6 g, 0.028 mol) in THF (10 ml) was added dropwise at -78 °C and the resulting solution stirred at -78 °C for 1 h. N-(5-Chloro-2-pyridyl)triflimide (12.3 g, 0.031 mol) in THF (15 ml) was then added dropwise at -78 °C and the resulting solution maintained at that temperature for 3 h. After allowing the reaction mixture to come to room temperature, water was added, the mixture extracted with ether, washed with 10% NaOH and the organic extracts dried (MgSO₄) and evaporated. The residual oil was distilled under vacuum to afford the product (7.5 g, 77%) as a colourless oil, bp 82-85 °C/0.03 mmHg. Found: C, 45.80; H, 5.00; S, 9.50; F, 16.60; C₁₃H₁₇F₃O₅S requires: C, 45.60; H, 4.95; S, 9.35; F, 16.65%; $\delta_{\rm H}$: 1.72 (s, 3H, Me), 1.92–2.54 (m, 8H, 4×CH₂), 3.72 (s, 3H, OMe), 4.75 (d, 2H, J 10 Hz, =CH₂), 5.78 (s, 1H, CH=C); *m/z* (%): 342 (M⁺, 1), 273 (100), 149 (7), 133 (50), 108 (94), 69 (80), 55 (47) and 41 (56); $\nu_{\rm max}$ (film): 2880, 1700, 1610, 1380, 1200, 1190 and 820 cm⁻

4.2.3. 1-(3-Methyl-3-butenyl)-1-ethoxycarbonyl-2-cyclohexenol triflate (3b). *n*-Butyllithium (14.44 ml, 1.6 M solution in hexane, 0.023 mol) was added slowly via a syringe to a stirred solution of diisopropylamine (3.23 ml, 0.023 mol) in THF (10 ml) while maintaining the temperature between -30 and -20 °C. The resulting solution was stirred at that temperature for 0.5 h. Compound 2b (5 g, 0.02 mol) in THF (10 ml) was added dropwise at -78 °C and the solution was stirred at -78 °C for 1 h. N-(5-Chloro-2-pyridyl)triflimide (8.24 g, 0.02 mol) in THF (15 ml) was then added dropwise at -78 °C and the resulting mixture maintained at -78 °C for 3 h. The solvent was then removed under reduced pressure and the residue partitioned between water (100 ml) and dichloromethane (150 ml). The water layer was extracted with dichloromethane (100 ml) and the combined dichloromethane extracts dried (MgSO₄) and evaporated. The residue was purified by flash chromatography (SiO₂) eluting with 1:1 v/v ether-petroleum ether to afford the product (6.5 g, 83%) as a pale yellow oil, bp 96-102 °C/0.02 mmHg. Found: C, 48.75; H, 5.70; S, 8.60; F, 15.25; C₁₅H₂₁F₃O₅S requires: C, 48.65; H, 5.65; S, 8.65; F, 15.4%; $\delta_{\rm H}$: 1.27 (t, 3H, J 6 Hz, Me), 1.73 (s, 3H, =CMe), 1.31-2.47 (m, 10H, 5×CH₂), 4.23 (m, 2H, OCH_2 , 4.71 (m, 2H, =CH₂) and 5.91 (m, 1H, =CH); m/z(%): 370 (M⁺, 1), 325 (5), 302 (100), 221 (11), 69 (93), 55 (63) and 41 (47); ν_{max} (film): 1735, 1425, 1220, 1150, 1100, 1040, 920, 840 and 775 cm^{-1} .

4.2.4. Methyl 1-(3-methyl-3-butenyl)-2-oxocycloheptane carboxylate (2c). Prepared from 2-methyl-4-iodo-1-butene (12.6 g, 0.06 mol) and methyl 2-oxocycloheptane carboxylate (10 g, 0.058 mol) in 1 M potassium tert-butoxide in tert-butanol (70 ml) by the general procedure. The yellow solution was heated slowly to reflux and maintained there for 19 h. The solvent was then removed under reduced pressure and the residue partitioned between water (150 ml) and dichloromethane (200 ml). The water layer was extracted with dichloromethane (100 ml) and the combined dichloromethane extracts dried (MgSO₄) and evaporated. The residue was purified by flash chromatography (SiO₂) eluting with 1:4 v/v ether-petroleum ether to afford the product (12.2 g, 87%) as a colourless oil, bp 90-93 °C/0.03 mmHg. Found: C, 70.35; H, 9.20; C₁₄H₂₂O₃ requires: C, 70.60; H, 9.25%; δ_H: 1.72 (s, 3H, Me), 1.43–2.61 (m, 14H, 7×CH₂), 3.71 (s, 3H, OMe), 4.70 (m, 2H, =CH₂); *m/z* (%): 238 (M⁺, 1), 207 (5), 170 (100), 138 (95), 110 (37) and 55 (18); ν_{max} (film): 2900, 1730, 1450, 1220 and 910 cm^{-1} .

4.2.5. 1-(3-Methyl-3-butenyl)-1-methoxycarbonyl-2cvcloheptenol triflate (3c). n-Butyllithium (28.9 ml, 1.6 M solution in hexane, 0.046 mol) was added slowly via a syringe to a stirred solution of diisopropylamine (6.46 ml, 0.046 mol) in THF (15 ml) while maintaining the temperature between -30 and -20 °C and stirring continued at this temperature for a further 0.5 h. Compound 2c (10 g, 0.04 mol) in THF (10 ml) was then added dropwise at -78 °C, and the solution was stirred at -78 °C for 1 h. N-(5-Chloro-2-pyridyl)triflimide (16.48 g, 0.04 mol) in THF (15 ml) was added dropwise at -78 °C and the resulting mixture maintained at -78 °C for 3 h. The solvent was then removed under reduced pressure and the residue partitioned between water (200 ml) and dichloromethane (240 ml). The water layer was extracted with dichloromethane (100 ml) and the combined dichloromethane extracts dried (MgSO₄) and evaporated. The residue was purified by flash chromatography (SiO₂) eluting with 1:16 v/v ether-petroleum ether to afford the product (12.8 g, 81%)

as a pale yellow oil, bp 102–104 °C/0.02 mmHg. Found: C, 48.50; H, 5.65; S, 8.70; F, 15.10; $C_{15}H_{21}F_{3}O_5S$ requires: C, 48.65; H, 5.65; S, 8.65; F, 15.40%; δ_{H} : 1.70 (s, 3H, Me), 1.88–2.18 (m, 12H, 6×CH₂), 3.75 (s, 3H, OMe), 4.7 (m, 2H, C=CH₂), 6.01 (m, 1H, =CH); *m*/*z* (%): 370 (M⁺, 1), 302 (51), 152 (77), 69 (100) and 55 (43); ν_{max} (film): 3300, 2900, 1740, 1410, 1210, 1170, 1000 and 890 cm⁻¹.

4.2.6. Methyl 1a-methyl-1,1a,2,3-tetrahydrocyclopropa[c]pentalene-3a(4H)-carboxvlate (4). Enol triflate 2a (0.3 g, 0.87 mmol) was added to a stirred suspension of Pd(OAc)₂ (0.019 g, 0.087 mmol), PPh₃ (0.046 g, 0.175 mmol), Na₂CO₃ (0.185 g, 1.75 mmol) and Et₄NCl (0.145 g, 0.87 mmol) in acetonitrile (8 ml). The resulting mixture was boiled under reflux under a nitrogen atmosphere for 8 h. The solvent was then removed under reduced pressure and the residue partitioned between water (50 ml) and dichloromethane (50 ml). The water layer was extracted with dichloromethane (50 ml) and the combined dichloromethane extracts dried (MgSO₄) and evaporated. The residue was purified by flash chromatography (SiO₂) eluting with 1:16 v/v ether-petroleum ether to afford the product (0.15 g, 89%) as a colourless oil; $\delta_{\rm H}$: 0.95 and 1.00 (2×d, 2×1H, J 6 Hz, cyclopropyl H), 1.08 (s, 3H, Me), 1.80–2.14 (m, 4H, $2 \times CH_2$), 2.36 and 2.92 ($2 \times d$, $2 \times 1H$, J 16 Hz, CH₂), 3.54 (s, 3H, OMe), 5.43 and 5.75 (2×m, 2×1H, 2×=CH); m/z (%): 192 (M⁺, 15), 133 (100), 115 (16), 91 (49) and 39 (19); ν_{max} (film): 1720, 1600, 1445, 1380, 1300, 1260, 1200, 1080, 800 and 735 cm^{-1} .

4.2.7. (1a-Methyl-1,1a,2,3-tetrahydro-cyclopropa[c]pentalen-3a(4H)-yl) methanol (5). Compound 4 (0.15 g, 0.781 mmol), in dry ether (9 ml) was added dropwise to the stirred suspension of LiAlH₄ (0.03 g, 0.781 mmol) in ether (6 ml). The resulting suspension was boiled under reflux for 2 h, cooled and the excess LiAlH₄ decomposed by successive addition of H₂O (1 ml), 15% NaOH (1 ml) and H₂O (2 ml). After the addition was complete, the solution was stirred for 1 h, filtered and the precipitate washed with ether $(2 \times 20 \text{ ml})$. The combined ether layers were dried (MgSO₄), concentrated in vacuo and the residue purified by column chromatography eluting with 1:2 v/v etherpetroleum ether to afford the product (0.102 g, 80%) as a colourless oil. Found: C, 80.50; H, 10.00; C₁₁H₁₆O requires: C, 80.50; H, 9.75%; $\delta_{\rm H}$: 0.821 and 0.952 (2×d, 2×1H, J 6 Hz, cyclopropyl H), 1.06 (s, 3H, Me), 1.30-1.84 (m, 5H, $2 \times CH_2$ and OH), 2.28 and 2.43 ($2 \times d$, 2H, J 16 Hz, CH₂), 3.41 and 3.49 (2×d, 2H, J 10 Hz, OCH₂) and 5.49 and 5.75 (2×br s, 2×1H, = CH_2); m/z (%): 164 (M⁺, 8), 133 (100), 105 (50), 91 (61), 79 (16), 55 (14) and 41 (17); ν_{max} (film): 3475, 1730, 1485, 1290, 1180 and 760 cm⁻

4.2.8. Ethyl 1a-methyl-1,1a,2,3,4,5-hexahydro-3a*H***-cyclopropa**[*c*]**indene-3a-carboxylate** (7). Enol triflate **3b** (0.3 g, 0.81 mmol) was added to a suspension of Pd(OAc)₂ (0.018 g, 0.081 mmol), PPh₃ (0.042 g, 0.162 mmol), Na₂CO₃ (0.171 g, 1.62 mmol) and Et₄NCl (0.134 g, 0.81 mmol) in acetonitrile (8 ml). The resulting mixture was boiled under reflux under a nitrogen atmosphere for 8 h. The solvent was then removed under reduced pressure and the residue partitioned between water (60 ml) and dichloromethane (60 ml).

The water layer was extracted with dichloromethane (60 ml) and the combined dichloromethane extracts dried (MgSO₄) and evaporated. The residue was purified by flash chromatography (SiO₂) eluting with 1:16 v/v ether–petroleum ether to afford the product (0.12 g, 71%) as a colourless oil. Found: C, 76.20; H, 9.15; C₁₄H₂₀O₂ requires: C, 76.35; H, 9.10%; $\delta_{\rm H}$: 0.52 (d, 1H, *J* 6 Hz, cyclopropyl H), 1.03 (s, 3H, Me), 1.21 (t, 3H, *J* 6 Hz, Me), 1.23–2.07 (m, 9H, 4×CH₂ and cyclopropyl H), 4.05 (m, 2H, OCH₂), 5.23 and 5.72 (2×m, 2×1H, 2×=CH); *m/z* (%): 220 (M⁺, 3), 147 (100), 131 (31), 105 (61) and 91 (62); $\nu_{\rm max}$ (film): 2900, 1740, 1650, 1460, 1400, 1380, 1280, 1200, 1090, 1050, 975 and 700 cm⁻¹.

4.2.9. (1a-Methyl-1,1a,2,3,4,5-hexahydro-3a-cyclopropa[c]inden-3a-yl) methanol (8). Compound 7 (0.1 g, 0.454 mmol) in dry ether (8 ml) was added dropwise to a stirred suspension of LiAlH₄ (0.018 g, 0.454 mmol) in ether (8 ml). The resulting suspension was boiled under reflux for 2 h, cooled and the excess LiAlH₄ destroyed by successive addition of H₂O (1 ml), 15% NaOH (1 ml) and H₂O (2 ml). After the addition was complete, the solution was stirred for 1 h, filtered and the precipitate washed with ether $(2 \times 15 \text{ ml})$. The combined ether layers were dried (MgSO₄), concentrated in vacuo and the residue purified by column chromatography eluting with 1:4 v/v ether-petroleum ether to afford the product (0.063 g, 78%) as a colourless oil. Found: C, 81.00; H, 10.20; C₁₂H₁₈O requires: C, 80.90; H, 10.10%; $\delta_{\rm H}$: 0.35 and 1.02 (2×d, 2×1H, J 5 Hz, cyclopropyl H), 1.16 (s, 3H, Me), 1.30–2.12 (m, 9H, 4×CH₂ and OH), 3.46 and 3.75 (2×d, 2H, J 10 Hz, OCH₂), 5.19 and 5.23 $(2 \times br s, 2 \times 1H, CH=CH); m/z$ (%): 178 (M⁺, 9), 147 (100), 117 (27), 105 (43), 91 (64), 77 (18) and 41 (16); $\nu_{\rm max}$ (film): 3330, 1480, 1390, 1045 and 940 cm⁻¹.

4.2.10. Methyl 1a-methyl-1,1a,2,3,5,6-hexahydrocyclopropa[c]azulene-3a(4aH)-carboxylate (9). (a) Enol triflate 3c (0.2 g, 0.54 mmol) was added to a suspension of Pd(OAc)₂ (0.012 g, 0.054 mmol), PPh₃ (0.028 g, 0.108 mmol), Na₂CO₃ (0.114 g, 1.08 mmol) and Et₄NCl (0.089 g, 0.54 mmol) in acetonitrile (6 ml). The resulting mixture was boiled under reflux under a nitrogen atmosphere for 9 h. The solvent was then removed under reduced pressure and the residue partitioned between water (50 ml) and dichloromethane (50 ml). The water layer was extracted with dichloromethane (60 ml) and the combined dichloromethane extracts dried (MgSO₄) and evaporated. The residue was purified by flash chromatography (SiO₂), eluting with 1:16 v/v ether-petroleum ether, to afford 9 (0.035 g, 30%), and a 1:1 mixture of 10 and 11 (0.053 g, 45%) as colourless oils. Found (mixed isomers): C, 76.20; H, 9.15; C₁₄H₂₀O₂ requires: C, 76.35; H, 9.05%; 9 $\delta_{\rm H}$: (500 MHz): 0.42 and 1.00 (2×d, 2×1H, J 5.0 Hz, cyclopropyl H), 1.14 (s, 3H, Me), 1.5–2.2 (m, 10H, 5×CH₂), 3.68 (s, 3H, OMe), 5.10 (dd, 1H, J 12.0, 2.6 Hz, =CH) and 5.7 (ddd, 1H, J 12.0, 6.8, 3.0 Hz, =CH); 10 and 11 (1:1 mixture) $\delta_{\rm H}$: 0.02 and 0.73 (2×d, 2H, J 5 Hz, cyclopropyl H), 0.08 and 0.54 ($2 \times d$, 2H, J 5 Hz, cyclopropyl H), 1.12 and 1.23 (2×s, 6H, 2×Me), 1.43-2.42 (m, 20H, 10×CH₂), 3.16 (d, 1H, J 3 Hz, =CH), 3.64 and 3.65 (2×s, 6H, $2 \times OMe$), 5.63 (m, 2H, HC=CH), 5.98 (m, 1H, =CH); m/z (%): 220 (M⁺, 22), 161 (100), 160 (50), 145 (42), 105 (95) and 77 (17); ν_{max} (film): 1730, 1650, 1450, 1250, 1200, 1110, 1080, 1020 and 840 cm^{-1} .

(b) Repeating the reaction but with a reaction time of 5 h and the addition of TIOAc (0.315 g, 1.2 mmol) afforded 9 (76%) as the sole product.

4.2.11. Methyl 1-(3-methyl-3-butenyl)-2-tetralone-1carboxylate (12). 2-Methyl-4 iodo-1-butene (2.05 g, 10.7 mmol) was added to a stirred solution of 1-carbomethoxy-2-tetralone (2 g, 9.8 mmol) and KO'Bu (1.21 g, 10.7 mmol in 1 M solution of ^tBuOH). The pale yellow solution was boiled under reflux for 10 h, cooled, water added to dissolve the precipitate and extracted with ether $(3 \times 20 \text{ ml})$. The combined ether extracts were washed with saturated brine (50 ml), dried (MgSO₄) and evaporated in vacuum to leave an oil, which was distilled under reduced pressure to afford the product (1.5 g, 57%) as a colourless oil, bp 120-122 °C/0.01 mmHg. Found: C, 74.75; H, 7.60; C₁₇H₂₀O₃ requires: C, 75.00; H, 7.35%; δ_H: 1.61 (s, 3H, Me), 2.29–3.19 (m, 8H, $4 \times CH_2$), 3.6 (s, 3H, OMe), 4.60 and 4.46 ($2 \times s$, 2×1 H, =CH₂), 7.21–7.24 (m, 4H, ArH); *m*/*z* (%): 272 (M⁺, 1), 204 (46), 172 (100), 129 (22), 115 (34), 77 (6) and 65 (3); v_{max} (film): 1780, 1700, 1550, 1505, 1440, 1410, 1370, 1280, 1140 and 960 cm^{-1} .

4.2.12. Methyl 1-(3-methylbut-3-enyl)-2-trifluoromethylsulfonyloxy-1,4-dihydronaphthalene-1-carboxylate (12). 1-Carbomethoxy-1-(3-methylbut-3-enyl)-2-tetralone (1.15 g, 4.2 mmol) in THF (8 ml) was added dropwise at $-78 \degree C$ to a stirred solution of lithium diisopropylamide [from *n*-BuLi (3.17 ml, 1.6 M solution in hexane, 5.0 mmol) and diisopropylamine (0.71 ml, 5.0 mmol)] in THF (10 ml). The resulting solution was stirred at -78 °C for 1 h and N-(5-chloro-2-pyridyl)triflimide (1.74 g. 4.86 mmol) in THF (10 ml) was then added dropwise with stirring and the resulting mixture stirred at -78 °C for 3 h. The solvent was then removed under reduced pressure and the residue partitioned between water (100 ml) and dichloromethane (150 ml). The water layer was extracted with dichloromethane (100 ml), the combined dichloromethane extracts dried (MgSO₄) and evaporated. The residue was purified by flash chromatography (SiO₂) eluting with 1:4 v/v etherpetroleum ether to afford the product (1.1 g, 65%) as a colourless oil. Found: C, 53.04; H, 4.70; S, 8.00; F, 14.30; C18H19F3O5S requires: C, 53.45; H, 4.70; S, 7.90; F, 14.1%; $\delta_{\rm H}$: 1.44–2.27 (m, 6H, 3×CH₂), 1.63 and 3.70 (2×s, 2×3H, 2×Me), 4.62 and 4.65 (2×s, 2×1H, =CH₂), 6.23–6.26 (m, 1H, =CH), 7.19–7.33 (m, 4H, ArH); m/z(%): 404 (M⁺, 1), 345 (4), 289 (100), 255 (12), 69 (69) and 41 (45); $\nu_{\rm max}$ (film): 1780, 1450, 1270, 1175, 1060, 1000, 930, 840 and 740 cm^{-1} .

4.2.13. Methyl 7a-methyl-6b,7,7a,8-tetrahydrocyclopropa[3,4] cyclopenta[1,2-*a*] naphthalene (13). Enol triflate 12 (0.3 g, 0.742 mmol) was added to a stirred suspension of Pd(OAc)₂ (0.016 g, 0.074 mmol), PPh₃ (0.038 g, 0.148 mmol), Na₂CO₃ (0.157 g, 1.48 mmol) and Et₄NCl (0.122 g, 0.742 mmol) in CH₃CN (10 ml). The resulting mixture was boiled under reflux for 8 h. The solvent was then removed under reduced pressure and the residue partitioned between water (50 ml) and dichloromethane (50 ml). The water layer was extracted with dichloromethane (50 ml), the combined dichloromethane extracts dried (MgSO₄) and evaporated. The residue was subjected to flash chromatography (SiO₂) eluting with 1:4 v/v ether–petroleum ether to afford a solid, which was crystallised from etherpetroleum ether to give the product (0.17 g, 90%) as colourless prisms, mp 59–61 °C. Found: C, 80.35; H, 7.15; $C_{17}H_{18}O_2$ requires: C, 80.30; H, 7.10%; δ_{H} : 0.77 and 1.25 (2×d, 2×1H, *J* 5 Hz, cyclopropyl H), 1.11 (s, 3H, Me), 1.58–2.56 (m, 4H, 2×CH₂), 3.58 (s, 3H, OMe), 5.59 and 6.53 (2×d, 2×1H, *J* 9 Hz, =CH), 7.08–7.35 (m, 4H, ArH); *m*/*z* (%): 254 (M⁺, 12), 195 (100), 179 (32), 165 (37) and 77 (3); ν_{max} (film): 750, 1500, 1410, 1260 and 750 cm⁻¹.

4.2.14. (6a-Methyl-5,6,6a,7-tetrahydro-4bH-cyclopropa[2,3] cvclopenta[1,2-a] naphthalen-4b-vl) methanol (14). Compound 13 (0.045 g, 0.177 mmol) in dry ether (8 ml) was added dropwise to a stirred suspension of LiAlH₄ (0.0068 g, 0.177 mmol) in ether (6 ml). The resulting suspension was boiled under reflux for 2 h, cooled, and the excess LiAlH₄ destroyed by careful successive addition of H₂O (0.5 ml), 15% NaOH (0.5 ml) and H₂O (1 ml). After the addition was complete, the solution was stirred for 1 h, filtered and the precipitate washed with ether $(2 \times 20 \text{ ml})$. The combined ether layers were dried (MgSO₄), concentrated in vacuo and the residue subjected to column chromatography eluting with 1:8 v/v ether-petroleum ether to afford the product (0.033 g, 82%) as a colourless oil. Found: 226.1355; C₁₆H₁₈O requires: 226.1357; $\delta_{\rm H}$: 0.78 and 1.42 (2×d, 2H, J 5 and 4 Hz, cyclopropyl H), 1.26 (s, 3H, Me), 1.5-2.48 (m, 5H, 2×CH₂+OH), 3.64 and 3.75 (2×d, 2H, J 11 Hz, OCH₂), 5.70 and 6.67 (2×d, 2H, J 9 Hz, 2×=CH), 7.25–7.45 (m, 4H, ArH); m/z (%): 226 (M⁺, 25), 195 (100), 77 (8), 65 (4) and 43 (4).

4.2.15. Methyl 1-acetyl-3-(3-methyl-3-butenyl)-4-oxopiperidine-3-carboxylate (15). Methyl 1-acetyl-4-oxopiperidine-3-carboxylate (2.00 g, 10.05 mmol) was added to a stirred solution of KO'Bu (1.17 g, 10.42 mmol) in DMSO (20 ml). The resulting solution was stirred at room temperature for 1 h, when 2-methyl-4-iodo-1-butene (2.00 g, 10.2 mmol) was added and stirring continued at room temperature for a further 14 h. The solution was then diluted with water (30 ml) and extracted with EtOAc (3×30 ml). The combined ethyl acetate extracts were washed with saturated brine (50 ml), dried (MgSO₄) and evaporated under reduced pressure. The residual oil was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂) eluting with 10:1 v/v ether-petroleum ether to afford the product (1.25 g, 46%) as a pale yellow oil. Found: C, 62.70; H, 8.05; N, 5.25; C₁₄H₂₁NO₄ requires: C, 62.90; H, 7.90; N, 5.25%; $\delta_{\rm H}$: 1.61–2.37 (m, 10H, $5 \times CH_2$), 1.65 (s, 3H, =CMe), 2.18 (s, 3H, COMe), 3.49 (s, 3H, OMe), 4.8 (s, 2H, =CH₂); m/z (%): 267 (M⁺, 4), 239 (27), 199 (78), 69 (36), 55 (51) and 43 (100); ν_{max} (film): 2800, 1720, 1690, 1500, 1410 and 1290 cm^{-1} .

4.2.16. Methyl 1-acetyl-3-(3-methyl-3-butenyl)-4-trifluoromethylsulfonyloxy piperidine-3-carboxylate (16). Compound 15 (0.2 g, 0.75 mmol) in THF (5 ml) was added dropwise to a suspension of NaH (0.043 g, 1.8 mmol) in freshly distilled THF (10 ml) at 0 °C. The resulting mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature and then PhNTf₂ (0.28 g, 0.786 mmol) in THF (6 ml) was added dropwise and the mixture heated at 60 °C for 8 h. The solvent was then removed under reduced pressure and the residue partitioned between water (50 ml) and dichloromethane (50 ml). The water layer was extracted with dichloromethane (50 ml) and the combined dichloromethane extracts dried (MgSO₄) and evaporated. The residue was purified by flash chromatography (SiO₂) eluting with 1:8 v/v ether–petroleum ether to afford the product (0.19 g, 64%) as a colourless oil. Accurate mass: 399.0961; C₁₅H₂₀F₃NO₆S requires: 399.0963; $\delta_{\rm H}$: 1.11–4.3 (m, 8H, 4×CH₂), 1.66 (s, 3H, =CMe), 2.16 (s, 3H, COMe), 3.69 (s, 3H, CO₂Me), 4.63 and 4.7 (2×s, 2H, =CH₂), 5.8 (br s, 1H, =CH); *m/z* (%): 399 (M⁺, 7), 368 (12), 331 (40), 266 (76), 198 (47), 166 (100), 69 (72) and 43 (83); $\nu_{\rm max}$ (film): 3400, 1800, 1700, 1480, 1260, 1200, 1140 and 930 cm⁻¹.

4.2.17. Methyl 2-acetyl-5a-methyl-1.2.5.5a.6.7-hexahydro-7aH-cyclopropa[2,3] cyclopenta[1,2-c] pyridine-7a carboxylate (17). The enol triflate 16 (0.13 g, 0.325 mmol) was added to a stirred suspension of $Pd(OAc)_2$ (0.007 g, 0.0325 mmol), PPh₃ (0.017 g, 0.065 mmol), Na₂CO₃ (0.069 g, 0.651 mmol) and Et₄NCl (0.053 g, 0.325 mmol) in CH₃CN (8 ml). The resulting mixture was stirred and boiled under reflux for 8 h. Standard workup followed by column chromatography eluting with 4:1 v/v ether-petroleum ether afforded the product (0.05 g, 62%) as a colourless oil. Found: C, 67.50; H, 7.80; N, 5.50; C₁₄H₁₉NO₃ requires: C, 67.50; H, 7.65; N, 5.60%; $\delta_{\rm H}$: 0.6 and 1.2 (d, 2H, J 5 Hz, cyclopropyl H), 1.12 (s, 3H, Me), 1.1–1.8 (m, 6H, 3×CH₂), 2.02 (s, 3H, COMe), 3.63 (s, 3H, OMe) and 6.62 and 7.27 (2×m, 2×H, 2×=CH); *m/z* (%): 249 (M⁺, 33), 206 (93), 189 (77), 146 (100) and 43 (57); ν_{max} (film): 1720, 1450, 1375, 1250, 1110, 1080 and 1040 cm⁻¹

4.2.18. 2-Bromocyclohex-2-en-1-yl 2-methylprop-2-en-1yl ether (18). 2-Methyl-2-propen-1-ol (0.546 g, 7.57 mmol) in THF (5 ml) was added to a stirred suspension of NaH (0.45 g, 60% dispersion in oil, 9 mmol) in freshly distilled THF (10 ml) at 0 °C and stirring continued for 1 h at room temperature. 2,3-Dibromocyclohexene (2 g, 8.7 mmol) was then added and stirring continued for a further 8 h at room temperature at which time the solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the residue partitioned between water (50 ml) and dichloromethane (50 ml). The water layer was extracted with dichloromethane (50 ml) and the combined dichloromethane extracts dried (MgSO₄) and evaporated. The residue was distilled under reduced pressure to afford the product (1.2 g, 68%) as a colourless oil, bp 62–65 $^{\circ}$ C/ 0.25 mmHg. Accurate mass: 230.0305; C₁₀H₁₅BrO requires: 230.0306; $\delta_{\rm H}$: 1.50–2.05 (m, 6H, 3×CH₂), 1.74 (s, 3H, Me), 3.79 (br s, 1H, OCH), 3.98 (m, 2H, OCH₂), 4.82 and 4.94 $(2 \times s, 2 \times IH, =CH_2), 6.14-6.16 \text{ (m, 1H, =CH)}; m/z \text{ (\%)}:$ 232 (M⁺, 1), 230 (M⁺, 1), 175 (31), 151 (35), 79 (100), 55 (34) and 41 (15); *v*_{max} (film): 3200, 1670, 1470, 1350, 1100 and 910 cm^{-1} .

4.2.19. 1a-Methyl-1a,2,4,5-tetrahydro-1*H***,3a***H***-cyclopropa[***c***] [1] benzofuran (19). Vinyl bromide 18 (0.05 g, 0.216 mmol) was added to a stirred suspension of PdC1₂(PPh₃)₂ (0.015 g, 0.0216 mmol), Zn dust (0.028 g, 0.432 mmol) and Et₄NCl (0.035 g, 0.216 mmol) in CH₃CN (5 ml) and the resulting mixture was stirred and boiled under reflux for 2 h. Standard workup followed by column chromatography eluting with 1:4 v/v ether–petroleum ether afforded the product (0.016 g, 50%) as a colourless oil. Accurate mass: 150.1045; C₁₀H₁₄O requires: 150.1044; \delta_{\rm H}: 0.529 and 0.964 (2×d, 2×1H,** *J* **4.4 and 4.5 Hz, cyclopropyl H), 1.1 (s, 3H,** Me), 1.43–2.13 (m, 4H, 2×CH₂), 3.61 and 3.72 (2×d, 2H, *J* 8.1 Hz, OCH₂), 3.87–3.93 (m, 1H, OCH), 5.15–5.19 (m, 1H, =CH), 5.69–5.72 (m, 1H, =CH); m/z (%): 150 (M⁺, 34), 135 (27), 91 (100), 55 (23) and 41 (31); ν_{max} (film): 1750, 1500, 1090 and 740 cm⁻¹.

4.2.20. 6-(2-Acetylphenoxy)-l-bromocyclohexene. 2-Hydroxyacetophenone (1.8 g, 0.013 mol) in freshly distilled THF (15 ml) was added to a stirred suspension of NaH (0.634 g, 60% dispersion in oil, 0.013 mol) in freshly distilled THF (10 ml) at 0 °C. The resulting mixture was stirred for 1 h at room temperature when 2,3-dibromohexene (3.2 g, 0.013 mol) was added and the resulting mixture was boiled under reflux for 8 h. The solvent was then removed under reduced pressure and the residue partitioned between water (70 ml) and dichloromethane (100 ml). The water layer was extracted with dichloromethane (100 ml) and the combined dichloromethane layers dried (MgSO₄) and evaporated. The residue was distilled under reduced pressure to give the product (1.9 g, 49%) as a colourless oil, bp 140-148 °C/0.03 mmHg. Found: C, 56.90; H, 5.20; Br, 27.30; $C_{14}H_{15}BrO_2$ requires: C, 56.95; H, 5.05; Br, 27.10%; δ_H : 1.05-2.21 (m, 6H, 3×CH₂), 2.66 (s, 3H, COMe), 4.8 (br s, 1H, OCH), 6.39–6.41 (m, 1H, =CH), 6.95–7.75 (m, 4H, ArH); m/z (%): 296 (M⁺, 2), 294 (M⁺, 2), 215 (13), 160 (23), 121 (21), 79 (100) and 43 (22); ν_{max} (film): 2900, 1700, 1630, 1510, 1480, 1330, 1270, 1000 and 780 cm⁻¹.

4.2.21. 2-Bromocyclohex-2-en-1-yl 2-isopropenylphenyl ether (20). *n*-Butyllithium (5.16 ml, 1.6 M solution in hexane, 8.27 mmol) was added to a stirred suspension of methyltriphenylphosphonium bromide (2.95 g, 8.27 mmol) in ether (40 ml) under nitrogen and stirring continued at room temperature for an hour. 6-(2-Acetylphenoxy)-l-bromocyclohexene (1.22 g, 4.13 mmol) in ether (20 ml) was added dropwise over 30 min. The resulting mixture was stirred for 15 h, then diluted with water (20 ml) and extracted with ether $(3 \times 20 \text{ ml})$. The combined ether extracts were dried (MgSO₄), evaporated in vacuo and the residue distilled to afford the product (0.64 g, 53%) as colourless oil, bp 100-110 °C/0.02 mmHg. Found: C, 61.45; H, 5.85; Br, 27.30; $C_{15}H_{17}BrO$ requires: C, 61.45; H, 5.80; Br, 27.30%; δ_{H} : 1.65-2.03 (m, 6H, $3 \times CH_2$), 2.06 (s, 3H, Me), 4.69 (br s, 1H, CH), 4.96, 5.02 ($2 \times s$, $2 \times 1H$, =CH₂), 6.26 (m, 1H, =CH) and 6.84–7.14 (m, 4H, ArH); m/z (%): 294 (M⁺, 3), 292 (M⁺, 3), 213 (21), 134 (100), 91 (30) and 79 (93).

4.2.22. 10b-Methyl-1,5,5a,10b-tetrahydro-4H-cyclopropaxanthene (21). Vinyl bromide 20 (0.15 g, 0.508 mmol) was added to a stirred suspension of Pd(OAc)₂ (0.011 g, 0.0508 mmol), PPh₃ (0.026 g, 0.101 mmol) and TlOAc (0.162 g, 0.616 mmol) in CH₃CN (8 ml). The resulting mixture was stirred and boiled under reflux for 5 h. The solvent was then removed under reduced pressure and the residue partitioned between water (50 ml) and dichloromethane (50 ml). The water layer was extracted with dichloromethane (50 ml) and the combined dichloromethane extracts dried (MgSO₄) and evaporated. The residue was purified by flash chromatography (SiO₂) eluting with 1:2 v/v etherpetroleum ether to afford the product **21** (0.074 g, 76%)as a pale yellow oil. Accurate mass: 212.1209; C₁₅H₁₆O requires: 212.1209; $\delta_{\rm H}$: 0.872 and 1.36 (2×d, 2H, J 5 Hz, cyclopropyl H), 1.40 (s, 3H, Me), 1.18–2.23 (m, 4H, 2×CH₂),

4.27 (m, 1H, OCH), 5.35 and 5.70 (2×m, 2×1H, 2×=CH), 6.70–7.24 (m, 4H, ArH); m/z (%): 212 (M⁺, 21), 197 (42), 91 (18), 77 (13) and 32 (100); ν_{max} (film): 1620, 1505, 1470, 1240 and 770 cm⁻¹.

4.2.23. N-Acetyl-N-(2-bromocyclohex-2-enyl)-2-isopropenylaniline (23). N-Acetyl-2-isopropenylaniline (1.74 g, 0.01 mol) in freshly distilled THF (15 ml) was added to a stirred suspension of NaH (0.58 g, 0.012 mol, 60% dispersion in oil) in THF (10 ml) at 0 °C. The resulting mixture was stirred for 1 h at room temperature when 2.3-dibromocyclohexene (2.77 g, 0.011 mol) was added and stirring continued for further 8 h. The solvent was then removed under reduced pressure and the residue partitioned between water (100 ml) and dichloromethane (150 ml). The water layer was extracted with dichloromethane (100 ml) and the combined dichloromethane extracts dried (MgSO₄) and evaporated. The residual pale yellow solid was crystallised from ether-petroleum ether to give the product (2.32 g, 70%) as pale yellow prisms, mp 86-88 °C. Found: C, 61.00; H, 6.00; N, 4.05; Br, 24.10; C₁₇H₂₀BrNO requires: C, 61.05; H, 5.95; N, 4.20; Br, 23.95%; $\delta_{\rm H}$: 1.15–2.08 (m, 6H, $3 \times CH_2$), 1.80 (s, 3H, =CMe), 2.02 (s, 3H, COMe), 4.94 and 5.14 ($2 \times s$, $2 \times 1H$, =CH₂), 5.61–5.73 (m, 1H, NCH), 6.15–6.23 (m, 1H, =CH), 7.20–7.34 (m, 4H, ArH); m/z(%): 335 (M⁺, 1), 333 (M⁺, 1), 254 (100), 212 (12), 174 (17), 91 (51) and 43 (39); ν_{max} (Nujol): 3400, 3050, 1790, 1480, 1320, 1080 and 820 cm⁻¹.

4.2.24. 6-Acetyl-10b-methyl-1,4,5,5a,6,10b-hexahydrocyclopropa[1]acridine (24). Vinyl bromide 23 (0.05 g, 0.0149 mmol) was added to a stirred suspension of PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂ (0.01 g, 0.0149 mmol), Zn dust (0.019 g, 0.299 mmol) and Et₄NCl (0.024 g, 0.149 mmol) in CH₃CN (5 ml). The resulting mixture was stirred and boiled under reflux for 4 h. The solvent was then removed under reduced pressure and the residue partitioned between water (30 ml) and dichloromethane (30 ml). The water layer was extracted with dichloromethane (30 ml) and the combined dichloromethane layers dried (MgSO₄) and evaporated. The residue was purified by flash chromatography (SiO₂) eluting with 1:4 v/v ether-petroleum ether to afford the product (0.0275 g, 73%) as a pale yellow oil. Found: C, 80.65; H, 7.60; N, 5.25; C₁₇H₁₉NO requires: C, 80.65; H, 7.50; N, 5.55%; $\delta_{\rm H}$: 0.96 and 1.36 (2×d, 2×1H, J 6 Hz, cyclopropyl H), 1.46 (s, 3H, Me), 2.14 (s, 3H, COMe), 1.1–2.4 (m, 4H, 2×CH₂), 5.10 and 5.49 (2×d, 2H, J 11 Hz, =CH), 5.75-5.8 (m, 1H, NCH), 6.95–7.43 (m, 4H, ArH); m/z (%): 253 (M⁺, 35), 238 (7), 210 (61), 160 (100), 77 (19) and 43 (25); ν_{max} (Nujol): 3000, 1690, 1490, 1410 and 750 cm⁻¹.

4.2.25. Dimethyl 4-bromobut-2-ynyl-2-methylprop-2-enylmalonate (38). Dimethyl 2-methylprop-2-enylmalonate (9.31 g, 0.05 mol) was slowly added to a methanolic solution of sodium methoxide [prepared from Na (1.15 g) and absolute MeOH (25 ml)] and stirred the mixture at room temperature for 15 min. 1,4-Dibromobut-2-yne (12.71 g, 0.06 mol) was then added and stirring continued at room temperature for a further 16 h when water (25 ml) was added and the mixture extracted with ether (3×40 ml). The combined ether layers were washed with brine, dried over anhydrous MgSO₄ and evaporated. The residual oil was distilled to give the product as a pale yellow liquid (5.0 g, 32%), bp 105–110 °C/0.1 mmHg. Found: C, 49.30; H, 5.45; C₁₃H₁₇BrO₄ requires: C, 49.23; H, 5.40%; $\delta_{\rm H}$: 2.90, 2.83 and 1.66 (3×s, 2H, 2H and 3H, C=CCH₂, CH₂ and C=CCH₃), 3.75 and 3.88 (2×s, 2H and 3H, CH₂Br and OCH₃), 4.85 and 4.92 (2×d, 2×1H, *J* 1.3 Hz, C=CH₂); *m/z* (%): 319 and 317 (1.6), 177 (100), 145 (16), 117 (40), 59 (28); $v_{\rm max}$ (film): 2237, 1735, 1434, 1276, 1206, 1183 cm⁻¹.

4.2.26. Dimethyl {4-[acetyl (2-iodophenyl) amino] but-2yn-1-yl}(2-methylprop-2-en-1-yl) malonate (39). n-BuLi (4.2 ml of 1.6 M solution in hexane, 0.0066 mol) was added from a syringe to a cooled solution $(0-4 \degree C)$ of N.N-diisopropylamine (0.84 ml, 0.006 mol) in dry THF (25 ml) under an atmosphere of N2 and stirring and cooling continued for 15 min. The reaction mixture was then cooled to -60 °C, a solution of 2-iodoacetanilide (1.56 g, 0.006 mol) in dry THF (10 ml) was added and the mixture stirred at -60 °C for 15 min. A solution of 38 (1.903 g, 0.006 mol) in THF (5ml) was added next and the mixture allowed to warm to room temperature with stirring over 15 h. The mixture was then quenched with a saturated solution of NH₄Cl (20 ml) and extracted with ether $(3 \times 25 \text{ ml})$. The combined ether layers were dried over anhydrous MgSO₄, evaporated and the residue purified by flash column chromatography, eluting with 7:3 v/v ether-petroleum ether to give the product (1.44 g, 49%), which crystallised as colourless plates from ether-petroleum ether, mp 63-65 °C. Found: C, 50.60; H, 4.85; N, 2.70; I, 25.70; C₂₁H₂₄INO₅ requires: C, 50.70; H, 4.86; N, 2.82; I, 25.52%; $\delta_{\rm H}$: 1.52 and 1.71 (2×s, 2×3H, COCH₃ and C=CCH₃), 2.6 5 and 2.71 ($2 \times s$, $2 \times 2H$, 2×CH₂), 3.62 and 3.63 (2×s, 2×3H, 2×COOCH₃), 4.63 and 4.78 (2×s, 2×1H, C=CH₂), 3.70 and 4.96 (2×dd, 2×1H, J 17.2 and 2 Hz, NCH₂), 7.06 and 7.39 (2×m, 2H and 1H, ArH), 7.87 (dd, 1H, J 7.8 and 1.7 Hz, ArH); m/z (%): 497 (M⁺, 42), 482 (50), 370 (22), 366 (92), 312 (25), 244 (100), 177 (28); 43; v_{max} (KBr): 1736, 1666, 1469, 1280, 1206, 1194 cm⁻¹.

4.2.27. Dimethyl 1-(1-acetyl-1H-indol-3-yl)-5-methylbicyclo [3.1.0] hexane-3,3-dicarboxylate (43). A mixture of **39** (0.248 g, 0.0005 mol), Pd(OAc)₂ (0.011 g, 10 mol %), PPh₃ (0.026 g, 20 mol %), Na₂CO₃ (0.046 g, 0.0005 mol) and Et₄NCl (0.082 g, 0.0005 mol) in dry acetonitrile (7 ml) was heated at 70 °C for 0.5 h. The palladium residue was filtered off, the solvent evaporated, the residue dissolved in EtOAc (15 ml) and washed with water (15 ml). The organic layer was separated, dried over anhydrous MgSO4 and evaporated to leave a brown solid, which was purified by preparative TLC, eluting with 3:2 v/v ether-petroleum ether to give the product (0.12 g, 65%) as a colourless solid, which became an amorphous pale yellow solid when exposed to air. Found: C, 66.85; H, 6.30; N, 3.45; C₂₁H₂₃NO₅ · 0.5H₂O requires: C, 66.65; H, 6.39; N, 3.70%; $\delta_{\rm H}$: 0.66 (br s, 2H, CH₂), 0.93 and 2.52 (2×s, 2×3H, COCH₃ and CH₃), 2.57 (d, 1H, J 13.7 Hz), 2.85 (m, 3H), 3.66 and 3.67 (2×s, 2×3H, 2×CH₃), 7.13 -7.29 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.50 and 8.34 (2×d, 2×lH, J 7.2 Hz, ArH); m/z (%): 369 (M⁺, 100), 327 (25), 250 (29), 208 (70), 49 (57), 47 (43), 43 (37).

Acknowledgements

We thank Leeds University and the EU for a Marie Curie fellowship (for U.S.) and the EPSRC for support.

References and notes

- 1. Grigg, R.; Sridharan, V. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 576, 65-87.
- Zimmer, R.; Dink, C. U.; Nandanan, E.; Khan, F. A. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 3067–3126; Bates, R. W.; Satcheroen, V. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2002, 31, 12–21; Ma, S. Acc. Chem. Soc. Res. 2003, 36, 701–712; Nakamura, I.; Yamamoto, Y. Chem. Rev. 2004, 104, 2127–2198; Blame, G.; Bossharth, E.; Monterio, N. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 4101–4111.
- Preliminary communications: (a) Grigg, R.; Sridharan, V.; Sukirthalingam, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1991**, *32*, 3855–3858;
 (b) Grigg, R.; Sridharan, V. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1992**, *51*, 7965–7968; (c) Brown, A.; Grigg, R.; Thangavelauthum, R.; Thornton-Pett, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1994**, *35*, 2753–2756;
 (d) Grigg, R.; Rasul, R.; Wilson, D. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1996**, *37*, 4609–4612; (e) Bohmer, J.; Grigg, R.; Marchbank, J. D. *Chem. Commun.* **2002**, 768–769.
- Brown, D.; Grigg, R.; Sridharan, V.; Thambyrajah, M. *Tetrahedron* 1998, 54, 2595–2606.
- Arcadi, A.; Marinelli, F.; Bernocchi, E.; Cacchi, S.; Ortar. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 368, 249–256.
- Zhang, Y.; Negishi, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 3454– 3456; Coperet, C.; Negishi, E. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 165–168.
- (a) De Meijere, A.; Meyer, F. E. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 6487– 6488; (b) Schweizer, S.; Song, Z. Z.; Meyer, E.; Parsons, A.; de Meijere. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1999, 38, 1452–1454.
- Overman, L. E.; Abelman, M. Pure Appl. Chem. 1992, 64, 1813–1819.
- Oh, C. H.; Kang, J. H.; Rhim, C. Y.; Kim, J. H. Chem. Lett. 1998, 375–376.
- Ohno, H.; Takeoka, Y.; Miyamura, K.; Kadoh, Y.; Tanaka, T. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 4763–4766.
- (a) Doyle, M. P. Acc. Chem. Res. 1986, 19, 348–356; Mueller, P.; Lacrampe, F. Helv. Chim. Acta 2004, 87, 2848–2859; (b) Biffis, A.; Braga, M.; Cadamuro, S.; Tubaro, C.; Basato, M. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 1841–1844; (c) Muller, P.; Allenbach, Y. F.; Grass, S. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2005, 16, 2007– 2013; (d) Mueller, P.; Bernardinelli, G.; Allenbach, Y. F.; Maria, G. S. Synlett 2005, 1397–1400; (e) Doyle, M. P.; Wang, Y.; Yuanhua, G.; Pejman, B. E. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 5035–5038; (f) Saha, B.; Uchida, T.; Katsuki, T. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2003, 14, 823–826.
- (a) Marchand, A. P.; MacBrockway, N. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1974, 74, 431–469; (b) Gawley, R. E.; Narayan, S. Chem. Commun.

2005, 5109–5111; (c) Gao, M. Z.; Wang, B.; Kong, D.; Zingaro, R. A.; Clearfield, A.; Xu, Z. L. *Synth. Commun.* **2005**, *35*, 2665–2673; (d) Itagaki, M.; Yamamoto, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2006**, *47*, 523–525; (e) Urbano, J.; Izarra, R.; Gomez, A.; Jose, L.; Trofimenko, S.; Diaz-Requejo, M.; Perez, P. J. *Chem. Commun.* **2006**, 1000–1002; (f) Luening, U.; Fahrenkrug, F. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2006**, 916–923.

- (a) Amstrong, R. K. J. Org. Chem. **1966**, 31, 618–620; (b) Lakshmi Kantam, M.; Haritha, Y.; Mahender Reddy, N.; Choudary, B. M.; Figueras, F. Catal. Lett. **2002**, 83, 187; (c) Marko, I.; Kumamoto, T.; Giard, T. Adv. Synth. Catal. **2002**, 344, 1063–1067.
- (a) Hanks, T. W.; Jennings, P. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 5023–5025; (b) Bertani, R.; Biasiolo, M.; Darini, K.; Michelin, R. A.; Mozzon, M.; Visentin, F.; Zanotto, L. J. Organomet. Chem. 2002, 642, 32–39.
- (a) Kerber, W. D.; Gagne, R. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3379–3381;
 (b) Furstner, A.; Hannen, P. Chem. Commun. 2004, 2546– 2547.
- Comins, D. L.; Dehghani, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 629– 630.
- (a) Karabelas, K.; Hallberg, A. J. Org. Chem. **1986**, *51*, 5286– 5290; (b) Ableman, M. M.; Oh, T.; Overman, L. E. J. Org. Chem. **1987**, *52*, 4130–4133; (c) Ableman, M. M.; Overman, L. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1988**, *110*, 2328–2329; (d) Ashimori, A.; Overman, L. E. J. Org. Chem. **1992**, *57*, 4571– 4572; (e) Jin, Z.; Fuchs, P. L. Tetrahedron Lett. **1993**, *34*, 5205–5208.
- Grigg, R.; Loganathan, V.; Sridharan, V.; Sukirthalingam, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 32, 687–690.
- McMurry, J. E.; Scott, W. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1983, 24, 979– 982.
- (a) Li, C. H.; Cheng, C. H.; Cheng, S. S.; Shaw, J. S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1990, 1774–1775; (b) Li, C. H.; Jou, D. C.; Cheng, C. H.; Liao, F. L.; Wang, S. L. Organometallics 1993, 12, 3553–3560.
- Torii, S.; Okumoto, H.; Ozaki, H.; Nakayasu, S.; Tadokoro, T.; Kotani, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1992**, *33*, 3499–3502.
- Owczarczyk, Z.; Lamaty, F.; Vawter, E. J.; Negishi, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 10091–10092.
- Feutren, S.; McAlonan, H.; Montgomery, D.; Stevenson, P. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2000, 1129–1137.
- Oh, C. H.; Rhim, C. Y.; Hwang, S. K. Chem. Lett. 1997, 777– 778.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9533-9540

Solid-phase synthesis of backbone-cyclized β-helical peptides

Thomas D. Clark,^{a,*} Mallika Sastry,^b Christopher Brown^a and Gerhard Wagner^b

^aDivision of Chemistry, Naval Research Laboratory, Washington, DC 20375-5342, USA ^bDepartment of Biological Chemistry and Molecular Pharmacology, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA 02115, USA

> Received 13 June 2006; revised 21 July 2006; accepted 24 July 2006 Available online 21 August 2006

Abstract—This paper describes the synthesis and purification of two 22-residue cyclic peptides, cyclo {[(L-Val-D-Val)₄-(L-Val-D-Pro-Gly)]₂-} **3** and cyclo {[(D-Leu-L-Leu)₄-(D-Leu-L-Pro-Gly)]₂-} **4**, that were designed to fold into double-stranded antiparallel β -helical structures. Due to intramolecular hydrogen bonding and the conformational constraints imposed by the two reverse-turn segments (D-Pro-Gly and L-Pro-Gly, respectively), the linear precursors to **3** and **4** (lin-**3** and lin-**4**) were expected to adopt preorganized conformations that would bring the N and C termini close together and thereby favor ring closure. Precursors lin-**3** and lin-**4** were constructed by stepwise Boc solid-phase peptide synthesis using the commercially available alkanesulfonamide 'safety-catch' linker and cyclized head-to-tail via the method of cleavage-by-cyclization. The crude cyclic peptides were highly hydrophobic and contained minor impurities that could not be removed solely by reversed-phase HPLC (RP-HPLC); however, two-step purification—first by RP-HPLC with *i*-PrOH/water gradients, followed by gel-permeation chromatography (GPC) on Sephadex LH-20 with CHCl₃/MeOH—afforded both peptides in pure form (\geq 95% by ¹H NMR) and in acceptable yield (23%). Subsequent ¹H NMR experiments supported the expected structures of **3** and **4**. The successful formation of the 66-membered rings of **3** and **4** is consistent with the notion of conformational preorganization in the linear precursors; furthermore, the protocols for synthesis and purification described should prove useful for preparing additional cyclic β -helical peptides, including longer peptides and peptides having polar resorted.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

In this article, we present the solid-phase synthesis and backbone-to-backbone cyclization of peptides that are designed to fold into β -helices—i.e., helices formed by peptides composed of alternating D- and L-amino acids (D,L-peptides) and stabilized by β -sheet hydrogen bonding.¹ β -Helical peptides are of interest not only for their ability to form transmembrane ion channels, the most notable example of which is the naturally occurring peptide antibiotic gramicidin A,² but also as prospective structural components for new

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter @ 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.069

biomolecular architectures. The conformational promiscuity of linear D,L-peptides, however, has limited the usefulness of β -helices; for example, a given D,L-peptide often folds in solution to give a mixture of single-stranded (ss), doublestranded (ds) parallel ($\uparrow\uparrow$), and ds antiparallel ($\uparrow\downarrow$) forms.¹⁻⁴ In order to overcome these limitations, we sought a means of constraining a D,L-peptide into a single β -helical species. Cyclization is known to provide an important conformational constraint in many natural and designed peptides;⁵ here, we use cyclization to prevent interconversion between ss and ds β -helices and to generate a welldefined ds antiparallel species having ca. 5.6 residues per turn (a $\uparrow\downarrow\beta^{5.6}$ -helix).

2. Experimental design

Conceptually, we designed $cyclo\{[(L-Val-D-Val)_4-(L-Val-D-Pro-Gly)]_2-\}$ **3** and $cyclo\{[(D-Leu-L-Leu)_4-(D-Leu-L-Pro-Gly)]_2-\}$ **4** (Fig. 1) by joining two copies of the corresponding linear D,L-peptide with two copies of the reverse-turn⁶ sequences D-Pro-Gly and L-Pro-Gly, respectively. In practice, we chose to synthesize the linear precursors to **3** and **4** (lin-**3** and lin-**4**) via stepwise solid-phase peptide synthesis (SPPS) using an alkanesulfonamide safety-catch linker (AS-SCL),⁷ originally developed by Kenner⁸ and subsequently modified by Ellman,^{9,10} and then cyclize the linear peptides with concomitant cleavage

Keywords: Alkanesulfonamide; Safety-catch linker; Cyclic peptide; Solidphase peptide synthesis; β-Hairpin; β-Turn; β-Helix; HPLC; Gel-permeation chromatography.

Abbreviations: AS-SLC, alkanesulfonamide safety-catch linker; CBC, cleavage-by-cyclization; Boc, *t*-butoxycarbonyl; Fmoc, 9-fluorenylmeth-oxycarbonyl; PyBop, (benzotriazol-1-yloxy)tris-pyrroli-dinophosphonium hexafluorophosphate; SPPS, solid-phase peptide synthesis; HATU, 1-[bis(dimethylamino)methylene]-1*H*-1,2,3-triazo-[4,5-*b*]pyridinium hexafluorophosphate 3-oxide; HBTU, 1-[bis(dimethylamino)methylene]-1*H*-benzotriazolium hexafluorophosphate 3-oxide; DMF, *N*,*N*-dimethylform-amide; NMP, *N*-methylpyrrolidinone; FSW, flow/shake wash; TFA, trifluoroacetic acid; DIEA, *N*,*N*-diisoprolylethylamine; RP-HPLC, reversed-phase high-performance liquid chromatography; HFIP, hexafluoroisopropanol; HFA·3H₂O, hexafluoroacetone trihydrate; MALDI-MS, matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization mass spectrometry; NMR, nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy; IR, infrared spectroscopy; GPC, gel-permeation chromatography.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 202 404 1923; fax: +1 202 767 3321; e-mail: thomas.clark@nrl.navy.mil


Figure 1. (a) Chemical structures of the peptides prepared in this study: $cyclo\{[(L-Val-D-Val)_4-(L-Val-D-Pro-Gly)]_2-\}$ **3** and $cyclo\{[(D-Leu-L-Leu)_4-(D-Leu-L-Pro-Gly)]_2-\}$ **4**. D Residues and Gly are shown in black, while L residues are shown in red and black; residues that comprise the two symmetry-related halves of the molecules are labeled 1 through 11 and 1' through 11'. The reverse-turn sequences of **3** and **4** (D-Pro-Gly and L-Pro-Gly, respectively) are boxed in blue. In both **3** and **4**, the amide bond that is formed during CBC (between the carboxyl of residue 8 and the amine of residue 9) is marked with a wave) line. (b) Schematic side view of the anticipated $\uparrow \beta^{5.6}$ -helical structure of **3**, showing hydrogen-bonding interactions; **4** was expected to have an analogous $\uparrow \beta^{5.6}$ -helical structure (not shown). We anticipated that, in the linear precursor to **3**, a hydrogen bond between the carboxyl of residue 9 and the NH of residue 1' (highlighted in yellow) would position the amino group of residue 9 favorably for amide bond formation with the carboxyl of residue 8.

from the resin—a process known as cleavage-by-cyclization (CBC). The AS-SCL has been used previously for the synthesis of cyclic peptides via CBC,^{11–17} and resins functionalized with this linker are commercially available, making it a convenient choice for our purposes. We decided to pursue the CBC route rather than the alternative—cleavage of the linear precursor followed by cyclization in solution— in order to save one synthetic step and to avoid the strong acid cleavage that is typically required in Boc SPPS.¹⁸

At the outset of this work, we noted that the target cyclic peptides 3 and 4 differ in two important ways from those prepared previously via CBC using the AS-SCL. First, prior reports by others had demonstrated CBC of peptides up to 10 residues long, ^{11–17} while **3** and **4** are both 22 residues long. The ease of macrocyclization reactions tends to correlate inversely with the number of atoms in the ring, and thus the prospect of forming the 66-membered rings of 3 and 4 at first appeared daunting. We reasoned, however, that the two reverse-turn regions of each peptide, together with alternating chirality of the residues and intramolecular hydrogen bonding,¹ would cause the lin-3 and lin-4 to fold into preorganized $\uparrow \beta^{5.6}$ -helical structures that would place the N and C termini close in space and thus encourage ring closure. In a retrosynthetic sense, we made a disconnection between the carboxyl function of residue 8 and the amino group of residue 9 (Fig. 1), so that the forward reaction (ring closure)

would take place between residues at the ends of the putative helices and avoid any steric congestion in the middle. Furthermore, we envisaged that hydrogen bonding between the carbonyl of residue 9 and the NH of residue 1' (Fig. 1b), together with the presence of the nearby reverseturn residues, would place the amino group of residue 9 in a favorable position for ring closure.

Peptides **3** and **4** also differ in polarity from those prepared earlier via CBC using AS-SCL. The previously reported cyclic peptides all contained at least one polar residue, $^{11-17}$ while **3** and **4** are comprised of only nonpolar residues. We, therefore, expected **3** and **4** to be highly hydrophobic. Although the purification of highly hydrophobic peptides is known to be difficult, $^{19-22}$ we hoped that, by using high-resolution techniques of separation such as RP-HPLC, 23 we would obtain products pure enough for characterization by high-field NMR.

3. Results

3.1. Solid-phase synthesis of 3 and 4

Here, we describe the synthesis and purification of 3, but the synthesis and purification of 4 were carried out in an analogous manner. Beginning with 4-sulfamylbutyryl AM resin

 $1,^{9,10}$ we anchored the C-terminal residue, D-Val(8), as the preformed Fmoc-amino acid fluoride (Scheme 1). We chose to use the acid fluoride rather than in situ activation with PyBop for the sake of convenience: the former allowed us to carry out the coupling at room temperature in a SPPS vessel,²⁴ while the latter requires the coupling to be carried out at -20 °C in a round-bottom flask.^{9,10} Furthermore, the presence of the Fmoc protecting group let us determine the yield of the anchoring reaction using the quantitative variant of the Fmoc UV absorbance assay.²⁵ In our hands, double coupling with Fmoc-p-Val-F²⁶ furnished the Fmoc-amino-acvlated resin 2 in 68% yield; we attribute this modest yield to the steric hindrance posed by the β -branched side chain of p-Val. Consistent with this interpretation, de Visser et al. reported a yield of 64% for the anchoring of β-branched Fmoc-L-Thr(^tBu)-F to 1,¹² while during the synthesis of peptide 4, we found that double coupling of the non- β -branched Fmoc-L-Leu-F proceeded in 91% overall yield.



Scheme 1. (i) $2 \times \text{Fmoc-D-Val-F}$, DIEA, CH₂Cl₂, room temperature; (ii) $4 \times 20\%$ piperidine in DMF; (iii) Boc SPPS; (iv) ICH₂CN, DIEA, NMP; (v) $2 \times \text{TFA}$ (neat); (vi) DIEA, THF. (In **2** and lin-**3a**–**c**, the residues that react during ring closure, D-Val(8) and L-Val(9), are numbered as in Figure 1, while, for clarity, the numbering of all other residues is omitted.)

Following the removal of the Fmoc group with 20% piperidine in DMF,²⁷ we continued the synthesis at the appropriate scale using manual Boc SPPS and following the in situ neutralization protocol of Kent,²⁸ with the exception that the more efficient coupling reagent HATU was used in place of HBTU,²⁹ NMP was used in place of DMF, and a combination of flow and shake washes (FSW) was used in place of a single flow wash (see Section 6 for details). After we had coupled the final residue, L-Val(9), we activated the C terminus of the resin-bound linear peptide lin-**3a** via cyanomethylation with ICH₂CN and DIEA in NMP^{9,10} to give activated species lin-**3b**. We then removed the *N*-terminal Boc group with neat trifluoroacetic acid (TFA)²⁸ and effected CBC by suspending the TFA-peptidyl resin lin-**3c** in THF and adding 3 equiv DIEA.¹¹ The CBC reaction was accompanied by the formation of a white precipitate, which we collected by filtering the resin and washing copiously with CHCl₃. Evaporation of the CHCl₃ yielded crude **3**.

3.2. Purification and characterization of 3 and 4

Crude peptide **3** proved insoluble in solvents such as MeOH, EtOH, *i*-PrOH, and CH₃CN that are typically used for RP-HPLC; we attribute this insolubility to the highly hydrophobic nature of the peptide. However, dissolution of the crude peptide in HFIP at a concentration of ca. 80 mg mL⁻¹, followed by twofold dilution with HFA · 3H₂O, furnished a solution that was suitable for use in RP-HPLC. Initial attempts at RP-HPLC using a C4 column with CH₃CN/water failed to elute any peaks, but switching to *i*-PrOH/water and also using a C4 column gave predominantly a single, broad peak (Fig. 2), which we collected as two fractions (fractions *a* and *b*) and analyzed using MS and ¹H NMR spectroscopy.

Both RP-HPLC fractions showed the anticipated molecular ions by MALDI-MS. 1D ¹H NMR spectroscopy revealed that fraction *a* consisted of a ca. 10:1 ratio of major and minor species (Fig. 3a), which we tentatively assigned as the desired peptide **3** and an epimerized product, respectively; this assignment is supported by the absence of additional peaks in the mass spectrum, which suggests that the minor species has the same molecular weight as the desired peptide **3**. In addition, NMR spectroscopy indicated that fraction *b* contained the desired peptide **3**, the putative epimerized material, and at least one additional contaminant (Fig. 3b). We note that the chemical shifts of the corresponding amide protons in Figure 3a and b differ somewhat due to differing amounts of water and impurities in the two samples. When



Figure 2. RP-HPLC profile of as-synthesized crude peptide **3**. The major peak was collected as two fractions, *a* and *b*. Conditions: 22×250 mm C4 column; 20 mL min⁻¹; gradient=50% B \rightarrow 50% B (1 min), 50 \rightarrow 100% B (30 min), 100 \rightarrow 100% B (5 min); solvent A=0.1% TFA and 1% *i*-PrOH in H₂O, solvent B=0.07% TFA and 90% *i*-PrOH in H₂O. The data were baseline-corrected by subtracting a blank chromatogram run with the same gradient.



Figure 3. NH region of the 1D ¹H NMR spectra of peptides 3 and 4 (500 or 600 MHz, ca. 10 mM, 295 K, CDCl₃; residual CHCl₃ appears as a singlet at 7.24 ppm). (a) RP-HPLC fraction a (Fig. 2a), prior to repurification by GPC, which contains signals corresponding to a ca. 10:1 ratio of desired peptide 3 and putative epimerized material (one peak due to this material is marked with an asterisk). (b) RP-HPLC fraction b (Fig. 2b), prior to repurification by GPC, which shows signals from peptide 3, the putative epimerized material (one peak due to this material is marked with an asterisk), and at least one additional contaminant (one peak due to this contaminant is marked with a dagger sign). (c) RP-HPLC fraction a (Fig. 2a) after repurification by GPC, which contains only signals arising from the desired peptide 3 (the spectrum of RP-HPLC/GPC-purified fraction b was identical). (d) RP-HPLC/GPC-purified peptide 4, which contains only signals arising from the desired peptide. In (a-c), the chemical shifts of the amide protons of 3 vary due to different amounts of water and impurities in each sample. For example, the NH peak of Gly (easily identified by its multiplicity and marked in each spectrum with an arrow) appears at 7.42, 7.01, and 6.89 ppm in (a), (b), and (c), respectively.

we sought to purify both fractions further using RP-HPLC, we found that repeated chromatography on a C4, C8, or C18 column failed to completely remove the putative epimerized material.

We next attempted to repurify fraction a of the RP-HPLCpurified material using gravity-driven GPC on Sephadex LH-20.³⁰ These efforts were complicated by the lack of a suitable pure solvent that would satisfy the following criteria: (1) the solvent must be able to dissolve the partially purified peptide, and (2) the solvent must be sufficiently polar to prevent irreversible adsorption of the peptide to the LH-20 stationary phase.³⁰ One obvious choice was CHCl₃, in which the peptide is soluble to ca. 20 mM; CHCl₃, however, is a nonpolar solvent. Moreover, CHCl₃ is denser than LH-20 and therefore inconvenient for GPC using gravity-driven flow. After some experimentation, we determined that the solvent mixture CHCl₃/MeOH (65:35) satisfies both of the criteria stated above; in addition, this mixture is less dense than LH-20. We found that a single pass of fraction *a* through a 2.5×55 cm column of LH-20 in CHCl₃/MeOH gave material that was \geq 95% pure as estimated by 1D ¹H NMR (Fig. 3c). Furthermore, even fraction b of the RP-HPLC-purified material, which contained ca. 30% contaminant (Fig. 3b), could be purified in this manner. Using this two-step method of purification, we obtained both **3** and **4** in 23% yield based on Fmoc-aminoacyl resin (e.g., **2**).

Figure 3c and d, respectively, shows the 1D ¹H NMR spectra of peptides 3 and 4 after RP-HPLC/GPC purification and thorough drying. Both spectra consist of a single set of sharp, well-dispersed resonances, with no minor peaks that would indicate multiple conformers or oligomers interconverting on the NMR time scale. Three additional observations concerning the NMR spectra support the expected $\beta \beta^{5.6}$ -helical structures of 3 and 4. First, both the 1 H and proton-decoupled ¹³C spectra are consistent with the anticipated twofold symmetrical structures of the 22-mers: the NH region of each ¹H spectrum (Fig. 3c and d, δ 6.44–9.23) contains the expected 10 NH peaks, while the ¹³C spectra (see Section 6) each contain 11 peaks in the carbonyl region (C', δ 169–175) and 11 peaks in the C^{α} region (δ 47–62). Second, both ¹H spectra (Fig. 3c and d) show 8 NH resonances downfield from 7.2 ppm, chemical shifts consistent with the 16 hydrogen bonds^{3,31,32} anticipated for the $\uparrow \downarrow \beta^{5.6}$ -helical structures of **3** and **4**. Finally, the majority of the ${}^{3}J_{\text{NH-H}\alpha}$ values in the ¹H spectra are greater than 8 Hz, which is typical for residues having β -sheet-like ϕ dihedral angles.³³ The detailed structural analysis of **3** and **4** using 2D ¹H NMR spectroscopy and structure calculations is reported elsewhere.³⁴

4. Discussion

Over the past two decades, a number of studies have established CBC as an effective strategy for the solid-phase synthesis of cyclic peptides. Several linkers have been used for this purpose, including those having amine-labile anchors such as the Kaiser oxime³⁵ and thioester³⁶ linkers, as well as 'safety-catch' linkers that employ aryl hydra-zide,^{37,38} catechol,^{39,40} or alkanesulfonamide^{11–17} functions. Safety-catch linkers are particularly useful for the synthesis of cyclic peptides because they exploit amine-stable anchors that prevent premature cyclization during elongation of the peptide chain; at the conclusion of the synthesis, however, these same anchors can be activated for nucleophilic attack in order to effect CBC. Resins functionalized with the AS-SCL are commercially available, and Yang and Morriello have reported the use of such resin for the synthesis of cyclic peptides by CBC.¹¹ Subsequent reports by Noort,¹² Guo, 13-16 and Ganesan¹⁷ have begun to define the scope of this approach.

The 22-residue peptides **3** and **4**, both of which contain 66-membered rings, are noteworthy in that they are among the longest cyclic peptides yet prepared via CBC using the AS-SCL. In both cases, the CBC reaction proceeded smoothly without resorting to low-loading resins ('pseudo-high-dilution'¹² conditions). These results support our expectation that the linear precursors to **3** and **4** would adopt preorganized $\uparrow\downarrow\beta^{5.6}$ -helical conformations in which the N and C termini are close together. We note that Guo et al. have advanced similar arguments to rationalize the success of CBC for backbone-to-backbone cyclization of linear precursors having unprotected ornithine side chains.^{13–16}

As mentioned above, the as-synthesized crude peptides 3 and 4 were contaminated with minor products that could

not be removed by repeated RP-HPLC. The purification of highly hydrophobic peptides is notoriously difficult;¹⁹⁻²² nevertheless, we were able to purify 3 and 4 to near homogeneity using a facile two-step procedure of RP-HPLC followed by GPC on Sephadex LH-20. In our case, the GPC step could be carried out with gravity-driven flow and without the use of an in-line UV detector (see Section 6 for details), thus minimizing capital outlay. We note that Rijkers et al. have reported a similar two-step RP-HPLC/ GPC strategy for the purification of hydrophobic S-palmitoyl peptides.⁴¹ The success of this twofold approach is likely due to the orthogonal nature of the separation techniques: RP-HPLC operates by adsorption of molecules onto a stationary phase on the basis of molecular hydrophobicity,²³ while GPC works by partitioning of molecules into a porous stationary phase on the basis of molecular shape and size.⁴² In the case of **3** and **4**, one of the hard-to-remove contaminants is probably an epimer resulting from loss of configuration at residue 8 during the CBC step, and we note that GPC on Sephadex media is known to be capable of resolving peptides that differ only in the chirality of a single residue.⁴³ An alternative strategy would be to avoid epimerization altogether by using the aryl hydrazide linker, which is reported to suppress epimerization during CBC.^{37,38} For our future work, however, we wish to synthesize cyclic β -helical peptides having a range of side-chain functionalities, and CBC using the aryl hydrazide linker requires an oxidation step, a process that may not be compatible with sensitive side-chain groups.

5. Conclusion

The foregoing results show that CBC using the commercially available AS-SCL is an effective route for the solid-phase synthesis of backbone-cyclized $\uparrow\downarrow\beta^{5.6}$ -helical peptides. The successful preparation of the 66-memberedring-containing peptides **3** and **4** suggests that the linear precursors also possess significant $\uparrow\downarrow\beta^{5.6}$ -helical structure, which presumably facilitates ring closure by placing the N and C termini close in space. In the case of **3** and **4**, two-step purification via RP-HPLC followed by GPC yielded these highly hydrophobic peptides in pure form. We are currently working to establish the generality of these procedures by preparing longer cyclic β -helical peptides and peptides having polar side chains.^{11–17} We anticipate that the latter peptides will find application as ligands for macromolecular targets and as building blocks for new protein architectures.

6. Experimental

6.1. Materials

Before use, DIEA was distilled first from ninhydrin and then from CaH₂,⁴⁴ and ICH₂CN was filtered through a plug of basic alumina;^{9,10} otherwise, all materials were used as received from the source indicated: 4-sulfamylbutyryl AM resin, EMD Biosciences, San Diego, CA, USA; anhydrous CH₂Cl₂ and THF, Sigma–Aldrich, Milwaukee, WI, USA; anhydrous NMP (Biotech Grade, over 4 Å molecular sieves), Pharmco, Brookfield, CT, USA; HATU, Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA; HFIP, TCI America, Portland, OR, USA; HFA \cdot 3H₂O, Sigma–Aldrich; and Sephadex LH-20, Amersham Biosciences, Piscataway, NJ, USA. CHCl₃ used in GPC was of HPLC-grade and stabilized with ca. 50 ppm pentene.

6.2. General procedures for manual solid-phase peptide synthesis. Procedure for flow/shake washes (FSW)

A single round of FSW consisted of a brief (ca. 10-15 s) vacuum-assisted flow wash (ca. 5 mL s⁻¹), taking care not to let the resin go dry, followed by a 5 s shake with ca. 10 mL solvent.

6.3. Representative procedures for manual solid-phase peptide synthesis. Synthesis of *cyclo*{[(L-Val-D-Val)₄-(L-Val-D-Pro-Gly)]₂-} (3)

6.3.1. Anchoring the first amino acid. 4-Sulfamylbutyryl AM resin^{9,10} (1.0 mmol, 0.91 g of 1.1 mequiv g^{-1} , 1 equiv) was placed in a SPPS vessel^{18,28} having a coarse porosity sintered glass frit and Teflon stopcock. Anhydrous CH₂Cl₂ (10 mL) was added and the resin was allowed to swell by shaking for 1 h. The CH₂Cl₂ was drained to the top of the resin, taking care not to let the resin go dry, and the resin was rinsed using two rounds of FSW. A solution of Fmoc-D-Val-F²⁶ (1.02 g, 3 mmol, 3 equiv) in anhydrous CH₂Cl₂ (6 mL) was added, followed by DIEA (0.35 mL, 2 mmol, 2 equiv),²⁴ and the reaction mixture was shaken for 1 h and then drained. After 2×FSW with CH₂Cl₂, the coupling was repeated as before. The resin was again rinsed via $2 \times FSW$ with CH₂Cl₂, followed by Et₂O, and then dried overnight under vacuum. Two ca. 5 mg samples of the aminoacyl resin were removed and subjected to the quantitative Fmoc UV absorbance assay,²⁵ by which the loading of the resin was determined to be 0.60 mmol g⁻ (coupling yield=68%). A portion of the resin (600 mg) was removed and transferred to another SPPS vessel, and the synthesis was carried forward at the appropriate scale (0.36 mmol).

6.3.2. Elongation of the peptide chain. The Fmoc group of the aminoacyl resin obtained by using the procedure given in Section 6.3.1 was removed by shaking with 20% piperidine in DMF for $4 \times 3 \text{ min}$,²⁷ and the resin was rinsed via $2 \times FSW$ with NMP. The synthesis was then carried forward using Boc manual SPPS according to the following modified version of the in situ neutralization protocol:^{28,29}

Boc-amino acid (1.44 mmol, 4 equiv) and HATU (0.521 g, 1.37 mmol, 3.8 equiv) were dissolved in anhydrous NMP (3 mL) and DIEA was added (0.38 mL, 2.16 mmol, 6 equiv). The mixture was shaken until a homogeneous solution was obtained and then allowed to sit for an additional 1 min in order to preactivate the amino acid. The resulting solution of activated amino acid was added to the peptidyl resin; the resin was shaken for 30 min and then rinsed via $2 \times FSW$ with NMP. The resin was tested for the presence of unreacted amines using the qualitative ninhydrin test¹⁸ (for primary amines) or the qualitative chloranil test^{18,45} (for secondary amines), and couplings that yielded a positive test were repeated. If the resin continued to give a positive test after recoupling, it was capped by treatment with Ac₂O (0.34 mL, 3.6 mmol, 10 equiv) and DIEA (0.31 mL,

1.8 mmol, 5 equiv) in NMP (5 mL) for 2 h. When all the amino groups had reacted, the *N*-terminal Boc group was deprotected by shaking for 2×1 min with neat TFA and the resin was rinsed via $3 \times FSW$ with NMP. The next Boc-amino acid was then coupled as before.

6.3.3. Activation and cyclization. When the last Boc-amino acid had been coupled, the *N*-terminal Boc group was left on, and the C terminus was activated by shaking the resin for 24 h with ICH₂CN (0.66 mL, 9.08 mmol, 25 equiv) and DIEA (0.63 mL, 3.63 mmol, 10 equiv) in NMP (5 mL).^{9,10} The resin was rinsed via $3 \times FSW$ with NMP, the *N*-terminal Boc group was removed as before, and the resin was washed via $3 \times FSW$ with NMP and $3 \times FSW$ with anhydrous THF. The resin was then transferred to a round-bottom flask; anhydrous THF (7 mL) was added, followed by DIEA (127 µL, 1.09 mmol, 3 equiv), and the resulting reaction mixture was stirred magnetically under Ar. Although a white precipitate began to form within 1 h, the mixture was stirred for 3 days in order to ensure complete reaction.

The crude peptide was collected by filtering the resin through a medium porosity sintered glass funnel and rinsing copiously with $CHCl_3$ (ca. 100 mL). Removal of the $CHCl_3$ under reduced pressured afforded crude **3** (431 mg).

6.4. Representative procedure for RP-HPLC. Chromatography of crude peptide 3

Crude peptide **3** (431 mg) was dissolved in HFIP (ca. 5 mL) and diluted with HFA \cdot 3H₂O (ca. 10 mL). The resulting solution was clarified by filtration using a 0.45-µm in-line syringe filter, and then subjected to RP-HPLC in 3 mL injections on a 22×250 mm C4 column run at 20 mL min⁻¹ using a gradient of 60% B to 77% B over 17 min (solvent A=0.1% TFA and 1% *i*-PrOH in H₂O; solvent B=0.07% TFA and 90% *i*-PrOH in H₂O). The absorbance of the eluant was monitored at 230 nm, and the major peak was collected as two fractions as indicated in Figure 2. Yield: fraction *a*, 145 mg; fraction *b*, 73 mg.

6.5. Representative procedure for GPC. Chromatography of HPLC-purified peptide 3

Fraction a of RP-HPLC-purified peptide **3** (140 mg) was dissolved in 10 mL CHCl₃/MeOH (65:35 v/v), and 5 mL of this solution was loaded onto a 2.5×55 cm column of LH-20 in CHCl₃/MeOH (65:35 v/v; degassed separately before mixing) using a Pasteur pipette, taking care not to let the top of the resin go dry.⁴² The column was then run overnight using gravity-driven flow at ca. 1 mL min⁻¹. Fractions of 5 mL were collected, and peptide-containing fractions were identified by transferring an aliquot to a quartz cuvette and reading the absorbance at 245 nm. Pure 6 eluted first, followed by the putative epimerized material, and the two species were typically separated by 2-3 fractions that contained no peptide. The remaining 5 mL of fraction a was chromatographed in an identical manner. Fraction b of the HPLC-purified material was dissolved in 5 mL CHCl₃/MeOH 65:35 v/v and chromatographed in a single aliquot as described above. In this manner, a total of 170 mg of pure 3 was obtained (0.083 mmol, 23% based on 2).

6.6. Synthesis of peptide 4

For the synthesis of **4**, resin **1** (0.45 g, 0.5 mmol, 1 equiv) was loaded with Fmoc-L-Leu- F^{26} (0.53 g, 1.5 mmol, 3 equiv) in 91% yield as described above for **3**. The remainder of the synthesis and purification of **4** was then carried out analogously to the procedures used for **3**, to give 245 mg pure **4** (0.104 mmol, 23% yield).

6.7. Spectral characterization of peptides 3 and 4

Mass spectral analysis was performed by the Laboratory for Biological Mass Spectrometry of Texas A&M University (College Station, TX, USA). Samples of RP-HPLC/GPC purified **3** and **4** were dried under vacuum for at least 12 h prior to NMR analysis. ¹H NMR and proton-decoupled ¹³C NMR spectra were referenced to CHCl₃ (7.24 ppm) and CDCl₃ (77.0 ppm), respectively. The ¹H NMR resonances were assigned using 2D NMR spectroscopy as described elsewhere.³⁴ We were able to partially assign the ¹³C NMR resonances by comparison of the 1D protondecoupled ¹³C spectra with residue-dependent chemical shift values from the literature,⁴⁶ and by cross-correlating the shifts observed for 3 and 4; we did not attempt more to fully assign the ¹³C resonances. Due to the twofold symmetry of **3** and **4**, we observed NMR signals corresponding to only half the total number of residues. IR spectra were recorded on a Nicolet 750 FTIR spectrometer at a resolution of 8 cm^{-1} , and samples were held in a liquid cell having BaF₂ windows and a path length of 50 µm. IR spectra were corrected for background by taking the ratio of the sample spectra to a blank spectrum.

6.7.1. $cyclo{[(L-Val-D-Val)_4-(L-Val-D-Pro-Gly)]_2-}$ (3). ¹H NMR (500 MHz, 289 K, 10 mM in CDCl₃): *L-Val(1)*, NH (7.28, d, J=9.6 Hz), C^{α}H (4.74), C^{β}H (2.12), C^{γ}H₃ (0.95, 0.91); *D-Val*(2), NH (8.68, d, J=6.3 Hz), C^{α}H (4.64), C^{β}H $(2.32), C^{\gamma}H_3$ (1.03, 0.99); *L-Val(3)*, NH (8.58, d, J=9.8 Hz), C^{α}H (4.89), C^{β}H (2.00), C^{γ}H₃ (0.92, 0.84); *D-Val(4)*, NH (8.38, d, J=6.8 Hz), C^{α}H (4.76), C^{β}H (2.10), $C^{\gamma}H_3$ (0.95); *L-Val*(5), NH (8.96, d, *J*=10.1 Hz), $C^{\alpha}H$ (5.11), $C^{\beta}H$ (2.06), $C^{\gamma}H_3$ (0.90, 0.81); *D-Val*(6), NH (8.30, d, J=7.5 Hz), C^{α}H (4.62), C^{β}H (2.10), C^{γ}H₃ (0.94, 0.90); *L-Val*(7), NH (9.14, d, J=9.1 Hz), C^{α}H (4.03), C^{β}H (1.91), $C^{\gamma}H_3$ (0.89); *D-Val*(8), NH (6.45, d, J=6.4 Hz), $C^{\alpha}H$ $(4.92), C^{\beta}H (2.20), C^{\gamma}H_3 (1.06, 0.93); L-Val(9), NH (7.78),$ d, J=8.4 Hz), C^{α}H (4.39), C^{β}H (2.13), C^{γ}H₃ (1.05, 0.95); $D-Pro(10), C^{\alpha}H (4.40), C^{\beta}H (2.27, 2.05), C^{\gamma}H (2.02), C^{\delta}H$ $(4.27, 3.63); Gly(11), NH (6.91), C^{\alpha}H (4.31, 3.60).$ ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, 295 K, 10 mM in CDCl₃): δ 173.2 (C'), 172.5 (C'), 172.1 (C'), 171.8 (C'), 171.7 (C'), 171.4 (C'), 171.3 (C'), 171.2 (C'), 170.8 (C'), 170.7 (C'), 169.5 (C'), 61.7 (D-Pro10 C^α), 59.0 (Val C^α), 59.0 (Val C^α), 58.9 (Val C^{\alpha}), 58.8 (Val C^{\alpha}), 58.6 (Val C^{\alpha}), 58.0 (Val C^{\alpha}), 57.2 (Val C^{α}), 56.6 (Val C^{α}), 56.2 (Val C^{α}), 48.0, 42.5, 32.4, 32.4, 32.2, 31.7, 31.7, 31.6, 31.3, 30.6, 30.5, 29.6, 25.9 (D-Pro10 C^{\gamma}), 20.1 (Val C^{\gamma}), 19.9 (Val C^{\gamma}), 19.8 (Val C^{\gamma}), 19.7 (Val C^Y), 19.6 (Val C^Y), 19.5 (Val C^Y), 19.4 (Val C^Y), 19.3 (Val C^Y), 19.3 (Val C^Y), 19.3 (Val C^Y), 19.2 (Val C^{γ}), 19.0 (Val C^{γ}), 18.9 (Val C^{γ}), 18.7 (Val C^{γ}), 18.4 (Val C^{γ}), 17.8 (Val C^{γ}), 17.7 (Val C^{γ}), 17.2 (Val C^{γ}) ppm. IR (liquid, BaF₂, 295 K, 2 mM in CDCl₃): v 3413 (amide A, nonhydrogen-bonded), 3278 (amide A, hydrogen-bonded),

9539

3066 (amide B), 1682 (amide I parallel component), 1635 (amide I perpendicular component), 1543 (amide II) cm⁻¹. HRMS (MALDI) *m*/*z* calcd for $C_{104}H_{183}N_{22}O_{22}$ [M+H]⁺: 2092.3877, found: 2092.3845; calcd for $C_{104}H_{182}N_{22}NaO_{22}$ [M+Na]⁺: 2114.3697, found: 2114.3662; calcd for $C_{104}H_{182}N_{22}KO_{22}$ [M+K]⁺: 2130.3436, found: 2130.3501.

6.7.2. $cyclo{[(D-Leu-L-Leu)_4-(D-Leu-L-Pro-Gly)]_2-}$ 4. ¹H NMR (600 MHz, 283 K, 12 mM in CDCl₃): *D-Leu(1)*, NH $(7.28, d, J=8.9 \text{ Hz}), C^{\alpha}\text{H} (4.75), C^{\beta}\text{H} (1.64, 1.54), C^{\delta}\text{H}_{3}$ (0.86, 0.80); *L-Leu*(2), NH (8.92, d. *J*=7.1 Hz), C^{\alpha}H (4.62), $C^{\beta}H$ (1.77, 1.37), $C^{\gamma}H$ (1.48), $C^{\delta}H_3$ (0.93, 0.87); *p-Leu*(3), NH (8.80, d, J=9.3 Hz), C^{α}H (4.81), C^{β}H (1.54, 1.42); *L-Leu*(4), NH (8.35, d, J=8.4 Hz), C^{α}H (4.79), C^{β}H (1.59, 1.14), C^YH (1.37), C⁸H₃ (0.81, 0.82); *D-Leu*(5), NH (9.22, d, J=9.4 Hz), C^{α}H (4.85), C^{β}H (1.62, 1.35), C^{δ}H₃ (0.86, 0.79); *L-Leu*(6), NH (8.95, d, *J*=8.3 Hz), C^{α}H (4.67), $C^{\beta}H$ (1.71, 1.32), $C^{\gamma}H$ (1.43), $C^{\delta}H_{3}$ (0.87); *D-Leu*(7), NH (9.23, d, J=9.0 Hz), C^{α}H (4.32), C^{β}H (1.61, 1.37), C^YH (1.58), C⁸H₃ (0.87); *L-Leu*(8), NH (6.44, d, J=6.9 Hz), C^{α}H (4.99), C^{β}H (1.59, 1.48), C^{δ}H₃ (0.94); *D-Leu*(9), NH (7.85, d, J=7.7 Hz), C^{α}H (4.60), C^{β}H (1.71), $C^{\gamma}H$ (1.63), $C^{\delta}H_3$ (0.98, 0.94); *L-Pro(10*), $C^{\alpha}H$ (4.40), $C^{\beta}H$ $(2.28, 2.03), C^{\gamma}H (2.06), C^{\delta}H (4.74, 3.60); Gly(11), NH$ (6.70, dd, J=4.8, 7.9 Hz), C^{α}H (4.22, 3.44). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, 295 K, 12 mM in CDCl₃): δ 174.7 (C'), 173.2 (C'), 172.5 (C'), 172.2 (C'), 171.5 (C'), 171.4 (C'), 171.4 (C'), 171.2 (C'), 170.7 (C'), 170.6 (C'), 169.8 (C'), 61.8 (1-Pro10 C^{α}), 51.9 (Leu C^{α}), 51.9 (Leu C^{α}), 51.3 (Leu C^{α}), 51.1 (Leu C^{α}), 51.0 (Leu C^{α}), 51.0 (Leu C^{α}), 50.9 (Leu C^{α}), 50.8 (Leu C^{α}), 50.1 (Leu C^{α}), 47.7, 43.8, 43.3, 43.1, 42.6, 42.4, 42.3, 42.0, 41.6, 41.0, 40.2, 29.4, 25.2, 25.1, 25.0, 25.0, 24.9, 24.8, 24.8, 24.7, 24.6, 24.5, 23.7 (Leu C^{δ}), 23.6 (Leu C^{δ}), 23.3 (Leu C^{δ}), 23.2 (Leu C^{δ}), 23.2 (Leu C^{δ}), 23.0 (Leu C^{δ}), 22.9 (Leu C^{δ}), 22.8 (Leu C^{δ}), 22.7 (Leu C^b), 22.7 (Leu C^b), 22.7 (Leu C^b), 22.4 (Leu C^{δ}), 22.4 (Leu C^{δ}), 22.3 (Leu C^{δ}), 22.2 (Leu C^{δ}), 21.8 (Leu C^{δ}), 21.7 (Leu C^{δ}), 21.7 (Leu C^{δ}) ppm. IR (liquid, BaF₂, 295 K, 2 mM in CDCl₃): v 3417 (amide A, nonhydrogen-bonded), 3267 (amide A, hydrogen-bonded), 3070 (amide B), 1682 (amide I parallel component), 1639 (amide I perpendicular component), 1551 (amide II) cm⁻¹. HRMS (MALDI) m/z calcd for $C_{122}H_{219}N_{22}O_{22}$ [M+H]⁺: 2344.6694, found: 2344.6670; calcd for C₁₂₂H₂₁₈N₂₂NaO₂₂ $[M+Na]^+$: 2366.6514, found: 2366.6489; calcd for C₁₂₂H₂₁₈N₂₂KO₂₂ [M+K]⁺: 2382.6253, found: 2382.6099.

Acknowledgements

We thank Greg Heffron and Daniel Barlow for assistance with instrumentation, and John Russell and Dmitri Petrovykh for helpful discussions. This work was supported by the Office of Naval Research and the NIH (grant GM47467 to G.W.).

References and notes

- Bong, D. T.; Clark, T. D.; Granja, J. R.; Ghadiri, M. R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 988–1011.
- Duax, W. L.; Burkhart, B. M.; Pangborn, W. A.; Pletnev, V.; Wawrzak, Z.; Glowka, M. Ion Association, Transport, and

Gating in Gramicidin Channels in Lipid Bilayers. In *Advances in Supramolecular Chemistry*; Gokel, G. W., Ed.; Cerberus: South Miami, FL, 2002; Vol. 8, pp 245–282.

- Lorenzi, G. P.; Jaeckle, H.; Tomasic, L.; Rizzo, V.; Pedone, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 1728–1733.
- 4. Navarro, E.; Fenude, E.; Celda, B. *Biopolymers* **2004**, *73*, 229–241.
- 5. Li, P.; Roller, P. P.; Xu, J. C. Curr. Org. Chem. 2002, 6, 411–440.
- Stanger, H. E.; Gellman, S. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 4236–4237.
- 7. Heidler, P.; Link, A. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2005, 13, 585-599.
- Kenner, G. W.; McDermot, J. R.; Sheppard, R. C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1971, 636–637.
- Backes, B. J.; Ellman, J. A. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 2322– 2330.
- Backes, B. J.; Virgilio, A. A.; Ellman, J. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 3055–3056.
- 11. Yang, L.; Morriello, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 8197-8200.
- de Visser, P. C.; Kriek, N. M. A. J.; van Hooft, P. A. V.; Van Schepdael, A.; Filippov, D. V.; van der Marel, G. A.; Overkleeft, H. S.; van Boom, J. H.; Noort, D. J. Pept. Res. 2003, 61, 298–306.
- 13. Qin, C.; Bu, X.; Wu, X.; Guo, Z. J. Comb. Chem. 2003, 5, 353–355.
- Bu, X.; Wu, X.; Ng, N. L. J.; Mak, C. K.; Qin, C.; Guo, Z. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 2681–2685.
- Qin, C.; Bu, X.; Zhong, X.; Ng, N. L. J.; Guo, Z. J. Comb. Chem. 2004, 6, 398–406.
- Qin, C.; Zhong, X.; Ng, N. L.; Bu, X.; Chan, W. S.; Guo, Z. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 217–220.
- Bourel-Bonnet, L.; Rao, K. V.; Hamann, M. T.; Ganesan, A. J. Med. Chem. 2005, 48, 1330–1335.
- Stewart, J. M.; Young, J. D. Solid Phase Peptide Synthesis, 2nd ed.; Pierce Chemical: Rockford, Ill, 1984.
- Bollhagen, R.; Schmiedberger, M.; Grell, E. J. Chromatogr., A 1995, 711, 181–186.
- 20. Lew, S.; London, E. Anal. Biochem. 1997, 251, 113-116.
- Taneja, A. K.; Lau, S. Y. M.; Hodges, R. S. J. Chromatogr. 1984, 317, 1–10.
- Tiburu, E. K.; Dave, P. C.; Vanlerberghe, J. F.; Cardon, T. B.; Minto, R. E.; Lorigan, G. A. Anal. Biochem. 2003, 318, 146– 151.
- Carr, D. The Handbook of Analysis and Purification of Peptides and Proteins by Reversed-Phase HPLC, 3rd ed.; W.R. Grace: Columbia, MD, 2002.
- Ingenito, R.; Dreznjak, D.; Guffler, S.; Wenschuh, H. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 1187–1188.
- Gude, M.; Ryf, J.; White, P. D. Lett. Pept. Sci. 2002, 9, 203– 206.
- Carpino, L. A.; Sadataalaee, D.; Chao, H. G.; Deselms, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 9651–9652.
- Chan, W. C.; White, P. D. *Fmoc Solid Phase Peptide Synthesis:* A Practical Approach; Oxford University Press: New York, NY, USA, 2000.
- Schnölzer, M.; Alewood, P.; Jones, A.; Alewood, D.; Kent, S. B. H. Int. J. Pept. Protein Res. 1992, 40, 180–193.
- Miranda, L. P.; Alewood, P. F. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1999, 96, 1181–1186.
- 30. Henke, H. Preparative Gel Chromatography on Sephadex LH-20; Huthig GmbH: Heidelberg, 1995.
- Akiyama, M.; Ohtani, T. Spectrochim. Acta 1994, 50A, 317– 324.

- Clark, T. D.; Buriak, J. M.; Kobayashi, K.; Isler, M. P.; McRee, D. E.; Ghadiri, M. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 8949–8962.
- Wüthrich, K. NMR of Proteins and Nucleic Acids; Wiley: New York, NY, 1986.
- 34. Sastry, M.; Brown, C.; Wagner, G.; Clark, T. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2006, 128, 10650–10651.
- Ösapay, G.; Taylor, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 6046– 6051.
- Richter, L. S.; Tom, J. Y. K.; Burnier, J. P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1994, 35, 5547–5550.
- Rosenbaum, C.; Waldmann, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 5677–5680.
- Shigenaga, A.; Moss, J. A.; Ashley, F. T.; Kaufmann, G. F.; Janda, K. D. Synlett 2006, 551–554.

- Bourne, G. T.; Golding, S. W.; McGeary, R. P.; Meutermans, W. D. F.; Jones, A.; Marshall, G. R.; Alewood, P. F.; Smythe, M. L. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 7706–7713.
- 40. Ravn, J.; Bourne, G. T.; Smythe, M. L. J. Pept. Sci. 2005, 11, 572–578.
- Rijkers, D. T. S.; Kruijtzer, J. A. W.; Killian, J. A.; Liskamp, R. M. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2005, 46, 3341–3345.
- 42. *Gel Filtration: Principles and Methods*. Handbook 18-1022-18; Amersham Biosciences: Uppsala, Sweden, 2002.
- 43. Takai, M.; Kumagae, S.; Kishida, Y.; Sakakibara, S. Pept. Chem. **1979**, *16*, 67–72.
- 44. Carpino, L. A.; Elfaham, A. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 695–698.
- 45. Christensen, T. Acta Chem. Scand. B 1979, 33, 763-766.
- 46. Richarz, R.; Wüthrich, K. Biopolymers 1978, 17, 2133-2141.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9541-9547

Achieving saturated red photoluminescence and electroluminescence with readily synthesized maleimide-arylamine copolymers

Li-Hsin Chan,^{a,b} Yu-Der Lee^{b,*} and Chin-Ti Chen^{a,*}

^aDepartment of Chemical Engineering, National Tsing Hua University, Hsinchu 30013, Taiwan, ROC ^bInstitute of Chemistry, Academia Sinica, Taipei 11529, Taiwan, ROC

> Received 29 April 2006; revised 26 July 2006; accepted 28 July 2006 Available online 22 August 2006

Abstract—Maleimide-based red fluorescent copolymers were easily synthesized from palladium catalyzed polycondensation of *N*-alkyl-3,4bis(4-bromophenyl)maleimide with commercially available or readily prepared secondary aryldiamines. The copolymers were characterized by gel permeation chromatography, differential scanning calorimetry, cyclic voltammetry, UV–vis absorption, and fluorescence spectroscopy. They showed brilliant red fluorescence in solution (toluene) with emission maximum in the range of 617–638 nm, although severely redshifted in thin films. With judicious selection of aryldiamine monomers, the red-shifting of the thin film fluorescence can be largely diminished. The structure and property (molecular weight, glass transition temperature, and fluorescence) relationships were analyzed and deciphered as well. A light-emitting device has been fabricated with maleimide-arylamine copolymer in demonstrating the potentials for saturated red polymer light-emitting diodes (PLEDs).

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

We have recently reported *N*-methyl-3,4-bis(4-(*N*-(1-naphthyl)phenylamino)phenyl)maleimide (**NPAMLMe**) as the novel host light-emitter in the fabrication of rare non-dopant red organic light-emitting diodes (OLEDs).¹ The triarylamine-substituted maleimide showed unusual amorphous property (glass transition temperature, T_g , at 126 °C) and strong red fluorescence in solid state. This is pretty extraordinary for red fluorophores, which usually possess extended π -conjugation or dipolar donor–acceptor substituents and tend to be crystallinic and fluorescence-quenching in solid state. Specifically, the precursor in preparing **NPAMLMe** is a dibromo-substituted species, *N*-methyl-3,4-bis(4-bromophenyl)maleimide (**Br₂ML**), which is easily synthesized from 4-bromophenylacetonitrile (Scheme 1).^{1,2} This is an appropriate monomer in synthesizing high molecular weight polyarylenes through Yamamoto-type Ni-catalyzed or Suzuki or Heck-type Pd-catalyzed polycondensation. **Br₂ML** also can be a suitable monomer in Sonogashira-type Pd/Cucatalyzed co-polycondensation of arylalkynes. About half a dozen of reports taking a good utilization of **Br₂ML** or different



Scheme 1. Synthesis of Br2ML, Br2Mlib, and NPAMLMe.

Keywords: Maleimide; Arylamine; Copolymer; Red fluorescence; Electroluminescence. * Corresponding authors, Fax: +886 2 27831237: e-mail: cchen@chem.sinica.edu.tw

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.096

alkyl derivatives in the preparation of 3,4-diphenylmaleimidebased polyaryl macromolecules have illustrated this point.³ Only yellow to orange fluorescent polymers derived from maleimides have been known thus far.

In addition to non-doped red OLEDs, we have been interested in developing the readily prepared red fluorescent polymers for applications in polymer light-emitting diodes (PLEDs). Red light-emitting polymer is one of the three indispensable components (red, green, and blue) in the fabrication of full color display based on OLEDs. However, when compared with either green or blue light-emitting polymers, red light-emitting polymer is relatively scarce. Moreover, most of the known red light-emitting polymers are not easily accessible and require lengthy synthesis procedure in the preparation of suitable monomers.⁴ For generating long wavelength red emission, it is necessary to attach arylamino unit to the maleimide moiety shown by a series of fluorescent 3,4-diaryl-substituted maleimides.² Pd-catalyzed aromatic amination reactions, which are commonly employed in the high-yield synthesis of triarylamines, will be promising for synthesizing red fluorescent polymer based on N-alkyl-3,4-bis(4-bromophenyl)maleimide bearing secondary arylamines.⁵ Accordingly, herein we report the easy syntheses and physical characterizations, including gel permeation chromatography, differential scanning calorimetry, cyclic voltammetry, UV-vis absorption, and fluorescence spectroscopy, of a series of red fluorescent maleimides-arylamine copolymers. A preliminary test of the red electroluminescence of the copolymers is reported here as well.

2. Experimental

2.1. Materials and measurement

All chemicals were purchased from Aldrich and Acros chemical companies and were used without any further purification. All the solvents such as toluene, DMSO, and THF were distilled after drying with appropriate drying agents. The dried solvents were stored over 4 Å molecular sieves before usage. ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on a Bruker AV-400 MHz or AMX-400 MHz Fourier transform spectrometer at room temperature. The number- and weight-average molecular weight of polymers were determined by gel permeation chromatography (GPC) on a Waters GPC-1515 with a 2414 refractive index detector, using THF as the eluent and polystyrene as the standard. UV-vis absorption and fluorescence spectra were recorded by Hewlett-Packard 8453 and Hitachi F-450 spectrophotometers, respectively. Glass transition temperatures (T_{gs}) of the copolymers were determined by differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) using a Perkin-Elmer DSC-6 analyzer system. Thermal analyses were performed with a scanning (both heating and cooling) rate of 10°/min in an atmosphere of nitrogen. The temperatures at the intercept of the curves on the thermogram (endothermic or exothermic) and the leading baseline were taken as the estimates for the onset T_{g} . The oxidation potentials of the copolymers were determined by cyclic voltammetry (CV) using an Electrochemical Analyzer BAS 100B. The electrochemical measurement of the copolymers was performed in a 0.1 M tetrabutylammonium perchlorate (Bu₄NClO₄) solution in toluene with scanning rate

of 100 mV/s at room temperature. A platinum wire was used as counter electrode, and $Ag/AgNO_3$ was employed as reference electrode. Ferrocene was used for potential calibration (all reported potentials are referenced against ferrocene/ferrocenium, FOC) and for reversibility criteria. Both solution and solid-state fluorescence quantum yields of the model compounds and maleimide-based copolymer were determined by integrating sphere method described by de Mello et al.⁶ The thin films of the copolymers were spin-casted from the toluene solution on the glass substrate and subjected to vacuumed drying at room temperature for at least 16 h before the experimental measurement.

2.2. Syntheses of the monomers

Monomer **Br₂ML** was prepared following the already published procedure,^{2,7} and the synthesis of **Br₂ML_{ib}** was also conducted according to the known literature (Scheme 1),^{2,7} but *iso*-butyl iodide was used as the alkylating reagent. **OPhA_{tol}** and **IPPhA_{tol}** were synthesized (with isolated yields of 67 and 51%, respectively) by the amination of 4-tolyl iodide with 4,4'-oxydianiline or 4,4'-(1,4-phenylenediisopropylide)bisaniline, respectively, by using (DPPF)PdCl₂/ DPPF as the catalyst.^{8a} **OPhA_{nhx}** was prepared by a twostep reaction. First, 4,4'-oxydianiline was converted to a diamide derivative in near quantitative yield with *tert*-butylacetyl chloride, and then the amide groups were conveniently reduced to secondary amine (with isolated yield of 63%) using NaBH₄/I₂ in THF followed by the acidic treatment with 3 N hydrochloric acid solution.^{8b}

2.2.1. *N*-Isobutyl-3,4-bis(4-bromophenyl)maleimide, Br₂ML_{ib}. Yellow-greenish powder with a yield of 80%. ¹H NMR (DMSO, 400 MHz, δ /ppm): 7.49 (d, 4H, *J*=8.7 Hz), 7.34 (d, 4H, *J*=8.7 Hz), 3.44 (d, 2H, *J*=7.3 Hz), 2.11–2.04 (m, 1H), 0.93 (d, 6H, *J*=6.7 Hz). ¹³C NMR (DMSO, 100 MHz, δ /ppm): 170.4, 135.0, 132.0, 131.3, 127.2, 124.7, 45.8, 27.9, 20.1. Anal. Calcd for C₂₀H₁₇Br₂NO₂: C, 51.86; H, 3.70; N, 3.02. Found: C, 51.66; H, 3.57; N, 3.02.

2.2.2. *N*,*N*'-**Di-neo-hexyl-4**,4'-**oxydianiline**, **OPhA**_{**nhx**}. White powder with a yield of 63%. ¹H NMR (DMSO, 400 MHz, δ /ppm): 6.69 (d, 4H, *J*=8.8 Hz), 6.49 (d, 4H, *J*=8.8 Hz), 5.16 (s, 2H), 2.93 (t, 4H, *J*=8.1 Hz), 1.47–1.43 (m, 4H), 0.92 (s, 18H). ¹³C NMR (DMSO, 100 MHz, δ /ppm): 148.7, 144.0, 119.1, 113.6, 42.3, 40.3, 29.6, 29.4. Anal. Calcd for C₂₄H₃₆N₂O: C, 78.21; H, 9.85; N, 7.60. Found: C, 78.29; H, 9.60; N, 7.57.

2.2.3. *N*,*N*'-**Di**(4-tolyl)-4,4'-oxydianiline, **OPhA**_{tol}. Offwhite powder with a yield of 67%. ¹H NMR (DMSO, 400 MHz, δ /ppm): 7.84 (s, 2H), 7.01–6.99 (m, 8H), 6.92– 6.85 (m, 8H), 2.20 (s, 6H). ¹³C NMR (DMSO, 100 MHz, δ /ppm): 150.4, 141.5, 139.4, 129.6, 128.0, 119.2, 118.2, 116.5, 20.3. Anal. Calcd for C₂₆H₂₄N₂O: C, 82.07; H, 6.36; N, 7.36. Found: C, 82.10; H, 6.31; N, 7.39.

2.2.4. *N*,*N*'-**Di**(4-tolyl)-4,4'-(1,4-phenylenediisopropylide)bisaniline, IPPhA_{tol}. White powder with a yield of 51%. ¹H NMR (DMSO, 400 MHz, δ /ppm): 7.85 (br, 2H), 7.11 (s, 4H), 7.06–6.99 (m, 8H), 6.94–6.90 (m, 8H), 2.20 (s, 6H). ¹³C NMR (DMSO, 100 MHz, δ /ppm): 147.6, 141.5, 141.1, 141.0, 129.5, 128.2, 127.1, 125.9, 117.0, 115.9, 41.3, 30.5, 20.3. Anal. Calcd for $C_{38}H_{40}N_2$: C, 86.98; H, 7.68; N, 5.34. Found: C, 86.87; H, 7.62; N, 5.22.

2.3. General procedure of the copolymer synthesis

Following a pertinent procedure⁵ in the high-yield synthesis of triarylamines, a mixture of Br₂ML (0.42 g, 1.0 mmol), appropriate aryldiamine (1.0 equiv amount), NaO'Bu $(0.21 \text{ g}, 2.2 \text{ mmol}), P(^{t}\text{Bu})_{3}$ (0.049 g, 0.2 mmol), and Pd(OAc)₂ (0.01 g, 0.04 mmol) in dry THF (8 mL) was stirred at refluxing temperature under a nitrogen atmosphere for about 2 days. After cooling to room temperature, the solution mixture was then poured into a solution of methanol and deionized water (10:1). The precipitates were collected by filtration. The solid was redissolved in either chloroform or dichloromethane and then reprecipitated by the addition of either methanol or hexane. The reprecipitation procedure was repeated at least three or four times, followed by Soxhlet extraction using methanol first then hexane for 24 h. Yields of all polymerization reactions were in a range of 63 and 84% depending on the aryldiamine used. All products have been structurally characterized by NMR spectroscopy and elemental analysis.

2.3.1. PMLPhA_{Ph}. The copolymer was obtained as a deep red semifibrous material with a yield of 62% after drying under vacuum. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, δ /ppm): 7.41–6.96 (m, 22H), 3.08 (s, 3H). Anal. Calcd for (C₃₅H₂₅N₃O₂)_n: C, 80.89; H, 4.82; N, 8.09. Found: C, 80.53; H, 4.84; N, 7.99.

2.3.2. PMLBPhA_{Ph}. The copolymer was obtained as a deep red fibrous powder with a yield of 84% after drying under vacuum. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, δ /ppm): 7.45–6.99 (m, 26H), 3.10 (s, 3H). Anal. Calcd for (C₄₁H₂₉N₃O₂)_n: C, 82.66; H, 4.87; N, 7.06. Found: C, 82.28; H, 4.82; N, 7.01.

2.3.3. PMLOPhA_{tol}. The copolymer was obtained as a red powder with a yield of 65% after drying under vacuum. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, δ /ppm): 7.38 (d, 4H, *J*=8.2 Hz), 7.07–6.86 (m, 20H), 3.08 (s, 3H), 2.29 (s, 6H). Anal. Calcd for (C₄₃H₃₃N₃O₃)_n: C, 80.72; H, 5.16; N, 6.57. Found: C, 80.48; H, 5.15; N, 6.44.

2.3.4. PMLOPhA_{nhx}. The copolymer was obtained as a deep red powder with a yield of 80% after drying under vacuum. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, δ /ppm): 7.42 (d, 4H, *J*=8.4 Hz), 7.14 (d, 4H, *J*=8.4 Hz), 7.02 (d, 4H, *J*=8.5 Hz), 6.64 (d, 4H, *J*=8.5 Hz), 3.66 (br, 4H), 3.06 (s, 3H), 1.57 (br, 4H), 0.92 (s, 18H). Anal. Calcd for (C₄₁H₄₅N₃O₃)_n: C, 78.42; H, 7.17; N, 6.69. Found: C, 78.22; H, 7.21; N, 6.56.

2.3.5. PMLIPPhA_{tol}. The copolymer was obtained as a red powder with a yield of 69% after drying under vacuum. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, δ /ppm): 7.37 (d, 4H, *J*=8.3 Hz), 7.11–6.96 (m, 20H), 6.86 (d, 4H, *J*=7.8 Hz), 3.06 (s, 3H), 2.28 (s, 6H), 1.62 (s, 12H). Anal. Calcd for (C₅₅H₄₉N₃O₂)_n: C, 84.25; H, 6.25; N, 5.36. Found: C, 83.99; H, 6.22; N, 5.37.

2.3.6. PML_{ib}**IPPhA**_{tol}. The copolymer was obtained as a bright red powder with a yield of 63% after drying under vacuum. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, δ /ppm): 7.38 (br,

4H), 7.09–6.81 (m, 24H), 3.38 (br, 2H), 2.28 (s, 6H), 2.05 (br, 2H), 1.61 (s, 12H), 0.90 (s, 6H). Anal. Calcd for $(C_{58}H_{55}N_3O_2)_n$: C, 84.32; H, 6.66; N, 5.09. Found: C, 83.96; H, 6.59; N, 5.08.

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Synthesis and characterization

The syntheses of red polymers shown in Scheme 2 proceeded via a Pd-catalyzed polycondensation of *N*-methyl-3,4-bis-(4-bromophenyl)maleimide with secondary aryldiamines, such as N,N'-diphenyl-1,4-phenylenediamine (**PhA**_{Ph}), and N,N'-diphenylbenzidine (**BPhA**_{Ph}) are commercially available and can be adopted in the polycondensation as well. Other secondary aryldiamines, such as N,N'-di(4-tolyl)-4,4'-oxydianiline (**OPhA**_{tol}), N,N'-di-neo-hexyl-4,4'-oxydianiline (**OPhA**_{hhx}), and N,N'-di(4-tolyl)-4,4'-(1,4-phenyl-enediisopropylide)bisaniline (**IPPhA**_{tol}), (Scheme 2) are readily prepared.

The resulting copolymers, except **PMLPhA_{Ph}**, are readily soluble in common organic solvents, such as toluene, chloroform, dichloromethane, and THF. Their molecular weights were determined by gel permeation chromatography (GPC) using THF as the eluent and polystyrene standard for calibration. The results are listed in Table 1. These copolymers in general show average molecular weight (M_w) from 5400 to 15,200 with polydispersity indices (M_w/M_n) of 1.4–3.9. It is somewhat to our surprise that **PMLPhA_{Ph}** and **PMLBPhA_{Ph}** have the highest molecular weights among these copolymers prepared in this study. At this stage, we can only surmise that difference in the reactivity of aryldiamine may be accounted for the varied molecular weight of these copolymers, in addition to the solubility concern of these copolymers.

3.2. Thermal properties and optical absorption characterization

The thermal properties of the copolymers were determined by differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) as shown in Table 1. The T_{gs} of these copolymers in general follow the variation of M_w values, i.e., the higher the M_w values, the higher the T_g values, although the structural flexibility is the factor affecting T_g values as well.

The absorption spectra were measured from the copolymers dissolved in toluene. All copolymers show very similar absorption spectra with peaks locating at 283–342 nm, which are attributable to the π - π * electronic transitions of the copolymer backbones. The additional absorption peaks at 485–490 nm are due to the n- π * transition of the diaryl-maleimide units in the copolymer main chain.^{3f,3g} From the on-set absorption wavelengths of the absorption spectra, the optical band gaps (E_{opt}) are estimated to be 2.05–2.12 eV. The physical characterization and absorption spectra are summarized in Table 1, Table 2, and Figure 1.

3.3. Fluorescent characterization

The most intriguing property of these copolymers is the long wavelength fluorescence. All copolymers showed strong red



Scheme 2. Syntheses of red polymers derived from Br₂ML (or Br₂ML_{ib}) and secondary aryldiamines. (a) Reagents and conditions: THF, NaO'Bu, P('Bu)₃, $Pd(OAc)_2$, reflux, 48 h.

Table 1. Physical data of the copolyme	rs
--	----

	Yield (%)	$\lambda_{\text{max}}^{\text{ab}}, \text{nm}^{\text{a}} \; (\varepsilon, \text{M}^{-1} \text{cm}^{-1})$	$T_{\rm g}$ (°C)	$M_{ m w}$	$M_{ m n}$	PDI ^b
PMLPhA _{Ph}	62	311, 485 (10,200)	201	15,200	3900	3.9
PMLBPhA _{Ph}	84	342, 485 (11,500)	222	14,500	6800	2.1
PMLOPhAtol	65	303, 485 (8500)	189	5400	3300	1.6
PMLOPhA _{nbx}	80	283, 485 (8900)	168	8200	5700	1.4
PMLIPPhAtol	69	303, 490 (7700)	200	12,400	6400	1.9
PML _{ib} IPPhA _{tol}	63	300, 485 (7100)	163	9000	5600	1.6

^a In toluene. ^b Poydispersity index (M_w/M_n) .

Table 2. Optical and Electrochemical Properties of the copolymers

	λ_{max}^{em}	(nm) ^b	ϕ^{d} (%)	Δ^{e} (nm)	E^{OX} versus E^{FOC}	$E_{\rm opt}^{\rm f} ({\rm eV})$	HOMO ^g (eV)	LUMO ^h (eV)
	Solution ^a	Film ^c						
PMLPhA _{Ph}	638 (95)	694 (115)	4	56	0.46	2.05	-5.26	-3.21
PMLBPhA _{Ph}	631 (75)	677 (111)	13	46	0.65	2.06	-5.45	-3.39
PMLOPhAtol	626 (73)	667 (122)	16	41	0.68	2.11	-5.48	-3.37
PMLOPhAnhy	617 (73)	672 (122)	24	55	0.53	2.12	-5.33	-3.21
PMLIPPhA _{tol}	624 (72)	661 (111)	31	37	0.67	2.10	-5.47	-3.37
PML _{ib} IPPhA _{tol}	620 (73)	633 (81)	30	13	0.67	2.10	-5.47	-3.37

^a In toluene.

^b Numbers in parenthesis denote the full-width-at-half-maximum of the emission spectra.

^c Spin-casted solid film from toluene solution and vacuum-dried.

^d Fluorescence quantum yield in toluene using $\phi = 98\%$ of rubrene in benzene as the reference.¹⁰

 $\Delta = \lambda_{\max}^{em}(\text{film}) - \lambda_{\max}^{em}(\text{solution}).$

^f Band gaps were calculated from the on-set absorption edge of the UV-Vis spectrum.

^g HOMO levels were calculated from $E_{1/2}$ of the oxidation voltammograms by comparing with the ferrocene value of 4.8 eV below the vacuum level.⁹

^h LUMO levels were estimated from the HOMO energy levels and the optical band gap of the copolymers.



Figure 1. UV–Vis absorption spectra of copolymers in toluene solution.

fluorescence in toluene solution with λ_{max}^{em} in the range of 617–638 nm (Fig. 2). Polymer **PMLPhA**_{Ph} is the exception regarding the intensity of fluorescence, because it is the only weak fluorescent in solution. Although fluorescence is highly visible, the solution quantum yields of these polymers were low to moderate (4–31%). **PMLPhA**_{Ph} possesses the widest full-width-at-half-maximum (95 nm) and the longest wavelength (638 nm) of the emission band. The unique spectroscopic property of **PMLPhA**_{Ph} may be attributed to its high molecular weight (the highest among all copolymers) accompanying with wide distribution of the molecular



Figure 2. Photoluminescence spectra of the copolymers in toluene solution.

weight as indicated by its high PDI value. The relatively rigid and short π -conjugation of the aryldiamine segment causes the copolymer chain more folding, which is believed to be the reason for the low solubility of **PMLPhA**_{Ph}. The puckered copolymer chain also increases the chance of intra-copolymer interaction even in diluted solution condition. Such interaction severely quenches the fluorescence and the lowest solution fluorescence quantum yield (only 4%) observed for **PMLPhA**_{Ph} is as a consequence of the copolymer chain structure.

As shown for **PMLPhA**_{Ph}, fluorescence spectroscopic properties are closely related to the chemical structure of the copolymers. Copolymers with more extended π -conjugation structure will show longer fluorescence wavelength. Furthermore, aryl substituent of the diamine moiety has a stronger effect than the alkyl substituent in pushing the fluorescence toward longer wavelengths, such as 617 and 626 nm of λ_{max}^{em} for **PMLOPhA**_{nhx} and **PMLOPhA**_{tol} in solution, respectively.

In thin films, when compared with solution fluorescence spectra (Fig. 3), the red-shifting of the thin film fluorescence is considerably large, in the range of 13–56 nm (Table 2). With the exception of **PML**_{ib}**IPPhA**_{tol}, almost all copolymers exhibit fluorescence beyond 660 nm (Table 2). Emission at wavelength longer than 650 nm is not practical for the display



Figure 3. Photoluminescence spectra of the polymers in thin films spincoated from toluene solution.

application, because of the poor spectral response of the human eye at such long wavelength. Therefore, it is necessary to prevent fluorescence in thin film from red-shifting for practical concern.

The red-shifting fluorescence in thin film is frequently attributed to molecular aggregation, particularly involving π - π interaction of aromatic moiety. Therefore, preventing π - π interaction between copolymer chains should inhibit the red-shifting of the fluorescence in thin film. Followings are a few observations from the study that help in designing copolymers with reduced aggregation in thin film. First, PMLPhA_{Ph} has the worst red-shifting in its class of the copolymer. The structural rigidity is the cause, but electronic donor substituent, in this case, the para-substituted amino group, may be another reason. Second, we notice that **PMLOPhA**_{nhx} has a larger red-shifting (Δ =55 nm) fluorescence spectrum than its tolyl analog PMLOPhAtol $(\Delta = 41 \text{ nm})$ (Table 2). This result suggests that the rigid aryl substituent is better than flexible alkyl substituent in preventing the copolymer aggregation in thin film. On the other hand, by breaking up the π -conjugation as well as by replacing of electronic donating oxygen-bridge with weaker donor of isopropyl group, the extent of the red-shifting fluorescence can be further reduced to $\Delta = 37$ nm for PMLIPPhA_{tol}.

Based on the above observations and inductions, PML_{ib}IP-PhA_{tol} was designed and synthesized to reduce the redshifting of fluorescence in thin film. PML_{ib}IPPhA_{tol} can be considered as the improved version of PMLIPPhA_{tol}. Having a longer and bulkier alkyl substituent on the nitrogen of maleimide, PML_{ib}IPPhA_{tol} really exhibits the desired improvement on fluorescence (Fig. 4), i.e., shorter fluorescence wavelength both in solution (620 nm, the second shortest of all) and thin film (633 nm, the shortest of all) (Table 2), smaller red-shifting in thin film (only 13 nm, the smallest among all), and narrower full-width-at-halfmaximum (81 nm, the narrowest among all copolymers).

3.4. Electrochemical characterization and HOMO–LUMO energy levels

Cyclic voltammetry (CV) was employed to investigate the electrochemical behaviors of the synthesized copolymers and to estimate their HOMO energy levels. Figure 5 depicts cyclic voltammograms of the polymers in the oxidation process. The copolymers showed reversible peak under oxidation process, which indicates their electrochemical stability in the hole-carrying process. Similar observations have been found for the non-dopant red emitter NPANLMe as before.¹ The HOMO energy level of the polymers was calculated using the ferrocene (FOC) value of -4.8 eV as the standard.⁹ The electrochemical characteristics of the polymers are summarized in Table 2. The HOMO energy levels of the copolymers were estimated from -5.26 to -5.48 eV. The slight difference may be rationalized by the electrondonating ability of arenes to the nitrogen. By calculating from HOMO levels and optical band gaps (from on-set absorption energy), the LUMO energy levels of the copolymers were found to be -3.21 to -3.39 eV. With the appropriately aligned HOMO and LUMO energy levels to the work function of the anode and cathode, respectively,



Figure 4. Fluorescence spectra of PMLIPPhA_{tol} and PML_{ib}IPPhA_{tol} both in toluene solution (dotted lines) and solid film (solid lines). EL spectrum of the device ITO/PML_{ib}IPPhA_{tol}/LiF/Al is also illustrated (diamond symbols).



Figure 5. Cyclic voltammograms (oxidation) of copolymers in toluene, containing 0.1 M Bu₄NClO₄ versus Ag/Ag⁺ reference electrode, scan rate: 100 mV/s.

these red fluorescent copolymers have a chance to be used as the single layer light-emitting device (see below).

3.5. Application to PLED

PLED was fabricated for preliminary test of the red electroluminescence (EL). The device was constructed by spincasting (1500 rpm) of a toluene solution of a mixture of PMLI_{ib}PPhA_{tol} (10 mg/mL) followed by vacuum $(\sim 10^{-5} \text{ Torr})$ deposition of LiF and Al, sequentially, on PEDOT-PSS/ITO (indium tin oxide) glass substrate, where PEDOT-PSS is the conducting polyethylene dioxythiophene/polystyrene sulfonate. The device had the simple configuration of ITO/PEDT-PSS/PMLI_{ib}PPhA_{tol}/LiF/Al. It showed EL with λ_{max}^{el} at 656 nm (Fig. 4) corresponding to $CIE_{x,y}$ of (0.66, 0.33), which is comparable with or better than $CIE_{x,v}$ of (0.64, 0.33), the standard red color of National Television System Committee (NTSC). For the single layer device of **PMLI**_{ib}**PPhA**_{tol}, the maximum electroluminance was around 9 cd/m², and the maximum luminous efficiency was 0.01 cd/A (Fig. 6). As compared with PL emission, the EL spectrum is red-shifted slightly (23 nm) and the band width becomes broadened.



Figure 6. L-I-Luminous efficiency characteristics of $PML_{ib}IPPhA_{tol}$ device.

4. Conclusion

We have shown that a new type of red fluorescent copolymers based on arylamine-derived 3,4-diphenylmaleimide can be easily synthesized. We have successfully achieved the copolymers showing saturated red fluorescence in thin films. Applications of the copolymer for saturated red PLEDs have been demonstrated primarily. This study is valuable for the further optimization of the readily prepared maleimidearylamine copolymers, in enhancing solubility, and fluorescence quantum yield in both solution and thin film.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the National Science Council of the Republic of China, Taiwan for financially supporting this research. Support of the National Tsing Hua University and Academia Sinica is also appreciated.

References and notes

- Wu, W.-C.; Yeh, H.-C.; Chan, L.-H.; Chen, C.-T. Adv. Mater. 2002, 14, 1072.
- 2. Yeh, H.-C.; Wu, W.-C.; Chen, C.-T. Chem. Commun. 2003, 404.
- (a) Yang, N. C.; Suh, D. H. Polym. Bull. 2001, 46, 29; (b) Yang, N. C.; Suh, D. H. Macromol. Rapid Commun. 2001, 22, 335; (c) Yang, N. C.; Park, Y. H.; Suh, D. H. React. Funct. Polym. 2002, 51, 121; (d) Lee, J. K.; Yang, N. C.; Choi, H. W.; Suh, D. H.

Macromol. Res. **2003**, *11*, 92; (e) Yang, N. C.; Suh, D. H. *Polymer* **2001**, *42*, 7987; (f) Peng, Q.; Lu, Z.; Huang, Y.; Xie, M.; Xiao, D.; Zou, D. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2003**, *13*, 1570; (g) Liu, T. Z.; Chen, Y. *Polymer* **2005**, *46*, 10383.

- 4. (a) Greenham, N. C.; Morattl, S. C.; Bradley, D. D. C.; Friend, R. H.: Holmes, A. B. Nature 1993, 365, 628; (b) Moratti, S. C.: Cervini, R.; Holmes, A. B.; Baigent, D. R.; Friend, R. H.; Greenham, N. C.; Grünter, J.; Hamer, P. J. Synth. Met. 1995, 71, 2117; (c) Andersson, M. R.; Berggren, M.; Inganäs, O.; Gustafsson, G.; Gustafsson-Carlberg, J. C.; Selse, D.; Hjertberg, T.; Wennerström, O. Macromolecules 1995, 28, 7525; (d) Barbarella, G.; Favaretto, L.; Sotgiu, G.; Zambianchi, M.; Bongini, A.; Arbizzani, C.; Mastragostino, M.; Anni, M.; Gigli, G.; Cingolani, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 11971; (e) Yamaguchi, S.; Goto, T.; Tamao, K. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 1695; (f) Tokito, S.; Weinfurtner, K.-H.; Fujikawa, H.; Tsutsui, T.; Taga, Y. Proc. SPIE-Int. Soc. Opt. Eng. 2001, 4105, 69; (g) Beaupre, S.; Leclerc, M. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2002, 12, 192; (h) Cho, N. S.; Hwang, D.-H.; Lee, J. I.; Jung, B.-J.; Shim, H.-K. Macromolecules 2002, 35, 1224; (i) Kim, J.-H.; Lee, H. Chem. Mater. 2002, 14, 2270; (j) Hou, Q.; Xu, Y.; Tang, W.; Yuan, M.; Peng, J.; Cao, Y. J. Mater. Chem. 2002, 12, 2887; (k) Huang, J.; Xu, Y.; Hou, Q.; Yang, W.; Yuan, M.; Cao, Y. Macromol. Rapid Commun. 2002, 23, 709; (1) Peng, Q.; Lu, Z. Y.; Huang, Y.; Xie, M. G.; Han, S. H.; Peng, J. B.; Cao, Y. Macromolecules 2004, 37, 260; (m) Yang, R.: Tian, R.: Yan, J.; Zhang, Y.; Yang, J.; Hu, O.; Yang, W.; Zhang, C.; Cao, Y. Macromolecules 2005, 38, 244.
- (a) Yamamoto, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1999, 72, 621;
 (b) Kanbara, T.; Oshima, M.; Imayasu, T.; Hasegawa, K. Macromolecules 1998, 31, 8725;
 (c) Jung, B.-J.; Lee, J.-I.; Chu, H. Y.; Do, L.-M.; Shim, H.-K. Macromolecules 2002, 35, 2282.
- de Mallo, J. C.; Wittmann, H. F.; Friend, R. H. Adv. Mater. 1997, 9, 230.
- (a) Yeh, H.-C.; Chan, L.-H.; Wu, W.-C.; Chen, C.-T. J. Mater. Chem. 2004, 14, 1293; (b) Yeh, H.-C.; Wu, W.-C.; Wen, Y.-S.; Dai, D.-C.; Wang, J.-K.; Chen, C.-T. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 6455.
- (a) Driver, M. S.; Hartwig, J. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 7217; (b) Prasad, A. S. B.; Kanth, J. V. B.; Periasamy, M. *Tetrahedron* 1992, 48, 4623.
- 9. (a) Pommerehe, J.; Vestweber, H.; Guss, W.; Mahrt, R. F.; Bassler, H.; Porsch, M.; Daub, J. Adv. Mater. 1995, 7, 55; (b) Cho, J.-S.; Kimoto, A.; Higuchi, M.; Yamamoto, K. Macromol. Chem. Phys. 2005, 206, 635.
- 10. Stevens, B.; Algar, B. E. J. Phys. Chem. 1968, 72, 2582.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9548-9553

Introduction of ethynylene and thienylene spacers into 2,5-diarylthiazole and 2,5-diarylthiophene

Kei Kobayashi, Mohamed S. Mohamed Ahmed and Atsunori Mori*

Chemical Resources Laboratory, Tokyo Institute of Technology, R1-4 4259 Nagatsuta, Yokohama 226-8503, Japan

Received 7 July 2006; revised 27 July 2006; accepted 28 July 2006 Available online 21 August 2006

Abstract—Syntheses of 2,5-diarylthiazole and 2,5-diarylthiophene derivatives bearing ethynylene and thienylene spacers are performed. With the methods for coupling reactions of terminal alkynes and at the CH bond of heteroaromatic compounds, which we have developed, five kinds of thiazole and thiophene derivatives **3–7** are prepared. Spectroscopic characteristics of **3–7** are also measured. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

We have recently shown syntheses and properties of 2,5-diarylthiazoles 1 and 2,5-diarylthiophenes 2. These molecules bearing donor-acceptor-type substituents showed intense photoluminescent properties and liquid crystalline characteristics based on the difference of the heteroaromatic ring structure.¹ Preparations of 1 and 2 were carried out by utilizing palladium-catalyzed C-H substitution reactions of 5-membered heteroaromatic compounds with various aryl halides, which we developed recently.¹⁻³ Introduction of conjugative spacer molecules into thiazole and thiophene derivatives is of considerable interest in the studies on the relationship of the structure and physical properties.⁴ We envisaged that synthetic strategies utilizing transition metal-catalyzed coupling reactions show great advantage in the facile preparation of such compounds.⁵ In particular, Sonogashira coupling is a powerful tool for the introduction of carbon–carbon triple bond.^{6,7} Hence, the reaction using aqueous ammonia or 2-ethanolamine as an additive, which we have recently shown, play a significant role for the efficient synthesis of such derivatives.⁸ Herein, we report synthesis of the derivatives of 1 and 2 bearing ethynylene spacers. Synthesis of 2,5-diarylthiophene bearing thienvlene spacer is also described. Effect of the introduction of such spacers to spectroscopic characteristics is studied.9



2. Results and discussion

2.1. Syntheses of 2,5-diarylthiazole 3 and 2,5-diarylthiophenes 4–7 bearing ethynylene and thienylene spacers

We have designed several 2,5-diarylated thiazole and thiophene derivatives bearing ethynylene and thienylene spacers **3–7** as summarized in Chart 1. Preparation of these compounds were carried out as shown in Schemes 1–5.

Introduction of the arylethynyl group into the 2-position of a thiazole ring was performed by utilizing the coupling reaction of terminal alkynes, which we developed recently.⁷ The reaction of the terminal alkyne **8** with 2-bromothiazole in the presence of a palladium catalyst/CuI ($3 \mod \%/2 \mod \%$) using 2-ethanolamine as an activator afforded 2-arylethynylthiazole **9** in 77% yield after stirring at 60 °C for 5 h. Arylation of **9** at the 5-position was carried out with the palladium-catalyzed C–H substitution reaction using silver(I) fluoride as an activator.¹ Treatment of **9** with ethyl 4-iodobenzoate (**10**) in the presence of PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂ ($3 \mod \%$) and AgF (2 = quiv) furnished the 2,5-diarylthiazole derivative bearing ethynylene spacer at the 2-position of thiazole **3** in 46% yield as shown in Scheme 1.

Scheme 2 shows synthesis of the thiophene derivative bearing the spacer. The arylethynyl group was introduced in a similar manner as in the case of the thiazole 9 with

Keywords: Sonogashira coupling; 2-Ethanolamine; Palladium catalyst; CH arylation.

^{*} Corresponding author at present address: Department of Chemical Science and Engineering, Kobe University, 1-1 Rokkodai, Nada, Kobe 657-8501, Japan. Tel./fax: +81 788036181; e-mail: amori@kobe-u.ac.jp



Chart 1.





Scheme 1.



PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂ (3 mol%)

Cul (2 mol%)

4 (68%)

Scheme 2.



EtO 14 PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂ (3 mol%) O Cul (2 mol%) EtO OMe 2-ethanolamine (2 eq) THF 5 (82%)



Scheme 4.

2-bromothiophene to afford 2-(arylethynyl)thiophene 11 in 92% yield.^{8c} Following introduction of the aryl group bearing an electron-withdrawing substituent with 8 was also performed similarly to the manner of the thiazole case¹ to afford 4 in 68% yield.

Synthesis of the thiophene derivative bearing ethynylene spacer between the electron-deficient aryl group and thiophene was performed as shown in Scheme 3. As we reported that CH coupling occurred in the reaction of bromothiophenes



Scheme 5.

with the bromo group intact even in the presence of a palladium catalyst,^{2c} synthesis of the 5-aryl-2-bromothiophene was performed by utilizing the CH coupling reaction with aryl iodide. Treatment of 2-bromothiophene with 1-iodo-4-methoxybenzene **12** in the presence of $PdCl_2(PPh_3)_2$ (5 mol %) and KF/AgNO₃ as an activator furnished 2-aryl-5-bromothiophene **13** in 60% yield. The reaction of the ethyl 4-ethynylbenzoate **14** with **13** in the presence of a palladium catalyst/CuI using 2-ethanolamine as an activator^{8c} afforded **5** in 82% yield.

Preparation of the 2,5-diarylthiophene derivative bearing ethynyl groups at the both positions was carried out as shown in Scheme 4. The reaction of 2-iodo-5-bromothiophene **15** with a terminal alkyne using Sonogashira coupling with aqueous ammonia at room temperature^{8a} selectively took place at the carbon–iodine bond to afford **16** in 48% yield. Introduction of the second arylethynyl group was performed with the Sonogashira coupling reaction of **16** with **14** in the presence of aqueous 2-ethanolamine at 60 °C to afford **6** in 88% yield.^{8c}

Bithiophene 7 was also synthesized as shown in Scheme 5. Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling of bromothiophene 17 with thienyl(tributyl)tin was effected to afford 18.¹⁰ CH substitution reaction of 18 with aryl iodide 10 in the presence of AgNO₃/KF afforded 7.^{2c}

For the coupling reactions of a (hetero)aryl bromide with terminal alkynes, for which higher reaction temperature was necessary to proceed, the method using 2-ethanolamine as an additive^{8c} was found to be highly effective, while the reaction with aryl iodide at room temperature was carried out with aqueous ammonia.^{8a} The reaction with ammonia at room temperature was found to proceed selectively at the carbon–iodine bond of 2-bromo-5-iodo-thiophene **15**.

CH arylation reactions of thiazole and thiophene derivatives were shown to proceed with AgF¹ or AgNO₃/KF.^{2c} Both protocols were similarly effective for the reaction with aryl halides. Introduction of aryl group by the reaction at the CH bonds of heteroaromatic groups proceeds with a palladium or palladium/copper catalyst system in the presence of an activator. As shown in Scheme 2, the method was found to be effective for the substrate bearing a carbon–carbon triple bond.

2.2. Properties of thiazole and thiophene derivatives bearing ethynylene spacers

Measurements of UV-vis absorption and photoluminescent spectra were carried out and the results were summarized in Table 1. The λ_{max} value of thiazole **3** was slightly redshifted compared with 1 by the introduction of ethynylene group at the 2-position compared with the corresponding 2,5-diarylthiazole, while the λ_{max} value of **4** was observed at the slightly smaller wavelength than that of 2^{1} Properties of 5, which possessed ethynylene spacer into the opposite position, were also found to show similar values. The λ_{max} value of thiophene 6, which possessed two ethynylene groups at the 2- and 5-positions was observed at 364 nm, which red-shifted ca. 5–10 nm. On the other hand, the λ_{max} value of the corresponding bithiophene derivative was observed at 395 nm suggesting that the introduction of the thiophene ring showed more remarkable than ethynylene. Concerning photoluminescent spectra of thiophene and thiazole derivatives, quantum yields were found to decrease by the introduction of spacers compared with the corresponding 2,5-diarylthiazole 1 (Φ =0.24) and 2,5-diarylthiophene 2 $(\Phi = 0.79).^{1}$

 Table 1. Spectroscopic characteristics of 2,5-diarylthiazole and 2,5-thiophenes bearing ethynylene and thienylene spacers^a

Compound	UV-vis abs	orption spectrum	Photoluminescent spectrum		
	λ_{max} , nm	ε	Em	Φ	
3	354	26 500	429	0.20	
4	350	24 013	438	0.40	
5	358	29875	445	0.11	
6	364	69 565	437	0.03	
7	395	31 655	485	0.10	
1 ^b	347	26800	424	0.24	
2 ^b	357	32 200	441	0.79	

^a See Section 4. $E_{\rm m}$: wavelength maximum of the photoluminescent spectrum. Φ : quantum yield of the photoluminescence.

^b Data from Ref. 1 (R^1 =OMe, R^2 =COOEt).

3. Conclusion

In summary, several thiazole and thiophene derivatives, which possessed ethynylene and thiophene spacers were synthesized and UV–vis absorption and photoluminescent properties were examined. These thiazole and thiophene derivatives, which had not been synthesized previously, were prepared in a facile manner by employing coupling methodologies at the CH bond of heteroaromatic compounds and coupling of terminal alkynes using 2-ethanolamine as an activator that underwent the reaction smoothly and efficiently. Although remarkable spectroscopic characteristics were not observed in these thiazole and thiophene derivatives bearing a spacer molecule, the synthesis demonstrated that coupling methodologies with a transition metal catalyst were highly effective for the synthesis of compounds bearing heteroaromatic and/or alkyne moieties.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

DMSO was distilled from CaH₂ and stored over MS 4A under an argon atmosphere. THF (anhydrous grade) was purchased from Kanto Chemicals Co. Ltd and used without further purification. ¹H (300 MHz) and ¹³C (75 MHz) NMR spectra were measured on Varian Mercury 300 NMR spectrometer. Infrared spectra were measured with Shimadzu FTIR-8000A. High-resolution mass spectra (EI) were obtained by JEOL MStation. Elemental analyses were carried out at Elemental Analysis Center of Chemical Resources Laboratory, Tokyo Institute of Technology using Yanako MT2 CHN CORDER. UV-vis spectra were measured as a 1×10^{-5} M chloroform solution with JASCO Ubest V-550. Photoluminescent spectra were measured as a 1×10^{-6} M chloroform solution with JASCO FP-6300. Quantum yields (Φ) were estimated with an aqueous solution of quinine sulfate (Φ =0.59) as a reference.

4.1.1. 2-(4-Methoxyphenylethynyl)thiazole (9). To a 25-mL of Schlenk tube equipped with a magnetic stirring bar were added PdCl₂(PPh₃)₃ (10.5 mg, 0.015 mmol), CuI (1.7 mg, 0.010 mmol), 2-bromothiazole (82.0 mg, 0.5 mmol), 4-(methoxyphenyl)acetylene (8, 79.2 mg, 0.6 mmol), and 3 mL of THF under an argon atmosphere. Then, 2 mL of aqueous 2-ethanolamine solution (0.5 M, 1.0 mmol) was added to the mixture and the Schlenk tube was heated at 60 °C for 5 h. After cooling to room temperature, the solution was washed with water and the aqueous layer was extracted with chloroform. The combined organic layers were dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate and concentrated under reduced pressure to leave a crude oil, which was purified by chromatography on silica gel to afford 82.9 mg of 9 as a colorless oil (77%): ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 3.84 (s, 3H), 6.90 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 2H), 7.35 (d, J=3.3 Hz, 1H), 7.54 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 2H), 7.84 (d, J=3.3 Hz, 1H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 55.28, 81.24, 94.26, 113.33, 114.14, 120.27, 133.51, 143.38, 149.17, 160.53; IR (KBr) 2837, 2206, 1605, 1514, 1294, 1252, 1175, 1091, 1055, 831 cm⁻¹. HRMS (EIMS) m/z calcd for C₁₂H₉NOS; 215.0405, found; 215.0404.

4.1.2. 5-(4-Ethoxycarbonylphenyl)-2-(4-methoxyphenylethynyl)thiazole (3). To a 25-mL of Schlenk tube equipped with a magnetic stirring bar were added $PdCl_2(PPh_3)_3$ (10.5 mg, 0.015 mmol), ethyl 4-iodobenzoate (10, 0.101 mL, 0.6 mmol), 9 (107.6 mg, 0.5 mmol), and 3 mL of DMSO under an argon atmosphere. AgF (64 mg, 0.5 mmol) was added to the mixture and the Schlenk tube was heated at 80 °C for 24 h. After cooling to room temperature, the resulting suspension was filtered and the residue was washed with dichloromethane repeatedly. The filtrate was washed with water and the aqueous layer was extracted with chloroform. The combined organic layers were dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate and concentrated under reduced pressure to leave a crude solid, which was purified by chromatography on silica gel to afford 83.4 mg of 3 as a yellow solid (46%): ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 1.41 (t, J=7.2 Hz, 3H), 3.84 (s. 3H), 4.39 (g. J=7.2 Hz, 2H), 6.90 (d. J=8.7 Hz, 2H), 7.55 (d, J=8.7 Hz, 2H), 7.62 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 2H), 8.07 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 2H), 8.08 (s, 1H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 14.28, 55.32, 61.14, 81.50, 95.67, 113.18, 114.21, 126.41, 130.25, 130.41, 133.62, 133.66, 134.97, 140.11, 141.04, 160.70, 165.86; IR (KBr) 2978, 2924, 2581, 2548, 2207, 1703, 1605, 1516, 1275, 1254, 1190, 1106, 1026, 841, 772, 695 cm⁻¹. HRMS (EIMS) m/z calcd for C₁₉H₂₂OS; 363.0929, found; 363.0903.

4.1.3. 2-(4-Methoxyphenylethynyl)thiophene (11). To a 25-mL of Schlenk tube equipped with a magnetic stirring bar were added PdCl₂(PPh₃)₃ (10.5 mg, 0.015 mmol), CuI (1.7 mg, 0.010 mmol), 2-bromothiophene (0.048 mL, 0.5 mmol), 4-(methoxyphenyl)acetylene (8, 79.2 mg, 0.6 mmol), and 3 mL of THF under an argon atmosphere. Then, 2 mL of 2-ethanolamine aqueous solution (0.5 M, 1.0 mmol) was added to the mixture and the Schlenk tube was heated at 60 °C for 5 h. After cooling to room temperature, the solution was washed with water and the aqueous layer was extracted with chloroform. The combined organic lavers were dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate and concentrated under reduced pressure to leave a crude oil, which was purified by chromatography on silica gel to afford 98.6 mg of 11 as a colorless oil (92%): ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 3.83 (s, 3H), 6.87 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 2H), 7.00 (dd, J=2.7 Hz, 1H), 7.25 (m, 2H), 7.45 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 55.09, 81.22, 93.01, 113.93, 114.81, 123.57, 126.73, 126.96, 131.34, 132.80, 159.63; IR (KBr) 3102, 3073, 2963, 2842, 1603, 1524, 1501, 1460, 1289, 1246, 1186, 1175, 1109, 1021, 853, 700 cm⁻¹. HRMS (EIMS) m/z calcd for C₁₃H₁₀OS; 214.0452, found; 214.0427.

4.1.4. 5-(4-Ethoxycarbonylphenyl)-2-(4-methoxyphenylethynyl)thiophene (4). To a 25-mL of Schlenk tube equipped with a magnetic stirring bar were added $PdCl_2(PPh_3)_3$ 0.025 mmol), ethyl 4-iodobenzoate (17.5 mg. (10. 0.100 mL, 0.6 mmol), 11 (107.0 mg, 0.5 mmol), and 3 mL of DMSO under an argon atmosphere. AgF (64 mg, 0.5 mmol) was added to the mixture and the Schlenk tube was heated at 100 °C for 5 h. After cooling to room temperature, the resulting suspension was filtered and the residue was washed with dichloromethane repeatedly. The filtrate was washed with water and the aqueous layer was extracted with chloroform. The combined organic layers were dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate and concentrated under reduced pressure to leave a crude solid, which was purified by chromatography on silica gel to afford 123.1 mg of 4 as a yellow solid (68%): ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 1.41 (t, J=8.4 Hz, 3H), 3.84 (s, 3H), 4.39 (q, J=8.4 Hz, 2H), 6.89 (d, J=8.7 Hz, 2H), 7.23 (d, J=3.6 Hz, 1H), 7.31 (d, J=3.6 Hz, 1H), 7.47 (d, J=8.7 Hz, 2H), 7.64 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 2H), 8.05 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃)

 δ 14.33, 55.31, 61.02, 81.27, 94.65, 114.10, 114.77, 124.39, 125.36, 129.46, 130.28, 132.63, 132.97, 137.87, 143.78, 159.92, 166.14; IR (KBr) 2988, 2940, 2842, 1713, 1603, 1514, 1291, 1275, 1248, 1186, 1109, 1028, 851, 837, 808, 768 cm^{-1}. HRMS (EIMS) m/z calcd for $\rm C_{22}H_{18}O_{3}S;$ 363.0929, found; 363.0903.

Synthesis of 2-bromo-5-(4-methoxyphenyl)thiophene (13) was carried out in a similar manner to that we described previously. Spectroscopic characteristics and physical properties of 13^{2c} were identical with those of the authentic sample.

4.1.5. 2-(4-Ethoxycarbonylphenylethynyl)-5-(4-methoxyphenyl)thiophene (5). To a 25-mL of Schlenk tube equipped with a magnetic stirring bar were added PdCl₂(PPh₃)₃ (10.5 mg, 0.015 mmol), CuI (1.7 mg, 0.010 mmol), 13 (134.6 mg, 0.5 mmol), 4-(ethoxycarbonylphenyl)acetylene (14, 104.5 mg, 0.6 mmol), and 3 mL of THF under an argon atmosphere. Then, 2 mL of 2-ethanolamine aqueous solution (0.5 M, 1.0 mmol) was added to the mixture and the Schlenk tube was heated at 60 °C for 5 h. After cooling to room temperature, the solution was washed with water and the aqueous layer was extracted with chloroform. The combined organic layers were dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate and concentrated under reduced pressure to leave a crude oil, which was purified by chromatography on silica gel to afford 147.2 mg of 5 (82%): ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 1.40 (t, J=7.2 Hz, 3H), 3.84 (s, 3H), 4.39 (q, J=7.2 Hz, 2H), 6.93 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 2H), 7.11 (d, J=3.9 Hz, 1H), 7.26 (d, J=3.9 Hz, 1H), 7.53 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 2H), 7.55 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 2H), 8.03 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 14.26, 55.29, 61.07, 86.05, 92.90, 114.36, 120.59, 122.08, 126.37, 127.15, 127.55, 129.44, 131.01, 132.35, 133.70, 146.70, 159.68, 165.96; IR (KBr) 2965, 2936, 2840, 1723, 1605, 1514, 1497, 1306, 1291, 1252, 1181, 1105, 1028, 801, 764 cm⁻¹. Anal. Calcd for C₂₂H₁₈O₃S: C, 72.90; H, 5.01; S, 8.85. Found: C, 72.72; H, 4.85; S, 8.70.

4.1.6. 2-Bromo-5-(4-methoxyphenylethynyl)thiophene (16). To a 25-mL of Schlenk tube equipped with a magnetic stirring bar were added PdCl₂(PPh₃)₃ (10.5 mg, 0.015 mmol), CuI (1.7 mg, 0.010 mmol), 2-bromo-5iodothiophene (15, 173.4 mg, 0.6 mmol), 8 (66.1 mg, 0.5 mmol), and 3 mL of THF under an argon atmosphere. Then, 2 mL of aqueous ammonia (0.5 M, 1.0 mmol) was added to the mixture and stirred at room temperature for 5 h. The solution was washed with water and the aqueous layer was extracted with chloroform. The combined organic layers were dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate and concentrated under reduced pressure to leave a crude oil, which was purified by chromatography on silica gel to afford 70.4 mg of 16. The product 16, whose yield was estimated to be 48% by ¹H NMR analysis, contained a trace amount of impurity, which was hardly eliminated by column chromatography on silica gel. Thus, the mixture was conducted to the following reaction without further purification.

4.1.7. 5-(4-Ethoxycarbonylphenylethynyl)-2-(4-methoxyphenylethynyl)thiophene (6). To a 25-mL of Schlenk tube equipped with a magnetic stirring bar were added $PdCl_2(PPh_3)_3$ (10.5 mg, 0.015 mmol), CuI (1.7 mg, 0.010 mmol), **16** (146.6 mg, 0.5 mmol), **12** (104.5 mg, 0.6 mmol), and 3 mL of THF under an argon atmosphere.

Then, 2 mL of 2-ethanolamine aqueous solution (0.5 M, 1.0 mmol) was added to the mixture and the Schlenk tube was heated at 60 °C for 5 h. After cooling to room temperature, the solution was washed with water and the aqueous layer was extracted with chloroform. The combined organic layers were dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate and concentrated under reduced pressure to leave a crude oil, which was purified by chromatography on silica gel to afford 70.4 mg of **6** as a yellow solid (88%): ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 1.41 (t, J=7.2 Hz, 3H), 3.84 (s, 3H), 4.39 (q, J=7.2 Hz, 2H), 6.89 (d. J=8.7 Hz, 2H), 7.13 (d. J=3.9 Hz, 1H), 7.19 (d. J=3.9 Hz, 1H), 7.46 (d, J=8.7 Hz, 2H), 7.57 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 2H), 8.03 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 14.25, 55.22, 61.11, 80.85, 85.22, 93.13, 94.58, 114.03, 114.40, 123.28, 125.86, 127.10, 129.43, 131.15, 131.34, 132.25, 132.34, 132.44, 132.99, 159.93, 165.88; IR (KBr) 2979, 2842, 2197, 1715, 1605, 1528, 1512, 1308, 1287, 1281, 1173, 1107, 1028, 831, 768 cm⁻¹. HRMS (EIMS) *m*/*z* calcd for C₂₄H₁₈O₃S; 386.0977, found; 386.0988.

4.1.8. 2-(4-Methoxyphenyl)-5,5'-bithiophene (18).^{2c} To a 25-mL of Schlenk tube equipped with a magnetic stirring bar were added 17 (0.135 g, 0.5 mmol), $PdCl_2(PPh_3)_2$ (35 mg, 0.05 mmol), CuI (0.019 g, 0.10 mmol), and DMF (3 mL) under an argon atmosphere. To the mixture was added tributyl(2-thienyl)stannane (0.190 mL, 0.6 mmol) dropwise. CsF (0.151 g, 1.0 mmol) was then added in one portion. The resulting mixture was heated at 60 °C and stirring was continued for 8 h. After cooling to room temperature, the mixture was poured into 20 mL of water. The aqueous was extracted with chloroform twice $(20 \text{ mL} \times 2)$ and the combined organic layers were dried over anhydrous magnesium sulfate. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure to leave a crude oil, which was purified by column chromatography on silica gel using hexanes-ethyl acetate (5:1) as an eluent to afford 0.111 g of 5-(4-methoxyphenyl)-2,2'-bithiophene (18) in 82% yield: ¹H NMR $(CDCl_3) \delta 3.48 \text{ (s, 3H)}, 6.91 \text{ (d, } J=9.0 \text{ Hz, 2H)}, 7.02 \text{ (dd, }$ J=4.8, 3.6 Hz, 1H), 7.12 (AB, 2H), 7.17–7.22 (m, 2H), 7.53 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 57.70, 114.35, 122.64, 123.37, 124.11, 124.56, 126.92, 127.80, 135.69, 137.58, 143.14, 147.96, 159.31; IR (KBr) 3070, 2960, 2910, 2845, 1605, 1497, 1289, 1246, 1183, 1032, 797.

4.1.9. 2-(4-Ethoxycarbonylphenyl)-2'-(4-methoxyphenyl)-5,5'-bithiophene (7). To a 25-mL of Schlenk tube equipped with a magnetic stirring bar were added PdCl₂(PPh₃)₃ (17.5 mg, 0.025 mmol), **10** (0.100 mL, 0.6 mmol), 18 (136.2 mg, 0.5 mmol), potassium fluoride (72.6 mg, 1.25 mmol), and 5 mL of DMSO under an argon atmosphere. The mixture was heated in an oil bath at 100 °C for 8 h, during which period AgNO₃ (168.9 mg, 1.0 mmol) was added in 4 portions with a 2 h interval. After cooling to room temperature, the resulting suspension was filtered and the residue was washed with dichloromethane repeatedly. The filtrate was washed with water and the aqueous layer was extracted with chloroform. The combined organic layers were dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate and concentrated under reduced pressure to leave a crude solid, which was purified by chromatography on silica gel to afford 40.9 mg of 7 as a yellow solid (33%): ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.41 (t, J=7.2 Hz, 3H), 3.85 (s, 3H), 4.39 (q, J=7.2 Hz, 2H), 6.93 (d, J=8.7 Hz, 2H), 7.13 (d, J=3.9 Hz, 1H), 7.18

(d, J=3.3 Hz, 2H), 7.35 (d, J=3.6 Hz, 1H), 7.54 (d, J=8.7 Hz, 2H), 7.65 (d, J=8.7 Hz, 2H), 8.05 (d, J=8.7 Hz, 2H); IR (KBr) 2910, 2890, 1709, 1605, 1283, 1184, 1111, 1030, 830, 795, 770. HRMS (EIMS) *m*/*z* calcd for $C_{24}H_{20}O_3S_2$; 420.0854, found; 420.0833.

Acknowledgements

This work was partially supported by the Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (No. 16550092) by Ministry of Education, Sports, Culture, Science, and Technology, Japan.

References and notes

- Masui, K.; Mori, A.; Takamura, K.; Okano, K.; Kinoshita, M.; Ikeda, T. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 2011.
- (a) Mori, A.; Sekiguchi, A.; Masui, K.; Shimada, T.; Horie, M.; Osakada, K.; Kawamoto, M.; Ikeda, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 1700; (b) Masui, K.; Ikegami, H.; Mori, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 5074; (c) Kobayashi, K.; Sugie, A.; Masui, K.; Takahashi, M.; Mori, A. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 5083; (d) Takahashi, M.; Masui, K.; Sekiguchi, A.; Kobayashi, N.; Mori, A.; Funahashi, M.; Tamaoki, N. J. Am. Chem. Soc., see DOI:10.1021/ja060749v.
- Related works: (a) Pivsa-Art, S.; Satoh, T.; Kawamura, Y.; Miura, M.; Nomura, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1998, 71, 467; (b) Yokooji, A.; Satoh, T.; Miura, M.; Nomura, M. Tetrahedron 2004, 60, 6757; (c) Kondo, Y.; Komine, T.; Sakamoto, T. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 3111; (d) Sezen, B.; Sames, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 5274; (e) Sezen, B.; Sames, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 10580; (f) Sezen, B.; Sames, D. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 3607; (g) Miura, M.; Nomura, M. Top. Curr. Chem. 2002, 219, 211; (h) Godula, K.; Sames, D. Science 2006, 312, 67.
- (a) Raimundo, J. M.; Blanchard, P.; Gallego-Planas, N.; Mercier, N.; Ledoux-Rak, I.; Hierle, R.; Roncali, J. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 205; (b) Turbiez, M.; Frere, P.; Blanchard, P.; Roncali, J. Tetrahedron. Lett. 2000, 41, 5521; (c) Raimundo, J.-M.; Blanchard, P.; Ledoux-Rak, I.; Hierle, R.; Michaux, L.; Roncali, J. Chem. Commun. 2000, 1597; (d) Dölling, K.; Zaschke, H.; Schubert, H. J. Prakt. Chem. 1979, 321, 643; (e) Briehn, C. A.; Schiedel, M.-S.; Bonsen, E. M.; Schuhmann, W.; Bäuerle, P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 4680.
- Metal-catalyzed Cross-coupling Reactions; Diederich, F., Stang, P. J., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 1999.
- (a) Sonogashira, K.; Tohda, Y.; Hagihara, N. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1975, 16, 4467; (b) Casalnuovo, A. L.; Calabrese, J. C. J. Am. *Chem. Soc.* 1990, 112, 4324; (c) Alami, M.; Ferri, F.; Linstrumelle, G. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1993, 34, 6403; (d) Amatore, C.; Blart, E.; Genet, J. P.; Jutand, A.; Lemaire-Audoire, S.; Savignac, M. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 6829; (e) Nguefack, J.-F.; Boitt, V.; Sinou, D. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1996,

37, 5527; (f) Bumagin, N. A.; Sukhomlinova, L. I.; Luzikova, E. V.; Tolstaya, T. P.; Beletskaya, I. P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1996**, *37*, 897; For reviews: (g) Sonogashira, K. *Metal-catalyzed Cross-coupling Reaction*; Diederich, F.; Stang, P. J., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 1999; pp 203–229; (h) Sonogashira, K. *J. Organomet. Chem.* **2002**, *653*, 46.

- 7. (a) Mohamed Ahmed, M. S.; Kobayashi, K.; Mori, A. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 4487; (b) Mohamed Ahmed, M. S.; Sekiguchi, A.; Shimada, T.; Kawashima, J.; Mori, A. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2005, 78, 327; (c) Mohamed Ahmed, M. S.; Mori, A. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 3057; (d) Nishihara, Y.; Kato, T.; Ando, J.; Mori, A.; Hiyama, T. Chem. Lett. 2001, 950; (e) Mori, A.; Shimada, T.; Kondo, T.; Sekiguchi, A. Synlett 2001, 649; (f) Mori, A.; Kondo, T.; Kato, T.; Nishihara, Y. Chem. Lett. 2001, 286; (g) Mori, A.; Kawashima, J.; Shimada, T.; Suguro, M.; Hirabayashi, K.; Nishihara, Y. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 2935; (h) Nishihara, Y.; Ando, J.; Kato, T.; Mori, A.; Hiyama, T. Macromolecules 2000, 33, 2779; (i) Nishihara, Y.; Ikegashira, K.; Toriyama, F.; Mori, A.; Hiyama, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2000, 73, 985; (j) Nishihara, Y.; Ikegashira, K.; Hirabayashi, K.; Ando, J.; Mori, A.; Hiyama, T. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 1780; (k) Nishihara, Y.; Ikegashira, K.; Mori, A.; Hiyama, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 4075; (1) Ikegashira, K.; Nishihara, Y.; Hirabayashi, K.; Mori, A.; Hiyama, T. Chem. Commun. 1997, 1039; (m) Nishihara, Y.; Ikegashira, K.; Mori, A.; Hiyama, T. Chem. Lett. 1997, 1233.
- (a) Mori, A.; Mohamed Ahmed, M. S.; Sekiguchi, A.; Masui, K.; Koike, T. *Chem. Lett.* **2002**, 756; (b) Mohamed Ahmed, M. S.; Mori, A. *Tetrahedron* **2004**, *66*, 9977; (c) Mohamed Ahmed, M. S.; Sekiguchi, A.; Masui, K.; Mori, A. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **2005**, *78*, 160.
- 9. Recent synthesis on alkynylthiophenes: (a) Li, G.; Wang, X.; Li, J.; Zhao, X.; Wang, F. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 2576; (b) Roue, S.; Lapinte, C. J. Organomet. Chem. 2005, 690, 594; (c) Goeb, S.; De Nicola, A.; Ziessel, R. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 6802; (d) Sakai, T.; Satou, T.; Kaikawa, T.; Takkimiya, K.; Otsubo, T.; Aso, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 8082; (e) Zhang, T.-G.; Zhao, Y.; Asselberghs, I.; Persoons, A.; Clays, K.; Therien, M. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 9710; (f) Rodriguez, J. G.; Lafuente, A.; Rubio, L.; Esquivias, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 7061; (g) Zeni, G.; Nogueria, C. W.; Silva, D. O.; Henezes, P. H.; Braga, A. L.; Stefani, H. A.; Rocha, J. B. T. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 685; (h) Fuhrmann, G.; Debaerdemaeker, T.; Bäuerle, P. Chem. Commun. 2003, 948; (i) Mayor, M.; Didschies, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 3176; (j) Kitamura, C.; Saito, K.; Nakagawa, M.; Ouchi, M.; Yoneda, A.; Yamashita, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 3373; (k) Marsella, M. J.; Wang, Z.-Q.; Reid, R. J.; Yoon, K. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 885; (1) Altamura, P.; Giardina, G.; Sterzo, C. L.; Russo, M. V. Organometallics 2001, 20, 4360.
- (a) Mee, S. P. H.; Lee, V.; Baldwin, J. E. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 1132; (b) Kosugi, M.; Sasazawa, K.; Shimizu, Y.; Migita, T. Chem. Lett. 1977, 301; (c) Stille, J. K. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1986, 25, 508.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9554-9570

Tandem versus single C–C bond forming reaction under palladium–copper catalysis: regioselective synthesis of α-pyrones fused with thiophene^{*}

Sirisilla Raju,^{a,c} Venkateswara Rao Batchu,^b Nalivela Kumara Swamy,^b R. Vasu Dev,^b Bukkapattanam R. Sreekanth,^b J. Moses Babu,^b K. Vyas,^b P. Rajender Kumar,^a K. Mukkanti,^c Pazhanimuthu Annamalai^b and Manojit Pal^{b,*}

^aCustom Pharmaceutical Services, Dr. Reddy's Laboratories Ltd, Bollaram Road, Miyapur, Hyderabad 500049, India ^bDiscovery Research, Dr. Reddy's Laboratories Ltd, Bollaram Road, Miyapur, Hyderabad 500049, India ^cChemistry Division, Institute of Science and Technology, JNT University, Kukatpally, Hyderabad 500072, India

> Received 11 May 2006; revised 7 July 2006; accepted 27 July 2006 Available online 22 August 2006

Abstract—We herein report a highly convenient protocol for rapid construction of α -pyrone fused with thiophene. This includes one-pot and regioselective synthesis of 4,5-disubstituted and 5-substituted thieno[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-ones, 6,7-disubstituted and 6-substituted thieno[3,2-*c*]pyran-4-ones. The synthesis of thieno[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-ones involves palladium mediated cross coupling of 3-iodothiophene-2-carboxylic acid with terminal alkynes in a simple synthetic operation. The coupling–cyclization reaction was initially studied in the presence of Pd(PPh₃)₂Cl₂ and CuI in a variety of solvents. 5-Substituted 4-alkynylthieno[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-ones were isolated in good yields when the reaction was performed in DMF. Similarly, 6-substituted 7-alkynylthieno[3,2-*c*]pyran-4-ones were synthesized via palladium-catalyzed cross coupling of 2-bromothiophene-3-carboxylic acid with terminal alkynes. A tandem C–C bond forming reaction in the presence of palladium catalyst rationalizes the formation of coupled product in this apparently three-component reaction. The cyclization step of this coupling–cyclization–coupling process occurs in a regioselective fashion to furnish products containing six-membered ring only. This sequential C–C bond forming reaction however, can be restricted to the formation of single C–C bond by using 10% Pd/C–Et₃N–CuI–PPh₃ as catalyst system in the cross coupling reaction. S-Substituted thieno[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-ones were obtained in good yields when the coupling reaction was performed under this condition. Some of the compounds synthesized were tested in vitro for their anticancer activities.

1. Introduction

 α -Pyrones^{1a} and their benzo derivatives, e.g., isocoumarins^{2a} are of considerable synthetic and pharmacological interest because of their wide range of activities^{2b-d} such as antifungal, antimicrobial, phytotoxic and other effects. 3-Substituted isocoumarins in particular have shown promising pharmacological activities.^{2e} The angiogenesis inhibitor NM-3,^{2f} which belongs to this class is presently undergoing Phase-I clinical trials. More recently, promising cytotoxic activities of substituted pyrones especially 4-alkynyl substituted 2-pyrones (A, Fig. 1) have been reported.^{2g} In continuation of our research under the new drug discovery

program, we were in need of a combinatorial library based on the scaffold of α -pyrone fused with five-membered heterocycles (B, Fig. 1). The library model, as shown in Figure 1, has three centers for the introduction of diversity into α-pyrone molecule. While much effort has been devoted toward the introduction/modification of C-3 and C-4 substituents on the benzo derivative, i.e., isocoumarin ring,^{2h-j} replacing the benzene ring by a suitable heterocyclic moiety is not common in the literature. We envisioned that α -pyrone fused with a five- or six-membered heterocycle might lead to a novel class of compounds useful for the Structure-Activity Relationship (SAR) studies. The thiophene moiety is common in many bioactive agents and drugs^{3a} and is considered as a bi-oisostere of the benzene ring.^{3a} (The distance between two neighboring carbon atoms in benzene is roughly equivalent to the diameter of the sulfur atom in thiophene and the latter often displays pharmacological properties similar to those of benzene.^{3b}) On the other hand pyrazole fused with pyran and benzopyran rings has shown affinity and selectivity toward A_1 adenosine receptor.^{3c,d} Thus, one can anticipate that

 $[\]stackrel{\scriptstyle{\bigstar}}{\star}$ DRL publication no. 522.

Keywords: α -Pyrone; 4,5-Disubstituted thieno[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-one; 6,7-Disubstituted thieno[3,2-*c*]pyran-4-ones; Palladium catalyst; Terminal alkynes; 3-Iodothiophene-2-carboxylic acid; 2-Bromothiophene-3-carboxylic acid.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +91 40 23045439; fax: +91 40 23045438/ 23045007; e-mail: manojitpal@drreddys.com



Figure 1. Design of α-pyrones fused with 5-membered heterocycles derived from diversity based isocoumarin scaffold.

replacing the benzene ring of isocoumarin by a fivemembered ring such as thiophene would afford compounds (i.e., thienopyranones, Fig. 1) of potential pharmacological interest.^{3e,f} Additionally, thiophene derivatives are excellent synthetic intermediates because of the unique electronic properties of sulfur as well as the steric constraints of a five-membered ring.^{3g} However, as a class of compounds the thienopyranones are rather unusual. Only a few number of thieno[2,3-c]pyran-4-ones were synthesized and evaluated for their antileishmanial and antifungal activities.^{3h}

Based on above considerations and our continuing interest in the synthesis of oxygen containing heterocycles we decided to synthesize pyranones fused with thiophene. A thorough literature search revealed that methodologies devised for the elaboration of this framework are generally limited and not investigated extensively.^{4a–e} Moreover, synthesis of thieno[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-ones/thieno[3,2-*c*]pyran-4-ones (and their 4-/7-alkynyl analogues) has not been reported thus far. Therefore, to synthesize a library of isocoumarins^{5a} for biological screening we became interested in the synthesis of pyranones fused with five-membered heterocycles.^{5b}

The construction of functionalized α -pyrone ring incorporated into the isocoumarin system is the most commonly used strategy for a rapid assemblage of isocoumarin derivatives. On the other hand palladium-catalyzed reactions have become most attractive and powerful tool for C-C bond forming reaction due to their generality and superiority over many tedious classical methods. Thus, among the many methods reported for the synthesis of isocoumarins one widely used process is Sonogashira-type coupling followed by electrophilic or transition metal mediated cyclization of the resulting alkynes possessing a carboxylate or an equivalent group in proximity to the triple bond.⁶ Attractive features of this process include its versatility and ability to tolerate a wide range of important organic functional groups. Thus, isocoumarins have been prepared in a efficient manner by reacting o-iodobenzoic acid with terminal alkynes in the presence of Pd(PPh₃)₄, Et₃N, and a stoichiometric amount of ZnCl₂.^{7a} The use of ZnCl₂ in place of CuI^{7b,c} was found to be responsible for the predominant formation of isocoumarins over phthalides. However, very recently we have shown that isocoumarins can be obtained as major products even in the presence of CuI when the coupling reaction was performed in the presence of 10% Pd/C-Et₃N-CuI-PPh₃ as catalyst system in ethanol (Fig. 2).5a More recently, we have noted that 3-iodothiophene-2-carboxylic acid (1a) reacts smoothly with terminal alkynes in the presence of PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂-Et₃N-CuI as a catalyst system affording 5-substituted 4-alkynylthieno[2,3-c]pyran-7-ones (2a-j) in good yields (Scheme 1). This palladium-catalyzed



R = alkyl, aryl, hydroxyalkyl

Figure 2. Pd/C-mediated synthesis of 3-substituted isocoumarins.

transformation is particularly interesting, because apart from providing an easy access to thieno[2,3-c]pyran-7-one ring it affords novel conjugated envnes that could be utilized further as precursors to construct even more complex molecules. Only four examples of analogue 3-substituted 4-alkynyl isocoumarins have been reported during Pd-Zn mediated synthesis of 3-substituted isocoumarins where these derivatives were isolated as minor products in 3-5% yield.^{7a} Alternatively, 4-alkynyl isocoumarins/coumarins have been prepared via multistep synthesis that usually involves ring construction followed by Sonogashira coupling.⁸ Being arguably the most versatile transition metal for catalysis palladium features prominently in a number of tandem transformations9 and we have recently shown that terminal alkynes participate in tandem coupling reactions depending on the reaction condition employed.^{9g} Herein, we report further study on our previously communicated one-step synthesis of 5-substituted 4-alkynylthieno[2,3-c]pyran-7-ones^{5b} along with the synthesis of isomeric 6-substituted-7-alkynylthieno[3,2-c]pyran-4-ones under palladium catalysis. Additionally, we report detailed study on Pd/C-mediated synthesis of 6-substituted thieno[3,2-c]pyran-4-ones and 5substituted thieno[2,3-c]pyran-7-ones where no significant formation of corresponding alkynyl analogues was observed.



Scheme 1. Synthesis of thienopyranones having disubstitutions on the pyranone ring.

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Optimization of reaction conditions and product characterization

To evaluate the potential of the use of palladium mediated coupling cyclization methodology¹⁰ for the synthesis of 5-substituted thieno[2,3-c]pyran-7-ones (**3**), we first selected

1a as a model substrate with 2-methyl-3-butyn-2-ol as the terminal alkyne. We observed that Pd-catalyzed coupling of 1a¹¹ with 2-methyl-3-butyn-2-ol in ethanol afforded 5-alkylthieno[2,3-c]pyran-7-ones (**3a**, $R=-C(CH_3)_2OH$, Table 1) in 24% yield and the unexpected 4-(3-hydroxy-3methylbut-1-ynyl)-5-(1-hydroxy-1-methylethyl)thieno[2,3*c*]pyran-7-one (2a) in 50% purified yield, with a 2/1 ratio of 2a and 3a (Entry 1, Table 1). Compound 2a was characterized by ¹H and ¹³C NMR and other spectroscopic methods and identified as an alkyne possessing the thieno [2,3-c]pyran-7-one ring at one end. This was supported by the molecular structure of **2b** ($R=-CH_2CH_2OH$), which was confirmed by X-ray analysis.^{5b} The ORTEP diagram of **2b** (Fig. 3) shows a planar thieno [2,3-c] pyran-7-one core with a disordered hydroxyl group due to the alkynyl side chain along with the other hydroxy group oriented in the opposite direction. The molecular structure of 3a was also confirmed by X-ray analysis (Fig. 3).¹² The noteworthy features of this structure include (a) two independent molecules of **3a** in the unit cell are differentiated by the presence of one molecule of water, (b) the water molecule present in the lattice bridges the C=O of one molecule and O-H of other one, by inter molecular hydrogen bonding. Nevertheless, the unexpected formation of 2a prompted us to investigate this tandem C–C bond forming reaction in a more systematic manner.

The initial reaction was carried out in ethanol in the presence of $PdCl_2(PPh_3)_2$ (0.048 equiv), CuI (0.06 equiv), Et₃N



Figure 3. X-ray crystal structure of 2b and 3a (ORTEP diagram).

 Table 1. Effect of reaction conditions on the palladium-catalyzed coupling reaction of 3-iodothiophene-2-carboxylic acid with 2-methyl-3-butyn-2-ol^a



Entry	Pd catalyst	Solvent; time	Yield (%) ^b		
			2a	3a	
1	PdCl ₂ (PPh ₃) ₂	EtOH; 12 h	50	24	
2	$PdCl_2(PPh_3)_2$	1,4-Dioxane; 12 h	30	0	
3	$PdCl_2(PPh_3)_2$	DMA; 12 h	55	5	
4	$PdCl_2(PPh_3)_2$	DMF; 8 h	80	0	
5	$Pd(PPh_3)_4$	DMF; 12 h	40	0	
6 ^c	Pd(OAc) ₂ -PPh ₃	DMF; 12 h	35	0	
7	$PdCl_2(dppf)_2$	DMF; 12 h	35	28	
8 ^d	$PdCl_2(PPh_3)_2$	DMF; 48 h	12	0	
9 ^c	10% Pd/C-PPh3	EtOH; 12 h	8	68	
10 ^{c,e}	10% Pd/C-PPh ₃	1,4-Dioxane; 12 h	6	80	

^a Reaction conditions: Ia (1.0 equiv), terminal alkyne (2.0 equiv), Pd(II)catalyst (0.048 equiv) or Pd/C (0.035 equiv), CuI (0.06 equiv), Et₃N (5 equiv) in a solvent at 70–80 °C under N₂.

^o Isolated yield of **2a** and **3a**.

^c PPh₃ used: 0.3 equiv.

^d 3-Bromothiophene-2-carboxylic acid was used in place of **1a**.

^e Terminal alkyne used: 1.5 equiv.

(5.0 equiv), and 2.0 equiv of the terminal alkyne at 75 °C. A series of optimization experiments on the reaction of **1a** with 2-methyl-3-butyn-2-ol were carried out by keeping the molar ratio of Pd/Cu at 1/1.3 and changing a number of parameters, e.g., effect of catalysts, solvent, base, and temperature (Table 1). Change of solvent from ethanol to a non-protic solvent such as 1,4-dioxane or dimethylacetamide (DMA) suppressed the formation of 3a dramatically (Entries 2 and 3, Table 1) and 2a was isolated in 30 and 55% yield, respectively. While the reason for these observations was not clear the non-protic solvents perhaps allowed the participation of second equivalent of alkyne used in the crucial cyclization process. The yield of 2a was increased significantly when DMF was used (Entry 4, Table 1). To assess the role of solvent we carried out this reaction using a lesser amount of terminal alkyne (1.0 equiv) in DMF where 2a was isolated in 28% yield and the reaction did not reach completion. This observation clearly suggests that formation of 2a was not dependent on the concentration of alkyne used but was favored by the non-polar solvent employed. Both Pd and Cu catalysts played crucial roles as no reaction was observed when either was omitted. The use of other Pd catalysts, e.g., Pd(PPh₃)₄, Pd(OAc)₂ or PdCl₂(dppf)₂ was investigated (Entries 5-7, Table 1) where 2a was isolated as major product albeit in low yield (35-40%). Significant amount of **3a** was isolated when PdCl₂(dppf)₂ was used as catalyst (Entry 7, Table 1). Thus, PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂ was identified as the best catalyst for the synthesis of 2a and was used for further studies. The use of commercially available 3-bromothiophene-2-carboxylic acid however, did not afford 2a in good yield even after 48 h when reacted with 2-methyl-3-butyn-2-ol in the presence of PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂ and CuI (Entry 8, Table 1). Remarkably, the use of 0.035 equiv of 10% Pd/C

in place of $PdCl_2(PPh_3)_2$ in ethanol during coupling reaction of 1a with 2-methyl-3-butyn-2-ol afforded 3a as major product in good yield with trace amount of 2a (Entry 9, Table 1). Indeed, a better yield of **3a** was achieved in 1,4-dioxane using lesser quantity, i.e., 1.5 equiv of terminal alkyne (Entry 10, Table 1). Less than 0.035 equiv of 10% Pd/C can be used to afford 3a, but the yield of product was found to be often irreproducible. The use of 5% Pd/C also afforded lower yield of 3a. All the reactions were usually carried out at 70-80 °C under nitrogen. The use of higher or lower reaction temperature led to the inferior results. Originally, we speculated that the formation of 2a might first involve the formation of 3a, which subsequently reacted with another mole of the terminal alkyne under Pd-Cu catalysis. However, formation of 2a was not observed when 3a was subjected to the same Pdcatalyzed reaction conditions.

2.2. Scope of the reaction

2.2.1. Synthesis of 5-substituted 4-alkynyl thieno[2,3*c*]pyran-7-ones and 6-substituted 7-alkynyl thieno[3,2*c*]pyran-4-ones. To examine the effect on the yield of the substituents on the terminal alkynes we next tested the optimized reaction conditions from Entry 4 of Table 1 (Method A: PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂, CuI, Et₃N in DMF) with other terminal alkynes (Entries 1–10, Table 2). Like *o*-iodobenzoic acid, 3-iodothiophene-2-carboxylic acid showed good reactivity toward the present coupling reaction and various functional groups including aryl, alkyl, hydroxyl, ether etc. present in terminal alkynes were well tolerated. This allowed the preparation of a variety of 5-substituted 4-alkynylthieno[2,3c]pyran-7-ones (2) under mild condition. However, yields of compound 2 varied depending on the nature of alkynes used. While alkynes bearing a tertiary and secondary hydroxyl group on the carbon next to the triple bond provided best yields of 2 (Entries 1 and 4, Table 2), the presence of long alkyl chains on the triple bond did not affect the yields drastically (Entries 5 and 6, Table 2). A hydroxyl group at the end of the long alkyl chain of the alkyne however, lowered the yields of 2 slightly (Entries 2 and 3, Table 2). Among the aryl acetylenes used, phenyl acetylene afforded only a modest 57% yield of 2 under the reaction condition studied. A mild electron-donating group at the para position of the benzene ring however, improved the yield of 2 compared to phenyl acetylene (Entries 8 and 9 vs Entry 7, Table 2). The use of alkyne where $-CH_2O$ moiety linked the triple bond with the phenyl group provided better yield of 2 than phenyl acetylene (Entry 10 vs Entry 7, Table 2). All these facts clearly indicated that yields of 2 were partially dependent on the nature of the substituent present on the terminal alkynes. Generally, 2 was isolated as the sole product in all cases except when 1-hexyne and 1-octyne were used. Compound 3 was also isolated as minor product in these cases (Entries 5 and 6, Table 2). In contrary to the 3-bromothiophene-2-carboxylic acid, isomeric and commercially available 2-bromothiophene-3-carboxylic acid 1b provided

Table 2. Pd-mediated synthesis^a of 5-substituted 4-alkynylthieno[2,3-c]pyran-7-ones and 6-substituted 7-alkynylthieno[3,2-c]pyran-4-ones

Entry	Alkyne (R)	Time (h)	Products (2)	Yie	ld (%)	
				2	3	
1	a ; –C(CH ₃) ₂ OH	8	$HO \qquad CH_3 \\ HO \qquad CH_3 \\ HO \qquad CH_3 \\ CH_3 \\ CH_3 \\ 2a$	80	0	
2	b ; –(CH ₂) ₂ OH	12		53	0	
3	с ; –(СН ₂) ₃ ОН	12	ОН С ОН С ОН ООН ООН ООН ООН ООН	61	0	

Table 2.	(continued)
----------	-------------

Entry	Alkyne (R)	Time (h)	Products (2)	Yie	ld (%)	
				2	3	
4	d ; –CH(OH)CH ₃	10		82	0	
5	e ; −(CH ₂) ₃ CH ₃	12		65	15	
6	f; –(CH ₂) ₅ CH ₃	12		62	35	
7	g ; -C ₆ H ₅	12		57	0	
8	h ; −C ₆ H ₄ CH ₃ - <i>p</i>	12	CH ₃ CH ₃	62	0	
9	i ; −C ₆ H ₄ C ₅ H ₁₁ - <i>p</i>	8	2i	73	0	

(continued)



Alkyne (R)	Time (h) Products (2)		Yield (%)		
			2	3	
j ; -CH ₂ OC ₆ H ₅	8		75	0	
a	10	HO CH ₃ H ₃ C CH ₃ H ₃ C CH ₃ CH ₃ O H ₃ C CH ₃ CH ₃ H ₃ C CH ₃ CH	55	40	
b	10		88	0	
g	10		60 ^c	0	
	Alkyne (R) j; -CH ₂ OC ₆ H ₅ a b	Alkyne (R) Time (h) j; -CH2OC6H5 8 a 10 b 10 g 10	Alkyne (R) Time (h) Products (2) j: -CH ₂ OC ₀ H ₅ 8 $(\begin{array}{c} \downarrow \\ \downarrow $	Alkyne (R) Time (h) Products (2) Yie 2 j; -CH ₂ OC ₆ H ₅ 8 $(f) = (f) = (f$	Alkyne (R) Time (h) Products (2) <u>Yield (%)</u> 2 3 $j = CH_2OC_0H_5$ 8 $(\int_{G} G + \int_{G} G + \int_$

^a All reactions were carried out using 1 (1.0 equiv), terminal alkyne (2.0 equiv), PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂ (0.048 equiv), CuI (0.06 equiv) and Et₃N (5 equiv) in DMF at 70–80 °C under nitrogen.

^b 2-Bromothiophene-3-carboxylic acid was used in place of **1**.

^c 1,4-Diphenyl-1,3-butadiyne was isolated in 35% yield in addition to 2gg.

better yield of corresponding 6,7-disubstituted thieno[3,2*c*]pyran-4-ones (Scheme 2), e.g., **2aa**, **2bb**, and **2gg** (Entry 8 of Table 1 vs Entries 11–13 of Table 2) under the condition studied. Higher reactivity shown by 2-bromo derivative over 3-bromo toward the present palladium-catalyzed reaction was perhaps aided by the electron withdrawing inductive



Scheme 2. Synthesis of 6-substituted 7-alkynylthieno[3,2-c]pyran-4-ones.

effect of sulfur at the nearby position. Nevertheless, the success of this tandem reaction is presumably due to the in situ generation of the Pd(II)-complex after normal Sonogashira coupling, which facilitates the insertion of another alkyne moiety on the intermediate generated upon cyclization (see later for mechanistic discussion).

2.2.2. Synthesis of 5-substituted thieno[2,3-c]pyran-7ones. We have found that 5-substituted thieno[2,3-c]pyran-7-one (3) can also be prepared as a major product by coupling **1a** with terminal alkynes using 10% Pd/C–Et₃N–CuI–PPh₃ (Method B) as a catalyst system (Entries 9 and 10, Table 1). Pd/C catalyzed reactions are particularly attractive because the catalyst can be removed easily by filtration at the end of the reaction allowing product isolation without transition metal impurities, the removal of which could be tedious and cumbersome. Thus, to assess the generality of this approach, the scope of the Pd/C-mediated coupling of **1a** has been studied. Treatment of **1a** with a variety of terminal alkynes under the condition described in Table 1 [1.0 equiv of 3-iodothiophene-2-carboxylic acid, 1.5 equiv of terminal alkyne, 10% Pd/C (0.035 equiv), PPh₃ (0.3 equiv), CuI

(0.06 equiv), and Et₃N (5 equiv) in 1,4-dioxane at 70–80 °C under nitrogen] afforded moderate to good yields of 5-substituted thieno[2,3-c]pyran-7-ones (Table 3). In addition to alkynes used earlier a number of other alkynes

Table 3. Pd/C-mediated synthesis of 5-substituted thieno[2,3-c]pyran-7-ones^a

Entry	Alkyne (R)	Time (h)	Products (3)	Yield (%)		
				2	3	
1	a ; -C(CH ₃) ₂ OH	12	$ \begin{array}{c} HO \\ CH_3 \\ CH_3 \\ O \\ 3a \end{array} $	6	80	
2	b ; –(CH ₂) ₂ OH	12	S S O 3b	30	60	
3	с; –(CH ₂) ₃ ОН	12	С S O Зс	10	60	
4	d ; –CH(OH)CH ₃	12	S S J O J J O H D D O H D D O H D D O H D D O H D D D D	0	55	
5	e; –(CH ₂) ₃ CH ₃	12	S S O 3e	17	50	
6	f ; –(CH ₂) ₅ CH ₃	12	S O 3f	0	55	
7	k ; –CH ₂ OH	12	С S O 3g	0	35	
8	I; -CH ₂ CH(OH)CH ₃	12	S S J O 3h	0	55	
9	j ; -CH ₂ OC ₆ H ₅	10	S O 3i	0	72	
10	m ; -CH ₂ OC ₆ H ₄ NO ₂ - <i>p</i>	10	S O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O	0	60	
			3ј		(continued	

 Table 3. (continued)

Entry	Alkyne (R)	Time (h)	Products (3)	Yie	ld (%)	
				2	3	
11	n; 5-Indolyloxy	10	$\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{x}}^{H}$	0	70	
12	o ; -CH ₂ NC ₆ H ₅	10	S C S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	0	65	
13	p ; -CH ₂ SC ₆ H ₅	10	S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	0	65	
14	q ; 1-Indolyl	10		0	68	
15	a ; -C(CH ₃) ₂ OH	12	о С С С С Н С Н Заа	0	72	

^a All reactions were carried out by using I (1.0 equiv), terminal alkyne (1.5 equiv), 10% Pd/C (0.035 equiv), PPh₃ (0.3 equiv), CuI (0.06 equiv), Et₃N (5 equiv) in 1,4-dioxane at 70–80 °C under nitrogen.

containing ether, amine, thioether, and indole functionality were tested and the reaction proceeded well affording good yields of product **3** (Entries 10–14, Table 3). The use of 2-bromothiophene-3-carboxylic acid afforded 6-substituted thieno[3,2-*c*]pyran-4-one in good yield (Entry 15, Table 3). Except in four cases (Entries 1–3 and 5, Table 3), no significant amount of **2** was isolated from the reaction mixture indicating the high product selectivity of this couplingcyclization process under Pd/C–Cu catalysis. Presumably, participation of the copper salt in the cyclization step was responsible for the predominant formation of **3** over **2** (see later for mechanistic discussion). Notably, the use of Pd/C as a source of 'ligandless palladium' in arylation of thiophene was found to be unsuccessful, which was thought to be due to the poisoning of the heterogenous catalyst.¹³

We have shown that 5-substituted thieno[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-ones (3) and their 4-alkynyl analogues (2) can be prepared via coupling reaction of 3-iodothiophene-2-carboxylic acid with terminal alkynes depending on the reaction condition employed (Method A or B). The nature of the palladium catalysts played an important role in these coupling–cyclization reactions. The use of Pd(II) or Pd(0) complexes generally led to the formation of 4-alkynyl analogues (2) via tandem

coupling–cyclization–coupling reaction whereas the use of Pd/C facilitated only coupling–cyclization to afford **3** in good yields. Nevertheless, the reaction showed very high regioselectivity in both cases as no isomeric thieno[2,3-*c*]-furan-6-ones resulting from '5-*exo-dig*' cyclization were detected under the reaction conditions studied. This is in sharp contrast to the earlier observations⁷ where the coupling–cyclization followed 5-*exo-dig* ring closure predominantly under Pd–Cu catalysis in DMF.

2.3. Proposed reaction mechanism

A reasonable pathway for $PdCl_2(PPh_3)_2$ mediated tandem reaction leading to compound **2** and Pd/C-mediated coupling-cyclization to compound **3** is shown in Scheme 3. The possibility of generating **2** via **3** can be ruled out, because it requires palladium mediated C-H activation at C-4 of thieno[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-one ring (**3**) followed by interaction of the resulting Pd(II) intermediate with the copper acetylide. This is not only an energetically unfavorable process, but also would afford copper hydride as a side product, which is unlikely. Moreover, formation of **2a** was not observed when **3a** was reacted with another mole of terminal alkyne under Pd-Cu catalysis. Thus, the reaction seems to



Scheme 3. A plausible mechanism for Pd-catalyzed formation of 2 and 3.

proceed via in situ generation of intermediate E_1 according to a typical Sonogashira pathway.^{7b,14} Once formed this acid then undergoes intramolecular cyclization aided by the Pd(II)-complex^{6a} or copper salt^{5a} to give 2 or 3. However, formation of 2 clearly suggests that the corresponding pathway is a Pd(II)-mediated process. Presumably, this proceeds via insertion of the Pd(0) complex into the acetylenic C-H bond of the terminal alkyne leading to a Pd(II) intermediate¹⁵ (\mathbf{E}_2) that catalyzes the '6-endo-dig' ring closure. Although we have no actual proof for the generation of E_2 , insertion of Pd(0) complex into the acetylenic C-H bond however, has been suggested by Trost and co-workers earlier.¹⁶ Additionally, a closely related intramolecular oxypalladation of the complex formed by the coordination of organo Pd(II)-complex [generated by oxidative addition of the aryl halide to Pd(0) in situ] with the C-C triple bond of the 2-(1-alkynyl)benzoate anion has also been proposed by Rossi and co-workers.²ⁱ Thus, reductive elimination of Pd(0) followed the '6-endo-dig' ring closure to afford thieno[2,3-c]pyran-7-one derivative. A '5-exo-dig' ring closure, although allowed by Baldwin's rule, was not observed in the present case because of the favorable geometry associated with the 5-6 ring formation rather than the 5-5 ring. This also accounts for observation of no solvent effect on using 1,4-dioxane and ethanol in the present synthesis of 3, which is in contrast with the earlier synthesis of isocoumarin.^{5a} It is noteworthy that due to the electron-donating resonance effect of thiophene moiety the carbon-carbon triple bond of E_1 is more nucleophilic than that of analogue 2-(1-alkynyl)benzoic acid and therefore interacts better with the Pd(II)-complex (E₂) generated in situ under the condition studied. This perhaps accounts for the isolation of 4-alkynyl isocoumarins as side products in poor yield during the preparation of isocoumarins under palladium-zinc catalysis. Although the reason for preferential interaction of E_1 with Pd(II)-complex (E₂) over CuI is not clear at this stage a possible explanation for the change of product selectivity on going from Method A to Method B is a change in the reaction mechanism in the cyclization step (Scheme 3). While generation of 3 is arguably feasible via Pd(II)-mediated cyclization of corresponding 1-alkynyl substituted thiophene carboxylic acid, isolation of 3 as only product under Pd/C-Cu catalysis in most of the cases suggests that perhaps copper salt plays a major role in Pd/C-mediated couplingcyclization process.^{5a} This was further supported by the isolation of 3e as a sole product when 3-hex-1-ynyl thiophene-2-carboxylic acid¹⁷ was treated with CuI in DMF at 70-80 °C for 2 h.

2.4. In vitro anticancer activity

Based on the promising cytotoxic activities reported for substituted pyrones especially 4-alkynyl substituted 2-pyrones earlier^{2g} we evaluated some of the thienopyranones synthesized for in vitro anticancer activity. Selected compounds were tested on a panel of cancer cell lines, e.g., HT-29 (colon), NCI-H460 (lung), and LoVo (colon) using the NCI standard protocol for screening anticancer molecules.¹⁸ After treating the cells with compounds at 100 µM concentration initially the percentage growth of cells was measured, which is shown in Table 4. Based on the result obtained for compound 2g against LoVo cell line we tested this compound further at lower concentrations such as 10, 1.0, 0.1, and 0.01 µM against the same cancer cell line and the percentage growth was noted as 77, 86, 97, and 102, respectively. The GI_{50} value (the concentration that causes 50% inhibition of cancer cell growth against a cell line is expressed as GI₅₀) for compound 2g was found to be 83.4 μ M compared to 23 µM of Glevec[™], an well known anticancer drug developed by Novartis. Additionally, the LC50 (Lethal Concentration 50 is the concentration of a compound that kills 50% of cells treated) of 2g was noted as 100 µM. The present study thus indicates that alkynyl substituted thienopyranone moiety could be a new and potential scaffold that needs further exploration for design and SAR studies for the development of novel anticancer agents.

Table 4. In vitro anticancer activities of thienopyranone derivatives

Compound no	Cell line	Percentage growth @ 100 μM
2g	LoVo H460 HT-29	48 71 71
2h	LoVo H460 HT-29	61 87 61
3a	LoVo H460 HT-29	68 84 77
3i	LoVo H460 HT-29	72 73 72

3. Conclusions

In summary, a catalytic approach to thienopyranones of potential pharmacological interest has been developed through the coupling of bromo or iodo substituted thiophenecarboxylic acid with terminal alkynes under palladium-copper catalysis. A detailed study related to the effect of reaction conditions on product distribution was carried out. Conditions were developed that allow for the selective synthesis of either 4,5-disubstituted or only 5-substituted thieno-[2.3-c] pyran-7-ones. The best process for the preparation of 4,5-disubstituted derivatives involved the use of $PdCl_2(PPh_3)_2$ as a catalyst source and was found to be quite general and highly regioselective, placing the alkynyl moiety at the C-4 position of the thieno[2,3-c]pyran-7-one ring. This process was extended to the regioselective synthesis of 7-alkynylthieno[3,2-c]pyran-4-ones successfully. 5-Substituted thieno [2,3-c] pyran-7-ones on the other hand was obtained easily by using Pd/C-mediated coupling-cyclization of 3-iodothiophene-2-carboxylic acid with terminal alkynes. All these processes worked well with a broad range of terminal alkynes to afford the corresponding products in good isolated yields. The scope and limitations of both the process along with the mechanism of the reaction have been discussed. The sequencing of two or more reactions in a one-pot process, as illustrated in this report, not only makes better use of precious reagents as well as solvents but also has the benefit of eliminating cumbersome separation and purification after each step. Since the use of single catalyst source for tandem reaction is a powerful strategy for generating complex structures, we believe that the novel palladium-catalyzed transformation described here would find wide usage for the synthesis of similar class of compounds.

4. Experimental

4.1. General methods

Unless stated otherwise, reactions were performed under nitrogen atmosphere. Reactions were monitored by thin layer chromatography (TLC) on silica gel plates (60 F254), visualizing with ultraviolet light or iodine spray. Flash chromatography was performed on silica gel (60-120 mesh) using distilled petroleum ether and ethyl acetate. ¹H NMR and 13 C NMR spectra were determined in CDCl₃, DMSO- d_6 or MeOH- d_4 solution on 200 and 400, and 50 MHz spectrometers, respectively. Proton chemical shifts (δ) are relative to tetramethylsilane (TMS, δ =0.00) as internal standard and expressed in parts per million. Spin multiplicities are given as s (singlet), d (doublet), t (triplet) and m (multiplet) as well as br (broad). Coupling constants (J) are given in hertz. Infrared spectra were recorded on a FTIR spectrometer. Melting points were determined by using melting point apparatus and are uncorrected. Thermal analysis data [Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC)] were generated with the help of DSC-50 detector. MS spectra were obtained on a mass spectrometer. Chromatographic purity by HPLC was determined by using area normalization method and the condition specified in each case: column, mobile phase (range used), flow rate, detection wavelength, retention times. All terminal alkynes, 3-bromothiophene-2-carboxylic acid and 2-bromothiophene-3-carboxylic acid used are commercially available.

4.2. Preparation of 3-iodo thiophene-2-carboxylic acid¹⁹ (1a)

To a solution of thiophene-2-carboxylic acid (5.0 g, 39 mmol) in dry THF (50 mL) n-butyl lithium (6.25 g, 41.6 mL, 97 mmol) was added slowly and dropwise at -78 °C under nitrogen atmosphere over a period of 1 h. The mixture was stirred for 1 h at the same temperature $(-78 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$ and a solution of iodine (11.8 g, 46 mmol) in THF (25 mL) was added slowly by maintaining the temperature at -78 °C. The mixture was stirred initially for 8 h at -78 °C and then at 25-35 °C for 30 h. After completion of the reaction the mixture was diluted with 5% aqueous HCl (10 mL) followed by water (100 mL) and extracted with ethyl acetate (3×100 mL). The organic layers were collected, combined, washed with 10% aq sodium thiosulfate $(3 \times 50 \text{ mL})$ followed by water $(3 \times 50 \text{ mL})$, dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and concentrated under vacuum. The crude compound was triturated with light petroleum ether (distillation range 60-80 °C) to get the title compound as light brown solid (6 g, 60% yield); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) δ 7.26 (d, J=5.6 Hz, 1H), 7.52 (d, J=5.1 Hz, 1H); IR (cm⁻¹, CHCl₃) 3092, 2852, 1670; *m/z* (ES Mass) 255 (M⁺, 100%).

4.3. Preparation of 5-substituted 4-alkynyl thieno[2,3*c*]pyran-7-ones (2)

4.3.1. General procedure. A mixture of 3-iodo thiophene-2carboxylic acid (0.787 mmol), $PdCl_2(PPh_3)_2$ (0.038 mmol), CuI (0.047 mmol), and Et_3N (4 mmol) in DMF (10 mL) was stirred for 1 h under nitrogen. The acetylenic compound (1.57 mmol) was added and the mixture was stirred at room temperature for 1 h and then at 70–80 °C for 8–12 h. After completion of the reaction, DMF was removed under reduced pressure and the residue was extracted with ethyl acetate (3×50 mL). The organic layers were collected, combined, washed with saturated aq NaHCO₃ (2×25 mL) followed by water (2×25 mL), dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and concentrated under vacuum. The crude compound was purified by column chromatography on silica gel using light petroleum ether (60–80 °C)–ethyl acetate.

4.3.2. 4-(3-Hydroxy-3-methyl-but-1-ynyl)-5-(1-hydroxy-1-methyl-ethyl)thieno[2,3-c]pyran-7-one (2a).



Low melting light brown solid; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) δ 7.85 (d, *J*=5.0 Hz, 1H), 7.34 (d, *J*=5.0 Hz, 1H), 2.24 (br s, -OH), 1.61 (s, 12H, CH₃); IR (cm⁻¹, CHCl₃) 3391, 2981, 1715 (C=O), 1626; *m/z* (ES Mass) 293 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 167.4 (C=O), 148.3, 144.0,

138.8 (2C), 124.7, 105.6, 104.0, 74.1, 73.6, 65.6, 31.1 (2C, CH₃), 28.5 (2C, CH₃); UV (nm, MeOH) 312.0, 252.8, 238.4, 214.2; HPLC 96.3%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention time 11.3 min; Elemental analysis found C, 61.77; H, 5.45; $C_{15}H_{16}O_4S$ requires C, 61.62; H, 5.52.

4.3.3. 4-(4-Hydroxy-but-1-ynyl)-5-(2-hydroxy-ethyl)thieno[2,3-c]pyran-7-one (2b).



White solid; mp 116–116.5 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) δ 7.83 (d, J=5.0 Hz, 1H), 7.32 (d, J=5.0 Hz, 1H), 4.03 (t, J=5.7 Hz, 2H, CH₂), 3.86 (t, J=5.7 Hz, 2H, CH₂), 3.08 (t, J=5.7 Hz, 2H, CH₂), 2.74 (t, J=6.0 Hz, 2H, CH₂), 1.66 (br s, -OH); IR (cm⁻¹, CHCl₃) 3390, 3015, 2927, 1715 (C=O), 1602; m/z (ES Mass) 265 (M⁺, 100); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 160.4 (C=O), 157.4, 157.2, 136.8, 124.6, 123.9, 104.2, 94.0, 72.3, 61.1 (CH₂OH), 60.4 (CH₂OH), 29.7 (CH₂), 23.9 (CH₂); UV (nm, MeOH) 315.2, 313.4, 252.8, 238.4, 201.6; HPLC 98.8%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/ min, UV 254 nm, retention time 8.4 min; Elemental analysis found C, 59.15; H, 4.51; C₁₃H₁₂O₄S requires C, 59.08; H, 4.58.

4.3.4. 4-(5-Hydroxy-pent-1-ynyl)-5-(3-hydroxy-propyl)thieno[2,3-c]pyran-7-one (2c).

он

Low melting light brown solid; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) δ 7.83 (d, *J*=4.7 Hz, 1H), 7.23 (d, *J*=4.7 Hz, 1H), 3.85 (t, *J*=4.7 Hz, 2H, CH₂), 3.75 (t, *J*=4.6 Hz, 2H, CH₂), 2.9 (t, *J*= 4.6 Hz, 2H, CH₂), 2.6 (t, *J*=4.68 Hz, 2H, CH₂), 2.9 (t, *J*= 4.6 Hz, 2H, CH₂), 1.85–1.80 (m, 2H, CH₂), 1.69 (br s, –OH); IR (cm⁻¹, CHCl₃) 3429, 3019, 2400, 1719 (C=O), 1601; *m*/z (ES Mass) 293 (M⁺, 100); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 163.7 (C=O), 157.2, 153.8, 136.7, 132.1, 124.5, 106.6, 94.6, 72.4, 61.4 (CH₂OH), 58.3 (CH₂OH), 30.2 (CH₂), 29.6 (CH₂), 28.6 (CH₂), 16.1 (CH₂); UV (nm, MeOH) 317.2, 253.0, 235.4, 210.8; HPLC 98.2%, column: Zorbax Eclipse

XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention time 11.0 min; Elemental analysis found C, 61.32; H, 5.57; $C_{15}H_{16}O_4S$ requires C, 61.62; H, 5.52.

4.3.5. 4-(3-Hydroxy-but-1-ynyl)-5-(1-hydroxy ethyl)thieno[2,3-c]pyran-7-one (2d).



Low melting light brown solid; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) δ 7.87 (d, *J*=5.0 Hz, 1H), 7.33 (d, *J*=5.0 Hz, 1H), 5.14 (q, *J*=6.3 Hz, 1H, CH), 4.82 (q, *J*=6.7 Hz, 1H, CH), 1.61 (d, *J*= 3.4 Hz, 3H, CH₃), 1.57 (d, *J*=3.7 Hz, 3H, CH₃), 1.75 (br s, -OH); IR (cm⁻¹, CHCl₃) 3307, 2919, 1713 (C=O), 1600; *m/z* (CI Mass) 265 (M⁺, 100); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 160.7 (C=O), 153.7, 144.2, 137.1, 127.4, 124.6, 104.2, 99.4, 75.4, 66.0 (CH), 58.8 (CH), 24.3 (CH₃), 21.2 (CH₃); UV (nm, MeOH) 313.4, 253.2, 235.8, 201.8; HPLC 96.4%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention time 9.7 min; HRMS Calcd for C₁₃H₁₂O₄S (M+H⁺): 265.0534. Found: 265.0540.

4.3.6. 5-Butyl-4-hex-1-ynyl-thieno[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-one (2e).



¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ 7.79 (d, *J*=5.1 Hz, 1H), 7.28 (d, J=5.1 Hz, 1H), 2.79 (t, J=7.5 Hz, 2H, CH₂), 2.48 (t, J=7.2 Hz, 2H, CH₂), 1.74–1.66 (m, 2H, CH₂), 1.61–1.59 (m, 2H, CH₂), 1.45–1.50 (m, 2H, CH₂), 1.41–1.36 (m, 2H, CH₂), 0.93–0.99 (m, 6H, CH₃); IR (cm⁻¹, CHCl₃) 2958, 1729 (C=O); m/z (ES Mass) 289 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) & 155.2 (C=O), 154.6, 152.3, 136.4, 124.6, 123.4, 105.6, 96.6, 71.5, 31.8, 30.8, 29.7, 29.5, 22.2, 22.0, 19.2 (CH₃), 13.7 (CH₃); UV (nm, MeOH) 325.2, 252.6, 238.4, 209.6; HPLC 97.0%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/ min, UV 254 nm, retention time 18.3 min; Elemental analysis found C, 70.87; H, 6.95; C₁₇H₂₀O₂S requires C, 70.80; H, 6.99.

4.3.7. 5-Hexyl-4-oct-1-ynyl-thieno[2,3-c]pyran-7-one (2f).



¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ 7.79 (d, J=5.1 Hz, 1H), 7.29 (d, J=5.1 Hz, 1H), 2.78 (t, J=7.8 Hz, 2H, CH₂), 2.47 (t, J= 6.9 Hz, 2H, CH₂), 1.79–1.65 (m, 2H, CH₂), 1.68–1.58 (m, 2H, CH₂), 1.61–1.4 (m, 6H, CH₂), 1.39–1.26 (m, 6H, CH₂), 0.91–0.87 (m, 6H, CH₃); IR (cm⁻¹, CHCl₃) 2929, 1727 (C=O), 1600; *m*/z (ES Mass) 345 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) 136.3 (C=O), 124.6, 32.1 (2C), 31.5 (2C), 31.3 (2C), 29.7 (2C), 28.7 (2C), 28.6 (2C), 27.4 (2C), 22.50 (2C), 19.5 (2C), 14.0; UV (nm, MeOH) 322.0, 252.8, 239.4, 214.8; HPLC 98.0%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention time 19.9 min; Elemental analysis found C, 73.37; H, 8.10; C₂₁H₂₈O₂S requires C, 73.21; H, 8.19.

4.3.8. 5-Phenyl-4-phenyl ethynyl-thieno-[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-one (2g).



Pale yellow solid; mp 122–123 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ 8.25–8.22 (m, 2H), 7.90 (d, *J*=5.1 Hz, 1H), 7.90 (d, *J*=5.1 Hz, 1H), 7.50–7.30 (m, 8H); IR (cm⁻¹, KBr) 3107, 1723 (C=O); *m/z* (ES Mass) 329 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 153.6 (C=O), 148.4, 136.7, 131.9, 313.6 (2C), 131.4, 131.2, 130.5, 130.2, 129.5, 128.8, 128.5, 128.4, 128.3 (2C), 125.3, 122.6, 105.1, 96.6, 88.3; UV (nm, MeOH) 313.4, 217.4, 247.8; HPLC 99.0%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention time 18.0 min; Elemental analysis found C, 76.87; H, 3.66; C₂₁H₁₂O₂S requires C, 76.81; H, 3.68.

4.3.9. 5-*p*-Tolyl-4-*p*-tolylethynyl-thieno[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-one (2h).



Pale yellow solid; mp 171.5–171.8 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ 8.15 (d, *J*=8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.87 (d, *J*=5.1 Hz, 1H), 7.53 (d, *J*=5.1 Hz, 1H), 7.40 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.29 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.19 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz, 2H), 2.35–2.43 (m, 6H, CH₃); IR (cm⁻¹, KBr) 3072, 1727 (C=O), 1584; *m/z* (CI Mass) 358 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 158.9 (C=O), 148.6, 140.9, 139.1, 136.5, 133.3 (2C), 131.2, 129.3 (2C), 128.9, 128.7 (2C), 126.2, 125.2 (2C), 123.3, 119.6, 103.6, 96.8, 82.3, 22.6 (CH₃), 21.5 (CH₃); UV (nm, MeOH) 317.4, 252.8; HPLC 96.0%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention time 18.7 min; Elemental analysis found C, 77.37; H, 4.54; C₂₃H₁₆O₂S requires C, 77.50; H, 4.52.

4.3.10. 5-(**4**-Pentyl-phenyl)-**4**-(**4**-pentyl-phenylethynyl)-thieno[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-one (2i).



Low melting brown solid; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ 8.18 (d, J=8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.87 (d, J=5.1 Hz, 1H), 7.53 (d, J=5.1 Hz, 1H), 7.43 (d, J=8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.30 (d, J=8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.19 (d, J=8.1 Hz, 2H), 2.69–2.61 (m, 4H, CH₂), 1.67-1.61 (m, 4H, CH₂), 1.37-1.25 (m, 8H, CH₂), 0.92-0.87 (m, 6H, CH₃); IR (cm⁻¹, CHCl₃) 2928, 1736 (C=O), 1598; *m*/*z* (CI Mass) 469 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) 158.6 (C=O), 148.7, 147.5, 145.9, 144.1, 136.5, 132.4, 131.3 (2C), 129.3 (2C), 128.6 (2C), 128.3 (2C), 127.3, 123.2, 120.8, 103.8, 96.9, 82.4, 35.9 (2C), 31.4 (2C), 30.8 (2C), 22.5 (2C), 14.0 (2C); UV (nm, MeOH) 317.8, 254.0, 202.0; HPLC 97.0%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/ min, UV 254 nm, retention time 23.4 min; HRMS Calcd for C₃₁H₃₂O₂S (M+H⁺): 469.2201. Found: 469.2216.

4.3.11. 5-Phenoxymethyl-4-(3-phenoxy-prop-1-ynyl)thieno[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-one (2j).



White solid; mp 115.2 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ 7.82 (d, *J*=7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.34–7.23 (m, 6H), 7.22–7.0 (m,

5H), 4.93 (s, 2H, CH₂), 5.03 (s, 2H, CH₂); IR (cm⁻¹, KBr) 2925, 1733 (C=O), 1598, 1240; *m*/*z* (CI Mass) 389 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) 157.9 (C=O), 156.9, 154.5, 153.8, 152.7, 137.0, 129.6 (2C), 129.5 (2C), 126.6, 124.7, 121.8, 121.7, 115.0 (2C), 114.9 (2C), 101.2, 92.7, 78.1, 65.0, 56.2; UV (nm, MeOH) 313.0, 255.8, 202.8; HPLC 97.0%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.0 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention time 17.4 min; Elemental analysis found C, 71.22; H, 4.10; $C_{23}H_{16}O_4S$ requires C, 71.12; H, 4.15.

4.3.12. 6-(1-Hydroxy-1-methyl-ethyl)-7-(3-hydroxy-3-methyl-but-1-ynyl)-thieno[3,2-*c*]pyran-4-one (2aa).



Low melting light brown solid; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) δ 7.54 (d, *J*=5.2 Hz, 1H), 7.37 (d, *J*=5.3 Hz, 1H), 2.24 (br s, –OH), 1.68 (s, 12H); IR (cm⁻¹, CHCl₃) 3272, 1722 (C=O); *m*/*z* (CI Mass) 293 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 165.9 (C=O), 156.7, 153.9, 132.1, 128.3, 126.3, 125.7, 104.4, 95.8, 73.6, 65.4, 30.8 (2C, CH₃), 28.5 (2C, CH₃); UV (nm, MeOH) 314.8, 264.4, 231.8, 203.4; HPLC 96.0%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention time 12.5 min; Elemental analysis found C, 61.32; H, 5.58; C₁₅H₁₆O₄S requires C, 61.62; H, 5.52.

4.3.13. 6-(2-Hydroxy-ethyl)-7-(4-hydroxy-but-1-ynyl)thieno [3,2-c]pyran-4-one (2bb).



Brown color solid; mp 101–102 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) δ 7.54 (d, *J*=5.6 Hz, 1H), 7.34 (d, *J*=5.6 Hz, 1H), 4.02 (t, *J*=5.9 Hz, 2H), 3.88 (t, *J*=5.9 Hz, 2H), 3.08 (t, *J*=5.9 Hz, 2H), 2.75 (t, *J*=5.9 Hz, 2H), 1.66 (br s, -OH); IR (cm⁻¹, KBr) 3381, 2919, 1712 (C=O); *m/z* (CI Mass) 265 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 160.3 (C=O), 158.1, 152.4, 132.1, 128.4, 125.8, 102.1, 95.3, 73.6, 60.8 (CH₂OH), 59.9 (CH₂OH), 35.6 (CH₂), 23.9 (CH₂); UV (nm, MeOH) 316.4, 276.0, 264.8, 232.8; HPLC 98.0%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention time 8.9 min; Elemental analysis found C, 59.17; H, 4.47; C₁₃H₁₂O₄S requires C, 59.08; H, 4.58.

4.3.14. 6-Phenyl-7-phenyl ethyl-thieno-[3,2-*c*]pyran-4-one (2gg).



Pale yellow solid; mp 183–184 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) δ 8.25 (m, 2H), 7.63 (d, *J*=5.4 Hz, 1H), 7.43 (d, *J*=5.4 Hz, 1H), 7.55–7.50 (m, 5H), 7.40–7.38 (m, 3H); IR (cm⁻¹, KBr) 3421, 2962, 1738 (C=O); *m/z* (CI Mass) 329 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 157.0 (C=O), 131.4 (2C), 130.6 (2C), 129.0 (2C), 128.5 (2C), 128.3, 128.2, 126.6 (2C), 126.0 (2C), 125.4, 122.6, 122.2, 101.6, 97.6 (2C); UV (nm, MeOH) 340.6, 300.0, 239.0, 203.2; HPLC 98.0%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention time 18.0 min; Elemental analysis found C, 76.63; H, 6.77; C₂₁H₁₂O₂S requires C, 76.81; H, 3.68.

4.4. Preparation of 5-substituted thieno[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-ones (3)

4.4.1. General procedure. A mixture of 3-iodo thiophene-2-carboxylic acid (1.18 mmol), 10% Pd/C (0.035 mmol), PPh₃ (0.14 mmol), CuI (0.07 mmol), and triethylamine (6.0 mmol) in 1,4-dioxane (10 mL) was stirred at 25–30 °C for 30 min under nitrogen and acetylinic compound (1.8 mmol) was added. The mixture was then stirred at room temperature for 1 h and then at 75–80 °C for 10–12 h. After completion of the reaction the mixture was cooled to room temperature, diluted with EtOAc (50 mL), and filterd through Celite. The filtrate was washed with saturated aq sodium hydrogen carbonate (2×25 mL) followed by water (2×25 mL), dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and concentrated. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silicagel, using light petroleum (distillation range 60–80 °C)–ethylacetate as eluent.

4.4.2. 5-(1-Hydroxy-1-methyl-ethyl)-thieno-[2,3-*c*]-pyran-7-one (3a).



White solid, mp 87–88 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) δ 7.82 (d, *J*=5.3 Hz, 1H), 7.17 (d, *J*=5.0 Hz, 1H), 6.8 (s, 1H, CH=C), 2.24 (br s, –OH), 1.61 (s, 6H, CH₃); IR (cm⁻¹, KBr) 3499, 1736 (C=O); *m/z* (ES Mass) 211 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 164.7 (C=O), 155.7, 147.3, 136.8, 124.7 (2C), 97.3, 71.2, 28.4 (2C, CH₃); UV (nm, MeOH) 360.0, 353.8, 310.4, 282.0, 230.8; HPLC 99.2%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70,

15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention time 7.2 min; Elemental analysis found C, 57.24; H, 4.75; $C_{10}H_{10}O_3S$ requires C, 57.13; H, 4.79.

4.4.3. 5-(2-Hydroxy-ethyl)-thieno[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-one (3b).



Low melting brown solid; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ 7.82 (d, *J*=5.0 Hz, 1H), 7.14 (d, *J*=5.3 Hz, 1H), 6.58 (s, 1H), 4.02 (t, *J*=6.0 Hz, 2H), 2.84 (t, *J*=6.0 Hz, 2H), 1.65 (br s, -OH); IR (cm⁻¹, CHCl₃) 3430, 1717 (C=O); *m/z* (ES Mass) 197 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 157.6 (C=O), 152.2, 147.4, 136.7, 124.2 (2C), 102.2, 59.6 (CH₂), 29.6 (CH₂); UV (nm, MeOH) 312.4, 231.4, 210.0; HPLC 97.0%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention time 5.2 min; Elemental analysis found C, 55.15; H, 4.10; C₉H₈O₃S requires C, 55.09; H, 4.11.

4.4.4. 5-(3-Hydroxy-propyl)-thieno[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-one (3c).



Low melting brown solid; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) δ 7.80 (d, *J*=5.1 Hz, 1H), 7.12 (d, *J*=5.1 Hz, 1H), 6.49 (s, 1H), 2.70 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 2H), 2.39 (t, *J*=6.9 Hz, 2H), 2.05–1.94 (m, 2H), 1.56 (br s, –OH); IR (cm⁻¹, CHCl₃) 3361, 1713 (C=O); *m/z* (CI Mass) 211 (M⁺, 100%); UV (nm, MeOH) 308.8, 231.2, 209.8; HPLC 96.5%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention time 8.1 min; Elemental analysis found C, 57.24; H, 4.77; C₁₀H₁₀O₃S requires C, 57.13; H, 4.79.

4.4.5. 5-(1-Hydroxy-ethyl)-thieno[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-one (3d).



Low melting brown solid; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) δ 7.83 (d, *J*=5.0 Hz, 1H), 7.16 (d, *J*=5.0 Hz, 1H), 6.75 (s, 1H), 4.75–4.66 (m, 1H), 2.58 (br s, –OH), 1.56 (d, *J*=6.7 Hz, 3H); IR (cm⁻¹, CHCl₃) 3331, 1712 (C=O); *m/z* (CI Mass) 197 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 162.0 (C=O), 151.0, 147.0, 136.8, 124.6 (2C), 98.6, 66.8 (CHOH), 21.5 (CH₃); UV (nm, MeOH) 309.4, 231.4, 209.8; HPLC 98.0%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient

(T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/ min, UV 254 nm, retention time 6.4 min; HRMS Calcd for $C_9H_8O_3S$ (M+H⁺): 197.0272. Found: 197.0271.

4.4.6. 5-Butyl-thieno[2,3-c]pyran-7-one (3e).



¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ 7.78 (d, J=5.1 Hz, 1H), 7.10 (d, J=5.1 Hz, 1H), 6.43 (s, 1H), 2.56 (t, J=7.3 Hz, 2H), 1.74–1.66 (m, 2H), 1.46–1.36 (m, 2H), 0.94 (t, J=7.3 Hz, 3H); IR (cm⁻¹ CHCl₃) 2957, 1720 (C=O); m/z (ES Mass) 209 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 161.0 (C=O), 156.7, 147.5, 136.4, 124.0 (2C), 100.3, 33.1, 29.6, 22.0, 13.7 (CH₃); UV (nm, MeOH) 315.0, 281.6, 231.2, 210.4; HPLC 98.0%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention time 16.9 min; Elemental analysis found C, 63.39; H, 5.83; C₁₁H₁₂O₂S requires C, 63.43; H, 5.81.

4.4.7. 5-Hexyl-thieno [2,3-c] pyran-7-one (3f).



¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) δ 7.79 (d, *J*=5.0 Hz, 1H), 7.11 (d, *J*=5.0 Hz, 1H), 6.43 (s, 1H), 2.59–2.52 (m, 2H), 1.78–1.70 (m, 2H), 1.40–1.25 (m, 6H), 0.92–0.85 (m, 3H); IR (cm⁻¹, CHCl₃) 3390, 1718 (C=O); *m/z* (CI Mass) 237 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 161.0 (C=O), 156.3, 147.5, 136.4, 124.0 (2C), 100.3, 33.4, 31.4, 28.5, 27.0, 22.4, 13.9; UV (nm, MeOH) 314.8, 231.4, 210.0; HPLC 96.0%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention time 17.1 min; HRMS Calcd for C₁₃H₁₆O₂S (M+H⁺): 237.0949. Found: 237.0943.

4.4.8. 5-Hydroxymethyl-thieno[2,3-c]pyran-7-one (3g).



Low melting brown solid; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) δ 7.84 (d, *J*=5.1 Hz, 1H), 7.18 (d, *J*=5.1 Hz, 1H), 6.74 (s, 1H), 4.54 (s, 2H), 1.65 (br s, -OH); IR (cm⁻¹, CHCl₃) 3388, 2926, 1696 (C=O); *m/z* (CI Mass) 183 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 156.3 (C=O), 144.7, 142.5, 136.9, 124.5 (2C), 100.3, 61.4 (CH₂OH); UV (nm, MeOH) 306.6, 231.0, 209.2; HPLC 95.0%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention time 4.9 min; Elemental analysis found C, 52.69; H, 3.34; C₈H₆O₃S requires C, 52.74; H, 3.32.

4.4.9. 5-(2-Hydroxy-propyl)-thieno[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-one (3h).



Low melting brown solid; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) δ 7.80 (d, *J*=5.1 Hz, 1H), 7.12 (d, *J*=5.1 Hz, 1H), 6.54 (s, 1H), 4.31–4.25 (m, 1H), 2.77–2.66 (m, 5H), 1.83 (br s, –OH); IR (cm⁻¹, CHCl₃) 3366, 1713 (C=O); *m/z* (CI Mass) 211 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 159.1 (C=O), 157.7, 147.3, 136.7, 124.2 (2C), 102.4, 66.2, 43.0 (CHOH), 23.1 (CH₃); UV (nm, MeOH) 237.6, 231.4, 210.6; HPLC 96.0%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention of time 7.3 min; Elemental analysis found C, 57.24; H, 4.78; C₁₀H₁₀O₃S requires C, 57.13; H, 4.79.

4.4.10. 5-Phenoxymethyl-thieno[2,3-c]pyran-7-one (3i).



Pale yellow solid; mp 105.2–105.5 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) δ 7.83 (d, *J*=2.4 Hz, 1H), 7.34–7.30 (m, 2H), 7.19 (d, *J*=2.9 Hz, 1H), 7.17–6.99 (m, 3H), 6.86 (s, 1H), 4.93 (s, 2H); IR (cm⁻¹, CHCl₃) 3411, 1722 (C=O); *m/z* (CI Mass) 259 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 157.7 (C=O), 155.1, 146.7, 136.9, 130.7, 129.9 (2C), 129.5, 124.6, 121.8, 114.6 (2C), 101.2, 65.7; UV (nm, MeOH) 304.2, 231.6, 209.8; HPLC 95.0%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention of time 15.3 min; Elemental analysis found C, 65.21; H, 3.88; C₁₄H₁₀O₃S requires C, 65.10; H, 3.90.

4.4.11. 5-(4-Nitro-phenoxymethyl)-thieno-[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-one (3j).



Pale yellow solid; mp 212–213 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) δ 8.24 (d, *J*=9.4 Hz, 2H), 7.87 (d, *J*=5.1 Hz, 1H), 7.23 (d, *J*=5.1 Hz, 1H), 7.06 (d, *J*=9.4 Hz, 2H), 6.81 (s, 1H), 5.01 (s, 2H); IR (cm⁻¹, KBr) 3106, 1713 (C=O), 1591, 1338, 1265; *m*/*z* (CI Mass) 304 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 156.5 (C=O), 154.8, 144.9, 142.5 (2C), 130.6 (2C), 124.9, 121.3 (2C), 114.2 (2C), 104.6, 64.3 (CH₂); UV (nm, MeOH) 308.4, 228.8, 219.4; HPLC 97.0%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention of time 14.5 min; Elemental analysis

found C, 55.49; H, 3.05; N, 4.59; C₁₄H₉NO₅S requires C, 55.44; H, 2.99; N, 4.62.

4.4.12. 5-(1*H*-Indol-5-yloxymethyl)-thieno-[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-one (3k).



White crystalline solid; mp 130–131 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) δ 7.82 (d, *J*=5.1 Hz, 1H), 7.34–6.91 (m, 5H), 6.46 (d, *J*=11.8 Hz, 1H), 6.85 (s, 1H), 4.98 (s, 2H); IR (cm⁻¹, KBr) 2924, 2854, 1710 (C=O); *m/z* (CI Mass) 298 (M⁺, 100%); UV (nm, MeOH) 360.4, 298.6, 211.6; Elemental analysis found C, 64.69; H, 3.72; N, 4.68; C₁₆H₁₁NO₃S requires C, 64.63; H, 3.73; N, 4.71.

4.4.13. 5-Phenyl aminomethyl-thieno-[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-one (3l).



Pale yellow solid; mp 156–157 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) δ 7.79 (d, *J*=5.1 Hz, 1H), 7.08–7.23 (m, 4H), 6.80–6.63 (m, 3H), 4.27 (s, 2H); IR (cm⁻¹, KBr) 3389, 1709 (C=O), 1603; *m/z* (CI Mass) 258 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 157.5 (C=O), 146.7 (2C), 136.7 (2C), 129.3 (2C), 124.4 (2C), 118.4, 112.9 (2C), 100.3, 45.2 (CH₂); UV (nm, MeOH) 310.6, 283.8, 240.0, 204.2; HPLC 97.0%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention of time 12.4 min; Elemental analysis found C, 65.53; H, 4.26; N, 5.33; C₁₄H₁₁NO₂S requires C, 65.35; H, 4.31; N, 5.44.

4.4.14. 5-Phenylsulfanylmethyl-thieno[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-one (3m).



Low melting brown solid; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) δ 7.78 (d, *J*=5.1 Hz, 1H), 7.39–7.29 (m, 5H), 7.07 (d, *J*=5.1 Hz, 1H), 6.53 (s, 1H), 3.94 (s, 2H); IR (cm⁻¹, CHCl₃) 3347, 2924, 1719 (C=O); *m/z* (CI Mass) 275 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 155.9 (C=O), 146.7, 136.7, 134.5, 131.1, 130.8, 129.4, 129.1, 128.2, 127.3, 124.3 (2C), 101.8, 36.6; UV (nm, MeOH) 315.4, 238.2, 206.4; HPLC 96.0%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention time 15.6 min; Elemental analysis

found C, 61.37; H, 3.65; $C_{14}H_{10}O_2S_2$ requires C, 61.29; H, 3.67.

4.4.15. 5-Indol-1-ylmethyl-thieno[2,3-*c*]pyran-7-one (3n).



Pale yellow solid; mp 179-180 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) δ 7.75 (d, J=5.1 Hz, 1H), 7.67 (d, J=6.9 Hz, 1H), 7.32 (d, J=7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.25-7.14 (m, 3H), 6.98 (d, J=5.3 Hz, 1H), 6.62 (s, 1H), 6.05 (d, J=1.3 Hz, 1H), 5.20 (s, 2H); IR (cm⁻¹, KBr) 3364, 2931, 1709 (C=O); *m/z* (CI Mass) 282 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 162.8 (C=O), 155.3, 146.5 (2C), 136.9 (2C), 128.2, 124.5, 122.3, 121.2 (2C), 120.1, 109.2, 102.9, 100.3, 47.1 (CH₂); UV (nm, MeOH) 360.0, 291.0, 281.0, 219.6; HPLC 98.0%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 $(150 \times 4.6 \text{ mm})$, mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention of time 15.7 min; Elemental analysis found C, 68.52; H, 3.90; N, 4.85; C₁₆H₁₁NO₂S requires C, 68.31; H, 3.94; N, 4.98.

4.4.16. 6-(1-Hydroxy-1-methyl-ethyl)-thieno[3,2-*c*]-pyran-4-one (3aa).



Off-white solid; mp 115–116 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) δ 7.56 (d, *J*=5.3 Hz, 1H), 7.30 (d, *J*=5.3 Hz, 1H), 6.9 (s, 1H), 2.24 (br s, –OH), 1.60 (s, 6H); IR (cm⁻¹, KBr) 3231, 2981, 1723 (C=O); *m/z* (CI Mass) 211 (M⁺, 100%); ¹³C (CDCl₃, 50 MHz) δ 163.6 (C=O), 158.2, 147.3, 125.5, 125.2, 96.4, 83.9, 65.5, 31.0 (2C, CH₃); UV (nm, MeOH) 310.6, 283.4, 230.6, 210.5; HPLC 97.0%, column: Zorbax Eclipse XDB C-18 (150×4.6 mm), mobile phase A: 0.05% TFA in water, mobile phase B: 0.05% TFA in methanol, gradient (T/%B): 0/30, 13/70, 15/100, 25/100, flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, UV 254 nm, retention time 8.1 min; Elemental analysis found C, 57.40; H, 4.75; C₁₀H₁₀O₃S requires C, 57.13; H, 4.79.

4.5. Protocol for in vitro cell growth assay

Anticancer activity of selected compounds has been tested in HT-29 (ATCC NO# HTB-38 Colon adenocarcinoma), NCI-H460 (ATCC NO# HTB-177 Large cell lung cancer), and LoVo (ATCC NO# CCL-229 Colon adenocarcinoma) cell lines by using Sulforhodamine B (SRB) assay.¹⁸ Cells were maintained in RPMI 1640 with 10% FBS (Fatal Bovine Serum), Penicillin (50 μ g/mL), and Streptomycin (100 μ g/mL). Cells were seeded in a 96-well cell culture plates at a concentration of 10,000 cells per well and incubated at 37 °C in CO₂ incubator. Twenty-four hours later cells were treated with different concentrations (100, 10, 1, 0.1, and 0.01 µM) of compound dissolved in DMSO and incubated for 48 h. Cells were fixed by adding ice-cold 50% trichloroacetic acid (TCA) and incubating for 1 h at 4 °C. The plates were washed with distilled water, air-dried, and stained with SRB solution (0.4% wt/vol in 1% acetic acid) for 30 min at room temperature. Unbound SRB was removed by washing thoroughly with 1% acetic acid and the plates were air-dried. The bound SRB stain was solubilized with 10 mM Tris buffer, and the optical densities were read on a spectrophotometric plate reader at 515 nm. At the time of drug addition separate reference plate for cell growth at time 0 h (the time at which drugs were added) was also terminated as described above. From the optical densities the percentage growths were calculated using the following formulae: if T is greater than or equal to T_0 , percentage growth= $100 \times [(T - T_0)/(C - T_0)]$ and if T is less than T_0 , percentage growth= $100 \times [(T - T_0)/T_0]$, where T is optical density of test, C is the optical density of control, and T_0 is the optical density at time zero. From the percentage growths a dose response curve was generated and GI₅₀ values were interpolated from the growth curves.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank Dr. A. Venkateswarlu, Dr. R. Rajagopalan, Professor J. Iqbal and Dr. Vilas Dahanukar for their encouragement and the analytical group for spectral data. S. Raju thanks DRL for allowing him to pursue this work as a part of his Ph.D. dissertation. M.P. thanks DRL for allowing him to attend the Symposium on Chemistry, Biology and Medicine organized on the occasion of the 60th Birthday of Professor K. C. Nicolaou, from May 28 till June 1, 2006, in Paphos, Cyprus.

References and notes

- (a) Posner, G. H.; Nelson, T. D.; Kinter, C. M.; Johnson, N. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 4083; The chemistry of α-pyrones has been investigated intensively, see for example: (b) Kvita, V.; Fischer, W. Chimia 1992, 46, 457; (c) Kvita, V.; Fischer, W. Chimia 1993, 47, 3; (d) Katritzky, A. R.; Wang, Z.; Wang, M.; Hall, C. D.; Suzuki, K. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 4854; For potent and non peptidic HIV protease inhibitory effects of α-pyrones, see: (e) Vara Prasad, J. V. N.; Para, K. S.; Lunney, E. A.; Ortwine, D. F.; Dunbar, J. B., Jr.; Ferguson, D.; Tummino, P. J.; Hupe, D.; Tait, B. D.; Domagala, J. M.; Humblet, C.; Bhat, T. N.; Liu, B.; Guerin, D. M. A.; Baldwin, E. T.; Erickson, J. W.; Sawyer, T. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 6989.
- (a) Barry, R. D. Chem. Rev. 1964, 64, 229; (b) Nozawa, K.; Yamada, M.; Tsuda, Y.; Kawai, K.; Nakajima, S. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1981, 29, 2491; (c) Hussain, M. T.; Rama, N. H.; Malik, A. Indian J. Chem., Sect. B 2001, 40, 372; (d) Sato, H.; Konoma, K.; Sakamura, S. Agric. Biol. Chem. 1981, 45, 1675; (e) See for example: Drug Data Rep. 1999, 21, 176; (f) Oikawa, T.; Sasaki, M.; Inose, M.; Shimamura, M.; Kuboki, H.; Hirano, S.-I.; Kumagai, H.; Ishizuka, M.; Takeuchi, T. Anticancer Res. 1997, 17, 1881; (g) Fairlamb, I. J. S.; Marrison, L. R.; Dickinson, J. M.; Lu, F.-J.; Schmidt, J. P. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2004, 4285; (h) Larock, R. C.; Yum, E. K.; Doty, M. J.; Sham, K. K. C. J. Org. Chem. 1995,
60, 3270; (i) Larock, R. C.; Doty, M. J.; Han, X. J. Org. Chem. **1999**, 64, 8770; (j) Rossi, R.; Bellina, F.; Biagetti, M.; Catanese, A.; Mannina, L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 5281.

- 3. (a) Campaigne, E. Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry; Katritzky, A. R., Ed.; Pergamon: New York, NY, 1984; Vol. 4. pp 911–913; (b) Burger, A. Prog. Drug Res. 1991, 37, 287; (c) Colotta, V.; Catarzi, D.; Varano, F.; Melani, F.; Filacchioni, G.; Cecchi, L.; Trincavelli, L.; Martini, C.; Lucacchini, A. Il Farmaco 1998, 53, 189; (d) Catarzi, D.; Cecchi, L.; Colotta, V.; Filacchioni, G.; Martini, C.; Tacchi, P.; Lucacchini, A. J. Med. Chem. 1995, 38, 1330; (e) For example, thiophene isosteres of the potassium channel opener cromakalim were found to be 10-fold more potent than cromakalim when tested for oral antihypertensive activity in spontaneously hypertensive rats, see: Sanfilippo, P. J.; McNally, J. J.; Press, J. B.; Fitzpatrick, L. J.; Urbanski, M. J.; Katz, L. B.; Giardino, E.; Falotico, R.; Salata, J.; Moore, J. B., Jr.; Miller, W. J. Med. Chem. 1992, 35, 4425; (f) For synthesis and analgesic activity of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles, see: Ueda, T.; Mase, H.; Oda, N.; Ito, I. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1981, 12, 3522; (g) For example, thiophenes can undergo Diels-Alder reactions through their 1,1-dioxide derivatives, see: Press, J. B.; Russell, R. K. Progress in Heterocyclic Chemistry; Suschitzky, H., Scriven, E. F. V., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1992; Vol. 4, pp 62-80; (h) Ram, V. J.; Goel, A.; Shukla, P. K.; Kapil, A. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1997, 7, 3101.
- For synthesis of related derivatives, see: (a) Mladenovic, S. A.; Castro, C. E. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1968, 5, 227; (b) Mentzer, B. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1945, 12, 292; (c) Zhang, Y.; Herndon, J. W. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 4177; For other examples of the thienopyrone ring system, see: (d) Jackson, P. M.; Moody, C. J.; Shah, P. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1990, 2909; (e) Jackson, P. M.; Moody, C. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1990, 681.
- (a) Subramanian, V.; Batchu, V. R.; Barange, D.; Pal, M. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 4778; (b) A preliminary report on part of this work has appeared, see: Raju, S.; Batchu, V. R.; Swamy, N. K.; Dev, R. V.; Babu, J. M.; Kumar, P. R.; Mukkanti, K.; Pal, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 83.
- For leading references, see: (a) Sashida, H.; Kawamukai. Synthesis 1999, 1145; (b) Yao, T.; Larock, R. C. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 5936; (c) Biagetti, M.; Bellina, F.; Carpita, A.; Stabile, P.; Rossi, R. Tetrahedron 2002, 58, 5023; (d) Rossi, R.; Carpita, A.; Bellina, F.; Stabile, P.; Mannina, L. Tetrahedron 2003, 59, 2067; (e) Peng, A.-Y.; Ding, Y.-X. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 1119.
- (a) Liao, H.-Y.; Cheng, C.-H. J. Org. Chem. **1995**, 60, 3711; (b) Kundu, N. G.; Pal, M.; Nandi, B. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 **1998**, 561; (c) Kundu, N. G.; Pal, M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. **1993**, 86.
- See for example: (a) Wu, J.; Liao, Y.; Yang, Z. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 3642; (b) Fu, X.; Zhang, S.; Yin, J.; Schumacher, D. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 6673; (c) Kabalka, G. W.; Dong, G.; Venkataiah, B. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 5139; (d) Catellani, M.; Chiusoli, G. P.; Fagnola, M. C.; Solari, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 5923. See also Ref. 6b; For the synthesis of 4-alkynyl-2-pyrones, see: (e) Marrison, L. R.; Dickinson, J. M.; Ahmed, R.; Fairlamb, I. J. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 8853; (f) Fairlamb, I. J. S.; O'Brien, C. T.; Lin, Z.; Lam, K. C. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2006, 4, 1213; (g)

Fairlamb, I. J. S.; Lee, A. F.; Loe-Mie, F.; Niemelä, E. H.;
O'Brien, C. T.; Whitwood, A. C. *Tetrahedron* 2005, 61,
9827; (h) Collings, J. C.; Parsons, A. C.; Porrès, L.; Beeby,
A.; Batsanov, A. S.; Howard, J. A. K.; Lydon, D. P.; Low,
P. J.; Fairlamb, I. J. S.; Marder, T. B. *Chem. Commun.* 2005,
2666; (i) Niemelä, E. H.; Lee, A. F.; Fairlamb, I. J. S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 3593; (j) Fairlamb, I. J. S.; Lu,
F.-J.; Schmidt, J.-P. *Synthesis* 2003, 2564; (k) Marrison,
L. R.; Dickinson, J. M.; Fairlamb, I. J. S. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2002, 12, 3509.

- (a) Tietze, L. F. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 115; (b) Lira, R.; Wolfe, J. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 13906; (c) Loones, K. T. J.; Maes, B. U. W.; Dommisse, R. A.; Lemiere, G. L. F. Chem. Commun. 2004, 2466; (d) Zhu, G.; Zhang, Z. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 4041; (e) Tietze, L. F.; Sommer, K. M.; Zinngrebe, J.; Stecker, F. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 44, 257; (f) Wasilke, J.-C.; Obrey, S. J.; Baker, R. T.; Bazan, G. C. Chem. Rev. 2005, 105, 1001; (g) Pal, M.; Dakarapu, R.; Parasuraman, K.; Subramanian, V.; Yeleswarapu, K. R. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 7179.
- For our earlier studies on Sonogashira-type reactions, see: (a) Pal, M.; Parasuraman, K.; Gupta, S.; Yeleswarapu, K. R. Synlett 2002, 1976; (b) Pal, M.; Subramanian, V.; Parasuraman, K.; Yeleswarapu, K. R. Tetrahedron 2003, 59, 9563; (c) Pal, M.; Subramanian, V.; Yeleswarapu, K. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 8221; (d) Pal, M.; Subramanian, V.; Batchu, V. R.; Dager, I. Synlett 2004, 1965; (e) Batchu, V. R.; Subramanian, V.; Parasuraman, K.; Swamy, N. K.; Kumar, S.; Pal, M. Tetrahedron 2005, 41, 9869.
- 11. For the synthesis of 3-iodo-thiophene-2-carboxylic acid (1), see: Duffault, J.-M.; Tellier, F. Synth. Commun. 1998, 28, 2467.
- Crystallographic data (excluding structure factors) for **3a** have been deposited with the Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre as supplementary publication numbers CCDC 607010.
- 13. Glover, B.; Harvey, K. A.; Liu, B.; Sharp, M. J. *Org. Lett.* **2003**, *5*, 301.
- (a) Coupling of 3-iodothiophenes with terminal alkynes under Sonogashira conditions are common in the literature, see for example: Ye, X.-S.; Wong, H. N. C. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 1940; (b) Padwa, A.; Chiacchio, U.; Fairfax, D. J.; Kassir, J. J.; Litrico, A.; Semones, M. A.; Xu, S. L. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 6429.
- Conversion of Pd(0) to Pd(II) species under Sonogashira condition has been proposed by Lu et al., see: Lu, X.; Huang, X.; Ma, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1993**, *34*, 5963; This Pd(II) species was thought to be responsible for the cyclization of ynenoic acid via the σ-vinyl-palladium intermediate, see also: Yanagihara, N.; Lambert, C.; Iritani, K.; Utimoto, K.; Nozaki, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1986**, *108*, 2753.
- Trost, B. M.; Chan, C.; Ruhter, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 3486.
- 17. 3-Hex-1-ynyl thiophene-2-carboxylic acid was prepared by Sonogashira coupling^{14b} of 3-iodo thiophene-2-carboxylic acid methyl ester with 1-hexyne in the presence of Et_3N in DMF at 60 °C for 6 h followed by hydrolysis of the resulting ester in aqueous methanol.
- Monks, A.; Scudiero, D.; Skehan, P.; Shoemaker, R.; Paull, K.; Vistica, D.; Hose, C.; Langley, J.; Cronise, P.; Vaigro-Wolff, A.; Gray-Goodrich, M.; Campbell, H.; Mayo, J.; Boyd, M. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* **1991**, *83*, 757.
- 19. Duffault, J.-M.; Tellier, F. Synth. Commun. 1998, 28, 2467.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9571-9576

Direct asymmetric aldol reaction catalyzed by nanocrystalline magnesium oxide

B. M. Choudary,^{a,*} Lakkoju Chakrapani,^b Thekkathu Ramani,^b K. Vijay Kumar^b and M. Lakshmi Kantam^{b,*}

^aOgene Systems (I) Pvt. Ltd, 11-6-56, GSR Estates, Moosapet, Hyderabad, India ^bIndian Institute of Chemical Technology, Hyderabad 500 007, India

> Received 15 April 2006; revised 7 July 2006; accepted 27 July 2006 Available online 17 August 2006

Abstract—Nanomaterials with their three-dimensional structure and defined size and shape are considered to be suitable candidates for proper alignment with prochiral substrates for unidirectional introduction of reacting species to induce an asymmetric centre. The reusable and suitably aligned nanocrystalline magnesium oxide catalyzed direct asymmetric aldol reaction afforded the chiral β -hydroxy carbonyl compounds in good yields and moderate ee's.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The aldol reaction is considered to be one of the most important carbon–carbon bond forming reactions in both the biochemical and chemical domains. The aldol reaction is ubiquitous in synthetic organic chemistry to generate the elegant intermediates of anti-hypertensive drugs and calcium antagonists.¹ Chiral β -hydroxy carbonyl compounds can be readily converted to 1,3-*syn*- and *anti*-diols and amino alcohols, which are the building blocks in many natural products such as antibiotics, pheromones and in many biologically active compounds.^{1b} The aldol products have been successfully converted to key synthetic intermediates of epithilone A and bryostatin 7.^{1c}

The direct aldol reaction, starting from an aldehyde and an unmodified ketone, is highly atom efficient² compared with the process in which the preconversion of a ketone moiety to a more reactive species such as an enol silyl ether, enol methyl ether or ketone silyl acetal as the aldol donor (Mukaiyama aldol reaction) takes place.³

Shibasaki et al. achieved the first catalytic asymmetric aldol reaction between aldehydes and unmodified ketones by using heterobimetallic multifunctional catalysts.^{1c,4} Later, the direct asymmetric aldol reactions with good to excellent

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter @ 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.091

enantioselectivities (ee's) were accomplished by using dinuclear transition metal catalysts by Trost et al.,⁵ Barbas III et al.⁶ reported the direct asymmetric aldol reactions catalyzed by aldolase enzymes and antibodies. List, Barbas and their co-workers have explored the asymmetric aldol reactions with excellent enantioselectivity by using L-proline⁷ and its structural analogues⁸ for α -branched aliphatic aldehydes. Only fair ee's were observed for the reaction of aromatic aldehydes with acetone either by L-proline^{6,9} or its derivatives and its structural analogues¹⁰ with the exception of N-substituted L-prolinamide derivatives.¹¹ L-Prolinamide derivatives from $\hat{\beta}$ -amino alcohols¹¹ gave high ee's for p-substituted benzaldehydes. In the area of heterogenized catalysts, solid supported proline-terminated peptides and benzylpencillin derivatives in conjunction with proline grafted into mesoporous MCM-41 provide moderate ee's for the direct asymmetric aldol reaction.¹² L-Proline in ionic liquids and silica supported ionic liquids also provided moderate enantioselectivity.¹³

A breakthrough in the asymmetric aldol reaction is achieved with the introduction of in situ prepared heterobimetallic catalysts, composed of both Lewis acidic sites and Lewis/ Bronsted basic sites.^{2,14} Evans et al. and other groups have explored the asymmetric direct enolate–electrophile reactions catalyzed by Mg and its derived complexes.¹⁵ Transition metal chiral complexes, single-site catalysts with a defined shape and stereochemistry, induce, in general, higher enantioselectivity in asymmetric synthesis since they permit unidirectional introduction of the reacting species onto a prochiral substrate in the three-dimensional space to generate the asymmetric centre. Conversely, heterogeneous catalysts

Keywords: Direct asymmetric aldol reaction; NAP-MgO; Enantiomeric excess; β -Hydroxy carbonyl compounds.

^{*} Corresponding authors. Tel./fax: +91 40 2377 5566 (B.M.C.); tel.: +91 40 2719 3510; fax: +91 40 2716 0921 (M.L.K.); e-mail addresses: bmchoudary@gmail.com; mlakshmi@iict.res.in

are not as effective as transition metal chiral complexes due to their multisite active sites resulting from assorted crystal structures with different shapes and sizes and also their steric restrictions. Hence, creation of desired stereochemistry with defined shape and size in heterogeneous catalysts to build the asymmetric centre is a challenging problem.

Nanocrystalline metal oxides¹⁶ with their three-dimensional structure and defined size and shape are considered to be suitable candidates for proper alignment with prochiral substrates for unidirectional introduction of reacting species to induce an asymmetric centre. Recently, our group evolved the single-site nanocrystalline magnesium oxide (MgO) for the synthesis of chiral epoxy ketones, chiral nitro alcohols and Michael adducts.¹⁷

We herein report the direct asymmetric aldol reaction of aldehydes and ketones catalyzed by nanocrystalline magnesium oxide (MgO) to afford the optically active β -hydroxy carbonyl compounds in good yields and moderate ee's.

2. Results and discussions

Various magnesium oxide crystals¹⁶ [commercial MgO, CM-MgO (SSA: $30 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$), conventionally prepared MgO, NA-MgO (SSA: $250 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$) and aerogel-prepared MgO, NAP-MgO (SSA: $590 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$)] were initially screened in the achiral aldol reaction between *p*-nitrobenzaldehyde and acetone at room temperature. Based on the results of the achiral aldol reaction, we carried out direct asymmetric aldol reaction.

In the process of optimization of the reaction conditions, we explored different samples of MgO and NAP-MgO was found to be superior to others (Table 1). We have screened different chiral auxiliaries for the asymmetric aldol reaction between *p*-nitrobenzaldehyde and acetone catalyzed by NAP-MgO as specified in Table 2 and optimum ee was obtained with (1S,2S)-(+)-1,2-diaminocyclohexane.

(1S,2S)-(+)-1,2-Diaminocyclohexane (20 mol %) was used as the chiral auxiliary with respect to the aldehyde.

Later, we explored the activity of NAP-MgO with different solvents at different temperatures (Table 3). As the temperature decreases, enantioselectivity increases with decrease in rate of reaction. The solvent THF and a temperature -20 °C showed optimum enantioselectivity.

To evaluate the importance of our catalytic system, we have carried out the aldol reaction with (1S,2S)-(+)-1,2-diaminocyclohexane (20 mol %), 1 mmol of aldehyde and 1 mL of acetone in the absence of NAP-MgO at room temperature. No aldol adduct was formed.

Table 1. Achiral addol reaction between p-nitrobenzaldehyde and acetone at room temperature catalyzed by different crystallites of MgO^a

Entry	Catalyst	Solvent	Time (h)	Conversion (%)
1	NAP-MgO	THF	24	75
2	CP-MgO	THF	36	10
3	CM-MgO	THF	36	0

^a Conditions: catalyst (100 mg), aldehyde (1 mmol), acetone (13.7 mmol).

 Table 2. Effect of ligand on asymmetric aldol reaction between *p*-nitrobenzaldehyde and acetone catalyzed by NAP-MgO at room temperature^a

Entry	Ligand	Time (h)	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Yield} \\ \left(\%\right)^{\text{b}} \end{array}$	ee (%) ^c
1	(1R,2R)-(+)-1,2-Diphenylethylenediamine	24	75	15
2	(1R,2R)- $(-)$ -1,2-Diaminocyclohexane	24	75	12
3	(1S,2S)-(+)-1,2-Diphenylethylenediamine	24	75	16
4	(1 <i>S</i> ,2 <i>S</i>)-(+)-1,2-Diaminocyclohexane	24	75	25
5	(S)- $(-)$ -1,1'-Binaphthyl-2,2'-diamine	24	75	0
6	(R)- $(-)$ - 1 , $1'$ -Binaphthyl- 2 , $2'$ -diamine	24	75	0
7	(+)-Diethyl-L-tartrate	24	75	0
8	(S)- $(-)$ -Binol	24	60	0
9	(<i>R</i>)-(-)-Binol	24	60	0
10	(–)-Diethyl-L-tartrate	24	75	0

^a Conditions: aldehyde (1.0 mmol), acetone (13.7 mmol), NAP-MgO (0.100 g), dry THF (2 mL). In all cases 20 mol % of ligand was used.

^b Isolated yields.

^c The ee% was determined by HPLC analysis using a chiral column (chiralpak AS-H, AD-RH).

Table 3. Asymmetric aldol reaction between *p*-nitrobenzaldehyde and acetone with different solvents by using (1S,2S)-(+)-1,2-diaminocyclohexane as chiral ligand at room temperature^a

Entry	Solvent	Time (h)	Yield (%) ^b	ee (%) ^c
1	THF	24	75	17
2	DMF	24	62	0
3	DMSO	24	60	0
4	CHCl ₃	24	5	0
5	DCM	24	5	0

^a Conditions: aldehyde (1.0 mmol), acetone (13.7 mmol), (15,25)-(+)-1,2diaminocyclohexane (20 mol %), NAP-MgO (0.100 g), dry THF (2 mL).

Isolated yields.

^c The ee% was determined by HPLC analysis using a chiral column (chiralpak AS-H, AD-RH).

NAP-MgO was tested in the direct asymmetric aldol reaction of various substituted aromatic aldehydes (Table 4). When benzaldehydes were substituted at the 4-position with electron-withdrawing (EW) groups or electron-donating (ED) groups, higher ee's were observed when compared with the corresponding 2-substituted benzaldehydes with either EW or ED groups, which may be ascribed to the steric hindrance for the unidirectional entry of reacting species.

To understand the relation between the structure and reactivity in the direct asymmetric aldol reaction, it is better to know the structure and nature of the reactive species of the catalyst. NAP-MgO has a three-dimensional structure, which, having high surface concentrations of edge/corner and various exposed crystal planes (such as 002, 001 and 111), leads to inherently high surface reactivity per unit area. Thus, NAP-MgO indeed displayed the highest activity compared to that of NA-MgO and CM-MgO. Besides this, the NAP-MgO has a Lewis acid site Mg²⁺, Lewis basic sites O^{2-} and O^{-} , lattice bound and isolated Bronsted hydroxyls and anionic and cationic vacancies.¹⁶

The aldol reaction was known to be driven by base catalysts and accordingly, the surface -OH and O^{2-} of these magnesium oxide crystals are expected to trigger this reaction.

The NAP-MgO was reused after heating the catalyst at 250 °C for 1 h under nitrogen atmosphere. Thus the catalyst was reused for four times, which showed consistent yields and ee's.



Entry	Aldehyde	Time (h)	Yield (%) ^b	ee (%) ^c
1	F CHO	24	70	60
2	CI	24	65	48
3	Br	24	67	40
4	CN	24	60	40
5	O ₂ N CHO	24	75, 72, ^d 0 ^e	53, 53 ^e
6		24	70	15
7	CHO NO ₂	24	70	27
8	СІСНО	24	55	33
9	СНО	36	60	23
10	H ₃ C CHO	36	50	17
11	CHO	24	75	43

^a All reactions were performed on 1 mmol substrate in 1 mL (13.7 mmol) acetone using 100 mg of NAP-MgO.

^b Yield of the product after isolation by column chromatography.

^c The ee% was determined by HPLC analysis using a chiral column (chiralpak AS-H, AD-RH).

^d Fifth cycle.

^e Without catalyst.

3. Conclusion

4. Experimental

In conclusion, the NAP-MgO is an active, reusable catalyst for the production of chiral β -hydroxy carbonyl compounds through direct asymmetric aldol reaction. Thus nanocrystal-line MgO with its definite shape, size and accessible –OH groups and higher density of Mg²⁺ at the edges/corner shows higher activity in the direct asymmetric aldol reaction.

4.1. General

All chemicals were purchased from Aldrich and were used as received. All solvents were of analytical grade from Merck India Pvt. Ltd and used as such. All reactions were conducted under nitrogen atmosphere at -20 °C in THF. The ¹H NMR

spectra of samples were recorded on a Varian-Unity 400 MHz and Bruker-Avance-300 MHz spectrometer using TMS as an internal standard in CDCl₃. High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) was performed using AGILENT-1100 series liquid chromatograph equipped with a single pump and UV detector (fixed at 216 nm) using chiralcel AS-H column with isopropanol/hexane as eluting agent. Optical rotations were obtained on an automated JASCO P-1020 polarimeter, and the values were reported in absolute rotations: $[\alpha]_{D}^{\text{temperature}}$ [concentration c g/100 mL of solvent]. The absolute stereochemistry was assigned as (R) by comparison of the optical rotation with the literature values. For energy calibration, we have used the carbon 1s photoelectron line. The carbon 1s binding energy was taken to be 285.0 eV. Spectra were deconvoluted using the Sun Solaris based vision 2 curve resolver. The location and the full width at half maximum (FWHM) for a species were first determined by using the spectrum of a pure sample.

4.2. General procedure for the aldol reaction

A mixture of acetone (1 mL, 13.7 mmol), (15,25)-(+)-1,2diaminocyclohexane (20 mol %, 22.8 mg) and catalyst (100 mg) was introduced into a 25 mL round bottomed flask containing dry THF (2 mL) at -20 °C and stirred for 30 min under nitrogen atmosphere. To the reaction mixture, aldehyde (1 mmol) was added at that temperature and stirring was continued. After completion of the reaction (monitored by TLC), the reaction mixture was centrifuged to separate the catalyst and washed several times with THF. The combined organic layers were dried over Na₂SO₄ and the solvent was removed under reduced pressure. After purification by column chromatography on silica gel using 10% ethyl acetate in petroleum ether, the aldol adduct was obtained.

The chiral auxiliary (1S,2S)-(+)-1,2-diaminocyclohexane can be recovered quantitatively with no observable change in enantiomeric purity from the same chromatographic column by increasing the proportion of ethyl acetate in the eluent.

4.2.1. (4*R*)-Hydroxy-4-(4'-fluorophenyl)-butan-2-one (2a). Yield, 70% (127 mg); colourless oil, ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 7.38 (d, *J*=8.0 Hz, 2H, Ar-H), 7.09 (d, *J*=8.0 Hz, 2H, Ar-H), 5.16 (dd, *J*=4.6, 6.6 Hz, 1H, -CHOH), 3.35 (br s, 1H, -OH), 2.87 (m, 2H, -CH₂CO), 2.23 (s, 3H, -COCH₃); IR (neat): 3445, 2925, 1713, 1509, 1377; Mass (EI): *m/z* 182 (M⁺), 43; HRMS (ESI-MS) (-ve): exact mass calcd for (M-H-H₂O): 163.0559. Found: 163.0559; enantiomeric excess: 60%, which was determined by HPLC analysis using chiralcel AS-H column (isopropyl alcohol/hexane 20:80), UV 257 nm, flow rate 1.0 mL/min; major isomer, *t*_R 8.9 min and minor isomer, *t*_R 11.2 min.

4.2.2. (4*R*)-Hydroxy-4-(4'-chlorophenyl)-butan-2-one (2b). Yield, 65% (128 mg); colourless oil, ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 7.36 (d, *J*=8.2 Hz, 2H, Ar-H), 7.20 (d, *J*= 8.2 Hz, 2H, Ar-H), 5.10 (dd, *J*=5.0, 7.0 Hz, 1H, –CHOH), 3.55 (br s, 1H, –OH), 2.67 (m, 2H, –CH₂CO), 2.10 (s, 3H, –COCH₃); IR (neat): 3433, 2924, 1709, 1463, 1370, 1079, 567 cm⁻¹; Mass (EI): *m/z* 179 (M⁺), 43; HRMS (ESI-MS) (–ve): exact mass calcd for (M–H–H₂O): 179.0264. Found: 179.0265; enantiomeric excess: 48%, which was determined by HPLC analysis using chiralcel AS-H column (isopropyl alcohol/hexane 10:90), UV 254 nm, flow rate 1.0 mL/min; major isomer, $t_{\rm R}$ 14.8 min and minor isomer, $t_{\rm R}$ 20.1 min.

4.2.3. (4*R*)-Hydroxy-4-(4'-bromophenyl)-butan-2-one (2c). Yield, 67% (156 mg); colourless oil, ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 7.47 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 2H, Ar-H), 7.22 (d, *J*= 8.4 Hz, 2H, Ar-H), 5.08 (dd, *J*=5.6, 7.8 Hz, 1H, -CHOH), 3.38 (br s, 1H, -OH), 2.80–2.70 (m, 2H, -CH₂CO), 2.20 (s, 3H, -COCH₃); IR (neat): 3427, 2913, 1703, 1438, 1369, 1071, 546 cm⁻¹; Mass (EI): *m/z* 243 (M⁺), 43; HRMS (ESI-MS) (-ve): exact mass calcd for (M–H–H₂O): 222.9759. Found: 222.9768; enantiomeric excess: 40%, which was determined by HPLC analysis using chiralcel AS-H column (isopropyl alcohol/hexane 15:85), UV 262 nm, flow rate 1.0 mL/min; major isomer, *t*_R 14.5 min and minor isomer, *t*_R 19.8 min.

4.2.4. (4*R*)-Hydroxy-4-(4'-cyanophenyl)-butan-2-one (2d). Yield, 60% (113 mg); pale yellow viscous oil, ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 7.64 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz, 2H, Ar-H), 7.47 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz, 2H, Ar-H), 5.20 (m, 1H, -CHOH), 3.32 (br s, 1H, -OH), 2.82 (m, 2H, -CH₂CO), 2.21 (s, 3H, -COCH₃); IR (neat): 3418, 2934, 1713, 1489, 1369, 1077, 538 cm⁻¹; Mass (EI): *m/z* 189 (M⁺), 43; HRMS (ESI-MS) (–ve): exact mass calcd for (M–H–H₂O): 170.0606. Found: 170.0600; enantiomeric excess: 30%, which was determined by HPLC analysis using chiralcel AS-H column (isopropyl alcohol/hexane 30:70), UV 254 nm, flow rate 1.0 mL/min; major isomer, *t*_R 10.6 min and minor isomer, *t*_R 19.8 min.

4.2.5. (4*R*)-Hydroxy-4-(4'-nitrophenyl)-butan-2-one (2e). Yield, 75% (156 mg); pale brown viscous oil, ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 8.20 (d, *J*=7.0 Hz, 2H, Ar-H), 7.52 (d, *J*= 7.0 Hz, 2H, Ar-H), 5.30–5.20 (m, 1H, –CHOH), 3.56 (br s, 1H, OH), 2.85–2.80 (m, 2H, –CH₂CO), 2.21 (s, 3H, –COCH₃); Mass (EI): *m*/*z* 209 (M⁺), 43; HRMS (ESI):⁶ exact mass calcd for C₁₀H₁₁NO₄: 209.06809. Found: 232.1411 (M+Na)⁺; IR (neat): 3419, 2930, 1716, 1514, 1480, 1370 cm⁻¹; enantiomeric excess: 53%, which was determined by HPLC analysis using chiralcel AS-H column (isopropyl alcohol/hexane 15:85), UV 254 nm, flow rate 1.0 mL/min; major isomer, *t*_R 14.2 min and minor isomer, *t*_R 20.3 min.

4.2.6. (4*R*)-Hydroxy-4-(2'-nitrophenyl)-butan-2-one (2f). Yield, 70% (146 mg); pale brown viscous oil, ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 7.96 (dd, *J*=1.2, 8.1 Hz, 1H, Ar-H), 7.91 (dd, *J*=1.2, 8.1 Hz, 1H, Ar-H), 7.71 (dt, *J*=1.2, 8.1 Hz, 1H, Ar-H), 7.44 (dt, *J*=1.2, 8.1 Hz, 1H, Ar-H), 5.70 (dd, *J*=9.3 Hz, 1H, -CHOH), 3.76–3.70 (br s, 1H, OH), 2.70–2.85 (m, 2H, -CH₂CO), 2.24 (s, 3H, -COCH₃); Mass (EI): *m/z* 209 (M⁺), 43; IR (neat): 3416, 2934, 1719, 1512, 1376 cm⁻¹; enantiomeric excess: 15%, which was determined by HPLC analysis using chiralcel AS-H column (isopropyl alcohol/hexane 30:70), UV 254 nm, flow rate 1.0 mL/min; major isomer, *t*_R 10.4 min and minor isomer, *t*_R 13.1 min.

4.2.7. (4*R*)-Hydroxy-4-(3'-nitrophenyl)-butan-2-one (2g). Yield, 70% (146 mg); yellow viscous oil, ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 8.24 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 8.13 (d, *J*=8.6 Hz, 1H, Ar-H), 7.71 (d, *J*=7.5 Hz, 1H, Ar-H), 7.53 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 1H, Ar-H), 5.27–5.15 (m, 1H, -CHOH), 3.50 (br s, 1H, OH), 2.82 (m, 2H, -CH₂CO), 2.23 (s, 3H, -COCH₃); IR (neat): 3414, 2931, 1715, 1519, 1370 cm⁻¹; Mass (EI): m/z 209 (M⁺), 43; enantiomeric excess: 27%, which was determined by HPLC analysis using chiralcel AS-H column (isopropyl alcohol/hexane 20:80), UV 254 nm, flow rate 1.0 mL/min; major isomer, $t_{\rm R}$ 11.1 min and minor isomer, $t_{\rm R}$ 15.0 min.

4.2.8. (4*R*)-Hydroxy-4-(2'-chlorophenyl)-butan-2-one (2h). Colourless oil, ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 7.60 (d, J=8.6 Hz, 1H, Ar-H), 7.34–7.14 (m, 3H, Ar-H), 5.46 (m, J=10.4 Hz, 1H, –CHOH), 3.58 (br s, 1H, –OH), 2.90–3.05 (m, 2H, –CH₂CO), 2.22 (s, 3H, –COCH₃); IR (neat): 3410, 2930, 1712, 1440, 840 cm⁻¹; Mass (EI): m/z 179 (M⁺), 43; enantiomeric excess: 33%, which was determined by HPLC analysis using chiralcel AS-H column (isopropyl alcohol/hexane 8:92), UV 262 nm, flow rate 1.0 mL/min; major isomer, t_R 18.2 min and minor isomer, t_R 20.1 min.

4.2.9. (4*R*)-Hydroxy-4-phenyl-butan-2-one (2i). Yield, 60% (98 mg); colourless oil, ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 7.33–7.17 (m, 5H, Ar-H), 5.15–5.04 (m, 1H, –CHOH), 3.17 (br s, 1H, –OH), 2.80–2.75 (m, 2H, –CH₂CO), 2.17 (s, 3H, –COCH₃); IR (neat): 3413, 2932, 1718, 1450, 890 cm⁻¹; Mass (EI): *m*/*z* 164 (M⁺), 43; HRMS (EI):^{13a} exact mass calcd for C₁₀H₁₂O₂: 164.0833. Found: 164.0837 (M⁺); enantiomeric excess: 23%, which was determined by HPLC analysis using chiralcel AS-H column (isopropyl alcohol/hexane 20:80), UV 254 nm, flow rate 1.0 mL/min; major isomer, *t*_R 16.0 min and minor isomer, *t*_R 19.2 min.

4.2.10. (4*R*)-Hydroxy-4-(4'-methylphenyl)-butan-2-one (2j). Yield, 50% (89 mg); colourless oil, ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 7.26 (d, *J*=7.8 Hz, 2H, Ar-H), 7.17 (d, *J*=7.8 Hz, 2H, Ar-H), 5.25 (m, 1H, -CHOH), 3.32 (br s, 1H, -OH), 2.77–2.88 (m, 2H, -CH₂CO), 2.35 (s, 3H, -CH₃), 2.20 (s, 3H, -CCH₃); IR (neat): 3423, 2925, 1710, 1464, 808 cm⁻¹; Mass (EI): *m/z* 178 (M⁺), 43; HRMS (EI): exact mass calcd for C₁₁H₁₄O₂: 178.09938. Found: 160.08882 (M-H-H₂O); enantiomeric excess: 17%, which was determined by HPLC analysis using chiralcel AS-H column (isopropyl alcohol/hexane 15:85), UV 257 nm, flow rate 1.0 mL/min; major isomer, *t*_R 9.4 min and minor isomer, *t*_R 11.2 min.

4.2.11. 4-Hydroxy-4-(2'-pyridyl)-butan-2-one (2k). Yield, 75% (124 mg); white solid, ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): 8.50–8.53 (m, 1H, PyH), 7.71 (dt, 1H, *J*=7.9, 1.7 Hz, PyH), 7.45 (d, 1H, *J*=7.9, 1.7 Hz, PyH), 7.16–7.23 (m, 1H, PyH), 5.19 (dd, 1H, *J*=8.2, 3.9 Hz, –CHOH), 2.90–3.06 (m, 2H, –CH₂CO), 2.21 (s, 3H, –COCH₃); IR (neat): 3133, 1718, 1595 cm⁻¹; Mass (EI): *m/z* 166 (M+1)⁺, 43; HRMS (ESI-MS) (+ve): exact mass calcd for (M+H): 166.0868. Found: 166.0856; enantiomeric excess: 43%, which was determined by HPLC analysis using chiralcel OJ-H column (isopropyl alcohol/hexane 1:3), UV 206 nm, flow rate 1.0 mL/min; major isomer, $t_{\rm R}$ 19.5 min and minor isomer, $t_{\rm R}$ 21.5 min.

Acknowledgements

We wish to thank the CSIR for financial support under the Task Force Project CMM-0005. L.C. and T.R. thank the Council of Scientific and Industrial Research, India, for the award of fellowship. Nanocrystalline MgO catalysts were obtained from Nano Scale Materials Inc., Manhattan, Kansas, USA.

References and notes

- (a) Marciniak, G.; Delgado, A.; Velly, J.; Leclerc, G.; Decker, N.; Schwartz, J. J. Med. Chem. 1989, 32, 1402; (b) Enders, D.; Muller, S.; Demir, A. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 6437; (c) Yoshikawa, N.; Yamada, Y. M. A.; Das, J.; Sasai, H.; Shibasaki, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 4168.
- (a) Trost, B. M. Science 1991, 254, 1471; (b) Trost, B. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 259.
- (a) Palomo, C.; Oiarbide, M.; Garcia, J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2004, 33, 65; (b) Machajewski, T. D.; Wong, C.-H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 1352.
- Yoshikawa, N.; Yamada, Y. M. A.; Das, J.; Sasai, H.; Shibasaki, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1997, 36, 1871.
- (a) Trost, B. M.; Ito, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 12003; (b) Trost, B. M.; Ito, H.; Silcoff, E. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 3367; (c) Evans, D. A.; Downey, C. W.; Hubbs, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 8706.
- Sakthivel, K.; Notz, W.; Bui, T.; Barbas, C. F., III. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 5260 and the references therein.
- (a) Casas, J.; Engqvist, M.; Ibrahem, I.; Kaynak, B.; Cordova, A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 1343; (b) Northrup, A. B.; Mangion, I. K.; Hettche, F.; MacMillan, D. W. C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 2152; (c) Pidathala, C.; Hoang, L.; Vognola, N.; List, B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 2785; (d) List, B. Tetrahedron 2002, 58, 5573; (e) List, B. Acc. Chem. Res. 2004, 37, 548; (f) Notz, W.; Tanaka, F.; Barbas, C. F., III. Acc. Chem. Res. 2004, 37, 580.
- (a) Hartikka, A.; Arvidsson, P. I. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2004, *15*, 1831; (b) Torii, H.; Nakadai, M.; Ishihara, K.; Saito, S.; Yamamoto, H. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* 2004, *43*, 1983.
- List, B.; Lerner, R. A.; Barbas, C. F., III. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 2395.
- (a) Saito, S.; Yamamoto, H. Acc. Chem. Res. 2004, 37, 570; (b) Kofoed, J.; Nielsen, J.; Reymond, J.-L. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2003, 13, 2445.
- (a) Tang, Z.; Jiang, F.; Cui, X.; Gong, L.-Z.; Mi, A.-Q.; Jiang, Y.-Z.; Wu, Y.-D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 5262; (b) Tang, Z.; Yang, Z.-H.; Chen, X. H.; Cun, L. F.; Mi, A.-Q.; Jiang, Y.-Z.; Gong, L.-Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 9285.
- (a) Andreae, M. R. M.; Davis, A. P. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2005, *16*, 2487; (b) Dhar, D.; Beadham, I.; Chandrasekaran, S. *Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Chem. Sci.* 2003, *115*, 365.
- (a) Loh, T.-P.; Feng, L.-C.; Yang, H.-Y.; Yang, J.-Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 8741; (b) Chandrasekhar, S.; Narsimhulu, Ch.; Ramakrishna, N.; Sultana, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 4581; (c) Gruttadauria, M.; Riela, S.; Meo, Lo; Francesca D'Anna, P.; Noto, R. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 6113.
- 14. For reviews, see: Shibasaki, M.; Sasai, H.; Arai, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1997, 36, 1236.
- (a) Evans, D. A.; Nelson, S. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 6452;
 (b) Barnes, D. M.; Zhang, J.; Morton, H. E.; King, S. A.; Ji, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 10215;
 (c) Willis, M. C.; Cutting, G. A.; Piccio, V. J.-D.; Durbin, M. J.; John, M. P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 1543;
 (d) Evans, D. A.; Tedrow, J. S.; Shaw, J. T.; Downey, C. W. J. Am.

Chem. Soc. **2002**, *124*, 392; (e) Evans, D. A.; Tedrow, J. S.; Shaw, J. T.; Downey, C. W. *Org. Lett.* **2002**, *4*, 1127.

(a) Jeevanandam, P.; Klabunde, K. J. *Langmuir* 2002, *18*, 5309;
(b) Richards, R.; Li, W.; Decker, S. C.; Zaikovski; Volodin, A.; Rieker, T.; Klabunde, K. J. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2000, *122*, 4921;
(c) Klabunde, K. J.; Stark, J.; Mohs, C.; Park, D. G.; Decker, S.;

Jiang, Y.; Lagadic, I.; Zhang, D. J. Phys. Chem. 1996, 100, 12142.

 (a) Choudary, B. M.; Kantam, M. L.; Ranganath, K. V. S.; Mahendar, K.; Sreedhar, B. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2004, *126*, 3396; (b) Choudary, B. M.; Ranganath, K. V. S.; Pal, U.; Kantam, M. L.; Sreedhar, B. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2005, *127*, 13167.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9577-9581

Reactions of 1,4-bis(tetrazole)benzenes: formation of long chain alkyl halides

Andrew D. Bond,^a Adrienne Fleming,^b Fintan Kelleher,^b John McGinley^{c,*} and Vipa Prajapati^b

^aDepartment of Chemistry, University of Southern Denmark, DK-5230 Odense M, Denmark

^bDepartment of Science and Advanced Smart Materials Research Center, Institute of Technology, Tallaght, Dublin 24, Ireland

^cDepartment of Chemistry, National University of Ireland Maynooth, Maynooth, Co. Kildare, Ireland

Received 13 April 2006; revised 7 July 2006; accepted 27 July 2006 Available online 21 August 2006

Abstract—The reactions of 1,4-bis[2-(tributylstannyl)tetrazol-5-yl]benzene with α,ω -dibromoalkanes were carried out in order to synthesise pendant alkyl halide derivatives of the parent bis-tetrazole. This led to the formation of several alkyl halide derivatives, substituted variously at N1 or N2 on the tetrazole ring. The crystal structures of 1,4-bis[(2-(4-bromobutyl)tetrazol-5-yl)]benzene (2-*N*,2-*N*'), 1,4-bis[(2-(4-bromobutyl)tetrazol-5-yl)]benzene (2-*N*,2-*N*') and 1,4-bis[(2-(8-bromooctyl)tetrazol-5-yl)]benzene (2-*N*,2-*N*') are reported. Further discussion involves the structure of 1,4-bis[2-(6-bromohexyl)-2*H*-tetrazol-5-yl]benzene (2-*N*,2-*N*') previously reported. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The synthesis of tetrazoles from a cycloaddition reaction between a nitrile and an azide is well documented^{1–6} since tetrazoles have roles in coordination chemistry as ligands, in medicinal chemistry as metabolically stable surrogates for carboxylic acids and in materials science applications, including photography and explosives. The interest in the ability of tetrazoles to mimic the carboxylic acid group has motivated the incorporation of tetrazoles into biologically active molecules.² This potential use has led to the incorporation in therapeutic applications, including their incorporation in pharmacologically active compounds with anti-hypertensive, anti-allergic and antibiotic activities.³

In recent years, particular attention has been directed towards the use of polydentate aromatic nitrogen heterocycles, specifically ligands with five-membered rings (azoles). Among these, imidazoles and triazoles have been extensively used for their ability to construct open framework networks with a wide variety of topologies. Tetrazoles exhibit a strong networking ability usually acting as mono- or bidentate ligands in most of the reported complexes.^{7–9} A possible application for these materials as molecular hosts is in generating supramolecular arrays, which embody additional functional groups capable of metal complexation. This would result in a metallotetrazole framework with potential as new catalysts, anti-bacterial or therapeutic agents. Our interest in macrocycles containing tetrazoles surrounds their use as precursors for the formation of new functionalised poly-tetrazoles as, for example, sensors or in molecular recognition.

Molloy et al.,⁵ Butler and Fleming¹⁰ have synthesised bis-(bromoalkyltetrazolyl)benzenes from either tributylstannylsubstituted bis-tetrazoles or *N*-unsubstituted tetrazoles with dihaloalkanes with the 2-*N*,2-*N'*-isomer again being the predominant product; Molloy et al. studied both the 1,2- and 1,3-substituted bis-tetrazole while Butler and Fleming looked only at the 1,3-unsubstituted bis-tetrazoles. In fact, Butler has succeeded in using these bis-(bromoalkyltetrazolyl)-benzenes to generate the tetra-tetrazolemacrocycle (Fig. 1), which include a cavity of variable dimensions tailored by both the length and flexibility of the alkyl chain and also the substitution position on the benzene ring.^{10–12} Furthermore, the X-ray crystal structure of one such macrocycle has been reported.¹³

We have previously reported our initial findings regarding the addition of pendant short-chain alkyl halide arms of some bis-tetrazoles, which yielded not only bis-tetrazole



Figure 1. Schematic of tetratetrazole macrocycle with X=substituted benzene and Y=alkyl chain.

Keywords: Tetrazole; Organotin; X-ray; Alkyl halide; NMR spectroscopy.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +353 1 708 4615; fax: +353 1 708 3815; e-mail: john.mcginley@nuim.ie

derivatives with pendant alkyl halide arms but also, and rather surprisingly, bis-tetrazole derivatives with pendant vinyl arms.¹⁴ The X-ray crystal structure of 1,4-bis(tetrazole)-benzene with bromohexyl pendant arms has been reported, but with limited structural and spectroscopic discussion.¹⁵ In this paper, we report the reactions of 1,4-bis(tetrazole)-benzenes with various long chain α,ω -dibromoalkanes and discuss their spectroscopic results. The crystal structures of three derivatives are also presented herein.

2. Results and discussion

While alkylation of 5-substituted mono-tetrazole derivatives is known to lead to mixtures of 1-N- and 2-N-substituted products,¹ the regioselectivity being dependent on the reaction conditions and the nature of the C- and N-substituents, the alkylation of bis-tetrazole derivatives can lead to several diverse products. For example, the reaction of 1,2-bis[2-(tributylstannyl)tetrazol-5-yl]benzene $(1,2-(Bu_3SnN_4C)_2C_6H_4)$ with 1,2-dibromoethane, reported by Molloy et al.,⁵ has been shown to form either a cyclophane or bis(bromoethyltetrazolyl)benzenes, depending on the ratio of the dibromoethane employed in the reaction. When using a 10-fold excess, the cyclophane was obtained; a larger excess (25:1) resulted in the formation of the bis(bromoethyltetrazolyl)benzenes, either the 2-N,2-N'- or the 1-N,2-N'-isomer, with the 2-N, 2-N'-isomer predominating in a ratio of ca. 3:1. We have recently reported the reactions of either 1,*n*-bis(tetrazol-5-yl)benzene (1,n-(HN₄C)₂C₆H₄) or 1,n-bis[2-(tributylstannyl)tetrazol-5-yl]benzene $(1,n-(Bu_3SnN_4C)_2C_6H_4)$ (n=2, 3, 4) with 1.2-dibromoethane, which vielded compounds containing pendant bromoethyl or vinyl groups with substitution occurring at either 1-N, 2-N' or 2-N, 2-N', respectively.14

Our strategy was to use both of these approaches, that is, the use of both 1,n-bis(tetrazol-5-yl)benzene and 1,n-bis[2-(tributylstannyl)tetrazol-5-yl]benzene, to obtain sufficient quantities of the 2-N,2-N'-isomer of various bis(bromoalkyltetrazolyl)benzenes with a view towards generating derivatised tetra-tetrazole macrocycles. One approach involved the reactions of the 1,4-bis(tetrazole)benzene with long chain α, ω -dibromoalkanes. When the reactions of 1,4-bis(tetrazol-5-yl)benzene $(1,4-(HN_4C)_2C_6H_4)$ with either 1,4-dibromobutane, 1,6-dibromohexane or 1,8-dibromooctane were heated as neat suspensions, no products were obtained and starting materials were recovered in all cases. Furthermore, when the reactions were carried out in the presence of triethylamine in either methanol or toluene with heating to reflux for 24 h, we found that the recovered material, after work-up, contained mainly starting bis-tetrazoles, with approx. 30% of products. We were able to grow crystals of 1,4-bis[(2-bromohexyl)tetrazol-5-yl]benzene, prepared by this method, which we have already reported.⁸ However, when the reactions of 1,4-bis[2-(tributylstannyl)tetrazol-5yl]benzene $(1,4-(Bu_3SnN_4C)_2C_6H_4)$ with either 1,4-dibromobutane, 1,6-dibromohexane or 1,8-dibromooctane were heated as neat suspensions, two products were obtained in relatively high yields, in all the reactions, as well as some recovered starting material (Scheme 1), suggesting that the organotin route was the better method for the synthesis of this particular type of material. It should be pointed out that neither the cyclophane product nor any products containing additions on one ring only were obtained.



Scheme 1.

Column chromatography, using hexane/ethyl acetate mixtures as eluent, separated the products from the reactants. ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were obtained for all samples and revealed that both the 2-N, 2-N'- and the 1-N, 2-N'-isomers of the bis(bromoalkyltetrazolyl)benzene had formed in the reaction, but the expected cyclophane was not present. The isomeric 2-N, 2-N'- and 1-N, 2-N'-derivatives are readily distinguishable by their ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra,^{5,10,14} with the ¹³C NMR chemical shift of the tetrazole carbon atom appearing at ca. 154.0 and 164.0 ppm in 1,5- and 2,5-disubstituted tetrazoles, respectively. The symmetrical 2-N,2-N'substituted compounds thus gave rise to a single resonance at 164.0 ppm while both signals were apparent in the 1-N, 2-N'-substituted compounds. For example, 1,4-bis[(2-bromobutyl)tetrazol-5-yl]benzene (2-N,2-N') (2a) has a single peak at 164.6 ppm while 1,4-bis[(2-bromobutyl)tetrazol-5yl]benzene (1-N,2-N') (2b) has two peaks at 153.8 and 164.0 ppm. The main difference in the ¹H NMR spectra of the isomers was the doubling of signals in the case of the 1-N, 2-N'-derivatives.

Crystals of compounds **2a**, **2b** and **4a**, suitable for an X-ray diffraction study, were obtained from chloroform and the structures confirmed the presence of the pendant bromoalkyl groups at the 2-N,2-N'-positions for **2a** and **4a** and at the 1-N,2-N'-positions for **2b** (Figs. 2, 3 and 4). Table 1 shows important bond lengths and angles for the three structures. We have previously published the structure of **3a**,¹⁵ allowing us to include this also in our comparison of the 2-N,2-N' compounds.

The structures of **2a**, **3a** and **4a** exhibit regularity. In each case, the molecular unit is centrosymmetric in the solid state and is sited on a crystallographic inversion centre. The tetrazole rings are essentially coplanar with the benzene ring to



Figure 2. Molecular structure of **2a**, showing the labelling scheme for the crystallographically independent atoms. The non-labelled half of the molecule is related to the labelled half by a centre of inversion. Ellipsoids are represented at 50% probability for non-H atoms.



Figure 3. Molecular structure of 2b, showing the labelling scheme used. Ellipsoids are represented at 50% probability for non-H atoms.



Figure 4. Molecular structure of **4a**, showing the labelling scheme for the crystallographically independent atoms. The non-labelled half of the molecule is related to the labelled half by a centre of inversion. Ellipsoids are represented at 50% probability for non-H atoms.

which they are attached, and the bromoalkyl groups adopt fully extended conformations, projecting to either side of this plane. The long axes of the alkyl chains form angles of ca. 145° to the molecular plane (measured by the N4-C5–C7 angle in 2a, and equivalent angles in 3a and 4a). Adjacent molecules adopt slipped π -stacking arrangements, with distances of ca. 3.4 Å between the least squares planes of the molecules, and centroid-centroid separations of ca. 4.6 Å (the lattice parameter a). The stacks are arranged into 2-D layers so that molecules in adjacent stacks are close to co-planar, introducing relatively short contacts in the range 2.7–2.8 Å between one H atom of the first methylene group in the bromoalkyl chain and the 1-N atom of the neighbouring tetrazole rings. The alignment of neighbouring stacks into a 2-D arrangement is consistent with effective lateral packing of the alkyl chains: in each case, the H atoms of the methylene groups in one chain project into the gaps

Table 1. Selected bond lengths (Å) and angles (°) for 2a, 3a and 4a

	2a	3a	4a
Bond lengths			
C(1) - C(2)	1.389(4)	1.389(4)	1.378(3)
C(2)–C(3)	1.399(4)	1.402(3)	1.395(3)
C(3)–C(4)	1.477(4)	1.463(3)	1.469(3)
C(4) - N(1)	1.352(4)	1.356(3)	1.360(3)
C(4)–N(2)	1.334(4)	1.340(3)	1.323(3)
N(1)-N(3)	1.324(4)	1.321(3)	1.324(3)
N(3)-N(4)	1.325(4)	1.333(3)	1.319(3)
N(4)–N(2)	1.330(3)	1.328(3)	1.329(3)
N(4)-C(5)	1.472(4)	1.463(3)	1.458(3)
Bond angles			
C(4)-N(1)-N(3)	106.1(3)	106.2(2)	105.7(2)
N(1)-N(3)-N(4)	105.9(2)	106.2(2)	106.35(19)
N(3)-N(4)-N(2)	114.2(2)	113.8(2)	113.7(2)
N(4)-N(2)-C(4)	101.4(3)	102.2(2)	102.1(2)
N(2)-C(4)-N(1)	112.4(3)	112.2(2)	112.2(2)

between methylene groups in the neighbouring chains. The 2-D layer arrangements are effectively identical in each of **2a**, **3a** and **4a**. Adjacent 2-D layers meet so as to bring the terminal CH₂–Br bonds into an offset co-linear alignment, forming 'Type I' Br...Br interactions, as classified previously by Pedireddi et al.¹⁶ The intermolecular Br...Br distances lie in the range 3.4802(4)–3.5351(8) Å, considerably shorter than twice the bromine van der Waals radius (3.90 Å) and within the range of those values previously reported, 3.415–3.691 Å.^{17–20}

In the crystal structure of **2b**, the two tetrazole rings in each molecule are essentially co-planar (rms deviation of 10 fitted atoms=0.007 Å), but the plane of the central benzene ring forms a dihedral angle of 9.7(3)° with this plane. The bromobutyl chains form greater angles to the molecular plane (N4-C9-C11 and N6-C13-C15 both ca. 95.5°), and the terminal CH₂–Br bond vectors lie perpendicularly close to each other (Fig. 3). The arrangement of the central portions of the molecules in the crystal structure is closely comparable to that in 2a, 3a and 4a. The least-squares planes of the π -stacked molecules are separated by ca. 3.5 Å, with centroid-centroid separations of ca. 4.4 Å. Adjacent molecules in the stacks are related by centres of inversion. The molecules in adjacent stacks are again close to co-planar, but with a slightly greater lateral offset along the long axes of the molecules in 2b compared to 2a. The introduction of a short $H \cdots H$ contact (ca. 2.29 Å) between adjacent benzene rings, and the twisting of these rings from the planes of the tetrazole rings may be attributed at least in part to alleviation of the steric constraints associated with this close contact. The terminal CH₂-Br bonds again form 'Type I' Br…Br interactions, with intermolecular Br...Br distances of 3.591(2) and 3.677(2) Å. It is noteworthy that while one of these Br \cdots Br distances is closely comparable to those in 2a, 3a and 4a, the second is significantly longer. This less-than-optimal intermolecular contact presumably contributes to the significantly lower melting point of 2b (ca. 110 °C) compared to the isomeric **2a** (ca. 140 °C).

3. Conclusions

The reactions of 1,4- $(Bu_3SnN_4C)_2C_6H_4$ with 1,4-dibromobutane, 1,6-dibromohexane and 1,8-dibromooctane yield compounds containing pendant bromoalkyl groups with substitution occurring at either 1-N,2-N' or 2-N,2-N'. The crystal structures of three derivatives were obtained, including both the 1-N,2-N' and 2-N,2-N'-isomers of one derivative. No cyclophane products were observed from any of the reactions. Similar reactions involving 1,3-dibromopropane, 1,5-dibromopentane and 1,7-dibromoheptane are currently being investigated, as are macrocyclic ring closure reactions with $1,4-(Bu_3SnN_4C)_2C_6H_4$ and metal complexation reactions with the resulting macrocyclic ring.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

¹H and ¹³C NMR (δ ppm; *J* Hz) spectra were recorded on a JOEL JNM-LA300 FT-NMR spectrometer using saturated CDCl₃ solutions with Me₄Si reference, unless indicated otherwise, with resolutions of 0.18 Hz and 0.01 ppm. Infrared spectra (cm⁻¹) were recorded as KBr discs or liquid films between KBr plates using a Nicolet Impact 410 FT-IR. Melting points were measured with a Stuart Scientific melting point apparatus (SMP1) without correction. Microanalysis was carried out at the Microanalytical Laboratory of University College, Dublin. Standard Schlenk techniques were used throughout.

4.2. Syntheses

 $1,4-(Bu_3SnN_4C)_2C_6H_4$ (1) was prepared as described previously.¹⁴ All other reagents were commercially obtained and used without further purification. *Caution*: owing to their potentially explosive nature, all preparations of and subsequent reactions with organotin azides and tetrazoles were conducted under an inert atmosphere behind a rigid safety screen.

The numbering scheme for the 1,4-bis-tetrazoles is shown in Figure 5 and all NMR assignments are based on these diagrams.



Figure 5. Labelling scheme used for central core in the 1,4-bis(tetrazole) derivatives.

4.3. General synthesis of compounds

1,4-(Bu₃SnN₄C)₂C₆H₄ (1) (10 g, 126.2 mmol) and the appropriate α, ω -dibromoalkane (300 mmol) were heated to 120 °C for 24 h, under nitrogen. After cooling, the excess α, ω -dibromoalkane was removed under reduced pressure to afford the mixture of isomers **a** and **b**, as well as some starting bis-tetrazole. These were seperated by column chromatography on silica gel (initially at the ratio of hexane/ ethyl acetate 80:20, followed by the ratio 60:40). All compounds were recrystallised from chloroform.

4.3.1. 1,4-Bis[**2-(4-bromobutyl)tetrazol-5-yl]benzene** (2-*N*,**2**-*N*') (**2a).** White solid. Anal. Calcd for $C_{16}H_{20}Br_2N_8$: C, 39.69; H, 4.16; N, 23.14. Found: C, 39.61; H, 4.15; N, 22.85; Yield: 64%, 3.91 g, 8.1 mmol; ν_{max} (KBr) 2958, 1609, 1584, 1538, 1503, 1443, 1384, 1357, 1254, 1222, 1190, 1035, 1006, 875, 782, 753 cm⁻¹; mp 138–142 °C; δ_{H} : 1.95 [m, 4H, CH₂], 2.75 [m, 4H, CH₂], 3.47 [t, 4H, *J*=6.6 Hz, CH₂Br], 4.74 [t, 4H, *J*=6.6 Hz, NCH₂], 8.28 [s, 4H, H¹–C₆H₄]; δ_{C} : 27.8 [CH₂], 29.2 [CH₂], 32.2 [CH₂], 52.3 [CH₂N], 127.3 [C¹–C₆H₄], 129.1 [i–C₆H₄], 164.6 [CN₄].

4.3.2. 1,4-Bis[**2-(4-bromobutyl)tetrazol-5-yl]benzene** (**1**-*N*,**2**-*N'*) (**2b).** White solid. Anal. Calcd for $C_{16}H_{20}Br_2N_8$: C, 39.69; H, 4.16; N, 23.14. Found: C, 39.92; H, 4.13; N, 23.04; Yield: 21%, 1.28 g, 2.6 mmol; mp 108–112 °C; ν_{max} (KBr) 2929, 2853, 1628, 1558, 1538, 1469, 1438, 1370, 1307, 1260, 1225, 1195, 1112, 1037, 1005, 847, 734, 645 cm⁻¹; δ_{H} : 1.95 [m, 4H, CH₂], 2.15 [m, 2H, CH₂], 2.28 [m, 2H, CH₂], 3.40 [t, 2H, *J*=6.6 Hz, CH₂Br], 3.47 [t, 2H, *J*=6.6 Hz, CH₂Br], 4.52 [t, 2H, *J*=6.6 Hz, N¹CH₂], 4.75 [t, 2H, *J*=6.6 Hz, N²CH₂], 7.85 [d, 2H, *J*=6.6 Hz, H²–C₆H₄], 8.38 [d, 2H, *J*=6.6 Hz, H¹–C₆H₄]; δ_{C} : 27.8 [CH₂], 28.2 [CH₂], 29.1 [CH₂], 29.2 [CH₂], 32.0 [CH₂], 32.1 [CH₂], 47.3 [CH₂N], 52.4 [CH₂N], 125.5 [i–C₆H₄], 127.7 [C¹–C₆H₄], 129.3 [C²–C₆H₄], 130.3 [i'–C₆H₄], 153.8 [CN₄], 164.0 [CN₄].

4.3.3. 1,6-Bis[**2**-(**6-bromohexyl**)**tetrazol-5-yl**]**benzene** (**2**-*N*,**2**-*N'*) (**3a**). White solid. Anal. Calcd for $C_{20}H_{28}Br_2N_8$: C, 44.46; H, 5.22; N, 20.74. Found: C, 44.45; H, 5.20; N, 20.35; Yield: 65%, 4.43 g, 8.2 mmol; mp 104–106 °C; ν_{max} (KBr) 2931, 2862, 1610, 1580, 1543, 1515, 1449, 1396, 1352, 1293, 1250, 1182, 1150, 1082, 1041, 897, 783, 756 cm⁻¹; δ_{H} : 1.40 [m, 4H, CH₂], 1.55 [m, 4H, CH₂], 1.88 [m, 4H, CH₂], 2.11 [m, 4H, CH₂], 3.41 [t, 4H, *J*=6.6 Hz, CH₂Br], 4.69 [t, 4H, *J*=6.6 Hz, NCH₂], 8.28 [s, 4H, H¹–C₆H₄]; δ_{C} : 25.6 [CH₂], 27.5 [CH₂], 29.2 [CH₂], 32.4 [CH₂], 33.5 [CH₂], 53.1 [CH₂N], 127.3 [C¹–C₆H₄], 129.1 [i–C₆H₄], 164.5 [CN₄].

4.3.4. 1,6-Bis[**2**-(**6-bromohexyl**)**tetrazol-5-yl**]**benzene** (**1**-*N*,**2**-*N'*) (**3b**). White solid. Anal. Calcd for $C_{20}H_{28}Br_2N_8$: C, 44.46; H, 5.22; N, 20.74. Found: C, 44.40; H, 5.20; N, 20.45; Yield: 12%, 0.82 g, 1.5 mmol; mp 84–86 °C; ν_{max} (KBr) 2930, 2865, 1625, 1550, 1538, 1470, 1436, 1379, 1316, 1262, 1224, 1195, 1110, 1036, 1015, 846, 734, 649 cm⁻¹; δ_{H} : 1.46 [m, 4H, CH₂], 1.84 [m, 4H, CH₂], 2.05 [m, 8H, CH₂], 3.36 [t, 2H, *J*=6.6 Hz, CH₂Br], 3.41 [t, 2H, *J*=6.6 Hz, CH₂Br], 4.51 [t, 2H, *J*=6.6 Hz, N¹CH₂], 4.70 [t, 2H, *J*=6.6 Hz, N²CH₂], 7.84 [d, 2H, *J*=6.6 Hz, H²-C₆H₄], 8.32 [d, 2H, *J*=6.6 Hz, H¹-C₆H₄]; δ_{C} : 25.3 [CH₂], 25.4 [CH₂], 27.1 [CH₂], 27.2 [CH₂], 28.9 [CH₂], 29.3 [CH₂], 32.1 [CH₂], 32.2 [CH₂], 33.3 [CH₂], 33.4 [CH₂], 47.9 [CH₂N], 53.0 [CH₂N], 125.5 [i-C₆H₄], 127.7 [C¹-C₆H₄], 129.3 [C²-C₆H₄], 130.3 [i'-C₆H₄], 153.8 [CN₄], 164.1 [CN₄].

4.3.5. 1,8-Bis[**2-(8-bromooctyl)tetrazol-5-yl]benzene** (2-*N*,**2-***N'*) (**4a).** White solid. Anal. Calcd for $C_{24}H_{36}Br_2N_8$: C, 48.33; H, 6.08; N, 18.79. Found: C, 47.95; H, 6.08; N, 18.48; Yield: 68%, 5.12 g, 8.6 mmol; mp 88–94 °C; ν_{max} (KBr) 2929, 2852, 1629, 1557, 1468, 1430, 1354, 1357, 1266, 1226, 1198, 1048, 1006, 854, 744, 723, 647 cm⁻¹; δ_{H} : 1.39 [m, 16H, CH₂], 1.85 [m, 4H, CH₂], 2.08 [m, 4H, CH₂],

3.39 [t, 4H, J=6.6 Hz, CH₂Br], 4.67 [t, 4H, J=6.6 Hz, NCH₂], 8.28 [s, 4H, H¹–C₆H₄]; δ_{C} : 26.3 [CH₂], 27.9 [CH₂], 28.5 [CH₂], 28.7 [CH₂], 29.3 [CH₂], 32.7 [CH₂], 33.9 [CH₂], 53.3 [CH₂N], 127.3 [C¹–C₆H₄], 129.1 [i–C₆H₄], 164.5 [CN₄].

4.3.6. 1,8-Bis[2-(8-bromooctyl)tetrazol-5-yl]benzene (1-N,2-N' (4b). White solid. Anal. Calcd for $C_{24}H_{36}Br_2N_8$: C, 48.33; H, 6.08; N, 18.79. Found: C, 48.16; H, 6.07; N, 18.58; Yield: 10%, 0.75 g, 1.3 mmol; mp 64–68 °C; ν_{max} (KBr) 2929, 2853, 1626, 1550, 1538, 1469, 1434, 1378, 1303, 1271, 1226, 1197, 1112, 1044, 1003, 848, 736, 645 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$: 1.29 [m, 8H, CH₂], 1.37 [m, 8H, CH₂], 1.82 [m, 4H, CH₂], 1.95 [m, 2H, CH₂], 2.09 [m, 2H, CH₂], 3.38 [t, 2H, J=6.6 Hz, CH₂Br], 3.40 [t, 2H, J=6.6 Hz, CH₂Br], 4.46 [t, 2H, J=6.6 Hz, N¹CH₂], 4.69 [t, 2H, J=6.6 Hz, $N^{2}CH_{2}$, 7.82 [d, 2H, J=6.6 Hz, H²-C₆H₄], 8.36 [d, 2H, J= 6.6 Hz, H¹-C₆H₄]; δ_C: 26.2 [CH₂], 26.3 [CH₂], 27.9 [CH₂], 28.0 [CH₂], 28.4 [CH₂], 28.5 [CH₂], 28.7 [CH₂], 29.3 [CH₂], 29.7 [CH2], 32.6 [CH2], 32.7 [CH2], 33.8 [CH2], 48.2 [CH₂N], 53.4 [CH₂N], 125.7 [i–C₆H₄], 127.6 [C¹–C₆H₄], 129.3 [C²–C₆H₄], 130.3 [i'–C₆H₄], 153.8 [CN₄], 163.8 [CN₄].

4.4. X-ray crystallography

Suitable crystals of **2a**, **2b** and **4a** for X-ray study were obtained by recrystallisation from chloroform solutions. Data were collected at 180(2) K on a Bruker Nonius X8 APEX II diffractometer,²¹ and a multi-scan correction was applied.²² The structures were refined against F^2 using all data.²³ Hydrogen atoms were placed at calculated positions and refined using a riding model.

4.4.1. Compound 2a. Crystal data: $C_{16}H_{20}Br_2N_8$, M=484.22, triclinic, a=4.5722(7), b=5.8805(9), c=18.119(3) Å, $\alpha=96.943(6)$, $\beta=96.426(6)$, $\gamma=101.287(6)^{\circ}$, U=469.61(13) Å³, space group P1, Z=1, μ (Mo-K α)= 4.334 mm⁻¹. 7346 data (1717 unique, $R_{int}=0.0386$) were measured in the range $3.59 < \theta < 25.74^{\circ}$. $R_1(I>2\sigma(I))=$ 0.0321 and wR_2 (all data)=0.0815. Goodness of fit on $F^2=1.06$. CCDC No. 604247.

4.4.2. Compound 2b. Crystal data: $C_{16}H_{20}Br_2N_8$, M=484.22, triclinic, a=6.7256(14), b=8.1427(19), c=17.186(4) Å, $\alpha=96.972(8)$, $\beta=92.193(8)$, $\gamma=90.034(8)^\circ$, U=933.5(4) Å³, space group P1, Z=2, μ (Mo-K α)= 4.361 mm⁻¹. 11127 data (3428 unique, $R_{int}=0.0607$) were measured in the range $3.59 < \theta < 25.84^\circ$. $R_1(I>2\sigma(I))=$ 0.0906 and wR_2 (all data)=0.2519. Goodness of fit on $F^2=1.04$. CCDC No. 604248.

4.4.3. Compound **4a.** Crystal data: $C_{24}H_{36}Br_2N_8$, M=596.43, triclinic, a=4.6665(5), b=5.6593(5), c=25.284(2) Å, $\alpha=92.812(3)$, $\beta=90.773(4)$, $\gamma=102.138(3)^\circ$, U=651.82(10) Å³, space group P1, Z=1, μ (Mo-K α)= 3.138 mm⁻¹. 11318 data (2448 unique, $R_{int}=0.0477$) were measured in the range $3.69 < \theta < 25.84^\circ$. $R_1(I>2\sigma(I))=0.0338$ and wR_2 (all data)=0.0863. Goodness of fit on $F^2=1.04$. CCDC No. 604249.

4.5. Crystallographic data

Crystallographic data for **2a**, **2b** and **4a** have been deposited with the Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre. Copies of

this information may be obtained free of charge from deposit@ccdc.cam.ac.uk or www: http://www.ccdc.cam.ac.uk.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the Postgraduate R&D Skills programme (Technological Sector Research, Strand III, Project Code CRS01/TA02) for financial assistance, and Drs. B. Creaven and B. A. Murray for useful discussions. A.D.B. is grateful to the Danish Natural Sciences Research Council and the Carlsberg Foundation for provision of the X-ray equipment.

References and notes

- Butler, R. N. Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry; Katritzky, A. R., Rees, C. W., Scriven, E. F. V., Eds.; Permagon: Oxford, UK, 1996; Vol. 4.
- 2. Herr, R. J. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2002, 10, 3379.
- 3. Sisido, K.; Nabika, K.; Isida, T.; Kozima, S. J. Organomet. Chem. 1971, 33, 337.
- Hill, M.; Mahon, M. F.; McGinley, J.; Molloy, K. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1996, 835.
- 5. Bethel, P. A.; Hill, M. S.; Mahon, M. F.; Molloy, K. C. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1999, 3507.
- 6. Demko, Z. P.; Sharpless, K. B. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 7945.
- Stassen, A. F.; Kooijman, H.; Spek, A. L.; Haasnoot, J. G.; Reedijk, J. J. Chem. Crystallogr. 2001, 31, 307.
- Stassen, A. F.; Grunert, M.; Mills, A. M.; Spek, A. L.; Haasnoot, J. G.; Reedijk, J.; Linert, W. *Dalton Trans.* 2003, 3628.
- 9. Wu, T.; Yi, B.-H.; Li, D. Inorg. Chem. 2005, 44, 4130.
- Butler, R. N.; Fleming, A. F. M. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1997, 34, 691.
- 11. Butler, R. N.; Quinn, K. F.; Welke, B. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1992, 1481.
- 12. Butler, R. N.; Ní Bhrádaigh, E. P. J. Chem. Res. Synop. 1994, 148.
- Butler, R. N.; McGinley, J.; Mahon, M. F.; Molloy, K. C.; Ní Bhrádaigh, E. P. Acta Crystallogr. 2001, E57, 195.
- Fleming, A.; Kelleher, F.; Mahon, M. F.; McGinley, J.; Prajapati, V. *Tetrahedron* 2005, 61, 7002.
- Fleming, A. F. M.; Kelleher, F.; Mahon, M. F.; McGinley, J.; Molloy, K. C.; Prajapati, V. Acta Crystallogr. 2004, E60, 2388.
- Pedireddi, V. R.; Reddy, D. S.; Satish Goud, B.; Craig, D. C.; Rae, A. D.; Desiraju, G. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1994, 2353.
- 17. Christofi, A. M.; Garratt, P. J.; Hogarth, G.; Steed, J. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 2137.
- Kuhn, N.; Abu-Rayyan, A.; Eichele, K.; Schwarz, S.; Steinmann, M. *Inorg. Chim. Acta* 2004, 357, 1799.
- Ruthe, F.; Du Mont, W.-W.; Jones, P. G. Chem. Commun. 1997, 1947.
- Savinsky, R.; Hopf, H.; Dix, I.; Jones, P. G. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 4595.
- 21. Bruker Nonius. *APEX2. Version 1.0-22*; Bruker Nonius BV: Delft, The Netherlands, 2004.
- 22. Sheldrick, G. M. SADABS. Version 2.10; Bruker AXS: Madison, Wisconsin, USA, 2003.
- Sheldrick, G. M. SHELXTL. Version 6.10; Bruker AXS: Madison, Wisconsin, USA, 2000.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9582-9588

Synthesis of large generation poly(propyl ether imine) (PETIM) dendrimers

Govindasamy Jayamurugan and Narayanaswamy Jayaraman*

Department of Organic Chemistry, Indian Institute of Science, Bangalore 560 012, India

Received 13 April 2006; revised 7 July 2006; accepted 27 July 2006 Available online 17 August 2006

Abstract—Large generation poly(propyl ether imine) (PETIM) dendrimers are synthesized in iterative synthetic cycles of two reductions and two Michael addition reactions. Dendrimers up to sixth generation, containing up to 128 peripheral functionalities, are synthesized. Growth of the PETIM dendrimers, possessing a tertiary amine as the branch juncture and an ether as the linker component, is assessed systematically by routine spectroscopic methods. The peripheries of these dendrimers possess either alcohols, amines, carboxylic acids, esters, or nitriles, thereby opening up possibilities for varied studies involving PETIM dendrimers.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The number of studies involving dendrimers has increased remarkably, ever since the dendrimers came to prominence in the chemical literature. The unique architectures, nanometric dimensions, ability to exercise endo- and exo-receptor properties, and monomolecular features have, in part, contributed to the general acceptance of dendrimers in many varied types of studies.¹ More often, monomers of the type AB_2 , AB_3 , and occasionally AB_4 and higher order are subjected to grow uniformly, leading, thereby, to a dendritic architecture.² Prominent among the dendrimers are the poly(amido amine),³ poly(propylene imine),⁴ poly(benzyl aryl ether),⁵ polysilane,⁶ polyphosphane,⁷ polylysine,⁸ and triallyl phenol based dendrimers.⁹ Few of these dendrimers, namely, poly(amido amine), poly(propylene imine), polyphosphane, and triallyl phenol also represent the highest generation systems known in the literature. Synthesis of high generation dendrimers, useful for exploring the nature of the dendritic architecture, depends critically on the nature of the constituent monomers, their reactivities, and the method of their preparation. Larger generation dendrimers tend to provide a 'dendritic state', in which the peripheries become more dense than the corresponding lower generation dendrimers. A few common features of currently known large generation dendrimer synthesis are: (i) a divergent synthetic route for their preparation, (ii) the use of linear linkers, and (iii) avoiding protection/deprotection synthetic sequences. In a program aimed to develop dendrimers initiated with 3-amino-propan-1-ol as the monomer, a series of lower

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +918022932406/03; fax: +918023600529; e-mail: jayaraman@orgchem.iisc.ernet.in generation poly(propyl ether imine) (PETIM) dendrimers were reported previously.¹⁰ A tertiary amine and an ether functionality form the branch juncture and the linker of the PETIM dendrimers, respectively. Iterative synthetic sequences of two alternate Michael additions and two reduction reactions were established to synthesize the PETIM dendrimers. Continuing efforts to produce larger generation dendrimers led to the isolation of PETIM dendrimers up to sixth generation, with 128 peripheral functionalities. Details of the synthesis of the larger generation PETIM dendrimers are presented herein.

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Synthesis

A tertiary amine branch juncture and an ether linker represent an AB₂ type monomer and, in PETIM dendrimers, 3-amino-propan-1-ol constitutes the required monomer. Synthesis of the PETIM dendrimers was initiated from a Michael addition reaction between acrylonitrile and water, to afford 2-cyanoethyl ether. Subsequent reduction of the nitrile groups, Michael addition with tert-butyl acrylate, reduction of the ester to an alcohol, and Michael addition of the resulting alcohol with acrylonitrile form an iterative cycle for the divergent synthesis of PETIM dendrimers. Three generations of PETIM dendrimers with up to 16 peripheral functionalities were synthesized previously,¹⁰ thereby evolving the synthetic route to this new class of dendrimers. An advantage of the synthetic protocol is that it allows installation of varied functional groups, namely an acid, an alcohol, an amine, an ester, and a nitrile at the peripheries of the dendrimers. Synthesis of larger generation

Keywords: Dendrimers; Iterative synthesis; Michael addition; Raney cobalt.

dendrimers was initiated from the third generation ester dendrimer (Fig. 1). Thus, reduction of dendrimer containing 16 tert-butyl esters with LiAlH₄, provided the third generation dendrimer 1 containing 16 alcohol group (Scheme 1). Complete removal of the inorganic salts was possible through solubilization of the crude product in MeOH, filtration, and evaporation of MeOH. Repetition of the process with MeOH, followed by CHCl₃, a few times led to the isolation of alcohol containing dendrimers with excellent purities and yields. Michael addition of the resulting alcohol 1 with excess acrylonitrile, in the presence of a NaOH (cat.). provided the 16-nitrile containing dendrimer 2, quantitatively. Excess acrylonitrile was transformed to an intractable polymer and 2-cyanoethyl ether, both of which could be separated through column chromatography (Al₂O₃ (neutral)). Reduction of nitrile 2 to amine 3 was conducted in the presence of Raney Co catalyst, under a moderately high pressure of H₂ (46 atm). The reduction reaction required control of temperature, pressure, and the solution concentrations. Thus, dilute solutions of the nitrile in MeOH (0.26 mM) at a temperature of 70 °C and at a pressure of 46 atm were found to be optimal for the reduction reaction. The progress of the reaction was followed upon analyzing the IR spectrum of an aliquot of the reaction mixture. The complete disappearance of nitrile stretching frequency at 2251 cm^{-1} was used to confirm the reduction reaction. Michael addition of 16 amine-terminated dendrimer 3 with tert-butyl acrylate in MeOH led to the isolation of fourth generation 32 esterfunctionalized dendrimer 4, in excellent yields. Solubility differences between the amine and the ester in hexane allowed facile separation of the ester from the amine component. The ester dendrimer, devoid of polar impurities was purified further by column chromatography (Al₂O₃ (neutral)). Iteration of the synthetic sequence of (i) reduction of ester 4 to alcohol 5, (ii) reaction of alcohol 5 with acrylonitrile to afford nitrile 6, (iii) reduction of nitrile 6 to amine 7, and (iv) reaction of amine 7 with *tert*-butyl acrylate led to the preparation of fifth generation 64 ester-functionalized PETIM dendrimer 8. Continuation of the iterative cycle, starting from ester 8 afforded alcohol 9, nitrile 10, amine 11, and 128 ester-functionalized sixth generation dendrimer 12. Molecular structures of the four, five, and six generation dendrimers are shown in Figures 1 and 2.

2.2. Characterization

Characterization of the newly formed dendrimers was possible through routine physical methods of analysis. As the synthetic sequence involved functional group changes at the peripheries of the dendrimers, following the IR spectral changes was useful to assess the presence or disappearance of the functional groups. Thus, spectral frequencies at 2251 cm^{-1} (-CN), 3460 cm^{-1} (-NH₂), 1729 cm^{-1} $(-CO_2^{t}Bu)$, and 3390 cm⁻¹ (-OH) were diagnostic to estimate the presence or absence of the respective functional groups. The IR spectral changes for the conversion of the fifth generation ester 8 to the sixth generation ester 12 are compiled in Figure 3. Such a pattern of IR spectral changes could be observed for all other dendrimers, thereby IR spectroscopy became a diagnostic tool to assess the growth of dendrimers. Characterization of the newly formed dendrimers by ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectroscopies further confirmed the constitution and the growth of dendrimers. The relative change in the chemical shifts of the -CH₂- group adjacent to the peripheral functionality was observed to be a characteristic feature of each dendrimer growth reaction.



Figure 1. Molecular structures of the fourth and the fifth generation PETIM dendrimers.



Scheme 1. Reagents and conditions: (a) 40% aq NaOH (cat.), acrylonitrile, rt, 15 h; (b) Raney Co, H₂O, H₂ (46 bar), 3 h, 70 °C; (c) *tert*-butyl acrylate, MeOH, rt, 72 h; (d) LiAlH₄, THF, 0 °C to rt, 4 h.

Thus, disappearance of resonances at ~2.60 ppm and appearance of resonances at ~ 1.70 and ~ 2.50 ppm signified the reduction of peripheral nitrile functionality and formation of aminopropyl functionality, respectively. Ester-terminated dendrimers showed the -CH₂-CH₂-CO₂^tBu protons at 3.40 and 2.34 ppm and, upon reduction of the esters with LiAlH₄, disappearance of the peak at 2.34 ppm and appearance of a resonance at \sim 3.70 ppm, corresponding to the formation of -CH2-CH2OH peripheral functionalities, were observed. Finally, Michael addition of the alcohol-functionalized dendrimers with acrylonitrile provided a spectrum showing disappearance of the peak at ~ 3.70 ppm and appearance of a set of triplet peaks at ~ 3.55 and 3.65 ppm. The relative intensity changes of the respective resonances confirmed the constitution of the dendrimers. The series of ¹H NMR spectra, corresponding to the growth of G5- $(ester)_{64}$ (8) to the G6- $(ester)_{128}$ (12), are presented in Figure 4.

Changes at the peripheries of the dendrimers as a result of advancing the generations could be confirmed by ^{13}C NMR spectroscopy. Complete disappearance of –CN resonance in the ^{13}C NMR spectrum at ~117.9 ppm and the appearance of carbonyl group resonance of the ester

functionality at ~172 ppm provided the completion of nitrile reduction to amine followed by Michael addition with *tert*-butyl acrylate. Similarly reduction of the ester to the alcohol (CH₂OH ~62 ppm) and the Michael addition of alcohol to the nitrile could be ascertained by appropriate changes in the ¹³C NMR resonances.

Characterization of the dendrimers by gel permeation chromatography (GPC), MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry, and elemental analysis was also performed. GPC was performed on a Phenogel (1000 Å) semipreparative column ($300 \times$ 7.80 mm), and eluted with THF (flow rate: 1 mL/min), using a refractive index detector. The GPC chromatograms of each *tert*-butyl ester terminated poly(propyl ether imine) dendrimers exhibited decreasing retention time from first generation dendrimer to the sixth generation poly(propyl ether imine) dendrimers (Fig. 5).

MALDI-TOF mass spectra up to four generations could be secured (Table 1). The observed mass spectrometric peaks corresponded to the $[M]^+$ or $[M+1]^+$ molecular ion largely. The mass spectrum of fifth and sixth generation dendrimers could not be secured, however. Elemental composition



Figure 2. Molecular structure of the sixth generation of ester-functionalized PETIM dendrimer.

analyses were performed mostly with the ester-functionalized dendrimers. The alcohol and the amine-terminated dendrimers were hygroscopic and their elemental analysis could not be routinely secured.

3. Conclusion

Following the earlier synthesis of PETIM dendrimers up to three generations, the present report establishes the synthesis of PETIM dendrimers up to the sixth generation, presenting 128 peripheral functionalities at their peripheries. Facile synthesis, with high yields in each synthetic step, and easy characterization made these PETIM dendrimers attractive for further studies. Accordingly, studies of the *endo*- and *exo*-receptor properties of the PETIM dendrimers are currently being undertaken.

4. Experimental

4.1. General methods

Chemicals were purchased from commercial sources and were used without further purification. Solvents were dried and distilled according to literature procedures. Analytical TLC was performed on commercial Merck plates coated with alumina GF₂₅₄ (0.25 mm). Neutral alumina was used for column chromatography. Microanalyses were performed on an automated C, H, and N analyzer. ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectral analyses were performed on a 300 and 75.5 MHz

spectrometer, respectively, with residual solvent signal acting as the internal standard. The following abbreviations are used to explain the multiplicities: s, singlet; d, doublet; t, triplet; m, multiplet.

4.2. General procedure for Michael addition of acrylonitrile

Acrylonitrile and aq NaOH (40%) were added to the alcoholfunctionalized dendrimer at room temperature and the mixture was allowed to stir for 15 h. Excess acrylonitrile was added further and the reaction mixture left to stir for another 6 h, then diluted with CHCl₃, filtered through Celite, and the filtrate concentrated under reduced pressure. The crude reaction mixture was purified by column chromatography (neutral Al_2O_3), to afford the desired compound.

4.3. General procedure for the reduction of nitrilefunctionalized PETIM dendrimer using Raney Co and subsequent Michael addition of the resulting amines

The nitrile-functionalized PETIM dendrimer was transferred to a hydrogenation reactor vessel and was mixed with Raney Co in H₂O. The mixture was hydrogenated (H₂, 46 atm) at 70 °C for 3 h. The reaction mixture was cooled and filtered through a Celite pad. The filtrate was concentrated to afford the corresponding amine-functionalized dendrimer. A solution of the crude amine in MeOH was treated with excess *tert*-butyl acrylate and stirred for 72 h at room temperature. Excess *tert*-butyl acrylate and MeOH were removed under reduced pressure and the crude



Figure 3. IR spectral comparison of the conversion of fifth generation ester 8 to sixth generation ester 12.

product was purified by column chromatography (neutral Al_2O_3).

4.4. General procedure for reduction of *tert*-butyl esters

A solution of the ester-functionalized dendrimer in THF was added drop-wise to a suspension of LiAlH₄ (2.0 equiv per one ester group) in THF over a period of 15 min, at 0 °C, and the stirring was continued for 4 h at room temperature. The reaction mixture was cooled to 0 °C, quenched with excess ice, passed through Celite, and the filtrate concentrated under reduced pressure. The inorganic material was precipitated using MeOH, filtered, and the filtrate concentrated. The alcohol-functionalized PETIM dendrimer was obtained upon extraction of the crude material with CHCl₃ and removal of the solvents.

4.4.1. G3-(**CN**)₁₆ (2). A mixture of 1 (0.73 g), acrylonitrile (0.63 mL), and aq NaOH (40%, 53 µL) was stirred for 15 h. Acrylonitrile (1 mL) was added, the reaction mixture stirred for 6 h and worked up as described in Section 4.2 to obtain **2**, as a colorless liquid (0.93 g, 94%). TLC (Al₂O₃): R_f 0.45 (CHCl₃/MeOH=94:6). FTIR (neat) ν : 2250, 1466, 1367, 1116. MALDI-TOF m/z: 3292.36 [M]⁺ (100%), 3066.23 (30%). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ : 1.68 (m, 84H), 2.46 (m, 84H), 2.59 (t, 32H, J=6.3 Hz), 3.40 (t, 52H, J=6.0 Hz), 3.51 (t, 32H, J=6.0 Hz), 3.63 (t, 32H, J=6.3 Hz). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75.5 MHz) δ : 18.8, 27.3, 27.4, 50.5, 50.8, 65.3, 69.1, 69.2, 69.3, 69.4, 117.9. Anal. Calcd for C₁₇₄H₃₁₆N₃₀O₂₉: C, 63.47; H, 9.68; N, 12.76. Found: C, 63.33; H, 9.69; N, 12.59.

4.4.2. G4-(CO₂^tBu)₃₂ (4). The nitrile derivative 2 (0.20 g) was added with Raney Co (0.80 g) in water (150 mL) and the reaction was continued further as given in Section 4.3 to afford amine 3 derivative. A solution of amine in MeOH (5 mL) was treated with tert-butyl acrylate (3 mL) and the reaction was followed as given in Section 4.2 to afford ester 4, as a colorless liquid (0.42 g, 93% combined yield for nitrile reduction and Michael addition reaction). TLC (Al₂O₃): R_f 0.52 (CHCl₃/MeOH=97:3). FTIR (neat) v: 1730, 1462, 1367, 1157. MALDI-TOF *m/z*: 7465.46 [M+Li]⁺ (99%), 7408.09 (100%). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ: 1.44 (s, 288H), 1.68 (q, 116H, J=6.9 Hz), 2.34 (t, 64H, J=7.2 Hz), 2.47 (t, 116H, J=6.9 Hz), 2.72 (t, 64H, J=7.5 Hz), 3.39 (t, 116H, J=6.3 Hz). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75.5 MHz) δ: 27.4, 27.7, 28.1, 33.8, 47.4, 50.5, 50.8, 68.9, 69.2, 69.3, 80.1, 172.0. Anal. Calcd for C₃₉₈H₇₆₄N₃₀O₉₃: C, 64.02; H, 10.25; N, 5.63. Found: C, 64.12; H, 9.92; N, 5.69.

4.4.3. G4-(OH)₃₂ **(5).** To a suspension of LiAlH₄ (0.20 g) in THF (5 mL), **4** (0.60 g) in THF (20 mL) was added dropwise, at 0 °C, the reaction continued further as described in Section 4.4 to obtain **5**, as a colorless liquid (0.41 g, 98%). FTIR (neat) ν : 3388, 1658, 1469, 1370, 1114, 1059. MALDI-TOF m/z: 5217.12 [M+H]⁺ (100%), 5158.88 (78%), 5100.23 (30%). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ : 1.71 (m, 180H), 2.50 (m, 116H), 2.60 (t, 64H, J=6.6 Hz), 3.41 (m, 116H), 3.70 (t, 64H, J=5.7 Hz). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75.5 MHz) δ : 26.9, 27.2, 28.7, 28.77, 50.7, 50.8, 50.9, 52.7, 62.3, 68.8, 69.1, 69.2.

4.4.4. G4-(CN)₃₂ **(6).** A mixture of **5** (0.40 g), acrylonitrile (0.32 mL), and aq NaOH (40%, 27 µL) was stirred for 15 h. Acrylonitrile (0.80 mL) was added further, left to stir for 6 h, and worked up as described in Section 4.2 to obtain **6**, as a colorless liquid (0.49 g, 93%). TLC (Al₂O₃): R_f 0.60 (CHCl₃/MeOH=92:8). FTIR (neat) ν : 2251, 1467, 1367, 1117. MALDI-TOF m/z: 6913.23 [M]⁺ (18%), 6460.28 (100%), 6686.85 (45%). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ : 1.69 (m, 180H), 2.48 (m, 180H), 2.60 (t, 64H, *J*=6.0 Hz), 3.41 (t, 116H, *J*=6 Hz), 3.52 (t, 64H, *J*=6.3 Hz), 3.63 (t, 64H, *J*=6.3 Hz). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75.5 MHz) δ : 18.9, 27.3, 27.4, 50.5, 50.8, 65.3, 69.1, 69.20, 69.24, 69.4, 118.0.

4.4.5. G5-(CO₂^{$^{\prime}$ Bu)₆₄ (8). The nitrile derivative 6 (0.21 g) was added with Raney Co (0.6 g) in water (150 mL) and}



Figure 4. ¹H NMR spectral changes during the conversion of the fifth generation ester 8 to the sixth generation ester 12.



Figure 5. Gel permeation chromatography traces of *tert*-butyl ester group functionalized PETIM dendrimers.

Table 1. Physical characteristics of PETIM dendrimers

Compound ^a	Molecular formula	Molecular mass ^b	$R_{\rm g} ({\rm \AA})^{11}$
$G1-(CO_2^tBu)_4$	C34H64O9N2	644.88 (645.47)	5.65
G1-(OH) ₄	$C_{18}H_{40}O_5N_2$	364.52 (365.30)	
G1-(CN) ₄	C30H52O5N6	576.77 (577.41)	
G1-(NH ₂) ₄	C30H68O5N6	592.90 (594.40)	
$G2-(CO_2^tBu)_8$	$C_{86}H_{164}O_{21}N_6$	1618.25 (1618.40)	8.90
G2-(OH)8	C54H116O13N6	1057.53 (1087)	
G2-(CN)8	C78H140O13N14	1482.032 (1482)	
G2-(NH ₂) ₈	C ₇₈ H ₁₇₂ O ₁₃ N ₁₄	1514.29	
$G3-(CO_2^tBu)_{16}$	C190H364O45N14	3564.99 (3563.80)	14.14
G3-(OH) ₁₆	C126H268O29N14	2443.55 (2442.73)	
G3-(CN) ₁₆	C174H316O29N30	3292.55 (3292.37)	
G3-(NH ₂) ₁₆	C174H380O29N30	3357.06	
$G4-(CO_2^tBu)_{32}$	C398H764O93N30	7458.47 (7465.46)	17.73
G4-(OH) ₃₂	C ₂₇₀ H ₅₇₂ O ₆₁ N ₃₀	5215.60 (5217.14)	
G4-(CN)32	C366H668O61N62	6913.60 (6913.23)	
G4-(NH ₂) ₃₂	C366H796O61N62	7042.62	
$G5-(CO_2^tBu)_{64}$	C814H1564O189N62	15245.43	21.13
G5-(OH) ₆₄	C558H1180O125N62	10759.68	
G5-(CN) ₆₄	C750H1372O125N126	14155.70	
G5-(NH ₂) ₆₄	C ₇₅₀ H ₁₆₂₈ O ₁₂₅ N ₁₂₆	14413.72	
$G6-(CO_2^{t}Bu)_{128}$	$C_{1646}H_{3164}O_{381}N_{126}$	30819.35	26.63

^a Codes for various dendrimers.

the reaction was continued further as given in Section 4.2 to afford amine 7 derivative. A solution of amine 7 in MeOH (3 mL) was treated with *tert*-butyl acrylate (2.84 mL) and the reaction was followed as given in Section 4.3 to afford **8**, as a colorless liquid (0.36 g, 78% combined yield for nitrile reduction and Michael addition reaction). TLC (Al₂O₃): R_f 0.66 (CHCl₃/MeOH=95:5). FTIR (neat) *v*: 1729, 1462, 1367, 1157. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ : 1.44 (s, 576H), 1.69 (q, 244H, *J*=6.3 Hz), 2.34 (t, 128H, *J*=6.9 Hz), 2.47 (t, 244H, *J*=6.3 Hz), 2.71 (t, 128H, *J*=6.9 Hz), 3.39 (t, 244H, *J*=6.3 Hz). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75.5 MHz) δ : 27.5, 27.7, 28.1, 33.8, 49.4, 50.6, 50.9, 69.0, 69.3, 80.2, 172.1. Anal. Calcd for C₃₉₈H₇₆₄N₃₀O₉₃: C, 64.09; H, 10.33; N, 5.71. Found: C, 63.89; H, 9.92; N, 5.45.

4.4.6. G5-(OH)₆₄ (**9).** To a suspension of LiAlH₄ (0.13 g) in THF (5 mL), **8** (0.4 g) in THF (15 mL) was added drop-wise, at 0 °C, the reaction continued further as described in the Section 4.4 to obtain **9** quantitatively, as a colorless liquid. FTIR (neat) ν : 3384, 1656, 1464, 1371, 1113, 1058. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ : 1.72 (m, 372H), 2.51 (m, 244H), 2.60 (t, 128H, *J*=6.6 Hz), 3.41 (m, 244H), 3.70 (t, 128H, *J*=5.7 Hz); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75.5 MHz) δ : 26.9, 27.2, 28.7, 29.8, 50.7, 50.8, 50.9, 52.8, 62.3, 62.6, 68.8, 69.1, 69.2.

4.4.7. G5-(**CN**)₆₄ (**10**). A mixture of **9** (0.55 g), acrylonitrile (0.43 mL), and aq NaOH (40%, 72 µL) was stirred for 15 h. Acrylonitrile (0.43 mL) was added further, left to stir for 6 h, and worked up as described in Section 4.2 to obtain **10**, as a colorless liquid (0.66 g, 91%). TLC (Al₂O₃): R_f 0.46 (CHCl₃/MeOH=92:8). FTIR (neat) ν : 2251, 1464, 1377, 1115. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ : 1.71 (m, 372H), 2.48 (m, 372H), 2.60 (t, 128H, *J*=6.0 Hz), 3.41 (t, 244H, *J*=6 Hz), 3.52 (t, 128H, *J*=6.3 Hz), 3.64 (t, 128H, *J*=6.3 Hz); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75.5 MHz) δ : 18.9, 27.3, 27.4, 50.5, 50.8, 65.3, 69.1, 69.2, 69.3, 69.4, 118.0.

4.4.8. G6-(CO₂^{*t*}Bu)₁₂₈ (12). The nitrile derivative 10 (0.10 g) was added with Raney Co (0.5 g) in water (120 mL) and the reaction was continued further as given in Section 4.3 to afford amine 11 derivative. A solution of amine 11 in MeOH (2 mL) was treated with excess *tert*-butyl

^b Molecular mass obtained from mass spectrometric analysis is given in parenthesis.

acrylate (1.32 mL) and the reaction was followed as given in Section 4.3 to afford **12**, as a colorless liquid (0.16 g, 73% combined yield for nitrile reduction and Michael addition reaction). TLC (Al₂O₃): R_f 0.6 (CHCl₃/MeOH=93:7). FTIR (neat) ν : 1729, 1458, 1367, 1157. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ : 1.44 (s, 1152H), 1.69 (q, 500H, *J*=6.9 Hz), 2.34 (t, 256H, *J*=7.2 Hz), 2.47 (t, 500H, *J*=7.2 Hz), 2.71 (t, 256H, *J*=7.2 Hz), 3.39 (t, 500H, *J*=6.9 Hz). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75.5 MHz) δ : 27.3, 27.6, 28.1, 33.7, 49.4, 50.5, 50.8, 68.9, 69.2, 69.3, 80.1, 172.1.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Department of Science and Technology, New Delhi, for a financial support. G.J. thanks Council of Scientific and Industrial Research, New Delhi, for a research fellowship.

References and notes

 For a few recent reviews on dendrimers, see: (a) Tomalia, D. A. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* 2005, 30, 294–324; (b) Fréchet, J. M. J. *J. Polym. Sci. A.* 2003, 41, 3713–3725; (c) Aulenta, F.; Hayes, W.; Rannard, S. *Eur. Polym. J* 2003, 39, 1741–1771; (d) Gittins, P. J.; Twyman, L. J. *Supramol. Chem.* 2003, 15, 5–23; (e) Smith, D. K. *Chem. Commun.* 2006, 34–44.

- (a) Chow, H.; Mong, T. K. T.; Nongrum, M. F.; Chi-Wai, W. *Tetrahedron* 1998, 54, 8543–8660; (b) Matthews, O. A.; Shipway, A. N.; Stoddart, J. F. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* 1998, 23, 1–56; (c) Inoue, K. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* 2000, 25, 453–571.
- Tomalia, D. A.; Baker, H.; Dewald, J.; Hall, M.; Kallos, C.; Martin, S.; Roeck, J.; Smith, P. Polym. J (Tokyo) 1985, 17, 117–132.
- 4. de Brabander-van den Berg, E. M. M.; Meijer, E. W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl **1993**, *32*, 1308–1311.
- (a) Hawker, C. J.; Fréchet, J. M. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 7638–7647; (b) Wooley, K. L.; Hawker, C. J.; Fréchet, J. M. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 4252–4261.
- van der Made, A. W.; van Leeuwen, P. W. N. M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1992, 1400–1401.
- (a) Miedaner, A.; Curtis, C. J.; Barkley, R. M.; DuBois, D. L. *Inorg. Chem.* **1994**, *33*, 5482–5490; (b) Galliot, C.; Larré, C.; Caminade, A. M.; Majoral, J. P. *Science* **1997**, *277*, 1981–1984.
- Dykes, G. M.; Brierley, L. J.; Smith, D. K.; Terry McGrail, P.; Seeley, G. J. *Chem.*—*Eur. J.* 2001, *7*, 4730–4739.
- Ruiz, J.; Latuente, H.; Marcen, S.; Ornelas, C.; Lazare, S.; Cloutet, E.; Blais, J.-C.; Astruc, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 7250–7257.
- (a) Krishna, T. R.; Jayaraman, N. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 9694–9704; (b) Krishna, T. R.; Jain, S.; Tatu, U. S.; Jayaraman, N. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 4281–4288.
- Jana, C.; Jayamurugan, G.; Ganapathy, R.; Maiti, P. K.; Jayaraman, N.; Sood, A. K. J. Chem. Phys. 2006, 124, 204719–204719-10.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9589-9602

Synthesis of chlorine-containing angucycline BE-23254 and its analogs

Dipakranjan Mal* and Satyajit Dey[†]

Department of Chemistry, Indian Institute of Technology, Kharagpur 721302, West Bengal, India

Received 4 April 2006; revised 10 July 2006; accepted 27 July 2006 Available online 17 August 2006

Abstract—The total synthesis of BE-23254, an unusual angucycline antibiotic is reported. This is achieved by adopting a Hauser annulation and a DDQ-promoted aromatization as the key steps. The strategy has been generalized for the synthesis of several analogs of the target molecule. A regioselective preparation of chlorine-containing phenols is also described. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Angucyclines and angucyclinones are a large group of quinonoid natural products characterized by a benz[a]anthraquinone or a variant thereof as the core structure originating from a decaketide chain precursor.^{1,2} This class of compounds often displays a broad spectrum of biological activities, which include antiviral and antitumor activities, cytotoxic activity against various cancer cell lines, inhibition of angiogenesis and platelet aggregation, and inhibitory activity against the pentagastrin-stimulated acid secretion. BE-23254 (1), an unusual angucycline antibiotic with aromatic A ring was isolated by Okabe et al.³ in 1992 from Streptomyces sp. A 23254. It was reported to possess activity against the human colon cancer DLD-1 (IC₅₀ 0.75 μ g mL⁻¹). It is structurally unique in that it is the only member of angucyclines to contain a chlorine atom at the C-9 position of the ring skeleton. The methyl group at C-3, which is present in almost all other angucyclines numbering about 150, is absent in BE-23254 (1). In addition, the presence of a carboxylic acid at the C-2 position of BE-23254 is a rare structural feature of angucycline antibiotics. These unusual structural features coupled with its bioactivity prompted us to execute a short and efficient total synthesis of the molecule that has been the subject of a recent communication⁴ from our laboratory. We now report a full account of the investigation and the synthesis of analogs of the target molecule.

2. Synthetic strategy

During the past two decades, a good number of methodologies have been developed and employed for the total synthesis of angucycline targets.⁵ While the Diels–Alder strategy has been very successful for the total syntheses of complex angucyclines, we introduced the notion of employing Hauser annulation^{6a} as a complementary means.⁶ We were particularly attracted by the unambiguous regiochemical integrity of the methodology in addition to the mildness of the reaction conditions. The retrosynthetic disconnections for BE-23254 (1) featuring a Hauser annulation are shown in Scheme 1. It was planned to condense naphthalenone **4** (AB ring synthon) with the isobenzofuranones **3a** and **3b** (D ring synthons) for the regiospecific fabrication of the tetracyclic framework **2**. DDQ-promoted aromatization of



Scheme 1. Retrosynthetic plan for BE-23254 (1).

Keywords: Angucyclines; Hauser annulation; Naphthalenone; Chlorinative aromatization.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +91 3222 283318; fax: +91 3222 282252; e-mail: dmal@chem.iitkgp.ernet.in

[†] Present address: Department of Chemistry, Tamralipta Mahavidyalaya, Tamluk 721636, West Bengal, India.

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter @ 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.090

the nonaromatic A ring of the product 2 was expected to furnish the complete chromophoric structure of the target molecule.

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Synthesis of naphthalenone 4 (AB ring synthon)

We began the synthesis of hitherto unreported naphthalenone 4 (Scheme 2) starting from commercially available 6-methoxytetralone (6) through compound 7. Compound 7 was prepared from compound 6 in four steps in 43% overall yield by the reported sequence⁷ of reactions. The IR and NMR spectroscopic data of all the intermediate compounds were in agreement with the reported⁷ values. It was then demethylated by treatment with HBr-AcOH under reflux conditions to give the hydroxyacid $\mathbf{8}^8$ in 81% yield. In order to protect the acid functionality, the acid 8 was selectively esterified with DBU-MeI9 in acetonitrile to afford compound 9. Doubly methylated compound 10 was also isolated as a co-product when a slight excess of MeI was used. Compound 9 on treatment with 1.1 equiv of phenyliodonium diacetate (PIDA) in MeOH at 0 °C to rt furnished the naphthalenone 4 in 67% yield together with a small amount of unknown byproducts. The structure of this compound was established by analysis of its IR, ¹H NMR, and ¹³C NMR spectra. The ¹H NMR spectrum of **4** showed two doublets at δ 6.64 and 6.21 and one doublet of doublets at δ 6.63 corresponding to olefinic protons at C-8, C-5, and C-7, respectively, along with other characteristic signals.



Scheme 2. Synthesis of naphthalenone 4.

3.2. Model synthetic study of benz[a]anthraquinones

At the outset, the synthesis of compound **15** representing the chromophoric part of BE-23254 (1) was chosen for the model study. We were apprehensive that compound **14** might undergo benzylic oxidation or oxidative dimerization under the influence of DDQ, which is known to cause such reactions¹⁰ with structurally similar hydroxytetralin **11** (Eq. 1). Yet, the easy accessibility of compound **14** led us to examine Scheme 3. Isobenzofuranone **12**¹¹ was annulated with naphthalenone **13** in the presence of *r*BuOLi in dry THF at $-60 \,^{\circ}$ C and benz[*a*]anthraquinone **14** with a nonaromatic A ring was obtained in 65% yield. This was then subjected

to aromatization by DDQ in dry benzene under reflux for 3 days to furnish benz[*a*]anthraquinone **15** in 67% yield (Scheme 3). Comparison of its ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR spectroscopic data with the literature¹² data confirmed the structure.



We then proceeded to execute the crucial annulation reaction of cyanophthalide 12 with naphthalenone 4 to install the carboxylic acid group at C-2 (AB ring synthon). Annulation of naphthalenone 4 with cyanophthalide 12 was carried out in the presence of 'BuOLi, which has proved to be the best base for such purposes, in THF at -60 °C (CHCl₃/liq. N₂ bath) under an inert atmosphere. After usual work-up of the reaction mixture and chromatographic purification of the crude product, compound 16 was obtained in an unoptimized yield of 58%. It is noteworthy that the ester functionality in 4 did not interfere with the annulation process. For aromatization, compound 16 was treated with DDQ (6.0 equiv) in dry benzene at reflux for 10 days. Monitoring the course of the reaction required recording ¹H NMR spectra of the reaction mixture at regular intervals because TLC experiments were not useful. Formation of an inseparable mixture of didehydro intermediate 17 and the desired product **18** was revealed by analysis of the ¹H NMR spectra. The formation of didehydro intermediate 17 was ascertained by appearance of two triplets at δ 2.63 and 2.92 for two CH₂ groups at C-4 and C-3, respectively, two singlets: one at δ 8.87 for =CH at C-1 and other at δ 13.48 for hydrogen bonded -OH group at C-6. Although it was possible to record the ¹H NMR spectrum of **18** in CDCl₃, its ¹³C NMR spectrum could not be recorded due to its poor solubility in common deuterated solvents (e.g., CDCl₃, CD₃OD, acetone- d_6 , DMSO- d_6). This compound was further characterized by analysis using IR spectroscopy and HRMS.

With the two successes (Schemes 3 and 4), we next examined annulation of the naphthalenone 4 with isobenzofuranones 19 and 20. This model study entails the differences in the isobenzofuranone parts. Isobenzofuranones 19 and 20 were prepared from ethyl 2-hydroxy-5-methylbenzoate (26), which, in turn, was obtained in two steps starting from ethyl acetoacetate and crotonaldehyde according to the published procedure.¹³ Transformation of compound 26 to 19 and 20 were achieved in four steps by literature methods.^{11,14} Annulation reaction between **20** and **4** in the presence of 'BuOLi under the typical conditions used previously, afforded the angucycline analog 21 in 69% yield (Scheme 5) after chromatographic purification. This was aromatized by DDQ oxidation to give compound 22, which was demethylated by treatment with anhydrous AlCl₃ in CH₂Cl₂ to furnish compound 23. Compounds 22 and 23 were primarily characterized by IR, ¹H NMR, and mass



Scheme 3. Synthesis of model compound 15.



Scheme 4. Synthesis of model compound 18.

spectral data. The poor solubility of the compounds in common deuterated solvents precluded recording of ¹³C NMR spectra. The ¹H NMR spectrum of compound 23 showed two sharp singlets at δ 12.10 and 11.80 characteristics of two H-bonded OH groups present at C-6 and C-8 positions. In the aromatic region it showed two sharp singlets, one at δ 10.15, characteristic of the proton at C-1 and the other at δ 7.67 for the aromatic proton at C-5. It may be noted that the use of sulfone phthalide 19 in the above reaction with naphthalenone 4 provided no annulation product, i.e., 21. Naphthalenone 4 could be recovered in a substantial amount from the reaction, whereas sulfone phthalide 19 was destroyed during the reaction. The failure of the reaction is presumably due to a steric interaction between the sulfone group of phthalide and the OMe group at C-4a position of the naphthalenone.

In order to find a suitable substitute for the DDQ-promoted aromatization, which typically gave nearly 50% yields of the aromatized products for compounds 14, 16, and 21, we

examined a sequence of NBS bromination and HBr elimination. This sequence was applied to compound **21** (Scheme 6).



Scheme 6. Bromination and HBr elimination approach for aromatization study.

Compound **24**, prepared by acetylation of **21**, was brominated with NBS (2 equiv) in the presence of benzoyl peroxide and the resulting crude brominated product **25** was treated with DBU (2 equiv). However, the yield of the expected aromatized product **22** was very low (5%).

3.3. Synthesis of isobenzofuranones 3a and 3b (D ring synthons)

For the synthesis of key isobenzofuranones 3a and 3b (D ring synthons), the phenolic ester 26 was chosen as the starting material, since it had all the necessary substituents except the chlorine, and it was easily accessible.¹³ We studied its direct chlorination with different chlorinating agents, while we were aware that methods for selective *ortho*



 Table 1. Product distribution of chlorination of phenol 26

Entry	Reagents and conditions	Yield of 5 (%)	Yield of 27 (%)	Yield of 28 (%)
1	Cl ₂ (excess), AcOH, rt	_	_	79
2	SO ₂ Cl ₂ , 100 °C, 3 h	_	_	65
3	NCS (1.1 equiv), CCl_4 , reflux, 4–5 h	11	53	_
4	NCS (1.1 equiv), AcOH, reflux, 4–5 h	Trace	35	—
5	NaOCl (1.1 equiv), AcOH, reflux, 4–5 h	Trace	15	49
6	Cl ₂ (1.2 equiv), AcOH, rt	_	47	21
7	Cl_2 (1.2 equiv), AcOH, rt (inverse addition)	_	74	_

chlorination of substituted phenols are rare in the literature.¹⁵ Initially, the phenolic ester was subjected to chlorination by passing chlorine gas through a stirred solution of the phenol 26 dissolved in AcOH (entry 1, Table 1; Scheme 7). It was difficult to control the absorption of the required amount of chlorine gas. As a result, an excess of chlorine gas was absorbed and only the dichlorophenol 28 was obtained in 79% yield as a white solid after column chromatographic purification. The same dichloro compound 28 was also obtained in 65% yield by heating the phenolic ester 26 with sulfuryl chloride (1.5 equiv). Alternatively, the chlorination at C-3 position of compound 26 was tried with NCS (1.1 equiv) in CCl₄, NCS (1.1 equiv) in AcOH, and aq NaOCl in AcOH. However, in each of these cases, an inseparable mixture of monochloro compounds 5, 27, and dichloro compound 28 was obtained in different ratios. In another mode, the phenol 26 was added to a solution of chlorine gas (1.2 equiv) dissolved in acetic acid (entry 6) and a 2:1 mixture of monochlorophenol 27 and dichlorophenol 28 was obtained in 68% yield. The monochloro compound 27 was obtained as the sole chlorinated product in 74% yield on addition of chlorine (1.2 equiv) in acetic acid to a stirred solution of the phenolic ester 26 taken in acetic acid (entry 7). The structure of product 27 was confirmed by analysis of ¹H NMR, ¹³C NMR, and NOE spectra and also by a number of chemical transformations (Scheme 8). In the NOE spectrum of 27, irradiation of the Me-signal at δ 2.62 produced no NOE enhancement of the Ar-H signal at δ 6.79.

The chlorophenol **27** was methylated with methyl iodide in the presence of K_2CO_3 and the methoxy compound **29**, when reacted with NBS (2.2 equiv) and AIBN in CCl₄, gave monobromo derivative **30**, instead of dibromo compound **32** (Scheme 8). The monobromo compound **30** was then subjected to Sommelet reaction with urotropine in acetic acid, but aldehyde **33** was not formed. Alternatively, compound **30** was treated with aqueous silver nitrate solution. After stirring at room temperature for 2 h, a mixture of chlorophthalide **31**¹⁶ and nitrite **34** was obtained. The two products



Scheme 8. Chemical transformations of monochlorophenol 27.

were separated by column chromatography. The chlorophthalide **31** was then transformed into phenylthiophthalide **36** by reaction with NBS (1.1 equiv) followed by the treatment of the resulting bromophthalide **35** with a 1:1 mixture of thiophenol and triethylamine in chloroform at room temperature.

The above unwanted results on chlorination of phenolic ester 26 led us to select cyclohexenone 37 as the alternative starting material, the immediate precursor of the phenolic ester 26. In the first attempt on the way to compound 5, excess of chlorine gas was passed through a solution of cyclohexenone ester 37 taken in AcOH during 2 h at room temperature and the resulting crude product was treated with DBU (2 equiv) to afford the dichloro compound 38 in 43% yield (Scheme 9). The structure of this product was confirmed by analysis of its NMR and NOE spectra. In the NOE spectrum, irradiation of the Me-signal at δ 2.52 produced NOE enhancement of the Ar-H signal at δ 6.87. This indicated that the Ar-H and the Me group are present on vicinal carbon atoms of compound 38. Finally, the problem of preparing monochloro compound 5 was solved by sulfuryl chloride promoted chlorination of cyclohexenone 37. Its reaction with sulfuryl chloride (2 equiv) followed by treatment with DBU (3 equiv) at room temperature afforded, after usual work-up, the desired chloro compound 5 in 41% yield (Scheme 9). The structure of this product was confirmed by analysis of its NMR and NOE spectra. In the NOE spectrum, irradiation of the Me-signal at δ 2.52 produced NOE



Scheme 7. Product distribution of chlorination of phenol 26.



Scheme 9. Chlorination study on cyclohexenone 37.

enhancement of the Ar-H signal at δ 6.67. This observation indicated that the Ar-H and the benzylic CH₃ group are present on vicinal carbon atoms of compound **5**.

Chlorophenol **5** was then transformed into isobenzofuranones **3a** and **3b** in four steps (Scheme 10). The phenolic OH group of compound **5** was methylated (Me₂SO₄, K₂CO₃) to give ester **39**, which was subjected to benzylic bromination with NBS (2.2 equiv) to furnish compound **40**. Dibromo compound **40** was hydrolyzed with a refluxing mixture of AcOH, HCl, and H₂O to produce corresponding phthalaldehydic acid **41**. This five-step synthesis of **41** appears to be competitive to its earlier synthesis.¹⁷ Two key



Scheme 10. Synthesis of isobenzofuranones 3a and 3b.

synthons **3a** and **3b** were then prepared according to the general procedures reported for the preparation of cyanophthalides¹¹ and phenylsulfone phthalides.¹⁸ Reaction of phthalaldehydic acid **41** with KCN in the presence of concd HCl afforded cyanophthalide **3a** in 83% yield. Its structure was established by analysis of IR, NMR (¹H and ¹³C), and mass spectral data. Similarly, the corresponding sulfone phthalide **3b** was prepared in 70% yield from phthalaldehydic acid **41** by its reaction with phenylsulfinic acid in the presence of BF₃ • etherate.

3.4. Total synthesis of BE-23254 (1)

3-Phenylsulfonylphthalides are generally preferred to the 3cyanophthalides as the Hauser-donors due to difficulties in the preparation of the latter. Consequently, we first attempted to condense sulfone phthalide 3b with naphthalenone 4 (Scheme 11). Their reaction in the presence of lithium tert-butoxide from -60 to 0 °C, followed by stirring overnight at room temperature and routine work-up did not yield the expected annulation product 2. Naphthalenone 4 could be recovered from the reaction in a substantial amount, whereas sulfone phthalide 3b was destroyed during the reaction. This failure with the sulfone phthalide was apprehended on the basis of the experiment described for 19 (Scheme 5). However, this experiment was performed to reinforce our explanation that this failure was due to the steric effect. The polar effect of the chlorine atom has little influence on the failure.

Alternatively, reaction of cyanophthalide 3a with naphthalenone 4 in the presence of 'BuOLi at -60 °C followed by stirring at room temperature for 6 h provided the



tetrahydrobenz[a]anthraquinone 2 in 71% yield, which was characterized by analysis of IR, NMR (¹H and ¹³C), and mass spectral data. The ¹H NMR spectrum of the compound 2 showed three sharp singlets: at δ 13.00 (H-bonded OH group at C-6), 4.01 (OCH₃), and 3.74 (COOCH₃). In the aromatic region, it revealed two one-hydrogen doublets at δ 7.99 and 7.82, and one singlet at δ 7.06 for hydrogen at C-5. The nonequivalent protons of the CH₂ group at C-1 appeared as doublet of doublets at δ 3.61 and 3.30. Each proton was equally splitted by the other $(J_{gem}=18.6 \text{ Hz})$ and unequally by the neighboring proton (i.e., α to ester functionality) at C-2 (J_{vic} =10.0 and 5.6 Hz). IR, ¹³C NMR, and mass spectral data of this compound were also in accordance with the structure. Aromatization of the A-ring in 2 was effected by DDO in refluxing benzene to provide 43 in 49% yield. This reaction required careful monitoring by ¹H NMR spectra of the interrupted reaction mixtures because the reaction progressed through the formation of inseparable mixtures of didehydro intermediate 42 and the desired product 43. Prolonged refluxing seemed to destroy the aromatized product 43 into an unidentified product. Formation of the didehydro intermediate 42 was ascertained by the appearance of two triplets at δ 2.89 and 2.60 for two CH₂ groups at C-4 and C-3, respectively, and two singlets: one at δ 8.70 for C-1 hydrogen and other at δ 13.43 for hydrogen bonded -OH group. Demethylation of compound 43 was done by treatment with anhydrous AlCl₃ in CH₂Cl₂ at room temperature to afford 44 in 78% yield. Base (NaOH) catalyzed hydrolysis of 44 yielded the natural product BE-23254 (1) in 92% yield. All the A-ring aromatic compounds of this series (1, 43, and 44) were characterized by analysis of IR, ¹H NMR, and HRMS spectra. ¹³C NMR spectra of compounds 1, 43, and 44 could not be recorded due to their poor solubility in common deuterated solvents including pyridine- d_5 .

3.5. Synthesis of fluoro analog of BE-23254

As a matter of course, our next effort was directed at synthesizing a fluorine-containing analog of BE-23254 (1). It is well established that the selective introduction of a fluorine atom or a fluorinated residue into a biologically active molecule is an effective means for modifying its physicochemical properties and consequently its physiological behavior.¹⁹

For the synthesis of the required fluoro cyanophthalide 55, we commenced with anisic ester 45, obtained from phenolic ester 25. Considering the fact that acetyl nitrate is orthoselective,²⁰ anisic ester **45** was treated with acetyl nitrate²¹ at -5 to -10 °C in acetic anhydride (Scheme 12). It yielded a mixture of ortho- and para-nitro anisic esters 46 and 47 in 57 and 43% yield, respectively. These were separated by column chromatography and characterized by analysis of their IR and NMR (¹H and ¹³C) spectra. Both the compounds 46 and 47 showed the same coupling pattern in their ¹H NMR spectrum but they were distinguished by comparing the chemical shift of the methyl groups at C-6. In compound 46, the methyl group appeared at δ 2.36, while that in compound 47 appeared at δ 2.48 as it is closer to the electron withdrawing nitro group. These data are comparable to that of the corresponding methyl esters.²² Ester 46 was then transformed to the corresponding amine 48 by treatment with stannous chloride dihydrate in ethanol at 70 °C in accordance with the literature procedure.²³ The amine **48** was obtained in 45% yield along with hydroxy amine compound **49** in 19% yield.



Scheme 12. Synthesis of amine 48.

In order to avoid the formation of **49** and thereby increase the yield of **48**, we submitted compound **46** to hydrogenation over 10% Pd– C^{24} in absolute ethanol at room temperature. In this case (Scheme 13), the amine **48** was obtained in 77% yield with the side product **50** in 18% yield.



Scheme 13. Reduction of nitro compound 46 to amine 48.

The required fluorophthalide 55 was synthesized from amine 48 in five steps (Scheme 14). Amine 48 was treated with NaNO₂ and HCl followed by cold HPF₆ solution to obtain the corresponding phosphorus hexafluoride salt 51, which was filtered, dried, and without purification decomposed at 120-125 °C.25 After the decomposition was complete, the residue was processed in usual manner to yield fluoro compound 52, after purification, in overall 19% yield. Compound 52 was then subjected to benzylic bromination with NBS (2.2 equiv) to furnish dibromo compound 53, which was then hydrolyzed with a refluxing mixture of AcOH, HCl, and H₂O to yield corresponding phthalaldehydic acid 54 in 75% yield. Finally, the cyanophthalide 55 was prepared according to the general procedure.¹¹ Reaction of phthalaldehydic acid 54 with KCN in the presence of concd HCl afforded, after column chromatographic purification, the cyanophthalide 55 in 79% yield. Structures of the compounds 52-55 were established by the analysis of IR, NMR (¹H and ¹³C), and mass spectral data. The ¹H NMR spectra of compounds **54** and **55** had a pair of double doublets corresponding to C-4 and C-5 hydrogens due to coupling with each other and with fluorine at C-6. In addition, these also showed a doublet for the methoxy group at C-7 due to its coupling with the fluorine.

Treatment of naphthalenone **4** with the anion of fluorophthalide **55** (Scheme 15) generated with lithium *tert*-butoxide in THF at $-60 \degree C$ (CHCl₃/liq. N₂ bath) under N₂ atmosphere provided tetracyclic compound **56**. The structure of the annulated product **56** was characterized by examination of



Scheme 14. Synthesis of fluoro cyanophthalide 55.

IR, NMR, and mass spectral data. Its ¹H NMR spectrum showed a sharp singlet at δ 13.02 for the H-bonded hydroxyl group at C-6. In the aromatic region, it revealed two double doublets at δ 8.02 ($J_{H-F(o)}=10.1$ Hz and $J_{H-H(o)}=8.7$ Hz) and 7.45 ($J_{H-F(m)}=5.0$ Hz and $J_{H-H(o)}=8.7$ Hz) corresponding to C-10 and C-11 hydrogens. The singlet at δ 7.06 corresponds to hydrogen at C-5. In addition, it also exhibited a doublet at δ 4.08 ($J_{OMe-F}=3.3$ Hz) for the methoxy group at C-8 due to its coupling with fluorine and another singlet at δ 3.74 for carbomethoxy group. Due to the inefficiency in the conversion of **48** \rightarrow **52**, further investigations with **56** on the way to obtain fluoro analog of BE-23254 (1) were stalled.



Scheme 15. Annulation of cyanophthalide 55 with naphthalenone 4.

4. Conclusions

In conclusion, we have presented a regiospecific total synthesis of BE-23254 (1) starting from commercially available 6-methoxytetralone, and showcased the applicability and brevity of Hauser annulation–DDQ-promoted aromatization strategy in the synthesis of angucyclines. Use of the strategy has culminated in the synthesis of several angucycline analogs, namely 15, 18, 22, and fluoro analog 56. We have also executed a new regiospecific preparation of *ortho*-chlorinated phenols based on chlorinative aromatization of a cyclohexenone derivative (Scheme 9). It would be interesting to examine the biological activities of the newly prepared A-ring nonaromatic benz[a]anthraquinone derivatives like 2, 14, 16, 21, and 56.

5. Experimental

5.1. General

¹H NMR spectra were recorded on a 200, 300, or a 500 MHz spectrometer (Brücker) as solution in ²*H*-chloroform or

mixture of ²H-chloroform and CCl₄, or in mixture of ²*H*-chloroform and DMSO- d_6 with TMS as an internal standard. Chemical shifts are expressed in δ unit and ¹H–¹H coupling constants in hertz. ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on a 50, 75, or a 125 MHz spectrometer (Brücker) instrument with solution of compounds in ^{2}H -chloroform, mixture of ²*H*-chloroform and CCl₄, and mixture of ²*H*-chloroform and DMSO- d_6 . IR spectra were recorded on a Thermo Nicolet Nexus 870 FTIR spectrometer using KBr pellets. EIMS (70 eV) spectra were taken using a VG Autospec M mass spectrometer. Elemental analyses were carried out by using an elemental analyzer VARIO EL instrument. All solvents for chromatography (column and preparative layer chromatography) were distilled prior to use. In most of the column chromatographic separations, ethyl acetate, chloroform, and petroleum ether (60-80 °C) were used as eluants. Columns were prepared with silica gel (60-120 mesh). For preparative thin layer chromatographic (PLC) separations, the layer was prepared over a glass plate using water gel. The mixture of silica gel-GF₂₅₄ and silica gel-G was used for the PLC plate preparation. The phrase 'usual work-up' or 'worked up in usual manner' refers to washing of the organic phase with water and brine, drying (Na₂SO₄), filtration, and concentration under reduced pressure. Solid compounds were recrystallized from ethyl acetate-petroleum ether or otherwise mentioned.

5.2. General procedure for annulation reaction

To a stirred solution of lithium *tert*-butoxide (9.84 mmol) in THF (40 mL) at $-60 \degree$ C (chloroform/liq. N₂ bath) under an inert atmosphere was added a solution of a phthalide (3.28 mmol) in THF (5 mL). The resulting yellowish solution was stirred at -60 °C for 30 min, after which a solution of a Michael acceptor (1.0-1.5 equiv unless otherwise stated) in THF (5 mL) was added to it. Cooling bath was removed after about 1 h at $-60 \degree C$ and the reaction mixture was brought to room temperature over a period of 1 h and further stirred for 2-6 h. The reaction was then guenched with 10% NH₄Cl (15 mL) and the resulting solution was concentrated in vacuo. Generally, a bright yellow solid appeared, which was filtered and washed with 1:1 mixture (20 mL) of diethyl ether and petroleum ether. Otherwise, the residue was diluted with ethyl acetate (50 mL) and the layers were separated. The aqueous layer was extracted with ethyl acetate $(3 \times 25 \text{ mL})$. The combined extracts were washed with brine, H_2O , dried (Na₂SO₄), and

concentrated. The crude product was purified by column chromatography or by recrystallization to get a pure product.

5.3. General procedure for DDQ oxidation

To a stirred solution of 1,2,3,4-tetrahydrobenz[*a*]anthraquinone compound (280 mmol) in dry benzene (10 mL) under an inert atmosphere was added DDQ (6 equiv). The resulting mixture was refluxed with stirring for 3–12 days under inert atmosphere. The progress of the reaction was monitored by ¹H NMR spectroscopy and disappearance of the signals in the aliphatic region was followed. TLC was not useful for the purpose because of the formation of the inseparable mixtures of didehydro compound and final aromatized product at the intermediate stage of the reaction. After completion of the reaction, benzene was removed under reduced pressure. The aromatized product was purified by column chromatography using mixtures of CHCl₃ and petroleum ether (5:1) as eluant.

5.4. General procedure for O-demethylation of phenolic ether

To a stirred solution of a methoxy compound (0.105 mmol) in dry CH_2Cl_2 (2 mL) at 0 °C under Ar-atmosphere was added anhydrous AlCl₃ (5 equiv). After 1 h of stirring at 0 °C, the reaction mixture was allowed to come to room temperature and stirring was continued for additional 6 h. The reaction mixture was quenched with 2 M HCl (4 mL). Usual work-up of the organic extract afforded a solid that was further purified by column chromatography (3:1 mixture of CHCl₃/petroleum ether).

5.5. General procedure of O-methylation of phenolic compounds

A phenolic compound (3.0 mmol) was dissolved in dry acetone (15 mL) under N₂-atmosphere. To this solution were added dry K_2CO_3 (15 mmol) and Me_2SO_4 (6 mmol) (freshly washed with cold water, saturated NaHCO₃ solution, brine, and then dried over anhydrous K_2CO_3). After 2 h of reflux, on completion of the reaction, inorganic salts were filtered and the filtrate was concentrated. The residue was diluted with ether, treated with Et₃N (6 mmol) at room temperature, and stirred for 30 min. The reaction mixture was then diluted with ethyl acetate (50 mL), washed with water and 5% HCl, and subjected to usual work-up to get a crude residue, which was further purified by recrystallization or by column chromatography to give a pure methoxy compound.

5.5.1. BE-23254 (1). To a stirred solution of ester compound **44** (20 mg, 0.05 mmol) in methanol (5 mL), 20% aq solution of NaOH (2 mL) was added. The resulting pink colored solution was allowed to stir overnight. Then the reaction mixture was acidified with dilute HCl and extracted with ethyl acetate (3×30 mL). Usual work-up of the organic extract afforded a red solid that was further purified by column chromatography (3:1 CHCl₃/petroleum ether). Yield: 92%; mp: 324–326 °C; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3409, 1705, 1618, 1425, 1233, 1050, 759; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, pyridine- d_5): δ 10.9 (s, 1H), 8.55 (d, 1H, *J*=8.3 Hz), 7.90–7.81 (m, 4H); MS *m*/*z* (EI): 368 (M⁺), 354, 323, 256, 236, 194, 152, 137,

129, 111, 97, 83, 69; HRMS m/z (ESI) calcd for $C_{19}H_9^{35}ClO_6$ (M⁺-H): 367.0009; found: 367.0026.

5.5.2. Methyl 9-chloro-6-hydroxy-8-methoxy-1,2,3,4-tetrahydrobenz[a]anthracene-7,12-dione-2-carboxylate (2). This compound was prepared as a yellow solid by annulation of 6-chloro-7-methoxy cyanophthalide (3a) with Michael acceptor 4 following the general procedure in Section 5.2. Yield: 71%; mp: 135–136 °C; v_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3408, 1733, 1634, 1273, 1025, 763, 697; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃+CCl₄): 13.00 (s, 1H), 7.99 (d, 1H, J=8.0 Hz), 7.82 (d, 1H, J=8.0 Hz), 7.06 (s, 1H), 4.01 (s, 3H), 3.74 (s, 3H), 3.61 (dd, 1H, J=5.6 and 18.6 Hz), 3.30 (dd, 1H, J=10.0 and 18.6 Hz), 2.94-2.89 (m, 2H), 2.80-2.68 (m, 1H), 2.21–2.12 (m, 1H), 2.03–1.90 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): 187.8, 183.7, 175.4, 160.7, 156.1, 147.8, 136.5, 135.8, 135.2, 131.8, 129.9, 126.2, 124.5, 124.2, 116.4, 61.6, 51.9, 39.8, 30.9, 29.9, 24.1; MS m/z (EI): 400 (M⁺), 369, 340, 326, 322, 297, 284, 256, 236, 197; HRMS m/z (ESI) calcd for $C_{21}H_{13}^{35}ClO_6$ (M⁺+H): 401.0792; found: 401.0755.

5.5.3. 6-Chloro-3-cyano-7-methoxyphthalide (3a). To a solution of KCN (1.25 g, 19.2 mmol) in water (5 mL) was added phthalaldehydic acid 41 (0.5 g, 2.78 mmol). The clear reddish solution was stirred for 10 min at room temperature and cooled to $0 \,^{\circ}$ C. After addition of ice (~5 g), concentrated HCl (4 mL) was added and the resulting clear colorless solution was removed from the ice bath and stored at room temperature for 5 h. A white precipitate deposited. This was filtered, dried, and recrystallized from ethyl acetate to give a white crystalline solid (430 mg, 1.92 mmol). Yield: 83%; mp: 90–91 °C; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 1788, 1601, 1390, 1024, 768; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃+CCl₄): 7.84–7.80 (d, 1H, J=8.0 Hz), 7.33-7.28 (d, 1H, J=8.0 Hz), 6.97 (s, 1H), 4.21 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): 163.8, 155.5, 141.6, 137.5, 130.3, 117.4, 116.6, 113.2, 64.6, 62.9; MS m/z (EI): 223 (M⁺), 205, 194, 177, 167, 149, 137, 100, 75; HRMS m/z (ESI) calcd for $C_{10}H_6N^{35}ClO_3$ (M⁺+H): 224.0114; found: 224.0106.

5.5.4. 3-Benzenesulfonyl-6-chloro-7-methoxy-3H-isobenzofuran-1-one (3b). This compound was prepared from compound 41 following the procedure of Mal et al.¹⁸ To a stirred mixture of phthalaldehydic acid **41** (200 mg, 0.93 mmol) and a freshly prepared benzenesulfinic acid (400 mg, 2.82 mmol) in dry dichloromethane (5 mL) at room temperature under Ar-atmosphere was added 4-5 drops of boron trifluoride diethyl etherate. The mixture was stirred for about 12 h. A pale yellow solid separated on addition of ice-cold water (15 mL) into the reaction mixture. It was filtered and recrystallized from ethyl acetate-hexane to give sulfone phthalide **3b** as white crystalline solid (220 mg, 0.65 mmol). Yield: 70%, mp: 138–139 °C; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 1781, 1596, 1469, 1348, 1155, 1004, 835, 719, 682, 593; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): 7.84–7.48 (m, 7H), 6.07 (s, 1H), 4.01 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): 164.2, 155.2, 139.5, 137.1, 135.0, 140, 130.5, 129.7, 129.3, 120.1, 118.3, 89.5, 62.0; HRMS m/z (ESI) calcd for C₁₅H₁₁³⁵ClO₅S (M⁺+H): 339.0094; found: 339.0107.

5.5.5. Methyl 1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-4a-methoxy-6-oxonaphthalene-2-carboxylate (4). To a stirred solution of compound 9 (300 mg, 1.46 mmol) in methanol (10 mL) at 0 °C under N2 atmosphere was portionwise added PIDA (560 mg, 1.74 mmol). The temperature was held at 0 °C for about 30 min. Then the mixture was allowed to come to ambient temperature during a period of 1 h. Bulk of methanol was removed under reduced pressure and the residue upon quick silica gel filtration afforded compound 4 as waxy solid. Yield: 65%; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 1735, 1667, 1636, 1441, 1305, 1207, 1085, 987, 891; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): 6.64 (d, 1H, J=10.0 Hz), 6.63 (dd, 1H. J=1.9 and 10.0 Hz), 6.21 (d. 1H. J=1.4 Hz), 3.65 (s. 3H), 3.02 (s, 3H), 2.53–2.20 (m, 5H), 1.60–1.41 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): 185.8, 174.6, 160.5, 149.8, 131.3, 127.1, 72.7, 51.82, 51.7, 40.5, 37.5, 31.0, 29.9. No attempt was made for preparing an analytical sample due to its propensity to decomposition on silica gel chromatography or standing.

5.5.6. Ethyl 3-chloro-2-hydroxy-6-methylbenzoate (5). To the stirred solution of cyclohexenone 37 (4.22 g, 23.2 mmol) in CCl₄ at 0 °C was added SO₂Cl₂ (3.8 mL, 46.9 mmol) dropwise. The reaction mixture was allowed to stir for additional half an hour at room temperature. Thereafter, it was heated at reflux for 4 h. After completion of the reaction, the product was extracted with dichloromethane, dried over sodium sulfate, and solvent was then removed. The crude residue was then dissolved in benzene (10 mL) and treated with 3 equiv of DBU with occasional stirring at room temperature for about 4-5 h. Benzene was removed under reduced pressure. Finally, the mixture was extracted with ethyl acetate $(3 \times 25 \text{ mL})$ and washed with cold 10% aq HCl (15 mL). The extract was worked up in usual manner to give the desired product, which was further purified by column chromatography using petroleum ether and ethyl acetate (15:1) to afford a pure product 5 as white solid (2.04 g). Yield: 41%; mp: 55–56 °C; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3442, 1663, 1424, 1256, 1205, 802; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃+CCl₄): 11.97 (s, 1H), 7.37 (d, 1H, J=8.0 Hz), 6.67 (d, 1H, J=8.0 Hz), 4.50 (q, 2H, J=7.0 Hz), 2.52 (s, 3H), 1.44 (t, 3H, J=7.0 Hz); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): 172.4, 158.1, 140, 134, 122.8, 120, 113.6, 62.1, 23.8, 14.1; HRMS m/z (ESI) calcd for $C_{10}H_{11}^{35}ClO_3$ (M⁺+H): 215.0475; found: 215.0461.

5.5.7. 1,2,3,4-Tetrahydro-6-methoxynaphthalene-2-carboxylic acid (7). This compound was prepared following the procedure reported by Reddy and Rao⁷ in four steps starting from 6-methoxytetralone (**6**). White solid. Yield: 91%, mp: 146–147 °C (lit.⁷ mp: 152 °C). ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 2947, 1694, 1431, 1302, 1264, 959; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃+DMSO-*d*₆): δ 6.86 (1H, d, *J*=8.0 Hz), 6.57–6.46 (m, 2H), 5.15 (br s, 1H), 2.80–2.66 (m, 4H), 2.60–2.43 (m, 1H), 2.12–1.99 (m, 1H), 1.74–1.60 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃+DMSO-*d*₆): δ 176.6, 156.7, 136.1, 129.0, 126.4, 112.5, 111.3, 54.3, 39.1, 30.0, 27.9, 24.9; HRMS *m/z* (ESI) calcd for C₁₂H₁₄O₃ (M⁺+H): 207.1021; found: 207.1014.

5.5.8. 6-Hydroxy-1,2,3,4-tetrahydronaphthalene-2-carboxylic acid (8). A mixture of naphthalene-2-carboxylic acid **7** (2.5 g, 12.13 mmol), 20 mL of hydrobromic acid (48% aq solution), and 20 mL of acetic acid was heated at reflux for 3–4 h. After completion of the reaction, acetic

acid was removed. Usual work-up of the residue furnished the desired product **8** as a white solid. This was recrystallized from ethyl acetate and petroleum ether. Yield: 81%; mp: 137–138 °C; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3257, 1691, 1608, 1456, 1239, 942; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, DMSO- d_6 +CDCl₃): δ 7.72 (d, 1H, *J*=8.0 Hz), 6.46–6.38 (m, 2H), 3.91 (br s, 1H), 2.75–2.39 (m, 5H), 2.04–1.94 (m, 1H), 1.72–1.59 (m, 1H); 1³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 176.9, 154.2, 136, 129.0, 124.9, 114.3, 112.7, 39.3, 30.1, 27.8, 25.0.

5.5.9. Methyl 6-hydroxy-1.2.3.4-tetrahydronaphthalene-2-carboxylate (9). This was prepared in accordance with the procedure⁹ of Mal. To a solution of 1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-6hydroxynaphthalene-2-carboxylic acid (1.00 g, 7.81 mmol) and DBU (1.20 g, 7.88 mmol) in acetonitrile (15 mL) cooled to 0 °C was slowly added methyl iodide (0.5 mL, 8.1 mmol) over 5 min. The resulting solution was stirred for 30 min at 0 °C and then for 2 h at room temperature. Solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the residue was diluted with water (30 mL). The aqueous solution was extracted with ether $(3 \times 25 \text{ mL})$. The combined organic layer was washed with NaHCO₃ solution (20 mL), brine, and concentrated. Purification of the crude residue by column chromatography (3:7 mixture of ethyl acetate-petroleum ether) gave compound 9 as a white solid. Yield: 96%; mp: 90–91 °C; $\nu_{\rm max}$ (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3439, 1701, 1619, 1587, 1499, 1266. 1221, 1145, 1009, 808, 584; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 6.93 (d, 1H, J=8.2 Hz), 6.65 (dd, 1H, J=2.0 and 8.2 Hz), 6.59 (d, 1H, J=2.0 Hz), 3.74 (s, 3H), 2.95–2.89 (m, 2H), 2.82-2.63 (m, 3H), 2.22-2.10 (m, 1H), 1.89-1.75 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 176.6, 153.9, 136.9, 129.0, 126.6, 115.1, 113.4, 51.9, 40.2, 30.9, 28.5, 25.7; HRMS m/z (ESI) calcd for $C_{12}H_{14}O_3$ (M⁺-H): 205.0779; found: 205.0788.

5.5.10. Methyl 1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-6-methoxynaphthalene-2-carboxylate (10). This product was obtained as a side product during the esterification of compound **8** with DBU–MeI in acetonitrile. Colorless liquid. Yield: 5%; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 1734, 1613, 1502, 1443, 1265, 1227, 1166, 1035, 821; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃+CCl₄): δ 6.98 (d, 1H, *J*=8.3 Hz), 6.64 (dd, 1H, *J*=2.1 and 8.3 Hz), 6.57 (d, 1H, *J*=2.1 Hz), 3.76 (s, 3H), 3.72 (s, 3H), 2.84 (m, 4H), 2.68 (m, 1H), 2.18 (m, 1H), 1.85 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃+CCl₄): δ 175.3, 157.6, 136.3, 129.6, 126.6, 113.1, 112.0, 54.8, 51.3, 39.9, 30.7, 28.6, 25.6.

5.5.11. 6-Hydroxybenz[*a*]**anthracene-7,12-dione** (15). This compound was prepared from **14** according to the general procedure in Section 5.3. Red solid. Yield: 67%; mp: 203 °C (lit.¹² mp: 201–204 °C); ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3429, 1641, 1589, 1442, 1379, 1307; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 12.46 (s, 1H), 9.49–9.46 (m, 1H), 8.30–8.28 (m, 2H), 7.82 (m, 2H), 7.88–7.77 (m, 1H), 7.74–7.69 (s, 1H), 7.58–7.52 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 190.1, 185.4, 156.8, 139.2, 135.0, 133.6, 132.0, 129.9, 129.5, 128.9, 128.5, 127.9, 127.3, 127.2, 126.4, 126.2, 121.1, 119.5.

5.5.12. Methyl 6-hydroxy-1,2,3,4-tetrahydrobenz[*a*]anthracene-7,12-dione-2-carboxylate (16). This compound was prepared as a yellow solid by annulation of cyanophthalide 12 with Michael acceptor 4 following the general procedure of annulation in Section 5.2. Yield: 58%; mp: 196–197 °C; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3435, 1739, 1660, 1634, 1587, 1456, 1360, 1283, 1250, 1176, 1017, 795, 722; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃+CCl₄): 13.03 (s, 1H), 8.40–8.09 (m, 2H), 7.92–7.60 (m, 2H), 7.04 (s, 1H), 3.75 (s, 3H), 3.64–3.61 (m, 1H), 3.40–3.25 (m, 1H), 2.96–2.89 (m, 2H), 2.79–2.65 (m, 1H), 2.15–2.10 (m, 1H), 2.05–1.92 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): 188.7, 175.4, 160.9, 148.1, 135.5, 134.5, 133.4, 132.3, 130.5, 130.1, 127.3, 126.2, 124.1, 121.3, 115.7, 51.9, 39.9, 31.0, 30.0, 24.1; HRMS *m*/*z* (ESI) calcd for C₂₀H₁₆O₅ (M⁺+H): 337.1017; found: 337.1021.

5.5.13. Methyl 6-hydroxybenz[*a*]anthracene-7,12-dione-2-carboxylate (18). This compound was prepared from 16 according to the general procedure in Section 5.3. Red solid. Yield: 56%; mp: 262–263 °C; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3444, 1720, 1639, 1587, 1533, 1662, 1319, 1275, 1216, 748; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): 12.56 (s, 1H), 10.19 (s, 1H), 8.36–8.25 (m, 2H), 8.14 (dd, 1H, *J*=2.0 and 8.0 Hz), 7.91– 7.69 (m, 4H), 4.02 (s, 3H); HRMS *m/z* (ESI) calcd for C₂₀H₁₂O₅ (M⁺+H): 333.0763; found: 333.0761.

5.5.14. Methyl 6-hydroxy-8-methoxy-1,2,3,4-tetrahydrobenz[*a*]anthracene-7,12-dione-2-carboxylate (21). This compound was prepared by annulation of cyanophthalide **20** with Michael acceptor **4** following the general procedure in Section 5.2. Orange solid. Yield: 69%; mp: 174–175 °C; $\nu_{\rm max}$ (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3432, 1730, 1632, 1582, 1466, 1361, 1290, 1229, 1174, 1031, 1065, 948, 919, 838, 785; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 13.23 (s, 1H), 7.86 (d, 1H, *J*=7.8 Hz), 7.72 (dd, 1H, *J*=7.8 and 8.2 Hz), 7.30 (d, 1H, *J*=8.2 Hz), 7.03 (s, 1H), 4.01 (s, 3H), 3.70 (s, 3H), 3.68–3.56 (m, 1H), 3.38–3.24 (m, 1H), 2.97–2.85 (m, 2H), 2.80–2.65 (m, 1H), 2.20–1.80 (m, 2H).

5.5.15. Methyl 6-hydroxy-8-methoxybenz[*a*]anthracene-7,12-dione-2-carboxylate (22). This compound was prepared from 21 according to the general procedure in Section 5.3. Red solid. Yield: 51%; mp: 266–267 °C; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3414, 1710, 1643, 1452, 1286, 1255, 1221, 1033, 939, 763. ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 12.67 (s, 1H), 9.98 (s, 1H), 8.06 (d, 1H, *J*=9.0 Hz), 7.90 (d, 1H, *J*=7.7 Hz), 7.72 (m, 2H), 7.60 (s, 1H), 7.31 (d, 1H, *J*=8.1 Hz), 4.04 (s, 3H), 3.95 (s, 3H); HRMS *m/z* (ESI) calcd for C₂₁H₁₄O₆ (M⁺+H): 363.0869; found: 363.0872.

5.5.16. Methyl 6,8-dihydroxybenz[*a*]anthracene-7,12-dione-2-carboxylate (23). This compound was prepared as a brick red solid by AlCl₃ catalyzed demethylation of compound 22 following the procedure adopted for compound 43. Yield: 69%; mp: 278–279 °C; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3410, 1716, 1633, 1590, 1457, 1409, 1309, 1223, 1106, 1081, 758; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 12.10 (1H, s), 11.80 (s, 1H), 10.15 (s, 1H), 8.13 (d, 1H, *J*=8.6 Hz), 7.85 (d, 1H, *J*=7.6 Hz), 7.79–7.68 (m, 2H), 7.67 (s, 1H), 7.31 (d, 1H, *J*=8.3 Hz), 4.02 (s, 3H); HRMS *m*/*z* (ESI) calcd for C₂₀H₁₂O₆ (M⁺+H): 349.0712; found: 349.0721.

5.5.17. Methyl 6-acetoxy-8-methoxy-1,2,3,4-tetrahydrobenz[*a*]anthracene-7,12-dione-2-carboxylate (24). Phenolic compound 20 (100 mg, 0.27 mmol) was dissolved in a mixture of distilled acetic anhydride (0.5 mL) and pyridine (1.5 mL). The resulting solution was allowed to stir for about

6 h at ambient temperature and then poured into crushed ice (25 g) and extracted with ether (3×15 mL). The extract was washed several times with CuSO₄ solution followed by usual work-up gave a crude product. This was purified by column chromatography (ethyl acetate-petroleum ether) to furnish **24** as a yellow solid. Mp: 168–169 °C; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 1768, 1727, 1668, 1587, 1469, 1369, 1257, 1031, 944, 790, 759, 678, 584; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.74– 7.58 (m, 3H), 7.09 (s, 1H), 4.07 (s, 3H), 3.73 (s, 3H), 3.68-3.58 (m, 1H), 3.43-3.29 (m, 1H), 2.97-2.89 (m, 2H), 2.78–2.68 (m, 1H), 2.47 (s, 3H), 2.17–2.03 (m, 1H), 1.98– 1.86 (m, 1H): ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): 185.7, 181.9, 175.3, 170.1, 159, 147.3, 144.1, 136.8, 136.1, 134.5, 132.6, 129.8, 126.5, 122.1, 119.1, 117.1, 56.6, 51.9, 39.7, 31, 29.4, 24.1, 21.2; HRMS m/z (ESI) calcd for C₂₃H₂₀O₇ (M⁺+H): 409.1229; found: 409.1239.

5.5.18. Ethyl 3-chloro-6-hydroxy-2-methylbenzoate (27). To a stirred solution of ethyl 2-hydroxy-6-methylbenzoate (26) (1 g, 5.55 mmol) in acetic acid (5 mL) was added dropwise a solution of chlorine (0.470 g, 6.62 mmol) in acetic acid (3 mL) and stirring was continued for additional 2 h. The solution was evaporated to dryness and the residue was extracted with ethyl acetate $(2 \times 25 \text{ mL})$ and usual work-up of the extract furnished the product 27, which was further purified by column chromatographic separation using petroleum ether-ethyl acetate (10:1). White solid. Yield: 75%; mp: 54–55 °C; $\nu_{\rm max}$ (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3439, 1664, 1597, 1452, 1382, 1320, 1293, 1213, 1023, 914; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): 10.95 (s, 1H), 7.38 (d, 1H, J=10.0 Hz), 6.79 (d, 1H, J=10.0 Hz), 4.44 (q, 2H, J=7.0 Hz), 2.62 (s, 3H), 1.43 (t, 3H, J=7.0 Hz); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): 170.7, 160.6, 137.6, 134.7, 125.8, 122.6, 116.4, 62.0, 19.4, 14.0; HRMS m/z (ESI) calcd for $C_{10}H_{11}^{35}ClO_3$ (M⁺+H): 215.0475; found: 215.0466.

5.5.19. Ethyl 3,5-dichloro-2-hydroxy-6-methylbenzoate (28). To a stirred solution of phenolic ester 26 (1.5 g, 8.3 mmol) in acetic acid, excess of chlorine gas (generated by dropwise addition of concd HCl to solid KMnO₄) was absorbed at room temperature for 2 h. After completion of the reaction, acetic acid was removed under reduced pressure and the residue was extracted with ethyl acetate $(3 \times 20 \text{ mL})$ and usual work-up of the combined extract furnished crude product 28, which was purified by column chromatography. Yield: 79%; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3408, 1577, 1453, 1387, 1319, 1287, 1278, 1031, 957, 808, 670; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃+CCl₄): 11.31 (s, 1H), 7.53 (s, 1H), 4.53–4.40 (q, 2H, J=7.2 Hz), 2.56 (s, 3H), 1.48–1.40 (t, 3H, J=7.2 Hz); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): 170.4, 156.1, 136.6, 134.3, 125.7, 120.4, 115.6, 62.7, 19.3, 14.1; HRMS m/z (ESI) calcd for $C_{10}H_{10}^{35}Cl_2O_3$ (M⁺+H): 249.0035; found: 249.0039.

5.5.20. Ethyl 3-chloro-6-methoxy-2-methylbenzoate (29). This compound was prepared from ethyl 3-chloro-6-hydroxy-2-methylbenzoate (**27**) following the general procedure in Section 5.5. Colorless liquid. Yield: 76%; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 2988, 1733, 1566, 1468, 1261, 1024, 808; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃+CCl₄): 7.30 (d, 1H, *J*=8 Hz), 6.70 (d, 1H, *J*=8 Hz), 4.40 (q, 2H, *J*=7 Hz), 3.79 (s, 3H), 2.81 (s, 3H), 1.37 (t, 3H, *J*=7 Hz); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): 167.4, 154.7, 133.8, 130.3, 126.3, 125.7, 109.8, 61.4, 56.0, 17.0, 14.1.

5.5.21. Ethyl 2-bromomethyl-3-chloro-6-methoxybenzoate (**30**). Benzylic bromination was performed using 1.1 equiv of NBS following the procedure adopted for the preparation of compound **40** from **39**. ¹H NMR (200 MHz, $CDCl_3+CCl_4$): 7.37 (d, 1H, *J*=8.8 Hz), 6.83 (d, 1H, *J*=8.8 Hz), 4.53 (s, 2H), 4.48 (q, 2H, *J*=7.2 Hz), 3.83 (s, 3H), 1.42 (t, 3H, *J*=7.2 Hz).

5.5.22. 4-Chloro-7-methoxyphthalide (31). An aqueous solution of silver nitrate (0.270 g, 1.6 mmol) was added to 50% ethanolic solution of ethyl 2-bromomethyl-3-chloro-6-methoxybenzoate (30) (0.410 g, 1.33 mmol). The resulting mixture was then stirred at room temperature for about 4-5 h. Solid materials were filtered off and the filtrate was evaporated. The residue on usual work-up furnished a crude mixture of products 31 and 34. Phthalide 31 was separated by column chromatographic separation using petroleum ether and ethyl acetate (3:1). White solid. Yield: 19%; mp: 163–164 °C (lit.¹⁶ mp: 167–168 °C); ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 1759, 1485, 1288, 1028, 819; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃+CCl₄): 7.54 (d, 1H, J=8.6 Hz), 6.92 (d, 1H, J=8.6 Hz), 5.20 (s, 2H), 3.99 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃+CCl₄): 167.3, 157.4, 146.6, 135.2, 118.9, 115.2, 112.4, 67.4. 56.1; HRMS m/z (ESI) calcd for C₉H₇³⁵ClO₃ (M⁺-H): 197.0005; found: 197.0004.

5.5.23. Ethyl 3-chloro-6-methoxy-2-nitrooxymethylbenzoate (34). This was obtained as a co-product in the reaction of ethyl 2-bromomethyl-3-chloro-6-methoxybenzoate (**30**) with aq silver nitrate as described above. Colorless liquid. Yield: 18%; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 1730, 1639, 1275, 851; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃+CCl₄): 7.40 (d, 1H, *J*=8.8 Hz), 6.91 (d, 1H, *J*=8.8 Hz), 5.59 (s, 2H), 4.39 (q, 2H, *J*=7.2 Hz), 3.84 (s, 3H), 1.37 (t, 3H, *J*=7.2 Hz); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃+CCl₄): 165.6, 155.4, 131.4, 128.0, 126.6, 113.7, 68.8, 61.7, 56.1, 29.6, 14.0.

5.5.24. 3-Bromo-4-chloro-7-methoxyphthalide (35). Benzylic bromination of compound **31** was performed using 1.2 equiv of *N*-bromosuccinimide according to the procedure adopted for compound **39**. Light brown colored liquid. Crude yield: 75% (as judged by NMR); ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃+CCl₄): 7.63 (d, 1H, *J*=8.8 Hz), 7.23 (s, 1H), 7.02 (d, 1H, *J*=8.8 Hz), 4.02, (s, 3H).

5.5.25. 4-Chloro-3-phenylthio-7-methoxyphthalide (36). To a stirred solution of 3-bromo-4-chloro-7-methoxyphthalide (**35**) (20 mg, 0.072 mmol) in dry chloroform, triethylamine (0.072 mmol) and thiophenol (0.072 mmol) were added and the resulting mixture was stirred for 4–5 h. After completion of the reaction, it was diluted with diethyl ether (15 mL), washed with 5% NaOH (15 mL) solution, and worked up in usual manner. Crude product **36** was purified by column chromatography. Yield: 50%; mp: 117–118 °C; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 1754, 1590, 1473, 1442, 1281, 1199, 1160, 1046, 946; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃+CCl₄): 7.52–7.43 (m, 3H), 7.26–7.19 (m, 3H), 6.82 (d, 1H, J=8.6 Hz), 6.50 (s, 1H), 3.90 (s, 3H).

5.5.26. Ethyl 3,4-dichloro-2-hydroxy-6-methylbenzoate (38). Excess chlorine gas was passed through a stirred solution of ethyl 6-methyl-2-oxo-3-cyclohexenecarboxylate (37) (1.00 g, 5.46 mmol) in acetic acid during half an hour and stirring was continued for additional 2 h. Acetic acid was

removed in vacuo. The product was extracted with ethyl acetate (3×15 mL). The extract was dried over Na₂SO₄ and solvent was removed. The residue was then dissolved in CCl₄ (10 mL) and treated with 2 equiv of DBU with stirring at room temperature. Stirring was continued for 5-6 h. The reaction mixture was extracted with ethyl acetate $(3 \times 10 \text{ mL})$ and washed with cold 10% aq HCl. The extract was worked up in usual manner to give a crude product, which was purified by column chromatography to get pure **38**. White solid. Yield: 43%; mp: 98–99 °C; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3445, 1657, 1387, 1259, 1193, 860, 800. ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃+CCl₄): 12.33 (s, 1H), 6.87 (s, 1H), 4.46 (q, 2H, J=7.2 Hz), 2.52 (s, 3H), 1.44 (t, 3H, J=7.2 Hz); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): 171.2, 159.7, 140.0, 138.2, 134.0, 123.6, 111.7, 62.4, 23.8, 14.1; HRMS m/z (ESI) calcd for C₁₀H₁₀³⁵Cl₂O₃ (M⁺+H): 249.0035; found: 249.0037.

5.5.27. Ethyl 3-chloro-2-methoxy-6-methylbenzoate (39). This compound was prepared as a colorless liquid from phenolic ester **5** (2.11 g, 9.84 mmol) following the general procedure in Section 5.5. Yield: 68%; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 1731, 1461, 1272, 1107, 807; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃+CCl₄): 7.27 (d, 1H, *J*=8.0 Hz), 6.88 (d, 1H, *J*=8.0 Hz), 4.41 (q, 2H, *J*=7.0 Hz), 3.90 (s, 3H), 2.28 (s, 3H), 1.39 (t, 3H, *J*=7.0 Hz); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃+CCl₄): 166.8, 152.9, 134.9, 130.9, 130.6, 126.3, 125.1, 61.7, 61.1, 18.8, 14.2.

5.5.28. Ethyl 3-chloro-2-methoxy-6-dibromomethylbenzoate (40). A mixture of compound **39** (1.17 g, 5.12 mmol) and NBS (2.00 g, 11.2 mmol) in CCl₄ (15 mL) containing a catalytic amount of benzoyl peroxide was heated at reflux for 1 h while irradiated by a 100 W electric bulb. At the end of the reaction, the mixture was chilled (ice bath) and filtered. Removal of solvent from the filtrate furnished the crude dibromo compound **40**. This was further purified by column chromatography separation. Light yellow colored liquid. Yield: 67%; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 1720, 1461, 1268, 938, 692; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃+CCl₄): 7.72 (d, 1H, *J*=8.0 Hz), 7.51 (d, 1H, *J*=8.0 Hz), 6.75 (s, 1H), 4.46 (q, 2H, *J*=7.0 Hz), 3.91 (s, 3H), 1.44 (t, 3H, *J*=7.0 Hz); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): 165.0, 152.2, 138.5, 132.4, 131.7, 129.2, 126.2, 62.2, 62.0, 35.4, 14.1.

5.5.29. 6-Chloro-3-hydroxy-7-methoxyphthalide (41). A mixture of dibromo compound 40 (2.20 g, 5.7 mmol), concd hydrochloric acid (3 mL), acetic acid (3 mL), and water (10 mL) was heated at reflux for 4 h. The solution was concentrated to dryness under reduced pressure and the concentrate was extracted with saturated sodium bicarbonate solutions, which on acidification (10% aq HCl), extraction into ethyl acetate layer, and usual work-up of the organic phase furnished compound 41 as a crystalline solid. The undissolved part of the residue was further hydrolyzed by repeating the procedure described above to furnish 41 as a crystalline solid. Yield: 72%; mp: 147–148 °C (lit.¹⁷ mp: 159–163 °C); ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 1741, 1633, 1383; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆+CDCl₃): 7.60 (d, 1H, J=8.0 Hz), 7.16 (d, 1H, J=8.0 Hz), 6.42 (s, 1H), 5.16 (br s, 1H), 4.05 (s, 3H); 13 C NMR (50 MHz, DMSO-d₆+CDCl₃): 165.2, 153.9, 147.8, 136.1, 128.7, 119.2, 118.5, 96.5, 62.2; MS m/z (EI): 214 (80) M⁺, 203, 196, 184, 178, 169, 156, 139, 126, 110, 99, 77.

5.5.30. Methyl 9-chloro-6-hydroxy-8-methoxybenz[*a*]anthracene-7,12-dione-2-carboxylate (43). This compound was prepared from compound 2 according to the general procedure in Section 5.3. Red solid. Yield: 49%; mp: 234–235 °C; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3426, 1725, 1644, 1570, 1459, 1314, 1265, 1222, 1019, 760; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 12.42 (s, 1H), 10.04 (s, 1H), 8.12 (d, 1H, *J*=8.4 Hz), 8.08 (d, 1H, *J*=8.6 Hz), 7.86 (d, 1H, *J*=8.4 Hz), 7.75 (d, 1H, *J*=8.6 Hz). 7.68 (s, 1H), 4.06 (s, 3H), 4.01 (s, 3H); HRMS *m*/*z* (ESI) calcd for C₂₁H₁₃³⁵ClO₆ (M⁺+H): 397.0479; found: 397.0468.

5.5.31. Methyl 9-chloro-6.8-dihydroxy-benz[a]anthracene-7,12-dione-2-carboxylate (44). To a stirred solution of compound 43 (40 mg, 0.105 mmol) in dry CH₂Cl₂ (2 mL) at 0 °C under Ar-atmosphere was added anhydrous AlCl₃ (5 equiv). After 1 h of stirring at 0 °C, the reaction mixture was allowed to come to room temperature and stirring was continued for additional 6 h. The reaction mixture was quenched with 2 M HCl (4 mL). Usual work-up of the organic extract afforded a solid, which was purified by column chromatography (CHCl₃-petroleum ether, 3:1) to give 44 as a red solid. Yield: 78%; mp: 273–274 °C; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3407 (br s), 1713, 1627, 1419, 1282, 1224, 1128, 1080, 994, 761; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 12.34 (s, 1H), 11.90 (s, 1H), 10.15 (s, 1H), 8.14 (dd, 1H, J=1.5 and 8.7 Hz), 7.83 (s, 2H), 7.76 (d, 1H, J=8.7 Hz), 7.71 (s, 1H), 4.02 (s, 3H); MS m/z (EI): 382 (100) M⁺, 351 (64), 323 (39), 256, 236, 175, 137, 123, 103, 91, 80, 69, 54; HRMS m/z (ESI) calcd for $C_{20}H_{11}^{35}ClO_6$ (M⁺-H): 381.0166; found: 381.0150.

5.5.32. Ethyl 2-methoxy-6-methyl-3-nitrobenzoate (46). Acetyl nitrate was prepared by dropwise addition of fuming HNO₃ (0.270 mg, 3 mmol) with rapid stirring to 1.5 mL of acetic anhydride taken in a flask at 0-10 °C. After 15 min, the resulting solution was added to a stirred solution of ethyl 2-methoxy-6-methylbenzoate (460 mg, 2.8 mmol) in acetic anhydride (4 mL) at temperature between 0 and -10 °C. Stirring was continued at this temperature for about 1 h and then allowed to come to room temperature. The mixture was then poured into 10 mL of cold water and triturated with saturated solution of NaHCO₃ solution and then extracted with ether $(3 \times 20 \text{ mL})$. Usual work-up of the combined extracts furnished a light yellow liquid. The crude product was purified by column chromatography to give compound **46** as a yellow liquid. Yield: 57%; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 1730, 1592, 1526, 1351, 1273, 1120, 1066; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): 7.85 (d, 1H, J=8.4 Hz), 7.06 (d, 1H, J=8.4 Hz), 4.42 (q, 2H, J=7.1 Hz), 3.87 (s, 3H), 2.36 (s, 3H), 1.39 (t, 3H, J=7.1 Hz); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): 165.7, 150.7, 142.6, 140.8, 131.4, 125.8, 125.5, 63.3, 61.5, 19.0, 13.8.

5.5.33. Ethyl 6-methoxy-2-methyl-3-nitrobenzoate (47). This was obtained as a co-product during the nitration (described above) of ethyl 2-methoxy-6-methylbenzoate by acetyl nitrate. Light yellow solid. Yield: 43%; mp: 70 °C; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 1730, 1603, 1583, 1513, 1471, 1347, 1261, 1110, 1070, 1027, 824, 650; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 8.07 (d, 1H, *J*=9.2 Hz), 6.83 (d, 1H, *J*=9.2 Hz), 4.41 (q, 2H, *J*=6.9 Hz), 3.90 (s, 3H), 2.48 (s, 3H), 1.37 (t, 3H, *J*=6.9 Hz); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz): 166.2, 159.3, 142.6, 132.5, 127.7, 126.3, 108.5, 61.7, 56.2, 16.9, 13.9.

5.5.34. Ethyl 3-amino-6-methoxy-2-methylbenzoate (48). To a solution of nitro compound 46 (1.5 g, 6.24 mmol) in ethanol (25 mL), 20 mg of 10% Pd-C was added. The solution was then deoxygenated under vacuum and was allowed to absorb hydrogen gas from a balloon. The mixture was stirred at rt for 5-6 h under hydrogen atmosphere. After completion of the reaction, the catalyst was removed by filtration and solvent was removed under vacuum. The crude product was purified by column chromatographic separation using a 1:5 mixture of ethyl acetate and petroleum ether as eluant. Colorless liquid. Yield: 77%; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3447, 3369, 1718, 1652, 1550, 1506, 1495, 1264, 1058, 817: ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 6.80–6.76 (d, 1H, J=8.4 Hz), 6.74-6.70 (d, 1H, J=8.4 Hz), 4.46-4.35 (q, 2H, J=7.0 Hz), 3.80 (s, 3H), 2.20 (s, 3H), 1.42–1.35 (t, 3H, J=7.0 Hz); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): 167.9, 143.4, 137.4, 128.1, 125.6, 124.2, 116.7, 60.6, 60.0, 17.8, 13.7.

5.5.35. Ethyl 3-amino-2-hydroxy-6-methylbenzoate (49). A mixture of nitro compound **46** (250 mg, 1.04 mmol), $\text{SnCl}_2 \cdot 2\text{H}_2\text{O}$ (1.17 g, 5.18 mmol), and ethanol (8 mL) was heated at 70 °C for 1 h. After the reaction was cooled to room temperature, 10% aq NaOH was added until the mixture became strongly alkaline. Extraction of the mixture with ethyl acetate (15 mL) followed by usual work-up yielded, after column chromatographic separation, amino phenol **49** as a colorless liquid in 19% yield along with amine **48** in 45% yield. ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3457, 3376, 1723, 1655, 1598, 1451, 1291, 1261, 1189, 1026, 799, 758; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 11.61 (br s, 1H), 6.78 (d, 1H, *J*= 8.1 Hz), 6.56 (d, 1H, *J*=8.1 Hz), 4.43 (q, 2H, *J*=7.2 Hz), 3.80 (s, 3H), 2.83 (br s, 2H), 1.42 (t, 3H, *J*=7.2 Hz).

5.5.36. Ethyl 3-ethoxyamino-2-methoxy-6-methylbenzoate (50). This was obtained as a co-product during the reduction of nitro compound **46** by hydrogenation over 10% Pd–C in ethanol. Reddish liquid. Yield: 18%; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3401 (br s), 1728, 1608, 1504, 1456, 1329, 1265, 1118, 1062, 802; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 6.83 (d, 1H, *J*=8.2 Hz), 6.31 (d, 1H, *J*=8.2 Hz), 4.40 (q, 2H, *J*=7.1 Hz), 3.80 (s, 3H), 3.14 (q, 2H, *J*=7.1 Hz), 2.20 (s, 3H), 1.38 (t, 3H, *J*=7.1 Hz), 1.25 (t, 3H, *J*=7.1 Hz); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): 168.3, 149.4, 143.6, 139.5, 127.9, 126.1, 122.7, 112.2, 60.9, 60.7, 38.2, 18.2, 14.7, 14.1.

5.5.37. Ethyl 3-fluoro-2-methoxy-6-methylbenzoate (52). Amine 48 (210 mg, 1.0 mmol) was dissolved in a mixture of concd HCl (2 mL) and water (5 mL). The solution was cooled and held at the range of 0 to -10 °C. Diazotization was done by dropwise addition of an aq solution of NaNO₂ (80 mg, 1.16 mmol) dissolved in water. While this solution was still cold, 65% aq HPF₆ (0.2 mL) was added rapidly in one portion with the help of plastic disposal syringe. The mixture was cooled again to 0-5 °C before filtration. The phosphorous hexafluoride salt 51 was collected by filtration, washed with cold water followed by a 4:1 mixture of diethyl ether, and MeOH to facilitate drying. The solid was powdered and dried in vacuum overnight. Decomposition of phosphorous hexafluoride salt 51 was carried out by portionwise addition through the condenser fitted with a flask held at decomposition temperature at 120-125 °C. After the decomposition was complete, the residue was extracted with ethyl acetate (20 mL) and worked up in the usual manner to furnish the crude product. The crude product was purified by column chromatography (ethyl acetate– petroleum ether, 1:15) to give **52** as a colorless liquid. Yield: 19%; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 1731, 1608, 1490, 1417, 1276, 1133, 1066, 1020, 958, 813; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.00 (dd, 1H, *J*=8.5 and 11.2 Hz), 6.83 (dd, 1H, *J*=5.1 and 8.5 Hz), 4.39 (q, 2H, *J*=7.1 Hz), 3.93 (d, 3H, *J*=1.8 Hz), 2.25 (s, 3H), 1.38 (t, 3H, *J*=7.1 Hz); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): 167.0 (d, *J*=3.5 Hz), 153.3 (d, *J*=244 Hz), 144.5 (d, *J*=12.3 Hz), 131.4 (d, *J*=3.6 Hz), 129.6, 125.2 (d, *J*=6.7 Hz), 117.5 (d, *J*=18.9 Hz), 61.8 (d, *J*=5.6 Hz), 61.3, 18.6, 14.2.

5.5.38. Ethyl 6-dibromomethyl-3-fluoro-2-methoxybenzoate (53). This compound was prepared from **52** using 2 equiv of NBS following the procedure described for the preparation of compound **40** from **39**. Colorless liquid. Yield: 57%; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 1723, 1458, 1266, 935, 703; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.71 (dd, 1H, *J*=4.5 and 9.0 Hz), 7.31 (dd, 1H, *J*=9.0 and 15.3 Hz), 6.79 (s, 1H), 4.45 (q, 2H, *J*=6.9 Hz), 3.96 (d, 3H, *J*=1.9 Hz), 1.42 (t, 3H, *J*=6.9 Hz).

5.5.39. 6-Fluoro-3-hydroxy-7-methoxy-3*H***-isobenzo-furan-1-one (54).** This compound was prepared from the dibromo compound **53** following the procedure described for the synthesis of compound **41** from **40**. White crystalline solid. Yield: 75%; mp: 131 °C; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3352, 1731, 1503, 1426, 1294, 1261, 1139, 1108, 1057, 1031, 908, 839, 772, 732; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.42 (dd, 1H, *J*=8.2 and 11.6 Hz), 7.20 (dd, 1H, *J*=3.5 and 8.2 Hz), 6.50 (s, 1H), 4.20 (d, 3H, *J*=2.8 Hz); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): 165.4, 154.7 (d, *J*=247 Hz), 145.8 (d, *J*=11.5 Hz), 142.4, 123.3 (d, *J*=21.6 Hz), 119.2, 117.3 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz), 96.4, 62.0 (d, *J*=4.9 Hz); HRMS *m/z* (ESI) calcd for C₉H₇FO₄ (M⁺+H): 199.0407; found: 199.0406.

5.5.40. 3-Cyano-6-fluoro-7-methoxy-3*H***-isobenzofuran-1-one (55).** This compound was prepared from the phthalaldehydic acid **54** according to the procedure adopted for the preparation of chlorocyanophthalide **3a** from **41**. White crystalline solid. Yield: 83%; mp: 104–105 °C; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 1789, 1603, 1501, 1291, 1255, 1087, 1022, 971, 925; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.53 (dd, 1H, *J*=8.3 and 11.7 Hz), 7.24 (dd, 1H, *J*=8.3 and 8.5 Hz), 5.98 (d, 1H, *J*=0.7 Hz), 4.24 (d, 3H, *J*=3.3 Hz); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): 159.1, 151.5 (d, *J*=250 Hz), 146.3 (d, *J*=11.8 Hz), 137.3, 124.1 (d, *J*=22.6 Hz), 111.5, 111.3 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz), 108.6, 59.5, 57.4 (d, *J*=6.0 Hz); HRMS *m/z* (ESI) calcd for C₁₀H₆FNO₃ (M⁺+H): 208.0410; found: 208.0405.

5.5.41. Methyl 9-fluoro-6-hydroxy-8-methoxy-1,2,3,4-tetrahydrobenz[*a*]anthracene-7,12-dione-2-carboxylate (**56**). This compound was prepared by annulation of 6-fluoro-7-methoxycyanophthalide (**55**) with Michael acceptor **4** following the general procedure in Section 5.2. Orange solid. Yield: 74%; mp: 153–54 °C; ν_{max} (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3432, 1731, 1631, 1572, 1449, 1411, 1327, 1262, 1102, 1017, 796; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 13.02 (s, 1H), 8.02 (dd, 1H, *J*=5.0 and 8.7 Hz), 7.45 (dd, 1H, *J*=8.8 and 10.1 Hz), 7.06 (s, 1H), 4.08 (d, 3H, *J*=1.3 Hz), 3.74 (s, 3H), 3.60 (dd, 1H, *J*=5.3 and 18.2 Hz), 3.30 (dd, 1H, *J*=9.5 and 18.2 Hz), 2.97–2.89 (m, 2H), 2.76–2.68 (m, 1H), 2.21–2.12 (m, 1H), 1.98–1.90 (m, 1H); HRMS m/z (ESI) calcd for C₂₁H₁₇FO₆ (M⁺+H): 385.1087; found: 385.1057.

Acknowledgements

Financial assistance from DST, New Delhi and CSIR, New Delhi for this work is gratefully acknowledged.

References and notes

- For reviews, see: (a) Rohr, J.; Thiericke, R. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1992, 9, 103–137; (b) Krohn, K.; Rohr, J. Top. Curr. Chem. 1997, 188, 127–195.
- 2. For newer angucyclines, see: (a) Nemoto, A.; Tanaka, Y.; Karasaki, Y.; Komaki, H.; Yazawa, K.; Mikami, Y.; Tojo, T.; Kadowaki, K.; Tsuda, M.; Kobayashi, J. J. Antibiot. 1997, 50, 18-21; (b) Uesato, S.; Tokunaga, T.; Takeuchi, K. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1998, 8, 1969-1972; (c) Tsuda, M.; Nemoto, A.; Komaki, H.; Tanaka, Y.; Yazawa, K.; Mikami, Y.; Kobayashi, J. J. Nat. Prod. 1999, 62, 1640-1642; (d) Puder, C.; Zeeck, A.; Beil, W. J. Antibiot. 2000, 53, 329-336; (e) Martin, R.; Sterner, O.; Alvarez, M. A.; De Clercq, E.; Bailey, J. E.; Minas, W. J. Antibiot. 2001, 54, 239-249; (f) He, H.; Ding, W. D.; Bernan, V. S.; Richardson, A. D.; Ireland, C. M.; Greenstein, M.; Ellestad, G. A.; Carter, G. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 5362-5363; (g) Mendez, C.; Kuenzel, E.; Lipata, F.; Lombo, F.; Cotham, W.; Walla, M.; Bearden, D. W.; Brana, A. F.; Salas, J. A.; Rohr, J. J. Nat. Prod. 2002, 65, 779-782; (h) Holzenkampfer, M.; Walker, M.; Zeeck, A.; Schimana, J.; Fiedler, H.-P. J. Antibiot. 2002, 55, 301-307; (i) Taniguchi, M.; Nagai, K.; Nimura, N.; Suzuki, K.; Tanaka, A. J. Antibiot. 2002, 55, 30-35; (j) Abdelfattah, M.; Maskey, R. P.; Asolkar, R. N.; Gruen-Wollny, I.; Laatsch, H. J. Antibiot. 2003, 56, 539-542; (k) Bruntner, C.; Binder, T.; Pathom-Aree, W.; Goodfellow, M.; Bull, A. T.; Potterat, O.; Puder, C.; Hoerer, S.; Schmid, A.; Bolek, W.; Wagner, K.; Mihm, G.; Fiedler, H.-P. J. Antibiot. 2005, 58, 346-349; (1) Bringmann, G.; Lang, G.; Maksimenka, K.; Hamm, A.; Gulder, T. A. M.; Dieter, A.; Bull, A. T.; Stach, J. E. M.; Kocher, N.; Mueller, W. E. G.; Fiedler, H.-P. Phytochemistry 2005, 66, 1366–1373.
- Okabe, T.; Ogino, H.; Suzuki, H.; Okuyama, A.; Suda, H. Jpn. Kokai Tokkyo Koho 92,316,492, 1992; *CA 118*: 167614v.
- 4. Dey, S.; Mal, D. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 5483-5486.
- 5. Carreño, M. C.; Urbano, A. Synlett 2005, 1-25.
- (a) Hauser, F. M.; Mal, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 5688– 5690;
 (b) Mal, D.; Roy, H. N.; Hazra, N. K.; Adhikari, S. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 2177–2184;
 (c) Mal, D.; Roy, H. N. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1999, 3167–3173.
- 7. Reddy, P. N.; Rao, G. S. K. Indian J. Chem., Sect. B 1981, 20, 100–103.
- Dauben, W. G.; Hiskey, C. F.; Markhart, A. H., Jr. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1951, 73, 1393–1400.
- 9. Mal, D. Synth. Commun. 1986, 16, 331-335.
- (a) Lalonde, R.T.; Ramdayal, F. D.; Zhang, M. U.S. Patent 6,284,789, September 04, 2001; (b) Turner, A. B.; Findlay, J. W. A. J. Chem. Soc. C 1971, 23–29.
- Freskos, J. N.; Gary, W. M.; Swenton, J. S. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 805–810.

- 12. Valderrama, J. A.; Pessoa-Mahana, C. D.; Tapia, R. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1994, 3521–3523.
- (a) Soriano, D. S.; Lombardi, A. M.; Persichini, P. J.; Nalewajek, D. J. Chem. Educ. **1988**, 65, 637; (b) Hauser, F. M.; Pogany, S. A. Synthesis **1980**, 814–815.
- 14. Hauser, F. M.; Rhee, R. P. J. Org. Chem. 1980, 45, 3061-3068.
- (a) Gnaim, J. M.; Sheldon, R. A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 8471–8473; (b) Smith, J. R. L.; McKeer, L. C.; Taylor, J. M. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans.* 2 1988, 385–391.
- Boothe, J. H.; Green, A.; Petisi, J. P.; Wilkinson, R. G.; Waller, C. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1957, 79, 4564.
- 17. Napolitano, E.; Ramacciotti, A.; Morsani, M.; Fiaschi, R. *Gazz. Chim. Ital.* **1991**, *121*, 257–259.
- Murty, K. V. S. N.; Pal, R.; Datta, K.; Mal, D. Synth. Commun. 1990, 20, 1705–1711.

- (a) Mann, J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1987, 16, 381–436; (b) Resnati, G. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 9385–9445.
- 20. Finar, I. L. *Organic Chemistry*, 6th ed.; Pearson Education Asia: Singapore, 2000; p 641.
- 21. Griffiths, P. H.; Walkey, W. A.; Watson, H. B. J. Chem. Soc. **1934**, 631–633.
- 22. (a) Mu, F.; Lee, D. J.; Pryor, D. E.; Hamel, E.; Cushman, M. J. Med. Chem. 2002, 45, 4774–4785; (b) Duthaler, R. O. Helv. Chim. Acta 1983, 66, 2543–2563.
- 23. Gilbert, A. M.; Katz, T. J.; Geiger, W. E.; Robben, M. P.; Rheingold, A. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1993**, 115, 3199–3211.
- Flaugh, M. E.; Crowell, T. A.; Clemens, J. A.; Sawyer, B. D. J. Med. Chem. 1979, 22, 63–69.
- 25. Rutherford, K. G.; Redmond, W.; Rigamonti, J. J. Org. Chem. **1961**, *26*, 5149–5152.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9603-9609

Nanostaircase formation in the solid state from self-assembling synthetic terephthalamides with a common molecular scaffold

Sudipta Ray,^a Raghurama P. Hegde,^b Apurba Kumar Das,^a N. Shamala^{b,*} and Arindam Banerjee^{a,*}

^aDepartment of Biological Chemistry, Indian Association for the Cultivation of Science, Jadavpur, Kolkata 700032, India ^bDepartment of Physics, Indian Institute of Science, Bangalore 560012, India

> Received 21 March 2006; revised 10 July 2006; accepted 27 July 2006 Available online 21 August 2006

Abstract—The design and construction of nanostructured materials using proper self-assembling molecular building blocks is a real challenge to scientists. Here, we present the formation of a new nano-architecture, i.e., nanostaircase in the solid state by using molecular building blocks, which are amenable to self-assembly in a directed manner to form the specific nanostructure. The molecular building blocks are terephthalamides 1–4, which are bis-terephthalamides of methyl esters of various α -amino acids including L-leucine 1, D-leucine 2, L-isoleucine 3, and α -aminoisobutyric acid (Aib) 4. All terephthalamides presented here, irrespective of their different side chain residues or stereochemistry, self-assemble to form supramolecular nanostaircase structures in crystals. Each terephthalamide contains two good hydrogen-bond donors and two hydrogen-bond acceptors. Two N–H···O hydrogen bonds and C–H··· π interactions are responsible for the formation and stabilization of the nanostaircase structures in crystals. The molecular building blocks are packed orthogonally to each other in crystals and this arrangement can help the formation of nanostaircase structure upon self-assembly. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Fabrication of various nanomaterials can be achieved by mainly two approaches: one approach is photolithography and the other is the 'bottom-up' approach. Using photolithography only two-dimensional nano-scaled materials can be prepared. However, using 'bottom-up' approach, where molecular self-assembly plays a key role, three-dimensional nanostructured materials can be constructed.¹ Another advantage of using a bottom-up approach is that well-defined nanostructured materials can be prepared by using suitable molecular building blocks and the property of the nanomaterials can be tuned by designing appropriate, self-assembling, molecular building blocks. The design and construction of various nanostructured materials using molecular selfassembly is a very active area of current research.² Nanotubes obtained from various, suitable, self-assembling, organic compounds based molecular building blocks have been well studied.³ Similarly peptide based nanorods have been constructed using oligopeptide scaffolds.⁴ Peptide nanotubes have been used in many applications such as structure directed synthesis of silver nanowires,⁵ electrochemical applications.⁶ There are also numerous examples of self-assembling peptide based nanofibers.⁷

There are several examples of metal ion directed supramolecular staircase formation.⁸ Several structures of terephthalamides have also been reported using either single crystal X-ray diffraction studies or neutron fiber diffraction studies. However, in all previously mentioned bis-terephthalamide structures only intermolecularly hydrogen-bonded supramolecular β -sheets,⁹ ribbon¹⁰ or helix¹¹ are reported, but not a supramolecular nanostaircase. We decided it would be interesting to use a conformationally rigid molecular scaffold, which can pack at about right angles to each other using intermolecular hydrogen bonding and other noncovalent interactions like C–H··· π , π ··· π interactions to form a specific, well-defined, supramolecular nano-architecture.

In the course of our continuing interest in constructing various supramolecular nano-architectures including nanorod⁴ and nanotube,¹² we have synthesized and characterized four compounds **1–4**, which are bis-terephthalamides of methyl esters of α -amino acids L-leucine, D-leucine, L-isoleucine, and α -aminoisobutyric acid (Aib), respectively. A schematic representation of all four terephthalamides is shown in Figure 1. In this paper, we present the formation of nanostaircase structures in crystals from a series of self-assembling terephthalamides with a common molecular scaffold.

Keywords: C–H··· π interactions; Nanostaircase; Terephthalamide; Selfassembly; Hydrogen bonds.

^{*} Corresponding authors. Tel.: +91 33 2473 4971; fax: +91 33 2473 2805; e-mail addresses: shamala@physics.iisc.ernet.in; bcab@mahendra.iacs. res.in

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.092



Figure 1. Schematic representation of terephthalamides 1, 2, 3, and 4.

These supramolecular nanostaircase structures are formed and stabilized by various noncovalent interactions including intermolecular hydrogen bonding and C–H··· π interactions.

Table 1. Crystallographic data for terephthalamides 1, 2, 3, and 4

2. Results and discussion

Colorless single crystals of terephthalamides 1–4 were grown from methanol–water solution by slow evaporation. The crystal structure data for four terephthalamides are given in Table 1. Terephthalamides 1–3 crystallize in the monoclinic space group $P2_1$ with one molecule in the asymmetric unit. The monoclinic crystals of terephthalamide 4 crystallize in the centrosymmetric space group $P2_1/c$ with 1/2 molecule in the asymmetric unit. Selected backbone torsion angles of all terephthalamides are listed in Table 2. In terephthalamides 1 and 2 the isobutyl groups have large atomic displacement parameters (ADPs). In residues with long side chains, the side chains are more flexible, hence large ADPs are observed for these groups. From the crystal structure of terephthalamide 1, it is evident that there is no intramolecular

	-			
	1	2	3	4
Formula	C ₂₂ H ₃₂ N ₂ O ₆	C ₂₂ H ₃₂ N ₂ O ₆	C ₂₂ H ₃₂ N ₂ O ₆	$C_{18}H_{24}N_2O_6$
Formula weight	420.5	420.5	420.5	364.39
Crystallizing solvent	Methanol-water	Methanol-water	Methanol-water	Methanol-water
Crystal system	Monoclinic	Monoclinic	Monoclinic	Monoclinic
Temperature [K]	293	293	293	293
Space group	$P2_1$	$P2_1$	$P2_1$	$P2_1/c$
a [Å]	10.022 (6)	9.9970 (12)	10.148 (7)	11.288 (5)
b [Å]	10.094 (6)	10.1066 (13)	10.645 (7)	9.657 (4)
c [Å]	12.626 (7)	12.6432 (16)	11.592 (8)	9.601 (4)
β [°]	108.719 (9)	108.679 (2)	109.795 (10)	110.008 (7)
$V[Å^3]$	1209.7 (12)	1210.1 (3)	1178.2 (14)	983.3 (7)
Ζ	2	2	2	2
$\rho_{\text{calcd}} [\text{g cm}^{-3}]$	1.154	1.154	1.185	1.231
λ [Å]	0.71073	0.71073	0.71073	0.71073
$\mu [\mathrm{mm}^{-1}]$	0.084	0.084	0.086	0.093
$2\theta_{\rm max}$	46.6	46.6	53	53.2
F(000)	452	452	452	388
Total refins	7458	7471	8599	7173
Unique reflns	1831	1834	2344	1925
Refins used	1610	1630	2065	1654
Parameters	271	271	303	166
R1 $[I > 2\sigma(I)]$	0.0884	0.0925	0.0480	0.0665
wR2	0.2586	0.2742	0.1376	0.1984
Max. and min. electron density [e/Å ³]	0.31, -0.20	0.35, -0.25	0.19, -0.14	0.50, -0.25

Table 2.	Selected l	backbone	torsional	angles	(°)	of ter	rephtha	lamides	1, 2,	, 3,	and	4
----------	------------	----------	-----------	--------	-----	--------	---------	---------	-------	------	-----	---

Terephthalamide 1			
C2M-O2M-C2'-C2A	174.6 (14)	C1M-O1M-C1'-C1A	-170.3 (16)
O2M-C2'-C2A-N2	167.8 (8)	O1M-C1'-C1A-N1	-45.5 (13)
C2'-C2A-N2-C8	-110.6 (8)	C1'-C1A-N1-C1	-82.0 (9)
C2A-N2-C8-C5	-179.8 (6)	C1A-N1-C1-C2	179.5 (7)
Terephthalamide 2			
C2M-O2M-C2'-C2A	167.8 (16)	C1M-O1M-C1'-C1A	-176.1 (14)
O2M-C2'-C2A-N2	45.9 (12)	O1M-C1'-C1A-N1	-167.9 (8)
C2'-C2A-N2-C8	83.4 (8)	C1'-C1A-N1-C1	110.3 (8)
C2A-N2-C8-C5	179.0 (6)	C1A-N1-C1-C2	179.4 (6)
Terephthalamide 3			
C2M-O2M-C2'-C2A	177.2 (4)	C1M-O1M-C1'-C1A	-179.2 (4)
O2M-C2'-C2A-N2	168.4 (3)	O1M-C1'-C1A-N1	169.6 (3)
C2'-C2A-N2-C8	-133.6 (3)	C1'-C1A-N1-C1	-103.7 (3)
C2A-N2-C8-C5	178.0 (2)	C1A-N1-C1-C2	175.6 (3)
Terephthalamide 4 (the atom na	mes with a terminating 'a' belong	g to the second half of the molecule related by	y a inversion center)
C1M-O1M-C1'-C1A	-174.8 (3)	C1Ma–O1Ma–C1′a–C1Aa	174.8 (3)
O1M-C1'-C1A-N1	-49.6 (3)	O1Ma–C1′a–C1Aa–N1a	49.6 (3)
C1'-C1A-N1-C4	-47.6 (3)	C1′a–C1Aa–N1a–C4a	47.6 (3)
C1A-N1-C4-C2	-175.36 (16)	C1Aa–N1a–C4a–C2a	175.36 (16)



Figure 2. ORTEP diagram of terephthalamide 1 with atomic numbering scheme. Ellipsoids at 30% probability.

hydrogen bond and the molecule possesses an overall extended backbone conformation (Fig. 2). Terephthalamide **1** self-assembles to form a supramolecular nanostaircase structure in crystals with various noncovalent interactions being present including intermolecular hydrogen bonding and



Figure 3. Crystal packing diagram of the terephthalamide 1 illustrating the supramolecular nanostaircase structure.

 $CH\cdots\pi$ interactions (Fig. 3). There are two intermolecular hydrogen bonds (N1-H1...O02, 2.058 (5) Å, 2.882 (7) Å, 160.03 (35)°, symmetry equivalent -x+1, y+0.5, -z+2and N2-H2...O01, 2.141 (5) Å, 2.945 (7) Å, 155.35 (36)°, symmetry equivalent -x, y=0.5, -z+2) that connect the individual molecules of terephthalamide 1 to form supramolecular nanostaircase structure in which the length of the steps is 7.5 Å (0.75 nm) and the height of the steps of the staircases is also 7.5 Å (0.75 nm). In crystals, individual molecules are stacked orthogonally to each other using N-H···O hydrogen bonding and C-H··· π interactions and this particular arrangement helps to form the supramolecular nanostaircase structure. There is a C-H··· π interaction¹³ between C2D2-H2D6 with the centroid of the phenyl ring of terephthalamide moiety (C2D2–H2D6 $\cdots\pi$, 3.26 Å, 4.047 Å, 140.97°) (Fig. 6a) in supramolecular nanostaircase of the terephthalamide 1.

Terephthalamide **2** contains two D-leucine residues and adopts a molecular structure, which is a mirror image of terephthalamide **1** (Fig. 4). The only difference between them is the reversal of sign of the comparable backbone torsion angles (O2M–C2'–C2A–N2 and O1M–C1'–C1A–N1; C2'–C2A–N2–C8 and C1'–C1A–N1–C1) of terephthalamide **2** with respect to terephthalamide **1** (Table 2). Terephthalamide **2** also self-assembles to form a supramolecular nanostaircase (Fig. 5) in crystals through various noncovalent interactions including intermolecular hydrogen bonding (N1–H1…O02, 2.144 (5) Å, 2.946 (8) Å, 154.90 (39)°, symmetry equivalent -x+2, y+0.5, -z+2 and N2–H2…O01,



Figure 4. ORTEP representation of terephthalamide 2 with atomic numbering scheme. Ellipsoids at 30% probability.


Figure 5. Nanostaircase arrangement of terephthalamide 2 in crystals and its schematic representation.

2.050 (5) Å, 2.877 (7) Å, 160.84 (35)°, symmetry equivalent -x+1, y-0.5, -z+2). There is a C-H··· π interaction between C1D2–H1D5 with centroid of the phenyl ring of terephthalamide moiety (C1D2–H1D5··· π , 3.18 Å, 3.982 Å, 142.66°) (Fig. 6b) in supramolecular nanostaircase of the terephthalamide **2**.

Both L-leucine residues of terephthalamide 1 have been substituted by L-isoleucine residues in terephthalamide 3 (Fig. 7). However, the inherent characteristic feature of terephthalamide **3** is similar to that of terephthalamide **1**. The only difference between them is the difference among numerical values of the comparable backbone torsion angles (O2M-C2'-C2A-N2 and O1M-C1'-C1A-N1; C2'-C2A-N2-C8 and C1'-C1A-N1-C1) of terephthalamide 3 (Table 2). Terephthalamide 3 also self-associates to form a supramolecular nanostaircase architecture utilizing two intermolecular hydrogen bonds (N1-H1...O02, 2.211 (36) Å, 2.999 (4) Å, 166.88 (341)°, symmetry equivalent -x+1, y+0.5, -z+1 and N2-H2...O01, 2.337 (42) Å, 3.089 (5) Å, 163.16 (387)°, symmetry equivalent -x, y=0.5, -z+1) (Fig. 8). There is a C-H $\cdots\pi$ interaction between C2D1-H2D2 with centroid of the phenyl ring of terephthalamide moiety (C2D1–H2D2··· π , 3.378 Å, 4.009 Å, 125.2°) in the supramolecular nanostaircase of terephthalamide 3.

The achiral terephthalamide 4 also adopts an extended backbone molecular conformation (Fig. 9). The comparable backbone torsion angles of the symmetric terephthalamide 4 (O1M-C1'-C1A-N2 and O1Ma-C1'a-C1Aa-N1a; C1'-C1A-N1-C4 and C1'a-C1Aa-N1a-C4a) have the same numerical values but are opposite in sign (Table 2). Utilizing two intermolecular hydrogen bonds (N1-H3...O01, 2.022 (25) Å, 2.856 (3) Å, 174.10 (221)°, symmetry equivalent x, -y+0.5, z-0.5 and N1a-H3a···O01, 2.022 (25) Å, 2.856 (3) Å, 174.10 (221)°, symmetry equivalent -x+1, y+0.5, -z+0.5, the 'a' after atom name indicates that the second half of the molecule is related by an inversion center), terephthalamide 4 forms a supramolecular nanostaircase architecture (Fig. 10). The nanostaircase structure is also stabilized by C-H··· π interaction between C1B2-H1B5 with centroid of the phenyl ring of terephthalamide



Figure 6. Packing modes of nanostaircase structures by C-H $\cdots \pi$ interactions in (a) terephthalamide 1 and (b) terephthalamide 2 in crystals.

moiety (C1B2–H1B5… π , 3.427 Å, 4.355 Å, 162.54°) (Fig. 11) of the terephthalamide **4**.

All four terephthalamides with different amino acid side chains or stereochemistry self-assemble in a similar manner in which the molecular building blocks are packed against each other orthogonally to form a nanostaircase structure utilizing N-H···O hydrogen bonding and C-H··· π interactions. It is interesting to note that the previously reported crystal structure of N,N'-bis(methoxycarbonylmethyl)terephthalamide¹⁰ (molecule \mathbf{A}), reveals that the molecule \mathbf{A} self-assembles through two intermolecular hydrogen bonds along the crystallographic b axis to form a supramolecular ribbon or sheet-like structure (Fig. 12). In this molecular packing, the aromatic rings of these adjacent molecules are close to perpendicular direction with a distance of 5.13 Å between the centers of the two aromatic rings. In the formation of the above mentioned ribbon or sheet-like structure, the self-assembling molecules are stacked atop one another and they are interconnected by only N-H...O hydrogen bonding. However, in our case molecular building blocks are stacked almost orthogonally to each other in all four terephthalamides and they are associated with intermolecular $-C=O\cdots H-N-hydrogen$ bonding as well as $C-H\cdots\pi$ interactions. This helps to form supramolecular nanostaircase structures. The step-length of the nanostaircase is ~ 7.5 Å and the height of the steps is ~ 7.5 Å. Here, the reported terephthalamides 1-4 fail to stack atop one another to



Figure 7. Molecular conformation of terephthalamide 3 with atomic numbering scheme. Thermal ellipsoids are shown at 30% probability level.



Figure 8. Supramolecular staircase structure obtained from the higher order self-assembly of the terephthalamide 3 in crystals. The C-H $\cdots\pi$ interactions are shown as dotted line.



Figure 10. Packing diagram of the terephthalamide 4 showing the supramolecular staircase architecture in crystals stabilized by multiple intermolecular hydrogen bonds.



Figure 9. The molecular structure of terephthalamide 4 with atomic numbering scheme. Ellipsoids at 30% probability.

form supramolecular sheet- or ribbon-like structure, which might be due to the steric hindrances associated with the bulky amino acid side chains. Orthogonal packing between the self-associating molecular building blocks (terephthalamides 1–4) may be favored by the presence of C–H··· π interactions between the amino acid side chain H-atoms and the centrally located aromatic moiety, which was absent in the molecular packing of the molecule **A**.



Figure 11. A view of interconnected C-H \cdots π interactions in terephthalamide 4.



Figure 12. Crystal packing of terephthalamide **A** showing the formation of intermolecularly hydrogen-bonded ribbon-like structure. Intermolecular hydrogen bonds are shown as dotted lines.

3. Conclusion

This paper clearly demonstrates the formation and stabilization of supramolecular nanostaircase structures in crystals using suitable self-assembling synthetic terephthalamides with a common molecular scaffold. Here, the self-assembly of molecular building blocks is guided in such a way that individual molecules can pack at about right angles to each other using various noncovalent interactions including C=O···H-N hydrogen bonding and CH··· π interactions to form nanostaircase structures. We have identified here a common structural unit (i.e., bis-terephthalamide based methyl esters of various *a*-amino acids containing different side chains or stereochemistry), which self-assembles in similar fashion to form a well-defined nanostructure, namely, a nanostaircase. This result may open up a new field of constructing new supramolecular nano-structures (using appropriate molecular building blocks), which has some useful implications in supramolecular chemistry and as well as in crystal engineering.¹⁴

4. Experimental

4.1. General

Reagent or analytical grade material was obtained from commercial suppliers and used without further purification. Terephthalamides 1, 2, 3, and 4 were synthesized by the conventional solution phase methodology.¹⁵ A solution of terephthalic acid (0.83 g, 5 mmol) in 10 mL of DMF was cooled in an ice-water bath. The H-Xxx-OMe (Xxx=Leu, D-Leu, Ile, and Aib) was isolated from the corresponding methyl ester hydrochloride (20 mmol) by neutralization, subsequent extraction with ethyl acetate and the ethyl acetate extract was concentrated to 10 mL. This was then added to the reaction mixture, followed immediately by DCC (2.06 g, 10 mmol) and HOBt (1.35 g, 10 mmol). The reaction mixture was stirred for three days. The residue was taken in ethyl acetate (60 mL) and the DCU was filtered off. The organic layer was washed with 2 M HCl $(3 \times 50 \text{ mL})$, brine $(2 \times 50 \text{ mL})$, 1 M sodium carbonate $(3 \times 50 \text{ mL})$, and brine $(2 \times 50 \text{ mL})$, then dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate and evaporated in vacuo to yield terephthalamides 1-4 as white solid. Purification was done by silica gel column (100-200 mesh) using ethyl acetate as eluent. The final compounds were fully characterized by IR spectroscopy, 300 MHz ¹H NMR spectroscopy, and mass spectrometry. Optical rotations were measured on a Perkin-Elmer 341LC polarimeter. IR spectra were recorded on a Shimadzu (Japan) model FTIR spectrophotometer with KBr pellets. ¹H NMR spectra were recorded with a Brüker DPX 300 MHz spectrometer. Mass spectra were recorded on a Hewlett Packard Series 1100MSD spectrometer.

4.1.1. Terephthalamide 1. Yield=1.68 g (4 mmol, 80%); R_f =0.72 (EtOAc); $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ +42.3 (*c*=0.7 in chloroform); mp 144–146 °C; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, 25 °C, TMS): δ 7.85 (s, 4H; Aromatic ring Hs), 6.65 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz, 2H; Leu NH), 4.9–4.83 (m, 2H; Leu C^{\alpha}H), 3.78 (s, 6H; –OCH₃), 1.79–1.65 (m, 6H; Leu C^{\alpha}H & C^{\alpha}H), 1.01– 0.97 ppm (m, 12H; Leu C^{\alpha}H); IR (KBr): $\bar{\nu}$ =3325, 1747, 1635, 1550 cm⁻¹; MS (ESI): *m*/*z* (%): 421.3 (48) [M+H]⁺, 841.5 (100) [2M+H]⁺; elemental analysis calcd (%) for C₂₂H₃₂N₂O₆ (420): C 62.85, H 7.6, N 6.66; found: C 63.1, H 7.8, N 7.03.

4.1.2. Terephthalamide 2. Yield=1.50 g (3.5 mmol, 71%); R_f =0.75 (EtOAc); $[\alpha]_{D}^{20}$ -42.9 (*c*=0.7 in chloroform); mp 138–140 °C; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, 25 °C, TMS): δ 7.85 (s, 4H, Aromatic ring Hs), 6.69 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 2H; D-Leu NH), 4.87–4.83 (m, 2H; D-Leu C^{\alpha}H, 3.79 (s, 6H; -OCH₃), 1.78–1.65 (m, 6H; D-Leu C^{\alpha}H & C^{\gamma}H), 1.01–0.93 ppm (m, 12H; D-Leu C^{\alpha}H); IR (KBr): $\bar{\nu}$ =3325, 1746, 1636, 1548, 1500 cm⁻¹; MS (ESI): *m/z* (%): 421.3 (33) [M+H]⁺; 863.3 (100) [2M+Na]⁺; elemental analysis calcd (%) for C₂₂H₃₂N₂O₆ (420): C 62.85, H 7.6, N 6.66; found: C 62.51, H 7.92, N 7.15.

4.1.3. Terephthalamide 3. Yield=1.6 g (3.8 mmol, 76%); R_f =0.6 (EtOAc); $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ +46.4 (*c*=0.7 in chloroform); mp 82–84 °C; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, 25 °C, TMS): δ 7.87 (s, 4H, Aromatic ring H), 6.70 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 2H; Ile NH), 4.84–4.8 (m, 2H; Ile C^{\alpha}H), 3.79 (s, 6H; –OCH₃), 2.17–2.0 (m, 2H; Ile C^{\beta}H), 1.16–1.5 (m, 10H; Ile C^{\geta}H), 0.99–0.97 ppm (m, 6H; Ile C^{δ}H); IR (KBr): $\bar{\nu}$ =3411, 3345, 1744, 1636, 1548, 1503 cm⁻¹; MS (ESI): *m*/*z* (%): 421.3 (55) [M+H]⁺; 841.5 (100) [2M+H]⁺; elemental analysis calcd (%) for C₂₂H₃₂N₂O₆ (420): C 62.85, H 7.6, N 6.66; found: C 63.21, H 7.52, N 6.95.

4.1.4. Terephthalamide 4. Yield=1.3 g (3.5 mmol, 72%); R_f =0.7 (EtOAc); $[\alpha]_{20}^{20}$ 0.01 (*c*=0.7 in chloroform); mp 220–222 °C; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, 25 °C): δ 7.84 (s, 4H; Aromatic ring H), 6.84 (s, 2H; Aib NH), 3.80 (s, 6H; –OCH₃), 1.7 ppm (s, 12H; Aib C^βH); IR (KBr): $\bar{\nu}$ =3322, 3226, 1741, 1631, 1560 cm⁻¹; MS (ESI): *m/z* (%): 388.0 (100) [M+Na+H]⁺; 366.0 (52) [M+2H]⁺; elemental analysis calcd (%) for C₁₈H₂₄N₂O₆ (364): C 59.34, H 6.59, N 7.69; found: C 60.01, H 6.98, N 7.75.

4.2. X-ray crystallography

All crystal data were measured on a Bruker AXS Smart Apex CCD diffractometer with Mo K_{α} (λ =0.71073 Å) radiation at 20 °C. The structure was obtained by direct methods using SHELXS-97.¹⁶ Refinement was carried out with a full matrix least squares method against F² using SHELXL97.¹⁷ CCDC-229937 (1), CCDC-600050 (2), CCDC-229938 (3), and CCDC-229939 (4) contain the supplementary crystallographic data for the paper. These data can be obtained free of charge via www.ccdc.cam.ac.uk/conts/retrieving.html (or from the Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre, 12 Union Road, Cambridge CB2 1EZ, UK; fax: +44 1223 336 033; or e-mail: deposit@ccdc.cam.ac.uk).

Acknowledgements

This research is supported by a grant from Department of Science and Technology (DST), India (Project No. SR/S5/ OC-29/2003). We thank the Department of Science and Technology, India, for data collection on the CCD facility funded by the IRHPA-DST program at the Indian Institute of Science. S.R. and A.K.D. wish to acknowledge the CSIR, New Delhi, India for financial assistance.

References and notes

 (a) Seeman, N. C.; Belcher, A. M. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.
 2002, 99, 6451–6455; (b) Zhang, S. Nat. Biotechnol. 2003, 21, 1171–1178; (c) Whitesides, G. M.; Mathias, J. P.; Seto, C. T. Science 1991, 254, 1312–1319.

- (a) Gao, X.; Matsui, H. Adv. Mater. 2005, 17, 2037–2050; (b) Bong, D. T.; Clark, T. D.; Granja, J. R.; Ghadiri, M. R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 988–1011.
- (a) Reches, M.; Gazit, E. *Nano Lett.* 2004, *4*, 581–585; (b) Ghadiri, M. R.; Granja, J. R.; Buehler, L. K. *Nature* 1994, 369, 301–304.
- Haldar, D.; Banerjee, A.; Drew, M. G. B.; Das, A. K.; Banerjee, A. Chem. Commun. 2003, 1406–1407.
- 5. Reches, M.; Gazit, E. Science 2003, 300, 625-627.
- Yemini, M.; Reches, M.; Rishpon, J.; Gazit, E. Nano Lett. 2005, 5, 183–186.
- (a) Yokoi, H.; Kinoshita, T.; Zhang, S. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 2005, 102, 8414–8419; (b) Guler, M. O.; Soukasene, S.; Hulvat, J. F.; Stupp, S. I. *Nano Lett.* 2005, 5, 249–252; (c) Sone, E. D.; Stupp, S. I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 12756–12757.
- (a) Ghosh, S. K.; Bharadwaj, P. K. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2005, 4886–4889; (b) Gabbai, F. P.; Schier, A.; Riede, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 622–624; (c) Fortin, D.; Drouin, M.; Harvey, P. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 5351–5352; (d) Nagata, N.; Kugimiya, S.; Fujiwara, E.; Kobuke, Y. New J. Chem. 2003, 27, 743–747; (e) Ren, C.-X.; Zhu, H.-L.; Yang, G.; Chen, X.-M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2001, 85–90; (f) Alexakis, A.; Tomassini, A.; Chouillet, C.; Roland, S.; Mangeney, P.; Bernardinelli, G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 4093–4095.
- (a) Cobbledick, R. E.; Small, R. W. H. *Acta Crystallogr, Sect. B* 1972, 28, 2893–2896; (b) Gardner, K. H.; English, A. D.; Forsyth, V. T. *Macromolecules* 2004, *37*, 9654–9656.
- 10. Armelin, E.; Escudero, E.; Campos, L.; Puiggali, J. Acta Crystallogr, Sect. C 2001, 57, 172–173.
- Yin, H.; Lee, G.; Sedey, K. A.; Rodriguez, J. M.; Wang, H.-G.; Sebti, S. M.; Hamilton, A. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 5463–5468.
- Ray, S.; Haldar, D.; Drew, M. G. B.; Banerjee, A. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 4463–4465.
- Brandl, M.; Weiss, M. S.; Jabs, A.; Sühnel, J.; Hilgenfeld, R. J. Mol. Biol. 2001, 307, 357–377.
- (a) Arora, K. K.; Pedireddi, V. R. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 9177–9185; (b) Varughese, S.; Pedireddi, V. R. Chem.—Eur. J. 2006, 12, 1597–1609; (c) Desiraju, G. R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 2311–2327; (d) Aitipamula, S.; Thallapally, P. K.; Thaimattam, R.; Jaskolski, M.; Desiraju, G. R. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 921–924.
- 15. Bodanszky, M.; Bodanszky, A. *The Practice of Peptide Synthesis*; Springer: New York, NY, 1984; pp 1–282.
- 16. Sheldrick, G. M. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A 1990, 46, 467-473.
- 17. Sheldrick, G. M. SHELXL97 Program for Crystal Structure Refinement; University of Göttingen: Göttingen, Germany, 1997.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9610-9621

1,4-Addition of arylboronic acids to β -aryl- α , β -unsaturated ketones and esters catalyzed by a rhodium(I)–chiraphos complex for catalytic and enantioselective synthesis of selective endothelin A receptor antagonists

Takahiro Itoh,^{a,*} Toshiaki Mase,^a Takashi Nishikata,^b Tetsuji Iyama,^c Hiroto Tachikawa,^c Yuri Kobayashi,^d Yasunori Yamamoto^d and Norio Miyaura^{d,*}

^aProcess R&D, Banyu Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd, Okazaki, Aichi 4440858, Japan ^bInnovation Plaza Hokkaido, Japan Science and Technology Agency, Sapporo 060-0819, Japan ^cDivision of Materials Chemistry, Graduate School of Engineering, Hokkaido University, Sapporo 060-8628, Japan ^dDivision of Chemical Process Engineering, Graduate School of Engineering, Hokkaido University, Sapporo 060-8628, Japan

Received 19 June 2006; revised 19 July 2006; accepted 26 July 2006

Abstract—An enantioselective synthesis of acyclic β -diaryl ketones and esters via 1,4-addition of arylboronic acids to β -aryl- α , β -unsaturated ketones or esters is described. The complex in situ prepared from [Rh(nbd)₂]BF₄ and chiraphos was found to be an excellent catalyst to achieve high enantioselectivities in a range of 83–89% ee for the ketone derivatives and 78–94% ee for *tert*-butyl β -arylacrylate derivatives. The protocol provided a catalytic method for the enantioselective synthesis of selective endothelin A receptor antagonists (**7**, **8**) reported by SmithKline Beecham and Merck–Banyu. The enantioselection mechanism and efficiency of the chiraphos ligand for β -aryl- α , β -unsaturated ketones and esters are discussed on the basis of results of DFT computational studies on the modes of coordination of the enone substrates to the phenylrhodium(I)–(*S*,*S*)-chiraphos complex.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

1,4-Additions of electrophiles to α , β -unsaturated carbonyl compounds are a versatile methodology for forming carbon-carbon bonds.¹ Among these extensive studies in conjugate additions, we have disclosed the rhodium-catalyzed reaction of aryl- and 1-alkenylboronic acids.² Since the reaction yields a stereogenic center at the β -carbon, considerable efforts have been devoted to the development of asymmetric syntheses via metal-catalyzed 1,4-addition of organoboron,³ silicon,⁴ magnesium,⁵ zinc,⁶ tin,⁷ bismuth,⁸ titanium,⁹ and indium¹⁰ compounds to cyclic and acyclic α , β -unsaturated ketones,³ esters,³ amides,¹¹ phosphonates,¹² and nitro¹³ compounds. A rhodium(I)-binap catalyst was the first catalyst to be successfully used in enantioselective 1,4-addition of aryl- and 1-alkenylboronic acids to cyclic and acyclic enones.^{3a} Other ligands effective for rhodium(I) catalysts are bisphosphine ligands of chiraphos¹⁴ and diphosphonites,^{3e}P–N ligands of amidomonophosphines,¹⁵ bis(alkene) ligands based on a norbornadiene skeleton,¹⁶ and

monophosphine ligands of phosphoramidites.¹⁷ For the corresponding palladium-catalyzed reactions of organoboron, $^{18-20}$ silicon, $^{20-22}$ and bismuth 20,22 compounds, bisphosphines bridged by two carbons, such as chiraphos and dipamp, resulted in high yields and high enantioselectivities. Among these extensive studies on 1,4-addition of organoboronic acids, the synthesis of β -diaryl carbonyl ketones or esters (4) has attracted much attention in recent years (Scheme 1). Since compounds incorporating a diarylmethine stereogenic centers are an important class of compounds due to the frequent occurrence of these fragments in natural products,²³ there are excellent precedents achieved by Friedel-Crafts alkylation of arenes²⁴ and 1,4-addition of electron-rich arenes to enals.²⁵ Another reliable and flexible approach for introducing two different aryl fragments is 1.4-addition of arvl metal reagents to α,β -unsaturated carbonyl compounds, which was recently accomplished by using rhodium complexes of chiral dienes $(5)^{16}$ or a dicationic palladium(II)–chiraphos complex.^{19,20,22} In this paper, we show the efficiency of a rhodium(I)–chiraphos complex (3)for enantioselective preparation of β-diaryl carbonyl compounds (4) via the 1,4-addition of arylboronic acids (2) to β -aryl- α , β -unsaturated ketones or esters (1). The protocol

^{*} Corresponding authors. Tel./fax: +81 11 706 6561; e-mail: miyaura@ org-mc.eng.hokudai.ac.jp

provides the first catalytic method for enantioselective synthesis of endothelin receptor antagonists.



Scheme 1. Rhodium(I)-catalyzed 1,4-addition of arylboronic acids to β -aryl- α , β -unsaturated ketones and esters.

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Enantioselective addition to $\beta\text{-aryl-}\alpha,\beta\text{-unsaturated}$ ketones and esters

The performance of a rhodium–chiraphos catalyst (**3a**, 3 mol %) in the 1,4-addition of 3-methoxyphenylboronic acid (1.5 equiv) to (*E*)-4-phenyl-3-buten-2-one (entries 1–5) or (*E*)-cinnamates (entries 6–13) was investigated (Table 1). The catalyst was prepared in situ by mixing (*S*,*S*)-chiraphos (3.3 mol %) and [Rh(nbd)₂]BF₄ (3 mol %) at room temperature. The addition to (*E*)-4-phenyl-3-buten-2-one was very slow at room temperature (entry 1), but inorganic bases exerted a remarkable accelerating effect (entries 2–4), as has been demonstrated in related 1,4-addition reactions using other phosphine–rhodium complexes.^{3k} This effect of bases on yields was in the order of their basic strength: KOH> K_2CO_3 >KHCO₃. The reaction temperature effects on the enantioselectivity is being increased at lower temperature.

 Table 1. Effects of reaction temperatures, catalysts, and bases on yields and enantioselectivities^a

Entry	1 (Ar=Ph) R=	Base (equiv)	Temp/time (°C/h)	Yield/% ^b	% ee ^c
1	Me	None	20/5	0	_
2	Me	$KHCO_3(1)$	20/5	0	
3	Me	$K_2CO_3(1)$	20/5	94	84
4	Me	KOH (1)	20/5	99	84
5	Me	KOH (1)	0/18	31	89
6	OMe	KOH (1)	20/21	94	84
7	Oi-Pr	KOH (1)	20/19	58	92
8	Ot-Bu	KOH (1)	50/6	92	93
9	Ot-Bu	$K_2CO_3(1)$	65/21	76	91
10	Ot-Bu	$Cs_2CO_3(1)$	65/21	83	92
11	Ot-Bu	KF (3)	65/21	75	80
12	Ot-Bu	CsF (3)	65/21	77	83
13	Ot-Bu	NEt ₃ (1)	65/21	40	91

^a A mixture of an unsaturated ketone or ester (1, Ar=Ph) (0.5 mmol), 4-MeOC₆H₄B(OH)₂ (0.75 mmol), and base (0.5 mmol) in dioxane-H₂O (3 mL/0.5 mL) was stirred in the presence of [Rh(nbd)₂]BF₄ (3 mol %) and (*S*,*S*)-chiraphos (3.3 mol %).

^b Isolated yields by chromatography.

^c Enantiomer excess determined by a chiral stationary column.

Reaction at room temperature resulted in 84% ee (entry 4) and selectivity was increased to 89% ee by lowering the reaction temperature to 0 °C (entry 5). The bulkiness of ester groups of cinnamates greatly affected on both the reaction rates and enantioselectivities (entries 6-9). The reaction was slow at room temperature, but the best enantioselectivity (92%, 93% ee) was obtained by using the most hindered tertbutyl cinnamate at 50 °C in the presence of KOH (1 equiv) (entry 8) rather than methyl and isopropyl esters (entries 6 and 7). Carbonates, fluorides, and triethylamine were less effective (entries 9–13). These results are in contrast to the low efficiency of previous rhodium(I)-binap catalysts for β-aryl- α . β -unsaturated carbonyl compounds. A Rh(acac)(C₂H₄)₂binap catalyst resulted in 28% yield and 78% ee for isopropyl cinnamate^{3d} and 4-tolylboronic acid at 100 °C, and [Rh-(binap)(nbd)]BF₄ resulted in 84% yield and 76% ee in addition of 3-methoxyphenylboronic acid to 4-phenyl-3-buten-2-one at 50 °C in the presence of Et_3N .²⁰

1.4-Additions of representative arylboronic acids to β-aryl- α , β -unsaturated ketones and *tert*-butyl esters with a rhodium(I)/(S,S)-chiraphos catalyst are shown in Table 2. All additions to ketones were completed within 5 h at room temperature with enantioselectivities in a range of 83-89% ee (entries 1-5). Additions to tert-butyl esters were carried out at 50 or 80 °C, but these reactions resulted in 5-10%higher enantioselectivities than those of ketone series (entries 6–16). Substituents on arylboronic acids (FG in 2) and β -substituents of carbonyl compounds (Ar in 1) affected the enantioselectivities, suggesting their participation in enantioselection as is discussed in the mechanistic section. Substituents of arylboronic acids increased the selectivities in the order of 3,4-methylenedioxy (entries 2 and 9)>4methoxy (entries 1 and 6)>3-methoxy (entry 7)>3,4-dimethoxy (entry 8) \gg 4-dimethylamino (entry 10). In additions of 3-methoxyphenylboronic acid to a series of β-arylacrylates, the selectivities of 4-methoxyphenyl, 4-methylphenyl, and 2-methoxyphenyl derivatives were comparable to that of the phenyl group (entries 7 and 11-13), but 4-trifluoromethylphenyl and 2-naphthyl derivatives resulted in significantly lower enantioselectivities presumably due to steric reason (entries 14 and 15). Although the pyridine nitrogen often retards metal-catalyzed reactions due to its strong ability to coordinate to most metal catalysts, it was interesting that arylboronic acids underwent very smooth addition to tert-butyl 3-pyridylacrylate under standard conditions (entry 16). The absolute configurations of most products were not known, but the formation of S-product from (S,S)-chiraphos complex was established by the specific rotation reported for (S)-3-(3-methoxyphenyl)-1,3-diphenylpropan-1-one ($[\alpha]_D$ +7.1 $(c 0.71, \text{CHCl}_3))^{20}$ (entry 4).

2.2. Synthesis of endothelin receptor antagonists

Much effort has been made by many research groups to prepare selective antagonists of endothelin receptors, which are currently being evaluated as potential therapeutic agents for the treatment of hypertension, congestive heart failure, and renal diseases. 1,3-Diarylindan-2-caraboxylic acid derivatives are highly potent antagonists selective for endothelin receptors among non-peptide antagonists reported by Shionogi,²⁶ Hoffmann-La Roche,²⁷ Bristol-Myers Squibb,²⁸ SmithKline Beecham (**6**, **7**),²⁹ and Merck–Banyu (**8**).³⁰

Table 2. Asymmetric addition of an	vlboronic acids to β-ary	$\gamma l - \alpha, \beta$ -unsaturated ketones and esters ($(1)^{a}$
	,	/	- /

		•						
Entry	-	1	2 FG=	Base	Temp/time	Product	Yield/% ^b	% ee ^c
	Ar=	R=			(°C/h)			
1	Ph	Me	4-MeO	K ₂ CO ₃	20/5	4a	96	84
2	Ph	Me	$3,4-O_2CH_2^{d}$	K_2CO_3	20/5	4b	99	89
3	2-Naphthyl	Me	3-MeO	K_2CO_3	20/5	4c	95	83
4	Ph	Ph	3-MeO	K_2CO_3	20/5	4d	99	86 (S)
5	Ph	4-MeOC ₆ H ₄	3-MeO	K_2CO_3	20/5	4 e	99	83
6	Ph	Ot-Bu	4-MeO	KOH	50/6	4f	92	93
7	Ph	Ot-Bu	3-MeO	KOH	50/6	4g	95	90
8	Ph	Ot-Bu	$3,4-(MeO)_2$	KOH	50/6	4h	88	88
9	Ph	Ot-Bu	$3,4-O_2CH_2^{d}$	KOH	50/6	4i	94	94
10	Ph	Ot-Bu	4-Me ₂ N	KOH	50/6	4 <u>j</u>	59	82
11	4-MeOC ₆ H ₄	Ot-Bu	3-MeO	KOH	80/6	4k	97	90
12	2-MeOC ₆ H ₄	Ot-Bu	3-MeO	KOH	80/6	41	96	91
13	4-MeC ₆ H ₄	Ot-Bu	3-MeO	KOH	80/6	4m	92	91
14	4-CF ₃ C ₆ H ₄	Ot-Bu	3-MeO	KOH	80/6	4n	94	85
15	2-Naphthyl	Ot-Bu	3-MeO	KOH	80/6	4 o	81	78
16	3-Pyridyl	Ot-Bu	3-MeO	KOH	80/6	4p	90	89

^a A mixture of 1 (1 mmol), ArB(OH)₂ (1.5 mmol), and base (1 mmol) in dioxane–H₂O (6/1) was stirred in the presence of [Rh(nbd)₂]BF₄ (3 mol %) and (*S*,*S*)-chiraphos (3.3 mol %).

^b Isolated yields by chromatography.

^c Enantiomer excess determined by a chiral stationary column.

^d O₂CH₂ is a methylenedioxy group.

Two general and flexible methods for the synthesis of such a fused five-membered ring with three contiguous chiral centers have recently been accomplished by SmithKline Beecham³¹ and Merck–Banyu.³⁰ In this approach, the major challenge of Merck–Banyu's group was enantioselective 1,4-addition of aryl metal reagents to β -aryl- α , β -unsaturated esters to build a five-membered ring and three chiral centers based on the first stereogenic center. Although they achieved excellent enantioselectivities by using a stoichiometric chiral auxiliary for 1,4-addition of aryllithium reagents, the catalytic protocol is preferred in large-scale preparations of these antagonists (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Endothelin receptor antagonists reported by SmithKline Beecham and Merck–Banyu.

2.2.1. SmithKline Beecham's antagonist (7). Most rhodium(I) catalysts previously reported for 1,4-addition of arylboronic acids achieved significantly higher enantioselectivity for cyclic enones and esters than those for acyclic derivatives. Thus, addition to benzo-fused 2-cyclopentenone **9** was the first choice for the synthesis of endothelin receptor antagonists (**6** and **7**) reported by SmithKline Beecham (Scheme 2). However, the substrate **9** was unfortunately very labile as neat or even in solutions. Thus, all attempts to use **9** as the starting compound failed. [Rh(nbd)₂]BF₄chiraphos (**3a**) resulted in 27% yield and 8% ee.



Scheme 2. 1,4-Addition to indenone (9).

An alternative approach for the synthesis of 7 from arylboronic acids and acyclic unsaturated esters is shown in Scheme 3. An aryl moiety 14 desired for introduction of the top functionality of 7 via palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling was obtained from readily available 4-bromoresorcinol (11). Chemoselective protection of the 4-hydroxy group of 11 with tosyl chloride was directly followed by treatment with ClCH₂CH₂OMOM. Deprotection and methylation of 12 furnished 13 in 75% total yield. A sequential treatment of 13 with magnesium turning and B(OMe)₃ gave the desired boronic acid 14 in 73% yield.

The α . β -unsaturated ester (17) desired as a substrate for enantioselective 1,4-addition was synthesized by Heck coupling of 2-bromo-5-propoxybenzaldehyde (16), which was obtained from 2-bromo-5-hydroxybenzaldehyde (15) via an etherification, oxidation, and esterification sequence. (E)-Selective Heck coupling with tert-butyl acrylate then furnished the Michael acceptor (17) in 55% yield from 15. Addition of 3,4-methylenedioxyphenylboronic acid (1.5 equiv) to 17 smoothly occurred at 60 °C under optimal conditions shown in Table 1. The desired enantiomer (18) was obtained with 89% ee when (R,R)-chiraphos (3.3 mol %) was used for [Rh(nbd)₂]BF₄ (3 mol %). Claisen cyclization of 18 with NaHMDS gave 19 in 76% yield. The absolute configuration of 18 ($[\alpha]_D^{22}$ –46.5 (*c* 0.70, CHCl₃)) was established to be *S* by conversion of **19** to the known compound **23** ($[\alpha]_{D}^{22}$ +49.7 $(c 0.25, CHCl_3))$ via decarboxylation of the resulting keto ester 19 (Scheme 4). The specific rotation of 23 reported in



Scheme 3. SmithKline Beecham's antagonist (7).

the literature is $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ +43.6 (*S*, 94% ee).³¹ The enantiomer thus obtained was produced by the same mode of face selection as that discussed in the later section.



Scheme 4. Absolute configuration of 23.

The chiral diester **19** thus obtained was led to the target antagonist **7** by a method similar to that previously reported by SmithKline Beecham. Thus, the enolate resulting from **19** with NaH was sulfonylated with trifluoromethanesulfonic anhydride to yield the triflate **20** in 72% yield (89% ee). Cross-coupling of **20** with **14** in the presence of PdCl₂(dppf) and K₂CO₃ to give **21** in 90% yield was followed by olefin reduction with H₂ and a palladium catalyst to give **22** in 90% yield. Finally, epimerization of the *tert*-butyl ester group in **22** was followed by deprotection of *tert*-butyl ester and MOM group to furnish **7**.³¹

The strategy thus achieved by asymmetric 1,4-addition and cross-coupling reaction of arylboronic acids has a structural flexibility for both top and bottom aryl groups for parallel synthesis of candidates. 2.2.2. Merck-Banyu's antagonists. For the synthesis of Merck-Banyu's antagonist 8, an unsaturated ester (27) was chosen as a substrate for the enantioselective addition of arylboronic acids to introduce the chiral stereogenic center, which was previously achieved by 1,4-addition of aryllithiums to unsaturated esters possessing a chiral auxiliary (Scheme 5). Ester 27 was obtained in a high yield by the reported procedures starting from 2,6-dichloropyridine (24).³² With the substrate 27 in hand, the key asymmetric step was then investigated. The optimal conditions shown in Table 1 worked well for variously functionalized arylboronic acids with selectivities in a range of 90-95% ee, thus allowing the parallel synthesis of chiral β -aryl ester derivatives (28a-e). It was interesting that neither the substituents on the pyridyl ring nor the two nitrogens of 27 significantly affected the yields or enantioselectivities. They were comparable or even higher than those of unsaturated esters shown in Table 2. The absolute configurations of 28e thus obtained by the (R,R)-chiraphos complex was established to be S by the specific rotation reported for (S)-28e (Fig. 2).³³ Thus, the product was produced by the same mode of face selection same as that discussed in the later section (Fig. 3). In five steps, 28e completes a formal synthesis of one of Merck-Banyu's antagonists (8).³²

2.3. DFT computational study on enantioselection

The catalytic cycle of rhodium(I)-catalyzed 1,4-addition of arylboronic acids to α , β -unsaturated carbonyl compounds in aqueous media involves (i) transmetalation of an arylboronic acid to a HO–[Rh] complex (**29**) giving an Ar'–[Rh]



Scheme 5. Merck-Banyu's endothelin A receptor antagonists (8).



Figure 2. A catalytic cycle.

species (**30**), (ii) insertion of alkene into the Ar'–Rh bond (**31**) to yield a rhodium enolate (**32**) and finally (iii) formation of an addition product (**4**) and regeneration of **29** via hydrolysis of the rhodium enolate intermediate with water.^{3j}

Thus, absolute configuration and enantioselectivity can be determined at the insertion step of alkenes into an arylrhodium(I)–phosphine intermediate (**31**). There is a precedent for the X-ray structure of a rhodium(I)–chiraphos complex; however, the solid-state structure of such a conformationally flexible complex, in general, is not reliable for the mechanism of enantioselection since the intermediate conformation differs from the structure of the catalyst precursor. Thus, the

mode of a coordination of (E)-4-phenyl-3-buten-2-one to the [Rh(Ph)(S,S-chiraphos)] intermediate was calculated, i.e., the reaction stage directly preceding the stereodetermining insertion step by DFT computations at the B3LYP/ LANL2DZ level of theory. The four modes of coordination of the enone substrate to the current phenylrhodium(I) intermediate are shown in Scheme 5. Two stable adducts between [Pd(Ph)(S,S-chiraphos)] and (E)-4-phenyl-3-buten-2-one located computationally are shown in 33 and 35, which are skewed 28.9° and 127°, respectively, from the orientation required for insertion of an enone (34 and 36). Although both si- and re-coordination of the substrate is preferred thermodynamically without significant steric interaction, only the precursor of the experimentally observed enantiomer giving an S product has a low energy barrier (34, 20.8 kcal/mol) for parallel coordination of the C-C double bond to the Pd-P bond. In mode 34, the two phenyl groups on rhodium and phosphine atoms constitute a planar free space for coordination of an enone to the metal center and the upper-right area is being blocked by one of the equatorial phenyl groups of the (S,S)-chiraphos ligand. The efficiency of chiraphos for planer α , β -unsaturated carbonyl compounds, the participation of Rh-bound aryls in enantioselectivity, and the substituent effect of arylboronic acids can be interpreted by this model (34). On the other hand, the coordination of an enone from its opposite re face is also probable with an analogous low energy level (35, 1.6 kcal/mol), but the subsequent insertion process can be strongly retarded, because of a high energy barrier for parallel orientation of the C-C double bond and the Ph-Rh bond (36, 231.8 kcal/mol).



33 (si, ∠28.9°, 0 kcal/mol)





35 (re, ∠127°, 1.6 kcal/mol)

36 (re, ∠0°, 231.8 kcal/mol)

Figure 3. Transition states for coordination of (*E*)-PhCH=CHCOCH₃ to a [Rh(Ph)(*S*,*S*-chiraphos)] intermediate.

3. Conclusion

We have documented the successful use of a traditional chiraphos ligand for rhodium(I)-catalyzed 1,4-additions of arylboronic acids to β-aryl unsaturated ketones and esters for enantioselective synthesis of β -diaryl carbonyl compounds. The high flexibility of this ligand widely applicable even for sterically hindered carbonyl compounds or substrates possessing a donating pyridine nitrogen was demonstrated in two syntheses of selective endothelin antagonists. The DFT calculation revealed that the catalyst has a planar free space for coordination of an enone to the metal center and that one of quadrants is being blocked by an equatorial phenyl group of the chiraphos ligand, thus suggesting high performance in recognition of planar alkene substrates such as β -aryl ketones and esters. This model would present an alkene recognition mechanism with square planar metalchiraphos complexes.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

All experiments were carried out under an argon or nitrogen atmosphere. HPLC analysis was directly performed with chiral stationary phase column, Chiralcel OD-H, AD, AD-H, OJ-H, and OB-H purchased from Dicel Co., Ltd. Phenylboronic acid and (4-methylphenyl)boronic acid were commercially available from Lancaster. Other boronic acids were synthesized from the corresponding Grignard or lithium reagents and trimethyl borate or isopropyl borate.³⁴ [Rh(nbd)₂]BF₄,³⁵ PdCl₂(MeCN)₂,³⁶ and PdCl₂(dppf)³⁷ were synthesized by reported procedures. (*S*,*S*)-Chiraphos and (*R*,*R*)-chiraphos were purchased.

4.2. Asymmetric addition to α , β -unsaturated ketones and esters (Table 2)—A general procedure

A solution of $[Rh(nbd)_2]BF_4$ (3.0 mol %) and (*S*,*S*)-chiraphos (3.3 mol %) in 1,4-dioxane (3.0 mL) and water (0.1 mL) was stirred for 15 min at room temperature under N₂ atmosphere. Alkene (0.5 mmol), aqueous KOH (0.4 mL, 1.25 M), and arylboronic acid (1.5 mmol) were then added. The mixture was stirred at the temperature shown in Table 1. The product was purified by column chromatography on silica gel.

Following products were synthesized by the above general method. The spectral data of compounds 4a,³⁸ 4c,²⁰ 4d,²⁰ and $4f^{39}$ were previously reported.

4.2.1. Compound (4b). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_D^{23} + 1.8$ (*c* 0.41, CHCl₃); IR (neat): 1486, 1230, 1036, 699, 533 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.10 (s, 3H), 3.14 (d, *J*= 7.3 Hz, 2H), 4.52 (t, *J*=7.6 Hz, 1H), 5.91 (s, 2H), 6.70–6.74 (m, 3H), 7.17–7.31 (m, 5H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 30.6, 45.7, 49.7, 100.9, 108.2, 108.2, 120.5, 126.5, 127.5, 128.6, 137.8, 143.9, 146.0, 147.7, 206.7; MS

(m/z) 77 (4.8), 152 (22), 211 (100), 225 (3.2), 268 (44, M⁺); exact mass calcd for C₁₇H₁₆O₃: 268.1099; found: 268.1101.

4.2.2. Compound (4e). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_D^{21} + 11$ (*c* 0.63, CHCl₃); IR (neat): 1252, 1597, 1167, 832, 698 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 3.67 (d, *J*=7.3 Hz, 2H), 3.85 (s, 3H), 4.77 (s, 3H), 4.79 (t, *J*=7.3 Hz, 1H), 6.69–6.72 (m, 1H), 6.80–6.92 (m, 4H), 7.15–7.27 (m, 6H), 7.90–7.94 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 44.3, 46.0, 55.1, 55.4, 111.2, 113.7, 114.0, 120.2, 126.3, 127.8, 128.5, 129.5, 130.3, 144.1, 145.9, 159.6, 163.4, 196.4; MS (*m/z*) 77 (12), 107 (5.8), 197 (22), 211 (36), 346 (51, M⁺); exact mass calcd for C₂₃H₂₂O₃: 346.1569; found: 346.1565.

4.2.3. Compound (4g). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_{D}^{D^3} + 2.2$ (*c* 0.52, CHCl₃); IR (neat): 1725, 1255, 1141, 769, 698 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.18 (s, 9H), 2.85 (d, *J*=8.3 Hz, 2H), 3.61 (s, 3H), 4.35 (t, *J*=8.3 Hz, 1H), 6.59–6.62 (m, 1H), 6.69–6.75 (m, 2H), 7.03–7.17 (m, 6H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 27.9, 41.9, 47.3, 54.9, 80.3, 111.4, 113.7, 120.0, 126.3, 127.6, 128.3, 129.3, 143.3, 145.1, 159.5, 170.9; MS (*m*/*z*) 197 (100), 210 (30.2), 211 (7.8), 239 (12.7), 312 (6.0, M⁺); exact mass calcd for C₂₀H₂₄O₃: 312.1725; found: 312.1719.

4.2.4. Compound (4h). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_D^{23} + 0.71$ (*c* 0.21, CHCl₃); IR (neat): 1253, 1138, 1028, 700, 511 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.28 (s, 9H), 2.93 (d, *J*=8.3 Hz, 2H), 3.80 (s, 6H), 4.43 (t, *J*=8.1 Hz, 1H), 6.75–6.80 (m, 3H), 7.13–7.27 (m, 5H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 27.8, 42.1, 46.8, 55.5, 80.2, 110.9, 111.1, 119.3, 126.2, 127.4, 128.2, 136.0, 143.6, 147.4, 148.6, 170.8; MS (*m/z*) 57 (10.1), 227 (100), 269 (5.9), 285 (78.1), 342 (34.6, M⁺); exact mass calcd for C₂₁H₂₆O₄: 342.1831; found: 342.1827.

4.2.5. Compound (4i). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_{D}^{22}$ +0.35 (*c* 0.43, CHCl₃); IR (neat): 1243, 1141, 1037, 699, 515 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.31 (s, 9H), 2.91–2.93 (m, 2H), 4.41 (t, *J*=8.1 Hz, 1H), 5.87 (s, 2H), 6.70–6.75 (m, 3H), 7.17–7.30 (m, 5H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 27.8, 42.1, 47.0, 80.4, 100.8, 108.0, 108.2, 120.5, 126.4, 127.5, 128.4, 137.5, 143.6, 146.0, 147.6, 170.9; MS (*m*/*z*) 57 (6.8), 211 (100), 253 (9.7), 269 (43.9), 326 (15.4, M⁺); exact mass calcd for C₂₀H₂₂O₄: 326.1518; found: 326.1519.

4.2.6. Compound (4j). White solids; mp 76–77 °C; $[\alpha]_{D^3}^{D^3}$ +3.8 (*c* 0.18, CHCl₃); IR (neat): 1716, 1149, 812, 696, 533 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.27 (s, 9H), 2.88 (s, 6H), 2.92 (d, *J*=8.8 Hz, 2H), 4.38 (t, *J*=8.3 Hz, 1H), 6.63–6.67 (m, 2H), 7.05–7.27 (m, 7H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 27.8, 40.6, 42.3, 46.5, 80.2, 112.7, 126.1, 127.7, 128.2, 128.3, 131.7, 144.3, 149.2, 171.3; MS (*m*/*z*) 57 (6.6), 210 (100), 224 (3.9), 268 (56.0), 325 (29.0, M⁺); exact mass calcd for C₂₁H₂₇NO₂: 325.2042; found: 325.2044; Anal. Calcd for C₂₁H₂₇NO₂: C, 77.50%; H, 8.36%. Found: C, 77.55%; H, 8.35%.

4.2.7. Compound (4k). White solids; mp 54–55 °C; $[\alpha]_{D^2}^{22}$ +1.3 (*c* 0.41, CHCl₃); IR (neat): 1247, 1511, 1176, 1142, 1036 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.19 (s, 9H), 2.82 (d, *J*=8.3 Hz, 2H), 3.62–3.63 (m, 6H), 4.31 (t, *J*=8.3 Hz, 1H), 6.59–6.62 (m, 1H), 6.67–6.73 (m, 4H),

7.04–7.09 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 27.7, 42.1, 46.5, 54.9, 55.0, 80.3, 111.3, 113.6, 113.7, 119.9, 128.5, 129.3, 135.5, 145.5, 158.0, 159.5, 171.0; MS (*m*/*z*): 57 (6.0), 227 (100), 269 (6.4), 285 (54), 342 (8.0, M⁺); exact mass calcd for C₂₁H₂₆O₄: 342.1831; found: 342.1826; Anal. Calcd for C₂₁H₂₆O₄: C, 73.66%; H, 7.65%. Found: C, 73.81%; H, 7.69%.

4.2.8. Compound (4l). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_{D}^{23} + 21$ (*c* 0.47, CHCl₃); IR (neat): 1490, 1242, 1142, 752, 696 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.26 (s, 9H), 2.89 (dd, *J*=8.7, 15 Hz, 1H), 2.96 (dd, *J*=7.8, 15 Hz, 1H), 3.71 (s, 3H), 3.74 (s, 3H), 4.87 (t, *J*=8.3 Hz, 1H), 6.66–6.69 (m, 1H), 6.78–6.88 (m, 4H), 7.11–7.19 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 27.7, 40.4, 40.8, 54.9, 55.2, 80.0, 110.5, 111.1, 113.9, 120.2, 120.3, 127.4, 127.7, 128.9, 131.7, 144.9, 156.7, 159.3, 171.2; MS (*m*/*z*) 57 (21), 227 (29), 241 (9.8), 269 (22), 342 (5.0, M⁺); exact mass calcd for C₂₁H₂₆O₄: 342.1831; found: 342.1843.

4.2.9. Compound (4m). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_{21}^{21} - 1.0$ (*c* 0.53, CHCl₃); IR (neat): 1726, 1255, 1142, 779, 697 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.19 (s, 9H), 2.18 (s, 3H), 2.83 (d, *J*=7.8 Hz, 2H), 3.63 (s, 3H), 4.36 (t, *J*=8.1 Hz, 1H), 6.59–6.62 (m, 1H), 6.69–6.74 (m, 2H), 6.96–7.11 (m, 5H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 20.9, 27.8, 42.0, 46.9, 55.0, 80.3, 111.4, 113.7, 120.0, 127.5, 129.0, 129.3, 135.8, 140.4, 145.4, 159.5, 171.0; MS (*m*/*z*) 57 (21), 211 (100), 225 (3.9), 253 (7.9), 269 (16), 326 (4.9, M⁺); exact mass calcd for C₂₁H₂₆O₃: 326.1882; found: 326.1887.

4.2.10. Compound (4n). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_{D}^{22} + 2.5$ (*c* 0.55, CHCl₃); IR (neat): 1323, 1257, 1113, 1068, 842 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.29 (s, 9H), 2.96 (t, *J*=8.3 Hz, 2H), 3.74 (s, 3H), 4.52 (t, *J*=8.1 Hz, 1H), 6.73–6.82 (m, 3H), 7.18–7.23 (m, 1H), 7.36 (d, *J*=8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.52 (d, *J*=8.3 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 27.7, 41.5, 47.1, 55.0, 80.7, 111.7, 113.8, 119.9, 122.8, 125.3, 125.3, 128.0, 129.6, 144.2, 147.5, 159.7, 170.5; MS (*m/z*) 57 (24), 265 (64), 279 (9.9), 307 (18), 323 (7.2), 380 (6.0, M⁺); exact mass calcd for C₂₁H₂₃F₃O₃: 380.1599; found: 380.1608.

4.2.11. Compound (40). White solids; mp 72 °C; $[\alpha]_{23}^{D3} - 18$ (*c* 0.51, CHCl₃); IR (neat): 1719, 1244, 1140, 758, 712 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.16 (s, 9H), 2.89–2.99 (m, 2H), 3.60 (s, 3H), 4.53 (t, *J*=8.1 Hz, 1H), 6.59–6.61 (m, 1H), 6.73–6.77 (m, 2H), 7.07 (t, *J*=7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.21–7.33 (m, 3H), 7.59–7.68 (m, 4H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 27.8, 41.8, 47.3, 55.0, 80.4, 111.5, 113.9, 120.2, 125.4, 125.6, 125.9, 126.5, 127.5, 127.7, 128.1, 129.4, 132.2, 133.3, 140.8, 145.0, 159.6, 171.0; MS (*m/z*) 57 (9.0), 247 (100), 261 (3.2), 289 (8.3), 305 (32), 362 (12, M⁺); exact mass calcd for C₂₄H₂₆O₃: 362.1882; found: 362.1879; Anal. Calcd for C₂₄H₂₆O₃: C, 79.53%; H, 7.23%. Found: C, 79.62%; H, 7.37%.

4.2.12. Compound (4p). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_D^{22} +9.7$ (*c* 0.52, CHCl₃); IR (neat): 1723, 1257, 1143, 715, 699 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.21 (s, 9H), 2.84–2.94 (m, 2H), 3.68 (s, 3H), 4.39 (t, *J*=8.3 Hz, 1H), 6.66–6.75 (m, 3H), 7.10–7.21 (m, 2H), 7.45–7.47 (m, 1H), 8.36–8.37 (m, 1H), 8.48–8.51 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃):

δ 27.8, 41.5, 44.9, 55.1, 80.9, 111.8, 113.7, 119.9, 123.3, 129.6, 135.0, 138.8, 143.9, 147.9, 149.3, 159.7, 170.4; MS (*m*/*z*) 57 (35), 198 (44), 212 (100), 240 (12), 313 (7.0, M⁺); exact mass calcd for C₁₉H₂₃NO₃: 313.1678; found: 313.1674.

4.3. SmithKline Beecham's antagonist (Scheme 3)

4.3.1. Toluene-4-sulfonic acid 4-bromo-3-(2-methoxymethoxyethoxy)phenyl ester (12).40a A mixture of 4bromoresorcinol (11) (5.5 g, 29.1 mmol), K₂CO₃ (14 g, 101 mmol), and *p*-TsCl (6 g, 35.7 mmol) in acetone (100 mL) was refluxed for 21 h. The solvent was removed in vacuo and 1-chloro-2-methoxymethoxyethane (5.5 g, 44.4 mmol), K₂CO₃ (5.5 g, 39.9 mmol), NaI (2.9 g, 19.3 mmol), and DMF (100 mL) were then added. The resulting mixture was stirred for 24 h at 90 °C. The product (12) was isolated by chromatography on silica gel (hexane/ EtOAc=10/1 to 5/1) (11.3 g, 90%). Colorless viscous oil; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz): δ 7.70 (d, J=8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.39 (d, J=8.7 Hz, 1H), 7.32 (d, J=8.3 Hz, 2H), 6.63 (d, J=2.4 Hz, 1H), 6.40 (dd, J=8.3, 2.4 Hz, 1H), 4.72 (s, 2H), 4.06-4.08 (m, 2H), 3.89-3.91 (m, 2H), 3.40 (s, 3H), 2.45 (s. 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz): δ 155.7, 149.4, 145.6, 133.3, 131.9, 129.8, 128.5, 115.4, 110.4, 108.1, 96.5, 68.8, 65.3, 55.3, 21.7; IR (neat): 2938, 2885, 1594, 1477, 1372, 1273, 1191, 1179, 1143, 1117, 1036, 983, 810, 784, 724, 661, 549 cm⁻¹; MS (*m/z*): 45 (87), 91 (100), 155 (67), 430 (M⁺, 18), 432 (M⁺+2, 19); exact mass calcd for C₁₇H₁₉BrO₆S: 430.0085; found: 430.0087.

4.3.2. 1-Bromo-4-methoxy-2-(2-methoxymethoxyethoxy)benzene (13). A solution of 12 (8.3 g, 19.2 mmol) and KOH (5.9 g, 105 mmol) in EtOH (250 mL) and water (30 mL) was heated under reflux for 2 h. The solvent was evaporated to reduce the volume. HCl (4 M) was added at room temperature until pH 4. The product (13) extracted with Et₂O was isolated by chromatography on silica gel (hexane/EtOAc=25/1 to 5/1) (4.1 g, 74%). Colorless oil; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz): δ 7.39 (d, J=8.7 Hz, 1H), 6.49 (d, J=2.4 Hz, 1H), 6.41 (dd, J=8.7, 2.4 Hz, 1H), 4.74 (s, 2H), 4.15–4.17 (m, 2H), 3.92–3.95 (m, 2H), 3.78 (s, 3H), 3.41 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz): δ 160.0, 155.8, 133.1, 106.3, 103.0, 101.1, 96.6, 68.5, 65.5, 55.5, 55.3; IR (neat, cm⁻¹): 2937, 2885, 1582, 1485, 1442, 1304, 1281, 1203, 1168, 1116, 1060, 1022, 917, 823, 608; MS (m/z): 45 (100), 89 (47), 202 (7), 290 (M⁺, 16), 292 (M⁺+2, 16); exact mass calcd for C₁₁H₁₅BrO₄: 290.0153; found: 290.0155.

4.3.3. 4-Methoxy-2-(2-methoxymethoxyethoxy)phenylboronic acid (14). A solution of **13** (4.4 g, 15 mmol) in THF (5 mL) was dropwise added to Mg turnings (368 mg, 16 mmol) to prepare Grignard solution. To this solution was then added (MeO)₃B (2 mL, 18 mmol in 10 mL of THF) at -78 °C. The resulting mixture was allowed to stir overnight, treated with dil HCl, extracted with Et₂O, and finally washed with brine. A pure boronic acid (**14**) was isolated by recrystallization (2.8 g, 11 mmol, 73% yield). White solids; mp 67–68 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz): δ 7.76 (d, J=8.3 Hz, 1H), 6.57 (dd, J=2.4, 8.3 Hz, 1H), 6.45 (d, J= 2.4 Hz, 1H), 5.87 (s, 2H), 4.73 (s, 2H), 4.20–4.22 (m, 2H), 3.91–3.93 (m, 2H), 3.86 (s, 3H), 3.44 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz): δ 165.0, 163.4, 138.0, 105.8, 99.1, 96.5, 67.5, 65.7, 55.4, 55.3; Anal. Calcd for C₁₁H₁₇BO₆: C, 51.60%; H, 6.69%. Found: C, 51.45%; H, 6.62%.

4.3.4. 2-(2-*tert*-Butoxycarbonylvinyl)-5-propoxybenzoic acid methyl ester (17). A solution of 2-bromo-5-hydroxybenzaldehyde (15)^{40b} (6 g, 30.0 mmol), 1-bromopropane (4.5 mL, 50.0 mmol), and K₂CO₃ (6.6 g, 48.0 mmol) in EtOH (60 mL) and water (20 mL) was heated under reflux for 17 h. The solvent was then evaporated and the residue was filtrated through silica gel pad with hexane/EtOAc (1/1). The combined filtrate was concentrated to dryness.

The crude product was dissolved in acetone (56 mL) and water (18 mL), and slowly treated with $KMnO_4$ (9.5 g, 60.0 mmol) with stirring on a water bath. After being stirred for 30 min, it was heated for 1 h at 70 °C. The reaction mixture was passed through Celite 545, rinsed with acetone, and then concentrated to a small volume. The reaction mixture was extracted with AcOEt and the organic layer was washed with dil HCl. The organic layer was dried over MgSO₄ and, finally, concentrated to dryness.

The crude product was dissolved in MeOH (100 mL) and H_2SO_4 (2 mL), and heated under reflux for 6 h using Dean–Stark apparatus. The solution was concentrated to a small volume and extracted with Et_2O . The organic layer was washed successively with brine and water. The organic layer was dried over MgSO₄ and concentrated to dryness to give crude **16** (6.3 g).

A solution of the crude 16, $PdCl_2(MeCN)_2$ (204 mg, (0.79 mmol), $P(o-\text{tol})_3$ (458 mg, 1.50 mmol), and *tert*-butyl acrylate (3.6 mL, 24.9 mmol) in DMF (23 mL) and Et₃N (7.6 mL) was stirred at 100 °C for 10 h. The product (17) was isolated by recrystallization from pentane (four steps from 15, 5.3 g, 55%). White solids; mp 67–68 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz): δ 8.26 (d, J=15.8 Hz, 1H), 7.56 (d, J=8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.40 (d, J=2.4 Hz, 1H), 7.03 (dd, J=2.4, 8.3 Hz, 1H), 6.18 (d, J=8.3 Hz, 1H), 3.97 (t, J=6.8, 7.3 Hz, 2H), 3.93 (s, 3H), 1.83 (sext, J=6.8, 7.3 Hz, 2H), 1.53 (s, 9H), 1.04 (t, J=7.3 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz): δ 167.3, 166.2, 159.8, 141.8, 131.4, 129.0, 128.2, 120.8, 118.8, 115.7, 80.3, 69.8, 52.4, 28.2, 22.4, 10.4; IR (neat): 2975, 1719, 1707, 1601, 1499, 1296, 1238, 1142, 1065, 982, 866, 831, 784, 593, 566 cm⁻¹; MS (*m/z*): 177 (39), 219 (100), 320 (M⁺, 13); exact mass calcd for C₁₈H₂₄O₅: 320.1624; found: 320.1626; Anal. Calcd for C₁₈H₂₄O₅: C, 67.48%; H, 7.55%. Found: C, 66.43%; H, 7.38%.

4.3.5. (-)-(*S*)-2-(1-Benzo[1,3]dioxol-5-yl-2-tert-butoxycarbonylethyl)-5-propoxy-benzoic acid methyl ester (18). To the round-bottom flask charged with $[Rh(nbd)_2]BF_4$ (39.2 mg, 3.0 mol %), (*R*,*R*)-chiraphos (49.2 mg, 3.3 mol %), and 17 (1.2 g, 3.5 mmol) were added 1,4-dioxane (10.5 mL) and water (0.7 mL). After being stirred for 15 min at ambient temperature, a KOH solution (1.25 M in H₂O, 4.2 mL) and 3,4-(methylenedioxy)phenylboronic acid (970 mg, 5.3 mmol) were added. The mixture was stirred at 60 °C for 20 h. The mixture was filtered through a silica and MgSO₄ pad, and the pad was then rinsed with hexane/ EtOAc (1/1). The product (18, 1.36 g, 88%) was isolated by chromatography on silica gel with hexane/EtOAc (20/1). Ee (89%) (Chiralcel AD-H, *n*-hexane/2-propanol= 9/1). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_{D^2}^{22}$ -46.5 (*c* 0.70, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz): δ 7.30 (d, *J*=2.9 Hz, 1H), 7.22 (d, *J*=8.8 Hz, 1H), 6.97 (dd, *J*=8.8, 2.9 Hz, 1H), 6.74–6.86 (m, 3H), 5.87 (s, 2H), 5.31 (t, *J*=8.3 Hz, 1H), 3.90 (t, *J*=6.3, 6.8 Hz, 2H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 2.87 (dd, *J*=3.4, 8.3 Hz, 2H), 1.76 (sext, *J*=6.8, 7.3 Hz, 2H), 1.01 (t, *J*=7.3 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz): δ 170.8, 168.0, 157.0, 147.5, 145.7, 137.8, 136.2, 131.0, 129.4, 120.6, 118.3, 115.7, 108.6, 107.8, 100.7, 80.3, 69.6, 52.0, 42.6, 41.3, 27.8, 22.4, 10.4; IR (neat): 2971, 1720, 1487, 1436, 1285, 1216, 1143, 1073, 1038, 933, 803 cm⁻¹; MS (*m*/*z*): 57 (12), 253 (20), 267 (18), 295 (65), 309 (41), 327 (40), 340 (54), 354 (100), 367 (27), 386 (68), 442 (M⁺, 11); exact mass calcd for C₂₅H₃₀O₇: 442.1992; found: 442.1995.

4.3.6. 1-Benzo[1,3]dioxol-5-yl-3-oxo-5-propoxyindan-2carboxylic acid tert-butyl ester (19). A solution of NaHMDS (1 M, 3.6 mL) in THF was slowly added to a solution of 18 (797 mg, 1.8 mmol) in THF (18 mL) at -78 °C. The mixture was stirred for 30 min at -78 °C and for 3 h at -15 °C. The reaction was quenched with satd aqueous NH₄Cl. Isolation by chromatography on neutral silica gel with hexane/EtOAc (30/1 to 20/1) gave 19 (560 mg, 76% vield). Pale vellow oil; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz): δ 7.15–7.21 (m, 3H), 6.75 (d, J=7.8 Hz, 1H), 6.65 (dd, J=1.4, 7.8 Hz, 1H), 6.53 (s, 1H), 5.93 (s, 1H), 4.77 (d, J=4.4 Hz, 1H), 3.96 (t, J=6.3, 6.8 Hz, 1H), 3.50 (d, J=4.4 Hz, 2H), 1.82 (sext, 6.8, 7.3 Hz, 2H), 1.49 (s, 9H), 1.04 (t, J=7.3 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz): δ 167.5, 159.4, 148.8, 148.1, 146.7, 136.4, 136.2, 127.3, 125.3, 121.1, 108.4, 107.8, 105.6, 101.1, 82.1, 69.9, 65.3, 47.7, 28.2, 22.3, 10.4; IR (neat): 2971, 1708, 1486, 1440, 1273, 1228, 1145, 1037, 931, 842, 823, 801, 766 cm⁻¹; MS (m/z): 59 (81), 149 (24), 266 (39), 308 (98), 336 (100), 354 (81), 410 (M⁺, 33); exact mass calcd for $C_{24}H_{26}O_6$: 410.1729; found: 410.1733.

4.3.7. 1-Benzo[1,3]dioxol-5-yl-5-propoxy-3-trifluoromethanesulfonyloxy-1H-indene-2-carboxylic acid tertbutyl ester (20). A solution of 19 (324 mg, 0.79 mmol) and NaH (38 mg, 1.58 mmol) in ether (7.9 mL) was stirred for 45 min at -5 °C. Tf₂O (0.22 mL, 1.18 mmol) was added and the mixture was then stirred for 1 h at -5 °C. The product was extracted with Et₂O and the organic layer was washed successively with brine and water. Isolation by chromatography on silica gel (hexane/EtOAc=30/1 to 15/1) gave 20 (390 mg, 72% yield). White solids; mp 105–106 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz): δ 7.10 (d, J=7.8 Hz, 1H), 6.94 (s, 1H), 6.91 (dd, J=2.4, 8.3 Hz, 1H), 6.72 (d, J=7.8 Hz, 1H), 6.67 (dd, J=1.4, 7.8 Hz, 1H), 6.44 (d, J=1.4 Hz, 1H), 5.90 (dd, J=1.4, 7.3 Hz, 1H), 4.77 (s, 1H), 3.93 (t, J=6.8 Hz, 2H), 1.82 (sext, J=6.8, 7.3 Hz, 2H), 1.40 (s, 9H), 1.04 (t, J=7.3 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz): δ 161.0, 159.2, 150.3, 147.7, 146.7, 138.3, 135.5, 130.7, 130.5, 125.3, 121.3, 119 (q, J=320 Hz), 117.1, 108.3, 107.5, 105.2, 100.9, 82.5, 69.8, 52.5, 27.8, 22.4, 10.4; IR (neat): 2966, 1702, 1490, 1423, 1337, 1249, 1202, 1124, 1040, 860, 808, 601 cm⁻¹; MS (m/z): 57 (69), 309 (100), 325 (55), 353 (45), 542 (M⁺, 60); exact mass calcd for C₂₅H₂₅O₈F₃S: 542.1222; found: 542.1211; Anal. Calcd for C₂₅H₂₅O₈F₃S: C, 55.35%; H, 4.64%. Found: C, 54.29%; H, 4.58%.

4.3.8. 1-Benzo[1,3]dioxol-5-yl-3-[4-methoxy-2-(2-methoxymethoxyethoxy)phenyl]-5-propoxy-1H-indene-2carboxylic acid tert-butyl ester (21). A solution of 20 (155 mg, 0.29 mmol), boronic acid 14 (80.5 mg, 0.31 mmol), and K₂CO₃ (59 mg, 0.43 mmol) in toluene (1.1 mL) and water (0.19 mL) was stirred for 4 h at 70 °C. The mixture was filtered through a silica gel and MgSO₄ pad, and the pad was then rinsed with hexane/EtOAc (1/1). The coupling product (21) was isolated by chromatography on silica gel (hexane/EtOAc=5/1 to 3/1) (155 mg, 90%) vield). Pale vellow oil: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz): δ 7.32 (d, J=8.3 Hz, 0.44H), 7.13 (d, J=8.3 Hz, 0.56H), 7.07 (d, J=8.3 Hz, 1H), 5.88-6.82 (m, 7H), 5.87 (m, 2H), 4.79 (s. 0.44H), 4.78 (s, 0.56H), 4.46-4.48 (m, 2H), 4.05-4.15 (m, 2H), 3.86 (s, 3H), 3.70-3.83 (m, 4H), 3.19 (s, 1.3H), 3.13 (s, 1.7H), 1.73–1.75 (m, 2H), 1.17–1.19 (m, 9H), 0.96–1.00 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz): δ 163.6, 160.74, 160.70, 158.7, 156.9, 149.2, 147.5, 147.4, 146.1, 146.0, 145.0, 141.0, 140.8, 139.6, 139.2, 133.8, 133.5, 130.9, 130.8, 124.3, 124.2, 121.28, 121.25, 117.0, 116.4, 114.6, 114.4, 108.4, 108.2, 108.1, 108.0, 107.7, 107.4, 104.6, 100.7, 100.6, 99.8, 99.7, 96.49, 96.46, 79.8, 79.7, 69.6, 67.8, 67.6, 65.9, 65.7, 55.37, 55.33, 55.2, 54.9, 27.9, 27.8, 22.5, 10.5; IR (neat): 2932, 1694, 1595, 1578, 1502, 1484, 1440, 1352, 1242, 1220, 1151, 1111, 1035, 919, 799, 782 cm⁻¹; MS (m/z): 441 (35), 472 (86), 503 (96), 530 (100), 604 (M⁺, 42); exact mass calcd for $C_{35}H_{40}O_9$: 604.2672; found: 604.2674.

4.3.9. 1-Benzo[1,3]dioxol-5-yl-3-[4-methoxy-2-(2-methoxymethoxyethoxy)phenyl]-5-propoxyindan-2-car**boxvlic acid** *tert*-butvl ester (22). The coupling product (21. 155 mg, 0.26 mmol) was dissolved in EtOH (1.3 mL) and treated with 20 wt % Pd(OH)₂/C (8.9 mg) for 5 h at 60 °C under hydrogen atmosphere (0.3 MPa). The mixture was filtered through Celite 545 and the pad was rinsed with EtOH. The product (22) was isolated by chromatography on silica gel (hexane/EtOAc=5/1 to 2/1) (140 mg, 90% yield). Colorless oil; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz): δ 7.37 (d, J=8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.09 (d, J=8.3 Hz, 1H), 6.90 (s, 1H), 6.88-6.90 (m, 2H), 6.79–6.80 (m, 2H), 6.74 (d, J=7.8 Hz, 1H), 6.48 (m, 1H), 6.44 (dd, J=2.4, 8.7 Hz, 1H), 5.90 (dd, J=1.4, 11.7 Hz, 1H), 5.05 (d, J=7.8 Hz, 1H), 4.75 (s, 2H), 4.66 (d, J=7.8 Hz, 1H), 4.11-4.23 (m, 2H), 3.83-3.99 (m, 5H), 3.78 (s, 3H), 3.43 (s, 3H), 1.78 (sext, J=6.8, 7.3 Hz, 2H), 1.03 (t, J=7.3 Hz, 3H), 0.78 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz): δ 170.2, 159.5, 158.4, 158.1, 147.0, 146.1, 145.7, 136.1, 133.3, 130.9, 125.2, 123.0, 119.8, 112.9, 111.2, 110.4, 107.6, 104.0, 100.7, 98.9, 96.5, 79.2, 69.7, 67.7, 66.0, 58.8, 55.3, 55.2, 52.3, 46.0, 27.4, 22.6, 10.5; IR (neat): 2933, 1727, 1609, 1488, 1441, 1366, 1283, 1248, 1229, 1198, 1145, 1113, 1036, 917, 815, 796, 731 cm⁻¹; MS (m/z): 251 (24), 321 (80), 337 (53), 473 (40), 487 (100), 505 (49), 606 (M⁺, 22); exact mass calcd for C₃₅H₄₂O₉: 606.2828; found: 606.2824.

4.4. Merck–Banyu's antagonists (Scheme 4)

4.4.1. 3-[6-Benzyl-isopropyl-amino]-2-chloro-pyridine-3-yl]acrylic acid *tert*-butyl ester (26).³² To the vessel were added 25 (5.0 g, 17.3 mmol),³² THF (75 mL), and *tert*-butyl diethylphosphonoacetate (4.6 g, 18.2 mmol), and the mixture was then stirred for 5 h at 40 °C. The completion of the reaction was confirmed by HPLC. i-PrOAc (50 mL) and aqueous NaOH (0.5 M, 20 mL) were added at ambient temperature. The resulting aqueous layer was extracted again with *i*-PrOAc (20 mL). The combined organic layers were washed with brine and concentrated to ca. 20 mL. To this slurry was added *n*-heptane (50 mL) to precipitate the product. Compound 26 was collected by filtration and washed with n-heptane/i-PrOAc (5/1, 20 mL). The wet solid was dried under reduced pressure at 40 °C to afford 5.7 g of slightly yellow solids (85% yield). Mp 103–105 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): δ 7.86 (d, J=15.9 Hz, 1H), 7.54 (d, J=8.8 Hz, 1H), 7.18–7.35 (m, 5H), 6.20 (d, J=8.8 Hz, 1H), 6.07 (d, J=15.9 Hz, 1H), 5.10 (sept, J=6.7 Hz, 1H), 4.56 (s, 2H), 1.52 (s, 9H), 1.20 (t, J=6.7 Hz, 6H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): δ 166.4, 158.3, 150.3, 138.9, 138.4, 136.6, 128.7, 127.0, 126.2, 117.6, 116.2, 106.1, 80.3, 46.9, 46.5, 28.2, 20.2; IR (KBr): 2975, 1702, 1601, 1532, 1485, 1363, 1140, 981, 935, 862, 832, 803, 719, 696, 681, 635, 609, 463 cm^{-1} ; exact mass calcd for C₂₂H₂₈ClN₂O₂ (M⁺+H): 387.1839; found: 387.1867.

4.4.2. 6-(N-Benzyl-N-isopropylamino)-3-(2-tert-butoxycarbonylvinyl)pyridine-2-carboxylic acid butyl ester (27). To the vessel were added 26 (5 g, 12.9 mmol), AcONa \cdot 3H₂O (2.6 g, 19.1 mmol), toluene (19 mL), and n-BuOH (38 mL). The mixture was degassed three times by vacuum/N₂ cycle. Pd(OAc)₂ (145 mg, 5 mol %) and DPPF (536 mg, 7.5 mol %) were then added, and the vessel was again degassed twice. The mixture was stirred at 120 °C for 16 h. After the completion of the reaction was confirmed by HPLC, the vessel was cooled to ambient temperature. The insoluble material was filtered through Celite and rinsed with EtOAc. The product was isolated by column chromatography (*n*-heptane/EtOAc=20/1 to 10/1) to give 27 as oil. The oil was dissolved in EtOAc (30 mL) and was treated with activated carbon (Darco KB-B, 250 mg) for 2 h. Filtration through Celite and concentration to dryness under reduced pressure gave 5.1 g (87% yield) of 27 as yellow viscous oil. $R_{f}=0.65$ (*n*-heptane/ethyl acetate=2/1); ¹H NMR $(CDCl_3, 500 \text{ MHz}): \delta 7.91 \text{ (d, } J=15.8 \text{ Hz}, 1\text{H}), 7.61 \text{ (d, } J=15.8 \text{ Hz}, 1\text{Hz}, 1\text{Hz}, 1\text{Hz}, 1\text{Hz}), 7.61 \text{ (d, } J=15.8 \text{ Hz}, 1\text{H$ J=9.1 Hz, 1H), 7.21-7.31 (m, 5H), 6.40 (d, J=9.1 Hz, 1H), 6.07 (d, J=15.8 Hz, 1H), 5.13 (br t, J=6.2 Hz, 1H), 4.59 (s, 2H), 4.37 (t, J=6.6 Hz, 2H), 1.73-1.79 (m, 2H), 1.51 (s, 9H), 1.43–1.52 (m, 2H), 1.21 (d, J=6.7 Hz, 6H), 0.96 (t, J= 7.4 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): δ 166.8, 166.3, 158.0, 148.3, 139.1, 138.8, 135.7, 128.6, 126.9, 126.3, 118.3, 117.8, 109.3, 80.1, 65.5, 46.7, 46.6, 30.7, 28.3, 28.2, 20.2, 19.2, 13.7; IR (neat): 2972, 1712, 1597, 1547, 1484, 1143, 1075, 982, 870, 814, 732, 609 cm⁻¹; exact mass calcd for C₂₇H₃₇N₂O₄ (M⁺+H): 453.2753; found: 453.2714.

4.4.3. Rh-catalyzed asymmetric addition to 27. To a round-bottom flask were added 1,4-dioxane (2.0 mL) and water (0.5 mL), and the flask was then degassed three times by vacuum/N₂ cycle. To this solution were added [Rh(nbd)₂]BF₄ (3.0 mol %) and (*R*,*R*)-chiraphos (3.3 mol %) and the flask was again degassed twice. After the mixture was aged for 15 min at ambient temperature, unsaturated ester (**27**, 0.4 mmol) in 1,4-dioxane (1.0 mL), KOH (0.8 mmol), and arylboronic acid (1.2 mmol) were added. The flask was degassed twice. The mixture was heated to 50 °C for 14 h with vigorous stirring. The product was purified by column chromatography on silica gel.

The following compounds were synthesized by the above general procedure.

4.4.4. tert-Butyl-(3S)-3-[6-(N-benzyl-N-isopropylamino)-2-butoxycarbonyl-3-pyridinyl]-3-phenylpropanoate (28a). Yield, 90%; $R_f=0.61$ (*n*-heptane/ethyl acetate=2/1); 89.8% ee (Chiralcel OD-H, n-hexane/2-propanol=90/10, flow rate=0.5 mL/min, temp=27 °C, $t_{\rm R}$ for **28a**: 8.3 min, $t_{\rm R}$ for enantiomer: 9.7 min); $[\alpha]_{\rm D}^{20}$ -40.2 (c 3.01, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): δ 7.12–7.28 (m, 11H), 6.31 (d. J=9.0 Hz, 1H), 5.04 (sept. J=6.7 Hz, 1H), 4.96 (t. J=8.2 Hz, 1H), 4.48 (s, 2H), 2.87 (d, J=8.2 Hz, 2H), 1.68–1.76 (m, 2H), 1.40–1.48 (m, 2H), 1.25 (s, 9H), 1.16 (d, J=6.7 Hz, 6H), 0.94 (t, J=7.3 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): δ 170.8, 167.6, 156.2, 146.4, 143.1, 139.8, 137.5, 128.4, 128.3, 127.8, 127.6, 126.6, 126.3, 125.7, 109.3, 80.4, 65.1, 46.6, 46.2, 42.0, 41.0, 30.6, 27.9, 27.8, 20.2, 20.1, 19.2, 13.7; exact mass calcd for C₃₃H₄₃N₂O₄ (M⁺+H): 531.3223; found: 531.3319.

4.4.5. tert-Butyl-(3S)-3-[6-(N-benzyl-N-isopropylamino)-2-butoxycarbonyl-3-pyridinyl]-3-(4-methoxyphenyl)propanoate (28b). Yield, 89%; $R_f=0.48$ (*n*-heptane/ethyl acetate=2/1); 92.1% ee (Chiralcel OD-H, n-hexane/2-propanol=90/10, flow rate=0.5 mL/min, temp=27 °C, $t_{\rm R}$ for **28b**: 9.7 min, $t_{\rm R}$ for enantiomer: 13.7 min); $[\alpha]_{\rm D}^{20} - 28.4$ (c 2.125, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): δ 7.15–7.28 (m, 8H), 6.78 (d, J=8.7 Hz, 2H), 6.31 (d, J=8.9 Hz, 1H), 5.04 (sept, J=6.7 Hz, 1H), 4.89 (t, J=8.3 Hz, 1H), 4.48 (s, 2H), 4.30–4.34 (m, 2H), 3.74 (s, 3H), 2.83 (d, J=8.3 Hz, 2H), 1.72 (m, 2H), 1.38–1.50 (m, 2H), 1.26 (s, 9H), 1.16 (d, J=6.7 Hz, 6H), 0.94 (t, J=7.4 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): *b* 170.8, 167.6, 158.0, 156.2, 146.4, 139.8, 137.4, 135.3, 128.7, 128.4, 126.6, 126.3, 126.0, 113.7, 109.3, 80.4, 65.0, 55.2, 46.6, 46.2, 42.1, 40.3, 30.6, 27.9, 27.8, 20.2, 20.1, 19.2, 13.7; IR (KBr): 2972, 1730, 1600, 1553, 1481, 1146, 1077, 1037, 961, 843, 731, 697 cm⁻¹; exact mass calcd for $C_{34}H_{45}N_2O_5$ (M⁺+H): 561.3328; found: 561.3418.

4.4.6. tert-Butyl-(3S)-3-[6-(N-benzyl-N-isopropylamino)-2-butoxycarbonyl-3-pyridinyl]-3-(4-bromo-3-fluorophenyl)propanoate (28c). Yield, 82%; $R_f=0.68$ (n-heptane/ ethyl acetate=2/1); 95.4% ee (Chiralcel OD-H, n-hexane/ 2-propanol=90/10, flow rate=0.5 mL/min, temp=27 °C, $t_{\rm R}$ for **28c**: 8.4 min, $t_{\rm R}$ for enantiomer: 11.8 min); $[\alpha]_{\rm D}^{20} - 32.8$ (c 1.145, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): δ 7.40 (dd, J=7.5, 8.0 Hz, 1H), 7.18–7.28 (m, 6H), 7.03 (dd, J=1.8, 9.9 Hz, 1H), 6.94 (dd, J=1.5, 8.3 Hz, 1H), 6.34 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 1H), 5.03 (sept, J=6.7 Hz, 1H), 4.98 (t, J=8.1 Hz, 1H), 4.50 (s, 2H), 4.29–4.35 (m, 2H), 2.83 (d, J=8.1 Hz, 2H), 1.68–1.73 (m, 2H), 1.40–1.47 (m, 2H), 1.28 (s, 9H), 1.18 (dd, J=1.5, 6.7 Hz, 6H), 0.94 (t, J=7.4 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): δ 170.3, 167.3, 156.4, 146.3, 139.5, 137.2, 133.2, 128.5, 126.7, 126.3, 124.7, 116.1, 115.9, 109.5, 80.8, 65.2, 46.7, 46.3, 41.5, 40.3, 30.6, 27.8, 20.1, 19.2, 13.7; exact mass calcd for C₃₃H₄₁BrFN₂O₄ (M⁺+H): 627.2234; found: 627.2415.

4.4.7. *tert*-Butyl-(3*S*)-3-[6-(*N*-benzyl-*N*-isopropylamino)-**2-butoxycarbonyl-3-pyridinyl**]-3-(3,4-methylenedioxy**phenyl**)**propanoate** (28d). Yield, 91%; R_f =0.52 (*n*-heptane/ ethyl acetate=2/1); 89.8% ee (Chiralcel OD-H, *n*-hexane/ 2-propanol=90/10, flow rate=0.5 mL/min, temp=27 °C, $t_{\rm R}$ for **28d**: 10.0 min, $t_{\rm R}$ for enantiomer: 13.0 min); $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ -36.5 (*c* 1.76, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): δ 7.18–7.28 (m, 6H), 6.73 (s, 1H), 6.67–6.72 (m, 2H), 6.32 (d, *J*=9.0 Hz, 1H), 5.87 (s, 2H), 5.04 (sept, *J*=6.7 Hz, 1H), 4.88 (t, *J*=8.2 Hz, 1H), 4.49 (s, 2H), 4.31–4.34 (m, 2H), 2.80 (d, *J*=8.2 Hz, 2H), 1.69–1.75 (m, 2H), 1.41–1.48 (m, 2H), 1.28 (s, 9H), 1.16 (d, *J*=6.7 Hz, 6H), 0.94 (t, *J*=7.4 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): δ 170.7, 167.6, 156.2, 147.6, 146.4, 145.9, 139.7, 137.3, 137.2, 128.4, 126.6, 126.3, 125.7, 120.5, 109.3, 108.6, 107.9, 100.8, 80.5, 65.1, 46.6, 46.2, 42.1, 40.7, 30.7, 27.9, 20.2, 20.1, 19.2, 13.7; IR (KBr): 2974, 1731, 1600, 1553, 1484, 1146, 1039, 937, 813, 731, 697 cm⁻¹; exact mass calcd for C₃₄H₄₃N₂O₆ (M⁺+H): 575.3121; found: 575.3218.

4.4.8. tert-Butyl-(3S)-3-[6-(N-benzyl-N-isopropylamino)-2-butoxycarbonyl-3-pyridinyl]-3-(2,3-dihydro-1-benzofuran-6-yl)propanoate (28e). Yield, 80%; Rf=0.55 (n-heptane/ethyl acetate=2/1); 90.3% ee (Chiralcel OD-H, *n*-hexane/2-propanol=90/10, flow rate=0.5 mL/min, temp= 27 °C, t_R for **28e**: 11.2 min, t_R for enantiomer: 16.9 min); $[\alpha]_{D}^{20}$ -39.7 (c 1.06, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): δ 7.18–7.28 (m, 6H), 7.04 (d, J=7.6 Hz, 1H), 6.74 (d, J=7.6 Hz, 1H), 6.67 (s, 1H), 6.31 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 1H), 5.04 (sept, J=6.6 Hz, 1H), 4.91 (t, J=8.2 Hz, 1H), 4.50 (t, J=8.6 Hz, 2H), 4.49 (s, 2H), 4.30-4.35 (m, 2H), 3.11 (t, J=8.6 Hz, 2H), 2.82 (d, J=8.1 Hz, 2H), 1.69–1.74 (m, 2H), 1.40-1.47 (m, 2H), 1.27 (s, 9H), 1.16 (d, J=6.6 Hz, 6H), 0.94 (t, J=7.4 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): δ 170.8, 167.5, 160.3, 156.2, 146.4, 143.7, 139.8, 137.4, 128.4, 126.6, 126.3, 125.8, 124.8, 124.5, 120.0, 109.3, 108.7, 80.4, 71.2, 65.0, 46.6, 46.2, 42.0, 40.8, 30.7, 29.5, 27.9, 20.2, 20.1, 19.2, 13.7; IR (KBr): 2975, 1730, 1599, 1481, 1147, 1078, 989, 947, 813, 759, 697 cm⁻¹; exact mass calcd for C₃₅H₄₅N₂O₅ (M⁺+H): 573.3328; found: 573.3412.

4.5. Computational details

Geometries of all stationary points were optimized using analytical energy gradients of self-consistent field⁴¹ and density functional theory (DFT).⁴² The latter utilized Becke's three-parameter exchange-correlation functional⁴³ including the nonlocal gradient corrections described by Lee–Yang–Parr (LYP),⁴⁴ as implemented in the Gaussian 03 program package.⁴⁵ All geometry optimizations were performed using the LANL2DZ basis set.⁴⁶

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by Grant-in-Aid from Innovation Plaza Hokkaido in Japan Science and Technology Agency.

References and notes

- (a) Krause, N.; Hoffmann-Röder, A. Synthesis 2001, 171;
 (b) Sibi, M. P.; Manyem, S. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 8033;
 (c) Tomioka, K.; Nagaoka, Y. Comprehensive Asymmetric Catalysis; Jacobsen, E. N., Pfalts, A., Yamamoto, H., Eds.; Springer: Berlin, 1999; Chapter 31.1.
- 2. Sakai, M.; Hayashi, H.; Miyaura, N. Organometallics 1997, 16, 4229.

- 3. (a) Takaya, Y.; Ogasawara, M.; Hayashi, T.; Sakai, M.; Miyaura, N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 5579; (b) Batey, R. A.; Thadani, A. N.; Smil, D. V. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 1683; (c) Ogasawara, M.; Yoshida, K.; Hayashi, T. Organometallics 2000, 19, 1567; (d) Sakuma, S.; Sakai, M.; Itooka, R.; Miyaura, N. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 5951; (e) Reetz, M. T.; Moulin, D.; Gosberg, A. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 4083; (f) Ramnaulth, J.; Poulin, O.; Bratovanov, S. S.; Rakhit, S.; Maddaford, S. P. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 2571; (g) Itooka, R.; Iguchi, Y.; Miyaura, N. Chem. Lett. 2001, 722; (h) Amengual, R.; Michelet, V.; Genêt, J.-P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 5905; (i) Pucheault, M.; Darses, S.; Genêt, J.-P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 6155; (j) Hayashi, T.; Takahashi, M.; Takaya, Y.; Ogasawara, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 5052; (k) Itooka, R.; Iguchi, Y.; Miyaura, N. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 6000; (1) Ma, Y.; Song, C.; Ma, C.; Sun, Z.; Chai, Q.; Andrus, M. B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 5871; (m) Cauble, D. F.; Gipson, J. D.; Krische, M. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 1110; (n) Navarre, L.; Pucheault, M.; Darses, S.; Genêt, J.-P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 4247; (o) Chen, G.; Tokunaga, N.; Hayashi, T. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 2285; (p) Yamamoto, Y.; Kurihara, K.; Sugishita, N.; Oshita, K.; Piao, D.; Miyaura, N. Chem. Lett. 2005, 1224; For a review, (q) Hayashi, T.; Yamasaki, K. Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 2829; (r) Vandyck, K.; Matthys, B.; Willen, M.; Robeyns, K.; Meervelt, L. V.; der Eycken, J. V. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 363.
- (a) Mori, A.; Danda, Y.; Fujii, T.; Hirabayashi, K.; Osakada, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 10774; (b) Huang, T.-S.; Li, C.-J. Chem. Commun. 2001, 2348; (c) Oi, S.; Honma, Y.; Inoue, Y. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 667; (d) Murata, M.; Shimazaki, R.; Ishikura, M.; Watanabe, S.; Masuda, Y. Synthesis 2002, 717; (e) Koike, T.; Du, X.; Mori, A.; Osakada, K. Synlett 2002, 301; (f) Oi, S.; Taira, A.; Honma, Y.; Inoue, Y. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 97.
- (a) Feringa, B. L.; Pineschi, M.; Arnold, L. A.; Imbos, R.; De Vries, A. M. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1997, 36, 2620;
 (b) Duursma, A.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 3700; (c) Šebesta, R.; Pizzuti, M. G.; Boersma, A. J.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. Chem. Commun. 2005, 1711.
- (a) Shintani, R.; Tokunaga, N.; Doi, H.; Hayashi, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 6240; (b) Kina, A.; Ueyama, K.; Hayashi, T. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 5889; (c) Shintani, R.; Yamagami, T.; Kimura, T.; Hayashi, T. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 5317.
- (a) Oi, S.; Moro, M.; Ono, S.; Inoue, Y. *Chem. Lett.* **1998**, 83;
 (b) Huang, T.-S.; Li, C.-J. *Org. Lett.* **2001**, *3*, 2037; (c) Huang,
 T.; Meng, Y.; Venkatraman, S.; Wang, D.; Li, C.-J. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2001**, *123*, 7451; (d) Oi, S.; Moro, M.; Ito, H.; Honma, Y.; Miyano, S.; Inoue, Y. *Tetrahedron* **2002**, *58*, 91.
- 8. Venkatraman, S.; Li, C.-J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 781.
- 9. Hayashi, T.; Tokunaga, N.; Yoshida, K.; Han, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 12102.
- 10. Miura, T.; Murakami, M. Chem. Commun. 2005, 5676.
- (a) Sakuma, S.; Miyaura, N. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 8944;
 (b) Pucheault, M.; Michaut, V.; Darses, S.; Genêt, J.-P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 4729;
 (c) Shintani, R.; Kimura, T.; Hayashi, T. Chem. Commun. 2005, 3213.
- 12. Hayashi, T.; Senda, T.; Takaya, Y.; Ogasawara, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1999**, *121*, 11591.
- 13. Hayashi, T.; Senda, T.; Ogasawara, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 10716.
- 14. Mauleon, P.; Carretero, J. C. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 3195.
- (a) Kuriyama, M.; Tomioka, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2001, 42, 921;
 (b) Kuriyama, M.; Nagai, K.; Yamada, K.; Miwa, Y.; Taga, T.; Tomioka, K. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2002, *124*, 8932.

- (a) Hayashi, T.; Ueyama, K.; Tokunaga, N.; Yoshida, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 11508; (b) Shintani, R.; Ueyama, K.; Yamada, I.; Hayashi, T. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 3425; (c) Defieber, C.; Paquin, J.-F.; Serna, S.; Carreira, E. M. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 3873; (d) Hayashi, T.; Tokunaga, N.; Okamoto, K.; Shintani, R. Chem. Lett. 2005, 1480; (e) Paquin, J.-F.; Defieber, C.; Stephenson, C. R. J.; Carreia, E. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 10850; (f) Chen, F. X.; Kina, A.; Hayashi, T. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 341.
- (a) Iguchi, Y.; Itooka, R.; Miyaura, N. Synlett 2003, 1040; (b) Duursma, A.; Hoen, R.; Schuppan, J.; Hulst, R.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 3111; (c) Boiteau, J.-G.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 9481.
- (a) Cho, C. S.; Motofusa, S.; Ohe, K.; Uemura, S. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 883; (b) Nishikata, T.; Yamamoto, Y.; Miyaura, N. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 2768; (c) Gini, F.; Hessen, B.; Minnaard, A. J. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 5309; (d) Lu, X.; Lin, S. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 9651; (e) Yamamoto, T.; Iizuka, M.; Ohta, T.; Ito, Y. Chem. Lett. 2006, 35, 198.
- 19. Nishikata, T.; Yamamoto, Y.; Miyaura, N. Chem. Lett. 2005, 34, 720.
- Nishikata, T.; Yamamoto, Y.; Gridnev, I. D.; Miyaura, N. Organometallics 2005, 24, 5025.
- (a) Nishikata, T.; Yamamoto, Y.; Miyaura, N. *Chem. Lett.* 2003, 32, 752; (b) Denmark, S. E.; Amishiro, N. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 6997.
- 22. Nishikata, T.; Yamamoto, Y.; Miyaura, N. *Chem. Commun.* **2004**, 1822.
- (a) Lynch, J. E.; Choi, W.-B.; Churchill, H. R. O.; Volante, R. P.; Reamer, R. A.; Ball, R. G. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 9223; (b) Andersson, P. G.; Schink, H. E.; Österlund, K. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 8067.
- 24. Jensen, K. B.; Thorhauge, J.; Hazell, R. G.; Jørgensen, K. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 160.
- 25. Paras, N. A.; MacMillan, W. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 7894.
- Mihara, S.-i.; Sakurai, K.; Nakamura, M.; Konoike, T.; Fujimoto, M. *Eur. J. Pharmacol., Mol. Pharmacol.* 1993, 247, 219.
- Clozel, M.; Breu, V.; Burrl, K.; Cassal, J.-M.; Fischli, W.; Gray,
 G. A.; Hirth, G.; Löffler, B.-M.; Müller, M.; Neidhart, W.;
 Ramuz, H. *Nature* **1993**, *365*, 759.
- Stein, P. D.; Hunt, J. T.; Floyd, D. M.; Moreland, S.; Dickinson, E. J.; Mitchell, C.; Liu, E. C.-K.; Webb, M. L.; Murugessan, N.; Dickey, J.; McMullen, D.; Zhang, R.; Lee, V. G.; Serafino, R.; Delaney, C.; Schaeffer, T. R.; Kozlowski, M. J. Med. Chem. 1994, 37, 329.
- Elliott, J. D.; Cousins, R. D.; Gao, A.; Leber, J. D.; Erhard, K. F.; Nambi, P.; Elshourbagy, N. A.; Kumar, C.; Lee, J. A.; Bean, J. W.; DeBrosse, C. W.; Eggleston, D. S.; Brooks, D. P.; Feuerstein, C.; Gleason, J. G.; Oeishoff, C. E.; Ohlstein, E. H. J. Med. Chem. 1994, 37, 1553.
- (a) Song, Z. J.; Zhao, M.; Desmond, R.; Devine, P.; Tschaen, D. M.; Tillyer, R.; Frey, L.; Heid, R.; Xu, F.; Foster, B.; Li, J.; Reamer, R.; Volante, R.; Grabowski, E. J. J.; Dolling, U. H.; Reider, P. J.; Okada, S.; Kato, Y.; Mano, E. *J. Org. Chem.* **1999**, *64*, 9658; (b) Song, Z. J.; Zhao, M.; Frey, L.; Li, J.; Tan, L.; Chen, C. Y.; Tschaen, D. M.; Tillyer, R.; Grabowski, E. J. J.; Volante, R.; Reider, P. *J. Org. Lett.* **2001**, *3*, 3357.
- (a) Elliott, J. D.; Lago, M. A.; Cousins, R. D.; Gao, A.; Leber, J. D.; Erhard, K. F.; Nambi, P.; Elshourbagy, N. A.; Kumar, C.;

Lee, J. A.; Bean, J. W.; DeBrosse, C. W.; Eggleston, D. S.; Brooks, D. P.; Feuerstein, G.; Ruffolo, R. R., Jr.; Weinstock, J.; Gleason, J. G.; Peishoff, C. E.; Ohlstein, E. H. *J. Med. Chem.* **1994**, *37*, 1553; (b) Mills, R. J.; Kowalski, C. J.; Ping, L.-J.; Gombatz, K. J. PCT Int. Appl. 9717071, June 13, 1997; (c) Clark, W. M.; Tickner-Eldridge, A. M.; Huang, G. K.; Pridgen, L. N.; Olsen, M. A.; Mills, R.; Lantos, I.; Baine, N. H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1998**, *120*, 4550.

- 32. Kato, Y.; Niiyama, K.; Nemoto, T.; Jona, H.; Akao, A.; Okada, S.; Song, Z. J.; Zhao, M.; Tsuchiya, Y.; Tomimoto, K.; Mase, T. *Tetrahedron* **2002**, *58*, 3409.
- 33. Unpublished results of Merck-Banyu.
- 34. (a) Gerrard, W. *The Chemistry of Boron*; Academic: New York, NY, 1961; (b) Nesmeyanov, A. N.; Sokoli, R. A. *Methods of Element-Organic Chemistry*; North Holland: Amsterdam, Netherlands, 1967; Vol. 1; (c) Onak, T. *Organoboronic Chemistry*; Academic: New York, NY, 1975.
- Schenck, T. G.; Downes, J. M.; Milne, C. R. C.; Mackenzie, P. B.; Boucher, T. G.; Whelan, J.; Bosnich, B. *Inorg. Chem.* 1985, 24, 2334.
- Mathews, C. J.; Smith, P. J.; Welton, T. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2003, 206, 77.
- Hayashi, T.; Konishi, M.; Kumada, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1979, 20, 1871.
- Paquin, J.-F.; Stephenson, C. R. J.; Defieber, C.; Carreira, E. M. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3821.
- Terao, Y.; Nomoto, M.; Satoh, T.; Miura, M.; Nomura, M. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 6942.
- 40. (a) Hiroya, K.; Suzuki, N.; Yasuhara, A.; Egawa, Y.; Kasano, A.; Sakamoto, T. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2000, 4339;
 (b) Qiao, L.; Zhao, L.-Y.; Rong, S.-B.; Wu, X.-W.; Wang, S.; Fujii, T.; Kazanietz, M. G.; Rauser, L.; Savage, J.; Roth, B. L.; Flippen-Anderson, J.; Kozikowski, A. P. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2001, 11, 955.
- Pulay, P. Modern Theoretical Chemistry; Schaefer, H. F., Ed.; Plenum: New York, NY, 1977; Vol. 4, p 153.
- Parr, R. G.; Yang, W. Density Functional Theory of Atoms and Molecules; Oxford University Press: New York, NY, 1989.
- 43. Becke, A. D. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 98, 5648.
- 44. Lee, C.; Yang, W.; Parr, R. G. Phys. Rev. B 1988, 37, 785.
- 45. Frisch, M. J.; Trucks, G. W.; Schlegel, H. B.; Scuseria, G. E.; Robb, M. A.; Cheeseman, J. R.; Montgomery, J. A., Jr.; Vreven, T.; Kudin, K. N.; Burant, J. C.; Millam, J. M.; Iyengar, S. S.; Tomasi, J.; Barone, V.; Mennucci, B.; Cossi, M.; Scalmani, G.; Rega, N.; Petersson, G. A.; Nakatsuji, H.; Hada, M.; Ehara, M.; Toyota, K.; Fukuda, R.; Hasegawa, J.; Ishida, M.; Nakajima, T.; Honda, Y.; Kitao, O.; Nakai, H.; Klene, M.; Li, X.; Knox, J. E.; Hratchian, H. P.; Cross, J. B.; Adamo, C.; Jaramillo, J.; Gomperts, R.; Stratmann, R. E.; Yazyev, O.; Austin, A. J.; Cammi, R.; Pomelli, C.; Ochterski, J. W.; Ayala, P. Y.; Morokuma, K.; Voth, G. A.; Salvador, P.; Dannenberg, J. J.; Zakrzewski, V. G.; Dapprich, S.; Daniels, A. D.; Strain, M. C.; Farkas, O.; Malick, D. K.; Rabuck, A. D.; Raghavachari, K.; Foresman, J. B.; Ortiz, J. V.; Cui, Q.; Baboul, A. G.; Clifford, S.; Cioslowski, J.; Stefanov, B. B.; Liu, G.; Liashenko, A.; Piskorz, P.; Komaromi, I.; Martin, R. L.; Fox, D. J.; Keith, T.; Al-Laham, M. A.; Peng, C. Y.; Nanayakkara, A.; Challacombe, M.; Gill, P. M. W.; Johnson, B.; Chen, W.; Wong, M. W.; Gonzalez, C.; Pople, J. A. Gaussian 03, Revision B.05; Gaussian: Pittsburgh, PA, 2003
- 46. Hay, P. J.; Wadt, W. R. J. Chem. Phys. 1985, 82, 270.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9622-9627

10-Oxo-10*H*-5 λ^4 ,10 λ^4 -thianthren-5-ylideneamine as a probe for stereochemistry in the formation and amination of fluoro- λ^6 -sulfanenitriles

Takayoshi Fujii,^{a,*} Tomoyoshi Takano,^b Shinsuke Asai,^b Hiroyuki Morita,^b Mitsuo Hirata^a and Toshiaki Yoshimura^{b,*}

^aDepartment of Applied Molecular Chemistry, College of Industrial Technology, Nihon University, Izumi-cho, Narashino, Chiba 275-8575, Japan

^bDepartment of Material Systems Engineering and Life Science, Faculty of Engineering, Toyama University, Gofuku, Toyama 930-8555, Japan

> Received 30 May 2006; revised 20 July 2006; accepted 26 July 2006 Available online 17 August 2006

Abstract—The fluorination of $10 \cdot 0x0 \cdot 10H \cdot 5\lambda^4$, $10\lambda^4$ -thianthren-5-ylideneamine (2) with SelectfluorTM affords 5-fluoro-10-ox0-5, $10 \cdot 0x0 \cdot 5\lambda^6$, $10\lambda^4$ -thianthren-5-nitrile (4). The amination of 4 with morpholine gives 5-morpholino-10-ox0-5, $10 \cdot 0x0 \cdot 5\lambda^6$, $10\lambda^4$ -thianthren-5-nitrile (5). The stereochemical course of both reactions has been studied, while the configurations of their products, *cis*-isomer 4 and *trans*-5-morpholino-10-ox0-5, $10 \cdot 0x0 \cdot 5\lambda^6$, $10\lambda^4$ -thianthren-5-nitrile (*trans*-5) are elucidated by the use of X-ray crystallographic analyses. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Thianthrene derivatives are one of the most important chemical probes in organic reactions.¹⁻³ In particular, the oxidation of thianthrene-5-oxide has been used as a mechanistic probe for the assessment of the electronic character of various oxidants.^{1,2} Recently, Morita and co-workers have been able to prepare 10-oxo- $10H-5\lambda^4$, $10\lambda^4$ -thianthren-5-ylideneamine (2) by hydrolysis of its *N*-*p*-toluenesulfonyl precursor 1 with concentrated H_2SO_4 .³ Furthermore, the *cis*- and *trans*-isomers of 1 and $\overline{2}$ were separated and their stereochemical interconversions were studied under hydrolytic conditions in acidic media and thermal conditions. Thus, trans-1 or cis-1 was hydrolyzed with concentrated H_2SO_4 to give a mixture of the corresponding trans-2 and cis-2, in the respective ratio ca. 5:1. In 20% aqueous H_2SO_4 the hydrolysis of trans-2 or cis-2 led to a mixture of the corresponding disulfoxides, indicating that substitution of the NH group with H₂O proceeds through inversion (ca. 86-89%). For the thermal interconversion of 1 and 2, cis derivatives were preferentially formed. The structures of these sulfimides were also determined by X-ray crystallographic analyses.³

We have been investigating the syntheses, structures, and reactivities of organic λ^6 -sulfanenitriles bearing an SN triple bond.⁴ Particularly, we have succeeded in transforming fluoro- λ^6 -sulfanenitrile to the various substituted λ^6 -sulfanenitriles such as alkoxy-, amino-, imino-, methyl-, and arylsulfanenitriles.^{4,5} Quite recently, we have found that several diaryl(fluoro)- λ^6 -sulfanenitriles are prepared by the reaction of *S*,*S*-diarylsulfimides with SelectfluorTM (1-chloromethyl-4-fluoro-1,4-diazoniabicyclo[2,2,2]octane bis(tetrafluoroborate) and this reaction allows the first preparation of 5-fluoro-10,10-dioxo-5,10-dihydro-5 λ^6 ,10 λ^6 -thianthren-5-nitrile.⁶ We have also shown a new synthetic route for heterocyclic fluoro- λ^6 -sulfanenitrile, due to the fact that conversion of cyclic-*N*-bromosulfimide with the fluoride anion to the corresponding λ^6 -sulfanenitriles is difficult.

However, the stereochemistry of the formation of fluoro- λ^6 sulfanenitriles by the reaction of sulfimides with SelectfluorTM and substitution of fluoro- λ^6 -sulfanenitriles with some nucleophiles is completely unknown, due to the lack of a facile preparation of optically active fluoro- λ^6 -sulfanenitriles.⁷ It is quite interesting to prepare 5-fluoro-10-oxo-5,10-dihydro-5- λ^6 ,10- λ^4 -thianthren-5-nitrile (**4**). We have now investigated (1) reaction of *cis*- and *trans*-10-oxo-10*H*-5 λ^4 ,10 λ^4 -thianthren-5-ylideneamines (**2**) with SelectfluorTM and their stereochemical courses and (2) reaction of 5-fluoro-10-oxo-5,10-dihydro-5 λ^6 ,10 λ^4 -thianthren-5nitrile (**4**) with morpholine and its stereochemical course.

Keywords: λ^6 -Sulfanenitrile; Sulfimides; SelectfluorTM; Thianthrene; Fluorination; Amination; X-ray crystallographic analysis.

^{*} Corresponding authors. Tel.: +81 47 474 2561; fax: +81 47 474 2579 (T.F.); e-mail: t5fujii@cit.nihon-u.ac.jp

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Reaction of 10-oxo-10*H*-5λ⁴,10λ⁴-thianthren-5-ylideneamine (2) with SelectfluorTM

The reaction of *trans*-10-oxo-10*H*- $5\lambda^4$, $10\lambda^4$ -thianthren-5vlideneamine (trans-2) with SelectfluorTM was carried out at ambient temperature in CH₃CN to give the *cis*-isomer of 5-fluoro-10-oxo-5,10-dihydro- $5\lambda^6$,10 λ^4 -thianthren-5-nitrile (4) (the SN group and the SO group are in *cis*-relation) and acid salt of starting material *trans-2*, in 48 and 43% vields. respectively, together with thianthren-5-oxide in 7% yield (Scheme 1). Neither the corresponding *N*-fluorosulfimide **3** nor the *trans*-isomer of 4 was obtained. The composition of cis-4 was identified by NMR and IR spectroscopies as well as elemental analysis, and its stereochemistry was determined by X-ray crystallographic analysis (Fig. 1 and Table 1). Because of the low relative solubility of *cis*-2 in CH₃CN, the reaction with Selectfluor[™] was carried out at 50 °C. Interestingly, this reaction gave the corresponding cis-isomer of 4 and acid salt of cis-2 in 35 and 39% yields, respectively, together with thianthrene-5-oxide, cis-, and trans-thianthrene-5,10-dioxides in 12, 11, and 2% yields (Scheme 1).

To understand this reaction pathway, the conversion into products during the reaction of *cis*- and *trans*-isomers of sulfimides **2** with SelectfluorTM in CH₃CN was followed by time interval ¹⁹F NMR spectroscopy (Fig. 2). In the reaction of *trans*-**2** at 23 °C, the ¹⁹F NMR peak of SelectfluorTM at δ 46.1 (N–F) gradually diminished and the peak of *cis*-**4** appeared at δ 114.4 (Fig. 2 (left)). At a low temperature (-20 °C), *trans*-**2** slowly reacted with SelectfluorTM to give the same results under the above conditions. Although we were unable to detect *N*-fluorosulfimide **3** by ¹⁹F NMR spectroscopy, its analogue, *S*-(4-nitrophenyl)-*S*-phenyl-*N*-fluorosulfimide and its conversion into the corresponding fluoro- λ^6 -sulfanenitrile were observed by ¹⁹F NMR spectroscopy as we reported in a preliminary communication.⁶ We have also studied on density functional theory (DFT)



Figure 1. The molecular structure of cis-4.

				0				
Tahla 1	Selected	hond	lengths ((Δ)	and	angles	(°)) for cis_4
Table 1	. Sciected	oonu	ionguis i	(n)	anu	angics	<u>۱</u>	101 013-4

S1-F1	1.573(3)	S1-N1	1.436(3)	
SI-CI	1.785(3)	S1-C2	1.775(3)	
S201	1.484(3)	S2–C3	1.811(3)	
S2–C4	1.800(3)			
F1-S1-N1	122.0(2)	F1-S1-C1	102.2(2)	
F1-S1-C2	99.4(2)	N1-S1-C1	115.2(2)	
N1-S1-C2	114.4(2)	C1-S1-C2	100.3(2)	
O1-S2-C3	107.8(2)	O1-S2-C4	108.0(2)	
C3-S2-C4	96.6(1)			

^a The atom-labeling scheme is shown in Figure 1.

calculations (B3LYP/6-311++G(3df,2pd)//B3LYP/6-31G(d) level) of *syn*- (12.1 kcal/mol (relative to Me₂FSN): F *syn* with respect to SMe₂) and *anti-S,S*-dimethyl-*N*-fluorosulfimides (18.0 kcal/mol (relative to Me₂FSN): F *anti* with respect to SMe₂) and fluoro(dimethyl)- λ^6 -sulfanenitrile (0.0 kcal/mol), suggesting that *N*-fluorosulfimides should be converted to thermodynamically stable fluoro- λ^6 -sulfanenitrile.⁶ This present reaction would also be relative to the above manner (Scheme 1).

The reaction of *cis*-**2** with SelectfluorTM in CH₃CN was monitored at 50 °C by ¹⁹F NMR spectroscopy. The ¹⁹F NMR peak of SelectfluorTM at δ 46.1 (NF) gradually reduced, while two resonance signals at δ 114.4 and 117.2 increased (Fig. 2 (right)). The former signal was assigned to that of *cis*-**4**. The



- o - > : the inversion process of configuration on sulfur atom



Figure 2. Time course of the change in ¹⁹F NMR spectra of the reaction of *trans*- (left) and *cis*-2 (right) with SelectfluorTM in CD₃CN: (a) rt, (b) 50 °C.

latter peak reached an approximate maximum of 55% of the reaction mixture as determined by the relative integrals of the reaction mixture in ¹⁹F NMR spectrum, and then completely disappeared and the spectra changed to that of *cis*-**4**. This intermediate is amenable to detection by ¹⁹F NMR spectroscopy, but we could not isolate it from the reaction mixture. The ¹⁹F NMR resonance of the latter (δ 118.2) is observed in a similar that of *cis*-fluoro- λ^6 -sulfanenitrile *cis*-**4** (δ 115.4) and is shifted to the lower field relative to those of *S*-(4-nitrophenyl)-*S*-phenyl- (δ -125.2)⁶ and *S*,*S*-bis(trifluoromethyl)-*N*-fluorosulfimides (δ -50, NF)⁸, and hence, the formation of *cis*-isomer of fluoro- λ^6 -sulfanenitrile *cis*-**4** can be accounted for the formation of *trans*-**4**, followed by isomerization (Scheme 1).

These results imply that the formation of fluoro- λ^6 -sulfanenitrile is as follows. (i) The initial process was that the reaction of sulfimide 2 with Selectfluor[™] afforded the corresponding N-fluorosulfimide 3 and acid salt of 2. The fluorination of nitrogen atom in 2 evidently does not involve the inversion process.³ (ii) The *N*-fluorosulfimide $\mathbf{3}$ underwent 1,2-migration of fluorine atom yielding the corresponding fluoro- λ^6 -sulfanenitrile 4. This migration (*cis*- and *trans*-3 to trans- and cis-4, respectively) proceeds via inversion mechanism (Scheme 1). As mentioned above, the DFT calculations predicted that syn conformation of S,S-dimethyl-N-fluorosulfimide is more stable than its anti conformation by 5.9 kcal/ mol.⁶ Therefore, *cis-syn* and *trans-syn* isomers of *N*-fluorosulfimide 3 should be converted to the respective *trans*- and *cis*-isomers of fluoro- λ^6 -sulfanenitrile **4**, which seem to be formed by a stepwise or a concerted rearrangement.

DFT calculations were performed on the various conformers of *cis*- and *trans*-5-fluoro-10-oxo-5,10-dihydro- $5\lambda^6$,10 λ^6 thianthren-5-nitriles (cis-4A, cis-4B, trans-4A, and trans-4B) (Fig. 3). The structures of the four possible conformations were optimized at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) level. All conformers correspond to stable structure. Selected structural parameters of optimized structures are shown in Table 2. The optimized structure of cis-4A is in good agreement with the experimental structure, except that the calculated S-N and S-F bond lengths are significantly longer than the experimental ones. Such overestimation of S-N and S-F bond lengths by DFT methods has been reported earlier.9 Calculated relative energies were obtained at the B3LYP/6-311++G(3df,2pd) level using the data from the optimized structures of 4. Stabilities of 4 are in the order: cis-4A>trans-4B>trans-4A>cis-4B (Fig. 3). cis-4A is more stable than trans-4A and trans-4B by 7.27 and 5.51 kcal/ mol, respectively. These results imply that trans-isomer of 4 should be converted to thermodynamically stable *cis*-4A.



Figure 3. Calculated relative energies of 4. a) B3LYP/6-311++G(3df,2pd)// B3LYP/6-31G(d), ZPE corrected values (kcal/mol).

Table 2. Optimized geometries for cis- and trans-4A and -4B^a

	cis-4A	cis- 4B	trans-4A	trans-4B
Bond lengths	(Å)			
S1-F1	1.708	1.715	1.679	1.706
S1-N1	1.462	1.462	1.462	1.464
S1-C1	1.811	1.819	1.813	1.815
S1-C2	1.811	1.819	1.813	1.815
S2O1	1.509	1.508	1.506	1.509
S2-C3	1.833	1.829	1.832	1.832
S2-C4	1.833	1.829	1.832	1.832
Bond angles (°)			
F1-S1-N1	120.6	117.3	119.7	118.6
F1-S1-C1	93.7	93.0	95.3	94.8
F1-S1-C2	93.7	93.0	95.3	94.8
N1-S1-C1	120.7	122.4	119.6	121.4
N1-S1-C2	120.7	122.4	119.6	121.4
C1-S1-C2	101.3	101.2	102.2	99.6
O1-S2-C3	107.6	108.5	109.9	107.9
O1-S2-C4	107.6	108.5	109.9	107.9
C3-S2-C4	95.7	97.5	97.0	96.0

^a Calculated at the B3LYP/6-31(d) level. The atom-labeling scheme is shown in Figure 3.

2.2. Reaction of *cis*-5-fluoro-10-oxo-5,10-dihydro- $5\lambda^6$,10 λ^4 -thianthren-5-nitrile (*cis*-4) with morpholine

The reaction of *cis*-**4** with a large excess of morpholine at room temperature gave the *trans*-isomer of 5-morpholino-10-oxo-5,10-dihydro- $5\lambda^6$, $10\lambda^4$ -thianthren-5-nitrile (*trans*-**5**) in 56% yield (Scheme 2). The structure of *trans*-**5** was determined by X-ray crystallography (Fig. 4 and Table 3). In this reaction, an unexpected *cis*-10-oxo-10*H*- $5\lambda^4$, $10\lambda^4$ -thianthren-5-ylideneamine (*cis*-**2**) was also obtained in 40% yield.



Scheme 2.



Figure 4. The molecular structure of *trans*-5.

We have already reported that diphenyl(piperidino)- λ^6 -sulfanenitrile decomposes to the corresponding diphenylsulfimide and 3,4,5,6-tetrahydropyridine.^{5a} Therefore, thermal stabilities of *trans*-**5** were examined. When *trans*-**5** was refluxed in CD₃CN, the retention product *trans*-**2** was obtained together with 3,6-dihydro-2*H*-[1,4]oxazine (Scheme 2). However, *trans*-**5** was stable under the above reaction conditions. These results suggest that the formation of *cis*-sulfimide *cis*-**2** is probably due to the concurrent electron-transfer reduction of the starting material *cis*-**4** and the substitution of S–F to S–N(CH₂)₂O involves the inversion process through an S_N2 or an addition–elimination mechanism.

2.3. X-ray crystallographic analysis of *cis*-5-fluoro-10oxo-5,10-dihydro- $5\lambda^6$,10 λ^4 -thianthren-5-nitrile (*cis*-4) and *trans*-5-morpholino-10-oxo-5,10-dihydro- $5\lambda^6$,10 λ^4 thianthren-5-nitrile (*trans*-5)

The detailed structural analyses of *cis*-4 and *trans*-5 were performed by X-ray crystallographic analyses. Selected

Table 3. Selected bond lengths (Å) and angles (°) for *trans*- $\mathbf{5}^{a}$

S1-N1	1.464(2)	S1-N1	1.690(2)	
S1-C1	1.807(2)	S1-C2	1.809(2)	
S2-O1	1.490(2)	S2-C3	1.790(2)	
S2-C4	1.802(2)			
N1-S1-N2	123.5(1)	N1-S1-C1	116.9(1)	
N1-S1-C2	116.4(1)	N2-S1-C1	97.90(9)	
N2-S1-C2	97.23(9)	C1-S1-C2	105.0(10)	
O1-S2-C3	108.4(1)	O1-S2-C4	109.9(1)	
C3-S2-C4	98.1(1)			

^a The atom-labeling scheme is shown in Figure 4.

bond lengths and angles of *cis*-4 and *trans*-5 are collected in Tables 1 and 3, respectively. The ORTEP drawings of *cis*-4 and *trans*-5 are depicted in Figures 1 and 4, respectively.

The X-ray structure of *cis*-**4** shows two independent molecules with nearly identical bond lengths and angles (an ORTEP drawing and the selected bond lengths and angles of one of the two independent molecules). The thianthrene ring system is found in the boat configuration. The nitrogen or oxygen bonded to sulfur assumes a pseudoequatorial position in the six-membered ring, whereas the fluorine bonded to sulfur assumes a pseudoaxial position. The S1–N1 and S1–F1 bond lengths (1.436(3) and 1.573(3) Å) in *cis*-**4** are much closer to those of 5-fluoro-10,10-dioxo-5,10-dihydro-5 λ^6 ,10 λ^6 -thianthren-5-nitrile (S–N; 1.435(2) Å, S–F; 1.584(2) Å).⁶

The crystal lattice of *trans*-5 consists of morpholino- λ^6 -sulfanenitrile and CHCl₃ molecule. The distance between the nitrogen and carbon atoms is 3.067(4) Å. This value is significantly shorter than the sum of the van der Waals radii (3.39 Å) of the two elements¹⁰ and is indicative of the N···· H-C hydrogen bond. In the conformation of trans-5, the morpholino group and oxygen atom at S1 and S2 atoms lie in a pseudoaxial position, while the nitrogen atom at S1 atom is in a pseudoequatorial position. The S1-N1 bond length of 1.464(2) Å in *trans*-5 is very close to that of 2,2-biphenylylene(phenyl)- λ^6 -sulfanenitrile (1.470(2) Å),^{5e} but significantly longer than that of fluorosulfanenitrile cis-4, which would be due to the influence of the electronegativity of substituents at S atom. The S1-N2 bond length (1.690(2) Å) is significantly shorter than the sum of the covalent radii of S and N (1.74 Å),¹⁰ suggesting the polarization of the S1–N2 bond.

3. Conclusion

In the study of stereochemistry of formation of fluoro- λ^6 -sulfanenitriles by the reaction of sulfimides with SelectfluorTM, we investigated the fluorination of 10-oxo-10*H*-5 λ^4 ,10 λ^4 -thianthren-5-ylideneamine (**2**). The *cis*- and *trans*-**2** reacted with SelectfluorTM to give a *cis*-isomer of 5-fluoro-10-oxo-5,10-dihydro-5 λ^6 ,10 λ^4 -thianthren-5-nitrile (**4**), which is determined by X-ray crystallographic analysis. Inspection of the present results shows that the reaction proceeds through the mechanism outlined in Scheme 1. The initial product, *N*-fluorosulfimide **3** undergoes 1,2-migration of fluorine atom yielding the corresponding fluoro- λ^6 -sulfanenitrile **4** via inversion process. In addition, *trans*-isomer of **4** should be converted to thermodynamically stable *cis*-**4**.

Further, the reaction of *cis*-**4** with morpholine gave the *trans*isomer of 5-morpholino-10-oxo-5,10-dihydro- $5\lambda^6$,10 λ^4 thianthren-5-nitrile (*trans*-**5**), indicating that substitution of fluorine with morpholine proceeds through inversion. The structure of *trans*-**5** was determined by X-ray crystallography, which reveals that **5** is a new type of heterocyclic amino- λ^6 -sulfanenitrile.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

NMR spectra were obtained on a JEOL-JNM 400 NMR spectrometer and calibrated by the use of tetramethylsilane (TMS) as an internal reference. Chemical shifts (δ) were measured in parts per million, and coupling constants (J values) were in hertz (Hz). Mass spectra were recorded on a JEOL-JMS 700 mass spectrometer. Infrared spectra (IR) were recorded on a Horiba FT-710 spectrometer. Melting point was measured on a Yanaco Mp-J3 melting point apparatus. Elemental analyses were performed on a Yanaco MT-5 CHN CORDER. The X-ray crystallographic analyses were performed on a Rigaku AFC7R four-circle diffractometer using graphite monochromated Mo K α radiation at 296 K.

All reagents and solvents were obtained commercially and were further purified by general methods when necessary. *cis*- and *trans*-10-Oxo-10*H*-5 λ^4 ,10 λ^4 -thianthren-5-ylidene-amines (**2**) were prepared according to the method reported in our previous articles.³

4.1.1. Reaction of 2 with SelectfluorTM. SelectfluorTM (85 mg, 0.24 mmol) was added to a solution of *trans*-**2** or *cis*-**2** (100 mg, 0.40 mmol) in CH₃CN (100 ml) at ambient temperature or 50 °C. When the reaction was completed (monitored by TLC), the solution was poured into ice-water and then extracted with CHCl₃, and dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure to afford *cis*-5-fluoro-10-oxo-5,10-dihydro-5 λ^6 ,10 λ^4 -thianthren-5-nitrile (*cis*-**4**) and acid salt of *trans*-**2** or *cis*-**2** together with thianthren-5-oxide and/or *cis*- and *trans*-thian-threne-5,10-dioxides, which were identified by comparison with authentic samples^{2a}.

cis-4: mp 198–200 °C (decomp.); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.77–7.87 (m, 4H), 8.16 (dd, 2H, J_1 =7.6 Hz, J_2 =1.2 Hz, 2H), 8.43 (dd, 2H, J_1 =7.6 Hz, J_2 =1.2 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 125.3, 127.3, 131.1, 133.6, 134.1 (d, J_{CF} =25 Hz), 145.4 (d, J_{CF} =2.5 Hz); ¹⁹F NMR (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 114.4; IR (KBr) 1379 cm⁻¹ (SN), 1087 (SO); FAB (*m*/*z*) 266 (M⁺+1). Calcd for C₁₂H₈FNOS₂: C, 54.32; H, 3.04; N, 5.28. Found: C, 54.56; H, 3.12; N, 5.33.

4.1.2. Reaction of *cis*-**4 with morpholine.** Fluorosulfanenitrile *cis*-**4** (265 mg, 1 mmol) was dissolved in moropholine (3 ml) for 2 h at ambient temperature. The solution was poured into ice-water and then extracted with CHCl₃, and dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄. After the solvent was removed under reduced pressure, the residue was chromatographed (CHCl₃-CH₃OH=16:1) through a column packed with silica gel to afford *trans*-5-morpholino-10-oxo-5,10dihydro- $5\lambda^6$, $10\lambda^4$ -thianthren-5-nitrile (*trans*-5, 196 mg, 59%) and *cis*-**2** (98 mg, 40%).

trans-**5**: mp 153–154 °C (decomp.); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 3.07 (t, *J*=4.6 Hz, 4H), 3.71 (t, *J*=4.6 Hz, 4H), 7.73–7.82 (m, 4H), 8.01 (dd, 2H, *J*₁=7.4 Hz, *J*₂=1.2 Hz, 2H), 8.42 (dd, 2H, *J*₁=7.4 Hz, *J*₂=1.2 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 44.7, 66.1, 129.1, 131.2, 132.4, 132.7, 139.2, 140.9; IR (KBr) 1321 cm⁻¹ (SN), 1098 (SO); FAB (*m*/*z*) 333 (M⁺+1). Calcd for C₁₆H₁₆N₂O₂S₂: C, 57.81; H, 4.85; N, 8.43. Found: C, 57.59; H, 4.82; N, 8.12.

4.1.3. X-ray crystal structure analysis of cis-4. The single crystals were obtained by recrystallization from CHCl₃-nhexane. Diffraction data were measured with $\omega - 2\theta$ scan technique at 296 K on a Rigaku AFC7R diffractometer using graphite monochromated Mo K α radiation (λ =0.7107 Å). A total of 6966 reflections were collected. The data were corrected for Lorentz and polarization effects. The structure was solved by direct methods (SIR 92)¹¹ and expanded using Fourier techniques (DIRDIF)¹². The non-hydrogen atoms were refined anisotropically. Hydrogen atoms were included but not refined. The final cycle of full-matrix least-squares refinement was based on 4365 observed reflections (I>3.00 $\sigma(I)$) and 307 variable parameters converged with the unweighted and weighted agreement factors equal to $R = (\Sigma ||Fo| - |Fc||)/(\Sigma |Fo|) = 0.054$; $R_w = [(\Sigma \omega (|Fo| - |Fc|)^2/$ $\Sigma \omega Fo^2$]^{1/2}=0.088. The maximum and minimum peaks on the final difference Fourier map corresponded to 0.90 and $-0.39 \text{ e}^{-1}/\text{Å}^{3}$, respectively. All calculations were performed using the teXsan crystallographic software package of Molecular Structure Corporation (1985) and (1999). Crystallographic data for the structural analysis have been deposited with the Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre, CCDC No. 600495 for compound cis-4.

4.1.4. X-ray crystal structure analysis of trans-5. The single crystals were obtained by recrystallization from CHCl₃*n*-hexane. Diffraction data were measured with ω -2 θ scan technique at 296 K on a Rigaku AFC7R diffractometer using graphite monochromated Mo K α radiation (λ =0.7107 Å). A total of 5724 reflections were collected. The data were corrected for Lorentz and polarization effects. The structure was solved by direct methods (SIR 92)¹¹ and expanded using Fourier techniques (DIRDIF)¹². The non-hydrogen atoms were refined anisotropically. Hydrogen atoms were included but not refined. The final cycle of full-matrix least-squares refinement was based on 4065 observed reflections $(I > 3.00\sigma(I))$ and 303 variable parameters converged with the unweighted and weighted agreement factors equal to $R = (\Sigma ||Fo|| - |Fc||)/(\Sigma |Fo|) = 0.043;$ $R_w = [(\Sigma \omega (|Fo| - |Fc|)^2/\Sigma \omega Fo^2)]^{1/2} = 0.063.$ The maximum and minimum peaks on the final difference Fourier map corresponded to 0.54 and $-0.63 \text{ e}^{-}/\text{Å}^{3}$, respectively. All calculations were performed using the teXsan crystallographic software package of Molecular Structure Corporation (1985) and (1999). Crystallographic data for the structural analysis have been deposited with the Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre, CCDC No. 600496 for compound cis-5.

4.1.5. Ab initio calculation of 4. The geometries of *cis*-4A and -4B and *trans*-4A and -4B were optimized by the use of the Gaussian 98 program at B3LYP/6-31(d) levels of density

functional theory.¹³ The relative energies of the optimized structures of **4** were carried out with B3LYP/6-311++G(3df,2pd).

Acknowledgements

This work was partially supported by a Grants-in-Aid for Research on Priority Areas (A) (No. 13029039 and 14044032) from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology.

References and notes

- (a) Adam, W.; Haas, W.; Sieker, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 5020–5023; (b) Adam, W.; Dürr, H.; Haas, W.; Lohray, B. B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1986, 25, 101–103; (c) Adam, W.; Hass, W.; Lohray, B. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 6202–6208; (d) Adam, W.; Golsh, D.; Görth, F. C. Chem.—Eur. J. 1996, 2, 255–258; (e) Adam, W.; Golsh, D. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 115–119; (f) Adam, W.; Mitchell, C. M.; Saha-Möller, C. R.; Selvam, T.; Weichold, O. J. Mol. Catal. A 2000, 154, 251–255.
- (a) Bonchio, M.; Conte, V.; De Conciliis, M. A.; Di Furia, F.; Ballistreri, F. P.; Tomaselli, G. A.; Toscan, R. M. J. Org. Chem. **1995**, 60, 4475–4480; (b) Sorokin, A. B.; Mangematin, S.; Pergrale, C. J. Mol. Catal. A **2002**, 182– 183, 267–281.
- Morita, H.; Kawagachi, H.; Yoshimura, T.; Tsukurimichi, E.; Shimasaki, C.; Horn, E. *Chem. – Eur. J.* 2000, *6*, 3976–3983.
- 4. Yoshimura, T. *Rev. Heteroat. Chem.* **2000**, *22*, 101–120 and references therein.
- (a) Yoshimura, T.; Takata, E.; Miyake, T.; Shimasaki, C.; Hasegawa, K.; Tsukurimichi, E. *Chem. Lett.* **1992**, 2213– 2216; (b) Yoshimura, T.; Hamada, K.; Imado, M.; Hamata, K.; Tomoda, K.; Fujii, T.; Morita, H.; Shimasaki, C.; Ono, S.; Tsukurimichi, E.; Furukawa, N.; Kimura, T. *J. Org. Chem.* **1997**, *62*, 3802–3803; (c) Yoshimura, T.; Ohkubo, M.; Fujii, T.; Kita, H.; Wakai, Y.; Ono, S.; Morita, H.; Shimasaki, C.; Horn, E. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **1998**, *71*, 1629–1637; (d)

Yoshimura, T.; Fujii, T.; Murotani, S.; Miyoshi, S.; Fujimori, T.; Ohkubo, M.; Ono, S.; Morita, H. *J. Organomet. Chem.* **2000**, *611*, 272–279; (e) Fujii, T.; Itoh, A.; Hamata, K.; Yoshimura, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42*, 5041–5043; (f) Fujii, T.; Suzuki, T.; Sato, T.; Horn, E.; Yoshimura, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42*, 6151–6154.

- Fujii, T.; Asai, S.; Okada, T.; Wei, H.; Morita, H.; Yoshimura, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2003**, *44*, 6203–6205.
- 7. Yoshimura, T.; Kadota, T.; Fujii, T. Unpublished results.
- Kumar, R. C.; Shreeve, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 1951–1952.
- Trautner, F.; Christen, D.; Mews, R.; Oberhammer, H. J. Mol. Struct. 2000, 525, 135–139; Alvaréz, R. S. M.; Cutin, E. H.; Vedova, C. O. D.; Mews, R.; Haist, R.; Oberhammer, H. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 5188–5191.
- 10. Emsley, J. *The Elements*, 3rd ed.; Oxford University Press: Oxford, 1998.
- Altomare, A.; Burla, M. C.; Camalli, M.; Cascarano, M.; Giacovazzo, C.; Guagliardi, A.; Polidori, G. J. Appl. Crystallogr. 1994, 27, 435.
- Beurskens, P. T.; Admiraal, G.; Beurskens, G.; Bosman, W. P.; de Gelder, R.; Israel, R.; Smits, J. M. M. The DIRDIF-94 Program System. Technical Report of the Crystallography Laboratory, University of Nijmegen, The Netherlands, 1994.
- 13. Frisch, M. J.; Trucks, G. W.; Schlegel, H. B.; Scuseria, G. E.; Robb, M. A.; Cheeseman, J. R.; Zakrzewski, V. G.; Montgomery, J. A., Jr.: Stratmann, R. E.: Burant, J. C.: Dapprich, S.; Millam, J. M.; Daniels, A. D.; Kudin, K. N.; Strain, M. C.; Farkas, O.; Tomasi, J.; Barone, V.; Cossi, M.; Cammi, R.; Mennucci, B.; Pomelli, C.; Adamo, C.; Clifford, S.; Ochterski, J.; Petersson, G. A.; Ayala, P. Y.; Cui, Q.; Morokuma, K.; Malick, D. K.; Rabuck, A. D.; Raghavachari, K.; Foresman, J. B.; Cioslowski, J.; Ortiz, J. V.; Baboul, A. G.; Stefanov, B. B.; Liu, G.; Liashenko, A.; Piskorz, P.; Komaromi, I.; Gomperts, R.; Martin, R. L.; Fox, D. J.; Keith, T.; Al-Laham, M. A.; Peng, C. Y.; Nanayakkara, A.; Challacombe, M.; Gill, P. M. W.; Johnson, B.; Chen, W.; Wong, M. W.; Andres, J. L.; Gonzalez, C.; Head-Gordon, M.; Replogle, E. S.; Pople, J. A. Gaussian 98, Revision A.9; Gaussian: Pittsburgh, PA, 1998.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9628-9634

Synthesis of (S)-gizzerosine, a potent inducer of gizzard erosion in chicks

Yasuharu Shimasaki,^a Hiromasa Kiyota,^{a,*} Minoru Sato^b and Shigefumi Kuwahara^a

^aDivision of Bioscience and Biotechnology for Future Bioindustry, Graduate School of Agricultural Science, Tohoku University, 1-1 Tsutsumidori-Amamiya, Aoba-ku, Sendai 981-8555, Japan

^bDivision of Biological Resource Science, Graduate School of Agricultural Science, Tohoku University, 1-1 Tsutsumidori-Amamiya,

Aoba-ku, Sendai 981-8555, Japan

Received 25 May 2006; revised 24 July 2006; accepted 26 July 2006 Available online 17 August 2006

Abstract—(S)-Gizzerosine, a potent inducer of gizzard erosion in chicks, was synthesized using successive zinc-mediated and palladiumcatalyzed coupling reactions as the key steps. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Gizzerosine [(S)-2-amino-9-(4-imidazolyl)-7-azanonanoic acid (1) (Fig. 1)], generated during the heat treatment of brown fish meal, brings about gizzard erosion and ulceration in chicks, which cause a serious disease 'Black vomit'.^{1,2} The structure and absolute stereochemistry of 1 were confirmed by the chemical synthesis of racemic $^{3-5}$ and optically active samples.^{3,6} Biological studies of **1** showed it to be a potent agonist for the H₂-receptor of histamine (2),^{7,8} causing 10 times more gastric secretions than 2, and thereby, promoting acid indigestion and gizzard erosion. In addition, cAMP synthesis was enhanced by $1\,1000$ times more than 2.9 On the other hand, **1** did not show any visible effects on rat stomach, though the gastric secretions being promoted.^{2,10,11} This biological profile suggests 1 could be a possible drug candidate for gastric achlorhydria and osteoporosis. Since 1 can only be isolated in small amounts from fish meal (0.2 mg kg^{-1}) ,² synthetic supply is necessary for the standard of the quality control of fish meal and further biological studies. In a previous communication, we reported a facile and practical synthesis of (S)-1.^{12,13} Herein, we describe in detail this synthesis and report the development of another.



Figure 1.

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Synthesis of Mori's intermediate (formal synthesis)

Mori et al. used enzymatic optical resolution of α -acylaminoadipic acid 3 as the key reaction and determined the absolute configuration to be S (Scheme 1).⁶ We targeted the Mori's intermediates $4^{6,14}$ and 5 for the formal synthesis of **1** using (S)-serine as the starting material. (S)-Serine was first converted to the known iodide 6 in four steps.¹⁵ Conversion of 6 to the aldehyde 5 via 9 using a zinc-mediated coupling reaction^{16,17} with acrolein was attempted; however, 1,4-addition¹⁸ did not occur and only the corresponding alanine derivative 10 (formed by quenching of the intermediate zinc iodide 7) could be isolated. Next we aimed to prepare the alcohol 4 in a two-step procedure. The coupling reaction with allyl bromide¹⁹ afforded the desired olefin $\mathbf{8}$, but the use of propargyl bromide gave not alkyne 11 but allenyl compound 12.¹⁸ Hydroboration–oxidation of **8** under mildly basic conditions using sodium acetate²⁰ gave 4 without concomitant hydrolysis of the benzyl group, which was converted to (S)-gizzerosine 1 according to Mori's procedure.⁶ The overall yield of **4** from (S)-serine was 58% over six steps (Scheme 1).

2.2. New synthesis using successive metal-mediated coupling reactions

2.2.1. Initial zinc-mediated coupling reaction with enol acetate. Whilst preparing Mori's intermediate **5**, we found that the coupling of the organozinc iodide **7** with 3-bromo-1-propenyl acetate $(13)^{21}$ afforded allylic acetate **14** as a 2:1 diastereomeric mixture at the 4-position in 98% yield, instead of enol acetate **15** (Scheme 2). Allylic acetate **14** was

<sup>Keywords: Gizzerosine; Gizzard erosion; Chicks; Total synthesis; Histamine.
* Corresponding author. Fax: +81 22 7178783; e-mail: kiyota@biochem.</sup> tohoku.ac.jp



Scheme 1. Mori's synthesis and our formal synthesis of 1 using zinc-mediated coupling reaction: (a) i. Zn, $(CH_2Br)_2$, TMSCl, DMF, then 6, ii. CuCN, LiCl, allyl bromide (quant.); (b) i. BH₃·SMe₂, THF, ii. 30% H₂O₂, NaOAc (68%).

expected to be a good substrate for palladium-catalyzed coupling reactions with nitrogen nucleophiles,²² but the coupling reaction with histamine (2) did not afford the desired product 16 under various conditions.

2.2.2. Protection of histamine. It was thought that this unreactivity was due to the insolubility of histamine itself and/or the poor nucleophilicity of the terminal amino group. Therefore, we prepared several histamine derivatives bearing electron-donating or electron-withdrawing protecting groups. Table 1 shows the protection of histamine (2) by nucleophilic substitution reactions. Bis-Boc product **17a** was the main product in entry 1. The primary amino group was selectively masked for benzyl carbamate **17b**²³ and trityl (Tr) ether **17c** but in low yields. Formation of benzyl-oxymethyl (BOM) ether and *m*-nitrobenzenesulfonamide

Table 1. Protection of histamine by nucleophilic substitution reactions

$$H_{2N} \xrightarrow{N}_{H^{*}2HCI} \xrightarrow{HN}_{R'} H_{R'}$$

Entry	Conditions	Products	R	R′	Yields (%)
1	(Boc) ₂ O, Et ₃ N, MeOH	17a	Boc	Boc	83
2	ZCl, NaOMe, MeOH	17b	Ζ	Н	36
3	TrCl, Et ₃ N, CHCl ₃	17c	Tr	Н	36
4	BOMCl, Et ₃ N, CHCl ₃	_	BOM	Н	Trace
5	NsCl, K ₂ CO ₃ , DMF	_	Ns	Н	Trace
6	PMBCl, NaOMe, MeOH	_	PMB	Н	_

(Ns) was observed only slightly by TLC. Since none of the product was formed in entry 6, benzyl derivatives were synthesized by reductive amination.



Scheme 2. Preparation of 14 and trials of palladium-catalyzed coupling reaction with histamine: (a) CuCN, LiCl, 13, DMF (98%).

Table 2. Protection of histamine by reductive amination reactions

	H ₂ N histamine (2	2HCI 2) ArCHC NaBH MS3A 20°C,	D (2.5 eq) 4 (2.0 eq) , MeOH 15 h R 18a-d	N N H
Entry	ArCHO	Products	R	Yields (%)
1	Benzaldehyde	18a	Benzyl	93
2	Anisaldehyde	18b	p-Methoxybenzyl	94
3	Piperonal	18c	Piperonyl	89
4	3,4-Dimethoxy- benzaldehyde	18d	3,4-Dimethoxybenzyl	10

As shown in Table 2, reductive amination of benzaldehyde, anisaldehyde, and piperonal with 2 afforded the desired compounds 18a,²⁴ 18b,²⁵ and 18c,²⁵ respectively, in excellent yields.

2.2.3. Second palladium-catalyzed coupling reaction. The palladium-catalyzed coupling reactions of **14** with the histamine derivatives were examined under a variety of conditions (Table 3). The histamines with electron-withdrawing

Table 3. Palladium-catalyzed coupling reactions

groups 17a and 17b did not react even in the presence of strong bases. Trityl derivative 17c was also unreactive, probably due to its steric bulk. However, 18a bearing an electron-donating benzyl group afforded the desired product 19a in a yield of 50% when a mixture of PPh₃ (0.5 mol %) and Pd(II) (1 mol %) was used. Since increasing the amount of PPh₃ (1 mol %) gave multiple products, this mixture was subjected to further investigation. As expected, the more electron-donating derivatives 18b and 18c gave better yields of the coupling products 19b and 19c, respectively. The *E/Z* ratio of the products could not be ascertained due to overlappings in NMR spectra.

2.2.4. Total synthesis. We aimed to simultaneously carry out the deprotection of all three protecting groups and reduction of the chain double bond. Although the benzyl ester group and *N*-benzyloxycarbonyl group were easily deprotected and the double bond was reduced by hydrogenation, removal of the *N*-benzyl group of **19a** was unsuccessful (Table 4) and prolonged reaction times caused decomposition of gizzerosine framework. Additional experiments showed that gizzerosine itself was not stable under these reaction conditions. The *N*-PMB group (**19b**) was also largely inert to



Entry	Histamines	Catalysts	Additive	Solvents	Products	R	Yields (%)
1	17a	Pd ₂ dba ₃	PPh ₃ , (base) ^a	THF	_		_
2	17b	Pd ₂ dba ₃	PPh_3 , $(base)^b$	THF/DMF	_	_	_
3	17c	Pd ₂ dba ₃	PPh ₃	THF	_	_	_
4	18a	$Pd(OAc)_2$	PPh ₃	THF ^c	_	_	_
5	18a	Pd ₂ dba ₃	PPh ₃	THF	19a	Bn	50
6	18b	Pd ₂ dba ₃	PPh ₃	THF	19b	PMB	92
7	18c	Pd ₂ dba ₃	PPh ₃	THF	19c	Piperonyl	71
8	18d	Pd ₂ dba ₃	PPh ₃	THF	_	_	_

^a The following bases were used respectively: none, K₂CO₃, Et₃N, NaH, and KHMDS.

^b The following bases were used respectively: none, NaH, and KHMDS.

^c DMSO and MeCN were used respectively, besides THF.

Table 4. Hydrogenation and hydrolysis of 19a-c toward the total synthesis

Bn

NHZ O 19a-c				-N N N H
0 19a-c	ĸ	0	(S)- 1	

Entry	Substrate	R	Conditions	Yields (%)
1 2 3	19a	Bn	H ₂ , Pd/C, MeOH H ₂ , Pd(OH) ₂ /C, THF/EtOH/H ₂ O Raney Ni, MeOH/H ₂ O	 Trace
4 5 6 7	19b	PMB	H ₂ , 5% Pd/C, THF/EtOH/H ₂ O H ₂ , 5% Pd/C, 2 M HCl aq/EtOH H ₂ , Pd(OH) ₂ /C, EtOH/H ₂ O H ₂ , Pd(OH) ₂ , 2 M HCl aq/THF/EtOH	Trace Trace Trace Trace
8 9 10 11 12	19c	Piperonyl	H ₂ , 10% Pd/C, THF/EtOH/H ₂ O H ₂ , 10% Pd/C, Pd(OH) ₂ /C, THF/EtOH/H ₂ O H ₂ , Pd(OH) ₂ /C, THF/EtOH/H ₂ O H ₂ , Pd(OH) ₂ /C (excess), THF/EtOH/H ₂ O Raney Ni, THF/EtOH/H ₂ O	22 Decomp. Trace 47 Decomp.

hydrogenolysis. Selective removal under oxidative (CAN or DDQ), reductive (Li/NH₃), and acidic (2 M HCl aq) conditions also resulted in either decomposition or no reaction. On the other hand, the *N*-piperonyl group was readily removed, and finally, gizzerosine (*S*)-**1** was obtained from **19c** in 47% yield using excess amount of $Pd(OH)_2/C$. The overall yield was 29% in seven steps from (*S*)-serine.

3. Conclusion

We have developed new and facile synthesis of (S)-gizzerosine (1), a potent inducer of gizzard erosion, using successive zinc-mediated and palladium-catalyzed coupling reactions as the key steps. *N*-Piperonyl group was successfully applied as a new *N*-protecting group.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

The melting points measured by Yanaco MP-J3 micromelting point apparatus were uncorrected. Optical rotation values were measured by a Horiba Sepa-300 polarimeter. IR spectra were recorded by a Jasco FT-IR 4100 spectrometer (ATR, Zn–Se). ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded with Varian Inova 600 (150 MHz for ¹³C), Inova 500 (500 MHz for ¹H and125 MHz for ¹³C), and Gemini 2000 (300 MHz for ¹H and 75 MHz for ¹³C) spectrometers in CDCl₃ with tetramethylsilane ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 0 ppm) and CHCl₃ ($\delta_{\rm C}$ 77.00 ppm) or in D₂O with acetone ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.22 ppm and $\delta_{\rm C}$ 215.48 ppm) as internal standards. Mass spectra were recorded with a Jeol JMS-700 spectrometer using glycerol matrix. Merck silica gel 60 (63–212 µm) and Kanto silica gel 60N (spherical, neutral, 100–210 µm) were used for column chromatography.

4.1.1. Benzyl (S)-2-(benzyloxycarbonylamino)-5-hexenoate (8). A 500 ml, two-necked round bottomed flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer bar, an N2 inlet adapter, and a septum was placed under a nitrogen atmosphere. In the flask was placed zinc powder (15.2 g, 232 mmol) and 1,2-dibromoethane (1.00 ml, 11.6 mmol) in dry DMF (170 ml) was stirred at room temperature for 20 min. To the reaction mixture was added TMSCl (0.30 ml, 2.32 mol) and stirred at 60 °C for 30 min. Then to this mixture was added dropwise iodide 6 (MW: 439.24, 17.0 g, 38.7 mmol) in dry DMF (50 ml) and stirred at 60 °C for 20 min. A solution of CuCN (3.80 g, 42.5 mmol) and LiCl (3.60 g, 85.1 mmol) in dry DMF (40 ml) was added to the mixture at -55 °C. This was warmed to 0 °C and stirred for 10 min. Then the mixture was cooled to -55 °C again, allyl bromide (6.44 ml, 50.3 mmol) was added to this mixture. After the mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 2 h, unreacted zinc was filtrated through a Celite® pad and the filtrate was quenched with satd aq NH₄Cl soln. This mixture was extracted with EtOAc. The combined organic layer was washed with brine, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was chromatographed on silica gel. Elution with hexane/EtOAc gave 8 (MW: 353.41, 13.7 g, 38.7 mmol, quantitative yield from 6) as a colorless oil, which very slowly crystallized to form colorless needles; 9631

mp 37–38 °C, R_f 0.50 (hexane/EtOAc=3:1), $[\alpha]_{D}^{25}$ +1.80 (*c* 1.00, CHCl₃). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =7.35 (s, 10H), 5.82–5.64 (m, 1H, H-5), 5.33 (pseudo d, 1H, *J*=8.1 Hz, NH), 5.17 (pseudo d, 2H, *J*=5.4 Hz), 5.12 (s, 2H), 5.02–4.92 (m, 2H), 4.50–4.40 (m, 1H, H-2), 2.20–1.70 (m, 4H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =172.38, 155.94, 136.85, 136.29, 135.33, 128.69, 128.60, 128.56, 128.37, 128.26, 128.18, 115.87, 67.12, 66.97, 53.45, 31.76, 29.18. IR: ν =3341 (m, N–H), 3064 (w), 3034 (w), 2953 (w), 1718 (s, C=O), 1641 (w), 1521 (m), 1454 (m), 1387 (w), 1343 (m), 1254 (m), 1211 (m), 1115 (w), 1047 (m), 1028 (m), 913 (m), 736 (m), 695 (s), 584 (w) cm⁻¹. FABMS: *m*/*z*=354 (M+H)⁺, 310, 91 (Bn)⁺. FABHRMS: calcd for C₂₁H₂₄O₄N (M+H)⁺ *m*/*z*=354.1705; found, 354.1709.

4.1.2. Benzyl (S)-2-(benzyloxycarbonylamino)-5-hydroxy-5-hexenoate (4). A 100 ml, two-necked round bottomed flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer bar, an N₂ inlet adapter, and a septum was placed under a nitrogen atmosphere. To a solution of 8 (MW: 353.41, 1.70 g, 4.81 mmol) in dry THF (20 ml) was added dropwise BH3 · SMe2 (2.0 M in THF, 1.20 ml, 2.41 mmol) at 0 °C and the mixture was stirred while the reaction temperature gradually raised to 20 °C. To this was again added dropwise BH₃·SMe₂ (1.20 ml, 2.41 mmol) and the mixture was further stirred at 20 °C for 12 h. The reaction mixture was cooled to 0 °C before being quenched with H₂O. To the resulting solution were added successively aq H₂O₂ (30%, 8.82 M, 1.8 ml, 16 mmol) and NaOAc (0.99 g, 12 mmol) in H₂O (3 ml), and the mixture was stirred at 20 °C for 12 h. The reaction mixture was extracted with EtOAc. The extract was washed with brine, dried with MgSO₄ and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was chromatographed on silica gel. Elution with hexane/ EtOAc gave 4 (MW: 371.43, 1.22 g, 3.28 mmol, 68.3%) as a colorless oil; $R_f 0.27$ (hexane/EtOAc=1:1), $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ -5.09 $(c \ 1.06, \text{CHCl}_3)$ {lit.⁶ $[\alpha]_D^{23} - 3.9 (c \ 1.06, \text{CHCl}_3)$ }. ¹H NMR spectral data were in agreement with the published data.¹⁴

4.1.3. Benzyl (2S,4RS)-4-acetoxy-2-(benzyloxycarbonylamino)-5-hexenoate (14). A 100 ml, two-necked round bottomed flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer bar, an N2 inlet adapter and a septum was placed under a nitrogen atmosphere. The flask was charged with zinc powder (5.36 g, 82.0 mmol) and 1,2-dibromoethane (0.353 ml, 4.10 mmol) in dry DMF (20 ml) and stirred at room temperature for 20 min. To the reaction mixture was added TMSCI (104 µml, 822 µmol) and stirred at 60 °C for 30 min. Then to this mixture was added dropwise iodide 6 (MW: 439.24, 6.00 g, 13.7 mmol) in dry DMF (10 ml) and stirred at 60 °C for 20 min. A solution of CuCN (1.23 g, 13.7 mmol) and LiCl (1.16 g, 27.4 mmol) in dry DMF (10 ml) was added to the mixture at -55 °C. After being warmed to 0 °C and stirred for 10 min, the mixture was cooled to $-55 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ again, and then bromide 13 (MW: 179.01, 2.94 g, 16.4 mmol) in dry THF (7 ml) was added. After the mixture was stirred for 2 h, unreacted zinc was filtrated through Celite® pad and the filtrate was quenched with satd aq NH₄Cl soln. This mixture was extracted with EtOAc. The combined organic layer was washed with brine, dried over MgSO₄ and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was chromatographed on silica gel. Elution with hexane/EtOAc gave 14 (a 2:1 diastereomeric mixture, MW: 411.45, 5.52 g, 13.4 mmol, 98% from 6) as a colorless oil; $R_f 0.28$ (hexane/EtOAc=4:1),

[α]_D²⁴ +16.9 (*c* 1.27, CHCl₃). ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ=7.35 (s, 10H), 5.81–5.64 (m, 1H, H-5), 5.50 (d, 1H, J=8.0 Hz, NH), 5.38–5.06 (m, 7H), 4.59–4.48 (m, 1H, H-2), 2.20 (t, 2H, J=6.0 Hz, H-3), 1.93 (s, 3H, Me). ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =171.71, 170.12, 155.72 (NCO), 136.09, 135.35, 135.15, 128.66, 128.64, 128.57, 128.53, 128.51, 128.40, 128.23, 128.20, 128.13, 128.10, 117.71, 117.55, 70.80, 70.78, 67.43, 67.29, 67.13, 67.09, 51.05, 50.95, 36.67, 36.12, 21.08, 20.89. IR: ν =3450–3200 (br, m), 3033 (w), 2947 (w), 1719 (s), 1523 (m), 1455 (m), 1372 (m), 1341 (m), 1229 (s), 1047 (m), 738 (m), 696 (m) cm⁻¹.FABMS: *m*/*z*=412 (M+H)⁺, 352 (M+H–AcOH)⁺, 308, 91 (Bn)⁺. FABHRMS: calcd for C₂₃H₂₆O₆N (M+H)⁺ *m*/*z*=412.7601; found, 412.1767.

4.1.4. N^{α} , N^{τ} -Bis(*tert*-butoxycarbonyl)histamine (17a). A 100 ml, two-necked round bottomed flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer bar, an N2 inlet adapter, and a septum was placed under a nitrogen atmosphere. The flask was charged with histamine \cdot 2HCl ($2 \cdot$ 2HCl, MW: 184.07, 1.00 g, 5.43 mmol) and Et₃N (1.65 g, 16.3 mmol) in dry MeOH (20 ml) at room temperature and stirred for 30 min. After to this being added di-tert-butyl dicarbonate (Boc₂O, 2.37 g, 10.9 mmol), the mixture was stirred for 30 min. The reaction mixture was guenched with water and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was diluted with water and extracted with EtOAc. The combined organic layer was washed with brine, dried over Na₂SO₄, and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was chromatographed on silica gel. Elution with CHCl₃/EtOH (30:1) gave 17a (MW: 311.38, 1.41 g, 4.53 mmol, 83%) as a white powder; mp 129.5-130.5 °C, R_{f} 0.36 (CHCl₃/EtOH=30:1). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 8.00$ (s, 1H), 6.82 (s, 1H), 4.99 (br s, 1H), 3.42 (t, 2H, J=6.3 Hz), 2.74 (t, 2H, J=6.6 Hz), 1.61 (s, 9H), 1.44 (s, 9H). IR: v=3258 (m), 3130 (w), 2980 (m), 2933 (m), 1736 (s), 1700 (s), 1536 (m), 1391 (s), 1365 (s), 1274 (s), 1255 (s), 1155 (s), 1009 (s), 846 (m), 777 (m), 750 (m) cm^{-1} . FABMS: m/z=312 (M+H)⁺, 256 (M+H-t-Bu)⁺, 200 $(M+H-t-Bu_2)^+$, 156 $(M+H-Boc)^+$, 112 $(M+H-Boc_2)^+$, 57. FABHRMS: calcd for $C_{15}H_{26}O_4N_3$ (M+H)⁺ m/z=312.1923; found, 312.1927.

4.1.5. N^α-(Benzyloxycarbonyl)histamine (17b). A 10 ml, two-necked round bottomed flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer bar, a Dimroth condenser, and a septum was charged with $2 \cdot 2$ HCl (30.0 mg, 0.163 mmol) and NaOMe (17.6 mg, 0.326 mmol) in MeOH (800 µl) and stirred at 50 °C for 2 h. Then the mixture was cooled to room temperature and then were added Na₂CO₃ (25.9 mg, 0.245 mmol), benzyl chloroformate (27.9 µl, 0.196 mmol), and H₂O (100 µl). This was stirred for 3 h. To the reaction mixture was added H₂O and extracted with EtOAc. The combined organic layer was washed with brine, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was chromatographed on silica gel. Elution with CHCl₃/MeOH (1:1) gave 17b (MW: 245.28, 14.2 mg, 59.1 μmol, 36%); R_f 0.63 (CHCl₃/MeOH=1:1). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =7.54 (s, 1H, NCH=N), 7.40-7.25 (m, 6H), 6.80 (s, 1H), 5.38 (s, 2H, ArCH₂), 3.37-3.45 (m, 2H), 2.72-2.82 (m, 2H). FABMS: m/z=246 (M+H)⁺, 136, 91 (Bn)⁺.

4.1.6. N^{α} -(Triphenylmethyl)histamine (17c). A 10 ml, round bottomed flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer bar,

was charged with $2 \cdot 2\text{HCl}$ (15.0 mg, 81.5 µmol), Et₃N (24.9 µl, 179 µmol), and triphenylmethyl chloride (TrCl, 37.0 mg, 133 µmol) in CHCl₃ (600 µl). The mixture was stirred for 20 h at room temperature. Then this mixture was quenched with cold H₂O and extracted with CHCl₃. The combined organic layer was washed with brine, dried over Na₂SO₄, and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was chromatographed on silica gel. Elution with CHCl₃/EtOH (10:1) gave **17c** (MW: 353.49, 10.0 mg, 28.3 µmol, 35%); R_f 0.61 (CHCl₃/EtOH=10:1). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =7.40–7.10 (m, 16H), 6.50 (d, 1H, *J*=1.5 Hz), 2.72 (t, 2H, *J*=6.9 Hz), 2.39 (t, 2H, *J*=6.0 Hz).

4.1.7. N^{α} -Benzylhistamine (18a). A 100 ml, two-necked round bottomed flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer bar, a Dimroth condenser, and a septum was charged with $2 \cdot 2$ HCl (500 mg, 2.72 mmol) and NaOMe (293 mg, 5.43 mmol) in dry MeOH (20 ml) at room temperature. Then the mixture was stirred at 50 °C for 1 h. To the solution were added benzaldehyde (0.69 ml, 6.8 mmol) and MS3A (25 mg) at 0 °C and the mixture was stirred at 50 °C for 30 min. Then to the solution was added NaBH₄ (308 mg, 8.15 mmol) at -78 °C and the mixture was gradually warmed to room temperature. The reaction mixture was filtrated through a Celite[®] pad and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was diluted with water and extracted with CHCl₃. The combined extract was washed with brine, dried over Na₂SO₄, and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was chromatographed on neutral silica gel. Elution with CHCl₃/ EtOH (1:1) gave 18a (MW: 202.13, 513 mg, 2.54 mmol, 93%) as a pale yellow oil; $R_f 0.23$ (CHCl₃/MeOH=30:1, 1% Et₃N). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =7.51 (d. 1H. J=0.9 Hz, NCH=N), 7.38-7.20 (m, 5H), 6.79 (d, 1H, J=0.6 Hz), 3.82 (s, 2H), 2.95 (pseudo t, 2H, J=6.0 Hz), 2.80 (pseudo t, 2H, J=6.0 Hz). ¹³C NMR (150 MHz, CDCl₃): δ=139.88, 134.32, 128.49, 128.13, 127.10, 53.81, 48.63, 26.11. IR: v=3650-2200 (br s), 1567 (w), 1494 (m), 1453 (s), 1261 (w), 1104 (m), 938 (w), 820 (m), 733 (s), 697 (s), 662 (m), 624 (m) cm⁻¹. FABMS: m/z=202 $(M+H)^+$, 91 $(Bn)^+$. FABHRMS: calcd for $C_{12}H_{16}N_3$ (M+H)⁺ *m*/*z*=202.1344; found, 202.1342.

4.1.8. N^{α} -(*p*-Methoxybenzyl)histamine (18b). In the same manner as described for 18a, 18b (MW: 231.29, 2.95 g, 12.8 mmol) was obtained from $2 \cdot 2$ HCl (2.50 g, 13.6 mmol) and p-methoxybenzylaldehyde (4.14 ml, 34.0 mmol) in a yield of 94% based on $2 \cdot 2$ HCl, as a pale yellow oil; R_f 0.29 (CHCl₃/MeOH=5:1). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 7.49$ (s, 1H, NCH=N), 7.20 (pseudo d, 2H, J=8.7 Hz), 6.85 (pseudo d, 2H, J=8.7 Hz), 6.77 (s, 1H), 3.79 (s, 3H, OMe), 3.74 (s, 2H), 2.92 (pseudo t, 2H, J=7.2 Hz), 2.76 (pseudo t, 2H, J=7.2 Hz). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 158.80, 134.51, 132.15, 129.38, 113.89, 55.18, 53.10,$ 48.50, 26.26. IR: ν =3500–2200 (br s), 1611 (m), 1584 (w), 1509 (s), 1460 (m), 1441 (m), 1301 (w), 1244 (s), 1175 (m), 1104 (m), 1032 (m), 938 (w), 813 (s), 773 (w), 662 (w), 626 (w) cm⁻¹. FABMS: m/z=232 (M+H)⁺, 121 (PMB)⁺. FABHRMS: calcd for $C_{13}H_{18}O_3N_3 (M+H)^+ m/z = 232.1450$; found, 232.1453.

4.1.9. N^{α} -**Piperonylhistamine** (18c). In the same manner as described for 18a, 18c (MW: 2456.28, 238 mg, 0.970 mmol) was obtained from $2 \cdot 2$ HCl (200 mg, 1.09 mmol) and

piperonal (408 mg, 2.72 mmol) in a yield of 89% based on **2**·2HCl, as a pale yellow oil; R_f 0.79 (CHCl₃/EtOH/28% NH₃ aq=3:3:1). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =7.54 (d, 1H, *J*=1.2 Hz, NCH=N), 6.82–6.79 (m, 2H), 6.78–6.72 (m, 2H), 5.95 (s, 2H, OCH₂O), 3.73 (s, 2H, ArCH₂), 2.92 (pseudo t, 2H, *J*=5.7 Hz), 2.79 (pseudo t, 2H, *J*=5.7 Hz), 2.79 (pseudo t, 2H, *J*=5.7 Hz), 2.13C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =147.69, 146.58, 133.62, 121.30, 108.63, 108.11, 100.89, 53.46, 48.41, 26.29. IR: ν =3500–2400 (br s), 1503 (m), 1489 (s), 1442 (m), 1246 (s), 1215 (m), 1103 (w), 1039 (m), 931 (w), 810 (w), 744 (s), 665 (w), 626 (w) cm⁻¹. FABMS: m/z=246 (M+H)⁺, 135 (piperonyl)⁺. FABHRMS: calcd for C₁₃H₁₆O₂N₃ (M+H)⁺ m/z=246.1242; found, 246.1248.

4.1.10. N^{α} -(**3,4-Methoxybenzyl**)histamine (**18d**). In the same manner as described for **18a**, **18d** (MW: 245.28, 71.0 mg, 0.289 mmol, 11%) was obtained from **2**·2HCl (500 mg, 2.72 mmol) and 3,4-dimethoxybenzaldehyde (1.13 g, 6.79 mmol) in a yield of 11% based on **2**·2HCl, as a pale yellow oil; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =7.44 (s, 1H, NCH=N), 6.78 (s, 1H), 6.75 (s, 2H), 6.71 (s, 1H), 3.79 [s, 6H, (OMe)₂], 3.69 (s, 2H, ArCH₂), 2.86 (t, 2H, *J*=6.5 Hz), 2.73 (t, 2H, *J*=6.5 Hz).

4.1.11. Benzyl (2*S*,4*EZ*)-2-(benzyloxycarbonylamino)-6-(benzyl)[2-(4-imidazolyl)ethyl]amino-4-hexenoate (19a). In the similar manner as described for 19c, 19a (MW: 552.66, 671 mg, 1.22 mmol) was obtained from 14 (MW: 411.45, 1.00 g, 2.43 mmol) and N^{α} -benzylhistamine 18a (587 mg, 2.91 mmol) in a yield of 50% based on 14, as a yellow oil; R_f 0.29 (CHCl₃/MeOH=10:1). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =7.45 (s, 1H, NCH=N), 7.40–7.15 (m, 15H), 6.73 (s, 1H, NCH=C), 5.56–5.35 (m, 2H), 5.20–5.00 (m, 4H), 4.55–4.45 (m, 1H, H-2), 3.58 (s, 2H, NCH₂Ph), 3.00 (d, 2H, *J*=5.7 Hz, H-6), 2.80–2.40 (m, 6H). FABMS: m/z=553 (M+H)⁺, 471, 279, 91 (Bn)⁺. FABHRMS: calcd for C₃₃H₃₇O₄N₄ (M+H)⁺ m/z=553.2815; found, 553.2819.

4.1.12. Benzyl (2S,4EZ)-2-(benzyloxycarbonylamino)-6-[2-(4-imidazolyl)ethyl](p-methoxybenzyl)amino-4-hexenoate (19b). In the similar manner as described for 19c, 19b (MW: 582.69, 262 mg, 449 µmol) was obtained from 14 (MW: 411.45, 200 mg, 0.486 mmol) and N^{\alpha}-(p-methoxybenzyl)histamine 18b (135 mg, 533 µmol) in a yield of 92% based on 14, as a yellow oil; R_f 0.50 (CHCl₃/ EtOH=10:1). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =7.46 (s, 1H, NCH=N), 7.36-7.28 (m, 10H), 7.16 (d, 2H, J=8.4 Hz), 6.83 (d, 2H, J=8.7 Hz), 6.74 (s, 1H, NCH=C), 5.58-5.36 (m, 3H), 5.20-5.00 (m, 4H), 4.54-4.45 (m, 1H), 3.78 (s, 3H, OMe), 3.52 (s, 2H), 2.99 (d, 2H, J=5.4 Hz), 2.68 (dd, 2H, J=16.5, 5.4 Hz), 2.56 (t, 2H, J=5.7 Hz), 2.49 (t, 2H, J=6.6 Hz). FABMS: m/z=583 (M+H)⁺, 501, 230, 121 (PMB)⁺, 91 (Bn)⁺. FABHRMS: calcd for C₃₄H₃₉O₅N₄ (M+H)⁺ *m*/*z*=583.2921; found, 583.2922.

4.1.13. Benzyl (2*S***,4***EZ***)-2-(benzyloxycarbonylamino)-6-[2-(4-imidazolyl)ethyl](piperonyl)amino-4-hexenoate (19c).** A 20 ml, two-necked round bottomed flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer bar, an N₂ inlet adapter, and a septum was placed under a nitrogen atmosphere. The flask was charged with 14 (MW: 411.45, 540 mg, 1.31 mmol), Pd₂(dba)₃ (60.0 mg, 65.6 µmol), and PPh₃ (18.2 mg, 69.4 µmol) in dry THF, and stirred for 15 min at room temperature. To the suspension was added N^{α} -piperonylhistamine **19c** (555 mg, 1.58 mmol), warmed up to 50 °C, and the mixture was stirred for 1 h. The reaction mixture was filtrated through a Celite[®] pad, added water, and extracted with EtOAc. The combined organic layer was washed with brine, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was chromatographed on silica gel. Elution with CHCl₃/EtOH (20:1) gave 19c (MW: 507.27, 550 mg, 0.922 mmol, 71% based on 14) as a yellow oil; $R_f = 0.57$ (CHCl₃/EtOH=30:1), $[\alpha]_D^{24} = -0.703$ (c 1.28, CHCl₃). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =7.47 (s, 1H, NCH=N), 7.40-7.25 (m, 10H), 6.75-6.65 (m, 4H), 5.91 (s, 2H, OCH₂O), 5.64–5.36 (m, 3H), 5.22–5.00 (m, 4H), 4.54– 4.45 (m, 1H, H-2), 3.47 (d, 2H, NCH₂Ar), 2.98 (d, 2H, J=5.4 Hz, NCH₂C=), 2.78–2.40 (m, 6H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =171.79, 155.91, 147.76, 146.66, 136.19, 135.19, 134.30, 132.84, 131.73, 128.67, 128.56, 128.36, 128.23, 128.05, 127.07, 121.97, 109.19, 107.93, 100.86, 67.20, 66.93, 57.85, 54.78, 53.66, 52.56, 35.35, 23.18. IR: v=3493-2100 (br s), 1717 (s), 1500 (s), 1487 (s), 1454 (m), 1440 (s), 1342 (w), 1244 (s), 1214 (s), 1187 (m), 1093 (w), 1038 (s), 975 (w), 930 (w), 810 (w), 749 (s), 696 (s), 665 (w) cm⁻¹. FABMS: m/z=597 (M+H)⁺, 154, 136, 91 (Bn)⁺, 73. FABHRMS: calcd for $C_{34}H_{37}O_6N_4$ (M+H)⁺ m/z=597.2713; found, 597.2718.

4.1.14. (S)-2-Amino-9-(4-imidazolyl)-7-azanonanoic acid (gizzerosine, 1). A 30 ml, two-necked round bottomed flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer bar, an N₂ inlet adapter, and a septum was placed under a hydrogen atmosphere. The flask was charged with 19c (MW: 596.67, 54.4 mg, 91.1 µmol) and Pd(OH)₂/C (110 mg) in 5 ml of EtOH/ THF/H₂O (3:1:1). The mixture was stirred for 5 h at room temperature. Then this was filtrated through a Celite[®] pad and the filtrate was concentrated in vacuo. The resulting solid was purified through Sephadex[®] LH-20 column. Elution with MeOH/H₂O (1:1) gave gizzerosine 1 (MW: 240.30, 10.4 mg, 0.433 mmol, 47%) as a white solid. This solid was dissolved in 1 M HCl aq and stirred for 5 min. Then this solution was concentrated in vacuo. This resulting white amorphous solid was used for analysis; R_f 0.09 (CHCl₃/MeOH/28% NH₃ aq=3:3:1), mp 250–251 °C (dec) [lit.⁶ 251–252 °C (dec)]; $[\alpha]_D^{22}$ +9.45 (*c* 0.555, H₂O) {lit.⁶ $[\alpha]_D^{22}$ +10.3 (*c* 1.28, H₂O)}. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, D₂O): δ =8.30 (br s, 1H), 7.26 (br s, 1H), 3.75 (t, 1H, J=6.0 Hz), 3.37 (pseudo t, 2H, J=7.2 Hz), 3.11 (pseudo t, 4H, J=6.6 Hz), 1.89 (m, pseudo q, 2H, J=7.4 Hz), 1.74 (quint, 2H, J=7.5 Hz), 1.60–1.35 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR (75 Hz, D_2O): $\delta = 175.08$, 135.69, 131.45, 116.93, 54.99, 47.72, 46.86, 30.38, 25.65, 22.91, 22.04. IR: $\nu = 3300 - 2300$ (br s), 3116 (s), 2786 (s), 2450 (m), 1634 (s), 1601 (s), 1522 (s), 1462 (s), 1395 (s), 1348 (m), 1329 (m), 1235 (w), 1052 (w), 957 (w), 839 (w), 794 (w), 719 (w), 623 (m) cm⁻¹. FABMS: *m*/*z*=241 (M+H)⁺, 207, 185, 93, 75, 57, 45. FABHRMS: calcd for $C_{11}H_{21}N_4O_2$ (M+H)⁺ m/z=241.1665; found, 241.167. These spectral data are in good agreement with those reported.6

Acknowledgements

We thank Prof. Takeshi Sugai (Keio Univ., Japan) for useful advices and Prof. Hidenori Watanabe (Tokyo Univ., Japan) for kindly giving us the authentic sample.

References and notes

- 1. Johnson, D. C.; Pinedo, D. C. Avian Dis. 1971, 15, 835.
- Okazaki, T.; Noguchi, T.; Igarashi, K.; Sakagami, Y.; Seto, H.; Mori, K.; Naito, H.; Masumura, T.; Sugahara, M. Agric. Biol. Chem. 1983, 47, 2949.
- Mori, K.; Okazaki, T.; Noguchi, T.; Naito, H. Agric. Biol. Chem. 1983, 47, 2131.
- 4. Bazureaum, J. P.; Person, D.; Le Corre, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1989**, *30*, 3065.
- Herrera, C.; Tello, M.; Ibanez, I.; Valenzuela, O.; Olivares, L. Bol. Soc. Chil. Quím. 1999, 44, 117.
- Mori, K.; Sugai, T.; Maeda, Y.; Okazaki, T.; Noguchi, T.; Naito, H. *Tetrahedron* 1985, *41*, 5307.
- Masumura, T.; Sugahara, M.; Noguchi, T.; Mori, K.; Naito, H. Poult. Sci. 1985, 64, 356.
- Sugahara, M.; Hattori, T.; Nakajima, T. Agric. Biol. Chem. 1987, 51, 3423.
- Ito, Y.; Terao, H.; Noguchi, T.; Naito, H. Poult. Sci. 1988, 67, 1290.
- Masumura, T.; Sugahara, M. Jpn. J. Zootech. Sci. 1982, 53, 743 (in Japanese).
- 11. Noguchi, T. Seikagaku 1988, 60, 1168 (in Japanese).
- Shimasaki, Y.; Kiyota, H.; Sato, M.; Kuwahara, S. Synthesis 2005, 3191.

- 13. Kiyota, H. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 2006, 70, 317.
- 14. Tice, T. M.; Ganem, B. J. Org. Chem. 1983, 48, 5043.
- Adlington, R. M.; Baldwin, J. E.; Basak, A.; Kozyrod, R. P. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1983, 944.
- 16. Knochel, P.; Singer, R. D. Chem. Rev. 1993, 93, 2117.
- 17. Gair, S.; Jackson, R. F. W. Curr. Org. Chem. 1998, 2, 527.
- 18. Dexter, C. S.; Jackson, R. F. W. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 7579.
- Dunn, M. J.; Jackson, R. F. W.; Pietruszka, J.; Turner, D. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 2210.
- Xue, C.-B.; Voss, M. E.; Nelson, D. J.; Duan, J. J.-W.; Cherney, R. J.; Jacobson, I. C.; He, X.; Roderick, J.; Chen, L.; Corbett, R. L.; Wang, L.; Meyer, D. T.; Kennedy, K.; DeGrado, W. F.; Hardman, K. D.; Teleha, C. A.; Jaffee, B. D.; Liu, R.-Q.; Copeland, R. A.; Covington, M. B.; Christ, D. D.; Trzaskos, J. M.; Newton, R. C.; Magolda, R. L.; Wexler, R. R.; Decicco, C. P. J. Med. Chem. 2001, 44, 2636.
- Lombard, M.; Girotti, R.; Morganti, S.; Trombini, C. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 2981.
- Heck, R. F. Palladium Reagents in Organic Syntheses; Katritzky, A. R., Meth-Cohn, O., Rees, C. W., Eds.; Academic: London, 1985; pp 122–130.
- Nagao, Y.; Seno, K.; Kawabata, K.; Miyasaka, T.; Takao, S.; Fujita, E. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1980**, *21*, 841.
- 24. Plimls, J.; Protiva, M. Chem. Listy 1953, 47, 1874.
- 25. van der Merwe, P. Z. Physiol. Chem. 1928, 177, 301.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9635-9640

Urea/thiourea-based colorimetric chemosensors for the biologically important ions: efficient and simple sensors

Yeong-Joon Kim,^{a,*} Han Kwak,^b Se Jin Lee,^a Je Sin Lee,^a Hyun Jung Kwon,^a Sang Ho Nam,^b Kyoungrim Lee^c and Cheal Kim^{b,*}

^aDepartment of Chemistry, Chungnam National University, Daejeon 305-764, Republic of Korea ^bDepartment of Fine Chemistry, Seoul National University of Technology, Seoul 139-743, Republic of Korea ^cSchool of Computational Sciences, Korea Institute for Advanced Study, Seoul 130-722, Republic of Korea

> Received 23 May 2006; revised 19 July 2006; accepted 26 July 2006 Available online 17 August 2006

Abstract—Some colorimetric anion sensors have been synthesized where 4-nitrophenyl was treated as a signaling unit and urea/thiourea moieties as binding sites. The receptors, effectively and selectively, recognized the biologically important F^- and carboxylate anions from other anions such as Cl^- and Br^- in DMSO. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The development of simple receptors capable of recognizing biologically relevant anions such as fluoride, chloride, phosphate, and carboxylate has attracted considerable interest in the recent past.¹ The design of these receptors has been focused on having the ability to selectively recognize and sense the biologically important anions through the naked eye, electrochemical, and optical responses.² While the incorporation of fluorescent chromophores into the receptor has gained considerable attention owing to their high sensitivity and easy detection for a long time,³ the investigation of anion-selective receptors based on color chromophores has just recently begun.⁴ In particular, the development of colorimetric anion sensing is even more important and useful since the colorimetric anion sensing system would allow the so-called 'naked-eye' detection of anions without use of any spectroscopic instrumentation, being simple and convenient for detection. Such receptors would be more valuable if they can be obtained by a simple synthetic method.⁵

Many chemical sensors follow the approach of the covalent attachment of signaling subunits and binding sites.⁶ Hydrogen-bonding sites typically used in chromogenic or fluorogenic chemosensors are ureas, thioureas, calyx[4]pyrroles, sapphyrins, and amides.⁷ Among them, the urea or thiourea groups have been often focused as anion binding sites,

Keywords: Ureas; Thioureas; Colorimetric sensors; Anion binding.

because the hydrogen-bonding ability of these functional groups can result in quite stable complexes strongly hydrogenbonded with biologically important anions such as acetate, phosphate or chloride, and because they can be often easily synthesized from commercially available reagents by a single-step procedure.^{7a-c} Therefore, a variety of receptors containing one or more urea subunits have been designed and tested for anion recognition and sensing over the past years. Especially, several urea or thiourea derivatives connected with a series of spacer units including cyclic structures (naphthalene, anthracene etc.) have been synthesized and proved to be very efficient for the anion sensors.⁸ Very recently, Jose et al. have reported the new colorimetric receptors by introducing two phenylurea/phenylthiourea into an anthraquinone spacer acting as a signaling subunit.9 The thiourea receptor has shown the efficient colorimetric sensing, while the urea one needs a certain temperature (above 60 °C) to display the colorimetric action. This result led us to suggest that if the acidity of the urea/thiourea increases, the colorimetric receptors will be more efficient even at room temperature. Therefore, we have planned to design new urea/thiourea with a nitrophenyl group as a signaling group to enhance both hydrogen-bond donor tendency and acidity and to be well known as a chromophore for color change. We have attached two *p*-nitrophenylurea groups or two *p*-nitrophenylthiourea groups to a simple 4,5-dimethyl-1,2-diaminobenzene ring, in which the methyl groups help easy observation of ¹H NMR spectral shift. Anion binding properties of the new urea/thiourea anion sensors were investigated by UV-vis spectroscopy and color changes. As expected, they have shown a unique color change and UV-vis absorption peak in the presence of

^{*} Corresponding authors. Tel.: +82 42 821 5476; fax: +82 42 821 8896 (Y.-J.K.); tel.: +82 2 970 6693; fax: +82 2 973 9149 (C.K.); e-mail addresses: y2kim@cnu.ac.kr; chealkim@snut.ac.kr

fluoride or acetate ions. During the preparation of the manuscript, we found a related publication where bis-urea compounds based on *ortho*-phenylenediamine function have been used as carboxylate anion receptors. The recognition was monitored by NMR method, however, there were no results and discussion for the color changes or UV–vis observation.¹⁰

We report herein on novel colorimetric receptors for selective fluoride or acetate ion sensing containing nitrophenyl group as chromogenic signaling subunit and urea/thiourea as binding sites. The anion recognition via hydrogen-bonding interactions can be easily monitored by anion-complexation induced changes in UV–vis absorption spectra and with the naked eye. Moreover, the hydrogen bonds between N-H of the urea/thiourea and fluoride or carboxylate ions are described on the basis of the ¹H NMR experiments, and a feature of the binding mode is predicted on the basis of ab initio calculations.

2. Results and discussion

Urea 1 and thiourea 2 were synthesized using the one-step reaction of 4,5-dimethyl-1,2-phenylenediamine and 4-nitrophenyl isocyanate or 4-nitrophenyl isothiocyanate in a reasonably good yield (Scheme 1). Urea 1 was immediately precipitated when 4,5-dimethyl-1,2-phenylenediamine and 4-nitrophenyl isocyanate were mixed together in methylene chloride at room temperature. Thiourea 2 was obtained from the reflux condition in THF, meaning that 4-nitrophenyl isothiocyanate is less reactive with 4,5-dimethyl-1,2-phenylenediamine than 4-nitrophenyl isocyanate.



Scheme 1. Synthesis of the receptors 1 and 2.

The selective recognition of urea 1 and thiourea 2 with F^- over other halides such as Cl^- and Br^- was evident in ¹H NMR titration experiment. ¹H NMR spectrum of urea 1 in DMSO- d_6 showed N-H protons at 9.79 and 8.16 ppm.



Figure 1. Partial ¹H NMR spectra of urea 1 (2.5×10^{-3} M) in DMSO- d_6 . (a) 1 only; (b) 1+2 equiv F⁻; (c) 1+2 equiv Cl⁻; (d) 1+2 equiv Br⁻.

Aromatic protons and methyl group were shown at 8.18, 7.68, and 7.36 ppm and at 2.19 ppm, respectively. ¹H NMR peaks of urea **1** were changed dramatically in the presence of 2 equiv of F^- whereas there were no significant spectral changes in the phenyl and methyl proton regions for the addition of Cl⁻ and Br⁻ (Fig. 1). Two N-H proton peaks disappeared in the presence of F⁻ and shifted to the downfield in the presence of Cl⁻ or Br⁻. The ¹H NMR peaks at 8.18 and 7.68 ppm from nitrophenyl group and a single peak at 2.19 ppm from methyl moved to the upfield, and another singlet (7.36 ppm) from the phenylene moved to the downfield with the addition of 2 equiv of F⁻ ion as shown in Figure 2a.

The ¹H NMR spectra of thiourea **2** were also changed selectively in the presence of F⁻. By the titration of F⁻, all proton signals from phenylene group (8.14, 7.83, and 7.23 ppm) as well as methyl group (2.22 ppm) shifted to the upfield (Fig. S1). Line broadening of the peaks was observed in the addition of F^- ion. It is clear that F^- binds to four urea N-H protons in both urea 1 and thiourea 2 since the N-H signals were all broadened in the presence of small amounts of F^- . When more than 1 equiv of F^- was added, all N-H peaks disappeared. Addition of acetate ion also developed some changes in the ¹H NMR spectra of urea **1** as well as thiourea 2. The changes by acetate ion in ¹H NMR spectra of thiourea 2 were similar to those caused by F^- . On the other hand, in urea 1 case, the chemical shift changes by acetate anion were smaller when compared to those caused by F⁻ and were not observed after the addition of 1 equiv of acetate anion in the titration (Fig. 2b).

Based on the NMR experiment result for qualitatively selective recognition of some anions by the host molecules, urea **1** and thiourea **2**, further study of the anion recognition has



Figure 2. Titration of a 2.5×10^{-3} M solution of urea 1 in DMSO- d_6 with (a) F⁻ and (b) CH₃COO⁻ ions.



Figure 3. UV–vis spectral changes observed for **1** and **2**, upon addition of fluoride anion in DMSO at room temperature. (a) Urea **1** (2.5×10^{-5} M) with F⁻ (0–105 equiv) and (b) thiourea **2** (3.4×10^{-5} M) with F⁻ (0–3.4 equiv).

been carried out. The remarkable preference in binding ability of urea **1** and thiourea **2** for F^- was observed with clear color change *even at room temperature*, unlike the phenylurea receptor with an anthraquinone spacer designed by Jose et al.,⁹ and monitored with UV–vis spectroscopy. The UV–vis spectra of urea **1** and thiourea **2** changed dramatically when small amounts of F^- ions were added whereas there were no UV–vis spectral changes upon the addition of up to 250 equiv of Cl⁻ or Br⁻ ions. In the course of addition of F^- ion to urea **1**, a new peak at λ_{max} =488 nm was developed and the isosbestic point was observed at 416 nm as shown in Figure 3a.

The more drastic UV-vis spectral change was observed for thiourea **2** as shown in Figure 3b. Again, a new peak was shown at λ_{max} =488 nm. There are two isosbestic points: one at 374 nm and the other at 409 nm. A maximum intensity of ~90% at 488 nm was obtained for thiourea **2** when less than 10 equiv of F⁻ were added, whereas ~70 equiv of F⁻ were needed for urea **1** to obtain the same intensity. This result shows that F⁻ binds with thiourea **2** more tightly than with urea **1**, indicating stronger hydrogen bonds of acidic N-H groups in thiourea **2**.

Figure S2a shows that UV–vis absorption of urea **1** also changes in the presence of acetate ion. The λ_{max} slowly moved from 354 to 366 nm when 10 equiv of acetate ion were added. Addition of more than 10 equiv of acetate ion did not give any further spectral changes. The presence of one isosbestic point at 359 nm implies that two species, **1** and **1**-acetate, are present in equilibrium, and the analysis of the set of UV–vis spectra indicates the 1:1 complex with a complexation constant $K=1.1(\pm 0.1)\times 10^{5.11}$

The UV-vis spectrum of thiourea 2 showed dramatic changes in the course of titration with acetate ion as shown in Figure S2b. The UV-vis spectral change of urea 1 with acetate ion was significantly different from that with fluoride ion. However, the change of thiourea 2 with acetate was similar to that with fluoride ion. Even though the binding constant for complexation of thiourea 2 with acetate was not obtained, it is expected to be the same order of magnitude ($\sim 10^5$) since the binding constant for the urea with F⁻ was reported to be about half of that for the thiourea analogue due to the less acidic protons.⁹

Pfeffer group reported complexation constants of some thioureas with acetate ion where the log *K* values were 3.6 for the aliphatic thiourea and 3.9–4.0 for aromatic thioureas, and explained the difference in terms of the acidity of thiourea protons.^{2e,2f,4a} Other studies also reported that thioureabased anion sensors have the binding constant values of the order of magnitude ($\sim 10^5$)^{4f,12} with acetate anion, which is comparable to our result.

The anion recognition is also detectable at room temperature with naked eyes as shown in Figure 4. Again, CI^- and Br^- did not give any noticeable color changes in the DMSO solution of urea 1 and thiourea 2. For urea 1, only F^- gave significant color changes to reddish orange. Acetate ion made the solution turn pale yellow, but the color change was not noticeable at low concentration with naked eyes. Color change of thiourea 2 was much more sensitive to F^- than urea 1. One equivalent of F^- was enough to recognize color change from colorless to yellow with naked eyes. More addition of F^- changed the color to reddish orange. In contrast to urea 1, the solution of thiourea 2 with acetate ion and reddish orange at high concentration.

Two isosbestic points in UV-vis spectra and two different colors, yellow and reddish orange, in naked-eye detection



Figure 4. Color changes observed for 1 and 2 in DMSO upon the addition of anions as tetraethylammonium salts at room temperature. (a) Urea 1 $(2.5 \times 10^{-5} \text{ M})$ and (b) thiourea 2 $(2.5 \times 10^{-5} \text{ M})$ (number of equivalents in parenthesis).

during the host–guest complexation suggest the following equilibria for the interaction between urea/thiourea and F⁻ as Fabbrizzi et al. proposed.^{2g,2h,4c,4d}

Equilibrium I: $RH + L^{-} \leftrightarrows RH \cdots L^{-}$

Equilibrium II: $RH\cdots L^- + L^- \leftrightarrows R^- + LHL^-$

The first equilibrium is accomplished for the complexation between the host (RH=urea 1/thiourea 2) and the guest (L⁻=anion). If there are more free anions, the host molecules can be deprotonated and exist in the form of an anion R⁻ as shown in equilibrium II. The equilibrium constants of these two processes would be mainly dependent on the binding constant value of the host-guest complex and the acidity of host or the basicity of anions.

For both urea 1 and thiourea 2, the host–guest complex is responsible for \sim 370 nm peak in the UV–vis spectra or pale

yellow color in the naked-eye detection. On the other hand, the new anion species \mathbb{R}^- , in the equilibrium II, are responsible for the 488 nm peak in the UV–vis spectra and reddish orange color in the naked-eye detection. Both urea **1** and thiourea **2** are believed to reach the equilibria I and II with $\mathbb{F}^$ probably due to strong hydrogen-bonding interaction between urea/thioura N-H and \mathbb{F}^- , which eventually generates a highly stable anion species FHF⁻ in the equilibrium II.

To support the suggested equilibrium profile, the geometries of all species involved in equilibria I and II were optimized in gas phase at the HF/6-31+G(d) level using ab initio calculation (Fig. 5). All four protons of urea/thiourea are directed toward anion ligands but each hydrogen-bond distance is different as shown in Table 1. Two protons (H(3) and H(4)) connected to nitrophenyl group have much shorter distances to the anions than the other N-H protons. The hydrogen-bond distances increase as the sizes of the anion ligands from fluoride to bromide increase. The two oxygen



Figure 5. Optimized geometries from ab initio HF/6-31+G(D) calculations.

Table 1. Computed distances^a of NH···L[−] hydrogen bonds from ab initio HF/6-31+G(D) calculations



Ligand	$H(1)\cdots L^{-}$	$H(2)\cdots L^{-}$	$H(3)\cdots L^{-}$	$H(4)\cdots L^{-}$	
Receptor: urea 1 (X=O)					
F ⁻¹	1.924	1.919	1.753	1.755	
Cl^{-}	2.614	2.637	2.333	2.336	
Br^{-}	2.655	2.479	2.448	2.509	
CH ₃ COO ^{-b}	2.025(O1)	2.155(O2)	1.836(O1)	1.870(O2)	
Receptor: thiourea 2 (X	=S)				
F ⁻¹	2.056	2.056	1.649	1.649	
Cl^{-}	2.570	2.992	2.289	2.321	
Br ⁻	2.575	2.577	2.536	2.535	
CH ₃ COO ^{-b}	1.957(O1)	1.957(O2)	1.910(O1)	1.910(O2)	

^a The unit of the computed distances is Å.

^b Two oxygen atoms (O1 and O2) of CH₃COO⁻ form hydrogen bonds with the receptors where O1 is hydrogen-bonded to H1 and H3 and O2 to H2 and H4.

atoms of CH₃COO⁻ effectively form four hydrogen bonds (two per oxygen atom) with each receptor and their hydrogen-bond distances are within the typical hydrogen-bond distance ranges between 1.86 and 2.16 Å. In general, the anions are well-positioned into the hydrogen-bond cage in the complexes through favorable hydrogen-bonding interactions. The reaction energies between the reactants and the products were also calculated based on the optimized geometries using the density functional theory at the B3LYP/6-31G+(d)//HF/6-31+G(d) level (Table S1). The preference of both urea/ thiourea receptors for the anions can be ordered as follows: $F^->CH_3COO^->Br^->Cl^-$. In the equilibrium II, thiourea **2** is more favorable than urea **1** for all anions mainly due to the higher acidity of thiourea protons.

Deprotonation of nitrophenyl connected urea protons are well known and the resulting R⁻ is a push-pull chromophore, which is responsible for the 488 nm peak in the UV-vis and the development of the reddish orange color.⁴ Acetate ion is basic enough to deprotonate the protons of thiourea **2**, but is not basic enough to deprotonate those of urea **1**. Therefore, only the equilibrium I exists between urea **1** and acetate ion, and the resulting complexation constant was found to be $K=1.1(\pm 0.1)\times 10^5$ with high accuracy. From the computational results, the value of the complexation constant for thiourea **2**-F⁻ is expected to be more or less the same as that for urea **1**-F⁻.

3. Conclusion

We have developed new colorimetric anion sensors having both 4-nitrophenyl as a signaling unit and urea/thiourea moieties as binding sites, and investigated their affinity and selectivity to the halide and acetate anion experimentally and theoretically. The receptors effectively and selectively recognize the biologically important F⁻ and carboxylate anions over other anions such as Cl⁻ and Br⁻ in DMSO. More importantly, the new colorimetric chemosensors for anions have displayed naked-eye detection at room temperature, unlike the phenylurea receptor with an anthraquinone spacer designed by Jose et al.⁹ In addition, the NMR and ab initio calculations are in good agreement with the color changes. Therefore, it is believed that 4-nitrophenylurea and -thiourea binding sites attached to a simple benzene ring are suitable colorimetric reagents for fluoride and carboxylate sensing. We have also shown that even simple chromophores such as cheap and easy-to-make anion receptors containing hydrogen-bonding donor groups can operate as efficient colorimetric sensors for the naked-eye detection of anions.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

All reagents were purchased from Aldrich and used without further purification. ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on a JEOL JNM-AL400 spectrometer, operating at 9.39 T. UV–vis spectra were obtained using a Cary 3 spectrophotometer with a quartz cuvette (path length=1 cm). IR spectra were measured on a BIO RAD FTS 135 spectrometer as KBr pellets. Elemental analysis for carbon, nitrogen, and

hydrogen was carried out by using an EA1108 (Carlo Erba Instrument, Italy) in the Organic Chemistry Research Center of Sogang University, Korea.

4.2. Synthesis of N,N''-1,2-(4,5-dimethylphenylenebis-[N'-p-nitrophenylurea]) (1) and N,N''-1,2-(4,5-dimethylphenylenebis[N'-p-nitrophenyl(thiourea)]) (2)

To a methylene chloride (5 ml)/THF (3 ml) solution of 4-nitrophenyl isocyanate (0.37 g, 2.2 mmol), 4,5-dimethyl-1,2-phenylenediamine (0.14 g, 1.0 mmol) in methylene chloride (3 ml) was added slowly while being stirred vigorously. The orange solid (1) was immediately formed, filtered, and dried (yield 84%). Anal. Calcd for $C_{20}H_{20}N_6O_6$, 1: C, 56.89; H, 4.34; N, 18.10. Found: C, 56.82; H, 4.46; N, 18.33%. ¹H NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 9.79 (s, 2H), 8.18 (d, 4H, J_3 =9.3 Hz), 8.16 (s, 2H), 7.68 (d, 4H, J_3 =9.3 Hz), 7.36 (s, 2H), 2.19 (s, 6H). ¹³C NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 152.6, 146.4, 140.8, 132.6, 128.4, 125.4, 125.0, 117.3, 19.1. IR (KBr): 3340, 1678, 1504, 1327 cm⁻¹.

4,5-Dimethyl-1,2-phenylenediamine (0.14 g, 1.0 mmol) in THF (3 ml) was added to a THF (5 ml) solution of 4-nitrophenyl isothiocyanate (0.38 g, 2.1 mmol). The mixture was stirred at reflux for 3 h. After the solution was concentrated to 1 ml, methylene chloride and hexane were gradually added until precipitate was formed. The light yellow solid (2) was filtered and dried (yield 53%). Anal. Calcd for $C_{22}H_{20}N_6O_4S_2$, 2: C, 53.21; H, 4.06; N, 16.92; S, 12.91. Found: C, 53.15; H, 4.15; N, 17.01; S, 12.75%. ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 10.44 (s, 2H), 9.52 (s, 2H), 8.14 (d, 4H, J_3 =8.8 Hz), 7.83 (d, 4H, J_3 =8.8 Hz), 7.23 (s, 2H), 2.22 (s, 6H). ¹³C NMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 179.7, 145.8, 142.3, 135.1, 131.4, 128.8, 124.1, 121.5, 19.0. IR (KBr): 3320, 3272, 1507, 1347, 1113 cm⁻¹.

4.3. UV-vis and NMR titrations

UV–vis titrations were performed on $1-5 \times 10^{-5}$ M solutions of urea **1** or thiourea **2** in DMSO. Typically, aliquots of freshly prepared Et₄NX (X=F⁻, Cl⁻, Br⁻, and CH₃COO⁻) standard solutions ($10^{-1}-10^{-3}$ M in DMSO) were added and the UV–vis spectra of the samples were recorded. ¹H NMR titrations were carried out in DMSO- d_6 .

4.4. Ab initio calculation

The geometries of all species such as the reactants and products involved in the equilibria I and II were optimized in gas phase at the HF/6-31+G(d) level using the GAMESS quantum mechanical calculation program.¹³ The computed geometrical quantities are shown in Table 1. The reaction energies for both equilibria were also calculated based on the above optimized geometries using the density functional theory at the B3LYP/6-31G+(d)//HF/6-31+G(d) level. The reaction energies were simply obtained by taking the energy difference between the reactant and the product molecules. The energetic results are shown in Table S1.

Acknowledgements

Financial support from the Korean Science & Engineering Foundation (R01-2005-000-10490-0(2005)), Korea Research

Foundation (2002-070-C00053), and THE SEOUL R&BD Program is gratefully acknowledged. Y.-J.K. is indebted to Center for Research Facilities at Chungnam National University for the permission to use a JEOL JNM-AL400 NMR spectrometer.

Supplementary data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.081.

References and notes

- (a) Martinez-Manez, R.; Sancenon, F. Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 4419; (b) Bondy, C. R.; Loeb, S. J. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2003, 240, 77; (c) Gale, P. A. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2001, 213, 79; (d) Melaimi, M.; Gabbai, F. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 9680; (e) Thiagarajan, V.; Ramamurthy, P.; Thirumalai, D.; Ramakrishnan, V. T. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 657; (f) Burns, D. H.; Calderon-Kawasaki, K.; Kularatne, S. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 2803; (g) Yoon, J.; Kim, S. K.; Singh, N. J.; Kim, K. S. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2006, 35, 355.
- 2. (a) Fillaut, J.-L.; Andries, J.; Toupet, L.; Desvergne, J.-P. Chem. Commun. 2005, 2924; (b) Garcia, F.; Garcia, J. M.; Garcia-Acosta, B.; Martinez-Manez, R.; Sancenon, F.; Soto, J. Chem. Commun. 2005, 2790; (c) Ghosh, T.; Maiya, B. G.; Wong, M. W. J. Phys. Chem. A 2004, 108, 11249; (d) Anzenbacher, P., Jr.; Palacios, M. A.; Jursikova, K.; Marquez, M. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 5027; (e) Pfeffer, F. M.; Buschgens, A. M.: Barnett, N. W.: Gunnlaugsson, T.: Kruger, P. E. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 6579; (f) Gunnlaugsson, T.; Kruger, P. E.; Lee, T. C.; Parkesh, R.; Pfeffer, F. M.; Hussey, G. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 6575; (g) Boiocchi, M.; Boca, L. D.; Esteban-Gomez, D.; Fabbrizzi, L.; Licchelli, M.; Monzani, E. Chem.-Eur. J. 2005, 11, 3097; (h) Amendola, V.; Boiocchi, M.; Fabbrizzi, L.; Palchetti, A. Chem.-Eur. J. 2005, 11, 120; (i) Costero, A. M.; Banuls, M. J.; Aurell, M. J.; Ward, M. D.; Argent, S. Tetrahedron 2004, 60, 9471.
- (a) Kim, S. K.; Yoon, J. Chem. Commun. 2002, 770; (b) Kwon,
 J. Y.; Jang, Y. J.; Kim, S. K.; Lee, K.-H.; Kim, J. S.; Yoon, J.
 J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 5155; (c) Yoon, J.; Kim, S. K.;
 Singh, N. J.; Lee, J. W.; Yang, Y. J.; Chellappan, K.; Kim,
 K. S. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 581; (d) Cho, H. K.; Lee,
 D. H.; Hong, J.-I. Chem. Commun. 2005, 1690.
- (a) Pfeffer, F. M.; Gunnlaugsson, T.; Jensen, P.; Kruger, P. E. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 5357; (b) Vazquez, M.; Fabbrizzi, L.; Taglietti, A.; Pedrido, R. M.; Gonzalez-Noya, A. M.; Bermejo, M. R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 1962; (c) Boiocchi, M.; Boca, L. D.; Gomez, D. E.; Fabbrizzi, L.; Liccgelli, M.; Monzani, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126,

16507; (d) Esteban-Gomez, D.; Fabbrizzi, L.; Licchelli, M. *J. Org. Chem.* **2005**, *70*, 5717; (e) Aldakov, D.; Anzenbacher, P., Jr. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2004**, *126*, 4752; (f) Gunnlaugsson, T.; Kruger, P. E.; Jensen, P.; Tierney, J.; Ali, H. D. P.; Hussey, G. M. *J. Org. Chem.* **2005**, *70*, 10875.

- (a) Miyaji, H.; Sessler, J. L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 154; (b) Cho, E. J.; Ryu, B. J.; Lee, Y. J.; Nam, K. C. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 2607.
- (a) See Ref. 3b; (b) Kim, S. K.; Singh, N. J.; Kim, S. J.; Kim, H. G.; Kim, J. K.; Lee, J. W.; Kim, K. S.; Yoon, J. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 2083.
- (a) Kang, S. O.; Linares, J. M.; Powell, D.; VanderVelde, D.; Bowman-James, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 10152; (b) Kondo, S.-i.; Hiraoka, Y.; Kurumatani, N.; Yano, Y. Chem. Commun. 2005, 1720; (c) Xie, H.; Yi, S.; Wu, S. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1999, 2751; (d) Panda, P. K.; Lee, C.-H. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 3148; (e) Sessler, J. L.; An, D.; Cho, W.-S.; Lynch, V.; Marquez, M. Chem.—Eur. J. 2005, 11, 2001; (f) Chellappan, K.; Singh, N. J.; Hwang, I.-C.; Lee, J. W.; Kim, K. S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 2899; (g) Nishiyabu, R.; Anzenbacher, P., Jr. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 8270; (h) Chmielewski, M. J.; Jurczak, J. Chem.—Eur. J. 2005, 11, 6080; (i) Amendola, V.; Boiocchi, M.; Esteban-G'omez, D.; Fabbrizzi, L.; Monzani, E. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 2632.
- (a) Lee, J. Y.; Cho, E. J.; Mukamel, S.; Nam, K. C. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 943; (b) Cho, E. J.; Moon, J. W.; Ko, S. W.; Lee, J. Y.; Kim, S. K.; Yoon, J.; Nam, K. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 12376; (c) Kim, S. K.; Singh, N. J.; Kim, S. J.; Swamy, K. M. K.; Kim, S. H.; Lee, K.-H.; Kim, K. S.; Yoon, J. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 4545.
- Jose, D. A.; Kumar, D. K.; Ganguly, B.; Das, A. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 3445.
- Brooks, S. J.; Edwards, P. R.; Gale, P. A.; Light, M. E. New J. Chem. 2006, 30, 65.
- 11. One of the reviewers has been interested in the *K* value for **1** with phosphate ion and comparison of its *K* value and those values obtained with the similar receptor $(1-(4-nitrophenyl)-3-\{2-[3-(4-nitrophenyl)ureido]cyclohexyl \}urea=$ **3**) reported in Ref. 7i. Our preliminary*K*value (~2×10⁵) for**1**with phosphate ion was found to be two orders of magnitude bigger than that (log*K*=2.96) for**3**with phosphate ion as shown in Ref. 7i. This difference could come from the structure difference between**1**and**3**. More details will be explained in the next paper.
- (a) Liu, S.-Y.; Fang, L.; He, Y.-B.; Chan, W.-H.; Yeung, K.-T.; Cheng, Y.-K.; Yang, R.-H. *Org. Lett.* **2005**, *7*, 5825; (b) Fang, L.; Chan, W.-H.; He, Y.-B.; Kwong, D. W. J.; Lee, A. W. M. *J. Org. Chem.* **2005**, *70*, 7640.
- Schmidt, M. W.; Baldridge, K. K.; Boatz, J. A.; Elbert, S. T.; Gordon, M. S.; Jensen, J. H.; Koseki, S.; Matsunaga, N.; Nguyen, K. A.; Su, S. J.; Windus, T. L.; Dupuis, M.; Montgomery, J. A. J. Comput. Chem. 1993, 14, 1347.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9641-9649

Enantioselective synthesis and absolute configurations of aculeatins A, B, D, and 6-*epi*-aculeatin D

Paula Álvarez-Bercedo,^a Eva Falomir,^{a,*} Miguel Carda^a and J. A. Marco^b

^aDepart. de Q. Inorgánica y Orgánica, Universidad Jaume I, Castellón, E-12080 Castellón, Spain ^bDepart. de Q. Orgánica, Universidad de Valencia, E-46100 Burjassot, Valencia, Spain

> Received 17 June 2006; revised 19 July 2006; accepted 25 July 2006 Available online 17 August 2006

Abstract—The three naturally occurring, bioactive spiroacetals aculeatins A, B, and D, as well as the non-natural 6-*epi*-aculeatin D have been synthesized for the first time in enantiopure form using an asymmetric allylation as the only chirality source. A further key step was a stereo-selective aldol reaction with remote induction. The absolute configurations of the natural products have been established and an erroneous structural assignment has been corrected.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The aculeatins A and B are two epimeric spiroacetals isolated six years ago from the terrestrial plant species *Amomum aculeatum* Roxb. (fam. Zingiberaceae). They were assigned structures (*relative* configurations) **1** and **2**, respectively. A more complex variant, aculeatin C-**3**, was also isolated from the same plant (Fig. 1). Later, the same authors reported the isolation of a fourth member of this compound family, named aculeatin D and assigned structure and relative configuration **4**.^{1,2} These compounds were found to display antiprotozoal activity against some *Plasmodium* and *Trypanosoma* species. In addition, they showed antibacterial activity and were cytotoxic against the KB cell line.

The aculeatins A–D represent a novel type of natural compounds displaying the unusual, previously unreported 1,7-dioxadispiro[5.1.5.2]pentadecane system. The observed biological activity of the aculeatins may be related to the presence of a Michael acceptor moiety.³ Spiroacetals themselves are also interesting molecular fragments, which are present in many pharmacologically relevant substances such as macrolide or polyether antibiotics.⁴ In view of this and of the aculeatins have already aroused interest in the synthetic community. As a matter of fact, two papers have recently appeared, which deal with the synthesis of

aculeatins A, B, and D in racemic form.⁵ Both syntheses relied upon the same type of phenolic oxidation to form the 1,7-dioxadispiro[5.1.5.2]pentadecane system (see below). In this paper, we present with full detail the first synthesis of **1**, **2**, and **4** in enantiopure form.⁶ Another product generated in our synthesis was optically pure 6-*epi*-aculeatin D, previously synthesized in racemic form^{5b} but not reported as a natural product so far.

The retrosynthetic concept for aculeatins A and B is depicted in Scheme 1. The dispirocyclic system is generated via



Figure 1. Published structures and relative configurations of the aculeatins A–D (1–4).

Keywords: Aculeatins; Absolute configuration; Asymmetric allylation; Aldol reaction; Remote induction; Spiroacetals; Hypervalent iodine; Oxidative spiroacetalization.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +34 96 3544337; fax: +34 96 3544328; e-mail: alberto.marco@uv.es

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter \odot 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.076
phenolic oxidation of an appropriately substituted intermediate ketone, related in turn to the protected triol **I**. The latter is derived from the aldol reaction of ketone **II** with *n*-tetradecanal. Intermediate **II** should be obtained from a suitably protected dihydro-*p*-coumaraldehyde **III** by means of asymmetric allylation and further functional manipulation.



Scheme 1. Retrosynthetic analysis of aculeatins A and B.

2. Results and discussion

Scheme 2 shows the details of the synthesis of spiroacetals 1 and 2. Thus, the known 3-(p-benzyloxyphenyl) propanal 5^7 was subjected to asymmetric allylation using the chiral allylborane prepared from allylmagnesium bromide and (-)-DIP-Cl [(-)-diisopinocampheylchloroborane].⁸ In this way, homoallyl alcohol 6 was obtained in over 96% ee as judged by NMR examination of the Mosher ester.9 Benzylation of the hydroxyl group followed by Wacker oxidation¹⁰ provided methyl ketone 8. Boron aldol reaction¹¹ of this ketone with *n*-tetradecanal afforded the desired aldol **9** in 70% vield as a single diastereomer. The aldol can be then reduced to the monobenzylated anti,syn-1,3,5-triol 10 but it was much more expedient to perform the aldol reduction in situ with LiBH₄ to stereoselectively yield 10^{12} Protection of the two free hydroxyl groups as an acetonide followed by hydrogenolytic debenzylation afforded 12. Swern oxidation of the latter compound furnished ketone 13, which was then submitted to hydrolytic cleavage of the acetonide moiety. However, while the expected β , δ -dihydroxy ketone was formed, the yield was low (<35%). Fortunately, treatment of acetonide 12 with phenyliodonium bis(trifluoroacetate) not only caused the desired phenolic oxidation^{5,13,14} but also acetonide hydrolysis and subsequent spiroacetalization. This cleanly yielded a 5.5:1 mixture of two optically active products with spectral properties identical to those reported for aculeatins A and B.¹ Intermediates or by-products of 4hydroxycyclohexa-2,5-dienone type^{5b} (see Scheme 1) were not detected.

A closer examination of the respective NMR spectral properties revealed, however, an important issue. The major product exhibited in fact the optical rotation and spectral



Scheme 2. Synthesis of aculeatins A and B. Reaction conditions: (a) $allylBlpc_2$ from (-)-Ipc₂BCl and allylmagnesium bromide, Et₂O, 3 h, -90 °C; (b) NaH; THF, then BnBr, rt, overnight, 85% overall from 5; (c) PdCl₂, CuCl₂, aq DMF, O₂, 2 d, 75%; (d) Bu₂BOTf, EtNiPr₂, CH₂Cl₂, -78 °C, 1 h, followed by addition of *n*-tetradecanal, 3 h, -78 °C, 70%; (e) Bu₂BOTf, EtNiPr₂, CH₂Cl₂, -78 °C, 1 h, followed by addition of *n*-tetradecanal, 3 h, -78 °C, then LiBH₄, 2 h, -78 °C, 65% overall; (f) 2,2-dimethoxypropane, CSA (cat.), Me₂CO, rt, 1 d, 72%; (g) H₂ (1 atm), 10% Pd–C, EtOAc, rt, 6 h, 70%; (h) (COCl)₂, DMSO, CH₂Cl₂, -78 °C, then Et₃N, -78 °C → 0 °C, 87% and (i) PhI(OOCCF₃)₂, Me₂CO–H₂O (9:1), rt, 24 h, 65% overall, 5.5:1 mixture of aculeatins A and B. Acronyms: Ipc, isopinocampheyl; CSA, camphorsulfonic acid.

properties associated with aculeatin A.¹ It was stable and showed no noticeable tendency to isomerize to the minor stereoisomer. NOE measurements pointed out the absence of dipolar correlations between the methine proton H-2 and one methylene proton at C-15 (for numbering, see Scheme 1). This strongly suggests that its configuration corresponds to **2** (Fig. 2), not to **1** as proposed.¹ In addition,



Figure 2. Corrected structures and absolute configurations of aculeatins A and B.

structure 2 benefits from a favorable anomeric effect,¹⁵ in agreement with the higher stability of aculeatin A. In support of this reasoning, the minor isomer, which was unstable and isomerized slowly to the major one, showed a marked NOE between the methine proton H-2 and one methylene proton at C-15. These properties, which are associated to aculeatin B,^{1a} are only compatible with stereostructure **1** (Fig. 2), which does not exhibit a favorable anomeric effect. A further support is given by the markedly higher δ value of H-2 in aculeatin A (δ 4.10 vs δ 3.86 ppm in aculeatin B), which points to its 1.3-diaxial relation with the anomeric oxygen atom. In summary, the Swiss workers¹ erroneously interchanged the relative stereostructures of the aculeatins A and B, which are therefore 2 and 1, respectively.¹⁶ The optical rotation values of the synthetic compounds were very similar to those of the natural compounds and the signs are the same. Our synthesis therefore has led to the natural enantiomers of both aculeatins and permitted the establishment of their absolute configurations (Fig. 2).

The same retrosynthetic concept depicted in Scheme 1 was applied to aculeatin D with only a change, related to the inverted configuration at C-4. Thus, aldol **9** was reduced with TABH¹⁷ to stereoselectively afford the expected *anti*-1,3-diol **14** (minor isomer not detected by means of NMR), subsequently transformed into its acetonide **15** (Scheme 3). Problems arose, however, during hydrogenolytic cleavage of the two benzyl groups. Under all conditions we tried,



Scheme 3. Synthesis of aculeatin D and 6-*epi*-aculeatin D. Reaction conditions: (a) TABH, AcOH–MeCN, $-30 \degree$ C, 12 h, 86%; (b) 2,2-dimethoxypropane, CSA (cat.), Me₂CO, rt, 12 h, 89%; (c) H₂ (1 atm), 10% Pd–C, EtOAc, rt, 6 h, 40%; (d) TBSOTf, 2,6-lutidine, CH₂Cl₂, Δ , 91%; (e) H₂ (1 atm), 10% Pd–C, EtOAc, rt, 15 min, 74%; (f) (COCl₂, DMSO, CH₂Cl₂, $-78 \degree$ C, then Et₃N, $-78 \degree$ C $\rightarrow 0 \degree$ C, 81%; (g) TASF, DMF, 0 °C, 90 min, then rt, 4 h and (h) PhI(OOCCF₃)₂, Me₂CO–H₂O (9:1), rt, 30 min, 77% overall for the two steps, 2.7:1 mixture of aculeatin D (minor) and 6-*epi*-aculeatin D (major). Acronyms: TABH, tetra-methylammonium triacetoxyborohydride; TASF, tris(dimethylamino)sulfonium difluoro-trimethylsilicate; TBSOTf, *tert*-butyldimethylsilyl triflate.



Figure 3. Structures and absolute configurations of aculeatin D 4 and 6-*epi*-aculeatin D 19.

partial migration (transacetalization) of the acetonide group took place with formation in low yield of two isomeric acetonides, the undesired one being the major compound. We then replaced the acetonide moiety by other protecting groups such as MOM, MEM or TES (triethylsilyl), all cleavable under mild conditions.¹⁸ However, no success was achieved with these groups, either. The acetal-like MOM or MEM groups were introduced with unsatisfactory yields and showed a marked tendency to form six-membered formaldehyde acetals with the proximal hydroxy group.¹⁹ The TES group behaved better in this aspect but was partially cleaved under hydrogenolytic conditions. Eventually, the TBS group proved appropriate. Double silvlation of diol 14 worked well, as did the subsequent hydrogenolysis and oxidation steps, which finally vielded ketone 18. The latter was desilvlated under mild conditions with TASF.²⁰ Without purification, the intermediate diol was subjected as above to oxidative spiroacetalization with $PhI(OCOCF_3)_2$ to yield a 2.7:1 mixture of compounds 4 (minor) and 19 (major), again with no 4-hydroxycyclohexa-2,5-dienone being isolated. Compounds 4 and 19 displayed physical and spectral features identical to those reported for natural aculeatin D^{1b} and synthetic 6-epi-aculeatin D,^{5b} respectively. NOE measurements were consistent with the published structures (Fig. 3). The absolute configuration of natural aculeatin D turns out to be as depicted in the figure.

3. Conclusions

The naturally occurring, bioactive spiroacetals aculeatins A, B, and D, as well as the hitherto non-natural 6-*epi*-aculeatin D, have been synthesized for the first time in enantiopure form. Their absolute configurations have been established, and a previous structural misassignment has been corrected.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

 1 H/ 13 C NMR spectra were measured at 500/125 MHz in CDCl₃ solution at 25 °C. The signals of the deuterated solvent (CDCl₃) were taken as the reference (the singlet at

 δ 7.25 for ¹H NMR and the triplet centered at 77.00 ppm for ¹³C NMR data). Carbon atom types (C, CH, CH₂, and CH₃) were determined with the DEPT pulse sequence. Mass spectra were run by the electron impact (EIMS, 70 eV), the CIMS (CH₄ as the gas carrier) or the fast atom bombardment mode (FABMS, m-nitrobenzyl alcohol matrix) on a VG AutoSpec mass spectrometer. IR data are given only for compounds with relevant functions (OH, C=O, and C=C-H) and were recorded as oily films on NaCl plates (oils) or as KBr pellets (solids). Optical rotations were measured at 25 °C. Reactions, which required an inert atmosphere were carried out under N2 with flame-dried glassware. Et₂O and THF were freshly distilled from sodium-benzophenone ketyl and transferred via syringe. Dichloromethane was freshly distilled from CaH₂. Tertiary amines were freshly distilled from KOH. Toluene was freshly distilled from sodium wire. Commercially available reagents were used as received. Unless detailed otherwise, 'work-up' means pouring the reaction mixture into brine, followed by extraction with the solvent indicated in parenthesis. If the reaction medium was acidic (basic), an additional washing with 5% aq NaHCO3 (aq NH4Cl) was performed. Drying over anhydrous Na₂SO₄ and elimination of the solvent under reduced pressure were followed by chromatography of the residue on a silica gel column (60-200 um) with the indicated eluent. Where solutions were filtered through a Celite pad, the pad was additionally washed with the same solvent used, and the washings incorporated to the main organic layer. Reagent acronyms are explained in the captions of Schemes 2 and 3.

4.1.1. (*R*)-1-(4-Benzvloxvphenvl)hex-5-en-3-ol (6). Allvlmagnesium bromide (commercial 1 M solution in Et₂O, 2.5 mL, 2.5 mmol) was added dropwise under N₂ via syringe to a solution of (-)-DIP-Cl (0.97 g, 3 mmol) in dry Et₂O (12 mL) cooled in a dry ice-acetone bath. After replacing the latter by an ice bath, the mixture was stirred for 1 h. The solution was allowed to stand, whereby precipitation of magnesium chloride took place. The supernatant solution was carefully transferred to another flask via cannula. After cooling this flask at -90 °C, a solution of freshly prepared⁷ 3-(4-benzyloxyphenyl)-propanal (480 mg, ca. 2 mmol) in dry Et₂O (5 mL) was added dropwise via syringe. The resulting solution was further stirred at -90 °C for 3 h. The reaction mixture was quenched through addition of phosphate pH 7 buffer solution (12 mL), MeOH (12 mL), and 30% H_2O_2 (6 mL). After stirring for 30 min, the mixture was poured onto satd aq NaHCO3 and worked-up (extraction with Et₂O). For synthetic purposes, the oily residue was used directly in the next step. For analytical characterization, an aliquot of the residue was subjected to a careful column chromatography on silica gel (hexane, then hexane–EtOAc, 19:1 and 9:1) yielding pure 6 (>98:2 mixture of enantiomers as estimated via the Mosher ester): colorless solid, mp 61-63 °C; $[\alpha]_D$ +12.7 (c 1.2, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) & 7.45-7.30 (5H, m), 7.14 (2H, d, J=8.5 Hz), 6.93 (2H, d, J=8.5 Hz), 5.85 (1H, m), 5.20-5.15 (2H, m), 5.06 (2H, s), 3.70 (1H, m), 2.78 (1H, m), 2.67 (1H, m), 2.33 (1H, m), 2.22 (1H, m), 1.80–1.75 (2H, m) (hydroxyl proton not detected); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz) δ 157.1, 137.2, 134.4 (C), 134.6, 129.3 (×2), 128.5 (×2), 127.8, 127.4 (×2), 114.8 (×2), 69.9 (CH), 118.2, 70.1, 42.0, 38.6, 31.1 (CH₂); IR v_{max} 3370 (br, OH), 3076, 1513, 1453, 1254,

9645

913 cm⁻¹; HR EIMS m/z (rel int.) 282.1619 (M⁺, 20), 197 (10), 91 (100). Calcd for $C_{19}H_{22}O_2$, 282.1620. Anal. Calcd for $C_{19}H_{22}O_2$: C, 80.82; H, 7.85. Found: C, 80.89; H, 7.83.

4.1.2. (R)-4-Benzyloxy-6-(4-benzyloxyphenyl)hex-1-ene (7). Solid sodium hydride 95% (125 mg, ca. 5 mmol) was suspended under N₂ in dry THF (5 mL). A solution of the crude residue of the previous reaction in dry THF (5 mL) was added. The mixture was stirred at room temperature for 45 min and treated with tetra-n-butyl ammonium iodide (18 mg, 0.05 mmol) and benzyl bromide (0.6 mL, ca. 5 mmol). The mixture was stirred overnight at room temperature. Work-up (extraction with Et₂O) and column chromatography on silica gel (hexane-EtOAc, 99:1) furnished 7 (630 mg, 85% overall from 5): oil; $[\alpha]_{D}$ +21.7 (c 2.2, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.45–7.30 (10H, m), 7.13 (2H, d, J=8.5 Hz), 6.94 (2H, d, J=8.5 Hz), 5.90 (1H, m), 5.15-5.10 (2H, m), 5.08 (2H, s), 4.65 (1H, d, J=11.5 Hz), 4.53 (1H, d, J=11.5 Hz), 3.53 (1H, m), 2.78 (1H, m), 2.66 (1H, m), 2.50-2.40 (2H, m), 1.95-1.85 (2H, m); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz) δ 157.0, 138.8, 137.3, 134.7 (C), 134.8, 129.3 (×2), 128.5 (×2), 128.3 (×2), 127.8, 127.7 (×2), 127.5, 127.4 (×2), 114.8 (×2), 77.7 (CH), 117.1, 70.9, 70.1, 38.2, 35.9, 30.8 (CH₂); IR v_{max} 3065, 3031, 1511, 1454, 1239, 736 cm⁻¹; HR EIMS m/z (rel int.) 372.2101 (M⁺, 10), 287 (13), 119 (37), 91 (100). Calcd for C₂₆H₂₈O₂, 372.2089. Anal. Calcd for C₂₆H₂₈O₂: C, 83.83; H, 7.58. Found: C, 83.89; H, 7.50.

4.1.3. (R)-4-Benzyloxy-6-(4-benzyloxyphenyl)hexan-2one (8). Olefin 7 (615 mg, 1.65 mmol) was dissolved in DMF containing 10% water (40 mL) and treated with PdCl₂ (90 mg, ca. 0.5 mmol) and CuCl (500 mg, ca. 5 mmol). The mixture was stirred at room temperature under O₂ for 48 h, then poured onto satd aq NH₄Cl and worked-up (extraction with Et₂O). Column chromatography on silica gel (hexane-EtOAc, 9:1) provided 8 (480 mg, 75%): oil; [α]_D +3.5 (c 1.8, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.45-7.30 (10H, m), 7.12 (2H, d, J=8.5 Hz), 6.94 (2H, d, J=8.5 Hz), 5.07 (2H, s), 4.57 (2H, s), 4.00 (1H, br quintuplet, $J \approx 6$ Hz), 2.82 (1H, dd, J=15.5, 7 Hz), 2.75–2.65 (2H, m), 2.59 (1H, dd, J=15.5, 5 Hz), 2.18 (3H, s), 1.95-1.85 (2H, m); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz) δ 207.3, 157.0, 138.4, 137.2, 134.1 (C), 129.2 (×2), 128.5 (×2), 128.3 (×2), 127.8, 127.7 (×2), 127.5, 127.4 (×2), 114.8 (×2), 74.9 (CH), 71.5, 70.0, 48.4, 36.3, 30.5 (CH₂), 31.0 (CH₃); IR v_{max} 3063, 3031, 1714 (C=O), 1610, 1511, 1454, 1239, 1074, 1027, 738 cm⁻¹; HR FABMS m/z 388.2037 (M⁺). Calcd for C₂₆H₂₈O₃, 388.2038. Anal. Calcd for C₂₆H₂₈O₃: C, 80.38; H, 7.26. Found: C, 80.49; H, 7.33.

4.1.4. (*R*)-4-Benzyloxy-6-(4-benzyloxyphenyl)hexan-2one (8). Olefin 7 (615 mg, 1.65 mmol) was dissolved in DMF containing 10% water (40 mL) and treated with PdCl₂ (90 mg, ca. 0.5 mmol) and CuCl (500 mg, ca. 5 mmol). The mixture was stirred at room temperature under O₂ for 48 h, poured onto satd aq NH₄Cl and worked-up (extraction with Et₂O). Column chromatography on silica gel (hexane–EtOAc, 9:1) provided **8** (480 mg, 75%): oil; $[\alpha]_D$ +3.5 (*c* 1.8, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.45– 7.30 (10H, m), 7.12 (2H, d, *J*=8.5 Hz), 6.94 (2H, d, *J*=8.5 Hz), 5.07 (2H, s), 4.57 (2H, s), 4.00 (1H, br quintuplet, $J \approx 6$ Hz), 2.82 (1H, dd, J=15.5, 7 Hz), 2.75–2.65 (2H, m), 2.59 (1H, dd, J=15.5, 5 Hz), 2.18 (3H, s), 1.95–1.85 (2H, m); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz) δ 207.3, 157.0, 138.4, 137.2, 134.1 (C), 129.2 (×2), 128.5 (×2), 128.3 (×2), 127.8, 127.7 (×2), 127.5, 127.4 (×2), 114.8 (×2), 74.9 (CH), 71.5, 70.0, 48.4, 36.3, 30.5 (CH₂), 31.0 (CH₃); IR ν_{max} 3063, 3031, 1714 (C=O), 1610, 1511, 1454, 1239, 1074, 1027, 738 cm⁻¹; HR FABMS *m*/*z* 388.2037 (M⁺). Calcd for C₂₆H₂₈O₃, 388.2038. Anal. Calcd for C₂₆H₂₈O₃: C, 80.38; H, 7.26. Found: C, 80.49; H, 7.33.

4.1.5. (3R.5R.7R)-3-Benzvloxy-1-(4-benzvloxyphenvl)eicosane-5,7-diol (10). A solution of ketone 8 (466 mg, 1.2 mmol) in dry CH₂Cl₂ (8 mL) was cooled under N₂ to -78 °C and treated sequentially with diisopropyl ethyl amine (260 µL, 1.5 mmol) and a 1 M solution of Bu₂BOTf in CH₂Cl₂ (1.35 mL, 1.35 mmol). The mixture was stirred for 1 h at the same temp, followed by addition of a solution of *n*-tetradecanal $(287 \text{ mg}, 1.35 \text{ mmol})^{21}$ in dry CH₂Cl₂ (5 mL). The mixture was stirred at -78 °C for further 3 h, treated with a 2 M solution of LiBH₄ in THF (1.2 mL, 2.4 mmol), and further stirred at -78 °C for 2 h. The reaction was quenched by addition of phosphate pH 7 buffer solution (7 mL) and MeOH (7 mL), followed by 30% ag H₂O₂ solution (3.5 mL). After stirring for 30 min at room temperature, the mixture was worked-up (extraction with CH₂Cl₂). Solvent removal in vacuo and column chromatography of the residue on silica gel (hexane-EtOAc, 9:1) yielded diol **10** (470 mg, 65%): amorphous solid; $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$ -10.2 (c 0.75, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.45–7.30 (10H, m), 7.08 (2H, d, J=8.5 Hz), 6.91 (2H, d, J=8.5 Hz), 5.05 (2H, s), 4.56 (1H, d, J=11.5 Hz), 4.54 (1H, d, J=11.5 Hz), 4.18 (1H, m), 3.85 (1H, m), 3.75 (1H, m), 2.70-2.60 (2H, m), 2.00 (1H, m), 1.85-1.75 (2H, m), 1.65 (1H, ddd, J=14.5, 7, 2.5 Hz), 1.55–1.45 (2H, m), 1.40–1.25 (24H, br m), 0.90 (3H, t, J=7 Hz) (hydroxyl protons not detected); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz) δ 157.2, 138.1, 137.2, 134.2 (C), 129.3 (×2), 128.6 (×2), 128.5 (×2), 128.1 (×2), 127.9 (×2), 127.4 (×2), 114.9 (×2), 76.3, 72.7 (CH), 70.7 (CH+CH₂), 71.3, 43.4, 40.5, 38.0, 35.5, 31.9, 30.8, 29.6 (several overlapped signals), 29.5 (several overlapped signals), 29.4, 25.4, 22.7 (CH₂), 14.1 (CH₃); IR v_{max} 3420 (br, OH), 3032, 1511, 1455, 1240, 736 cm⁻¹; HR FABMS m/z 603.4363 (M+H⁺). Calcd for C₄₀H₅₉O₄, 603.4413. Anal. Calcd for C₄₀H₅₈O₄: C, 79.69; H, 9.70. Found: C, 79.79: H. 9.53.

4.1.6. (4*S*,6*R*)-4-[(*R*)-2-Benzyloxy-4-(4-benzyloxyphenyl) butyl]-2,2-dimethyl-6-*n*-tridecyl-[1,3]dioxane (11). Diol 10 (452 mg, 0.75 mmol) was dissolved in dry acetone (15 mL) and treated with camphorsulfonic acid (10 mg, ca. 0.05 mmol) and 2,2-dimethoxypropane (3 mL). After adding activated 3 Å molecular sieves (0.5 g), the mixture was stirred overnight at room temperature. The mixture was then poured onto satd aq NaHCO₃ and worked-up (extraction with CH₂Cl₂). Column chromatography on silica gel (hexane–EtOAc, 99:1) furnished 11 (347 mg, 72%): amorphous solid; $[\alpha]_D$ –12.7 (*c* 1.6, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.45–7.30 (10H, m), 7.10 (2H, d, *J*=8.5 Hz), 6.91 (2H, d, *J*=8.5 Hz), 5.06 (2H, s), 4.58 (1H, d, *J*=11.5 Hz), 4.50 (1H, d, *J*=11.5 Hz), 4.10 (1H, m), 3.81 (1H, m), 3.75 (1H, m), 2.66 (2H, m), 1.90–1.85 (2H, m),

1.70–1.65 (2H, m), 1.50 (1H, m), 1.41 (6H, s), 1.40–1.25 (24H, br m), 1.16 (1H, q, J=11.5 Hz), 0.91 (3H, t, J=7 Hz); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz) δ 157.0, 138.9, 137.3, 134.8, 98.4 (C), 129.3 (×2), 128.6 (×2), 128.4 (×2), 127.9 (×2), 127.8, 127.5, 127.4 (×2), 114.8 (×2), 74.7, 69.1, 65.8 (CH), 71.6, 70.1, 42.1, 37.7, 36.6, 36.5, 31.9, 30.3, 29.6 (several overlapped signals), 29.5 (several overlapped signals), 29.6 (several overlapped signals), 29.5 (several overlapped signals), 29.4, 25.0, 22.7 (CH₂), 30.4, 20.0, 14.1 (CH₃); IR $\nu_{\rm max}$ 3031, 1511, 1455, 1379, 1241, 736 cm⁻¹; HR EIMS m/z (rel int.) 642.4664 (M⁺, 1), 627 (14), 584 (5), 476 (59), 197 (33), 91 (100). Calcd for C₄₃H₆₂O₄, 642.4648. Anal. Calcd for C₄₃H₆₂O₄: C, 80.33; H, 9.72. Found: C, 80.22; H, 9.84.

4.1.7. (4S,6R)-4-[(R)-2-Hydroxy-4-(4-hydroxyphenyl) butyl]-2,2-dimethyl-6-n-tridecyl-[1,3]dioxane (12). Pd-C 10% (50 mg) was suspended in EtOAc (5 mL) and stirred under an H₂ atmosphere for 15 min. Compound 11 (321 mg, 0.5 mmol) dissolved in EtOAc (10 mL) was added via syringe. The mixture was stirred at room temperature and ambient pressure for 6 h, and filtered through Celite. Solvent removal in vacuo and column chromatography on silica gel (hexane-EtOAc, 4:1) gave 12 (162 mg, 70%): colorless solid, mp 80–82 °C; $[\alpha]_D$ –1.9 (c 0.9, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.04 (2H, d, J=8.5 Hz), 6.74 (2H, d, J=8.5 Hz), 5.40 (1H, br s, OH), 4.20 (1H, m), 3.94 (1H, m), 3.82 (1H, m), 3.10 (1H, br s, OH), 2.73 (1H, m), 2.59 (1H, m), 1.80-1.50 (6H, br m), 1.45 (3H, s), 1.40 (3H, s), 1.40–1.25 (24H, br m), 0.88 (3H, t, J=7 Hz); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz) δ 153.9, 134.2, 98.7 (C), 129.5 (×2), 115.3 (×2), 69.2, 68.3, 67.5 (CH), 41.9, 39.3, 36.4, 36.3, 31.9, 31.2, 29.6 (several overlapped signals), 29.5 (several overlapped signals), 29.4, 25.0, 22.7 (CH₂), 30.3, 19.7, 14.1 (CH₃); IR v_{max} 3370 (br, OH), 1514, 1459, 1262, 828 cm⁻¹; HR EIMS *m/z* (rel int.) 462.3732 (M⁺, 1), 447 (14), 386 (16), 107 (100). Calcd for C₂₉H₅₀O₄, 462.3709. Anal. Calcd for C₂₉H₅₀O₄: C, 75.28; H, 10.89. Found: C, 75.22; H, 10.84.

4.1.8. 1-[(4R,6R)-(2,2-Dimethyl-6-tridecyl-[1,3]dioxan-4yl)]-4-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-butan-2-one (13). Oxalyl chloride (62 μ L, ca. 0.7 mmol) was dissolved under N₂ in dry CH_2Cl_2 (3 mL). After cooling the solution to -78 °C, dry DMSO (56 µL, 0.8 mmol) was added dropwise with stirring for 5 min. A solution of alcohol 12 (162 mg, 0.35 mmol) in dry CH₂Cl₂ (1 mL) was added dropwise, with additional stirring for 15 min. Addition of Et_3N (210 µL, 1.5 mmol) was followed by stirring for 15 min at -78 °C and for further 1 h at 0 °C. Work-up (extraction with CH₂Cl₂) and column chromatography on silica gel (hexane-EtOAc, 7:3) gave ketone 13 (140 mg, 87%): colorless solid, mp 53–55 °C; $[\alpha]_D$ -4.2 (c 2.8, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.00 (2H, d, J=8.5 Hz), 6.74 (2H, d, J=8.5 Hz), 5.90 (1H, br s, OH), 4.32 (1H, m), 3.81 (1H, m), 2.85-2.70 (4H, br m), 2.67 (1H, dd, J=15.7, 7.2 Hz), 2.40 (1H, dd, J=15.7, 5.3 Hz), 1.50 (1H, m), 1.42 (3H, s), 1.37 (3H, s), 1.40-1.25 (24H, br m), 1.11 (1H, q, J=11.5 Hz), 0.88 (3H, t, J=7 Hz); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz) δ 209.0, 154.2, 132.7, 98.8 (C), 129.3 (×2), 115.4 (×2), 69.0, 65.9 (CH), 36.8, 36.3, 31.9, 29.6 (several overlapped signals), 29.5 (several overlapped signals), 29.3, 24.9, 22.7 (CH₂), 30.1, 19.7, 14.1 (CH₃); IR ν_{max} 3390 (br, OH), 1712 (C=O), 1614, 1515, 1379, 828 cm⁻¹; HR EIMS *m*/*z* (rel int.) 460.3568 (M⁺, 1), 445 (8), 402 (18), 107 (100). Calcd for $C_{29}H_{48}O_4$, 460.3552. Anal. Calcd for $C_{29}H_{48}O_4$: C, 75.61; H, 10.50. Found: C, 75.69; H, 10.63.

4.1.9. (2*R*,4*R*,6*S*)-4-Hydroxy-2-tridecyl-1,7-dioxadispiro [5.1.5.2]pentadeca-9,12-dien-11-one (aculeatin B) (1) and (2*R*,4*R*,6*R*)-4-hydroxy-2-tridecyl-1,7-dioxadispiro [5.1.5.2]pentadeca-9,12-dien-11-one (aculeatin A) (2). Ketone 13 (140 mg, 0.3 mmol) was dissolved in a 9:1 acetone–water mixture (10 mL) and treated in four portions with PhI(OCOCF₃)₂ (430 mg, 1 mmol), each portion being added every hour. The reaction mixture was stirred overnight at room temperature in the dark. Work-up (extraction with EtOAc) and careful column chromatography on silica gel (hexane–EtOAc, 4:1, then 3:2) yielded 1 (12.5 mg) and 2 (69 mg).

Aculeatin A (2): oil; $[α]_D - 5.2$ (c 0.9; CHCl₃), lit.^{1a} $[α]_D - 5.3$ (c 0.2, CHCl₃); IR $ν_{max}$ 3550 (br, OH), 1673 (ketone C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 6.85 (1H, dd, J=10, 3 Hz), 6.76 (1H, dd, J=10, 3 Hz), 6.14 (1H, dd, J=10, 1.7 Hz), 6.10 (1H, dd, J=10, 1.7 Hz), 4.15–4.10 (2H, m), 3.35 (1H, br d, J=10 Hz, OH), 2.38 (1H, m), 2.24 (1H, m), 2.05–2.00 (3H, m), 1.93 (1H, br d, J=14 Hz), 1.79 (1H, br dd, J=13.7, 2 Hz), 1.60–1.40 (5H, br m), 1.40–1.20 (20H, br m), 0.88 (3H, t, J=6.8 Hz); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 185.3, 109.2, 79.8 (C), 150.9, 148.7, 127.4, 127.2, 65.4, 64.9 (CH), 39.2, 38.0, 36.0, 34.2, 32.0, 29.7 (several overlapped signals), 29.4, 25.7, 22.7 (CH₂), 14.1 (CH₃); HR EIMS m/z (rel int.) 418.3117 (M⁺, 2), 400 (M⁺-H₂O, 6), 310 (6), 236 (25), 165 (100), 107 (73). Calcd for C₂₆H₄₂O₄, M=418.3083.

Aculeatin B (1): oil; $[\alpha]_D$ +53.2 (c 0.4, CHCl₃), lit.^{1a} $[\alpha]_D$ +50 (c 0.8, CHCl₃); IR ν_{max} 3460 (br, OH), 1670 (ketone C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 6.99 (1H, dd, J=10, 2.9 Hz), 6.77 (1H, dd, J=10, 2.9 Hz), 6.13 (1H, dd, J=10, 1.8 Hz), 6.10 (1H, dd, J=10, 1.8 Hz), 4.36 (1H, apparent quintuplet, J=3.2 Hz), 3.86 (1H, m), 2.68 (1H, br dd, J=12.8, 7.2 Hz), 2.30 (1H, td, J=12.3, 7.2), 2.10–2.00 (2H, m), 1.95–1.85 (2H, m), 1.60–1.40 (8H, br m), 1.40–1.20 (19H, br m), 0.88 (3H, t, J=6.9 Hz); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 185.7, 108.6, 77.6 (C), 152.2, 149.2, 127.2, 127.1, 69.5, 65.2 (CH), 40.7, 38.0, 35.8, 35.4, 35.3, 31.9, 29.7 (several overlapped signals), 29.4, 29.3, 25.9, 22.7 (CH₂), 14.1 (CH₃); HR EIMS *m/z* (rel int.) 418.3108 (M⁺, 9), 400 (M⁺-H₂O, 24), 310 (16), 235 (85), 165 (100), 107 (23). Calcd for C₂₆H₄₂O₄, *M*=418.3083.

4.1.10. (*3R*,*5S*,*7R*)-**3-Benzyloxy-1-(4-benzyloxyphenyl**) eicosane-**5**,**7-diol** (**14**). Tetramethylammonium triacetoxyborohydride (1.05 g, ca. 4 mmol) was dissolved under N₂ in an acetonitrile–acetic acid 1:1 mixture (5 mL). After stirring for 1 h at room temperature, the mixture was cooled to $-30 \,^{\circ}$ C and treated dropwise with a solution of aldol **9** (300 mg, 0.5 mmol) in dry acetonitrile (3 mL). The solution was stirred at $-30 \,^{\circ}$ C for 12 h and at 0 $^{\circ}$ C for further 2 h. After quenching with aq 1 M sodium potassium tartrate (2 mL), the mixture was stirred for 1 h at room temperature. Work-up (extraction with CH₂Cl₂) and column chromatography of the residue on silica gel (hexane–EtOAc, 4:1) afforded diol **14** (260 mg, 86%): colorless solid, mp 57–59 °C; [α]_D –19.6 (*c* 1.38, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.45–7.30 (10H, m), 7.10 (2H, d, *J*=8.5 Hz), 6.92 (2H, d, *J*=8.5 Hz), 5.06 (2H, s), 4.63 (1H, d, *J*=11 Hz), 4.44 (1H, d, *J*=11 Hz), 4.18 (1H, m), 3.92 (1H, m), 3.78 (1H, m), 2.70–2.60 (2H, m), 2.00 (2H, br s, OH), 2.00–1.90 (2H, m), 1.70–1.40 (4H, m), 1.40–1.25 (24H, br m), 0.91 (3H, t, *J*=7 Hz); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz) δ 157.1, 137.8, 137.2, 134.2 (C), 129.3 (×2), 128.6 (×2), 128.5 (×2), 128.1 (×2), 127.9 (×2), 127.4 (×2), 114.9 (×2), 79.2, 69.4, 68.8 (CH), 70.6, 70.1, 43.0, 40.7, 37.6, 35.3, 31.9, 30.0, 29.7 (several overlapped signals), 29.6 (several overlapped signals), 29.6, 3031, 1511, 1455, 1240, 736 cm⁻¹; HR FABMS *m/z* 603.4401 (M+H⁺). Calcd for C₄₀H₅₉O₄, 603.4413. Anal. Calcd for C₄₀H₅₈O₄: C, 79.69; H, 9.70. Found: C, 79.82; H, 9.82.

4.1.11. (4R,6R)-4-[(R)-2-Benzyloxy-4-(4-benzyloxyphenyl) butyl]-2,2-dimethyl-6-n-tridecyl-[1,3]dioxane (15). Diol 14 (45 mg, 0.075 mmol) was dissolved in dry acetone (1 mL) and treated with camphorsulfonic acid (1 mg, ca. 0.005 mmol) and 2,2-dimethoxypropane (0.5 mL). After adding activated 3 Å molecular sieves (50 mg), the mixture was stirred overnight at room temperature. The mixture was then poured onto satd aq NaHCO₃ and worked-up (extraction with CH₂Cl₂). Column chromatography on silica gel (hexane-EtOAc, 99:1) furnished 15 (43 mg, 89%): oil; $[\alpha]_{D}$ -4 (c 2, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.45-7.30 (10H, m), 7.08 (2H, d, J=8.5 Hz), 6.91 (2H, d, J=8.5 Hz), 5.06 (2H, s), 4.53 (1H, d, J=11.5 Hz), 4.51 (1H, d, J=11.5 Hz), 3.94 (1H, m), 3.78 (1H, m), 3.55 (1H, br quintuplet, $J \approx 6$ Hz), 2.75–2.65 (2H, m), 2.00 (1H, m), 1.95-1.85 (2H, m), 1.65-1.50 (3H, m), 1.40 (2H, m), 1.37 (3H, s), 1.40–1.25 (25H, br m), 0.92 (3H, t, J=7 Hz); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz) δ 157.0, 138.9, 137.3, 134.7, 100.1 (C), 129.3 (×2), 128.5 (×2), 128.3 (×2), 127.9, 127.8, 127.5, 127.4 (×2), 114.8 (×2), 74.7, 66.6, 63.7 (CH), 70.6, 70.1, 40.1, 39.0, 36.0, 35.9, 31.9, 30.5, 29.7 (several overlapped signals), 29.6 (several overlapped signals), 29.5, 29.3, 25.4, 22.7 (CH₂), 24.8, 24.7, 14.1 (CH₃); IR v_{max} 3031, 1511, 1455, 1378, 1224, 734 cm⁻¹; HR EIMS *m/z* (rel int.) 642.4645 (M⁺, 1), 627 (1), 584 (25), 566 (5), 476 (9), 197 (13), 91 (100). Calcd for C43H62O4, 642.4648. Anal. Calcd for C₄₃H₆₂O₄: C, 80.33; H, 9.72. Found: C, 80.41; H, 9.62.

4.1.12. 1-Benzyloxy-4-[(3R,5R,7R)-3-benzyloxy-5,7-bis-(tert-butyldimethylsilyloxy)eicosyl]benzene (16). Diol 14 (193 mg, 0.32 mmol) was dissolved in dry CH₂Cl₂ (5 mL) and treated sequentially with 2,6-lutidine (350 µL, 3 mmol) and TBSOTf (550 $\mu L,$ ca. 2.5 mmol). The reaction mixture was stirred at reflux for 6 h and worked-up (extraction with CH₂Cl₂). Column chromatography on silica gel (hexane-EtOAc, 19:1) gave **16** (242 mg, 91%): oil; $[\alpha]_{D}$ +13.6 (c 1.6, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.45– 7.30 (10H, m), 7.06 (2H, d, J=8.5 Hz), 6.88 (2H, d, J=8.5 Hz), 5.02 (2H, s), 4.54 (1H, d, J=11.5 Hz), 4.44 (1H, d, J=11.5 Hz), 3.84 (1H, br quintuplet, $J \approx 6$ Hz), 3.72 (1H, br quintuplet, $J \approx 5.5$ Hz), 3.57 (1H, br quintuplet, $J \approx 5.5$ Hz), 2.70 (1H, m), 2.58 (1H, m), 1.90–1.75 (3H, br m), 1.60 (2H, m), 1.40 (1H, m), 1.40-1.25 (24H, br m), 0.86 (21H, br s), 0.05 (3H, s), 0.02 (6H, s), 0.00 (3H, s); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz) δ 157.1, 139.0, 137.3, 134.8, 18.1, 18.0 (C), 129.3 (×2), 128.6 (×2), 128.5 (×2), 128.1 (×2), 127.9 (×2), 127.4 (×2), 114.8 (×2), 75.7, 70.0, 67.7 (CH), 70.8, 70.1, 46.2, 42.7, 37.8, 36.3, 31.9, 30.7, 29.7 (several overlapped signals), 29.6 (several overlapped signals), 25.0, 22.7 (CH₂), 26.0 (×6), 14.1, -3.9 (×2), -4.0 (×2) (CH₃); IR ν_{max} 3032, 1511, 1250, 1078, 835 cm⁻¹; HR EIMS *m*/*z* (rel int.) 773.5371 (M⁺–*t*Bu, 1), 641 (4), 549 (6), 327 (58), 91 (100). Calcd for C₅₂H₈₆O₄Si₂–*t*Bu, 773.5360. Anal. Calcd for C₅₂H₈₆O₄Si₂: C, 75.12; H, 10.43. Found: C, 75.24; H, 10.54.

4.1.13. 4-[(3R,5R,7R)-5,7-Bis(tert-butyldimethylsilyloxv)-3-hvdroxveicosvllphenol (17). Pd–C 10%(250 mg) was suspended in EtOAc (8 mL) and stirred under H₂ atmosphere for 15 min. Compound 16 (233 mg, 0.28 mmol) dissolved in EtOAc (5 mL) was added via syringe. The mixture was stirred at room temperature and ambient pressure for 15 min and filtered through Celite (caution: longer reaction times lead to partial desilylation!). Solvent removal in vacuo and column chromatography on silica gel (hexane-EtOAc, 4:1) furnished 17 (135 mg, 74%): oil; $[\alpha]_D$ +14 (c 1.5, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.06 (2H, d, J=8.5 Hz), 6.74 (2H, d, J=8.5 Hz), 4.90 (1H, br s, OH), 3.89 (1H, br quintuplet, $J \approx 5$ Hz), 3.78 (1H, m), 3.65 (1H, br quintuplet, J≈5.5 Hz), 3.30 (1H, br s, OH), 2.70 (1H, m), 2.61 (1H, m), 1.80-1.55 (6H, m), 1.40-1.25 (24H, br m), 0.90 (21H, br s), 0.11 (6H, s), 0.05 (6H, s); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz) δ 153.7, 134.4, 18.1, 17.9 (C), 129.5 (×2), 115.2 (×2), 71.7, 70.2, 70.1 (CH), 46.5, 44.3, 39.7, 37.4, 31.9, 30.8, 29.7 (several overlapped signals), 29.6 (several overlapped signals), 29.4, 25.0, 22.7 (CH₂), 26.0 (×3), 25.9 (×3), 14.1, -3.9, -4.2 (×2), -4.3 (CH₃); IR ν_{max} 3380 (br, OH), 1515, 1471, 1463, 1255, 1078, 835 cm⁻ FABMS *m*/*z* 651.5209 $(M+H^{+}).$ HR Calcd for C₃₈H₇₅O₄Si₂, 651.5204. Anal. Calcd for C₃₈H₇₄O₄Si₂: C, 70.09; H, 11.45. Found: C, 69.94; H, 11.54.

4.1.14. (5S,7R)-5,7-Bis(tert-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-1-(4-hydroxyphenyl)eicosan-3-one (18). Oxalyl chloride $(34 \,\mu\text{L}, \text{ ca. } 0.4 \,\text{mmol})$ was dissolved under N₂ in dry CH_2Cl_2 (2 mL). After cooling the solution to -78 °C, dry DMSO (35 µL, ca. 0.5 mmol) was added dropwise with stirring for 5 min. A solution of alcohol 17 (130 mg, 0.2 mmol) in dry CH₂Cl₂ (0.5 mL) was added dropwise, with additional stirring for 15 min. Addition of Et₃N (120 µL, 0.85 mmol) was followed by stirring for 10 min at -78 °C. Work-up (extraction with CH_2Cl_2) and column chromatography on silica gel (hexane–EtOAc, 7:3) gave **18** (105 mg, 81%): oil; $[\alpha]_D$ +10.6 (c 1.5, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.02 (2H, d, J=8.5 Hz), 6.74 (2H, d, J=8.5 Hz), 5.50 (1H, br s, OH), 4.21 (1H, br quintuplet, $J \approx 6$ Hz), 3.69 (1H, br quintuplet, $J \approx 6$ Hz), 2.80 (2H, m), 2.72 (2H, m), 2.60 (1H, dd, J=15, 7.5 Hz), 2.60 (1H, dd, J=15, 4.7 Hz), 1.62 (1H, m), 1.58 (1H, m), 1.42 (2H, m), 1.40–1.25 (22H, br m), 0.89 (12H, br s, overlapping a methyl triplet), 0.86 (9H, s), 0.08 (3H, s), 0.05 (6H, s), 0.03 (3H, s); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz) δ 209.3, 154.0, 133.0, 18.1, 18.0 (C), 129.4 (×2), 115.4 (×2), 70.1, 67.5 (CH), 51.3, 46.4, 45.8, 37.7, 31.9, 30.8, 29.7 (several overlapped signals), 29.6 (several overlapped signals), 29.4, 25.0, 22.7 (CH₂), 26.0 (×3), 25.9 (×3), 14.1, -4.1, -4.2 (×2), -4.4 (CH₃); IR ν_{max} 3400 (br, OH), 1704 (C=O), 1515, 1466, 1362, 1255, 1077, 835 cm⁻¹; HR FABMS m/z 649.5052 (M+H⁺). Calcd for C₃₈H₇₃O₄Si₂, 649.5047. Anal. Calcd for C₃₈H₇₂O₄Si₂: C, 70.31; H, 11.18. Found, C, 70.44; H, 11.24.

4.1.15. (2*R*,4*S*,6*S*)-4-Hydroxy-2-tridecyl-1,7-dioxadispiro [5.1.5.2]pentadeca-9,12-dien-11-one (aculeatin D) (4) and (2*R*,4*S*,6*R*)-4-hydroxy-2-tridecyl-1,7-dioxadispiro [5.1.5.2]pentadeca-9,12-dien-11-one (6-*epi*-aculeatin D) (19). Ketone 18 (65 mg, 0.1 mmol) was dissolved under N₂ in dry DMF (2 mL), cooled to 0 °C and treated with TASF (138 mg, 0.5 mmol). The mixture was stirred for 90 min at 0 °C, then for further 4 h at room temperature. Work-up (extraction with Et₂O) and solvent removal in vacuo gave an oily residue, which was directly used in the next step.

The crude material from above was dissolved in a 9:1 acetone–water mixture (10 mL) and treated with PhI-(OCOCF₃)₂ (86 mg, 0.2 mmol). The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature in the dark until disappearance of the starting material (ca. 25 min, *monitoring with TLC!*). Work-up (extraction with EtOAc) and careful column chromatography on silica gel (hexane–EtOAc, 4:1, then 3:2) yielded **4** (9 mg) and **19** (24 mg).

Aculeatin D (4): oil; $[α]_D$ +43.5 (c 0.2, CHCl₃), lit.^{1b} $[α]_D$ +46.5 (c 1, CHCl₃); IR $ν_{max}$ 3430 (br, OH), 1670 (ketone C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, C₆D₆) δ 6.89 (1H, dd, J=10, 3 Hz), 6.21 (1H, dd, J=10, 2.8 Hz), 6.07 (1H, dd, J=10, 1.8 Hz), 6.04 (1H, dd, J=10, 1.8 Hz), 3.37 (1H, m), 2.95 (1H, m), 1.88 (1H, m), 1.79 (1H, m), 1.73 (1H, m), 1.55 (2H, m), 1.50–1.20 (26H, br m), 1.14 (1H, m), 1.01 (1H, m), 0.91 (3H, t, J=7 Hz); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, C₆D₆) δ 185.0, 109.6, 78.5 (C), 152.0, 149.0, 127.5, 127.3, 71.8, 66.9 (CH), 44.2, 41.5, 36.5, 35.4, 33.2, 32.5, 30.5 (br, several overlapped signals), 26.5, 23.5 (CH₂), 14.8 (CH₃); HR EIMS *m/z* (rel int.) 418.3059 (M⁺, 2), 400 (M⁺-H₂O, 16), 310 (5), 235 (35), 165 (80), 120 (94), 107 (100). Calcd for C₂₆H₄₂O₄, *M*=418.3083.

6-Epi-aculeatin D (19): oil; $[\alpha]_D +5.7$ (c 0.3, CHCl₃); IR ν_{max} 3430 (br, OH), 1671 (ketone C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, C₆D₆) δ 6.68 (1H, dd, J=10, 3.2 Hz), 6.15– 6.10 (2H, m), 6.01 (1H, dd, J=10, 2 Hz), 3.90 (1H, m), 3.70 (1H, m), 2.00 (1H, m), 1.87 (2H, m), 1.65 (1H, m), 1.55 (1H, m), 1.50–1.20 (27H, br m), 1.07 (1H, q, J=12 Hz), 0.90 (3H, t, J=6.9 Hz); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, C₆D₆) δ 185.2, 109.6, 79.7 (C), 151.4, 149.3, 127.5, 127.2, 69.7, 65.7 (CH), 44.3, 41.8, 39.4, 37.0, 35.5, 32.9, 30.5 (br, several overlapped signals), 26.6, 23.5 (CH₂), 14.8 (CH₃); HR EIMS *m*/*z* (rel int.) 418.3068 (M⁺, 6), 400 (M⁺-H₂O, 23), 310 (27), 235 (35), 165 (100), 107 (70). Calcd for C₂₆H₄₂O₄, *M*=418.3083.

Acknowledgements

Financial support has been granted by the Spanish Ministry of Science and Technology (projects BQU2002-00468, CTQ2005-06688-C02-01 and CTQ2005-06688-C02-02), by the BANCAJA-UJI foundation (project P1-1A2005-15) and by the AVCyT (projects GRUPOS03/180 and GV05/52). P.A.-B. thanks the Spanish Ministry of Education and Science for a predoctoral fellowship (FPI program).

References and notes

(a) Heilmann, J.; Mayr, S.; Brun, R.; Rali, T.; Sticher, O. *Helv. Chim. Acta* 2000, *83*, 2939–2945; (b) Heilmann, J.; Brun, R.;

Mayr, S.; Rali, T.; Sticher, O. Phytochemistry 2001, 57, 1281–1285.

- Confusion has to be avoided between these two compounds and the coumarin aculeatin, isolated from *Toddalia asiatica* (*T. aculeata*): Ishii, H.; Kobayashi, J.-I.; Sakurada, E.; Ishikawa, T. *J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1* 1992, 1681–1684; In addition, the name aculeatin has also been given to an alkaloid of undefined structure isolated from *Papaver aculeatum*: Maturová, M.; Pavlásková, D.; Šantavý, F. *Planta Med.* 1966, *14*, 22–41.
- For the importance of Michael acceptor moieties for cytotoxicity, see, for example: Buck, S. B.; Hardouin, C.; Ichikawa, S.; Soenen, D. R.; Gauss, C.-M.; Hwang, I.; Swingle, M. R.; Bonness, K. M.; Honkanen, R. E.; Boger, D. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 15694–15695.
- 4. (a) Perron, F.; Albizati, K. F. Chem. Rev. 1989, 89, 1617–1661;
 (b) Norcross, R. D.; Paterson, I. Chem. Rev. 1995, 95, 2041–2114;
 (c) Brimble, M. A.; Farès, F. A. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 7661–7706;
 (d) Thirsk, C.; Whiting, A. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 2002, 999–1023;
 (e) Yeung, K.-S.; Paterson, I. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 4632–4653;
 (f) Suenaga, K. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2004, 77, 443–451.
- (a) Wong, Y.-S. *Chem. Commun.* **2002**, 686–687; (b) Baldwin, J. E.; Adlington, R. M.; Sham, V. W.-W.; Márquez, R.; Bulger, P. G. *Tetrahedron* **2005**, *61*, 2353–2363.
- A part of these results has been presented in preliminary form: Falomir, E.; Álvarez-Bercedo, P.; Carda, M.; Marco, J. A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2005, *46*, 8407–8410.
- Ronald, R. C.; Wheeler, C. J. J. Org. Chem. 1984, 49, 1658– 1660.
- Ramachandran, P. V.; Chen, G.-M.; Brown, H. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 2417–2420; For a recent review on asymmetric allylborations, see: Ramachandran, P. V. *Aldrichimica Acta* **2002**, *35*, 23–35.
- Uray, G. Houben-Weyl's Methods of Organic Chemistry, Stereoselective Synthesis; Helmchen, G., Hoffmann, R. W., Mulzer, J., Schaumann, E., Eds.; Georg Thieme: Stuttgart, 1996; Vol. 1, pp 253–292.
- Tsuji, J. Comprehensive Organic Synthesis; Trost, B. M., Fleming, I., Winterfeldt, E., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1993; Vol. 7, pp 449–468; Experimental procedure based on: Tsuji, J.; Nagashima, H.; Nemoto, H. Organic Synthesis Collective Volume VII; Wiley: New York, NY, 1990; pp 137–139.
- Cowden, C. J.; Paterson, I. Organic Reactions; Paquette, L. A., Ed.; Wiley: New York, NY, 1997; Vol. 51, pp 1–200.
- The aldol addition step of the enolborane of β-alkoxy methyl ketone 8 to *n*-tetradecanal takes place with complete stereoselectivity, which reflects a high *anti*-1,5-induction. This remote induction was previously observed by other groups in related cases: Paterson, I.; Gibson, K. R.; Oballa, R. M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1996**, *37*, 8585–8588 and: Evans, D. A.; Côté, B.; Coleman, P. J.; Connell, B. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2003**, *125*, 10893–10898; The subsequent in situ reduction of the aldol with LiBH₄ gives only a *syn*-1,3-diol fragment, as expected: Paterson, I.; Channon, J. A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1992**, *33*, 797–800.
- For general reviews on hypervalent iodine compounds, see: (a) Zhdankin, V. V.; Stang, P. J. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 2523–2584;
 (b) Moriarty, R. M. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 2893–2903; (c) Wirth, T. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 3656–3665; (d) Ladziata, U.; Zhdankin, V. V. ARKIVOC 2006, ix, 26–58; For oxidations of phenolic compounds with hypervalent iodine reagents, see: Moriarty, R. M.; Prakash, O. Organic Reactions; Overman, L. E., Ed.; Wiley: New York, NY, 2001; Vol. 57,

pp 327–415; For reagents of oxidative spiroacetalizations of arenes, including hypervalent iodine compounds, see: Rodríguez, S.; Wipf, P. *Synthesis* **2004**, 2767–2783.

- Spirocyclic amino compounds can also be prepared with this oxidative methodology. See: Canesi, S.; Belmont, P.; Bouchu, D.; Rousset, L.; Ciufolini, M. A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 5193–5195.
- 15. Graczyk, P. P.; Mikołajczyk, M. Top. Stereochem. 1994, 21, 159–349.
- 16. The way of drawing the aculeatins in Ref. 1 is confusing, as two spiro connected rings are simultaneously used as reference rings for stereochemical representation. We prefer the way depicted in Figure 1, where only the tetrahydropyran moiety is used as the reference ring.

- 17. Evans, D. A.; Chapman, K. T.; Carreira, E. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 3560–3578.
- 18. The sensitivity of the β -oxygenated ketone moiety in **18** toward acidic or basic reagents was a concern here.
- This behavior is well precedented: (a) Herbert, J. M.; Knight, J. G.; Sexton, B. *Tetrahedron* **1996**, *52*, 15257–15266; (b) Kiyooka, S.; Shahid, K. A.; Goto, F.; Okazaki, M.; Shuto, Y. *J. Org. Chem.* **2003**, *68*, 7967–7978; (c) Ramachandran, P. V.; Prabhudas, B.; Chandra, J. S.; Reddy, M. V. R. *J. Org. Chem.* **2004**, *69*, 6294–6304.
- Scheidt, K. A.; Chen, H.; Follows, B. C.; Chemler, S. R.; Coffey, D. S.; Roush, W. R. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 6436– 6437.
- 21. Freshly prepared by PCC oxidation of *n*-tetradecanol.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9650-9654

A novel method for the reduction of sulfoxides and pyridine *N*-oxides with the system silane/MoO₂Cl₂

Ana C. Fernandes* and Carlos C. Romão

Instituto de Tecnologia Química e Biológica da Universidade Nova de Lisboa, Quinta do Marquês, EAN, Apt 127, 2781-901 Oeiras, Portugal

Received 12 June 2006; revised 18 July 2006; accepted 25 July 2006 Available online 17 August 2006

Abstract—A novel method for the reduction of sulfoxides and pyridine *N*-oxides using a silane and a catalytic amount of MoO_2Cl_2 in excellent yields and with a wide functional group tolerance is reported. A green protocol for this reaction was developed in water with the air-stable catalytic system PMHS/MoO_2Cl_2(H_2O)_2.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The reduction (or deoxygenation) of sulfoxides and amine *N*-oxides to the corresponding sulfides and amines is an important organic and biological reaction. Over the years, several methods have been developed to reduce sulfoxides^{1–8} and amine *N*-oxides,^{9–15} however, many of these transformations are limited by side reactions, low yields, lack of chemoselectivity or harsh conditions. For example, the use of hydrogen halides is somewhat restricted with acid-sensitive substrates, the reductions with the strong hydride systems LiAlH₄–TiCl₄ and NaBH₄–CoCl₂ are incompatible with several functional groups, and the reactions with phosphorus reagents, in most cases, require elevated temperature and/or prolonged reaction times.

Among the variety of metal complexes that have been used as catalysts for the deoxygenation of sulfoxides and amine *N*-oxides, molybdenum complexes have attracted considerable interest. This metal is found in a class of enzymes that are commonly referred to as mononuclear molybdoenzymes or oxotransferases, such as dimethyl sulfoxide reductases, that catalyze oxygen atom transfer to or from a physiological donor/acceptor.^{16,17} Several studies have shown that $Mo(VI)O_2$ complexes catalyze the oxygen atom transfer reaction from the sulfoxides or aromatic *N*-oxides to a phosphine, yielding the corresponding sulfides or amines and the oxidized phosphine.^{5,9,18–20}

Recently, we have demonstrated that the high valent molybdenum-dioxo complex, MoO₂Cl₂, is an effective catalyst for organic reductions, such as hydrosilylation of aldehydes and ketones,²¹ and reduction of imines²² and esters.²³ These results confirm the new role of oxo complexes in catalytic reductions, which unexpectedly adds to their well-established abilities to catalyze oxygen-transfer reactions to olefins, phosphines, and sulfites.

During the course of our studies on the reaction of esters with the system $PhSiH_3/MoO_2Cl_2$, we observed the reduction of both sulfinyl and carboxyl groups of methyl(phenylsulfinyl)acetate, giving the 2-(phenylthio)ethanol in 75% yield (Scheme 1). This result suggested the extension of the system silane/MoO_2Cl_2 for the reduction of other sulfoxides. In this work, we investigated the deoxygenation of sulfoxides and pyridine *N*-oxides using the catalysts MoO_2Cl_2 and $MoO_2Cl_2(H_2O)_2$ in the presence of a silane in organic and aqueous solvents.





Scheme 1.

Keywords: Reduction; Sulfoxides; Pyridine N-oxides; Dioxomolybdenum dichloride.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +351 214469758; fax: +351 214411277; e-mail: anacris@itqb.unl.pt

2. Results and discussion

To optimize the reaction conditions, we first studied the reduction of methyl phenyl sulfoxide **1** with several silanes and solvents as summarized in Table 1. This sulfoxide was completely reduced with phenylsilane (PhSiH₃) in the presence of 5 mol % of MoO₂Cl₂ in refluxing tetrahydrofuran after 2 h (entry 1). At room temperature, the reaction required significantly longer reaction times (20 h) and sulfide **2** was obtained in only 66% conversion (entry 2).

Table 1. Reduction of methyl phenyl sulfoxide 1 catalyzed by MoO₂Cl₂

	O Š CH₃ 1	Silane .	/ MoO ₂ Cl ₂ (5 mol	%) ►	S_CH ₃
Entry	Silane ^a	Solvent	Temperature (°C)	Time (h)	Conversion ^b (%)
1	PhSiH ₃	THF	67	2	100
2	PhSiH ₃	THF	rt	20	66
3	PhSiH ₃	Toluene	110	2	100
4	PhSiH ₃	CH_2Cl_2	40	2	95
5	PhSiH ₃	CH ₃ CN	80	2	21
6	PMHS	THF	67	20	100
7	DMPHS	THF	67	24	65
8	Et ₃ SiH	THF	67	24	35
9	Ph ₃ SiH	THF	67	48	No reaction

^a The reactions were carried out with 100 mol % of PhSiH₃, DMPHS, Et₃SiH or Ph₃SiH and with 0.3 mol % of PMHS.

^b Conversion was determined by ¹H NMR.

To evaluate the effect of solvents, the reduction of sulfoxide 1 was carried out in tetrahydrofuran, toluene, dichloromethane, and acetonitrile. Sulfide 2 was obtained in 100% conversion in THF and toluene (entries 1 and 3), in 95% conversion in dichloromethane (entry 4), but in acetonitrile it was obtained in only 21% conversion (entry 5).

This reaction was also investigated with several silanes. With the polymethylhydrosiloxane (PMHS), sulfoxide **1** was completely reduced (entry 6) and with dimethylphenylsilane (DMPHS) and triethylsilane (Et_3SiH), sulfide **2** was obtained in 65% and 35% conversion, respectively (entries 7 and 8). No catalysis was observed with the triphenylsilane (entry 9).

To explore the scope of this catalytic reaction, the reduction of a variety of sulfoxides with the system PhSiH₃/MoO₂Cl₂ (5 mol %), in refluxing tetrahydrofuran, was investigated (Table 2). As shown in Table 2, the sulfoxides were reduced in excellent yields. This catalytic reaction is suitable for the deoxygenation of aromatic and aliphatic sulfoxides, in particular, for the reduction of benzyl sulfoxide (entry 3), since several methods fail completely with this substrate or only provide poor yields of benzyl sulfide. This reaction is also compatible with other functional groups such as halo, carboxyl, and vinyl (entries 5-7). The chemoselective reduction of methyl(phenylsulfinyl)acetate, in 97% yield (Table 2, entry 6), was possible in THF, contrary to the reduction of both sulfinyl and carboxyl groups observed in refluxing toluene (Scheme 1) and reported in our previous work.²³

Table 2. Reduction of sulfoxide with the system PhSiH₃/MoO₂Cl₂^a



^a All reactions were carried out in refluxing THF with 1.0 mmol of sulfoxide, 1.0 mmol of PhSiH₃, using 5 mol % of MoO₂Cl₂.

^b Isolated yield.

Attempted reduction of phenyl sulfone and 4-fluorophenyl methyl sulfone resulted in only the recovery of starting material.

The reduction of sulfoxides was also carried out with the complex $MoO_2Cl_2(H_2O)_2$, which was easily prepared by extraction from a hydrochloric acid solution of Na_2MoO_4 with diethyl ether.¹⁹

The catalytic activity of $MoO_2Cl_2(H_2O)_2$ was studied with the silanes PhSiH₃ and PMHS. The reduction of the substrates, methyl phenyl sulfoxide, phenyl sulfoxide, and benzyl sulfoxide with the system PhSiH₃/MoO_2Cl_2(H_2O)_2 (5 mol %) in refluxing THF, afforded the corresponding sulfides in 95%, 96%, and 95%, respectively (Table 3, entries 1, 4, and 7). These yields and the reaction times are comparable to those obtained with the system PhSiH₃/MoO_2Cl₂ (Table 2, entries 1–3).

The reaction of sulfoxides with PMHS in the presence of 5 mol % of $MoO_2Cl_2(H_2O)_2$, in refluxing methanol, was carried out in air and produced the sulfides in excellent yields (Table 3). The chemoselective reduction of methyl(phenyl-sulfinyl)acetate was also possible in this reaction conditions in good yield (entry 12).

Finally, we tried the reduction of sulfoxides with the system PMHS/MoO₂Cl₂(H₂O)₂ in water at 80 °C (Table 3). This green system reduced the methyl phenyl sulfoxide in 52%

Table 3. Reduction of sulfoxides catalyzed by $MoO_2Cl_2(H_2O)_2^a$

Entry	Sulfoxide	Silane	Solvent ^b	Time (h)	Yield $(\%)^{c}$
1 2 3	O S CH ₃	PhSiH ₃ PMHS PMHS	THF Methanol H_2O^d	1.5 2 20	95 95 52
4 5 6	° S S	PhSiH ₃ PMHS PMHS	THF Methanol H_2O^d	2 20 20	96 96 92
7 8	0 S S	PhSiH ₃ PMHS	THF Methanol	20 20	95 95
9 10	CI CI	PMHS PMHS	$\begin{array}{l} Methanol\\ H_2O^d \end{array}$	20 20	95 50
11	O S S	PMHS	Methanol	20	94
12	S OCH3	PMHS	Methanol	20	90

^a All reactions were carried out with 1.0 mmol of sulfoxide, 100 mol % of PhSiH₃ or 0.3 mol % of PMHS, using 5 mol % of MoO₂Cl₂(H₂O)₂.

^b Reflux temperature.

^c Isolated yield.

^d The reaction was carried out at 80 °C.

yield, the phenyl sulfoxide in 92% yield, and the 4-chlorophenyl sulfoxide in 50% yield (Table 3, entries 3, 6, and 10). The benzyl sulfoxide and butyl sulfoxide did not react in water.

The analysis of the ¹H NMR spectrum of the reaction mixture obtained in the reduction of the phenyl vinyl sulfoxide with the system PMHS/MoO₂Cl₂(H₂O)₂ in methanol or in water showed that the double bond was affected.

The system $PMHS/MoO_2Cl_2(H_2O)_2$ proved to be very efficient for the reduction of sulfoxides in organic solvents. The use of PMHS is more attractive than $PhSiH_3$ because it is easily handled, stable to air and water, inexpensive, and non-toxic. However, the reductions with PMHS required longer reaction times.

The easy and inexpensive preparation of ether solution of $MoO_2Cl_2(H_2O)_2$ and its air stability make this catalyst an excellent alternative to MoO_2Cl_2 , which has a difficult preparation and a great air instability.

Other important advantage of the system PMHS/ $MoO_2Cl_2(H_2O)_2$ is related to the environmental concerns and increased restrictions on the use of hazardous organic solvents. With this system, the reduction, in water, was possible for some sulfoxides in moderate to good yields.

In this work, we also performed a brief investigation of the deoxygenation of pyridine *N*-oxides with the silanes PhSiH₃ and PMHS catalyzed by MoO_2Cl_2 and $MoO_2Cl_2(H_2O)_2$ (Table 4). As shown in Table 4, the catalytic systems PhSiH₃/MoO_2Cl_2, PhSiH₃/MoO_2Cl_2(H_2O)_2, and PMHS/MoO_2Cl_2(H_2O)_2 reduced the 3- and 4-methylpyridine *N*-oxides in good yields in organic solvents. As observed in the reduction of sulfoxides, the reaction with PMHS required longer reaction times than with PhSiH₃. Due to the wide functional group tolerance verified in the reduction of sulfoxides, we believe that this novel method can be suitable for the deoxygenation of other pyridine *N*-oxides. Unfortunately, the pyridine *N*-oxides were not reduced in water with the system PMHS/MoO_2Cl_2(H_2O)_2.

In order to verify that MoO_2Cl_2 plays an active role in the deoxygenation process, we carried out the reaction of sulfoxide **1** with an excess of phenylsilane without catalyst and the reaction of sulfoxide **1** with 5 mol % of MoO_2Cl_2 without phenylsilane in refluxing THF during 2 h. In both cases, sulfoxide **1** was not reduced. These results suggest that MoO_2Cl_2 catalyzes the reaction by activation of the silane, producing a hydride species (Mo-H).

In the reaction of the complex $MoO_2Cl_2(Bz_2SO)_2$, prepared by the addition of benzyl sulfoxide to the ether solution of $MoO_2Cl_2(H_2O)_2$,¹⁹ with 1 equiv of the phenylsilane in refluxing THF was observed the reduction of the sulfoxide,

Table 4. Deoxygenation of pyridine N-oxides catalyzed by MoO₂Cl₂ or MoO₂Cl₂(H₂O)₂^a



Entry	R	Silane	Catalyst	Solvent ^b	Time (h)	Yield (%) ^c
1	4-CH ₃	PhSiH ₃	MoO ₂ Cl ₂	THF	3	85
2		PhSiH ₃	$MoO_2Cl_2(H_2O)_2$	THF	3	84
3		PMHS	$MoO_2Cl_2(H_2O)_2$	Methanol	20	86
4		PMHS	$MoO_2Cl_2(H_2O)_2$	H_2O^d	20	No reaction
5	3-CH ₃	PhSiH ₃	MoO ₂ Cl ₂	THF	3	85
6		PhSiH ₃	$MoO_2Cl_2(H_2O)_2$	THF	3	83
7		PMHS	$MoO_2Cl_2(H_2O)_2$	Methanol	20	85
8		PMHS	MoO ₂ Cl ₂ (H ₂ O) ₂	H_2O^d	20	No reaction

^a All reactions were carried out with 1.0 mmol of pyridine N-oxide, 100 mol % of PhSiH₃ or 0.3 mol % of PMHS using 5 mol % of catalyst.

^b Reflux temperature.

^c Isolated yield.

^d The reaction was carried out at 80 °C.



Scheme 2.

giving the benzyl sulfide (Scheme 2). A similar result was obtained when the benzyl sulfoxide was reduced with the system $PhSiH_3/MoO_2Cl_2(H_2O)_2$ (Table 3, entry 7). This result suggests the initial activation of the sulfoxide by the oxygen coordination to the molybdenum, yielding the complex $MoO_2Cl_2(sulfoxide)_2$. This complex weakens the S–O bond and renders the sulfur atom more susceptible to the reduction. After the addition of the silane, the complex $MoO_2Cl_2(sulfoxide)_2$ is reduced with elimination of the sulfide and a siloxane.

3. Conclusion

In summary, we have developed a novel method for the reduction of sulfoxide and pyridine *N*-oxides to the corresponding sulfides and pyridines using the silane PhSiH₃ in the presence of a catalytic amount of MoO_2Cl_2 in excellent yields and with a wide functional group tolerance. This catalytic system can be a useful alternative to the traditional methods for the reduction of sulfoxides, especially, in natural products and pharmaceutical synthesis, which require mild conditions, selectivity, and functional group tolerance.

A green protocol for the reduction of sulfoxides was also developed with the system PMHS/MoO₂Cl₂(H₂O)₂ in water or methanol. This novel, air-stable catalyst system reduced sulfoxides in moderate to excellent yields. The simplicity and environmental-friendly conditions of this protocol make this novel method suitable for large-scale reductions.

Other organic reductions with this system are now under investigation in our group.

4. Experimental

4.1. General methods

Toluene and THF were distilled under nitrogen from sodium, and CH₂Cl₂ and acetonitrile from CaH₂ before use. Silanes were obtained from Aldrich, PMHS (M_n =1700–3200). Flash chromatography was performed on MN Kieselgel 60 M 230–400 mesh. All compounds were characterized by ¹H NMR, ¹³C NMR, and IR spectroscopy. ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR spectra were measured on a Bruker AMX 300 spectrometer. Chemical shifts are reported in parts per million (ppm) downfield from an internal Me₄Si standard. IR spectra were measured on a Unicam Mattson model 7000 FTIR spectrometer.

4.2. General procedures

4.2.1. General procedure for the reduction of sulfoxides and pyridine *N***-oxides with the system PhSiH₃/MoO₂Cl₂.** To a solution of MoO₂Cl₂ (5 mol %) in dry THF (5 ml) was added the sulfoxide or the pyridine *N*-oxide (1.0 mmol) and PhSiH₃ (1.0 mmol) under nitrogen atmosphere. The reaction mixture was stirred at reflux temperature (the reaction times are indicated in Tables 2 and 4) and monitored periodically by TLC. Upon completion, the reaction mixture was evaporated and purified by silica gel column chromatography with the appropriate mixture of *n*-hexane and ethyl acetate to afford the sulfides and pyridines, which are all known compounds.

4.2.2. Green protocol for the reduction of sulfoxides with the system PMHS/MoO₂Cl₂(H₂O)₂. To a solution of the sulfoxide (1.0 mmol) in water (5 ml) or in methanol (3 ml) were added the ether solution of MoO₂Cl₂(H₂O)₂ (5 mol %) and PMHS (0.3 mol %). The reaction mixture was stirred at reflux temperature in methanol or at 80 °C in water (the reaction times are indicated in Table 3). Upon completion, the reaction mixture was extracted with diethyl ether (3×20 ml), dried over sodium sulfate, evaporated, and purified by silica gel column chromatography with the appropriate mixture of *n*-hexane and ethyl acetate.

References and notes

- 1. Madesclaire, M. *Tetrahedron* **1988**, *44*, 6537 and references cited therein.
- Kukushkin, V. Y. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1995, 139, 375 and references cited therein.
- 3. Espenson, J. H. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* **2005**, *249*, 329 and references cited therein.
- Raju, B. R.; Devi, G.; Nongpluh, Y. S.; Saikia, A. K. Synlett 2005, 358.
- Sanz, R.; Escribano, J.; Fernández, Y.; Aguado, R.; Pedrosa, M. R.; Arnáiz, F. J. Synthesis 2004, 1629.
- Harrison, D. J.; Tam, N. C.; Vogels, C. M.; Langler, R. F.; Baker, R. T.; Decken, A.; Westcott, S. A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 8493.
- Yoo, B. W.; Choi, K. H.; Kim, D. Y.; Choi, K. I.; Kim, J. H. Synth. Commun. 2003, 33, 53.
- Nicolaou, K. C.; Koumbis, A. E.; Snyder, S. A.; Simonsen, K. B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 2529.
- Yoo, B. W.; Choi, J. W.; Yoon, C. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 125.
- Sanz, R.; Escribano, J.; Fernández, Y.; Aguado, R.; Pedrosa, M. R.; Arnáiz, F. J. Synlett 2005, 1389.

- 11. Kumar, S.; Saini, A.; Sandhu, J. S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2005**, *50*, 8737.
- 12. Ilias, M.; Barman, D. C.; Prajapati, D.; Sandhu, J. S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, *10*, 1877.
- 13. Wang, Y.; Espenson, J. H. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 3525.
- 14. Ram, S. R.; Chary, K. P.; Iyengar, D. S. Synth. Commun. 2000, 30, 3511.
- 15. Chary, K. P.; Mohan, G. H.; Iyengar, D. S. Chem. Lett. 1999, 1339.
- 16. Enemark, J. H.; Cooney, J. J. A.; Wang, J.-J.; Holm, R. H. *Chem. Rev.* **2004**, *104*, 1175 and references cited therein.
- 17. Kisker, C.; Schindelin, H.; Rees, D. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 1997, 66, 233.

- Most, K.; Hoβbach, J.; Vidović, D.; Magull, J.; Mösch-Zanetti, N. C. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2005, 347, 463.
- 19. Arnáiz, F. J.; Agudo, R.; Pedrosa, M. R.; De Cian, A. *Inorg. Chim. Acta* **2003**, *347*, 33.
- 20. Arnáiz, F. J.; Agudo, R.; Ilarduya, J. M. M. Polyhedron 1994, 13, 3257.
- 21. Fernandes, A. C.; Fernandes, R.; Romão, C. C.; Royo, B. *Chem. Commun.* **2005**, 213.
- 22. Fernandes, A. C.; Romão, C. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2005, 46, 8881.
- 23. Fernandes, A. C.; Romão, C. C. J. Mol. Catal A: Chem. 2006, 253, 96.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9655-9660

Aplysiadiol from *Aplysia dactylomela* suggested a key intermediate for a unified biogenesis of regular and irregular marine algal bisabolene-type metabolites

Inmaculada Brito, Teresa Dias, Ana R. Díaz-Marrero, José Darias and Mercedes Cueto*

Instituto de Productos Naturales y Agrobiología del CSIC, Avda. Astrofísico F. Sánchez, 3, Apdo. 195, 38206 La Laguna, Tenerife, Spain

Received 1 June 2006; revised 14 July 2006; accepted 25 July 2006

Abstract—The rearranged compound 1, the regular 2 and 3 and the degraded 4 are novel bisabolene-type metabolites that along with the known compounds caespitol, 8-acetylcaespitol, caespitane, caespitenone, laucapyranoid A, and furocaespitane have been isolated from the sea hare *Aplysia dactylomela*. The structures of these compounds were determined on the basis of spectroscopic evidence. The irregular network of 1 suggested that the halogenated epoxide 6 is a key intermediate for a unified biogenetic pathway of naturally occurring marine algal bisabolene-type metabolites.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Molluscs of the genus *Aplysia* are one among the best studied of all marine invertebrates, serving as a model system for neurological studies.¹ *Aplysia dactylomela* (Opisthobranchia: Anaspidea) like other sea hares thrive on algae, acquiring and storing many algal metabolites in their digestive gland.² This species alone sequesters some 80 different secondary metabolites from its algal diet,³ but their function is a subject of debate because the dynamics of metabolites of sea hares is poorly understood.⁴ *Laurencia caespitosa*, a red alga common in the diet of *A. dactylomela* from the Canary Islands, was the first source⁵ of a marine algal bisabolene-type sesquiterpenoid, and since then a number of metabolites belonging to this skeletal class has been found in other taxa including sponges, nudibranchs, octocorals, and, more recently, microorganisms.

From a survey on marine bisabolene metabolites interesting analogies can be observed regarding structural and/or functional features. For example, all bisabolene derivatives from sponges can be grouped into two structural classes. One class of metabolites bear an aromatic $\operatorname{ring}^{6-14}$ related to (+)-curcuphenol and the other features a diverse nitrogenous substitution pattern in a non-aromatic network^{15–21} (Fig. 1). Moreover, all bisabolene compounds from octocoral



Figure 1. Representative structural classes of bisabolene-type metabolites from diverse marine taxa.

are aromatic, sharing with sponges some identical but, interestingly, antipodal metabolites related to (-)-curcuphenol.^{22–25} Recently discovered microbial bisabolene compounds²⁶ were also related to the curcumene skeleton whereas bisabolene products from red algae are mostly characterized, unlike the other taxa, by high halogen content.^{5,27–29}

A. dactylomela has proved to be a rich source of structural variety of bisabolenic metabolites, depending on where they are located.^{5,30–33} We now report on the discovery of new bisabolene derivatives **1–4** from this species, along with the previously characterized caespitol,⁵ furocaespitane,²⁷ laucapyranoid A,²⁸ 8-acetylcaespitol,³² caespitane,^{28,32} and caespitenone^{28,32} (Fig. 2). Most of the compounds reported here are halogenated, following the general pattern of algal bisabolene sesquiterpenoids, **1** and **4** being a rearranged and a degraded bisabolene skeleton derivative, respectively.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +34 922 252 144; fax: +34 922 260 135; e-mail: mcueto@ipna.csic.es

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter @ 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.078



Figure 2. Metabolites from A. dactylomela.

2. Results and discussion

A. dactylomela was collected off the SW coast of La Palma (Canary Islands). From the crude extracts the new compounds 1–4 were isolated after gel filtration on Sephadex LH-20 chromatography followed by successive HPLC.

Aplysiadiol 1 was a colorless oil and its NMR spectroscopic data are summarized in Table 1. Its EIMS spectrum showed peaks at m/z 413/415/417/419 with relative intensities suggestive of one chlorine and two bromine atoms, which correspond to the empirical formula C₁₄H₂₀O₂ClBr₂ $[M-Me-H_2O]^+$ (HREIMS). Absorption for a carbonyl and a hydroxyl group at 1722 and 3448 cm⁻¹, respectively, were observed in its IR spectrum. The ¹³C NMR and DEPT spectra of **1** showed the presence of 15 carbon signals assigned to $4 \times CH_3$, $4 \times CH_2$, $3 \times CH$ (two bearing bromine), and four quaternary carbons (one ketone). The ¹H NMR spectrum displayed signals for two protons geminal to bromine at δ 3.67 (dd, J=2.1, 9.5 Hz) and δ 4.27 (dd, J=4.3, 12.8 Hz); eight methylene protons between δ 2.55 and 1.60; a methine proton at 1.84 (br s); and four methyl groups [$\delta 2.30$ (s), $\delta 1.68$ (s), $\delta 1.35$ (s), $\delta 1.32$ (s)]. According to the degree of unsaturation, the molecular formula of 1 expressed a monocyclic network.

Connectivity information obtained from COSY, HSQC, and HMBC experiments unambiguously determined a cyclohexyl moiety with a halogen substitution pattern identical with that in the corresponding ring B of caespitol (Fig. 2). The complementary half of the molecule attached to the ring is a highly functionalized open chain where the regiochemistry of a carbinolic bromohydrin, involving a gem-dimethyl group, becomes readily apparent by the mutual HMBC correlations C-13/H₃-12, C-12/H₃-13 and those with H-10 and C-11, respectively. The COSY correlation of H-10 with a remaining methylene placed a carbinolic methyl ketone at C-8, establishing the planar structure of **1** as an irregular sesquiterpene.

The coupling constant of H-2 (J=4.3, 12.8 Hz) as well as the ¹³C-chemical shifts of C-2, C-3, and C-15 are in agreement with the regiochemistry and configuration of a vicinal chlorobromo system on a cyclohexane ring with a chair conformation such as that of caespitol (Table 1). An equatorial disposition of the side chain residue on the ring was

Table 1	. NMR data of compounds	1-4 and c.	aespitol [500 MHz, ô ppm, (J) Hz,	CDC1 ₃]						
#	1		2		3		4		Caespitol	
	$\delta_{\rm H}$	$\delta_{\rm C}$	бн	$\delta_{\rm C}$	δ _H	$\delta_{\rm C}$	$\delta_{\rm H}$	$\delta_{\rm C}$	$\delta_{\rm H}$	$\delta_{\rm C}$
1	1.80 (m), 1.98 (m)	35.7	1.73 (m), 1.99 (m)	25.9	1.87 (m), 2.09 (m)	25.1	2.00 (m), 2.00 (m)	39.8	α: 2.21 (m), β: 1.57 (ddd, 12.6, 12.6, 12.6)	36.3
0	4.27 (dd, 4.3, 12.8)	62.0	5.32 (br s)	119.8	5.37 (br s)	120.6	4.38 (dd, 4.1, 12.4)	60.8	4.34 (dd, 4.5, 12.4)	63.7
e		71.0		134.5		133.9		70.2		72.0
4	α: 2.06 (m), β: 2.45	42.2	1.90 (m), 2.03 (m)	30.9	1.89 (m), 2.00 (m)	30.6	a: 2.16 (ddd, 3.9, 13.7, 13.7),	42.2	α: 2.00 (ddd, 3.8, 13.5, 13.5),	42.9
	(ddd, 3.4, 3.4, 13.7)						B: 2.48 (ddd, 3.4, 3.4, 13.9)		β: 2.35 (ddd, 3.3, 3.3, 13.5)	
5	1.76 (m), 1.60 (m)	23.8	1.19 (m), 1.99 (m)	22.5	1.47 (m), 1.56 (m)	24.0	1.50 (m), 1.50 (m)	28.8	1.18 (m), 1.82 (m)	22.7
9	1.84 (br s)	46.3	1.70 (br s)	41.4	2.07 (m)	41.6	2.53 (dddd, 3.2, 3.2, 12.0, 12.0)	36.9	1.85 (m)	45.8
7		212.7		77.8		81.9		106.8		77.2
8		82.7	3.52 (ddd, 3.6, 3.6, 6.2)	71.4		199.9	5.80 (s)	170.4	3.52 (dd, 2.3, 3.3)	70.8
6	a: 2.55 (dd, 2.1, 15.6),	39.4	a: 2.47 (ddd, 2.3, 13.6, 13.6),	35.8	5.92 (d, 10.4)	122.8	:	116.4	α: 2.17 (m), β: 2.46	36.2
	b: 2.27 (dd, 9.5, 15.6)		B: 2.26 (ddd, 4.1, 4.1, 13.9)						(ddd, 2.3, 13.4, 13.4)	
10	3.67 (dd, 2.1, 9.5)	60.4	4.33 (dd, 4.1, 13.2)	53.9	6.80 (d, 10.4)	154.7		172.6	4.28 (dd, 4.2, 13.2)	53.2
11		72.9		75.3		71.2	1.71 (s)	24.1		75.4
12	1.35 (s)	27.6	1.32 (s)	31.2	1.36 (s)	30.0	1.75 (s)	24.1	1.26 (s)	31.0
13	1.32 (s)	25.5	1.40 (s)	24.3	1.41 (s)	29.7	:		1.32 (s)	24.0
14	2.30 (s)	26.6	1.13 (s)	19.2	1.30 (s)	23.4			1.08 (s)	19.9
15	1.68 (s)	22.8	1.62 (s)	23.4	1.62 (s)	23.4			1.63 (s)	24.3
HO-L							1.56 (br s)			
HO-8	3.85 (s)		1.84 (d, 6.4)						2.43 (br s)	



Figure 3. Selected NOEs of compound 1.

established by the strong NOE observed between H-2 and H-6 (Fig. 3).

The energy-minimized conformation of 1 deduced by molecular mechanics³⁴ is shown in Figure 3. This conformer showed a hydrogen bond between the hydroxyl groups so that the proton of the hydroxyl at C-8 and the trans-diaxial proton at C-9 are at a suitable interatomic distance to allow the observed NOE between them. For the acyl group at C-8 an R configuration is given to allow an atomic cluster compatible with the H₂-9/H-10 J-coupling and the observed NOE. This point has been further reinforced by comparison of the NMR data of 1 with those of a related compound 1a generated by spontaneous rearrangement of laucopyranoid C and whose absolute configuration was established by X-ray crystallography.²⁸ Whereas the ¹³C chemical shifts of the carbons of the cyclohexane ring are almost identical in both compounds, the inversion of the configuration at C-8 of **1** produced a variation in the chemical shift of this carbon and the comparable vicinal carbons. For ¹³C chemical shifts of 1a see the experimental part. This spectroscopic correlation allowed us to propose for 1 the 2S, 3S, 6S, 8R, 10R configuration depicted in Figure 3.



Deschlorobromo caespitol 2 was obtained as a white powder. The EIMS spectrum showed peaks at m/z 316/318, with relative intensities for one bromine atom. NMR data coupled with the $[M]^+$ peak in the HREIMS of 2 suggested a molecular formula C15H25O2Br with three degrees of unsaturation indicating that the molecule is bicyclic. The ¹³C NMR and DEPT spectra of 2 (Table 1) showed the presence of 15 carbon signals assigned to $4 \times CH_3$, $4 \times CH_2$, $4 \times CH$ (one olefinic and two bearing heteroatoms), and three quaternary carbons (one olefinic and two bearing heteroatoms). The following ¹H NMR signals were observed: one olefinic proton at δ 5.32 (br s); two protons geminal to heteroatom [δ 4.33 $(dd, J=4.1, 13.2 \text{ Hz}), \delta 3.52 (ddd, J=3.6, 3.6, 6.2 \text{ Hz})];$ one methine proton at δ 1.70 (br s); eight methylene protons between δ 2.03 and 1.19; four methyl groups [δ 1.62 (br s), δ 1.40 (s), δ 1.32 (s), δ 1.13 (s)], and one D₂O interchangeable proton at δ 1.84 (d, J=6.4 Hz).

Connectivity information obtained from COSY, HSQC, and HMBC as well as NOESY experiments secured an oxane ring moiety bearing the same heteroatoms, regiochemistry and relative configuration as those of comparable atoms of ring A of caespitol (Table 1). The remaining two degrees of unsaturation correspond to a trisubstituted double bond in a residual cyclohexene ring, which suggests that the typical chlorobromo system of ring B of caespitol was lost in compound 2. On the other hand, it has been reported that the LiAlH₄ reduction of caespitol yielded a compound⁵ with same planar structure as 2. The ¹³C NMR chemical shifts reported later³⁵ for this synthetic compound were very similar to those of 2 except for the corresponding C-3 and C-15 carbon atoms ($\Delta_{\delta C-3}=5.6$, $\Delta_{\delta C-15}=10$ ppm). Since ring A of both natural and synthetic compounds are identical in all respects, and because such differences are improbable for a putative diastereomer at C-6, we suspect these values were mistaken or incorrectly assigned. In order to corroborate this point, caespitol was efficiently dehalogenated by reaction with Zn-NaI in DMF at 115 °C to give a compound identical with that depicted in 2. Thus, the correct NMR data of 2 are assigned in Table 1.

Deschlorobromo caespitenone **3** was isolated as an oil. NMR spectroscopic data coupled with a molecular ion peak at m/z 234 [M]⁺ (HREIMS) suggested a molecular formula of $C_{15}H_{22}O_2$ indicating five degrees of unsaturation. The ¹H and ¹³C NMR data of **3** are similar to those of the known compound caespitenone,^{28,32} also isolated in this work. The main difference is that the chlorobromo system characteristic of ring B of caespitenone has been lost in **3**, leading to the corresponding cyclohexene ring, which is in accord with the degrees of unsaturation. Thus, **3** is the dehalogenated derivative of caespitenone. This was corroborated by oxidation–dehydration of compound **2** with Jones reagent to give a compound identical with that depicted in **3**.

Since the optical rotation of caespitol isolated in this study is coincident with that previously reported,²⁸ the chemical transformation of caespitol into compounds **2** and **3** allowed us to establish their absolute streochemistries as 6S,7R,8R,10R and 6S,7R, respectively.

Furocaespitanelactol **4** was isolated as a white powder. Its EIMS spectrum showed peaks at m/z 322/324/326 with relative intensities suggestive of one chlorine and one bromine atom, which correspond to the empirical formula $C_{12}H_{16}O_3CIBr [M]^+$ (HREIMS). The molecular formula of **4** resembled that of furocaespitane, a degraded bisabolene-type derivative previously isolated by us from *L. caespitosa*²⁷ and also now isolated in this work from *A. dactylomela*.

Oxidation of furocaespitane with *m*-chloroperbenzoic acid has been reported to give an epimeric mixture²⁷ at C-7 of butenolides **4** and **4a** (Fig. 2). The spectroscopic data of our single naturally occurring compound indicates that its structure is a lactol identical to one of the epimers present in the synthetic mixture. The energy-minimized conformation of both epimers **4** and **4a** deduced by molecular mechanics is shown in Figure 4.

The orthogonal joining of the lactone and cyclohexane rings placed the methyl group of the respective carbinols of each epimer at such a similar distance from H-6 that it does not allow us to discern to which one of the epimers the NOE



Figure 4. Selected NOEs of 4 and 4a.

observed between CH₃-11 and H-6 corresponds. However, the interatomic distance between the hydrogen of the hydroxyl group and the equatorial proton H₂-1 of **4** measured by the program is 2.446 Å, whereas in the epimer **4a** the distance to H-5_{eq} is 3.111 Å, which appears to be too large for a clear NOE to be expected. Thus, the observed NOE in the natural compound was assigned to the epimer with an *S* stereochemistry at C-7. Because the remaining chiral centers of the compound are identical with the corresponding centers of furocaespitane, the stereochemistry of the degraded bisabolene metabolite was assigned as depicted in **4** (Fig. 4).

On standing, **4** isomerizes to **4a** until a 1:1 equilibrium mixture is reached (Fig. 5). This is the first time that **4** has been isolated as a natural product. Due to the lack of 13 C NMR data and assigned ¹H NMR chemical shifts, we provide complete NMR data of the natural compound **4** in Table 1 and those of **4a** in the experimental part.

A bisabolyl cation is expected to be converted into the possible precursor of the naturally occurring algal bisabolene derivatives, the true producer of this type of metabolite found in *A. dactylomela*. It appears that in this process the trienic system of the bisabolene is sequentially oxidized, starting with chlorobromo addition to the endocyclic double bond. This seems to be supported by finding the natural halogenated addition products puertitols A and B³⁶ by stabilization of the intermediate **5** (Fig. 6).

Although **6**, a putative derivative from a second oxidation step of the central double bond of the halogenated bisabolol **5**, is unknown at present, it can be postulated as a precursor in the biogenesis of these compounds. The nascent intermediate **6** rearranges, by 1,2-migration of the bond connecting both the linear and cyclic halves induced by epoxide ring opening, to **7**. The transformation of $6 \rightarrow 7$ is a key step to account for naturally occurring marine algal irregular and degraded bisabolene-type network metabolites.

From 7, and in virtue of the biogenetically interconvertible $8 \leftrightarrow 9$, alternative path a and/or path b may provide a non-regular network 8 (Box A) from which laucopyranoid A could be generated by stabilization of carbocation 8.



Figure 5. Equilibrium leading to a mixture of epimers at C-7.



Figure 6. Unified biogenesis for marine algal bisabolene-type metabolites.

Hydration of laucopyranoid A may afford the epimeric laucopyranoid B and laucopyranoid C. Whereas laucopyranoid C spontaneously rearranges to **1a**, laucopyranoid B as well as aplysiadiol **1**, derived from extensive oxidation of **7**, Box **B**, may evolve to degraded furocaespitane and related lactol **4** following path **b** indicated in Figure 6. This route involves dehydration of **1** and/or hydration/dehydration of laucopyranoid B to a conjugated ketone **10**, formation of a furane ring by intramolecular displacement of the bromine atom and, finally, trapping of the resulting carbocation **11** by loss of the terminal isopropyl carbinol as acetone.

On the other hand, the key precursor 6 may evolve by oxidizing the remaining olefin, the terminal isopropylidene, to a fully oxidized bromohydrin derivative 12 (Box C) from which the regular sesquiterpenoid caespitol, and related compounds such as isocaespitol,³⁷ caespitenone,³² and 6-hydroxycaespitol²⁸ may originate through path **c**. Cyclization of the Br⁺/ $^{-}$ OH addition product of **5** will produce caespitane. Thus, we propose a unified pathway for the biogenesis of regular, irregular rearranged, and degraded bisabolene-type metabolites isolated from red algae of genus *Laurencia* and the sea hares that thrive on them.

Until now all reported marine algal bisabolene-type metabolites bear a vicinal chlorobromo system on their carbocyclic ring. However, the corresponding dehalogenated derivatives of caespitol and caespitenone, compounds **2** and **3**, respectively, have been found for the first time as naturally occurring metabolites in *A. dactylomela*, suggesting that these compounds have been chemically transformed by the mollusc to store them as less toxic compounds. This statement is supported by the recent finding that the naturally occurring deschloroelatol found in *A. dactylomela* is less toxic than the co-occurring chlorinated elatol.³³ This resembles the known^{38,39} strategy used by *A. dactylomela* by which some acquired algal metabolites are occasionally acetylated to decrease the toxicity³³ of the corresponding alcohols.

Furthermore, the butenolide unit is widespread in natural products from terrestrial to marine organisms and irrespective of an isoprenic or polyketide origin, has been purported to possess enzyme-inhibiting functions.⁴⁰ Plants appear to use lactones to prevent being eaten and to avoid biofouling by bacteria while some animals use lactones to regulate their biochemical processes.⁴⁰ Since the butenolide **4** does not occur as an algal metabolite a question arises as to whether this unit has been biosynthesized by *A. dactylomela* as an additional ability (one more to add to acetylation and dehalogenation) to enhance the fitness of the sea hare.

3. Experimental

3.1. General experimental procedures

Optical rotations were measured on a Perkin-Elmer model 343 Plus polarimeter using a Na lamp at 20 °C. IR spectra were obtained with a Perkin-Elmer 1600/FTIR spectrometer. EIMS and HRMS spectra were taken on a Vg-Micromass Zab 2F spectrometer. ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR, HSQC, HMBC, COSY, and NOESY spectra were measured employing a Bruker AMX 500 instrument operating at 500 MHz for ¹H NMR and at 125.7 MHz for ¹³C NMR, using CHCl₃ as an internal standard. Two-dimensional spectra were obtained with the standard Bruker software. HPLC separations were performed with a Hewlett-Packard HP 1050 (Jaigel-Sil semipreparative column, 10μ , $20 \times 250 \text{ mm}$) with hexane-EtOAc mixture. The gel filtration column (Sephadex LH-20) used hexane-MeOH-CHCl₃ (3:1:1) as solvent. Merck Si gels 7734 and 7741 were used in column chromatography. The spray reagent for TLC was H2SO4-H2O-AcOH (1:4:20).

3.2. Animal material

Eight specimens of A. dactylomela were collected off the SW coast of La Palma Island at -1.5 m depth. Specimens

were dissected and their digestive system along with the mantle were separated and analyzed independently.

3.3. Extraction and isolation

A. dactylomela digestive glands were extracted with acetone at room temperature. The extract was concentrated to give a dark green residue (31.0 g) and partitioned with H₂O- CH_2Cl_2 . The resulting fraction of CH_2Cl_2 (7.5 g) was then submitted to a gel filtration column to give fraction A (822.9 mg), which was subjected to flash chromatography on Si gel. The fraction eluted with hexane-EtOAc (8:2) gave a mixture that was further separated by HPLC (Jaigel-sil column 20×250 mm, flow 4.5 ml/min, hexane-EtOAc (8:2)) to yield the new sesquiterpene 1 (0.7 mg)and the known compound 8-acetylcaespitol (35.0 mg), caespitane (14.0 mg), and laucapyranoid A (4.0 mg). Fraction D was processed using flash chromatography on Si gel eluting with hexane-EtOAc (1:1) to give a mixture that was further separated by HPLC (Jaigel-sil column, flow 4.5 ml/min, hexane-EtOAc (1:1)) to yield the new compounds 2 (5.5 mg) and 4 (9.0 mg), and the known compound caespitenone (4.9 mg). Caespitol (73.6 mg) was isolated from fraction F by crystallization.

A. dactylomela mantles were extracted and processed following the same scheme. Thus, the acetonic extract was partitioned with $H_2O-CH_2Cl_2$ and the resulting fraction of CH_2Cl_2 (3.8 g) was submitted to a gel filtration column to give a fraction (308.3 mg), which after flash chromatography on Si gel eluted with hexane–EtOAc (1:1) gave a mixture that was further separated by HPLC (Jaigel-sil column, flow 4.5 ml/min, hexane–EtOAc (1:1)) to yield the new compounds **2** (30.0 mg), **3** (1.5 mg), and **4** (1.3 mg) together with the known metabolites caespitol (3.1 mg), 8-acetylcaespitol (3.3 mg), and furocaespitane (1.4 mg).

3.3.1. Compound 1. Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ +492 (*c* 0.047, CHCl₃); IR ν_{max} (film) 3448, 1722 cm⁻¹; ¹H and ¹³C NMR, see Table 1; EIMS *m*/*z* 413/415/417/419 [M-Me-H₂O]⁺ (<1, <1, <1, <1), 403/405/407/409 [M-MeCO]⁺ (<1, <1, <1, <1), 385/387/389/391 [M-MeCO-H₂O]⁺ (36, 87, 62, 11), 237/239/241 [C₈H₁₁OBrCl]⁺ (30, 39, 3), 209/211/213 [C₇H₁₁BrCl]⁺ (9, 12, 3), 173/175 [C₇H₁₀Br]⁺ (13, 13); HREIMS 412.9480 (calcd for C₁₄H₂₀O₂³⁵Cl⁷⁹Br₂, 412.9518), 402.9596 (calcd for C₁₃H₂₂O₂³⁵Cl⁷⁹Br₂, 384.9569).

3.3.2. Compound 1a. ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 210.9 (C-7), 81.5 (C-8), 71.1 (C-3), 62.1 (C-2), 59.3 (C-10), 58.2 (C-11), 44.8 (C-6), 42.3 (C-4), 35.7 (C-1), 35.5 (C-9), 31.1 (C-14), 24.8 (C-13), 23.9 (C-15), 23.0 (C-5), 19.1 (C-12).

3.3.3. Compound 2. White powder; $[\alpha]_{25}^{25} - 1.72$ (*c* 1.74, CHCl₃); IR ν_{max} (film) 3384 cm⁻¹; ¹H and ¹³C NMR, see Table 1; EIMS *m*/*z* 316/318 [M]⁺ (<1, <1), 298/300 [M-H₂O]⁺ (2, 2), 236 [M-HBr]⁺ (8), 23 (28), 139 (100); HREIMS 316.1050 (calcd for C₁₅H₂₅O₂⁷⁹Br, 316.1037), 298.0900 (calcd for C₁₅H₂₃O⁷⁹Br, 298.0932), 236.1751 (calcd for C₁₅H₂₄O₂, 236.1776).

3.3.4. Compound 3. Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ -90.9 (*c* 0.03, CHCl₃); IR ν_{max} (film) 1738 cm⁻¹; ¹H and ¹³C NMR, see

Table 1; EIMS m/z 234 [M]⁺ (<1), 219 [M–Me]⁺ (1), 140 (94), 125 (61), 96 (100); HREIMS 234.1665 (calcd for C₁₅H₂₂O₂, 234.1619), 219.1412 (calcd for C₁₄H₁₉O₂, 219.1385).

3.3.5. Compound 4. White powder; $[\alpha]_{D}^{25}$ +55 (*c* 0.25, CHCl₃); IR ν_{max} (film) 3352, 1751 cm⁻¹; ¹H and ¹³C NMR, see Table 1; EIMS *m*/*z* 322/324/326 [M]⁺ (<1, <1, <1), 307/309/311 [M–Me]⁺ (25, 33, 9), 243/245 [M–Br]⁺ (20, 6), 225/227 [M–Br–H₂O]⁺ (77, 26), 207 [M–HBr–Cl]⁺ (100); HREIMS 321.9934 (calcd for C₁₂H₁₆O₃³⁵Cl⁷⁹Br, 321.9971), 306.9639 (calcd for C₁₁H₁₃O₃³⁵Cl⁷⁹Br, 306.9736), 243.0723 (calcd for C₁₂H₁₆O₃³⁵Cl, 243.1643), 225.0595 (calcd for C₁₂H₁₄O₂³⁵Cl, 225.0682), 207.0933 (calcd for C₁₂H₁₅O₃, 207.1021).

3.3.6. Compound 4a. ¹³C NMR (125.7 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 172.6 (C-10), 170.4 (C-8), 116.3 (C-9), 106.8 (C-7), 70.2 (C-3), 60.7 (C-2), 41.9 (C-4), 39.7 (C-1), 36.8 (C-6), 28.6 (C-5), 23.9 (2C, C-11, C-12).

3.4. Dehalogenation of caespitol

A solution of caespitol (20.0 mg) in DMF (1.5 ml) was treated with NaI–Zn and stirred at 115 °C for 2 h. The reaction was quenched with H₂O and extracted with EtOAc to give a mixture that after silica gel chromatography (hexane–EtOAc, 95:5) gave 7.9 mg of compound **2**.

3.5. Oxidation of compound 2

A solution of compound **2** (12.4 mg) in acetone was treated with Jones reagent and stirred at room temperature for 1.5 h. The reaction was quenched with H_2O and extracted with EtOAc to give 8.3 mg of compound **3**.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the DGUI Gobierno de Canarias (PI042005/003, PUB2005/030) and the Ministerio de Educación y Ciencia (PPQ2002-02494, SAF2006-03004).

References and notes

- 1. Carew, T. J.; Kandel, E. R. J. Neurophysiol. 1977, 40, 692-707.
- Stallard, M. O.; Faulkner, D. J. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 1974, 49B, 25–35.
- Dias, T. *Tesina de Licenciatura*; CSIC-Universidade dos Azores: La Laguna, 2004.
- Rogers, C. N.; De Nys, R.; Charlton, T. S.; Steinberg, P. D. J. Chem. Ecol. 2000, 26, 721–744.
- González, A. G.; Darias, J.; Martín, J. D.; Pérez, C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1974, 1249–1250.
- Fusetani, N.; Sugano, M.; Matsunaga, S.; Hashimoto, K. Experientia 1987, 43, 1234–1235.
- Wright, A. E.; Pomponi, S. A.; McConnell, O. J.; Kohmoto, S.; McCarthy, P. J. J. Nat. Prod. 1987, 50, 976–978.
- Butler, M. S.; Capon, R. J.; Nadeson, R.; Beveridge, A. A. J. Nat. Prod. 1991, 54, 619–623.
- 9. Harrison, B.; Crews, P. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 2646-2648.
- 10. Rodríguez, A. D.; Vera, B. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 6364-6368.

- El Sayed, K. A.; Yousaf, M.; Hamann, M. T.; Avery, M. A.; Kelly, M.; Wipf, P. J. Nat. Prod. 2002, 65, 1547–1553.
- 12. Peng, J.; Franzblau, S. G.; Zhang, F.; Hamann, M. T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, *43*, 9699–9702.
- Gaspar, H.; Feio, S. S.; Rodrigues, A. I.; Van Soest, R. Mar. Drugs 2004, 2, 8–13.
- Cichewicz, R. H.; Clifford, L. J.; Lassen, P. R.; Cao, X.; Freedman, T. B.; Nafie, L. A.; Deschamps, J. D.; Kenyon, V. A.; Flanary, J. R.; Holman, T. R.; Crews, P. *Bioorg. Med Chem.* 2005, *13*, 5600–5612.
- 15. Nakamura, H.; Kobayashi, J.; Ohizumi, Y.; Hirata, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1984**, *25*, 5401–5404.
- Sullivan, B. W.; Faulkner, D. J.; Okamoto, K. T.; Chen, M. H. M.; Clardy, J. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 5134–5136.
- Gulavita, N. K.; De Silva, E. D.; Hagadone, M. R.; Karuso, P.; Scheuer, P. J.; Van Duyne, G. D.; Clardy, J. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 5136–5139.
- Kitagawa, I.; Yoshioka, N.; Kamba, C.; Yoshikawa, M.; Hamamoto, Y. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1987, 35, 928–931.
- Kassulke, K. E.; Potts, B. C. M.; Faulkner, D. J. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 3747–3750.
- Fusetani, N.; Wolstenholme, H. J.; Shinoda, K.; Asai, N.; Matsunaga, S.; Onuki, H.; Hirota, H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1992, *33*, 6823–6826.
- Li, C.-J.; Schmitz, F. J.; Kelly, M. J. Nat. Prod. 1999, 62, 1330– 1332.
- 22. McEnroe, F.; Fenical, W. Tetrahedron 1978, 34, 1661-1664.
- Miller, S. L.; Tinto, W. F.; McLean, S.; Reynolds, W. F.; Yu, M. J. Nat. Prod. 1995, 58, 1116–1119.
- 24. Freyer, A. J.; Patil, A. D.; Killmer, L.; Zuber, G.; Myers, C.; Johnson, R. K. J. Nat. Prod. 1997, 60, 309–311.
- D'Armas, H. T.; Mootoo, B. S.; Reynolds, W. F. J. Nat. Prod. 2000, 63, 1593–1595.
- Mülhaupt, T.; Kaspar, H.; Otto, S.; Reichert, M.; Bringmann, G.; Lindel, T. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2005**, 334–341.
- 27. González, A. G.; Darias, J.; Martín, J. D. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1973, 3625–3626.
- Chang, M.; Vázquez, J. T.; Nakanishi, K.; Cataldo, F.; Estrada, D. M.; Fernández, J.; Gallardo, A.; Martín, J. D.; Norte, M.; Pérez, R.; Rodíguez, M. L. *Phytochemistry* **1989**, *28*, 1417–1424.
- De Carvalho, L. R.; Fujii, M. T.; Roque, N. F.; Kato, M. J.; Lago, H. J. G. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2003**, *44*, 2637–2640.
- Hollenbeak, K. H.; Schmitz, F. J.; Hossain, M. B.; Van Der Helm, D. *Tetrahedron* 1979, *35*, 541–545.
- Schmitz, F. J.; Michaud, D. P.; Hollenbeak, K. H. J. Org. Chem. 1980, 45, 1525–1528.
- Wessels, M.; König, G. M.; Wright, A. D. J. Nat. Prod. 2000, 63, 920–928.
- Dias, T.; Brito, I.; Moujir, L.; Paiz, N.; Darias, J.; Cueto, M. J. Nat. Prod. 2005, 68, 1677–1679.
- 34. PCModel (v, 7.0). Serena Software: Bloomington, IN.
- 35. González, A. G.; Martín, J. D.; Martín, V. S.; Norte, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1979**, 2719–2722.
- Vazquez, J. T.; Chang, M.; Nakanishi, K.; Martin, J. D.; Martin, V. S.; Perez, R. J. Nat. Prod. 1988, 51, 1257–1260.
- 37. González, A. G.; Darias, J.; Martín, J. D.; Pérez, C.; Sims, J. J.; Lin, G. H. Y.; Wing, R. M. *Tetrahedron* **1975**, *31*, 2429–2452.
- Stallard, M. O.; Faulkner, D. J. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B 1974, 49, 37–41.
- Pennings, S. C.; Weiss, A. M.; Paul, V. J. Mar. Biol. 1996, 126, 735–743.
- 40. Konaklieva, M. I.; Plotkin, B. J. *Mini Rev. Med. Chem.* **2005**, *5*, 73–95.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9661-9670

Two novel blue pigments with ellagitannin moiety, rosacyanins A1 and A2, isolated from the petals of *Rosa hybrida*

Yuko Fukui,^{a,*} Kyosuke Nomoto,^{b,*} Takashi Iwashita,^c Katsuyoshi Masuda,^c Yoshikazu Tanaka^d and Takaaki Kusumi^d

^aInstitute for Health Care Science, Suntory Ltd, 1-1-1 Wakayamadai, Shimamoto, Mishima, Osaka 618-8503, Japan

^bFaculty of Life Sciences, Toyo University, 1-1-1 Izumino, Itakura, Gumma 374-0193, Japan

^cSuntory Institute for Bioorganic Research, 1-1-1 Wakayamadai, Shimamoto, Mishima, Osaka 618-8503, Japan

^dInstitute for Advanced Technology, Suntory Ltd, 1-1-1 Wakayamadai, Shimamoto, Mishima, Osaka 618-8503, Japan

Received 23 May 2006; accepted 25 July 2006 Available online 22 August 2006

Abstract—Two novel blue pigments, rosacyanins A1 and A2, were isolated from the petals of *Rosa hybrida* cv. 'M'me. Violet'. Their structures were elucidated on the basis of high-resolution Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectroscopy (HR-FT-ICR-MS), FABMS/MS/MS, ¹H, ¹³C and two-dimensional NMR. The molecular formulas of rosacyanin A1 (1) and A2 (2) are $C_{56}H_{37}O_{31}$ and $C_{63}H_{41}O_{35}$, respectively. The structures of rosacyanins A1 and A2 consisted of a common chromophore containing cyanidin with a galloyl group link between positions 4 and 5 of the hydroxyl group of the flavylium nucleus and tellimagrandins (1 or 2). These pigments in which anthocyanidin nuclei linked to ellagitannin through an ether bond are the first compounds isolated from natural sources. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Flower colour is mainly determined by the structures of anthocyanins. In particular, the structures of the chromophores, i.e., anthocyanidins, are important. Most blue flowers contain delphinidin-type anthocyanins, while orange to red flowers contain pelargonidin- and cyanidin-type anthocyanins.¹ Several factors in addition to anthocyanidin structure influence flower colour. It is well known that the bathochromic shift of anthocyanins is caused by their structure and interaction with co-existing compounds and the vacuolar pH.¹ The factors that contribute to the blue colour in flowers are (1) inter-molecular co-pigmentation with flavone or

flavonol,² as reported for Iris ensata Thunb;³ (2) intramolecular co-pigmentation, as observed in polyacylated anthocyanin, e.g., in Gentiana makinoi,⁴ Ipomoea tricolour,⁵ Platycoden grandiflorum,⁶ Clitoria ternatea,⁷ and Senecio cruenthus;8 (3) high vacuolar pH, as in Ipomoea tricolour cv. 'Heavenly Blue';⁹ (4) formation of a metal complex¹⁰ (often called metallo-anthocyanin), such as commelinin iso-lated from *Commelina communis*¹¹ and *Hydrangea macrophylla*;¹² (5) the intra-molecular bonding of anthocyanidin and flavone in one molecule;^{13,14} and (6) the intra-molecular co-pigment and high vacuolar pH occurring in one Petunia hybrida mutant¹⁵ and a combination of these. Anthocyanins are usually stable under acidic conditions, when anthocyanins form a flavylium cation and exhibit red colour; on the other hand, under neutral and weakly acidic conditions, anthocyanins form a violet quinonoidal base¹ that is stabilised via intra-molecular co-pigmentation by polyacylation, as is the case for triacylated heavenly blue anthocyanin in Ipomoea tricolour⁵ and diacylated gentiodelphin in Gentiana makinoi.¹⁶

Hybridisation breeding of floricultural plants has contributed to increase the number of flower colour varieties. However, rose breeders have failed to obtain blue roses. Roses cannot synthesise delphinidin in their petals due to a deficiency of the flavonoid 3',5'-hydroxylase gene,¹⁷ which is critical to synthesise delphinidin. In addition, roses usually have low vacuolar pH and the anthocyanins in the petals

Keywords: Rose; *Rosa hybrida*; Rosacyanin; Anthocyanidin; Ellagitannin; Blue pigment; FABMS/MS/MS; ¹³C isotope shift.

Abbreviations: TFA, trifluoroacetic acid (CF₃COOH); TFA-d, CF₃COOD; DMSO-d₆, (CD₃)₂SO; MeOH, methanol; EtOH, ethanol; BuOH, *n*-butanol; HPLC, high-pressure liquid chromatography; t_R , retention time; FABMS, fast atom bombardment mass spectrometry; ESIMS, electro spray ionisation mass spectrometry; HR-FT-ICR-MS, high-resolution Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry; NMR, nuclear magnetic resonance; DQF-COSY, double quantum filtered correlation spectroscopy; NOESY, nuclear Overhauser and exchange spectroscopy; ROESY, rotating frame Overhauser enhancement spectroscopy; TOCSY, total correlation spectroscopy; ¹H{¹³C}-HSQC, ¹H{¹³C}-heteronuclear single quantum coherence; ¹H{¹³C}-HMBC, ¹H{¹³C}-heteronuclear multiple bond correlation; CD, circular dichroism; FTIR, Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy.

^{*} Corresponding authors. E-mail addresses: yuko_fukui@suntory.co.jp; nomoto-core@rhythm.ocn.ne.jp

are rarely acylated, if at all; rose anthocyanins are pelargonidin/cyanidin 3-glucoside or 3,5-diglucoside, in which the cyanidin or pelargonidin was modified by one or two sugar molecules.¹⁸ Rose petals do not contain flavones, which have stronger co-pigment effects than the flavonols that roses accumulate. Therefore, roses lack the genetic background to become blue. Genetic engineering of roses makes it possible to generate varieties with a novel blue hue; these varieties express a heterologous F3'5'H gene and accumulate delphinidin almost exclusively.¹⁹ During our research for blue pigments from a large variety of roses, we found a small number of blue pigments (rosacyanin As) that mauve-type roses, such as 'M'me. Violet,' contain and have been studying their structure. In a previous study, we reported the structure of rosacyanin B,²⁰ which is a chromophore skeleton of rosacyanin As. The accumulation of rosacyanin As may be a better way to engineer blue roses than that of delphinidin, as rosacyanin As are consistently blue even when co-pigments and metal ions are absent and the vacuolar pH is low. In this paper, we reveal the unique structure of rosacyanin As, in which rosacyanin B and tannin bind together.

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Structural determination of rosacyanins A1 and A2

2.1.1. Structure of rosacyanin A1. Rosacyanin A1 (1) showed four absorption maxima in the UV–vis region [585 nm (log ε , 4.33), 424 nm (3.75), 354 nm (3.96) and 263 nm (4.65) in HCl/MeOH]. The addition of AlCl₃ to the MeOH solution caused a bathochromic shift of the λ_{max} from 590 to 622 nm. This phenomenon of rosacyanin A1 is usually diagnostic of the presence of the *ortho* hydro-xyl group in the B-ring. In the visible spectrum of 1, the λ_{max} and optical density of 1 at pH 1–8 are shown in Table 1. The λ_{max} values were very different from those of typical anthocyanins, such as malvidin 3,5-diglucoside.²¹

In the positive mode, the FABMS of **1** showed a molecular ion at m/z 1205 [M]⁺ and in the negative mode, FABMS gave a molecular ion peak at m/z 1203 [M–2H]⁻. The molecular formula of **1** was established on the basis of high-resolution Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectra (HR-FT-ICR-MS), as C₅₆H₃₇O₃₁ was supported by a molecular ion peak at m/z 1205.13255 [M]⁺ (err. -1.009 ppm).

The ¹H NMR spectrum of 1 showed the duplication of each proton signal (totally 1H), which is characteristic of

Table 1. Change of the absorption maxima and optical densities of rosacyanin A1 in pH $1{-}8$

pН	$\lambda_{max} (nm)$	Optical density	
1	567.0	0.1157	
2	565.5	0.1274	
3	557.5	0.1368	
4	554.5	0.1455	
5	555.0	0.1467	
6	557.0	0.1390	
7	564.0	0.1312	
8	573.0	0.1392	

The solution used for pH 1 and 2 was a Tris–HCl buffer and that for pH 3–8 was a McIlvaine buffer.

anomeric mixture formation.²² However, all proton signals in the sugar region of the two anomers were unambiguously distinguished from each other by ¹H–¹H COSY and the axial orientation of H-2, 3, 4 and 5, except for the anomeric proton H-1 (α -form: δ 5.30, J=2.0 Hz; β -form: δ 4.64, J=8.0 Hz) in the glucopyranose moiety, was evident from the coupling constant of the signals (Table 2).

Additionally, the H-6 methylene proton signals of the glucose moiety were observed at δ 3.60 and 5.03 in the α -anomer (δ 3.77 and 5.00 in the β -anomer) and the H-4 proton signal of the glucose moiety was observed at δ 4.87 in the α -anomer (δ 4.97 in the β -anomer). The H-6 proton had ¹H{¹³C}-HMBC cross peaks at δ 166.91 (Ha-7), while the H-4 proton had them at δ 167.64 (Hb-7'). The large difference in the chemical shift between geminal protons at the C-6 position is characteristic of an ellagitannin having an esterified hexahydroxydiphenoyl (HHDP) group at C-4/C-6 of the hydroxyl groups on the glucose moiety in many hydrolysable tannins.²² The Ha-3 (δ 6.29) and Hb-3' (δ 6.22) signals showed a cross peak with the carboxylic carbonyl carbon signals Ha-7 and Hb-7', respectively (Fig. 1).

Among the glucose proton signals, the H-2 and H-3 [δ 4.96 and 5.66 in the α -anomer (δ 4.83 and 5.51 in the β -anomer)] signals were shifted to a lower magnetic field from the corresponding glucose. In the ¹H NMR spectrum of **1**, the presence of two galloyl groups was revealed by the galloyl proton signals (δ 6.85, 6.78 each s, 2H in total and δ 6.78, 6.79 each s, 2H in total) with ¹H{¹³C}-HMBC correlation through carbonyl carbons (δ 165.11 and 165.40).

The enzymatic hydrolysis of **1** with tannase yielded degalloyl rosacyanin A1 (**4**). Its HR-FT-ICR-MS exhibited a molecular ion at m/z 901.10994 [M]⁺ and the molecular formula was C₄₂H₂₉O₂₃, losing two molecules of the galloyl moieties from the molecular ion of **1**.

In order to clarify all the proton signals of **1** and **4**, their NaBH₄ reduction gave the dihydro derivatives **5** and **6**, respectively (Scheme 1). HR-FT-ICR-MS of **5** and **6** exhibited a molecular ion at m/z 1207.14794 [M]⁺ (C₅₆H₃₉O₃₁) and 903.12406 [M]⁺ (C₄₂H₃₁O₂₃), respectively. These products, **5** and **6**, allowed a straightforward structural elucidation in the NMR spectrum. The assignments of the ¹H and ¹³C signals of **5** and **6** are shown in Tables 2 and 3.

For further details of the structural determination, ¹H{¹³C}-HMBC of compound **6** was measured, and its network and numbering of atoms are shown in Figure 2. Thus, the 1H singlet proton signal (δ 6.28) due to Hb-3' showed a cross peak with the ester carbonyl carbon Hb-7' signals (δ 170.56) on the same ring and the Ha-1 aromatic carbon signal (δ 115.67) of the neighbouring Ha benzene. On the other hand, the 1H singlet proton signal (δ 6.69) due to Ha-3 also observed a cross peak with the Ha-7 carbon signal (δ 169.36) and the Hb-1' carbon (δ 115.91), indicating that two gallate moieties formed an HHDP group by connecting with a C–C bond. In addition, two carboxylic carbonyl carbons (δ 169.36 and 170.56) of the HHDP group correlated through three-bond coupling with the H-4 proton (δ 4.74) and H-6 methylene protons (δ 4.39 and 3.66) on the glucitol moiety, suggested

Table 2. ¹H NMR assignment of compounds 1, 2, 5, 6 and 7

	1: α-form	1 : β-form	2	5	6	7
Chromophor	e					
A-6	6.82d (2)	6.81	6.84d (2)	6.82br s	6.28 (1)	6.89d (1)
A-8	6.98d (2)	6.98	7.04d (2)	7.01br s	6.36d (1)	7.06d (1)
B-2'	8.33d (2)	8.34	8.32d (2)	8.32br s	7.63d (2)	8.14br s
B-5'	6.96d (8)	6.96	6.97d (8)	6.96d (8)	6.60d (8)	6.92d (9)
B-6'	8.10dd (2, 8)	8.10	8.08dd (2, 8)	8.07d (8)	7.65dd (2, 8)	8.11dd (1, 9)
D-3″	6.80s	6.80	6.78s	6.77s	6.49s	6.85s
HHDP						
Ha-3	6.29s	6.26s	6.26s	6.72s	6.69s	7.17s
Hb-3'	6.22s	6.22s	6.23s	6.13s	6.28s	7.56s
Glucose				Glucitol	Glucitol	
1 (a)	5.30d (2)	4.87d (8)	6.14d (8)	3.73br d (8)	3.54dd (4, 13)	
1b				3.62br d (8)	3.45m	
2	4.96dd (2, 9)	4.83t (9)	5.34dd (8, 10)	5.12br d (8)	3.52dd (4, 5)	
3	5.66t (10)	5.51t (10)	5.76t (10)	5.79d (8)	3.71dd (1.5, 5)	
4	4.87t (10)	4.97t (10)	4.92t (10)	5.05d (8)	4.74dd (1.5, 8.5)	
5	4.49dd (7, 10)	4.28dd (7, 10)	4.59ddd (2, 6, 10)	3.80d (8)	4.11dd (2, 8.5)	
6a	5.03dd (7, 12)	5.00dd (7, 12)	5.04dd (6, 12)	4.24br d (12)	4.39dd (2, 13)	
6b	3.67d (12)	3.77br d (12)	3.76dd (2, 12)	3.68br d (12)	3.66d (13)	
GA						
GA1-2,6			6.87s			
GA2-2,6	6.85s	6.79s	6.796s	6.85s		
GA3-2,6	6.78s	6.78s	6.805s	6.78s		

Chemical shift in δ (*J* in hertz). Compounds **1**, **2**, **5** and **7** were measured in DMSO-*d*₆ containing 1% DCl and compound **6** was measured with coaxial tube in CD₃CN:D₂O:TFA-*d*=50:50:0.5 (inner tube)/CD₃CN:H₂O:TFA=50:50:0.5 (outer tube).



Figure 1. Structure of compound 1 with HMBC and NOE. The significant HMBCs are shown in coloured bonds. NOE is shown with arrows. Atom numbers are shown on each atom.

that **1** has a kind of ellagitannin, the tellimagrandin $1^{23,24}$ moiety.

The findings described above were also supported by FABMS/MS fragment ions at m/z 721 generated by cleavage, as shown in Figure 3. In addition to the above-mentioned proton signals, five of the six 1H proton signals in the aromatic region were attributed to H-6 (δ 6.82, d, 2) and H-8 (δ 6.98, d, 2) in the A ring and H-2' (δ 8.33, d, 2), H-5' (δ 6.96, d, 8) and H-6' (δ 8.10, dd, 2, 8) in the B-ring of the flavylium form of the cyanidin nucleus. The low-field singlet (δ 8.60–9.10) characteristic of the H-4 of anthocyanidin was missing in the spectrum of **1**. In the ¹H{¹³C}-HMBC spectrum of **1**, the remaining proton signals of a benzene ring and the carbonyl carbon signal at δ 166.17 (Fig. 1) as well as with rosacyanin B.

FABMS/MS for the molecular ion m/z 1205 [M]⁺ showed fragment ion peaks at m/z 153, 420, 721 and 1053, and the

prominent ion at m/z 420 generated the ether bond cleavage between the C-3 of cyanidin in the chromophore and tellimagrandin 1 moiety, as shown in Figure 3 (Supplementary Fig. 1). FABMS/MS/MS of 1 for the ion at m/z 420 gave fragment ion peaks at m/z 137 and 109; these were the same as those observed in the FABMS/MS spectrum of rosacyanin B²⁰ or flavone.²⁵ These facts suggested that the C-4 position of the cyanidin nucleus in 1 was substituted with the gallic acid moiety as in rosacyanin B. Therefore, these results indicated that 1 consisted of a cyanidin nucleus with C-4 gallate (the chromophore part) and tellimagrandin 1 (the tannin part).

In order to determine the linkage position of the chromophore and tannin parts, we assigned all of the ¹H and ¹³C NMR signals of $\mathbf{6}$ using ${}^{1}\mathrm{H}\{{}^{13}\mathrm{C}\}$ -HSQC, ${}^{1}\mathrm{H}\{{}^{13}\mathrm{C}\}$ -HMBC, TOCSY and DQF-COSY, as shown in Tables 2 and 3. Next, a deuterium-induced ¹³C isotope shift experiment of 6 in 50% CD₃CN/D₂O with TFA-d and 50% CD₃CN/H₂O with TFA was carried out. All carbon signals bearing the hydroxyl or phenolic hydroxyl group were observed as a doublet with an isotope shift, except for two singlet carbon signals at δ 145.06 due to A-3 of the cyanidin nucleus and at δ 146.97 attributed to Hb-4 of the HHDP group (Supplementary Fig. 2). In addition, the D-7 carboxy-carbonyl carbon signal at δ 167.57 appeared as a doublet peak and shifted to a lower magnetic field than that in rosacyanin B (δ 156.67). In the FTIR spectrum of 1, rather than the disappearance of a peak due to the α -pyrone ring at 1725 cm⁻¹ that was noted in rosacyanin B, a peak attributed to the carboxylic group was observed at 1707 cm⁻¹. In the NOESY spectrum of **6**, the NOE correlation of the signal of D-3''with the signal of Hb-3' of the HHDP moiety suggested a spatial proximity of the D gallory ring to Hb of HHDP (Fig. 4). In addition, the 6 N-HCl hydrolysis of 1 gave gallic acid, cyanidin, rosacyanin B and an unknown blue pigment



Scheme 1. Structure of rosacyanins and their derivatives: 1, rosacyanin A1; 2, rosacyanin A2; 3, rosacyanin B; 4, degalloyl rosacyanins A1 and A2; 5, NaBH₄ reduced rosacyanin A1; 6, degalloyl NaBH₄ reduced rosacyanin A1; 7, HCl hydrolysed rosacyanin A1; 8, chromophore moiety of rosacyanins A1 and A2.

Table 3. ¹³C NMR assignment of compounds 1, 2, 5, 6 and 7

	1 (a-form)		2		5	6	7	
Chromophore								
A-2	156.76		156.53		156.56	157.79s	156.7	
A-3	145.30		145.16		145.17	145.06s	145.3	
A-4	132.13		131.88		132.03	131.06s	131.9	
A-5	149.94		149.76		149.84	150.19s	150.2	
A-6	99.41		99.20		99.29	100.33s	99.1	
A-7	162.66		162.49		162.63	163.12s	163.0	
A-8	96.77		96 58		96.65	97.688	96.4	
A-9	150.87		150 71		150.79	151.20s	150.9	
A-10	106 50		106.35		106.38	106.86s	106.5	
R 1/	100.50		100.55		122.15	123.200	122.2	
D-1 D-2/	122.31		122.13		122.13	123.208	122.2	
D-2	117.01		117.00		11/.1/	117.058	110.9	
D-3	144.39		143.00		144.50	143.130	143.4	
B-4'	151.22		150.91		151.07	151.460	151.2	
B-5'	116.18		115.58		116.79	116.438	115.1	
B-6'	123.87		123.28		123.70	126.12s	124.2	
D-1″	113.37		111.21		111.19	113.58s	111.6	
D-2"	111.37		111.21		111.19	112.53s	111.6	
D-3″	101.80		101.50		101.60	104.79s	101.7	
D-4"	150.30		150.13		150.10	151.11d	151.4	
D-5″	139.74		139.27		140.03	140.66d	139.0	
D-6″	139.14		136.69		139.17	138.47s	138.7	
D-7″	166.17		166.01		166.13	167.57d	165.8	
	100117		100101		100110	ronord	10010	
HHDP	115.00		111 50		115.04			
Ha-I	115.00		114.78		115.36	115.6/s	114.2	
Ha-2	123.72		123.65	а	123.03	125.16s	123.1	с
Ha-3	105.39		105.19		106.38	108.83s	109.5	
Ha-4	144.59		144.25		144.36	145.41d	148.5	
Ha-5	135.37		135.12		135.58	136.71d	140.6	
Ha-6	144.72		144.53	b	145.10	144.56d	145.9	d
Ha-7	166.91		166.71		167.07	169.36s	159.1	
Hb-1'	117.30		117.55		116.07	115.91s	111.8	
Hb-2'	123.60		123.43	a*	124.70	126.82s	123.8	c*
Hb-3'	104 48		104 64		103 79	104.78	110.5	
Hb-4'	145.64		145.33		144 73	146.97s	148.6	
Hb-5/	136.70		139.68		136.01	136 28d	139.4	
Hb_6/	144 59		144.38	h*	145.10	144.8d	1/6.9	d*
ПБ-0 ЦЬ 7/	167.64		167.27	U	168 75	170.56	158.0	u
110-7	107.04		107.27		108.75	170.508	130.9	
Glucose	≅–form							
1	89.73		91.87		59.14	63.29d		
2	72.17		70.39		72.88	72.91d		
3	69.90		71.58		69.61	69.96d		
4	70.22		69.52		72.07	75.83s		
5	65.68		71.03		66.97	68.35d		
6	62.65		61.85		67.47	68.87s		
$C \wedge (C \mid 2 \mid 2 \mid 2)$								
GA (GIC-2,3)	110 76		110.0		110.00			
GA2-1	118.76		118.0		118.90			
GA2-2,6	108.89		108.74		108.80			
GA2-3,5	145.51		145.07		145.17			
GA2-4	138.76		138.79		138.21			
GA2-C=O	165.11		164.22		165.10			
GA3-1	118.77		117.83		119.38			
GA3-2,3	108.82		108.61		108.90			
GA3-3,5	145.30		145.25		145.26			
GA3-4	138.93		138.60		138.46			
GA3-C=O	165.40		165.01		165.40			
Glucose	≅-form	6 • • • •	GAI (Glc-1)					
1	95.1	GA1-1	117.20	a and a	*, b and b*, c and	c*, d and d*, these		
2	70.2	GA1-2,6	108.86	signals	may be interchang	eable with each other.		
3	72.2	GA1-3,5	145.39					
4	73.1	GA1-4	139.08					
5	70.2	GA1-C=O	163.80					
6	62.6							

Chemical shift in δ . Compounds **1**, **2**, **5** and **7** were measured in DMSO-*d*₆ containing 1% DCl and compound **6** was measured in CD₃CN/D₂O containing TFA-*d*. In the chemical shift of compound **1** in the β -form, only the glucose moiety is distinguishable. In compound **6**, s means singlet and d means doublet in the isotope shift.



Figure 2. Long-range HMBC of **6** in the tannin part. (a): The HMBCs from the Hb-3' proton are shown in thick lines, (b): the HMBCs from the Ha-3 proton are shown in thick lines. Both protons have cross peaks to the C-1 carbon on the opposite benzene.



Figure 3. FABMS/MS and MS/MS/MS assignments of 1. Black arrows show the MS/MS assignment from m/z 1205 and red arrows show the MS/MS/MS assignment from m/z 420.



Figure 4. HMBC and NOE of compound 6. The significant HMBCs are shown in coloured lines. NOE is shown with arrows. Atom numbers are shown on each atom.

(7), which had λ_{max} of 590 nm in 90% CH₃CN with 0.5% TFA. ESIMS of 7 exhibited molecular ions at m/z 721 [M]⁺, losing two molecules of the galloyl groups, two H₂O molecules and one glucose molecule from the molecule of 1. In the ¹H NMR spectrum of 7, all proton signals were only observed in the aromatic region, namely, two proton signals due to the ellagic acid group (δ 7.17, s and 7.56, s), five *ortho-* and *meta-*coupled signals attributed to the flavy-lium nucleus (δ 6.89, d, J=1; 7.06, d, J=1; 8.14, br s; 6.92, d, J=9; 8.11, dd, J=9.1) and one additional proton signal assigned to D-3 on the galloyl moiety (δ 6.85, s). Furthermore, the chemical shifts of two carbonyl carbons (δ 159.14 and 158.92) coincided with those of α -pyrone ring systems,



Figure 5. HMBC of compound 7. The HMBC network of compound 7 is shown with curved arrows.

such as rosacyanin B^{20} and ellagic acid.²⁶ The ¹H{¹³C}-HMBC spectrum supported the structure of **7**. Thus, the structure of **7** was illustrated by the formula with the HMBC network shown in Figure 5.

In the CD spectrum, $\mathbf{1}$ has a positive cotton effect at around 260 nm, similarly to tellimagrandin 1; therefore, the HHDP moiety has an *S* configuration, which is the same as tellimagrandin 1. Considering the results reported above, the structure of rosacyanin A1 was proposed to be $\mathbf{1}$, as shown in Figure 1.

2.1.2. Structure of rosacyanin A2. The UV-vis spectrum of rosacvanin A2 (2) is very similar to that of 1 and had λ_{max} 585 nm. The molecular formula of 2 was determined to be $C_{63}H_{41}O_{35}$ on the basis of a molecular ion at m/z1357.144794 [M]⁺ (err. -1.633 ppm) in its HR-FT-ICR-MS. The molecular ion at m/z 1357 [M]⁺ increased 152 mass units, corresponding to one molecule of the galloyl group, compared to the peak of the molecular ion of 1 at m/z 1205 [M]⁺. In the positive mode, FABMS/MS of 2 from m/z 1357 gave a fragment ion at m/z 420, which was the same chromophore (8) as rosacyanin A1. The 1 H and ¹³C NMR spectra of 2 indicated the presence of chromophore (8), three galloyl groups, an HHDP and a glucose moiety. In ¹H NMR, the anomeric proton of **2** was observed as a doublet with a coupling constant of 8 Hz at δ 6.14 demonstrating that an additional β -oriented galloyl group in 2 was substituted at the C-1 position on the glucose moiety. Moreover, the tannase hydrolysis of 2 yielded degalloyl rosacyanin A1 (4). This finding and the NMR result (Tables 2 and 3) suggested that the structure of 2 was gallate-esterified at C-1 of the glucose moiety. The tannin part of 2 was identified as tellimagrandin 2.²³ In the CD spectrum, 2 has a positive cotton effect around 260 nm and the HHDP moiety has an S configuration that is identical to that of tellimagrandin 2. Finally, the structure of rosacyanin A2 was established as 2, as shown in Figure 6.

2.2. Properties of rosacyanins

Since both rosacyanins (1 and 2) have their 4-position substituted, it is predicted that this substitution affects the properties of these rosacyanins in a neutral or weakly acidic aqueous solution. This is because the substitution at position 4 of the flavylium cation affects the distribution of the charge throughout the molecule and, as a result, positions 2 and 4 become less reactive to the nucleophilic attack.²⁷ Thus, the presence of a 4-substituent on the cyanidin nuclei provides great resistance to hydration at the 2-position; in other words, it increases the stability of the anthocyanidin nuclei.



Figure 6. Structure and HMBC of rosacyanin A2 (2). The significant HMBCs are shown in coloured lines. Atom numbers are shown on each atom.

Under acidic condition (pH<2), the flavylium cation form (Fig. 7a1) and the pyrylium cation form (Fig. 7a2) are predominant, whereas under weakly acidic conditions (pH 3– 6), the opposite is true, i.e., it displays a violet quinonoidal form (Fig. 7b1–3). Above pH 7, a quinonoidal base anion structure (Fig. 7c1–3) that is blue in colour is formed. In the pH range of 3–6, the λ_{max} of rosacyanin shifted from 567 to 555 nm. An explanation for this hypochromic effect may be that the positive charge on the flavylium ring may be delocalised by resonance and reside largely on the oxygen atom on the newly formed pyrylium ring (Fig. 7a1). Thus, the chromophore of rosacyanin has many resonance forms to inhibit hydration at the 2-position, which is the hydrobase.

In general, simple anthocyanins, mono- or diglucoside, are red or orange at low pH; however, under weakly acidic conditions, their 2-positions are easily hydrated and become colourless pseudobases. Rosacyanins are blue or violet in a wide pH range (pH 1–7). A possible explanation for the bluing mechanism of rosacyanin molecules may be that they form a horizontally or vertically stacked molecule. No NOE, however, was observed at the signals of the tellimagrandin 1 moiety between the cyanidin nuclei, but NOE was observed between A-8 and B-2"/B-6", suggesting that the protons on the cyanidin nucleus and tellimagrandin 1



Figure 7. Possible mesomeric forms of the chromophore of rosacyanin: a1, flavylium cation; a2, pyrylium cation; b, quinonoidal base; b1, A7 oxo-type; b2, B4' oxo-type; b3, D4" oxo-type; c3, D4" oxo-type; c3, D4" oxo-type.

are located at a greater distance than A-8 and B-2''/B-6'' (Fig. 1). Therefore, the chromophore of rosacyanins is considered to have no intra-molecular stacking with any aromatic ring in the HHDP and galloyl groups of the tellimagrandin 1 moiety.

2.3. Conclusion

We have found mauve roses containing a small amount of blue pigments co-existing with a red anthocyanin and cyanidin 3,5-diglucoside, and determined that the coexistence of a small quantity of the present blue pigments (rosacyanins) is the reason that the roses look bluish. These pigments are called 'rosacyanin' because of their true blue colour and they were isolated from the petals of *Rosa hybrid* cv. 'M'me. Violet'.

Rosacyanins A1 (1) and A2 (2) had a common chromophore, which contained cyanidin with a galloyl group link between positions 4 and 5 of the hydroxy group of the flavylium nucleus, and tellimagrandin 1 and 2, respectively, at C-3 of cyanidin nucleus.

To our knowledge, this is the first natural pigment in which the flavylium nucleus binds to ellagitannin but not through sugar. Similar compounds, including tannins, are known and have been isolated from *Camellia japonica* L.,²⁸ *Quercus* and *Castanopsis asicies*,^{29,30} in which the sugar moieties of ellagitannins bind to catechin by the C–C bond.

The HCl hydrolysis product (7) of 1 has λ_{max} 590 nm and is still blue. When the bluish polyacylated anthocyanins isolated hitherto, such as gentiodelphin,¹⁶ were compared with rosacyanins (1 and 2) or 7, the bathochromic shift of the latter pigments was not explained as former pigments result from the stacking of the chromophore and tannin moieties. This is because no NOE was observed between the signals of the cyanidin nucleus proton between the tellimagrandin moieties. From now on, detailed studies will be conducted to elucidate the bluish mechanism on rosacyanins and their derivative molecules.

Rosacyanins, which not only are 4-substituted but also have their 5 position substituted, showed a greater resistance to hydration, a greater colour expression at higher pH values and increased stability of the molecules. Rosacyanins are thought to be biosynthesised by an enzymatic cycloaddition or by a nucleophilic and electrophilic addition of cyanidin with a large amount of tellimagrandin 1 and 2 distributed in the rose petals.^{31,32} It is very interesting that cyanidin changed to blue by binding to tellimagrandin, although the change cannot be attributed to coexistence with tellimagrandin 1, but with pentagalloyl-glucose.^{32,33} The accumulation of a large amount of rosacyanins in the petals will result in a blue rose.

3. Experimental

3.1. General

Compounds 1, 2, 5 and 7 were dissolved in DMSO- d_6 containing 1% DCl and compound 6 was dissolved in 50% CD₃CN/D₂O containing 0.5% TFA-d; ¹H NMR, ¹³C NMR,

¹H{¹³C}-HSQC, ¹H{¹³C}-HMBC, TOCSY, DQF-COSY and NOESY spectra were obtained on an AVANCE-750 spectrometer (BRUKER BIOSPIN, Germany). The method used for the ¹H{¹³C}-HMBC measurement to observe a longrange spin–spin coupling between a proton and a carbon is shown below. To observe a long-range spin–spin coupling between a proton and a carbon, the delay for the evolution of small couplings in the gradient-enhanced HMBC pulse sequence was set to 300 ms. This value optimises the observation at around 1.7 Hz of the spin–spin coupling constant, whereas the usual HMBC delay parameter was set to 65 ms, which is focused on the coupling constant 8 Hz.

The deuterium induced a differential ¹³C isotope shift³⁴ that was obtained with a dual sample tube consisting of an inner tube (2.9 mm ϕ) with 0.11 mM of **6** in 50% CD₃CN/D₂O with 0.5% TFA-*d* and an outer tube (5 mm ϕ) with 0.11 mM of **6** in 50% CD₃CN/H₂O with 0.5% TFA. ¹³C NMR was measured on a DMX-500 spectrometer (BRUKER BIOSPIN, Germany). The residual proton peaks and ¹³C peaks of CD₃CN (δ 1.94 for ¹H and δ 1.36: CD₃ and 118.32: CN for ¹³C) or DMSO-*d*₆ (δ 2.50 for ¹H and δ 39.43 for ¹³C) were used as the internal standard (the assignment of data are shown in Tables 2 and 3).

Fast atom bombardment mass spectra (FABMS) and FABMS/MS or FABMS/MS/MS of **1** and **2** were recorded on a JMS-HX110/HX110A tandem mass spectrometer (JEOL, Japan) in the positive mode with a nitrobenzylalcohol matrix. The ESIMS of **7** was obtained by Q-TOF with a z-spray ion source (Micromass, Manchester, UK) in the positive mode. High-resolution mass spectra (HRMS) of **1**, **2**, **4**, **5** and **6** were recorded on a 9.4T FT-ICR MS APEX-Q spectrometer (BRUKER Daltonics, Germany) with an Apollo ESI ion source in the positive mode.

Compounds **1**, **2**, **4** and **6** were dissolved in MeOH containing 0.1% HCl (0.02 mM) and the UV–vis spectrum was measured at 700–200 nm. Compound **1** was diluted with pH 1–8 in 0.01 mM buffers and the visible spectra at 780–400 nm were measured with a 5-cm light-pass crystal cell. The solution used for pH 1 and 2 was a 0.1 M Tris–HCl buffer, and that for pH 3–8 consisted of a McIIvaine buffer prepared with 0.1 M citric acid and 0.2 M Na₂HPO₄ (Table 1). Compound **1** (86 μ g) was dissolved in 5 mL of MeOH (0.0143 mM) and the UV–vis spectrum was measured; then, a 1% AlCl₃ solution was added and the UV–vis spectrum was measured at 780–250 nm. These analyses were conducted using a Shimadzu UV-2500PC spectrophotometer (Shimadzu Corporation, Japan).

The FTIR spectra of **1** and **2** were measured on a Nicolet 710 FT-IR with single-reflection ATR using a diamond crystal.

The CD spectra of 1, 2 and 5 were measured on a J-725 spectropolarimeter (Jasco Corporation, Japan) in MeOH (0.1 mM) with a 1 mm crystal cell.

3.2. Materials

Rosa hybrida cv. M'me. Violet, purchased from the Tsukimoto Rose Garden (Kyoto, Japan), was grown in a typical greenhouse.

3.3. Purification of rosacyanins

Petals of *Rosa hybrida* cv. 'M'me. Violet' (7.9 kg) upon storage at -80 °C were pulverised in liquid N₂ and extracted with 15 L of 80% aqueous acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA. After filtration, the extract was concentrated under vacuum and applied on a Sephadex LH-20 (9 L, Pharmacia Biotech, Sweden) column and eluted step-wise with 30% CH₃CN containing 0.1% TFA and 60% CH₃CN.

The 60% CH₃CN fraction was separated into two fractions; the former fraction was concentrated under vacuum and applied on HP-20 (1.5 L, Mitsubishi Chemical Co., Ltd, Japan). The column was washed with 2 L of H₂O and then eluted with 3 L of 10% CH₃CN containing 0.1% TFA and 3 L of 50% CH₃CN containing 0.1% TFA step-wise. The fraction including rosacyanin A1 (1) was eluted with 50% CH₃CN fraction.

This fraction was purified by preparative HPLC as below. The HPLC was accomplished with the use of a Develosil-ODS-UG-15/30 (50 cm \times 5 cm, Nomura Chemical, Ltd, Japan) column with a flow rate of 32 mL/min and the absorbance was monitored at 260 nm. The solvent system used included gradient elution for 80 min using 30–100% of solvent B (50% CH₃CN/H₂O, 0.5% TFA) in solvent A (0.5% TFA/H₂O).

The fraction including **1** was further purified using a Sephadex LH-20 (600 mL, Pharmacia Biotech, Sweden) column with 50% CH₃CN/H₂O. After 1.5 L elution, rosacyanin A1 was eluted. This fraction was finally applied on the HPLC using a YMC-pack Polymer C18 (30 cm×2 cm, YMC Co., Ltd, Japan) with a flow rate of 6 mL/min and monitoring by UV Abs. at 260 nm. The solvent system used was as follows: after 30 min of isocratic elution with 70% solvent B, gradient elution for 20 min using 70–90% of solvent B (50% CH₃CN/H₂O, 0.5% TFA) in solvent A (0.5% TFA/ H₂O) was carried out. After these chromatograms, 80 mg of **1** was obtained.

The latter 60% CH₃CN fraction of the first LH-20 column chromatogram was purified by preparative HPLC as below. The HPLC was accomplished by using a Develosil-ODS-UG-15/30 (50 cm×5 cm, Nomura Chemical, Ltd, Japan) column with a flow rate of 32 mL/min and monitoring at A260 nm. The solvent system used included gradient elution for 80 min using 40–100% of solvent B (50% CH₃CN/H₂O, 0.5% TFA) in solvent A (0.5% TFA/H₂O).

The fraction including rosacyanin A2 (**2**) was applied on the HPLC using a YMC-pack Polymer C18 ($30 \text{ cm} \times 2 \text{ cm}$, YMC Co., Ltd, Japan) column with a flow rate of 6 mL/ min and monitoring at A260 nm. The solvent system used was as follows: after 30 min of isocratic elution with 75% solvent B, gradient elution for 20 min using 75–100% of solvent B (50% CH₃CN/H₂O, 0.5% TFA) in solvent A (0.5% TFA/H₂O) was carried out. The fraction including **2** was finally applied on the HPLC using a Develosil C30-UG-5 ($30 \text{ cm} \times 2 \text{ cm}$, Nomura Chemical, Ltd, Japan) column with a flow rate of 6 mL/min and monitoring at A260 nm. The solvent system used was as follows: after 30 min of isocratic elution with 70% solvent B, gradient elution for 20 min

using 70–90% of solvent B (50% CH_3CN/H_2O , 0.5% TFA) in solvent A (0.5% TFA/H₂O) was carried out. After these chromatograms, 8 mg of **2** was obtained.

3.3.1. Rosacyanin A1 (1). Blue amorphous powder. IR ν_{max} : 1707, 1606, 1327, 1191, 1028 cm⁻¹; UV–vis (0.1% HCl/ MeOH) λ_{max} : 585 (log ε , 4.26), 424 (3.753), 354 (3.950), 263 (4.581) and 216 nm (4.87); CD (MeOH): [θ]₂₈₄ +1.23×10⁴, [θ]₂₆₁ -1.00×10⁴, [θ]₂₃₂ +1.88×10⁴; FABMS/MS *m/z*: 1205, 1053, 721, 420, 153; HR-FT-ICR-MS: 1205.13255 calculated for C₅₆H₃₇O₃₁ (1205.13133, err. -1.009 ppm); ¹H and ¹³C NMR (1% DCl/DMSO-*d*₆): Tables 2 and 3.

3.3.2. Rosacyanin A2 (2). Blue amorphous powder. IR ν_{max} : 1719, 1603, 1321, 1185, 1020 cm⁻¹; UV–vis (0.1% HCl/ MeOH) λ_{max} : 585 (log ε , 3.74), 267 (4.51) and 216 nm (4.87); CD (MeOH): [θ]₂₈₁ +6.84×10³, [θ]₂₅₆ -4.28×10³, [θ]₂₂₅ +1.29×10⁴; FABMS/MS *m*/*z*: 1053, 721, 420, 153; HR-FT-ICR-MS: 1357.14451 calculated for C₆₃H₄₁O₃₅ (1357.14229, err. -1.633 ppm); ¹H and ¹³C NMR (1% DCl/DMSO-*d*₆): Tables 2 and 3.

3.4. HCl hydrolysis of 1

Rosacyanin A1 **1** (8 mg) was hydrolysed in 25 mL of 6 N HCl at 100 °C for 18 min. The hydrolysate was extracted with 4 mL of BuOH and the organic layer was purified by reverse-phase HPLC using a Polymer C18 ($2 \text{ cm}\phi \times 30 \text{ cm}$, YMC Co., Ltd, Japan) column to obtain four fractions. Fraction A was gallic acid, fraction B was cyanidin and fraction C was Rosacyanin B, as determined by HPLC and TOFMS analysis and their molecular ions at m/z 169 [M–H]⁻, m/z 287 [M]⁺ and m/z 419 [M]⁺, respectively. Fraction D (7) contained 1.8 mg of blue pigment, which has λ_{max} of 590 nm in 90% CH₃CN with 0.5% TFA, and its structure was determined by TOFMS analyses.

3.5. Enzymatic hydrolysis of 1

The enzymatic hydrolysis of 30 mg of **1** was performed with 20 mg of tannase (Kikkoman Co., Ltd) in 100 mL of 0.1 M potassium phosphate buffer, pH 5.5, at room temperature for 24 h. The reactant was purified using Superdex Peptide HR10/30 (1 cm $\phi \times 30$ cm, Pharmacia Biotech, Sweden) with 50% CH₃CN/H₂O containing 0.01% TFA to yield 15 mg of hydrolysate (**4**). In the same procedure, **4** was obtained from **2**.

3.5.1. Degalloyl rosacyanin A1 (4). Blue amorphous powder. UV–vis (0.1% HCl/MeOH) λ_{max} : 585 (log ε , 4.40), 360 (4.02), 260 (sh, 4.56) and 211 nm (4.83); CD (MeOH): $[\theta]_{282}$ +5.93×10³, $[\theta]_{259}$ -1.16×10⁴, $[\theta]_{216}$ +1.41×10⁴, HR-FT-ICR-MS: 901.10994 calculated for C₄₂H₂₉O₂₃ (901.10941, err. -0.585 ppm).

3.6. NaBH₄ reduction of 1 and 4

NaBH₄ (120 mg) was added to a solution of 60 mg of **1** in 100 mL MeOH; the reaction mixture was left for 30 min and then 15 mL of 1 N HCl was added to it. The reactant was purified by reverse-phase HPLC using a Polymer C18 (2 cm $\phi \times 30$ cm, YMC Co., Ltd, Japan) column to obtain 24 mg of **5**. Compound **4** (15 mg) was reduced in the same

manner as for 1 to obtain 6 mg of 6. The structures of the derivatives of 1 are shown in Scheme 1.

3.6.1. Reduced rosacyanin A1 (5). Blue amorphous powder. UV–vis (0.1% HCl/MeOH) λ_{max} : 587 (log ε , 4.03), 260 (4.45) and 214 nm (4.83); HR-FT-ICR-MS: 1207.14794 calculated for C₅₆H₃₄O₃₁ (1207.14698, err. –0.794 ppm); ¹H and ¹³C NMR (1% DCl/DMSO-*d*₆): Tables 2 and 3.

3.6.2. Degalloyl-reduced rosacyanin A1 (6). Blue amorphous powder. UV–vis (0.1% HCl/MeOH) λ_{max} : 582 (log ε , 4.28), 360 (3.89), 260 (sh, 4.43) and 211 nm (4.70); HR-FT-ICR-MS: 903.12406 calculated for C₄₂H₃₁O₂₃ (903.12506, err. 1.116 ppm); ¹H and ¹³C NMR [CD₃CN (CD₃CN):D₂O (H₂O):TFA-*d* (TFA)=50:50:0.5]: Tables 2 and 3.

Supplementary data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.068.

References and notes

- Goto, T. Progress in the Chemistry of Organic Natural Products; Herz, H., Griesbach, H., Kirby, G. W., Tamm, C., Eds.; Springer: Wien, New York, NY, 1987; Vol. 52, pp 113– 158.
- 2. Asen, S.; Stewart, R. N.; Norris, K. H. *Phytochemistry* **1972**, *11*, 1139–1144.
- Yabuya, T.; Nakamura, M.; Iwashina, T.; Yamaguchi, M.; Takehara, T. *Euphytica* 1997, 98, 163–167.
- Goto, T.; Kondo, T.; Tamura, H.; Imagawa, H.; Iino, A.; Takeda, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1982**, *23*, 3695–3698.
- 5. Lu, T. S.; Saito, N.; Yokoi, M.; Shigehara, A.; Honda, T. *Phytochemistry* **1992**, *31*, 659–663.
- Goto, T.; Kondo, T.; Tamura, H.; Kawahori, K.; Hattori, H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1983**, *24*, 2181–2184.
- Kondo, T.; Ueda, M.; Goto, T. *Tetrahedron* 1990, 46, 4749– 4756.
- Goto, T.; Kondo, T.; Kawai, T.; Tamura, H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1984, 25, 6021–6024.
- Yoshida, K.; Kondo, T.; Okazaki, Y.; Katou, K. Nature 1995, 373, 291.
- Goto, T.; Tamura, H.; Kawai, T.; Hoshino, T.; Harada, N.; Kondo, T. International Symposium on Bioorganic Chemistry;

Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences: New York, NY, 1986; Vol. 471, pp 155–173.

- Kondo, T.; Yoshida, K.; Nakagawa, A.; Kawai, T.; Tamura, H.; Goto, T. *Nature* **1992**, *358*, 515–518.
- 12. Takeda, K.; Kariuda, M.; Itoi, H. *Phytochemistry* **1985**, *24*, 2251–2254.
- Figueiredo, P.; Elhabiri, M.; Toki, K.; Saito, N.; Dangles, O.; Brouillard, R. *Phytochemistry* 1996, 41, 301–308.
- 14. Bloor, S. J.; Falshaw, R. Phytochemistry 2000, 53, 575-579.
- Fukui, Y.; Kusumi, T.; Yoshida, K.; Kondo, T.; Matsuda, C.; Nomoto, K. *Phytochemistry* **1998**, *47*, 1409–1416.
- Yoshida, K.; Toyama, Y.; Kameda, K.; Kondo, T. Phytochemistry 2000, 54, 85–92.
- 17. Mol, J.; Cornish, E.; Mason, J.; Koes, R. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 1999, 10, 198–201.
- Eugster, C. H.; Fischer, E. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1991, 30, 654–672.
- Tanaka, Y.; Fukui, Y.; Togami, J.; Katsumoto, Y.; Mizutani, M. WO Patent 2005/017147.
- 20. Fukui, Y.; Kusumi, T.; Masuda, K.; Iwashita, T.; Nomoto, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, *43*, 2637–2639.
- 21. Goto, T.; Kondo, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1991, 30, 17–33.
- 22. Yoshida, T.; Hatano, T.; Okuda, T. *Magn. Reson. Chem.* **1992**, *30*, S46–S55.
- 23. Wilkins, C. K.; Bohm, B. A. Phytochemistry 1976, 15, 211-214.
- Yoshida, T.; Jin, Z. X.; Okuda, T. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1991, 39, 49–54.
- 25. Ma, Y. L.; Van den Heuvel, H.; Claeys, M. *Rapid Commun.* Mass Spectrom. **1999**, 13, 1932–1942.
- Sinha, A.; Taylor, W. H.; Khan, I. H.; Mcdaniel, S. T.; Esko, J. D. J. Nat. Prod. 1999, 62, 1036–1038.
- 27. Bakker, J.; Timberlake, C. F. J. Agric. Food Chem. 1997, 45, 35–43.
- Hatano, T.; Shida, S.; Han, L.; Okuda, T. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1991, 39, 876–880.
- Nonaka, G.; Nishimura, H.; Nishioka, I. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1985, 163–172.
- Nonaka, G.; Ishimaru, K.; Mihashi, K.; Iwase, Y.; Ageta, M.; Nishioka, I. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **1988**, *36*, 857–869.
- Okuda, T.; Yoshida, T.; Hatano, T.; Iwasaki, M.; Kubo, M.; Orime, T.; Yoshizaki, M.; Naruhashi, N. *Phytochemistry* 1992, 31, 3091–3096.
- Nayeshiro, K.; Eugster, C. H. Helv. Chim. Acta 1989, 72, 985– 992.
- Mistry, V. T.; Cai, Y.; Lilley, H.; Haslam, E. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1991, 1278–1296.
- Pfeffer, P. E.; Valentine, K. M.; Parrish, F. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, 101, 1265–1274.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9671-9680

Introduction of the Aib-Pro unit into peptides by means of the 'azirine/oxazolone method' on solid phase

Simon Stamm^{\dagger} and Heinz Heimgartner^{*}

Institute of Organic Chemistry, University of Zürich, Winterthurerstrasse 190, CH-8057 Zürich, Switzerland

Received 19 May 2006; revised 13 July 2006; accepted 25 July 2006 Available online 21 August 2006

Abstract—A method for the direct introduction of Aib-Pro into peptides on solid phase was developed. The Aib-Pro unit was introduced by means of the 'azirine/oxazolone method' using allyl N-(2,2-dimethyl-2*H*-azirin-3-yl)-L-prolinate as the synthon. After the reaction of the resin-bound amino or peptide acid with allyl N-(2,2-dimethyl-2*H*-azirin-3-yl)-L-prolinate, the allyl protecting group of the resulting extended peptide could be removed by a mild Pd⁰-promoted procedure. Cleavage of the peptide from the resin was performed with UV light at 352 nm and yielded C-terminal protected peptides. The method found a successful application in the syntheses of different Aib-Pro containing peptaibol segments. Furthermore, a protected derivative of the peptide antibiotic *Trichovirin I 1B* was prepared by segment condensation. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

2*H*-Azirin-3-amines are highly strained systems with versatile reactivity.¹ One very interesting and useful reaction is their application in peptide synthesis. In the 'azirine/oxazolone method', 2*H*-azirin-3-amines such as **1** or **2** are used as synthons for the introduction of sterically demanding α , α -disubstituted α -amino acids into peptides.¹⁻³ Thus, the reaction of 2*H*-azirin-3-amines, e.g., the α -aminoisobutyric acid (Aib) synthon **1a**, with amino or peptide acids leads to peptide amides, the terminal amide bonds of which can be hydrolyzed selectively to give extended peptide acids. In solution-phase chemistry, the 'azirine/oxazolone method' has proven to be successful for the introduction of a variety of sterically demanding α , α -disub-



Keywords: α-Aminoisobutyric acid; Azirine/oxazolone method; Peptaibols; Peptide synthesis; Photocleavable linker.

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter @ 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.082

stituted α -amino acids into oligopeptides,^{4–13} endothiopeptides,^{14–16} cyclic peptides,^{17–18} and cyclic depsipeptides.^{19–23}

Recently, we adapted the 'azirine/oxazolone method' to solid-phase conditions, in order to additionally benefit from their advantages,²⁴ e.g., the rapid access to peptides without the need for the isolation of the sometimes cumbersome peptide acid intermediates. In this method, the growing peptide was attached through a carbamate linker to a [4-(hydroxymethyl)phenyl]acetamidomethyl (PAM) polystyrene resin (3) (Scheme 1). After deprotection of 'Bu ester 4a, resin-bound amino acid 4b was treated with a solution of **1a**. It is worth mentioning that unconsumed **1a** could easily be recovered and re-used. The terminal amide 5a was selectively hydrolyzed with 3 M HCl in THF/H₂O to provide the resin-bound peptide acid 5b. Further extension of the peptide chain could be achieved either with a 'Bu-protected amino acid and a coupling reagent or with 1a. Cleavage of the peptide from the resin was achieved with HBr (33%) in acetic acid, and yielded the tripeptide 6. In a recent paper, we showed that the method is not restricted to the Aib synthon 1a, and that it was successfully extended to the 1-aminocyclopentane-1-carboxylic acid synthon 1b, the 4-amino-3,4,5,6-tetrahydro-2*H*-pyran-4-carboxylic acid synthon 1c, and the α -methylphenylalanine synthon 1d.²⁵

Peptaibols are linear, amphiphilic oligopeptides from fungal sources with a high proportion of α, α -disubstituted α -amino acids, primarily, Aib.^{26–27} Peptaibols show antibiotic properties due to self-association in lipid membranes forming ion channels.²⁸ Several peptaibols, or segments thereof, were synthesized by means of the 'azirine/oxazolone method'.^{4,8–13} The 2*H*-azirin-3-amine **2a** played an important role in these syntheses, since **2a** allowed the direct

Abbreviations: Aib, α-aminoisobutyric acid; DIPEA, *N*,*N*-diisopropylethylamine; HOBt, 1-hydroxybenzotriazole; PyBOP, (1*H*-benzotriazol-1-yloxy)tripyrrolidinophosphonium hexafluorophosphate; TBTU, *O*-(1*H*-benzotriazol-1-yl)-*N*,*N*,*N'*,*N'*-tetramethyluronium tetrafluoroborate; TFA, trifluoroacetic acid; TIPS, triisopropylsilane; Z, benzyloxycarbonyl; Z-ONSu, *N*-[(benzyloxycarbonyl)oxy]succinimide.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +41 44 6354282; fax: +41 44 6356836; e-mail: heimgart@oci.unizh.ch

[†] Part of the projected Ph.D. thesis of S. Stamm, Universität Zürich.



Scheme 1.

introduction of the frequently present, but relatively acid labile, Aib-Pro unit.⁹ Unexpectedly, the use of **2a** on solid phase was not successful (vide infra).

Herein we report a method for the introduction of the Aib-Pro unit into peptides on solid phase, using a photolabile linker and a new Aib-Pro synthon (**2b**), which was especially developed for this purpose.²⁹

2. Results and discussion

The most obvious approach to the introduction of the Aib-Pro unit was the use of synthon 2a in analogy to the method outlined in Scheme 1. In doing so, the resin-bound amino acid **4b** was treated with a solution of **2a**, and the resulting resin-bound tripeptide methyl ester **7** was saponified with LiOH in a mixture of THF, MeOH, and H₂O (Scheme 2). After coupling with H-Val-O'Bu by using PyBOP as the coupling reagent, the peptide was cleaved from the resin with HBr (33%) in acetic acid to give H-Ala-Aib-Pro-Val-OH (9) in 20% yield. In order to guarantee proper swelling of the resin during the saponification, the experiment was repeated with a Tentagel resin. However, the yield of 21% was still conspicuously lower in comparison with the introduction of the synthons **1a-d** (37–50%). The problem was recognized, when the synthesis of the model peptide H-Ala-Aib-Pro-Leu-Aib-Val-OH (on Tentagel resin) and the peptaibol segment (A8-A14 of Trichovirin Ia) H-Val-Aib-Gly-Aib-Aib-Pro-Leu-OH (on polystyrene resin) failed. Only peptide fragments, which are caused by Aib-Pro fissions, were detected. The analysis of the fragments revealed that the cleavage of the Aib-Pro amide bond occurred during the HBr-promoted cleavage of the peptide from the resin, and not during the hydrolysis of the terminal amide, which was necessary after the incorporation of 1a.

Thus, a linker was required, which can be cleaved under milder conditions, but is still stable in TFA (50%) and HCl (3 M). Some years ago, Kunz introduced a Pd⁰-labile allyl



linker for the synthesis of peptide acids.³⁰ Therefore, we synthesized $2-\{[(Z)-4-(triisopropylsilyloxy)but-2-enyl]oxy\}$ ethanoic acid³¹ and attached its carboxy group via an alanine spacer to an aminomethyl polystyrene resin.³² Additionally, (*E*)-7-hydroxyhept-5-enoic acid was prepared,³³ and its carboxy group was attached to an aminomethyl polystyrene resin. In both cases, the N-terminus of the first amino acid was immobilized through a carbamate group to the resin (in the first case after removing the TIPS-protecting group with TFA), and the resin-bound peptides **6** and **9** were synthesized analogously to the 'PAM/HBr-strategy'. Cleavage from the resin was performed with Pd(Ph₃P)₄ and PhSiH₃ in DMSO/CH₂Cl₂, but the desired peptides could only be obtained in low yield and after a painstaking purification of the Pd-containing crude product.

In 1995, Holmes introduced a photolabile nitroveratryl linker and immobilized peptides by coupling their C-terminus to the resin.^{34–36} This photolinker is among the most effective ever described—it is stable to various chemical reactions, but can easily be cleaved with UV light with λ =365 nm, a wavelength that does not affect aromatic amino acids such as Trp or Tyr. The corresponding photocleavable resin **10** (Scheme 3) is commercially available from Novabiochem.

With the aim of testing the stability under acidic conditions, *N*-(4,5-dimethoxy-2-nitrobenzyloxy)carbonyl-L-alanine *tert*butyl ester (NVOC-Ala-O'Bu) was prepared by reaction of 4,5-dimethoxy-2-nitrobenzyl alcohol and COCl₂ in THF,

and subsequently with H-Ala-O'Bu·HCl under Schotten-Baumann conditions to give NVOC-Ala-O'Bu, which was then subjected to acidic conditions. Apart from 'Bu hydrolysis, neither in TFA (50%) nor in HCl (3 M) cleavage or decomposition of the linker was observed. Hence, the chloroformate of the photocleavable resin 10 was reacted with H-Ala-O'Bu (Scheme 3). Deprotection of the 'Bu ester 11 with TFA afforded the resin-bound amino acid 12, which was treated with a solution of **1a**. Selective hydrolysis of the terminal amide of the resin-bound dipeptide 13 with 3 M HCl afforded the resin-bound peptide acid 14, which was coupled with H-Phe-O'Bu. Cleavage of the peptide from the resin was performed with UV light ($16 \times 8 \text{ W}, \lambda_{max} = 352 \text{ nm}$) in MeCN/ H₂O, but the initial yields were disappointing. Most probably, the remaining nitrosoaldehyde functionalized resin captured the peptide 15 via imine formation with its amino group.³⁷ This assumption was supported by ¹H NMR experiments: the formyl signal of methyl 4-[(4-formyl-2-methoxy-5-nitrophenyl)oxy]butanoate disappeared within 20 min on reaction with isopropylamine, and a new signal at 8.65 ppm, typical for imines, appeared. To overcome the interception of the peptide, the cleavage from the resin was performed in a solution of semicarbazide hydrochloride in THF/ MeOH.³⁷ Although 15 was now obtained in much better yield (ca. 30–40%), its purity was unsatisfactory. Therefore, the general procedures had to be slightly modified again. The reaction time for the 'Bu ester hydrolysis was extended to 60 min to avoid the previously detected H-Ala-Phe-O'Bu side product. Moreover, the synthesis was carried out on



a polystyrene instead of a Tentagel resin. The use of Tentagel resin suffered from (poly)ethylene glycol loss. Finally, model peptide **15** was prepared in high purity and in 33% yield (after prep. HPLC, based on resin loading).

After having established the protocol for the use of Aib synthon **1a**, the preparation of Aib-Pro containing peptides was attempted. But when dipeptide synthon **2a** was used to incorporate the Aib-Pro unit, the experiment failed again (Scheme 3). During the saponification of resin-bound methyl ester **16** to give **17**, we observed a considerable darkening of the resin, which prevented the subsequent photoinduced cleavage of the peptide from the resin.

This issue was addressed by the synthesis of the new Aib-Pro synthons allyl N-(2,2-dimethyl-2H-azirin-3-yl)-L-prolinate (2b) and phenacyl N-(2,2-dimethyl-2H-azirin-3-yl)-L-prolinate (2c), which contain easily removable carboxy-protecting groups.²⁹ The resin-bound amino acid 12 was reacted with a solution of 2c, and the resulting resin-bound phenacyl ester was treated with tetrabutylammonium fluoride. Again, considerable darkening of the resin was observed. On the other hand, the allyl protecting group of resin-bound peptide 19, obtained from the reaction of 12 and 2b, was smoothly removed with $Pd(Ph_3P)_4$ and $PhSiH_3^{38}$ in CH_2Cl_2 to give the resin-bound peptide acid 17 (Scheme 4). The latter was then coupled with H-Phe-O'Bu and PyBOP as the coupling reagent affording the corresponding resin-bound tetrapeptide. Cleavage from the resin was achieved with UV light $(16 \times 8 \text{ W}, \lambda_{\text{max}} = 352 \text{ nm})$ in a solution of semicarbazide hydrochloride in THF/MeOH and gave H-Ala-Aib-Pro-Phe-O^tBu (18) in high purity and in 35% yield (after prep. HPLC, based on resin loading).

To evaluate the described protocol for the introduction of the Aib-Pro motif into peptides, the preparation of some peptaibol segments was attempted. The heptapeptide H-Val-Aib-Gly-Aib-Aib-Pro-Leu-O'Bu (**20**, A8–A14 of *Trichovirin Ia*; Table 1), whose synthesis failed with the 'PAM/HBr-strategy' (see above), was prepared in 42% yield using

Table 1. Peptides synthesized by means of the 'azirine/oxazolone method' on solid phase

Sequence	Description	Yield [%] ^a
H-Ala-Aib-Phe-O ^t Bu (15)	Model peptide	33
H-Ala-Aib-Pro-Phe-O ^t Bu (18)	Model peptide	35
H-Val-Aib-Gly-Aib-Aib- Pro-Leu-O'Bu (20)	A8-A14 of Trichovirin Ia	42
H-Aib-Asn-Leu-Aib-Pro- Ser(OBn)-O'Bu (21)	A1–A6 of Trichovirin I 1B	34
H-Val-Aib-Pro-Aib-Leu-Aib- Pro-Leu-O'Bu (22)	A7–A14 of Trichovirin I 1B	34

^a Based on resin loading, after prep. HPLC.

the photocleavable resin 10, the Aib synthon 1a, and the allyl-protected Aib-Pro synthon 2b. Gly and Leu were introduced with PyBOP as the coupling reagent. Analogously, the syntheses of the hexa- and octapeptides H-Aib-Asn-Leu-Aib-Pro-Ser(OBn)-O'Bu (21, A1-A6 of Trichovirin I 1B) and H-Val-Aib-Pro-Aib-Leu-Aib-Pro-Leu-O'Bu (22, A7-A14 of Trichovirin I 1B) were carried out. Sequence 21 was chosen to evaluate the introduction of non-aliphatic amino acids, while in the synthesis of 22, an Aib-Pro unit had to be installed prior to an Aib residue and another Aib-Pro unit. Both peptides were prepared on the photocleavable resin 10 using the Aib synthon 1a and the allyl-protected Aib-Pro synthon 2b. All other amino acids were introduced with PyBOP as the coupling reagent. The side chain of Asn was not protected, while the hydroxy group of the serine side chain was masked as benzyl ether, a protecting group which is orthogonal to the ^tBu protecting group. The peptides were obtained in 34% yield each (after prep. HPLC, based on resin loading), which is comparable to that of tetrapeptide 18 and therefore indicating a good linker stability.

In contrast to the 'PAM/HBr-strategy' (Scheme 1), the use of the photolinker allows the preparation of 'Bu-protected peptides, which, in turn, offers the possibility of segment condensations. For that purpose, the C-terminal 'Bu-protected peptides had to be transformed into N-terminal protected





25

Scheme 6.

Scheme 5.

peptides. Therefore, the ^{*t*}Bu-protected peptide **18** was reacted with N-[(benzyloxycarbonyl)oxy]succinimide (Z-ONSu), and the corresponding ^{*t*}Bu protecting group was hydrolyzed to give the *N*-protected peptide **23** (Scheme 5).

Analogously, the heptapeptide **21** (A1–A6 of *Trichovirin I 1B*) was transformed into the *N*-protected peptide **24** (Scheme 6). Due to steric hindrance of Aib, the reaction time for the introduction of the *Z*-protecting group was extended to 8 h. However, the transformation was not complete, and **21** (20%) was partially recovered. The hydrolysis of the corresponding 'Bu ester with TFA was accompanied by partial cleavage of the Aib-Pro amide bond. Most probably, the extent of this side reaction could be reduced by shortening the reaction time (HPLC/MS indicates complete deprotection already after 20 min). Finally, **24** was coupled with **22** (A7–A14 of *Trichovirin I 1B*) and TBTU as the coupling reagent, and the protected *Trichovirin I 1B* derivative (Z-Aib-Asn-Leu-Aib-Pro-Ser(OBn)-Val-Aib-Pro-Aib-Leu-Aib-Pro-Leu-O'Bu; **25**) was obtained in 73% yield (Scheme 5).³⁹

3. Conclusions

A method for the direct introduction of Aib-Pro into peptides via 'azirine coupling' on solid phase was developed. The protocol is based on a photocleavable resin (10) and the Aib-Pro synthon 2b. After the coupling of the resin-bound peptide acid with 2b, the allyl protecting group of the extended peptide was removed by a mild Pd⁰-promoted procedure. In contrast to the previously described 'PAM/HBr-strategy', this protocol allows the isolation of peptides with a protected C-terminus. The method found a successful application in the syntheses of different Aib-Pro containing peptiabol segments. A subsequent segment condensation led to the *Trichovirin I 1B* derivative 25, an oligopeptide containing three Aib-Pro units and two additional Aib residues.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

Unless otherwise noted, materials were obtained from commercial suppliers and were used without further purification. Aminomethyl polystyrene resin (1% divinylbenzene, 100-200 mesh, loading 1.14 mmol/g) and aminomethyl Tentagel resin (90 µm, loading 0.28 mmol/g) from Rapp Polymere (Rapp Polymere, Tübingen, Germany). Hydroxymethylphotolinker AM resin (10) (polystyrene, 1% divinylbenzene, 100-200 mesh, loading 0.75 mmol/g) from Novabiochem (Calbiochem-Novabiochem, Läufelfingen, Switzerland). N,2,2-Trimethyl-N-phenyl-2H-azirin-3-amine (1a) was synthesized according to the method of Villalgordo and Heimgartner.^{40,41} Methyl N-(2,2-dimethyl-2H-azirin-3-yl)-L-prolinate (2a), allyl N-(2,2-dimethyl-2H-azirin-3-yl)-Lprolinate (2b), and phenacyl N-(2,2-dimethyl-2H-azirin-3yl)-L-prolinate (2c) were synthesized according to Ref. 9 (2a) and Ref. 29 (2b, 2c), respectively. H-Ser(OBn)-O'Bu was prepared by treatment of Fmoc-Ser(OBn)-OH with tert-butyl trichloroacetamidate and removal of Fmoc with Et₂NH. The ¹H NMR spectra of H-Ser(OBn)-O^tBu were in accordance with the data given in Ref. 42. Reaction vessels for solid-phase synthesis: Single fritted (20 µm) PE reservoir (15 ml) (Separtis, Grenzach-Wyhlen, Germany) was wrapped with aluminum foil and used on an Advanced ChemTech PLS 4×6 Shaker (Advanced ChemTech, Inc., Louisville, KY, USA) with a self-made adapter. The original Advanced ChemTech reaction vessels were used for reactions with COCl₂. Photolysis was performed in a quartz tube (13.5 cm, 13 mm i.d.) and irradiation with circularly arranged sterilAir BLB8 lamps (16×8 W, λ_{max} =352 nm) (sterilAir AG, Weinfelden, Switzerland). High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) instrument: Waters 600E multisolvent delivery system equipped with a Waters 996 PDA (Waters, Milford, CA, USA); column: Interchim Uptisphere WOD C18, 300 Å, 10 µm, 250×21.2 mm (Interchim, Montluçon,

France); eluents: A=H₂O/TFA (0.1%), B=MeCN/TFA (0.1%); flow rate: 10 ml/min; various gradients. Column chromatography (CC): Silica gel C-560 from Chemie Uetikon (CU Chemie Uetikon GmbH, Uetikon, Switzerland). IR spectra: Perkin-Elmer, Spectrum one FT-IR spectrophotometer (Perkin-Elmer, Wellesley, MA, USA), absorptions in cm⁻¹. NMR spectra: Bruker AV-600 (Bruker Biospin, Karlsruhe, Germany). Chemical shifts in parts per million relative to tetramethylsilane as internal standard. 2D-NMR experiments were performed for assignment of the signals. The integer n in Xaaⁿ corresponds to the position of the amino acid within the peptide, but is only given if the amino acid was present more than once in the peptide and if the NMR signal could be assigned unambiguously. HPLC/MS: The system consists of a Rheos 2000 pump, a Rheos CPS-LC degasser (Flux Instruments, Basel, Switzerland) and a Thermo Finnigan Surveyor photodiode array detector (Thermo Finnigan, San Jose, CA, USA). The HPLC system is equipped with a HTS PAL autosampler (CTC Analytics, Zwingen, Switzerland) and connected to a Thermo Finnigan MSQ linear quadrupole instrument. Interchim Uptisphere C18-ODB, 120 Å, $3 \mu m$, $50 \times 2.0 mm$ column; eluents: A=H₂O, B=MeCN, C=HCOOH (1%) in H₂O; flow rate: 0.2 ml/min, gradient (A/B/C): 0.0-15.0 min: 87:3:10 to 40:50:10. MS: Bruker ESOUIRE-LC quadrupole instrument (Bruker Daltonik GmbH, Bremen, Germany) or Finnigan TSQ-700 triple quadrupole instrument (Finnigan MAT, San Jose, CA, USA). Direct infusion ESI-MS were performed with a syringe infusion pump at a flow rate of 5 μ l/min.

4.2. General procedures 1–7 (GP 1–GP 7)

4.2.1. GP 1: attachment of the first amino acid. All manipulations were carried out under N₂. Hydroxymethyl-photolinker AM resin was swollen in THF. After filtration, a solution of COCl₂ (*CAUTION*) in toluene (ca. 20%, 10 equiv) and THF (ca. 0.7 ml/100 mg resin) were added to the resin, which was agitated at rt for 2 h, then washed with THF (2×) and CH₂Cl₂ (2×). In a separate vial, H-Xaa-O'Bu·HCl (4 equiv) was dissolved in DIPEA (8 equiv) and CH₂Cl₂ (concn of H-Xaa-O'Bu·HCl=ca. 0.2 M). This mixture was added to the resin and any ammonium salt that occurred was removed by filtration. The resin was agitated at rt overnight, then washed with DMF (3×) and CH₂Cl₂ (3×).

4.2.2. GP 2: removing the ^{*t*}Bu protecting group. The resin was swollen in CH₂Cl₂. TFA in CH₂Cl₂ (2 ml, 1×15 s, 25%; 2 ml, 1×60 min, 50%) and TIPS (5%, in each case) were added, and the resin was agitated at rt. Then, the resin was washed with CH₂Cl₂ (3×), DMF (2×), and CH₂Cl₂ (3×).

4.2.3. GP 3: coupling with 2*H*-azirin-3-amines 1a, 2a, and 2b. The corresponding resin was swollen in CH_2Cl_2 . A solution of 2*H*-azirin-3-amine (4 equiv) in CH_2Cl_2 (concn of 2*H*-azirin-3-amine=ca. 0.2 M) was added, the resin was agitated at rt overnight, and then washed with CH_2Cl_2 (3×). Unconsumed 2*H*-azirin-3-amine could easily be recovered.

4.2.4. GP 4: hydrolysis of the terminal amide. The resin was swollen in THF. Aq HCl (ca. 2 ml/100 mg resin, 3 M in THF/H₂O, prepared from concd HCl and THF) was added, and the resin was agitated at rt overnight, then washed with THF ($3\times$), DMF ($3\times$), and CH₂Cl₂ ($3\times$).

4.2.5. GP 5: coupling with H-Xaa-O'Bu·HCl. The resin was swollen in DMF. HOBt (6 equiv) in DMF, PyBOP (4 equiv) in DMF, H-Xaa-O'Bu·HCl (4 equiv) in DMF, and DIPEA (12 equiv) were added (concn of H-Xaa-O'Bu·HCl=ca. 0.2 M), the resin was agitated at rt, and then washed with DMF ($3\times$) and CH₂Cl₂ ($3\times$).

4.2.6. GP 6: removal of the allyl protecting group. The resin was dried i.v. All manipulations were carried out under Ar. The resin was swollen in CH₂Cl₂. A mixture of Pd(Ph₃P)₄ (0.3 equiv) and PhSiH₃ (20 equiv) in CH₂Cl₂ (ca. 2 ml/100 mg resin) was added, the resin was agitated at rt for 1.5 h, and then washed with CH₂Cl₂ (3×), DMF, CH₂Cl₂ (2×), THF (1% H₂O) (2×), THF (1×), MeOH, and CH₂Cl₂ (2×).

4.2.7. GP 7: cleavage. The resin (ca. 0.075 mmol) was swollen in a solution of semicarbazide hydrochloride (24 mg) in MeOH/THF (2:1, 6 ml), and the mixture was degassed by bubbling Ar into the mixture. Under vigorous stirring, the resin was irradiated with 16×8 W ($\lambda_{max}=352$ nm) for 2 h, then the supernatant solution was removed, and the irradiation process was repeated two times. Afterwards, the resin was washed with MeOH/THF (2:1, 3×). All solutions were combined, concentrated under reduced pressure, and the crude product was purified by means of HPLC. The purified product was lyophilized.

4.3. Synthesis of peptides

4.3.1. H-Ala-Aib-Pro-Val-OH (9). Aminomethyl Tentagel resin (350 mg, 0.098 mmol) was swollen in DMF. 4-(Hydroxymethyl)phenylacetic acid (33 mg, 0.199 mmol), DIPEA (103 µl, 0.602 mmol), and PyBOP (104 mg, 0.200 mmol) in DMF (1.5 ml) were added, and the resin was agitated at rt for 30 min (negative Kaiser test), then washed with DMF $(3\times)$, CH₂Cl₂ $(3\times)$, and THF $(3\times)$. The resin was treated as described in GP 1-3. Then, the resin was swollen in a mixture of THF (1 ml) and MeOH (0.7 ml), and LiOH·H₂O (33 mg, 0.787 mmol) in H₂O (0.3 ml) was added. The resin was agitated at rt overnight, washed with THF/MeOH/H₂O (4:3:1, $3 \times$), and DMF ($3 \times$). The resin was treated as described in GP 5 (2 h), then swollen in CH₂Cl₂. HBr in AcOH (33%, 3 ml) and two drops of H₂O were added, and the resin was agitated at rt for 4 h. The resin was separated by filtration and washed with AcOH/CH₂Cl₂ $(1:1, 3\times)$ and MeCN/CH₂Cl₂ $(1:1, 3\times)$. The solvents were evaporated under reduced pressure and the crude product was purified by means of HPLC. The purified product was lyophilized and yielded 9 (10 mg, 21%) as a colorless powder. IR (KBr): 3435s, 3271s, 3068s, 2969s, 2882s, 1674vs, 1630vs, 1548s, 1472m, 1422s, 1369m, 1338w, 1310w, 1269m, 1202vs, 1183vs, 1138vs, 1005w, 979w, 929w, 837w, 800w, 722m. ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆, 600 MHz): ca. 10.0-7.0 (br s, NH₃(Ala)); 8.61 (s, NH(Aib)); 7.73 (d, J=8.2 Hz, NH(Val)); 4.42–4.41 (m, CH(α)(Pro)); 4.06–4.04 (m, CH(α)(Val)); 3.88–3.87 (m, CH(α)(Ala)); 3.57-3.54, 3.38-3.34 (2m, CH₂(δ)(Pro)); 2.04 (dsept., J=6.6, 6.6 Hz, CH(β)(Val)); 1.88–1.83, 1.81–1.76 (2m, $CH_2(\beta)(Pro), CH_2(\gamma)(Pro)); 1.37, 1.34$ (2s, 2 Me(Aib)); 1.36 (d, J=7.6 Hz, Me(Ala)); 0.90, 0.89 (2d, J=6.8 Hz, 2 Me(Val)). ¹³C NMR (DMSO- d_6 , 150 MHz): 173.0 (s, CO(Val)); 171.9 (s, CO(Pro)); 170.4 (s, CO(Aib)); 168.4

(s, CO(Ala)); 60.6 (d, CH(α)(Pro)); 57.2 (d, CH(α)(Val)); 56.0 (s, C(α)(Aib)); 47.9 (d, CH(α)(Ala)); 47.6 (t, CH₂(δ)(Pro)); 29.9 (d, CH(β)(Val)); 27.9, 25.2 (2t, CH₂(β)(Pro), CH₂(γ)(Pro)); 24.9, 24.5 (2q, 2 Me(Aib)); 19.1, 18.1 (2q, 2 Me(Val)); 17.3 (q, Me(Ala)). ESI-MS: 371 (100, [M+H]⁺), 215 (34, [Pro-Val]⁺).

4.3.2. H-Ala-Aib-Phe-O'Bu (15). Aminomethyl polystyrene resin (62 mg, 0.071 mmol) was swollen in DMF. 4-[(4-Hydroxymethyl-2-methoxy-5-nitrophenyl)oxy]butanoic acid (40 mg, 0.140 mmol), PvBOP (72 mg, 0.138 mmol), and DIPEA (72 µl, 0.421 mmol) in DMF (1.5 ml) were added, and the resin was agitated at rt for 30 min, then washed with DMF (3×), CH_2Cl_2 (2×), and THF (2×). The resin was treated as described in GP 1-5 (overnight), and 7 to yield 15 (11.4 mg, 33%) as a colorless powder after prep. HPLC purification and lyophilization. IR (KBr): 3426s, 3399s, 3288s, 3065m, 3032m, 2983s, 2939s, 1724s, 1674vs, 1549s, 1516s, 1457m, 1440m, 1393m, 1368s, 1324w, 1259s, 1204vs, 1180vs, 1156vs, 1139vs, 1079w, 1030w, 1015w, 1003w, 948w, 929w, 881w, 839m, 800w, 754w, 739w, 722m, 700m. ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆, 600 MHz): 8.31 (s, NH(Aib)); 8.01 (br s, NH₃(Ala)); 7.67 (d, J=7.8 Hz, NH(Phe)); 7.29–7.19 (m, 5 arom. H); 4.34 (ddd, J=8.2, 7.8, 6.4 Hz, CH(α)(Phe)); 3.84 (q, J=6.9 Hz, $CH(\alpha)(Ala)$; 3.02 (dd, J=13.8, 6.4 Hz, 1 H of $CH_2(Phe)$); 2.95 (dd, J=13.8, 8.2 Hz, 1 H of CH₂(Phe)); 1.38, 1.37 $(2s, 2 \text{ Me(Aib)}); 1.33 (s, Me_3C); 1.32 (d, J=7.3 \text{ Hz},$ Me(Ala)). ${}^{13}C$ NMR (DMSO- d_6 , 150 MHz): 172.9 (s, CO(Aib)); 170.4 (s, CO(Phe)); 168.8 (s, CO(Ala)); 137.4 (s, arom. C); 129.2, 128.1, 126.4 (3d, 5 arom. CH); 80.7 (s. Me₃C); 56.3 (s. C(α)(Aib)); 54.2 (d. CH(α)(Phe)); 48.3 (d, CH(α)(Ala)); 36.8 (t, CH₂(Phe)); 27.5 (q, Me₃C); 24.7, 24.6 (2q, 2 Me(Aib)); 17.1 (q, Me(Ala)). ESI-MS: 378 $(53, [M+H]^+), 322 (100, [M-^tBu]^+).$ HPLC/MS: t_R 10.3 min, m/z 378 (16, [M+H]⁺), 322 (100, [M-^tBu]⁺), 157 (27, $[M-(Phe-O^tBu)]^+$).

4.3.3. H-Ala-Aib-Pro-Phe-O'Bu (18). Hydroxymethylphotolinker AM resin (101 mg, 0.075 mmol) was treated as described in GP 1-3, 6, 5 (2 h), and 7 to yield 18 (15.6 mg, 35%) as a colorless powder after prep. HPLC purification and lyophilization. IR (KBr): 3428s, 3293s, 3065s, 3032s, 2983s, 2940s, 1728s, 1674vs, 1548s, 1536s, 1499m, 1472m, 1456m, 1422m, 1415m, 1395m, 1369m, 1258m, 1203vs, 1177vs, 1156vs, 1135vs, 1052w, 1029w, 1004w, 928w, 879w, 836w, 800w, 740w, 721m, 701m. ¹H NMR (DMSO-d₆, 600 MHz): 8.65 (s, NH(Aib)); 8.08 (br s, NH₃(Ala)); 7.91 (d, J=7.4 Hz, NH(Phe)); 7.29–7.20 (m, 5 arom. H); 4.33–4.31 (m, CH(α)(Pro)); 4.26 (ddd, J=7.3, 7.3, 7.3 Hz, $CH(\alpha)(Phe)$; 3.88–3.87 (m, $CH(\alpha)(Ala)$); 3.52-3.50, 3.38-3.35 (2m, CH₂(δ)(Pro)); 2.97-2.95 (m, $CH_2(Phe)$; 1.86–1.76, 1.69–1.67 (2m, $CH_2(\beta)(Pro)$, $CH_2(\gamma)(Pro)$; 1.36 (d, J=7.1 Hz, Me(Ala)); 1.35, 1.34 (2s, 2 Me(Aib)); 1.30 (s, Me₃C). 13 C NMR (DMSO- d_6 , 150 MHz): 171.7 (s, CO(Pro)); 170.4 (s, CO(Phe)); 170.3 (s, CO(Aib)); 168.3 (s, CO(Ala)); 137.3 (s, arom. C); 129.2, 128.0, 126.3 (3d, 5 arom. CH); 80.3 (s, Me₃C); 60.7 $(d, CH(\alpha)(Pro)); 55.9 (s, C(\alpha)(Aib)); 54.2 (d, CH(\alpha)(Phe));$ 47.8 (d, $CH(\alpha)(Ala)$); 47.5 (t, $CH_2(\delta)(Pro)$); 36.6 (t, CH₂(Phe)); 27.9 (t, CH₂(β)(Pro)); 27.4 (s, Me₃C); 25.0 (t, CH₂(γ)(Pro)); 24.7, 24.6 (2q, 2 Me(Aib)); 17.1 (q, Me(Ala)). ESI-MS: 497 (10, [M+Na]⁺), 475 (100, [M+H]⁺), 419 (17, $[M-^{t}Bu]^{+}$), 319 (7, $[M-(Ala-Aib)]^{+}$). HPLC/MS: t_{R} 9.9 min, m/z 497 (10, $[M+Na]^{+}$), 475 (30, $[M+H]^{+}$), 419 (24, $[M-^{t}Bu]^{+}$), 319 (32, $[M-(Ala-Aib)]^{+}$), 263 (100, $[M-(Ala-Aib)-^{t}Bu]^{+}$).

4.3.4. H-Val-Aib-Gly-Aib-Aib-Pro-Leu-O'Bu (20). Hydroxymethyl-photolinker AM resin (100 mg, 0.075 mmol) was treated as described in GP 1-5 (overnight), 2-4, 3, 6, 5 (2 h), and 7 to yield **20** (25.7 mg, 42%) as a colorless powder after prep. HPLC purification and lyophilization. IR (KBr): 3433vs. 3317vs. 3063m. 2978s. 2939s. 2877m. 1725m. 1671vs, 1543vs, 1537vs, 1469m, 1440m, 1416m, 1397m, 1384m, 1368m, 1333w, 1282m, 1248m, 1203vs, 1178vs, 1146s, 1018w, 947w, 878w, 837w, 801w, 722w. ¹H NMR $(DMSO-d_6, 600 \text{ MHz})$: 8.82 (s, NH(Aib²)); 8.20 (s, NH(Gly)); 8.08 (br s, NH₃(Val)); 7.81 (d, J=8.1 Hz, NH(Leu)); 7.72 (s, NH(Aib⁴)); 7.43 (s, NH(Aib⁵)); 4.37-4.35 (m, CH(α)(Pro)); 4.11–4.07 (m, CH(α)(Leu)); 3.61– 3.59 (m, CH(α)(Val), 1 H of CH₂(Gly), 1 H of CH₂(δ)(Pro)); 3.55-3.51 (m, 1 H of CH₂(Gly)); 3.43-3.39 (m, 1 H of CH₂(δ)(Pro)); 2.12 (dsept., *J*=6.7, 6.7 Hz, CH(β)(Val)); 2.02-1.98 (m, 1 H of CH₂(β)(Pro)); 1.74-1.69 (m, 1 H of $CH_2(\beta)(Pro), CH_2(\gamma)(Pro)); 1.63-1.57 (m, CH(\gamma)(Leu), 1)$ H of $CH_2(\beta)(Leu)$; 1.51–1.45 (m, 1 H of $CH_2(\beta)(Leu)$); 1.403, 1.398 (2s, 2 Me(Aib²), 2 Me(Aib⁴)); 1.38 (s, Me₃C); 1.35, 1.33 (2s, 2 Me(Aib⁵)); 0.96, 0.94 (2d, J=7.0 Hz, 2 Me(Val)); 0.89, 0.82 (2d, J=6.3 Hz, 2 Me(Leu)). ¹³C NMR $(DMSO-d_6, 150 \text{ MHz})$: 174.6 (s, $CO(Aib^2)$); 174.3 (s, CO(Aib⁴)); 171.7 (s, CO(Pro)); 171.1 (s, CO(Leu)); 171.0 (s, CO(Aib⁵)); 168.4 (s, CO(Gly)); 168.0 (s, CO(Val)); 79.9 (s, Me₃C); 60.8 (d, CH(α)(Pro)); 57.5 (d, CH(α)(Val)); 56.13 (s. $C(\alpha)(Aib^4)$); 56.09 (s. $C(\alpha)(Aib^2)$); 56.0 (s. $C(\alpha)(Aib^5)$; 50.9 (d, CH(α)(Leu)); 47.2 (t, CH₂(δ)(Pro)); 43.8 (t, $CH_2(Gly)$); 39.3 (t, $CH_2(\beta)(Leu)$); 29.5 (d, CH(β)(Val)); 28.4 (t, CH₂(β)(Pro)); 27.5 (q, Me₃C); 25.8 $(q, 1 \text{ Me of } 2 \text{ Me}(Aib^4)); 25.6 (q, 1 \text{ Me of } 2 \text{ Me}(Aib^2));$ 25.2 (q, 1 Me of 2 Me(Aib⁵)); 25.0 (t, CH₂(γ)(Pro)); 24.5 (q, 1 Me of 2 Me(Aib⁴)); 24.2 (d, CH(γ)(Leu)); 24.0 (q, 1 Me of 2 Me(Aib⁵)); 23.7 (q, 1 Me of 2 Me(Aib²)); 22.7, 21.2 (2q, 2 Me(Leu)); 18.4, 17.5 (2q, 2 Me(Val)). ESI-MS: 718 (17, $[M+Na]^+$), 696 (100, $[M+H]^+$). HPLC/MS: t_R 11.5 min, *m/z* 696 (100, [M+H]⁺), 640 (27, [M-^{*t*}Bu]⁺), 412 (24, $[M-(Pro-Leu-O^{t}Bu)]^{+}$), 339 (16).

4.3.5. H-Aib-Asn-Leu-Aib-Pro-Ser(OBn)-O^tBu (21). Hydroxymethyl-photolinker AM resin (100 mg, 0.075 mmol) was treated as described in GP 1, 2, 5 (overnight), 2, 5 (90 min), 2, 3, 6, 5 (90 min), and 7 to yield **21** (21.7 mg, 34%) as a colorless powder after prep. HPLC purification and lyophilization. IR (KBr): 3427s, 3301s, 3066m, 2979m, 2961m, 2938m, 2875m, 1673vs, 1535s, 1470m, 1453m, 1424m, 1412m, 1369m, 1247m, 1203vs, 1182vs, 1138vs, 837w, 800w, 742w, 722m, 700w. ¹H NMR (DMSO-d₆, 600 MHz): 8.39-8.37 (m, NH(Asn)); 8.17-8.13 (m, NH(Leu), NH₃(Aib¹), NH(Aib⁴)); 7.99 (d, J=8.0 Hz, NH(Ser)); 7.42-7.41 (m, 1 H of CONH₂(Asn)); 7.36-7.32, 7.29-7.27 (2m, 5 arom. H); 6.98 (s, 1 H of CON-H₂(Asn)); 4.70 (ddd, J=7.5, 7.5, 7.5 Hz, CH(α)(Asn)); 4.49, 4.53 (AB, J=12.1 Hz, OCH₂Ph(Ser)); 4.42–4.40 (m, CH(α)(Pro)); 4.36–4.33 (m, CH(α)(Ser)); 4.29–4.25 (m, CH(α)(Leu)); 3.72 (dd, J=9.7, 5.8 Hz, 1 H of CH₂(β)(Ser)); 3.65 (dd, J=9.7, 4.4 Hz, 1 H of CH₂(β)(Ser)); 3.46-3.44, 3.42-3.38 (2m, CH₂(δ)(Pro)); 2.64-2.60, 2.43-2.39 (2m,
CH₂(β)(Asn)); 1.90–1.87, 1.77–1.72 (2m, CH₂(β)(Pro), CH₂(γ)(Pro)); 1.60–1.55 (m, CH(γ)(Leu)); 1.49–1.43 (m, $CH_2(\beta)(Leu)$); 1.45, 1.43 (2s, 2 Me(Aib¹)); 1.37 (s, Me₃C); 1.34, 1.30 (2s, 2 Me(Aib⁴)); 0.86, 0.80 (2d, J=6.6 Hz, 2 Me(Leu)). ¹³C NMR (DMSO- d_6 , 150 MHz): 171.9 (s, CO(Pro)); 171.2 (s, CO(Leu), CONH₂(Asn)); 171.1 (s, CO(Aib¹)); 170.8 (s, CO(Aib⁴)); 170.3 (s, CO(Asn)); 169.0 (s, CO(Ser)); 137.9 (s, arom. C); 128.1, 127.5, 127.4 (3d, 5 arom. CH); 80.5 (s, Me₃C); 72.1 (t, $OCH_2Ph(Ser)$; 69.3 (t, $CH_2(\beta)(Ser)$); 60.5 (d, $CH(\alpha)(Pro)$); 56.2 (s. $C(\alpha)(Aib^{1})$); 55.6 (s. $C(\alpha)(Aib^{4})$); 52.8 (d. $CH(\alpha)(Ser)$; 50.8 (d, $CH(\alpha)(Leu)$); 49.8 (d, $CH(\alpha)(Asn)$); 47.3 (t, $CH_2(\delta)(Pro)$); 40.3 (t, $CH_2(\beta)(Leu)$); 36.8 (t, $CH_2(\beta)(Asn)$; 28.0 (t, $CH_2(\beta)(Pro)$); 27.5 (q, Me_3C); 25.0 (t, CH₂(γ)(Pro)); 24.9, 24.7 (2q, 2 Me(Aib⁴)); 24.1 (d, CH(γ)(Leu)); 23.3, 23.1 (2q, 2 Me(Aib¹)); 22.9, 21.3 (2q, 2 Me(Leu)). ESI-MS: 768 (100, [M+Na]⁺), 746 (48, $[M+H]^+$), 712 (28, $[M-^tBu+Na]^+$), 622 (17). HPLC/MS: t_R 12.4 min, m/z 746 (100, [M+H]⁺), 398 (34, [M-(Pro- $Ser(OBn)-^{t}Bu)]^{+}$).

4.3.6. H-Val-Aib-Pro-Aib-Leu-Aib-Pro-Leu-O'Bu (22). Hydroxymethyl-photolinker AM resin (100 mg, 0.075 mmol) was treated as described in GP 1-3, 6, 3-5 (overnight), 2, 3, 6, 5 (2 h), and 7 to yield **22** (24.8 mg, 34%) as a colorless powder after prep. HPLC purification and lyophilization. IR (KBr): 3440vs, 3330sh, 3058m, 2961s, 2874m, 1724sh, 1653vs, 1627vs, 1536vs, 1471s, 1451m, 1440m, 1416s, 1385m, 1368m, 1344w, 1249m, 1241m, 1203vs, 1178vs, 1146s, 839w, 833w, 800w, 722w. ¹H NMR (DMSO-d₆, 600 MHz): 9.00 (s, NH(Aib²)); 8.13 (br s, NH₃(Val)); 7.77 (d, J=7.8 Hz, NH(Leu⁸)); 7.72 (s, NH(Aib⁴)); 7.69 (s, NH(Aib⁶)); 7.38 (d, J=8.5 Hz, NH(Leu⁵)); 4.37-4.35 (m, CH(α)(Pro⁷)); 4.17–4.12 (m, CH(α)(Leu⁵), CH(α)(Pro³)); 4.04–4.00 (m, CH(α)(Leu⁸)); 3.76–3.73 (m, CH(α)(Val)); 3.60-3.55 (m, 3 H of 2 CH₂(δ)(Pro)); 3.40-3.36 (m, 1 H of 2 CH₂(δ)(Pro)); 2.21-2.18 (m, CH(β)(Val)); 2.12-2.08 (m, 1 H of 2 CH₂(β)(Pro)); 2.00–1.95 (m, 1 H of 2 $CH_2(\beta)(Pro)$, 1 H of 2 $CH_2(\gamma)(Pro)$); 1.89–1.85 (m, 1 H of 2 CH₂(γ)(Pro)); 1.74–1.68 (m, 2 H of 2 CH₂(β)(Pro), 2 H of 2 CH₂(γ)(Pro)); 1.66–1.57 (m, 3 H of 2 CH₂(β)(Leu), 2 CH(γ)(Leu)); 1.48–1.44 (m, 1 H of 2 CH₂(β)(Leu)); 1.42, 1.40 (2s, 2 Me of 6 Me(Aib)); 1.38 (s, Me₃C, 1 Me of 6 Me(Aib)); 1.36, 1.35 (2s, 3 Me of 6 Me(Aib)); 1.00, 0.94 (2d, J=7.0 Hz, 2 Me(Val)); 0.91, 0.87, 0.82, 0.78 (4d, 100)J=6.2 Hz, 4 Me(Leu)). ¹³C NMR (DMSO- d_6 , 150 MHz): 173.9 (s, CO(Aib⁴)); 172.6 (s, CO(Pro³)); 172.2 (s, CO(Aib²)); 171.7 (s, CO(Leu⁵), CO(Pro⁷)); 171.3 (s, CO(Leu⁸)); 170.8 (s, CO(Aib⁶)); 167.5 (s, CO(Val)); 79.9 (s, Me₃C); 63.2 (d, CH(α)(Pro³)); 60.8 (d, CH(α)(Pro⁷)); 56.9 (d, CH(α)(Val)); 56.2 (s, C(α)(Aib⁴)); 56.1 (s, $C(\alpha)(Aib^2)$; 55.6 (s, $C(\alpha)(Aib^6)$); 51.1 (s, 2 CH(α)(Leu)); 48.0, 47.5 (2t, 2 $CH_2(\delta)(Pro)$); 39.6, 39.2 (2t, 2 $CH_2(\beta)(Leu)$; 29.6 (d, $CH(\beta)(Val)$); 28.3, 27.6 (2t, 2 CH₂(β)Pro); 27.5 (q, *Me*₃C); 26.4 (q, 1 Me of 6 Me(Aib)); 25.5 (t, 1 CH₂ of 2 CH₂(γ)(Pro)); 25.4 (q, 1 Me of 6 Me(Aib)); 25.1 (t, 1 CH₂ of 2 CH₂(γ)(Pro)); 24.6, 24.32, 24.29 (3q, 3 Me of 6 Me(Aib)); 24.27, 24.2 (2d, 2 CH(γ)(Leu)); 23.9 (q, 1 Me of 6 Me(Aib)); 23.0, 22.9, 21.2, 20.6 (4q, 4 Me(Leu)); 18.6, 16.7 (2q, 2 Me(Val)). ESI-MS: 871 (19, $[M+Na]^+$), 849 (100, $[M+H]^+$). HPLC/MS: t_R 13.9 min, m/z 849 (100, $[M+H]^+$), 565 (93, [M-(Pro-Leu- $O^{t}Bu)]^{+}).$

4.3.7. Z-Ala-Aib-Pro-Phe-OH (23). Z-ONSu (4.3 mg, 17.3 µmol) and DIPEA (8.1 µl, 47.3 µmol) were added to a solution of 18 (9.3 mg, 15.8 µmol) in dioxane (2.5 ml) at rt, and the solution was stirred at rt for 3 h. The mixture was concentrated, and the crude product was purified by prep. HPLC. After lyophilization, Z-Ala-Aib-Pro-Phe-O'Bu (HPLC/MS: $t_{\rm R}$ 16.5 min, m/z 631 (100, [M+Na]⁺)) (8.5 mg, 89%) was obtained as a colorless powder, which was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂/TFA (1:1, 2 ml) and TIPS $(100 \ \mu l)$. The solution was stirred at rt for 1 h, then it was concentrated under reduced pressure, and the crude product was purified by prep. HPLC. The purified product was lyophilized and yielded 23 (7.5 mg, 97%) as a colorless powder. IR (KBr): 3412vs, 3292vs, 3063m, 3032m, 2984s, 2940m, 2876m, 1722vs, 1650vs, 1535vs, 1499s, 1469m, 1454s, 1411s, 1380m, 1366m, 1340m, 1328m, 1317m, 1282m, 1243vs, 1215s, 1203s, 1177s, 1116m, 1072m, 1040m, 1028m, 1002w, 977w, 911w, 824w, 743m, 700s. ¹H NMR (DMSO-d₆, 600 MHz): ca. 13.2-11.2 (br s, COOH); 8.20 (s, NH(Aib)); 7.77 (d, J=8.0 Hz, NH(Phe)); 7.44 (d, J=7.6 Hz, NH(Ala)); 7.38–7.18 (m, 10 arom. H); 5.01, 5.06 (AB, J=12.6 Hz, CH₂(carbamate)); 4.37 (ddd, J=8.4, 8.4, 5.3 Hz, $CH(\alpha)(Phe)$; 4.29–4.27 (m, $CH(\alpha)(Pro)$); 4.10 $(dq, J=7.2, 7.2 Hz, CH(\alpha)(Ala)); 3.54-3.50, 3.35-3.31$ $(2m, CH_2(\delta)(Pro)); 3.05 \text{ (dd, } J=13.9, 5.1 \text{ Hz}, 1 \text{ H of})$ CH₂(Phe)); 2.93 (dd, J=13.9, 9.2 Hz, 1 H of CH₂(Phe)); 1.79–1.73 (m, 1 H of $CH_2(\beta)(Pro)$); 1.61–1.58 (m, $CH_2(\gamma)(Pro)$; 1.51–1.48 (m, 1 H of $CH_2(\beta)(Pro)$); 1.30, 1.29 (2s, 2 Me(Aib)); 1.21 (d, J=7.1 Hz, Me(Ala)). ¹³C NMR (DMSO-d₆, 150 MHz): 172.6 (s, CO(Phe)); 171.9 (s, CO(Ala)); 171.7 (s, CO(Pro)); 170.9 (s, CO(Aib)); 155.6 (s. CO(carbamate)): 137.6, 137.0 (2s. 2 arom. C): 129.1. 128.2, 128.0, 127.7, 127.6, 126.2 (6d, 10 arom. CH); 65.2 (t, $CH_2(carbamate)$); 60.9 (d, $CH(\alpha)(Pro)$); 55.5 (s, $C(\alpha)(Aib)$; 53.2 (d, $CH(\alpha)(Phe)$); 49.9 (d, $CH(\alpha)(Ala)$); 47.2 (t, CH₂(δ)(Pro)); 36.6 (t, CH₂(Phe)); 27.8 (t, CH₂(β)(Pro)); 25.0 (q, 1 Me of 2 Me(Aib)); 24.9 (t, $CH_2(\gamma)(Pro))$; 24.6 (q, 1 Me of 2 Me(Aib)); 17.9 (q, Me(Ala)). ESI-MS: 591 (67, [M+K]⁺), 575 (100, [M+Na]⁺), 553 (44, [M+H]⁺), 263 (96, [M-(Pro-Phe)-CO]⁺, [Pro-Phe]⁺). HPLC/MS: $t_{\rm R}$ 14.0 min, m/z 591 (51, [M+K]⁺), 263 (100, [M–(Pro-Phe)–CO]⁺, [Pro-Phe]⁺).

4.3.8. Z-Aib-Asn-Leu-Aib-Pro-Ser(OBn)-OH (24). Z-ONSu (6.0 mg, 24.1 µmol) and DIPEA (11.6 µl, 67.8 µmol) were added to a solution of 21 (19.4 mg, 22.6 µmol) in MeCN (5 ml) at rt, and the solution was stirred at rt for 6 h. Additional Z-ONSu (0.6 mg, 2.3 µmol) and DIPEA (3.9 µl, 22.6 µmol) were added, and the solution was stirred at rt for further 2 h. Then, the mixture was concentrated, and the crude product was purified by prep. HPLC. After lyophilization, Z-Aib-Asn-Leu-Aib-Pro-Ser(OBn)-O'Bu (HPLC/ MS: $t_{\rm R}$ 16.6 min, m/z 880 (62, [M+H]⁺)) (13.8 mg, 70%; additionally, 21 (3.8 mg, 20%) was isolated) was obtained as a colorless powder, which was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂/TFA (1:1, 2 ml), H₂O (1 drop), and TIPS (100 µl). The solution was stirred at rt for 45 min, then it was concentrated under reduced pressure, and the crude product was purified by prep. HPLC. The purified product was lyophilized and yielded 24 (8.9 mg, 67%) as a colorless powder. IR (KBr): 3418sh, 3308vs, 3063m, 3033m, 2957m, 2872m, 1660vs, 1532vs, 1469s, 1454s, 1412s, 1387m, 1366m, 1267s, 1203s, 1176s, 1094s, 1078m, 1028w, 740m, 698m.

¹H NMR (DMSO- d_6 , 600 MHz): ca. 13.2–11.3 (br s, COOH); 8.49 (d, *J*=6.0 Hz, NH(Asn)); 8.06 (s, NH(Aib¹)); 7.96 (d, J=7.9 Hz, NH(Ser)); 7.74 (d, J=8.5 Hz, NH(Leu)); 7.49 (s, 1 H of CONH₂(Asn)); 7.48 (s, NH(Aib⁴)); 7.40–7.26 (m, 10 arom. H); 7.04 (s, 1 H of CONH₂(Asn)); 5.08, 5.00 (AB, J=12.4 Hz, CH₂(carbamate)); 4.51 (s, OCH₂Ph(Ser)); 4.43–4.38 (m, CH(α)(Ser), CH(α)(Pro)); 4.32–4.29 (m, CH(α)(Asn)); 4.25–4.21 (m, CH(α)(Leu)); 3.75 (dd, J=9.8, 5.9 Hz, 1 H of CH₂(β)(Ser)); 3.68 (dd, J=9.8, 4.2 Hz, 1 H of $CH_2(\beta)(Ser)$; 3.45–3.42 (m, $CH_2(\delta)(Pro)$); 2.67-2.63, 2.57-2.54 (2m, CH₂(B)(Asn)); 1.90-1.86, 1.75-1.56 (2m, $CH_2(\beta)(Pro)$, $CH_2(\gamma)(Pro)$, $CH_2(\beta)(Leu)$, $CH(\gamma)(Leu)$; 1.36 (s, 1 Me of 2 Me(Aib¹)); 1.35, 1.332 (2s, 2 Me(Aib⁴)); 1.325 (s, 1 Me of 2 Me(Aib¹)); 0.81, 0.74 (2d, J=6.3 Hz, 2 Me(Leu)). ¹³C NMR (DMSO-d₆, 150 MHz): 175.3 (s, CO(Aib¹)); 172.1 (s, CONH₂(Asn)); 172.0 (s, CO(Pro)); 171.4 (s, CO(Ser)); 171.2 (s, CO(Leu)); 170.9 (s, CO(Asn)); 170.8 (s, CO(Aib⁴)); 156.2 (s, CO(carbamate)); 138.1 (s, arom. C(Bn)); 136.4 (s, arom. C(Z)); 128.4, 128.2, 128.0, 127.7, 127.5, 127.4 (6d, 10 arom. CH); 72.2 (t, OCH₂Ph(Ser)); 69.4 (t, CH₂(β)(Ser)); 65.7 (t, CH₂(carbamate)); 60.7 (d, CH(α)(Pro)); 56.1 (s, $C(\alpha)(Aib^{1})$; 55.8 (s, $C(\alpha)(Aib^{4})$); 52.4 (d, $CH(\alpha)(Ser)$); 51.6 (d, $CH(\alpha)(Asn)$); 50.9 (d, $CH(\alpha)(Leu)$); 47.5 (t, $CH_2(\delta)(Pro)); 39.4 (t, CH_2(\beta)(Leu)); 35.1 (t, CH_2(\beta)(Asn));$ 27.9 (t, $CH_2(\beta)(Pro)$); 26.1 (q, 1 Me of 2 Me(Aib¹)); 25.1 (q, 1 Me of 2 Me(Aib⁴)); 25.0 (t, $CH_2(\gamma)(Pro)$); 24.8 (q, 1 Me of 2 Me(Aib⁴)); 24.0 (d, CH(γ)(Leu)); 23.9 (q, 1 Me of 2 Me(Aib¹)); 23.1, 20.7 (2q, 2 Me(Leu)). ESI-MS: 868 (45, $[M-H+2Na]^+$), 846 (100, $[M+Na]^+$). HPLC/MS: t_R 15.6 min, m/z 824 (11, [M+H]⁺), 532 (100, [M-(Pro- $Ser(OBn)-O^{t}Bu]^{+}$, 447 (40, [M-(Aib-Pro-Ser(OBn)- $O^{t}Bu)]^{+}).$

4.3.9. Z-Aib-Asn-Leu-Aib-Pro-Ser(OBn)-Val-Aib-Pro-Aib-Leu-Aib-Pro-Leu-O'Bu (25). HOBt, TBTU, and DI-PEA were taken from stock solutions. HOBt (1.7 mg, 11.1 µmol), TBTU (3.5 mg, 11.0 µmol), DIPEA (5.4 µl, 31.3 μ mol), and 22 (10.6 mg, 11.0 μ mol) were added to a solution of 24 (8.6 mg, 10.4 µmol) in CH₂Cl₂/DMF (1:1, 3 ml). The mixture was stirred at rt for 4 h, the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure, and the crude product was purified by prep. HPLC. After lyophilization, 25 (12.5 mg, 73%) was obtained as a colorless powder. IR (KBr): 3435sh, 3306s, 2958m, 2872w, 1648vs, 1623vs, 1536vs, 1470s, 1454m, 1412s, 1385m, 1366m, 1269m, 1203m, 1172s, 1152m, 1094w, 1028w, 740w, 698w. ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆, 600 MHz): 8.57 (d, *J*=5.5 Hz, NH(Asn)); 8.11 (s, 1 NH of 5 NH(Aib)); 7.90 (d, J=6.7 Hz, NH(Ser)); 7.82 (d, J=7.7 Hz, 1 NH of 3 NH(Leu)); 7.82, 7.79 (2s, 2 NH of 5 NH(Aib)); 7.74 (d, J=7.7 Hz, 1 NH of 3 NH(Leu)); 7.55, 7.54 (2s, 2 NH of 5 NH(Aib)); 7.53 (s, 1 H of CON-H₂(Asn)); 7.39–7.30, 7.27–7.24 (2m, 10 arom. H, 1 NH of 3 NH(Leu), NH(Val)); 7.07 (s, 1 H of CONH₂(Asn)); 5.07, 5.00 (AB, J=12.3 Hz, CH₂(carbamate)); 4.55, 4.51 (AB, J=11.9 Hz, OCH₂Ph(Ser)); 4.38–4.36 (m, 1 H of 3 CH(a)(Pro)); 4.33-4.26 (m, CH(a)(Ser), CH(a)(Asn), 1 H of 3 CH(α)(Leu), 1 H of 3 CH(α)(Pro)); 4.19–4.14 (m, 1 H of 3 CH(α)(Leu), CH(α)(Val)); 4.08 (dd, J=8.4, 8.4 Hz, 1 H of 3 CH(α)(Pro)); 4.04–4.00 (m, 1 H of 3 CH(α)(Leu)); 3.86–3.83 (m, 1 H of $CH_2(\beta)(Ser)$); 3.77–3.68 (m, 1 H of CH₂(β)(Ser), 2 H of 3 CH₂(δ)(Pro)); 3.65-3.61, 3.52-3.48, 3.38–3.34, 3.30–3.25 (4m, 4 H of 3 CH₂(δ)(Pro)); 2.68-2.64, 2.60-2.56 (2m, CH₂(β)(Asn)); 2.24-2.19 (m, 2 H of 3 $CH_2(\beta)(Pro)$; 2.09 (dsept., J=6.8, 6.8 Hz, CH(B)(Val)); 2.01-1.98 (m, 1 H of 3 CH₂(B)(Pro)); 1.93-1.83 (m, 4 H of 3 CH₂(γ)(Pro)); 1.74–1.57 (m, 3 $CH(\gamma)(Leu)$, 4 H of 3 $CH_2(\beta)(Leu)$, 3 H of 3 $CH_2(\beta)(Pro)$, $2 \text{ H of } 3 \text{ CH}_2(\gamma)(\text{Pro})); 1.54-1.51 \text{ (m, 1 H of } 3 \text{ CH}_2(\beta)(\text{Leu}));$ 1.48 (s, 1 Me of 10 Me(Aib)); ca. 1.44 (m, 1 H of 3 CH₂(β)(Leu)); 1.43, 1.42, 1.38, 1.37, 1.364, 1.358, 1.34 $(7s, 9 \text{ Me of } 10 \text{ Me}(\text{Aib}), \text{ Me}_3\text{C}); 0.91 \text{ (d, } J=6.4 \text{ Hz}, 1 \text{ Me}$ of 6 Me(Leu)); 0.87, 0.83 (2d, J=6.8 Hz, 2 Me(Val)); 0.82 (d. J=6.4 Hz, 2 Me of 6 Me(Leu)); 0.749, 0.745 (2d. J=6.0 Hz, 2 Me of 6 Me(Leu)); 0.63 (d, J=6.2 Hz, 1 Me of 6 Me(Leu)). ¹³C NMR (DMSO-*d*₆, 150 MHz): 175.7, 174.2, 173.0, 172.8, 172.74, 172.70, 172.6, 171.90, 171.86, 171.6, 171.3, 171.2, 171.1, 170.9, 169.6 (15s, 15 CO); 156.2 (s, CO(carbamate)); 137.9 (s, arom. C of CH₂Ph(Ser)); 136.2 (s, arom. C(Z)); 128.3, 128.1, 127.9, 127.6, 127.4, 127.2 (6d, 10 arom. CH); 79.8 (s, Me₃C); 72.0 (t, $OCH_2Ph(Ser)$); 68.6 (t, $CH_2(\beta)(Ser)$); 65.8 (t, CH₂(carbamate)); 63.9, 62.9, 60.8 (3d, 3 CH(α)(Pro)); 58.3 (d, CH(a)(Val)); 56.1, 56.0, 55.9, 55.8, 55.6 (5s, 5 $C(\alpha)(Aib));$ 55.4, 51.9 (2d, $CH(\alpha)(Asn), CH(\alpha)(Ser));$ 51.1, 51.0 (2d, 3 CH(α)(Leu)); 48.3, 48.2, 47.6 (3t, 3 $CH_2(\delta)(Pro)$; 39.5, 39.1, 39.1 (3t, 3 $CH_2(\beta)(Leu)$); 34.9 (t, $CH_2(\beta)(Asn)$); 29.6 (d, $CH(\beta)(Val)$); 28.4, 28.3, 28.1 (3t, 3 CH₂(β)(Pro)); 27.5 (q, Me₃C); 26.5, 26.0, 25.7 (3q, 3 Me of 10 Me(Aib)); 25.6 (t, 1 CH₂ of 3 CH₂(γ)(Pro)); 25.5 (q, 1 Me of 10 Me(Aib)); 25.4 (t, 1 CH₂ of 3 CH₂(γ)(Pro)); 25.3 (q, 1 Me of 10 Me(Aib)); 25.1 (t, 1 CH₂ of 3 CH₂(γ)(Pro)); 24.2 (q, d, 1 Me of 10 Me(Aib), 2 CH of 3 CH(γ)(Leu)); 23.81 (q, 1 Me of 10 Me(Aib)); 23.76 (d, 1 CH of 3 CH(γ)(Leu)); 23.3 (q, 2 Me of 10 Me(Aib)); 23.1 (q, 1 Me of 10 Me(Aib)); 23.0, 22.93, 22.89, 21.1, 20.3, 20.2 (6q, 6 Me(Leu)); 18.8, 17.9 (2q, 2 Me(Val)). ESI-MS: 1693 (17, [M+K]⁺), 1677 (85, $[M+Na]^+$). HPLC/MS: t_R 18.1 min, m/z 1676 (2, $[M+H]^+$), 846 (100), 819 (35).

Acknowledgements

We thank Dr. Daniel Obrecht, Polyphor Ltd, Allschwil (Switzerland) for continuous advice and valuable discussions, as well as the analytical sections of our institute for 2D-NMR measurements and mass spectra. Financial support of the Swiss National Science Foundation and F. Hoffmann-La Roche AG, Basel is gratefully acknowledged.

References and notes

- 1. Heimgartner, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1991, 30, 238–264.
- 2. Wipf, P. Ph.D. thesis, Universität Zürich, 1987.
- 3. Wipf, P.; Heimgartner, H. Helv. Chim. Acta 1988, 71, 140-154.
- 4. Wipf, P.; Heimgartner, H. Helv. Chim. Acta 1990, 73, 13-24.
- Strässler, C.; Linden, A.; Heimgartner, H. Helv. Chim. Acta 1997, 80, 1528–1554.
- 6. Suter, G.; Stoykova, S. A.; Linden, A.; Heimgartner, H. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **2000**, *83*, 2961–2974.
- Stamm, S.; Linden, A.; Heimgartner, H. Helv. Chim. Acta 2003, 86, 1371–1396.

- Altherr, W.; Heimgartner, H. *Peptides 1990*; Giralt, E., Andreu, D., Eds.; ESCOM: Leiden, 1991; p 107.
- 9. Luykx, R.; Bucher, C. B.; Linden, A.; Heimgartner, H. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **1996**, *79*, 527–540.
- Bucher, C. B.; Heimgartner, H. Helv. Chim. Acta 1996, 79, 1903–1915.
- 11. Pradeille, N.; Heimgartner, H. J. Pept. Sci. 2003, 9, 827-837.
- 12. Luykx, R.; Linden, A.; Heimgartner, H. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **2003**, 86, 4093–4111.
- Pradeille, N.; Zerbe, O.; Möhle, K.; Linden, A.; Heimgartner, H. Chem. Biodivers. 2005, 2, 1127–1152.
- Lehmann, J.; Linden, A.; Heimgartner, H. *Tetrahedron* 1998, 54, 8721–8736.
- 15. Lehmann, J.; Heimgartner, H. Helv. Chim. Acta 1999, 82, 1899–1915.
- 16. Breitenmoser, R.; Linden, A.; Heimgartner, H. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **2002**, *85*, 990–1018.
- 17. Jeremic, T.; Linden, A.; Heimgartner, H. *Chem. Biodivers.* **2004**, *1*, 1730–1761.
- Jeremic, T.; Linden, A.; Möhle, K.; Heimgartner, H. *Tetrahedron* 2005, *61*, 1871–1883.
- Villalgordo, J. M.; Heimgartner, H. *Helv. Chim. Acta* 1997, 80, 748–766.
- 20. Koch, K. N.; Linden, A.; Heimgartner, H. *Helv. Chim. Acta* 2000, *83*, 233–257.
- 21. Koch, K. N.; Heimgartner, H. Helv. Chim. Acta 2000, 83, 1881–1900.
- 22. Iliev, B.; Linden, A.; Kunz, R.; Heimgartner, H. *Tetrahedron* **2006**, *62*, 1079–1094.
- Köttgen, P.; Linden, A.; Heimgartner, H. Helv. Chim. Acta 2006, 89, 731–746.
- Stamm, S.; Heimgartner, H. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 3820– 3827.

- 25. Stamm, S.; Linden, A.; Heimgartner, H. Helv. Chim. Acta 2006, 89, 1–15.
- 26. Brückner, H.; Kripp, T.; Kiess, M. *Peptides 1990*; Giralt, E., Andreu, D., Eds.; ESCOM: Leiden, 1991; p 387.
- 27. Auvin-Guette, C.; Rebuffat, S.; Prigent, Y.; Bodo, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1992**, 114, 2170–2174.
- Das, M. K.; Raghothamma, S.; Balaram, P. *Biochemistry* 1986, 25, 7110–7117.
- 29. Stamm, S.; Heimgartner, H. Helv. Chim. Acta, in press.
- 30. Kunz, H.; Dombo, B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1988, 27, 711–713.
- 31. Hiersemann, M. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 2625-2638.
- Kaljuste, K.; Undén, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 3031– 3034.
- Nicolaou, K. C.; Petasis, N.; Seitz, S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1981, 1195–1196.
- Holmes, C. P.; Jones, D. G. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 2318– 2319.
- 35. Holmes, C. P. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 2370-2380.
- For a review about photolabile protecting groups and linkers, see: Bochet, C. G. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2002, 125–142.
- Patchornik, A.; Amit, B.; Woodward, R. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1970, 92, 6333–6335.
- Dessolin, M.; Guillerez, M.-G.; Thieriet, N.; Guibé, F.; Loffet, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 5741–5744.
- For solution phase syntheses of *Trichovirin I*, see: Brückner, H.; Koza, A. *Amino Acids* 2003, 24, 311–323, and Ref. 12.
- 40. Villalgordo, J. M.; Heimgartner, H. *Tetrahedron* **1993**, *49*, 7215–7222.
- Villalgordo, J. M.; Heimgartner, H. *Helv. Chim. Acta* 1993, 76, 2830–2837.
- Strazzolini, P.; Melloni, T.; Giumanini, A. G. *Tetrahedron* 2001, *57*, 9033–9043.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9681-9687

Gallic esters of 4,5-dinitrocatechol as potential building blocks for thermotropic liquid crystals

Roxana Judele,^a Sabine Laschat,^{a,*} Angelika Baro^a and Manfred Nimtz^b

^aInstitut für Organische Chemie, Universität Stuttgart, Pfaffenwaldring 55, D-70569 Stuttgart, Germany ^bGesellschaft für Biotechnologische Forschung, Mascheroder Weg 1, D-38124 Braunschweig, Germany

> Received 11 May 2006; revised 24 July 2006; accepted 25 July 2006 Available online 21 August 2006

Abstract—A series of unsubstituted and 1,4-disubstituted gallic catecholates **1**, **6** and **7** as possible candidates for wedge-shaped mesogens were prepared starting from the respective benzene derivatives **2a–c** and gallic esters **5a–h**. The mesomorphic properties were investigated by DSC. However, only the 4,5-dinitro derivatives **1d**,**f–h** with C_8H_{17} and $C_{10}H_{21}$ to $C_{12}H_{25}$ alkyl side chains displayed mesophases, as evaluated by fluidity and optical anisotropy.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The effect of nitro groups on the mesomorphic and optical properties of low molecular weight thermotropic liquid crystals has been studied by several groups during the last couple of years.¹ In most cases molecules exhibiting smectic, nematic and banana phases have been investigated, whereas wedge-shaped systems were not considered. Bushby^{2,3} and Kumar⁴ observed that nitration of hexaalkyloxy-substituted triphenylenes leads to enhanced mesophase behaviour. This prompted us to prepare gallic ester **1** of 4,5-dinitrocatechol as potential candidates for wedge-shaped mesogens (Scheme 1). Herein we report their synthesis and the study of mesomorphic properties.



Scheme 1. Gallic ester 1 derived from 4,5-dinitrocatechol.

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter @ 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.087

2. Results and discussion

As shown in Scheme 2, target compound 1 was accessible via three-step reaction. 1,2-Dimethoxybenzene **2a** was treated with nitric acid to give 1,2-dimethoxy-4,5-dinitrobenzene **3** in 90% yield following a procedure by Marquet.⁵ Compound **3** was subsequently demethylated with BBr₃ at -78 °C in CH₂Cl₂ to afford 4,5-dinitrocatechol **4** in 68% yield.⁶ The latter was esterified with tris(alkyloxy)gallic acids **5a–h** in the presence of DCC and DMAP⁷ to yield the target gallic esters **1a–h** in 56–82% (Scheme 2). Compound **5**



Scheme 2. Synthesis of target gallic ester 1 starting from 1,2-dimethoxybenzene 2a.

Keywords: Catechol; Esterification; Gallic esters; Mesogens.

^{*} Corresponding author. Fax: +49 711 685 64285; e-mail: sabine.laschat@ oc.uni-stuttgart.de

was prepared from ethyl 3,4,5-trihydroxybenzoate via O-alkylation and subsequent saponification.⁷ Slight modification of this protocol by replacing DMF with acetonitrile as the solvent and slow addition of the alkyl bromide⁸ markedly improved the yields up to 99%.

The mesomorphic properties of ester **1** were investigated by differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) and polarizing optical microscopy (POM). The results are summarized in Table 1. Whereas the derivatives **1a–c** with $R^1=C_5H_{11}$ to C_7H_{15} side chain displayed only isotropic melting during the DSC heating scans, a melting transition at 37 °C and a clearing transition at 55 °C were observed for octyloxy ester **1d**. Surprisingly, only isotropic melting was found for the homologous nonyloxy ester **1e**. In contrast, derivatives **1f–h** with longer alkyl chains ($R^1=C_{10}H_{21}$ to $C_{12}H_{25}$) again displayed a mesophase. The high clearing enthalpies of compounds **1d**,**f–h** deserve some additional comment. Although they may be taken as evidence for plastic crystals,⁹ we have previously reported high clearing enthalpies for both columnar^{10,11} and smectic mesophases.¹¹

Under the polarizing optical microscope small, poorly defined textures were observed for compounds **1d**,**f**–**h** upon cooling from the isotropic liquid. Typical examples are shown in Figure 1. Unfortunately, we were not able to obtain suitable X-ray diffraction data. Thus, a crystal to crystal transition instead of a crystal to mesophase (i.e., smectic) transition cannot be completely excluded. However, the fluidity of the birefringent phase, which was obtained upon cooling from the isotropic liquid, was proven by mechanically shearing the sample between the cover slip and the slide. The combination of fluidity and optical anisotropy gives clear evidence of a liquid crystalline state.

In order to study the effect of the nitro groups on the mesomorphic properties, the unsubstituted gallic esters **6a–h** (R=H) were prepared as described above by esterification of 1,2-dihydroxybenzene **2b** with gallic acids **5a–h** in the presence of DCC and DMAP in CH₂Cl₂ at room temperature.⁷ In an analogous manner, the corresponding 4,5-dibromo gallic esters **7f–h** were obtained in 77–87% yield starting from 4,5-dibromo-1,2-dihydroxybenzene **2c**¹² and gallic ester derivatives **5f–h** (Scheme 3).

In contrast to the dinitro ester 1 the corresponding unsubstituted derivative 6 did not display any mesophases. Only crystal to crystal transitions and isotropic melting were observed (Table 2). All melting points were much lower than those of the dinitro compound 1, resulting from the decreased polarity.

Table 1. Phase transition temperatures [°C] and enthalpies $[kJ\,mol^{-1}]$ of gallic esters $1a{-}h$

Compd	R^1	Cr ₁	$T(\Delta H)$	Ι	$T(\Delta H)$		
1a	C5H11	Cr	69 (65.8)	Ι			
1b	$C_{6}H_{13}$	Cr	75 (51.7)	Ι			
1c	$C_{7}H_{15}$	Cr	63 (85.9)	Ι			
1d	$C_{8}H_{17}$	Cr	37 (10.6)	M_x	55 (28.1)	Ι	
1e	$C_{9}H_{19}$	Cr	62 (71.5)	Ι			
1f	$C_{10}H_{21}$	Cr	44 (42.0)	M_x	61 (66.4)	Ι	
1g	$C_{11}H_{23}$	Cr	46 (49.1)	M_x	63 (77.0)	Ι	
1h	$C_{12}H_{25}$	Cr	61 (63.5)	M_x	65 (13.0)	Ι	

Cr=crystalline, M_x=mesophase, I=isotropic.



Figure 1. Optical textures of compounds **1d** at 50 °C (a) and **1f** at 64 °C (b) upon cooling from the isotropic liquid (cooling rate 1 K min⁻¹, magnification $\times 200$).



Scheme 3. Preparation of gallic esters 6a-h and 4,5-dibromo derivatives 7f-h.

As can be seen from Table 2, even the dibromo derivatives **7f–h** with long alkyl chains ($R^1=C_{10}H_{21}$ to $C_{12}H_{25}$) did not show any mesophases but crystal to crystal transitions.

Table 2. Phase transition temperatures [$^{\circ}$ C] and enthalpies [kJ mol⁻¹] of gallic ester derivatives **6a–h** and **7f–h**

Compd	\mathbf{R}^1	Cr ₁	$T\left(\Delta H\right)$	Ι	$T(\Delta H)$	
6a	C5H11	Cr	4 (12.4)	Ι		
6b	$C_{6}H_{13}$	Cr	-5(9.7)	Ι		
6c	$C_{7}H_{15}$	Cr_1	3 (0.8)	Cr_2	9 (1.5)	Ι
6d	C ₈ H ₁₇	Cr_1	8 (1.3)	Cr_2	11 (2.3)	Ι
6e	$C_{9}H_{19}$	Cr	18 (3.6)	Ι		
6f	$C_{10}H_{21}$	Cr_1	-56 (8.2)	Cr_2	22 (12.0)	Ι
6g	$C_{11}H_{23}$	Cr_1	-22(26.3)	Cr_2	25 (12.7)	Ι
6ĥ	$C_{12}H_{25}$	Cr_1	5 (28.9)	Cr_2	28 (8.7)	Ι
7f	$C_{10}H_{21}$	Cr	33 (71.2)	Ι		
7g	$C_{11}H_{23}$	Cr_1	-2(49.0)	Cr ₂	42 (47.1)	Ι
7h	$C_{12}H_{25}$	Cr_1	5 (28.9)	Cr ₂	42 (64.2)	Ι

Cr=crystalline, I=isotropic.

In conclusion, substituent effects on the phase behaviour of gallic catecholates 1, 6 and 7 were evaluated. While some of the dinitro derivative 1 displayed mesophases, both the corresponding unsubstituted gallic ester 6 and the dibromo-substituted derivative 7 are certainly not mesomorphic. However, in the case of 1 it cannot be differentiated undoubtedly between true mesophases or just soft crystal phases. In general, phase transition temperatures decrease in the order 1>7>6 with an approximate temperature difference of 20 °C between the different series. Although compounds 6 and 7 did not show any mesomorphic properties, they are useful building blocks for the convergent preparation of larger mesogenic subunits via oxidative coupling (Schöll reaction)¹³ or Pd-catalyzed cross coupling.¹⁴

3. Experimental

3.1. General

Column chromatography was accomplished using SiO₂ 60, grain size 0.063–0.200 mm (Merck) with hexanes (PE, bp 30–60 °C), EtOAc, and dichloromethane (CH₂Cl₂) as eluents. Starting materials **2a,b** are commercially available. ¹³C NMR multiplicities were determined with DEPT experiments. DSC was performed on a Mettler Toledo DSC822. Compounds **2c**, **3** and **4** were prepared according to literature procedures.^{5,6,12}

3.1.1. General procedure for the preparation of gallic esters 5a-h. A mixture of K₂CO₃ (9 equiv) and ethyl 3,4,5trihydroxybenzoate (1 equiv) in MeCN (30-60 mL) was refluxed for 30 min under N2 atmosphere. A solution of the respective alkyl bromide (4 equiv) in MeCN (6-12 mL) was added dropwise to the slurry, maintaining reflux and stirring for 20 h. The reaction was cooled to room temperature and filtered. The inorganic residue was washed with CH₂Cl₂ $(2 \times 50 \text{ mL})$. The filtrate was concentrated under vacuum, the residue dissolved in CH2Cl2 (75 mL) and washed with a 0.5 M NaOH solution (50 mL) and water (2×50 mL), dried (MgSO₄) and concentrated, yielding an oil. A solution of KOH (14 equiv) in EtOH (75 mL) was added to the gained oil and the mixture was refluxed for 6 h. After evaporation of the solvent, the oily solid was cooled at 0 °C, then treated with H₂O (50 mL) followed by 36.5% HCl (20 mL) after 10 min. The white precipitate was isolated by filtration, washed with water and dried under vacuum. In the case of **5g** and **5h**, the mixture was treated with cold MeOH (20 mL), stirred for 30 min at 0 °C, filtrated and dried. The spectroscopic data of products **5** are in accordance with those in the literature.⁷

3.1.2. General procedure for the preparation of 4,5-dinitro-2-{[3,4,5-tris(alkyloxy)benzoyl]oxy}phenyl 3,4,5tris(alkyloxy)benzoates 1a-h. DCC (3.1 equiv) was added to a cooled solution of the appropriate acid **5** (2.2 equiv) in CH₂Cl₂ (14 mL) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred for 10 min. Then DMAP (1.0 equiv) and **3** (1.0 equiv) were added and after stirring for five days, the reaction mixture was treated with CH₂Cl₂ (20 mL), washed with 1 M HCl (3×30 mL) and H₂O (30 mL), dried (MgSO₄) and concentrated. The oily residue was treated with PE (30 mL) and the white solid was filtered off. The filtrate was evaporated and the residue purified by repeated flash chromatography on SiO₂ with PE/CH₂Cl₂ [1:3, then 10:27 (**1a**), 2:2.3 (**1b**), 2:2.1 (**1c**), 2:2.2 (**1d**), 11:1 (**1e**), 20:23 (**1f**), 13:10 (**1g,h**)] to give product **1** as bright yellow solid.

3.1.2.1. 4,5-Dinitro-2-{[3,4,5-tris(pentyloxy)benzoyl]oxy}phenyl 3,4,5-tris(pentyloxy)benzoate (1a). Mp 69 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =0.92 (t, J=6.8 Hz, 18H; 6CH₃), 1.30–1.51 (m, 24H; 6(CH₂)₂CH₃), 1.70–1.80 (m, 12H; 6OCH₂CH₂), 3.82 (t, J=6.4 Hz, 8H; 4OCH₂), 4.02 (t, J=6.4 Hz, 4H; 2OCH₂), 7.23 (s, 4H; Ar-H), 8.07 (s, 2H; Ar-H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 13.9 (4CH_3), 14.0 (2CH_3), 22.41 (2CH_3CH_2), 22.47$ (CH₃CH₂), 28.1 (2CH₃CH₂CH₂), 28.2 (CH₃CH₂CH₂), 28.8 (2CH₃(CH₂)₃), 29.9 (CH₃(CH₂)₃), 69.1 (2OCH₂), 73.5 (OCH₂), 108.5 (4CH), 120.7 (2CH), 121.0, 140.0, 144.0, 145.8, 153.0, 162.5 (2CO) ppm. FTIR (ATR): 2954 (m), 2932 (vs), 2870 (vs), 1746 (vs), 1732 (vs), 1588 (m), 1540 (vs), 1430 (m), 1333 (vs), 1270 (vs), 1180 (vs), 1157 (vs), 1084 (s), 934 (m), 743 (m) cm⁻¹. UV-vis (CH₂Cl₂): λ_{max} (log ε)=309 (3.29), 276 (3.42), 229 (0.74), 213 (0.61). EIMS, m/z (%): 924.5 (40) [M⁺], 880.8 (100) $[M^+-CO_2]$, 809.8 (20), 742.6 (15), 696.4 (100), 626.5 (15), 562.3 (25), 517.3 (40), 380.2 (45), 310.2 (28), 170.0 (100), 43 (75). MS (ESI), *m/z* (%): 947.5 (100) [M⁺+Na], 942.6 (25) [M⁺+NH₄], 925.6 (10) [M⁺+H]. Anal. calcd for C₅₀H₇₂N₂O₁₄ (924.5): C, 64.91; H, 7.84; N, 3.03. Found: C, 64.70; H, 7.81; N, 2.98.

3.1.2.2. 4,5-Dinitro-2-{[3,4,5-tris(hexyloxy)benzoyl]oxy}phenyl 3,4,5-tris(hexyloxy)benzoate (1b). Mp 75 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =0.90 (t, J=6.6 Hz, 18H; 6CH₃), 1.30–1.57 (m, 36H; 6(CH₂)₃CH₃), 1.69–1.80 (m, 12H; 6OCH₂CH₂), 3.82 (t, J=6.3 Hz, 8H; 6CH₃), 4.02 (t, J=6.5 Hz, 4H; 2OCH₂), 7.23 (s, 4H; Ar-H), 8.08 (s, 2H; Ar-H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =13.9 (4*C*H₃), 14.0 (2CH₃), 22.5, 22.6, 25.6, 25.7, 29.1, 30.2, 31.5, 31.6 (6CH₃(CH₂)₄), 69.1 (4OCH₂), 73.6 (2OCH₂), 108.5 (4CH), 120.7 (2CH), 121.0, 140.0, 144.0, 145.8, 153.0, 162.5 (2CO) ppm. FTIR (ATR): 2926 (vs), 2855 (vs), 1747 (vs), 1735 (vs), 1552 (s), 1540 (vs), 1430 (s), 1332 (vs), 1276 (vs), 1187 (vs), 1159 (vs), 1113 (vs), 930 (m), 744 (m), 631 (m) cm⁻¹. UV–vis (CH₂Cl₂): λ_{max} (log ε)=282 (3.37), 229 (0.67), 208 (0.51). MS (ESI), *m*/*z* (%): 1031.6 $(100) \quad [M^{+}+Na], \quad 1026.7 \quad (15) \quad [M^{+}+NH_{4}], \quad 1009.6 \quad (8)$ $[M^++H]$, 1008.6 (5) $[M^+]$. Anal. calcd for $C_{56}H_{84}N_2O_{14}$

(1008.6): C, 66.64; H, 8.39; N, 2.78. Found: C 66.73; H, 8.38; N, 2.75.

3.1.2.3. 4,5-Dinitro-2-{[3,4,5-tris(heptyloxy)benzov]]oxy}phenyl 3,4,5-tris(heptyloxy)benzoate (1c). Mp 63 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =0.89 (t, J=6.6 Hz, 18H; 6CH₃), 1.30–1.57 (m, 48H; 6(CH₂)₄CH₃), 1.70–1.80 (m, 12H; 6OCH₂CH₂), 3.82 (t, J=6.3 Hz, 8H; 4OCH₂), 4.01 (t, J=6.5 Hz, 4H; 2OCH₂), 7.22 (s, 4H; Ar-H), 8.08 (s, 2H; Ar-H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ=14.0 (6CH₃), 22.6, 22.7, 25.9, 26.0, 29.0, 29.1, 29.2, 30.3, 31.8, 31.9 (6CH₃(CH₂)₅), 69.1 (4OCH₂), 73.6 (2OCH₂), 108.5 (4CH), 120.7 (2CH), 121.0, 140.0, 144.0, 145.8, 153.0, 162.5 (2CO) ppm. FTIR (ATR): 2924 (vs), 2854 (vs), 1746 (vs), 1735 (vs), 1589 (m), 1552 (vs), 1539 (vs), 1466 (m), 1429 (vs), 1332 (vs), 1276 (vs), 1186 (vs), 1159 (vs), 1113 (vs), 930 (m), 744 (m) cm⁻¹. UV-vis (CH₂Cl₂): λ_{max} (log ε)=277 (3.42), 229 (0.74). MS (ESI), m/z (%): 1115.7 (100) [M⁺+Na], 1110.7 (35) [M⁺+NH₄], 1093.7 (12) $[M^++H]$, 1092.7 (10) $[M^+]$. Anal. calcd for $C_{62}H_{96}N_2O_{14}$ (1092.7): C, 68.10; H, 8.85; N, 2.56. Found: C, 68.01; H, 8.70; N, 2.48.

3.1.2.4. 4,5-Dinitro-2-{[3,4,5-tris(octyloxy)benzoyl]oxy}phenyl 3,4,5-tris(octyloxy)benzoate (1d). ¹H NMR $(300 \text{ MHz}, \text{ CDCl}_3): \delta = 0.88 \text{ (t, } J = 6.3 \text{ Hz}, 18\text{H}; 6\text{CH}_3),$ 1.28-1.56 (m, 60H; 6(CH₂)₅CH₃), 1.68-1.79 (m, 12H; 6OCH₂CH₂), 3.82 (t, J=6.3 Hz, 8H; 4OCH₂), 4.01 (t, J=6.5 Hz, 4H; 2OCH₂), 7.22 (s, 4H; Ar-H), 8.08 (s, 2H; Ar-H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =14.0 (6CH₃), 22.6, 26.1, 29.2, 29.3, 29.5, 30.3, 31.8, 31.9 (6CH₃(CH₂)₆), 69.1 (4OCH₂), 73.6 (2OCH₂), 108.5 (4CH), 120.7 (2CH), 121.0, 140.0, 144.0, 145.8, 153.0, 162.5 (2CO) ppm. FTIR (ATR): 2918 (vs), 2851 (s), 1740 (vs), 1735 (vs), 1591 (m), 1534 (vs), 1430 (m), 1333 (vs), 1276 (vs), 1193 (vs), 1166 (vs), 1115 (vs), 743 (m), 633 (m) cm⁻¹. UV-vis (CH₂Cl₂): λ_{max} (log ε)=282 (3.37), 229 (0.67), 208 (0.51). MS (ESI), m/z (%): 1199.8 (100) $[M^++Na]$, 1194.8 (35) $[M^++NH_4]$, 1177.8 (37) [M⁺+H]. HRMS (EI) calcd 1176.7801 (for C₆₈H₁₀₈N₂O₁₄), found 1176.7838 [M⁺]. Anal. calcd for C₆₈H₁₀₈N₂O₁₄ (1176.8): C, 69.36; H, 9.24; N, 2.38. Found: C, 69.19; H, 9.11; N, 2.40.

3.1.2.5. 4,5-Dinitro-2-{[3,4,5-tris(nonyloxy)benzoyl]oxy}phenyl 3,4,5-tris(nonyloxy)benzoate (1e). Mp 62 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =0.88 (t, J=6.3 Hz, 18H; 6CH₃), 1.27–1.56 (m, 72H; 6(CH₂)₆CH₃), 1.68–1.79 (m, 12H; 6OCH₂CH₂), 3.82 (t, J=6.3 Hz, 8H; 4OCH₂), 4.01 (t, J=6.5 Hz, 4H; 2OCH₂), 7.22 (s, 4H; Ar-H), 8.08 (s, 2H; Ar-H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =14.0 (6CH₃), 22.6, 29.2, 29.32, 29.37, 29.4, 29.61, 29.68, 30.3, 31.91, 31.94 (6CH₃(CH₂)₇), 69.1 (4OCH₂), 73.6 (2OCH₂), 108.6 (4CH), 120.7 (2CH), 121.1, 140.0, 144.0, 145.9, 153.0, 162.5 (2CO) ppm. FTIR (ATR): 2918 (vs), 2849 (vs), 1743 (vs), 1735 (vs), 1590 (m), 1535 (vs), 1430 (vs), 1332 (vs), 1277 (vs), 1193 (vs), 1166 (vs), 1115 (vs), 742 (m), 722 (m) cm⁻¹. UV–vis (CH₂Cl₂): λ_{max} (log ε)=286 (1.16), 230 (0.45), 221 (0.42), 208 (0.35). MS (ESI), m/z (%): 1284.0 (100) [M⁺+Na], 1278.9 (18) [M⁺+NH₄], 1262.0 (35) [M⁺+2H], 1260.8 (8) [M⁺]. Anal. calcd for C₇₄H₁₂₀N₂O₁₄ (1260.9): C, 70.44; H, 9.59; N, 2.22. Found: C, 70.22; H, 9.48; N, 2.10.

3.1.2.6. 4,5-Dinitro-2-{[3,4,5-tris(decyloxy)benzoyl]oxy}phenyl 3,4,5-tris(decyloxy)benzoate (1f). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =0.88 (t, J=6.4 Hz, 18H; 6CH₃), 1.27-1.56 (m, 84H; $6(CH_2)_7CH_3$), 1.68-1.79 (m, 12H; 6OCH₂CH₂), 3.82 (t, J=6.3 Hz, 8H; 4OCH₂), 4.01 (t, J=6.5 Hz, 4H; 2OCH₂), 7.22 (s, 4H; Ar-H), 8.08 (s, 2H; Ar-H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ=14.0 (6CH₃), 22.6, 26.0, 26.1, 29.3, 29.4, 29.5, 29.6, 29.66, 29.74, 30.3, 31.9 (6CH₃(CH₂)₈), 69.1 (4OCH₂), 73.6 (2OCH₂), 108.6 (4CH), 120.7 (2CH), 121.0, 140.0, 144.0, 145.9, 153.0, 162.5 (2CO) ppm. FTIR (ATR): 2917 (vs), 2849 (vs), 1743 (vs), 1590 (m), 1535 (vs), 1430 (vs), 1334 (vs), 1277 (vs), 1192 (s), 1167 (vs), 1117 (vs), 784 (s), 743 (m), 633 (m) cm⁻¹. UV-vis (CH₂Cl₂): λ_{max} (log ε)=276 (3.42), 229 (0.70), 205 (0.53). MS (ESI), m/z (%): 1367.9 (100) [M⁺+Na], 1362.9 (20) [M⁺+NH₄], 1345.9 (10) [M⁺+H]. Anal. calcd for C₈₀H₁₃₂N₂O₁₄ (1345.0): C, 71.39; H, 9.89; N, 2.08. Found: C, 71.47; H, 9.95; N, 2.05.

3.1.2.7. 4,5-Dinitro-2-{[3,4,5-tris(undecyloxy)benzovl]oxy}phenyl 3,4,5-tris(undecyloxy)benzoate (1g). ¹H NMR $(300 \text{ MHz}, \text{ CDCl}_3): \delta = 0.88 \text{ (t, } J = 6.2 \text{ Hz}, 18\text{H}; 6\text{CH}_3),$ 1.26–1.58 (m, 96H; 6(CH₂)₈CH₃), 1.68–1.79 (m, 12H; $6OCH_2CH_2$), 3.81 (t, J=6.3 Hz, 8H; $4OCH_2$), 4.01 (t, J=6.5 Hz, 4H; 2OCH₂), 7.22 (s, 4H; Ar-H), 8.08 (s, 2H; Ar-H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 14.1$ (6CH₃). 22.6, 26.0, 26.1, 29.2, 29.3, 29.4, 29.5, 29.6, 29.7, 30.3, 31.9 (6CH₃(CH₂)₉), 69.1 (4OCH₂), 73.6 (2OCH₂), 108.6 (4CH), 120.7 (2CH), 121.1, 140.0, 144.0, 145.9, 153.0, 162.5 (2CO) ppm. FTIR (ATR): 2917 (vs), 2849 (vs), 1743 (vs), 1590 (m), 1535 (vs), 1430 (vs), 1334 (vs), 1277 (vs), 1192 (vs), 1167 (vs), 1118 (vs), 930 (m), 742 (m), 721 (m) cm⁻¹. UV–vis (CH₂Cl₂): λ_{max} (log ε)=285 (3.17), 229 (0.66), 207 (0.51). MS (MALDI-TOF), m/z (%): 1431.0 (92) [M⁺+H], 1430.0 (100) [M⁺]. Anal. calcd for C₈₆H₁₄₄N₂O₁₄ (1429.1): C, 72.23; H, 10.15; N, 1.96. Found: C, 71.59; H, 9.96; N, 1.89.

3.1.2.8. 4,5-Dinitro-2-{[3,4,5-tris(dodecyloxy)benzoyl]oxy}phenyl 3,4,5-tris(dodecyloxy)benzoate (1h). ¹H NMR $(300 \text{ MHz}, \text{ CDCl}_3): \delta = 0.88 \text{ (t, } J = 6.2 \text{ Hz}, 18\text{H}; 6C\text{H}_3),$ 1.26–1.56 (m, 108H; 6(CH₂)₉CH₃), 1.68–1.76 (m, 12H; $6OCH_2CH_2$), 3.81 (t, J=6.3 Hz, 8H; $4OCH_2$), 4.01 (t, J=6.4 Hz, 4H; 2OCH₂), 7.22 (s, 4H; Ar-H), 8.08 (s, 2H; Ar-H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ=14.1 (6CH₃), 22.6, 26.0, 26.1, 29.2, 29.3, 29.4, 29.5, 29.6, 29.7, 30.3, 31.9 (6CH₃(CH₂)₁₀), 69.1 (4OCH₂), 73.6 (2OCH₂), 108.5 (4CH), 120.7 (2CH), 121.0, 140.0, 144.0, 145.9, 153.0, 162.5 (2CO) ppm. FTIR (ATR): 2917 (vs), 2849 (vs), 1742 (vs), 1591 (m), 1534 (vs), 1430 (vs), 1334 (s), 1277 (vs), 1192 (vs), 1167 (s), 1116 (vs), 933 (m), 825 (m), 742 (m), 721 (m), 606 (m) cm⁻¹. UV-vis (CH₂Cl₂): λ_{max} $(\log \varepsilon)=229$ (0.74), 216 (0.64), 208 (0.59), 202 (0.54). MS (MALDI-TOF), m/z (%): 1515.1 (100) [M⁺+2H], 1514.1 (100) [M⁺+H], 1513.0 (10) [M⁺]. Anal. calcd for C₉₂H₁₅₆N₂O₁₄ (1513.2): C, 72.97; H, 10.38; N, 1.85. Found: C, 72.95; H, 10.14; N, 1.87.

3.1.3. General procedure for the preparation of 2-{[3,4,5-tris(alkyloxy)benzoyl]oxy}phenyl 3,4,5-tris(alkyloxy)-benzoates 6a-h. DCC (3.1 equiv) was added to a cooled solution of the appropriate **5** (2.2 equiv) in CH_2Cl_2 (7–10 mL) at 0 °C. After stirring for 10 min, DMAP and **2b**

(1.0 equiv each) were added and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 20 h. The reaction mixture was treated with CH₂Cl₂ (10 mL), washed with 1 M HCl (2×20 mL) and H₂O (20 mL), dried (MgSO₄) and concentrated. The oily solid was treated with PE (30 mL) and the white solid was filtered off. The filtrate was evaporated and the residue purified by flash chromatography on SiO₂ with PE/CH₂Cl₂ [20:29 (**6a**), 20:27 (**6b**), 20:24 (**6c**), 20:22 (**6d**), 1:1 (**6e**,**f**), 22:20 (**6g**), 26:20 (**6h**)] to give the products **6a–h** as yellowish to white oils, which were dried for 1 h under freezing conditions (liquid N₂) and vacuum (10⁻³ mbar).

3.1.3.1. 2-{[3,4,5-Tris(pentyloxy)benzoyl]oxy}phenyl 3,4,5-tris(pentyloxy)benzoate (6a). Mp 4 °C. ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =0.92 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 18H; 6CH₃), 1.32–1.50 (m, 24H; 6(CH₂)₂CH₃), 1.71–1.78 (m, 12H; 6OCH₂CH₂), 3.83 (t, J=6.4 Hz, 8H; 4OCH₂), 3.99 (t, J=6.4 Hz, 4H; 2OCH₂), 7.26 (s, 4H; Ar-H), 7.32–7.40 (2m, 4H; Ar-H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 13.9$ (4CH₃), 14.0 (2CH₃), 22.4 (2CH₃CH₂), 22.5 (CH₃CH₂), 28.1 (2CH₃CH₂CH₂), 28.2 (CH₃CH₂CH₂), 28.94 (2CH₃CH₂CH₂CH₂), 29.98 (CH₃CH₂CH₂CH₂), 69.0 (20CH₂), 73.4 (OCH₂), 108.3 (4CH), 123.1 (2CH), 123.5 (2*C*H), 126.5, 142.5, 142.9, 152.8, 164.0 (2*C*O) ppm. FTIR (ATR): 2954 (s), 2930 (vs), 2870 (vs), 1738 (vs), 1585 (vs), 1495 (s), 1428 (s), 1334 (vs), 1241 (m), 1192 (vs), 1102 (vs), 948 (m), 748 (w) cm⁻¹. UV–vis (CH₂Cl₂): λ_{max} (log ε)=257 (3.39), 210 (0.63). MS (ESI), m/z (%): 853.5 (50) [M⁺+NH₄+H], 852.5 (100) [M⁺+NH₄], 836.5 (20), 835.5 (32) [M⁺+H]. Anal. calcd for $C_{50}H_{74}O_{10}$ (834.6): C, 71.91; H, 8.93. Found: C, 72.07; H, 8.94.

2-{[3,4,5-Tris(hexyloxy)benzoyl]oxy}phenyl 3.1.3.2. 3,4,5-tris(hexyloxy)benzoate (6b). Mp -5 °C. ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =0.90 (t, J=6.3 Hz, 18H; 6CH₃), 1.28–1.50 (m, 36H; 6(CH₂)₃CH₃), 1.70–1.77 (m, 12H; $6OCH_2CH_2$), 3.83 (t, J=6.4 Hz, 8H; $4OCH_2$), 3.98 (t, J=6.5 Hz, 4H; 2OCH₂), 7.26 (s, 4H; Ar-H), 7.32–7.40 (2m, 4H; Ar-H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 14.0 \ (4CH_3), \ 14.1 \ (2CH_3), \ 22.6, \ 22.7, \ 25.6, \ 25.7, \ 29.2,$ 30.2, 31.5, 31.7 (6CH₃(CH₂)₄), 69.0 (4OCH₂), 73.4 (20CH₂), 108.3 (4CH), 123.1 (2CH), 123.5 (2CH), 126.5, 142.5, 142.9, 152.8, 164.0 (2CO) ppm. FTIR (ATR): 2953 (s), 2927 (vs), 2858 (vs), 1738 (vs), 1585 (vs), 1495 (s), 1428 (s), 1334 (vs), 1241 (m), 1192 (vs), 1102 (vs), 957 (m), 748 (w) cm⁻¹. UV–vis (CH₂Cl₂): λ_{max} (log ε)=260 (3.33), 236 (2.54), 209 (0.63). MS (ESI), m/z (%): 937.6 (50) [M⁺+NH₄+H], 936.6 (90) [M⁺+NH₄], 919.6 (100) $[M^++H]$, 918.6 (5) $[M^+]$. Anal. calcd for $C_{56}H_{86}O_{10}$ (918.6): C, 73.17; H, 9.43. Found: C, 73.40; H, 9.44.

3.1.3.3. 2-{[3,4,5-Tris(heptyloxy)benzoyl]oxy}phenyl 3,4,5-tris(heptyloxy)benzoate (6c). ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =0.89 (t, *J*=6.5 Hz, 18H; 6CH₃), 1.27–1.50 (m, 48H; 6(CH₂)₄CH₃), 1.70–1.77 (m, 12H; 6OCH₂CH₂), 3.82 (t, *J*=6.4 Hz, 8H; 4OCH₂), 3.98 (t, *J*=6.5 Hz, 4H; 2OCH₂), 7.26 (s, 4H; Ar-H), 7.31–7.40 (2m, 4H; Ar-H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =14.08 (4CH₃), 14.09 (2CH₃), 22.6, 22.7, 25.9, 26.0, 29.1, 29.2, 29.3, 30.3, 31.8, 31.9 (6CH₃(CH₂)₅), 69.0 (4OCH₂), 73.4 (2OCH₂), 108.3 (4CH), 123.1 (2CH), 123.5 (2CH), 126.5, 142.5, 142.9, 152.8, 164.0 (2CO) ppm. FTIR (ATR): 2953 (s), 2924 (vs), 2855 (vs), 1738 (vs), 1585 (vs), 1495 (s), 1428 (s), 1334 (vs), 1241 (m), 1196 (vs), 1103 (vs), 937 (m), 861 (m), 748 (m) cm⁻¹. UV–vis (CH₂Cl₂): λ_{max} (log ε)=255 (3.39), 210 (0.60). MS (ESI), *m/z* (%): 1022.7 (10), 1021.7 (25), 1020.7 (30) [M⁺+NH₄], 1005.7 (22), 1004.7 (65), 1003.7 (100) [M⁺+H], 1002.6 (5) [M⁺]. Anal. calcd for C₆₂H₉₈O₁₀ (1002.7): C, 74.21; H, 9.84. Found: C, 74.20; H, 9.81.

3.1.3.4. 2-{[3,4,5-Tris(octyloxy)benzoyl]oxy}phenyl **3.4.5-tris(octvloxy)benzoate** (6d). ¹H NMR (500 MHz. CDCl₃): δ =0.88 (t, J=6.7 Hz, 18H; 6CH₃), 1.25–1.50 (m, 60H; 6(CH₂)₅CH₃), 1.70–1.77 (m, 12H; 6OCH₂CH₂), 3.82 (t, J=6.4 Hz, 8H; 4OCH₂), 3.98 (t, J=6.5 Hz, 4H; 2OCH₂), 7.26 (s, 4H; Ar-H), 7.32–7.40 (2m, 4H; Ar-H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =14.0 (6CH₃), 22.67, 22.69, 26.0, 26.1, 29.3, 29.38, 29.41, 29.5, 30.3, 31.8, 31.9 (6CH₃(CH₂)₆), 69.0 (4OCH₂), 73.4 (2OCH₂), 108.3 (4CH), 123.1 (2CH), 123.5 (2CH), 126.4, 142.5, 142.9, 152.8, 164.0 (2CO) ppm. FTIR (ATR): 2953 (s), 2922 (vs), 2853 (vs), 1738 (vs), 1585 (vs), 1495 (s), 1429 (s), 1335 (vs), 1241 (m), 1196 (vs), 1104 (vs), 947 (w), 861 (m), 748 (m) cm⁻¹. UV-vis (CH₂Cl₂): λ_{max} (log ε)=256 (3.37), 212 (0.57). MS (ESI), m/z (%): 1104.8 (20) [M⁺+NH₄], 1089.8 (25), 1088.8 (60), 1087.7 (100) [M⁺+H], 1086.7 (10) [M⁺]. Anal. calcd for C₆₈H₁₁₀O₁₀ (1086.8): C, 75.09; H, 10.19. Found: C, 75.48; H, 10.27.

3.1.3.5. 2-{[3,4,5-Tris(nonyloxy)benzoyl]oxy}phenyl 3,4,5-tris(nonyloxy)benzoate (6e). Mp 18 °C. ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =0.88 (t, J=6.8 Hz, 18H; 6CH₃), 1.28-1.50 (m, 72H; 6(CH₂)₆CH₃), 1.70-1.77 (m, 12H; 6OCH₂CH₂), 3.82 (t, J=6.4 Hz, 8H; 4OCH₂), 3.98 (t, J=6.5 Hz, 4H; 2OCH₂), 7.26 (s, 4H; Ar-H), 7.32-7.40 (2m, 4H; Ar-H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 14.1$ (6CH₃), 22.6, 26.0, 26.1, 29.3, 29.4, 29.5, 29.6, 29.7, 30.3, 31.9, 32.0 (6CH₃(CH₂)₇), 69.0 (4OCH₂), 73.4 (2OCH₂), 108.3 (4CH), 123.1 (2CH), 123.5 (2CH), 126.5, 142.5, 142.9, 152.8, 164.0 (2CO) ppm. FTIR (ATR): 2953 (s), 2921 (vs), 2852 (vs), 1738 (vs), 1585 (vs), 1495 (s), 1429 (s), 1335 (vs), 1241 (m), 1196 (vs), 1104 (vs), 748 (m) cm⁻¹. UV–vis (CH₂Cl₂): λ_{max} (log ε)=256 (3.37), 212 (0.57). MS (ESI), m/z (%): 1188.8 (18) [M++NH₄], 1173.8 (30), 1172.8 (75), 1171.8 (100) [M⁺+H], 1170.8 (20) [M⁺]. Anal. calcd for C₇₄H₁₂₂O₁₀ (1170.9): C, 75.85; H, 10.49. Found: C, 76.19; H, 10.59.

3.1.3.6. 2-{[3,4,5-Tris(decyloxy)benzoyl]oxy}phenyl 3,4,5-tris(decyloxy)benzoate (6f). ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =0.88 (t, J=6.5 Hz, 18H; 6CH₃), 1.27–1.50 (m, 84H; 6(CH₂)₇CH₃), 1.68–1.78 (m, 12H; 6OCH₂CH₂), 3.82 (t, J=6.4 Hz, 8H; 4OCH₂), 3.98 (t, J=6.5 Hz, 4H; 2OCH₂), 7.26 (s, 4H; Ar-H), 7.31–7.40 (m, 4H; Ar-H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =14.0 (6*C*H₃), 22.6, 26.0, 26.1, 29.3, 29.38, 29.40, 29.5, 29.6, 29.7, 29.8, 30.3, 31.92, 31.93 (6CH₃(CH₂)₈), 69.0 (4OCH₂), 73.4 (2OCH₂), 108.3 (4CH), 123.1 (2CH), 123.5 (2CH), 126.5, 142.5, 142.9, 152.8, 164.0 (2CO) ppm. FTIR (ATR): 2953 (s), 2920 (vs), 2852 (vs), 1738 (vs), 1585 (vs), 1495 (s), 1429 (s), 1335 (vs), 1241 (m), 1196 (vs), 1105 (vs), 749 (m) cm⁻¹. UV-vis (CH₂Cl₂): λ_{max} (log ε)=277 (2.74), 232 (1.58). MS (ESI), m/z (%): 1272.9 (15) [M⁺+NH₄], 1257.9 (35), 1256.9 (80), 1255.9 (100) [M⁺+H]. Anal. calcd for

C₈₀H₁₃₄O₁₀ (1255.0): C, 76.51; H, 10.75. Found: C, 76.79; H, 10.86.

3.1.3.7. 2-{[3,4,5-Tris(undecvloxy)benzoyl]oxy}phenyl 3,4,5-tris(undecyloxy)benzoate (6g). ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =0.88 (t, J=6.8 Hz, 18H; 6CH₃), 1.27–1.50 (m, 96H; 6(CH₂)₈CH₃), 1.70–1.77 (m, 12H; 6OCH₂CH₂), 3.82 (t, J=6.3 Hz, 8H; 4OCH₂), 3.98 (t, J=6.5 Hz, 4H; 2OCH₂), 7.26 (s, 4H; Ar-H), 7.33–7.40 (m, 4H; Ar-H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =14.1 (6CH₃), 22.6, 26.0, 26.1, 29.3, 29.39, 29.40, 29.5, 29.6, 29.69, 29.72, 29.8, 30.3, 31.93, 31.95 (6CH₃(CH₂)₉), 69.0 (4OCH₂), 73.4 (2OCH₂), 108.3 (4CH), 123.1 (2CH), 123.5 (2CH), 126.4, 142.5, 142.9, 152.8, 164.0 (2CO) ppm. FTIR (ATR): 2953 (s), 2920 (vs), 2852 (vs), 1738 (vs), 1585 (vs), 1496 (s), 1466 (m), 1429 (s), 1336 (vs), 1241 (m), 1198 (vs), 1115 (vs), 1104 (vs), 750 (w) cm⁻¹. UV-vis (CH₂Cl₂): λ_{max} (log ε)= 277 (2.74), 232 (1.58). MS (ESI), m/z (%): 1341.0 (80), 1340.0 (100) [M⁺+H], 1338.9 (20) [M⁺], 1338.0 (10). Anal. calcd for C₈₆H₁₄₆O₁₀ (1339.1): C, 77.08; H, 10.98. Found: C, 77.35; H, 11.03.

3.1.3.8. 2-{[3,4,5-Tris(dodecyloxy)benzoyl]oxy}phenyl 3,4,5-tris(dodecyloxy)benzoate (6h). ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =0.88 (t, J=6.8 Hz, 18H; 6CH₃), 1.26–1.50 (m, 108H; $6(CH_2)_9CH_3$, 1.70–1.77 (m, 12H; $6OCH_2CH_2$), 3.82 (t, J=6.4 Hz, 8H; 4OCH₂), 3.98 (t, J=6.5 Hz, 4H; 2OCH₂), 7.26 (s, 4H; Ar-H), 7.32–7.40 (m, 4H; Ar-H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =14.1 (6CH₃), 22.7, 26.0, 26.1, 29.3, 29.39, 29.41, 29.5, 29.6, 29.69, 29.71, 29.75, 29.76, 29.78, 30.3, 31.9 (6CH₃(CH₂)₁₀), 69.0 (4OCH₂), 73.4 (20CH₂), 108.3 (4CH), 123.1 (2CH), 123.5 (2CH), 126.4, 142.5, 142.9, 152.8, 164.0 (2CO) ppm. FTIR (ATR): 2953 (s), 2920 (vs), 2852 (vs), 1739 (vs), 1586 (vs), 1496 (s), 1430 (s), 1337 (vs), 1242 (m), 1199 (vs), 1105 (vs), 751 (m) cm⁻¹. UV-vis (CH₂Cl₂): λ_{max} (log ε)=276 (2.90), 232 (1.66). MS (ESI), m/z (%): 1426.1 (50), 1425.1 (90), 1424.1 (100) [M⁺+H], 1423.1 (15) [M⁺]. Anal. calcd for C₉₂H₁₅₈O₁₀ (1423.2): C, 77.58; H, 11.18. Found: C, 77.96; H, 11.14.

3.1.4. General procedure for the preparation of 4,5-dibromo-2-{[3,4,5-tris(alkyloxy)benzoyl]oxy}phenyl 3,4,5tris(alkyloxy)benzoates 7f–h. DCC (3.1 equiv) was added to a cooled solution of the appropriate **5** (2.2 equiv) in CH₂Cl₂ (10 mL) at 0 °C and after stirring for 10 min, DMAP and **2c** (1 equiv each) were added and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for a further 20 h. The reaction mixture was treated with CH₂Cl₂ (30 mL), washed with 1 M HCl (2×30 mL) and H₂O (30 mL), dried (MgSO₄) and concentrated. The oily solid was treated with PE (30 mL) and the white solid was filtered off. The filtrate was evaporated and the residue purified by flash chromatography on SiO₂ with PE/CH₂Cl₂ (15:10) to give product **7** as white solid, which was dried for 1 h under freezing conditions (liquid N₂) and high vacuum (10⁻³ mbar).

3.1.4.1. 4,5-Dibromo-2-{[3,4,5-tris(decyloxy)benzoyl]oxy}phenyl **3,4,5-tris(decyloxy)benzoate** (7f). Mp 33 °C. ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =0.88 (t, *J*=6.4 Hz, 18H; 6CH₃), 1.27–1.50 (m, 84H; 6(CH₂)₇CH₃), 1.69–1.76 (m, 12H; 6OCH₂CH₂), 3.81 (t, *J*=6.3 Hz, 8H; 4OCH₂), 3.98 (t, *J*=6.5 Hz, 4H; 2OCH₂), 7.21 (s, 4H; Ar-H), 7.69 (s, 2H; Ar-H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =14.0 (6CH₃), 22.6, 26.0, 26.1, 29.2, 29.3, 29.4, 29.6, 29.7, 30.3, 31.9 (6CH₃(CH₂)₈), 69.0 (4OCH₂), 73.5 (2OCH₂), 108.3 (4CH), 121.3 (2CBr), 122.3, 128.1 (2CH), 142.1, 143.1, 152.9, 163.6 (2CO) ppm. FTIR (ATR): 2953 (s), 2917 (vs), 2849 (vs), 1743 (vs), 1589 (s), 1468 (s), 1430 (s), 1335 (vs), 1256 (m), 1196 (vs), 1112 (vs), 944 (m), 740 (w), 720 (w), 637 (w), 609 (w) cm⁻¹. UV–vis (CH₂Cl₂): λ_{max} (log ε)= 283 (2.94), 229 (0.52). MS (ESI), *m*/*z* (%): 1436.1 (45) [M⁺+Na+H], 573.7 (100), 433.6 (35). Anal. calcd for C₈₀H₁₃₂Br₂O₁₀ (1410.8): C, 67.97; H, 9.41. Found: C, 67.97; H, 9.37.

3.1.4.2. 4.5-Dibromo-2-{[3.4.5-tris(undecvloxy)benzov]]oxy}phenyl 3,4,5-tris(undecyloxy)benzoate (7g). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =0.88 (t, J=6.4 Hz, 18H; 6CH₃), 1.21-1.50 (m, 96H; 6(CH₂)₈CH₃), 1.67-1.78 (m, 12H; $6OCH_2CH_2$), 3.81 (t, J=6.3 Hz, 8H; $4OCH_2$), 3.98 (t, J=6.5 Hz, 4H; 2OCH₂), 7.21 (s, 4H; Ar-H), 7.69 (s, 2H; Ar-H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =14.1 (6CH₃), 22.6, 26.0, 26.1, 29.2, 29.3, 29.4, 29.5, 29.6, 29.7, 30.3, 31.9 (6CH₃(CH₂)₉), 69.0 (2OCH₂), 73.5 (2OCH₂), 108.3 (4CH), 121.3 (2CBr), 122.3, 128.1 (2CH), 142.1, 143.1, 152.9, 163.6 (2CO) ppm. FTIR (ATR): 2953 (s), 2916 (vs), 2849 (vs), 1744 (vs), 1589 (s), 1471 (s), 1463 (s), 1429 (s), 1336 (vs), 1259 (m), 1196 (vs), 1113 (vs), 944 (m), 739 (w), 720 (w) cm⁻¹. UV-vis (CH₂Cl₂): λ_{max} (log ε)=276 (3.36), 229 (0.54), 211 (0.47), 208 (0.47). MS (ESI), m/z (%): 1520.1 (100) [M⁺+Na], 615.5 (90), 461.4 (35). Anal. calcd for C₈₆H₁₄₄Br₂O₁₀ (1497.9): C, 68.96; H, 9.69. Found: C, 68.95; H, 9.69.

3.1.4.3. 4.5-Dibromo-2-{[3.4.5-tris(dodecvloxy)benzov]]oxy}phenyl 3,4,5-tris(dodecyloxy)benzoate (7h). ¹H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =0.88 (t, J=6.1 Hz, 18H; 6CH₃), 1.20-1.52 (m, 108H; $6(CH_2)_9$ CH₃), 1.61-1.80 (m, 12H; 6OCH₂CH₂), 3.81 (t, J=6.2 Hz, 8H; 4OCH₂), 3.98 (t, J=6.4 Hz, 4H; 2OCH₂), 7.21 (s, 4H; Ar-H), 7.69 (s, 2H; Ar-H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (62.9 MHz, CDCl₃): δ=14.1 (6CH₃), 22.7, 26.0, 26.1, 29.2, 29.3, 29.4, 29.6, 29.7, 29.8, 30.3, 31.9 (6CH₃(CH₂)₁₀), 69.0 (4OCH₂), 73.5 (2OCH₂), 108.3 (4CH), 121.3 (2CBr), 122.3, 128.1 (2CH), 142.1, 143.1, 152.9, 163.6 (2CO) ppm. FTIR (ATR): 2953 (s), 2916 (vs), 2849 (vs), 1744 (vs), 1589 (s), 1464 (s), 1430 (s), 1336 (vs), 1258 (m), 1197 (vs), 1113 (vs), 945 (m), 739 (w), 720 (w), 607 (w) cm⁻¹. UV–vis (CH₂Cl₂): λ_{max} (log ε)=277 (3.37), 229 (0.60), 219 (0.56). MS (Micro Tof), m/z (%): 1604.0 (75) $[M^++Na-H]$, 711.5 (12). Anal. calcd for $C_{92}H_{156}Br_2O_{10}$ (1579.0): C, 69.85; H, 9.94. Found: C, 70.21; H, 10.02.

Acknowledgements

Generous financial support by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft and the Fonds der Chemischen Industrie (fellowship for R.J.) is gratefully acknowledged. We would like to thank the referees for valuable suggestions.

References and notes

 (a) Fornasieri, G.; Guittard, F.; Géribaldi, S. *Liq. Cryst.* 2004, *31*, 491–495; (b) Murthy, H. N. S.; Sadashiva, B. K. *Liq. Cryst.* 2004, *31*, 567–578; (c) Tasaka, T.; Okamoto, H.; Morita, Y.; Kasatani, K.; Takenaka, S. *Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst.* 2003, 404, 15-31; (d) Tasaka, T.; Okamoto, H.; Morita, Y.; Kasatani, K.; Takenaka, S. Liq. Cryst. 2003, 30, 961-977; (e) Uamusse, A.; Dehne, H.; Reinke, H.; Dobbertin, J.; Schick, C.; Diele, S. J. Prakt. Chem./Chem.-Ztg. 1998, 340, 608-612; (f) Vill, V.; Tunger, H.-W.; Hensen, K.; Stegemeyer, H.; Diekmann, K. Lia. Crvst. 1996, 20, 449-452; (g) Takenaka. S.; Teshima, K. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1994, 67, 1655-1658; (h) Sakurai, Y.; Takenaka, S.; Sugiura, H.; Kusabayashi, S.; Nishihata, Y.; Terauchi, H.; Takagi, T. Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst. 1991, 201, 95-113; (i) Takenaka, S.; Sakurai, Y.; Takeda, H.; Kusabayashi, S.; Sugiura, H.; Morita, H.; Terauchi, H.; Nishihata, Y. Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst. 1989, 177, 59-70; (j) Ratna, B. R.; Prasad, K. S.; Shashidhar, R.; Heppke, G.; Pfeiffer, S. Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst. 1985, 124, 21-26; (k) Hardouin, F.; Achard, M. F.; Destrade, C.; Nguyen, H. T. J. Phys. (Paris) 1984, 45, 765-769.

- Reviews: (a) Kumar, S. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2006, 35, 83–109; (b) Kumar, S. Liq. Cryst. 2004, 31, 1037–1059; (c) Cammidge, A. N.; Bushby, R. J. Handbook of Liquid Crystals; Demus, D., Goodby, J., Gray, G. W., Spiess, H.-W., Vill, V., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 1998; Vol. 2B, pp 693–748.
- (a) Boden, N.; Bushby, R. J.; Cammidge, A. N. *Liq. Cryst.* 1995, *18*, 673–676; (b) Boden, N.; Bushby, R. J.; Cammidge, A. N.; Headdock, G. *J. Mater. Chem.* 1995, *5*, 2275–2281.
- Kumar, S.; Manickam, M. Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst. 1998, 309, 291–295.
- Marquet, J.; Moreno-Manas, M.; Vallribera, A.; Virgili, A.; Bertran, J.; Gonzales-Lafont, A.; Lluch, J. M. *Tetrahedron* 1987, 43, 351–360.

- Wu, J.; Watson, M. D.; Zhang, L.; Wang, Z.; Müllen, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 177–186.
- Schultz, A.; Diele, S.; Laschat, S.; Nimtz, M. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2001, 11, 441–446.
- Allen, M. T.; Diele, S.; Harris, K. D. M.; Hegmann, T.; Kariuki, B. M.; Lose, D.; Preece, J. A.; Tschierske, C. *J. Mater. Chem.* 2001, *11*, 302–311.
- (a) Tschierske, C.; Pelzl, G.; Diele, S. Angew. Chem. 2004, 116, 6340–6368;
 (b) Huang, C. C. Handbook of Liquid Crystals; Demus, D., Goodby, J., Gray, G. W., Spiess, H.-W., Vill, V., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 1998; Vol. 2A, pp 441–469;
 (c) Goodby, J. W. Handbook of Liquid Crystals; Demus, D., Goodby, J., Gray, G. W., Spiess, H.-W., Vill, V., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 1998; Vol. 2A, pp 3–21;
 (d) Guillon, D. Handbook of Liquid Crystals; Demus, D., Goodby, J., Gray, G. W., Spiess, H.-W., Vill, V., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 1998; Vol. 2A, pp 3–21;
 (d) Guillon, D. Handbook of Liquid Crystals; Demus, D., Goodby, J., Gray, G. W., Spiess, H.-W., Vill, V., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 1998; Vol. 2A, pp 23–46;
 (e) Wunderlich, B. Pure Appl. Chem. 1989, 61, 1347–1351.
- (a) Schultz, A.; Laschat, S.; Saipa, A.; Gießelmann, F.; Nimtz, M.; Schulte, J. L.; Baro, A.; Miehlich, B. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2004**, *14*, 163–168; (b) Schultz, A.; Laschat, S.; Diele, S.; Nimtz, M. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2003**, 2829–2839.
- Wuckert, E.; Dix, M.; Laschat, S.; Baro, A.; Schulte, J. L.; Hägele, C.; Giesselmann, F. *Liq. Cryst.* **2004**, *31*, 1305–1309.
- van Nostrum, C. F.; Picken, S. J.; Schouten, A.-J.; Nolte, R. J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 9957–9965.
- 13. Musgrave, O. C. Chem. Rev. 1969, 69, 499-531.
- Diederich, F.; Stang, P. J. Metal-catalyzed Cross-coupling Reactions; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 1998.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9688-9693

Stereoselective synthesis of (*E*)-4-alkoxy-2-aryl-5-chloro-2-thiazolines

Antonio Guirado,* Raquel Andreu, Bruno Martiz and Sergio Pérez-Ballester

Departamento de Química Orgánica, Facultad de Química, Universidad de Murcia, Campus de Espinardo, 30071 Murcia, Apartado 4021, Spain

> Received 27 April 2006; revised 12 July 2006; accepted 25 July 2006 Available online 21 August 2006

Abstract—The first synthesis of the title compounds has been achieved starting from chloralamides by a route involving chemical and electrochemical steps. N-(1-Alkoxy-2,2,2-trichloroethyl)benzamides were efficiently prepared from chloralbenzamides and were electrochemically converted into N-(1-alkoxy-2,2-dichloroethyl)benzamides in high yields by cathodic reduction in a protic medium. Thionation of these compounds with Lawesson's reagent followed by basic treatment gave novel (E)-4-alkoxy-2-aryl-5-chloro-2-thiazolines in fair to quantitative yields.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Thiazoline chemistry is receiving considerable attention because of its occurrence in biologically active natural products of interest such as curacin A,¹ thiangazole,² mirabazoles,³ apratoxins,⁴ etc. Furthermore, thiazolines are being used as building blocks in pharmaceutical drug discovery.^{5,6} Some thiazoline derivates present interesting activity such as anti-HIV,^{2a} anti-cancer,⁷ antimitotic,^{1b,1c} and antibiotic^{5c} agents. Therefore, new procedures for preparing these compounds attract substantial research interest.

Over the years, a number of approaches to make these heterocycles have been developed.⁸ The most commonly used synthetic approaches to these compounds are based on cyclodehydration of β -hydroxythioamides under the Mitsunobu conditions,^{5a,9} the Burgess reagent [methyl *N*-(triethylammonium sulfonyl)carbamate],^{5a,9b} [bis(2-methoxyethyl)amino]-sulfur trifluoride,¹⁰ or diethylamidosulfur trifluoride.¹¹ Condensations of 2-aminothiols with nitriles,¹² carboxylic acids,¹³ esters,¹⁴ iminoethers,¹⁵ or iminotriflates¹⁶ is also exploitable reactions. Thiazolines have also been prepared from acylamino and thioacylamino alcohols^{11,17,18} or by multistep conversions from oxazolines.¹⁹ More recent methods have been described, like ruthenium-catalyzed oxidation of thiazolidine to thiazoline,²⁰ reaction of aminothiols with *N*-acylbenzotriazoles under microwave irradiation,²¹ or annulation of thioamides with 2-alkynoates.²²

Chloral is an inexpensive multipurpose starting material for organic synthesis.²³ We have recently developed a new preparative methodology based on using chloral derivates having a molecular arrangement suitable to undergo a direct heterocyclization process that is promoted electrochemically. This method was successfully applied to prepare new types of 2-oxazolines,^{23,24} which provided access to novel 2-imidazolidinones,²⁵ 1,3-oxazolidines, and 1,3-thiazolidines.²⁶ One of the most advantageous features of this synthetic tactic lies in the synthesis of chlorinated oxazolines, since severe problems of chemical incompatibility with the usual chlorinating reagents can be avoided by using certain prechlorinated synthons derived from chloral. Given the previous success of our methodology on the synthesis of 2-oxazolines, and in order to expand the number of 2-thiazoline derivatives available, we recognized the opportunity to attempt an approach to synthesis 5-chloro-2-thiazolines, since these products pertain to a hitherto unknown family of compounds, of interest by themselves, as well as for their synthetic potential.

With the aim of exploring the possibility of adaptation of our earlier preparative strategy to this new objective, chloralamide **2a** was transformed to trichloromethyl thioamide **8a** (Scheme 1, route A) by treatment with Lawesson's reagent^{27,28} (LR). In contrast to what was expected on the basis of our previous experiments on 2-oxazoline electrosynthesis, a direct generation of the targeted (*E*)-5-chloro-4methoxy-2-thiazoline **7a** by cathodic reduction of **8a** was not feasible. This process was found to be totally unselective, probably due to equality in electroactivity at thiocarbonyl and trichloromethyl centers. Fortunately, this adversity could be overcome by carrying out an electroreduction–thionation

Keywords: Thiazolines; Chloralamides; Reduction; Thionation; Electro-synthesis.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +34 968367490; fax: +34 968364148; e-mail: anguir@um.es

steps run (Scheme 1, route B), instead of the failed thionation-electroreduction reaction sequence.



Scheme 1.

2. Results and discussion

Chloralamides **2** were prepared²⁹ in almost quantitative yields by reaction of chloral hydrate with benzamides **1** (Scheme 1). In order to prepare *N*-(1-alkoxy-2,2,2-trichloro-ethyl)benzamides **4**, compounds **2** were firstly converted into *N*-(1,2,2,2-tetrachloroethyl)benzamides **3** in high yields by treatment with phosphorus pentachloride, as described previously.^{29b,30} Products **3** were selectively monoalkoxy-lated by simple treatment with a mixture of the corresponding alcohol and triethylamine (ratio 1:1) to give the targeted intermediates **4** in good to quantitative yields.²⁴

The viability of a direct transformation of intermediates 4 to products 7 based on previous results concerning the

electrosynthesis of 2-oxazolines^{23,24} was investigated (route A). Thionation of compound 4a with LR gave 8a (72 %), which was electrolyzed in an aprotic medium (-1.6 V vs)SCE) leading to a complex mixture of unidentified products instead of the expected thiazoline 7a, due to an indiscriminate electrode process. In view of this difficulty it was intended that an alternative reaction sequence like route B would be able to provide the required compounds 7, since the non-sulfurated intermediates 4 would be able to undergo a more selective electrochemical reduction than the sulfurated intermediates 8. Thus, cathodic reductions of compounds 4 in a protic medium were carried out under constant potential of -1.7 V vs SCE. The electricity consumption was 2 F/mol of 4 in all cases. After electrolyses the reaction products were easily isolated in high yields by simple mixing of the catholyte solution with water and filtration. After crystallization highly pure white compounds were isolated and identified by elemental analysis and IR, MS, and NMR spectroscopy as intermediates 5.

Complete conversions of amides **5** into thioamides **6** were achieved by treatment with Lawesson's reagent on refluxing toluene for 1 h and isolated by column chromatography, resulting in yellow products in fair to high yields that were identified and characterized by elemental analysis and IR, MS, and NMR spectroscopy.

Alkaline treatment of compounds **6** under mild temperature conditions provided products in good to quantitative yields, which were identified by the usual techniques as (E)-4-alk-oxy-5-chloro-2-thiazolines **7**. As far as we know, this is the first time that compounds of this type have been synthesized. They seem to have special interest due to a potential capacity to be used as synthetic intermediates to prepare many other heterocyclic derivatives.

¹H NMR spectroscopic analyses confirmed that transformation of compounds 6 to products 7 occurs with total stereoselectivity toward the formation of (E)-isomers. A transition state between anionic species 9 and final products 7 involving minimal steric interactions between the stationary chlorine atom and a vicinal alkoxyl group explains the stereochemical fate of this internal displacement process. This configurational assignment is firmly supported by categorical studies³¹ on stereochemistry of substituted five-membered cyclic compounds, from which it has been established as a general rule that the arrangement of vicinal protons corresponds to a (E)-configuration when they show spin coupling constants of J < 5 Hz, whereas a (Z)-configuration always shows coupling constants with J>5 Hz, being ~ 8 Hz the value most frequently found. This method clearly leads to the conclusion that the stereochemistry of compounds 7 corresponds to a (E)-configuration, since the coupling constant between H-4 and H-5 protons is remarkably small, with J values ranging from 1.0 to 1.2 Hz in all cases.

To conclude, an effective method for the synthesis of previously unattainable (E)-4-alkoxy-2-aryl-5-chloro-2-thiazolines is reported. Versatility, good yields, easy availability of starting materials, mildness, and simple experimental procedure are noteworthy advantages of this approach.

3. Experimental

3.1. General

NMR spectra were determined on Bruker AV-200, Bruker AV-300, or Bruker AV-400 with tetramethylsilane as internal reference. Electron-impact mass spectra were obtained on Thermoquest trace MS spectrometer under an ionizing voltage of 70 eV. FAB⁺ were obtained on Autospec 5000 VG spectrometer. IR spectra (Nujol emulsions) were recorded on a Nicolet Impact 400 spectrometer. Microanalyses were performed on a Carlo Erba EA-1108 analyzer. Melting points were determined on a Büchi Melting point B-540, and are uncorrected. Electrochemical experiments were performed with an Amel 552 potentiostat coupled to an Amel 721 integrator.

3.2. Electrochemical preparation of *N*-(1-alkoxy-2,2-dichloroethyl)benzamides (5)

Electrolysis of compounds 4 was carried out under constant cathodic potential in a concentric cylindrical cell with two compartments separated by a circular glass frit (medium) diaphragm. A mercury pool (diameter 5 cm) was used as the cathode and a platinum plate as the anode. The catholyte was magnetically stirred. The temperature was kept at approximately 18 °C by external cooling. The reduction was performed in DMF (50 mL)-AcOH (1 mL)-LiClO₄ 0.5 M. Anhydrous sodium carbonate (1 g) was placed in the anode compartment to prevent accumulation of electrogenerated acid. Solutions of compounds 4 (5 mmol) were electrolyzed under a cathodic potential of -1.7 V vs SCE. The duration of the electrolyses ranged from 1.8 to 2.0 h. The average current intensity was 10.7 mA/cm² at the beginning, and 1.02 mA/cm^2 at the end. The cell voltage values remained below 5 V in all cases. The electricity consumption was 2 F/mol in all cases. Electrolyses carried out using NaBF₄, which is a less potentially hazardous electrolyte³² than LiClO₄, gave similar results. These syntheses were found to be reproducible but with moderate current efficiency (around 40%) by working in DMF (50 mL)-AcOH (0.6 mL)-NaBF₄ 0.5 M and using graphite (-1.8 V vs)SCE) instead of mercury as cathodic material.

All the electrolysis products were isolated by pouring the catholyte solution into ice–water, and the resulting solids were collected by filtration and dried under vacuo. Products **5** were isolated as white solids and were crystallized from the appropriated solvents giving satisfactory IR, ¹H NMR, ¹³C NMR, mass spectra, and elemental analyses.

3.2.1. *N*-(**2**,**2**-**Dichloro-1-methoxyethyl)benzamide** (**5**a). Crystallization from petroleum ether gave white needles (70%); mp 98–99 °C (Found: C 48.21; H 4.37; N 5.70, $C_{10}H_{11}Cl_2NO_2$ requires: C 48.41; H 4.47; N 5.65); ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 3.53 (s, 3H), 5.70 (dd, 1H, *J*=9.0, 2.2 Hz), 5.90 (d, 1H, *J*=2.2 Hz), 6.82 (d, 1H, *J*=9.0 Hz), 7.46–7.59 (m, 3H), 7.84 (d, 2H, *J*=7.3 Hz); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 100.4 MHz) 56.88, 72.26, 82.91, 127.16, 128.78, 132.42, 132.94, 167.69; MS *m/z* (%) 215 (3), 182 (12), 176 (23), 164 (52), 105 (100), 77 (82); IR (Nujol) 3222, 1646, 1526, 1460, 1343, 1276, 1191, 1117, 1074, 1026, 784, 694 cm⁻¹.

3.2.2. *N*-(**2**,**2**-**Dichloro-1-ethoxyethyl)benzamide (5b).** Crystallization from petroleum ether gave white needles (80%); mp 98–99 °C (Found: C 50.47; H 4.95; N 5.37, C₁₁H₁₃Cl₂NO₂ requires: C 50.40; H 5.00; N 5.34); ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) 1.26 (t, 3H, *J*=7.0 Hz), 3.71–3.82 (m, 2H), 5.78 (dd, 1H, *J*=9.5, 2.4 Hz), 5.89 (d, 1H, *J*=2.4 Hz), 6.85 (d, 1H, *J*=9.5 Hz), 7.44–7.57 (m, 3H), 7.84 (d, 2H, *J*=6.8 Hz); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 50.4 MHz) 14.95, 65.23, 72.67, 81.54, 127.24, 128.83, 132.42, 133.16, 167.59; MS *m/z* (%) 224 (4), 218 (14), 216 (22), 178 (11), 105 (100), 77 (58), 51 (18); IR (Nujol) 3211, 1635, 1524, 1466, 1379, 1085, 791, 696 cm⁻¹.

3.2.3. *N*-[2,2-Dichloro-1-(2-phenylethoxy)ethyl]benzamide (5c). Crystallization from petroleum ether gave white needles (75%); mp 88 °C (Found: C 60.45; H 4.99; N 4.16, $C_{17}H_{17}Cl_2NO_2$ requires: C 60.37; H 5.07; N 4.14); ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 2.93 (t, 2H, *J*=6.8 Hz), 3.89–3.94 (m, 2H), 5.76 (dd, 1H, *J*=9.5, 2.3 Hz), 5.84 (d, 1H, *J*=2.3 Hz), 6.59 (d, 1H, *J*=9.5 Hz), 7.20–7.26 (m, 5H), 7.45 (t, 2H, *J*=7.7 Hz), 7.58 (t, 1H, *J*=7.7 Hz), 7.71 (d, 2H, *J*=7.2 Hz); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 100.4 MHz) 36.00, 70.17, 72.49, 81.59, 126.41, 127.17, 128.39, 128.75, 129.08, 132.39, 132.97, 138.29, 167.53; MS *mlz* (%) 216 (3), 182 (4), 105 (77), 104 (100), 91 (22), 77 (68); IR (Nujol) 3250, 1638, 1525, 1467, 1347, 1278, 1122, 1081, 1027 cm⁻¹.

3.2.4. *N*-[**2**,**2**-Dichloro-1-(2-phenylethoxy)ethyl]-4-chlorobenzamide (5d). Crystallization from petroleum ether gave white needles (78%); mp 91–93 °C (Found: C 54.77; H 4.28; N 3.80, $C_{17}H_{16}Cl_3NO_2$ requires: C 54.79; H 4.33; N 3.76); ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 2.91 (t, 2H, *J*=6.7 Hz), 3.86–3.96 (m, 2H), 5.72 (dd, 1H, *J*=9.4, 2.3 Hz), 5.82 (d, 1H, *J*=2.3 Hz), 6.50 (d, 1H, *J*=9.4 Hz), 7.19–7.26 (m, 5H), 7.41 (d, 2H, *J*=8.5 Hz), 7.62 (d, 2H, *J*=8.5 Hz); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 100.4 MHz) 36.03, 70.29, 72.40, 81.73, 126. 44, 128.40, 128.61, 129.01, 129.09, 131.35, 138.33, 138.74, 166.48; MS *m*/*z* (%) 250 (2), 216 (3), 141 (44), 139 (85), 111 (49), 104 (100), 91 (37), 7 (19); IR (Nujol) 3287, 1653, 1526, 1464, 1379, 1344, 1102, 1018, 850, 793, 702 cm⁻¹.

3.2.5. *N*-(**2**,**2**-**Dichloro-1-benzyloxyethyl)-4-methylbenzamide (5e).** Crystallization from petroleum ether gave white needles (98%); mp 120–121 °C (Found: C 60.33; H 5.10; N 4.11, C₁₇H₁₇Cl₂NO₂ requires: C 60.37; H 5.07; N 4.14); ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 2.42 (s, 3H), 4.71 (d, 1H, *J*= 11.9 Hz), 4.77 (d, 1H, *J*=11.9 Hz), 5.86–5.88 (m, 2H), 6.77 (d, 1H, *J*=9.7 Hz), 7.26–7.42 (m, 7H), 7.69 (d, 2H, *J*=8.1 Hz); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 100.4 MHz) 21.52, 71.07, 72.62, 80.96, 127.19, 128.01, 128.11, 128.51, 129.43, 130.13, 136.80, 143.08, 167.48; MS *m/z* (%) 230 (11), 196 (75), 160 (16), 119 (94), 91 (100), 77 (23), 65 (41); IR (Nujol) 3275, 1645, 1522, 1505, 1462, 1344, 1098, 794, 738, 695 cm⁻¹.

3.2.6. *N*-[**2**,**2**-Dichloro-1-(4-methoxybenzyloxy)ethyl)]-4-methylbenzamide (5f). Crystallization from a mixture of petroleum ether and chloroform gave white needles (72%); mp 97–99 °C (Found: C 58.69; H 5.18; N 3.83, $C_{18}H_{19}Cl_2NO_3$ requires: C 58.71; H 5.20; N 3.80); ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 2.42 (s, 3H), 3.79 (s, 3H), 4.63 (d, 1H, *J*=11.7 Hz), 4.72 (d, 1H, *J*=11.7 Hz), 5.82–5.85 (m, 2H), 6.77 (d, 1H, J=9.6 Hz), 6.87 (d, 2H, J=8.6 Hz), 7.28 (d, 2H, J=8.1 Hz), 7.32 (d, 2H, J=8.6 Hz), 7.70 (d, 2H, J=8.1 Hz); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 100.8 MHz) 21.51, 55.22, 70.76, 72.70, 80.57, 113.90, 127.19, 128.73, 129.41, 129.87, 130.16, 143.04, 159.56, 167.43; FAB⁺ 368 (M⁺+1, 30); IR (Nujol) 3289, 1639, 1614, 1535, 1504, 1342, 1299, 1249, 1176, 1089, 1033, 788, 764 cm⁻¹.

3.2.7. *N*-[2,2-Dichloro-1-(3,4,5-trimethoxybenzyloxy)ethyl]-2-chlorobenzamide (5g). Crystallization from a mixture of petroleum ether and chloroform gave white needles (80%); mp 93–96 °C (Found: C 50.91; H 4.54; N 3.08, C₁₉H₂₀Cl₃NO₅ requires: C 50.86; H 4.49; N 3.12); ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 3.83 (s, 3H), 3.86 (s, 6H), 4.67 (d, 1H, *J*=11.9 Hz), 4.78 (d, 1H, *J*=11.9 Hz), 5.84–5.87 (m, 2H), 6.66 (s, 2H), 6.97 (d, 1H, *J*=9.9 Hz), 7.35–7.47 (m, 3H), 7.68 (dd, 1H, *J*=7.5 Hz); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 100.8 MHz) 56.17, 60.87, 71.23, 72.33, 80.63, 105.46, 127.35, 130.33, 130.57, 130.79, 132.06, 132.18, 133.75, 137.90, 153.34, 166.90; MS *m*/*z* (%) 449 (M⁺+2, 1), 447 (M⁺+1, 1), 216 (21), 196 (47), 181 (37), 169 (18), 139 (100), 111 (30), 75 (22); IR (Nujol) 3219, 3181, 1659, 1591, 1525, 1506, 1328, 1231, 1128, 1078, 822, 760 cm⁻¹.

3.2.8. *N*-[2,2-Dichloro-1-(3,4,5-trimethoxybenzyloxyethyl)]-2-methylbenzamide (5h). Crystallization from a mixture of petroleum ether and chloroform gave white needles (81%); mp 107–109 °C (Found: C 55.92; H 5.46; N 3.30, C₂₀H₂₃Cl₂NO₅ requires: C 56.08; H 5.41; N 3.27); ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 2.51 (s, 3H), 3.85 (s, 3H), 3.87 (s, 6H), 4.67 (d, 1H, *J*=12.0 Hz), 4.76 (d, 1H, *J*=12 Hz), 5.83–5.87 (m, 2H), 6.49 (d, 1H, *J*=9.5 Hz), 6.66 (s, 2H), 7.23–7.39 (m, 4H); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 100.8 MHz) 20.02, 56.11, 60.81, 71.17, 72.51, 80.42, 105.28, 125.97, 126.66, 130.75, 131.36, 132.18, 134.85, 136.46, 137.86, 153.33, 170.16; MS *m*/*z* (%) 429 (M⁺+2, 1), 427 (M⁺, 1), 198 (41), 196 (72), 181 (36), 169 (16), 160 (8), 148 (8), 138 (7), 119 (100), 91 (48), 65 (16); IR (Nujol) 3292, 3243, 1679, 1592, 1511, 1332, 1236, 1130, 1091, 993, 784, 732 cm⁻¹.

3.3. Preparation of *N*-(1-alkoxy-2,2-dichloroethyl)thiobenzamides (6)

A toluene solution (50 mL) of **5** (3 mmol) and LR (3 mmol) was refluxed for 1 h. After cooling, the suspended solid was filtered off and the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure. The products were isolated by silica gel column chromatography. Products **6a**–**e** (ethyl acetate–hexane 1:6); product **6f** (ethyl acetate–hexane 1:3); product **6g** (diethyl ether–hexane 1:1), and product **6h** (dichloromethane–hexane 2:3). Afterward the yellow solids were crystallized from the appropriated solvents. All compounds gave satisfactory IR, ¹H NMR, ¹³C NMR, mass spectra, and elemental analyses.

3.3.1. *N*-(**2**,**2**-**Dichloro-1-methoxyethyl)thiobenzamide** (**6a**). Crystallization from hexane gave yellow prisms (79%); mp 100–101 °C (Found: C 45.62; H 4.13; N 5.22; S 12.08, C₁₀H₁₁Cl₂NOS requires: C 45.47; H 4.20; N 5.30; S 12.14); ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) 3.66 (s, 3H), 6.06 (d, 1H, *J*=2.1 Hz), 6.29 (dd, 1H, *J*=8.7, 2.1 Hz), 7.43–7.53 (m, 3H), 7.79–7.82 (m, 2H), 7.90 (br s, 1H); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 75.4 MHz) 58.25, 71.19, 87.45, 126.72, 128.73, 132.01, 140.97, 201.84; MS *m/z* (%) 263 (M⁺, 2), 227 (8), 192 (33), 164 (13), 121 (100), 104 (26), 77 (34); IR (Nujol) 3273, 1510, 1459, 1365, 1235, 1098, 1011, 959, 794, 697 cm⁻¹.

3.3.2. *N*-(**2,2-Dichloro-1-ethoxyethyl)thiobenzamide** (**6b**). Crystallization from hexane gave yellow needles (70%); mp 90–91 °C (Found: C 47.55; H 4.66; N 5.01; S 11.70, C₁₁H₁₃Cl₂NOS requires: C 47.49; H 4.71; N 5.03; S 11.53); ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 1.31 (t, 3H, *J*=7.0 Hz), 3.84–3.96 (m, 2H), 6.06 (d, 1H, *J*=2.2 Hz), 6.34 (dd, 1H, *J*=8.4, 2.2 Hz), 7.41–7.45 (m, 2H), 7.52 (tt, 1H, *J*=7.4, 1.2 Hz), 7.78–7.81 (m, 2H), 7.89 (d, 1H, *J*=8.4 Hz); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 100.4 MHz) 14.99, 66.49, 71.39, 86.01, 126.70, 128.69, 131.96, 140.92, 201.26; FAB⁺ 278 (M⁺+1); IR (Nujol) 3287, 1500, 1464, 1378, 1333, 1231, 1087, 947, 798, 694 cm⁻¹.

3.3. *N*-[2,2-Dichloro-1-(2-phenylethoxy)ethyl]thiobenzamide (6c). Crystallization from petroleum ether gave yellow needles (76%); mp 86–87 °C (Found: C 57.58; H 4.83; N 4.02; S 9.00, C₁₇H₁₇Cl₂NOS requires: C 57.63; H 4.84; N 3.95; S 9.05); ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) 2.97 (t, 2H, *J*=6.2 Hz), 3.94–4.12 (m, 2H), 6.01 (d, 1H, *J*=2.2 Hz), 6.32 (dd, 1H, *J*=8.40, 2.2 Hz), 7.22–7.63 (m, 11H); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 50.4 MHz): 36.06, 71.28, 71.35, 86.11, 126.53, 126.71, 128.46, 128.61, 129.12, 131.94, 138.18, 140.68, 201.27; FAB⁺ 354 (M⁺+1); IR (Nujol) 3288, 1499, 1459, 1367, 1226, 1144, 1088, 1011, 945, 794, 751, 695, 672 cm⁻¹.

3.3.4. *N*-[2,2-Dichloro-1-(2-phenylethoxy)ethyl]-4-chlorothiobenzamide (6d). Crystallization from hexane gave yellow needles (62%); mp 62–65 °C (Found: C 52.62; H 4.22; N 3.55; S 8.23, C₁₇H₁₆Cl₃NOS requires: C 52.52; H 4.15; N 3.60; S 8.25); ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) 2.92– 2.99 (m, 2H), 3.87–3.99 (m, 1H), 4.05–4.16 (m, 1H), 5.98 (d, 1H, *J*=2.2 Hz), 6.25 (dd, 1H, *J*=8.2, 2.2 Hz), 7.20–7.27 (m, 5H), 7.32 (d, 2H, *J*=8.4 Hz), 7.50 (d, 2H, *J*=8.4 Hz), 7.54 (d, 1H, *J*=8.2 Hz); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 50.4 MHz) 36.04, 71.20, 71.38, 86.17, 126.54, 128.01, 128.46, 128.73, 129.13, 138.27, 138.82, 199.57; MS *m*/*z* (%) 352 (1), 316 (6), 232 (6), 212 (7), 157 (15), 155 (36), 138 (26), 105 (100), 77 (30); IR (Nujol) 3297, 1594, 1507, 1468, 1406, 1371, 1239, 1094, 1013, 948, 841, 793, 762, 701 cm⁻¹.

3.3.5. *N*-(2,2-Dichloro-1-benzyloxyethyl)-4-methylthiobenzamide (6e). Crystallization from petroleum ether gave yellow needles (64%); mp 88 °C (Found: C 57.72; H 4.78; N 3.99; S 9.00, C₁₇H₁₇Cl₂NOS requires: C 57.63; H 4.84; N 3.95; S 9.05); ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 2.38 (s, 3H), 4.87 (s, 2H), 6.02 (d, 1H, *J*=2.2 Hz), 6.43 (dd, 1H, *J*=8.0, 2.2 Hz), 7.19 (d, 2H, *J*=7.9 Hz), 7.30–7.43 (m, 5H), 7.58 (d, 2H, *J*=8.2 Hz), 7.83 (d, 1H, *J*=8.0 Hz); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 100.8 MHz) 21.40, 71.45, 72.50, 85.77, 126.75, 128.10, 128.35, 128.63, 129.26, 136.60, 137.98, 142.81, 200.89; MS *m*/*z* (%) 318 (1), 262 (6), 247 (9), 212 (51), 176 (29), 135 (97), 118 (49), 91 (100), 65 (33); IR (Nujol) 3297, 1492, 1458, 1366, 1325, 1230, 1181, 1139, 1076, 1035, 925, 786, 756, 706, 662 cm⁻¹.

3.3.6. *N*-[2,2-Dichloro-1-(4-methoxybenzyloxy)ethyl]-4methylthiobenzamide (6f). Crystallization from a mixture of hexane and dichloromethane gave yellow prisms (95%); mp 92–94 °C (Found: C 56.38; H 5.07; N 3.55; S 8.31, $C_{18}H_{19}Cl_2NO_2S$ requires: C 56.25; H 4.98; N 3.64; S 8.34); ¹H NMR. δ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 2.39 (s, 3H), 3.79 (s, 3H), 4.80 (s, 2H), 6.00 (d, 1H, *J*=2.2 Hz), 6.38 (dd, 1H, *J*=8.3, 2.2 Hz), 6.88 (d, 2H, *J*=8.7 Hz), 7.20 (d, 2H, *J*=8.1 Hz), 7.35 (d, 2H, *J*=8.7 Hz), 7.61 (d, 2H, *J*=8.3 Hz), 7.81 (d, 1H, *J*=8.1 Hz); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 100.8 MHz) 21.42, 55.25, 71.50, 72.25, 85.50, 114.01, 126.76, 128.53, 129.25, 129.97, 137.98, 142.80, 159.76, 200.70; FAB⁺ 384 (M⁺+1, 13); IR (Nujol) 3379, 3277, 1610, 1513, 1489, 1342, 1248, 1176, 1076, 935, 821, 789 cm⁻¹.

3.3.7. *N*-[**2,2-Dichloro-1-(3,4,5-trimethoxybenzyloxy)ethyl]-2-chlorothiobenzamide (6g).** Crystallization from hexane gave pale yellow needles (94%); mp 146– 147 °C (Found: C 48.89; H 4.34; N 3.10; S 7.01, C₁₉H₂₀Cl₃NO₄S requires: C 49.10; H 4.34; N 3.01; S 6.90); ¹H NMR. δ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 3.85 (s, 3H), 3.87 (s, 6H), 4.77 (d, 1H, *J*=11.9 Hz), 4.88 (d, 1H, *J*=11.9 Hz), 5.99 (d, 1H, *J*=2.3 Hz), 6.38 (dd, 1H, *J*=8.4, 2.3 Hz), 6.67 (s, 2H), 7.30–7.42 (m, 3H), 7.51 (dd, 1H, *J*=7.1, 2.1 Hz), 7.84 (d, 1H, *J*=8.4 Hz); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 100.4 MHz) 56.12, 60.82, 71.08, 72.29, 84.49, 105.64, 127.18, 128.12, 130.09, 130.97, 131.48, 137.99, 141.21, 153.25, 200.05; FAB⁺ 464 (M⁺+1, 2); IR (Nujol) 3180, 1597, 1542, 1508, 1332, 1235, 1153, 1128, 1099, 974, 943 cm⁻¹.

3.3.8. *N*-[2,2-Dichloro-1-(3,4,5-trimethoxybenzyloxy)ethyl]-2-methylthiobenzamide (6h). Crystallization from a mixture of petroleum ether and chloroform gave pale yellow prisms (68%); mp 128–130 °C (Found: C 54.14; H 5.28; N 3.20; S 7.20, C₂₀H₂₃Cl₂NO₄S requires: C 54.06; H 5.22; N 3.15; S 7.22); ¹H NMR. δ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 2.43 (s, 3H), 3.86 (s, 3H), 3.87 (s, 6H), 4.77 (d, 1H, *J*=11.9 Hz), 4.84 (d, 1H, *J*=11.9 Hz), 5.99 (d, 1H, *J*=2.2 Hz), 6.44 (dd, 1H, *J*=8.5 Hz, *J*=2.2 Hz), 6.67 (s, 2H), 7.21–7.32 (m, 4H), 7.67 (d, 1H, *J*=8.5 Hz); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 100.8 MHz) 19.68, 56.14, 60.84, 71.38, 72.52, 84.34, 105.45, 126.11, 126.38, 129.58, 131.01, 131.69, 132.90, 137.99, 143.21, 153.31, 204.61; FAB⁺ 444 (M⁺+1, 5); IR (Nujol) 3189, 1598, 1508, 1332, 1236, 1151, 1130, 1091, 939, 786, 761 cm⁻¹.

3.4. Preparation of (*E*)-4-alkoxy-2-aryl-5-chloro-2-thiazolines (7)

Sodium hydroxide (10 mmol) was added to acetonitrile solutions of compounds **6** (1 mmol), and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 6 h. After filtration and evaporation of the solvent under reduced pressure, compounds **7** were collected as yellow oils, and were purified by column chromatography. All novel compounds gave satisfactory elemental analyses and IR, ¹H NMR, ¹³C NMR, and mass spectra (FAB⁺).

3.4.1. 5-Chloro-2-phenyl-4-methoxy-2-thiazoline (7a). Chromatography (silica gel, hexane–ethyl acetate 6:1) gave yellow oil (74%); (Found: C 52.83; H 4.49; N 6.07; S 14.14, C₁₀H₁₀ClNOS requires: C 52.75; H 4.43; N 6.15; S 14.08); ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 3.61 (s, 3H), 5.71 (d, 1H, *J*=1.2 Hz), 6.00 (d, 1H, *J*=1.2 Hz), 7.40–7.47 (m, 2H), 7.51–7.60 (m, 1H), 7.87–7.91 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 100.8 MHz) 56.98, 69.79, 115.33, 128.71, 128.94, 132.10, 132.49, 170.08; FAB⁺ 228 (M⁺+1); IR 2931, 2834, 1606, 1527, 1448, 1335, 1308, 1229, 1092, 1035, 944, 909, 814, 767, 733, 690 cm⁻¹.

3.4.2. 5-Chloro-4-ethoxy-2-phenyl-2-thiazoline (7b). Chromatography (silica gel, hexane–ethyl acetate 6:1) gave yellow oil (79%); (Found: C 54.73; H 4.89; N 5.86; S 13.32, C₁₁H₁₂CINOS requires: C 54.65; H 5.00; N 5.79; S 13.26); ¹H NMR δ (CD₃COCD₃, 300 MHz) 1.20 (t, 3H, *J*=6.0 Hz), 3.79–3.91 (m, 2H), 6.00 (d, 1H, *J*=0.9 Hz) 6.08 (d, 1H, *J*=0.9 Hz), 7.53–7.61 (m, 3H), 7.89–7.92 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR δ (CD₃COCD₃, 75.4 MHz) 15.59, 65.54, 71.58, 115.04, 129.53, 129.78, 130.81, 133.39, 169.33; MS *m*/*z* (%) 241 (M⁺, 7), 206 (14), 196 (8), 161 (15), 138 (20), 104 (100), 93 (12), 77 (21), 58 (15); IR 2979, 2900, 1611, 1452, 1326, 1231, 1176, 1090, 1037, 942, 813, 769, 691 cm⁻¹.

3.4.3. 5-Chloro-2-phenyl-4-(2-phenylethoxy)-2-thiazoline (7c). Chromatography (silica gel, hexane–ethyl acetate 6:1) gave yellow oil (80%); (Found: C 64.40; H 5.11; N 4.43; S 10.17, C₁₇H₁₆ClNOS requires: C 64.24; H 5.07; N 4.41; S 10.09); ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 200 MHz) 2.94 (t, 2H, *J*=7.2 Hz), 3.87–4.15 (m, 2H), 5.59 (d, 1H, *J*=1.2 Hz), 6.08 (d, 1H, *J*=1.2 Hz), 7.23–7.30 (m, 5H), 7.39–7.48 (m, 3H), 7.86 (dd, 2H, *J*=8.0, 1.4 Hz); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 50.4 MHz) 36.28, 70.14, 70.34, 114.31, 126.33, 128.37, 128.67, 128.88, 128.92, 132.11, 132.42, 138.25, 169.80; FAB⁺ 318 (M⁺+1); IR 3063, 3023, 2928, 1607, 1525, 1497, 1451, 1327, 1234, 1173, 1090, 908, 816, 733, 695 cm⁻¹.

3.4.4. 5-Chloro-2-(4-chlorophenyl)-4-(2-phenylethoxy)-2-thiazoline (7d). Chromatography (silica gel, hexane–ethyl acetate 6:1) gave yellow oil (94%); (Found: C 58.10; H 4.30; N 4.00; S 9.03, C₁₇H₁₅Cl₂NOS requires: C 57.96; H 4.29; N 3.98; S 9.10); ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 2.95 (t, 2H, *J*=7.2 Hz), 3.94 (dt, 1H, *J*=9.5, 7.2 Hz), 4.09 (dt, 1H, *J*=9.5, 7.2 Hz), 5.63 (d, 1H, *J*=1.2 Hz), 6.05 (d, 1H, *J*= 1.2 Hz), 7.20–7.28 (m, 5H), 7.41 (dd, 2H, *J*=6.7, 2.0 Hz), 7.80 (dd, 2H, *J*=6.7, 2.0 Hz); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 100.4 MHz) 36.33, 70.28, 70.54, 114.35, 126.41, 128.44, 128.91, 129.02, 130.19, 130.66, 138.27, 138.75, 168.62; FAB⁺ 352 (M⁺+1); IR 2919, 1603, 1491, 1401, 1311, 1242, 1176, 1092, 944, 837, 739, 703 cm⁻¹.

3.4.5. 4-Benzyloxy-5-chloro-2-(4-methylphenyl)-2-thiazoline (7e). Chromatography (silica gel, hexane–ethyl acetate 6:1) gave yellow oil (96%); (Found: C 64.12; H 5.11; N 4.31; S 10.16, $C_{17}H_{16}CINOS$ requires: C 64.24; H 5.07; N 4.41; S 10.09); ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 2.41 (s, 3H), 4.80 (d, 1H, *J*=11.7 Hz), 4.91 (d, 1H, *J*=11.7 Hz), 5.73 (d, 1H, *J*=1.2 Hz), 6.15 (d, 1H, *J*=1.2 Hz), 7.24–7.38 (m, 7H), 7.77 (d, 2H, *J*=8.2 Hz); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 100.4 MHz) 21.62, 70.28, 71.23, 113.47, 128.00, 128.02, 128.50, 128.97, 129.40, 129.52, 137.24, 143.19, 170.07; FAB⁺ 318 (M⁺+1); IR 3031, 2925, 1605, 1507, 1455, 1311, 1178, 1073, 940, 818, 734, 699 cm⁻¹.

3.4.6. 5-Chloro-4-(4-methoxybenzyloxy)-2-(4-methylphenyl)-2-thiazoline (7f). Chromatography (silica gel, hexane–ethyl acetate 4:1) gave yellow oil (95%); (Found: C 62.27; H 5.17; N 4.10; S 9.31, $C_{18}H_{18}CINO_2S$ requires: C 62.15; H 5.22; N 4.03; S 9.22); ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃,

400 MHz) 2.41 (s, 3H), 3.81 (s, 3H), 4.74 (d, 1H, J=11.3 Hz), 4.84 (d, 1H, J=11.3 Hz), 5.70 (d, 1H, J=1.1 Hz), 6.13 (d, 1H, J=1.1 Hz), 6.90 (d, 2H, J=8.4 Hz), 7.25 (d, 2H, J=8.3 Hz), 7.33 (d, 2H, J=8.3 Hz), 7.78 (d, 2H, J=8.4 Hz); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 100.8 MHz) 21.62, 55.27, 70.34, 70.98, 113.17, 113.91, 128.97, 129.24, 129.40, 129.53, 129.83, 143.17, 159.49, 169.94; MS m/z(%) 348 (M⁺+1, 1), 350 (M⁺+3, 1), 311 (1), 176 (33), 121 (100), 118 (14), 91 (10), 77 (12), 58 (7); IR 2999, 2954, 2931, 2834, 1608, 1514, 1465, 1303, 1248, 1178, 1038 cm⁻¹.

3.4.7. 5-Chloro-2-(2-chlorophenyl)-4-(3,4,5-trimethoxybenzyloxy)-2-thiazoline (7g). Chromatography (silica gel, hexane–ethyl acetate 3:1) gave yellow oil (93%); (Found: C 53.39; H 4.52; N 3.23; S 7.58, C₁₉H₁₉Cl₂NO₄S requires: C 53.28; H 4.47; N 3.27; S 7.49); ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 3.84 (s, 3H), 3.87 (s, 6H), 4.76 (d, 1H, *J*=11.5 Hz), 4.88 (d, 1H, *J*=11.5 Hz), 5.75 (d, 1H, *J*=1.3 Hz), 6.15 (d, 1H, *J*=1.3 Hz), 6.63 (s 2H), 7.33–7.50 (m, 3H), 7.76 (dd, 1H, *J*=1.8, 7.6 Hz); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 100.8 MHz) 56.12, 60.83, 70.60, 71.61, 105.20, 112.51, 126.92, 130.82, 131.28, 131.43, 132.14, 132.61, 132.86, 137.81, 153.35, 168.07; FAB⁺ 428 (M⁺+1, 12); IR 3293, 3056, 2996, 2935, 2838, 1668, 1592, 1506, 1461, 1126, 833, 755 cm⁻¹.

3.4.8. 5-Chloro-2-(2-methylphenyl)-4-(3.4.5-trimethoxybenzyloxy)-2-thiazoline (7h). Chromatography (silica gel, hexane-ethyl acetate 3:1) gave yellow oil (95%); (Found: C 58.94; H 5.33; N 3.38; S 7.82, C₂₀H₂₂ClNO₄S requires: C 58.89, H 5.44; N 3.43; S 7.86); ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 2.61 (s, 3H), 3.83 (s, 3H), 3.87 (s, 6H), 4.76 (d, 1H, J=12.0 Hz), 4.87 (d, 1H, J=12.0 Hz), 5.72 (d, 1H, J=1.2 Hz), 6.19 (d, 1H, J=1.2 Hz), 6.63 (s, 2H), 7.24-7.41 (m, 3H), 7.59 (dd, 1H, J=1.3, 7.6 Hz); ¹³C NMR δ (CDCl₃, 100.8 MHz) 21.29, 56.06, 60.82, 70.19, 71.59, 105.01, 113.88, 125.95, 130.23, 131.06, 131.47, 131.52, 132.64, 137.66, 137.82, 153.31, 170.42; MS m/z (%) 407 (M⁺, 1), 225 (2), 196 (4), 182 (12), 181 (100), 176 (53), 151 (3), 148 (10), 117 (8), 90 (6), 77 (4); IR 3063, 2997, 2961, 2935, 2876, 1731, 1593, 1507, 1461, 1339, 1235, 1127 cm^{-1} .

Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge the financial support of the Ministerio de Educación y Ciencia (project CTQ2004-06427). B.M. thanks the Fundación CajaMurcia for a grant.

References and notes

- (a) White, J. D.; Kim, T. S.; Nambu, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 103; (b) White, J. D.; Kim, T. S.; Nambu, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 5612; (c) Lai, J.-H.; Yu, J.; Makennen, B.; Falck, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 7167.
- (a) Boyce, R. J.; Mulqueen, C.; Pattenden, G. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1994, 35, 5705; (b) Wipf, P.; Venkatraman, S. *Synlett* 1997, 1.
- Carmeli, S.; Moore, R. E.; Patterson, G. M. L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1991, 32, 2593.
- 4. Chen, J.; Forsyth, C. J. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 1281.
- 5. (a) Wipf, P.; Fritch, P. Tetrahedron Lett. **1994**, 35, 5397; (b) Einsiedel, J.; Hübner, H.; Gmeineer, P. Bioorg. Med. Chem.

Lett. 2001, 11, 2533; (c) Zarantonello, P.; Leslie, C. P.; Ferrito, R.; Kazmierski, W. M. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2002, 12, 561.

- Wipf, P.; Reeves, J. T.; Balanchandran, R.; Day, B. W. J. Med. Chem. 2002, 45, 1901.
- Elliot, G. T.; Nagle, W. A.; Kelly, K. F.; McCollough, D.; Bona, R. L.; Burns, E. R. J. Med. Chem. 1989, 32, 1039.
- (a) Metzger, J. V. Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry; Katrizky, A. R., Rees, C. W., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1984; Vol. 6, p 306; (b) Dondoni, A.; Merino, P. Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry II; Katrizky, A. R., Rees, C. W., Scriven, E. F. V., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1996; Vol. 3, p 373.
- (a) Galéotti, N.; Montagne, C.; Pioncet, J.; Jouin, P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1992**, *33*, 2807; (b) Wipf, P.; Miller, C. P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1992**, *33*, 6267.
- 10. Mahler, S. G.; Serra, G. L.; Antonow, D.; Manta, E. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42*, 8143.
- 11. Lafargue, P.; Guenot, P.; Lellouche, J. P. Synlett 1995, 171.
- 12. Mulqueen, G. C.; Pattenden, G.; Whiting, D. A. *Tetrahedron* **1993**, *49*, 5359.
- 13. Vorbrüggen, H.; Krolokiewick, K. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 9353.
- Bussaca, C. A.; Dong, Y.; Spinelli, E. M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1996, 37, 2935.
- 15. Pattenden, G.; Boden, C. D. J.; Ye, T. Synlett 1995, 417.
- 16. Charette, A. B.; Chua, P. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 908.
- (a) Nishio, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 6113; (b) Nishio, T. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 1106.
- 18. Nishio, T.; Sekiguchi, H. Heterocycles 2002, 58, 203.
- 19. Wipf, P.; Miller, C. P.; Venkatraman, S.; Fritch, P. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1995**, *36*, 6395.
- Fernandez, X.; Fellous, R.; Duñach, E. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2000, 41, 3381.
- Katritzky, A. R.; Chunming, C.; Kazuyuki, S.; Sandeep, K. S. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 811.
- 22. Liu, B.; Davis, R.; Joshi, B.; Reynolds, D. W. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 4595.
- (a) Guirado, A.; Andreu, R.; Gálvez, J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, 39, 1071; (b) Guirado, A.; Andreu, R.; Gálvez, J.; Jones, P. *Tetrahedron* **2002**, 58, 9853.
- Guirado, A.; Andreu, R.; Martiz, B.; Gálvez, J. *Tetrahedron* 2004, 60, 987.
- 25. Guirado, A.; Andreu, R.; Gálvez, J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, *40*, 8163.
- Guirado, A.; Andreu, R.; Gálvez, J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2003, 44, 3809.
- 27. Cava, M. P.; Levinson, M. L. Tetrahedron 1985, 41, 5061.
- (a) Jagodzinski, T. S. *Chem. Rev.* 2003, *103*, 197; (b) Scheibye,
 S.; Pedersen, B. S.; Lawesson, S. O. *Bull. Soc. Chim. Belg.* 1978, *87*, 229.
- (a) Meldrum, A. N.; Bhojraj, M. G. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1936, 13, 185; (b) Guirado, A.; Andreu, R.; Cerezo, A.; Gálvez, J. Tetrahedron 2001, 39, 4925.
- Guirado, A.; Andreu, R.; Zapata, A.; Cerezo, A.; Bautista, D. *Tetrahedron* 2002, 58, 5087.
- (a) Constantino, M. G.; Jose da Silva, G. V. *Tetrahedron* 1998, 54, 11363; (b) Gaudemer, A. *Stereochemistry Fundamentals and Methods*; Kagan, H. B., Ed.; Georg Thieme: Stuttgart, 1997; Vol. 1, p 89.
- 32. Caution must be exercised when handling perchlorates in order to exclude explosion risk. Evaporation of organic solutions containing perchlorates requires to be carried out in vacuo and at moderate temperature. Contact with strong acids must be avoided.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9694-9700

Synthesis of 7-hydroxy-6*H*-benzo[*c*]chromen-6-ones based on a '[3+3] cyclization/domino retro-Michael–aldol–lactonization' strategy

Ehsan Ullah,^{a,b,c} Bettina Appel,^c Christine Fischer^b and Peter Langer^{a,b,*}

^aInstitut für Chemie, Universität Rostock, Albert-Einstein-Str. 3a, D-18059 Rostock, Germany ^bLeibniz-Institut für Katalyse e. V. an der Universität Rostock, Albert-Einstein-Str. 29a, D-18059 Rostock, Germany ^cInstitut für Biochemie, Universität Greifswald, Soldmannstr. 16, 17487 Greifswald, Germany

Received 26 April 2006; revised 11 July 2006; accepted 25 July 2006

Abstract—The TiCl₄-mediated [3+3] cyclization of 2,4-bis(trimethylsilyloxy)penta-1,3-diene with 3-silyloxyalk-2-en-1-ones afforded 2-acetylphenols, which were transformed into functionalized chromones. The Me₃SiOTf-mediated condensation of the latter with 1,3-bis(silyl enol ethers) and subsequent domino 'retro-Michael–aldol–lactonization' reaction afforded 7-hydroxy-6*H*-benzo[*c*]chromen-6-ones. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Functionalized 6H-benzo[c]chromen-6-ones (dibenzo[b,d]pyran-6-ones) are present in a number of pharmacologically relevant natural products. For example, autumnariol has been isolated from *Eucomis autumnalis* Greab. (Liliaceae).¹ The isolation of related 6H-benzo[c]chromen-6-ones, such as autumnariniol,² alternariol,³ or altenuisol,⁴ has been reported (Chart 1).⁵ It has been demonstrated that 6H-benzo[c]chromen-6-ones are specific inhibitors of the growth of



Chart 1. 7-Hydroxy-6*H*-benzo[*c*]chromen-6-ones in nature.

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +49 381 4986410; fax: +49 381 4986412; e-mail: peter.langer@uni-rostock.de

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter @ 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.084

endothelic cells⁶ and represent estrogen receptors.⁷ Ellagic and coruleoellagic acid, which have been isolated mainly from plant sources,⁸ occur both as glycosides and aglycons. Dibenzo[c,d]chromen-6-ones occur in a number of natural antibiotics and antitumor agents, such as the gilvocarcins, chrysomycins, and ravidomycins.⁹

6H-Benzo[c]chromen-6-ones have been prepared by cyclizations of o-bromobenzoic acids with phenols,¹⁰ intramolecular palladium(II) catalyzed coupling reactions of aryl benzoates,¹¹ and Suzuki reactions.^{12–14} Harris et al. reported the synthesis of 9-O-methylalternariol by condensation of the dianion of acetylacetone with a protected salicylate.^{15,16} We have recently reported¹⁷ the synthesis of 7-hydroxy-6H-benzo[c]chromen-6-ones by condensation of 1,3-bis(silyl enol ethers)¹⁸ with 4-silyloxybenzopyrylium triflates, in situ generated from chromones,¹⁹ and subsequent base-mediated domino 'retro-Michael-aldol-lactonization' reaction. The preparative scope of this method severely depends on the availability of the chromones as starting materials. Chan and co-workers developed an elegant approach to arenes by [3+3] cyclization of 1,3-bis(silyl enol ethers) with 3-siloxyalk-2-en-1-ones.²⁰ Based on this work we herein report a new approach to functionalized chromones by [3+3] cyclization of 2,4-bis(trimethylsilyloxy)penta-1,3-diene with 3silyloxyalk-2-en-1-ones. The combination of these reactions with the domino reaction of chromones with 1,3-bis(silyl enol ethers) provides a versatile strategy for the synthesis of 7-hydroxy-6H-benzo[c]chromen-6-ones. Notably, this strategy relies on the sequential use of 1,3-bis(silvl enol ethers)¹⁸ at two stages of the synthesis.

Keywords: Chromones; Cyclizations; Domino reactions; Oxygen heterocycles; Silyl enol ethers.

2. Results and discussion

The TiCl₄-mediated [3+3] cyclization of 2,4-bis(trimethylsilyloxy)penta-1,3-diene (2) with 3-silyloxyalk-2-en-1ones, following the conditions reported by Chan²⁰ and us,²¹ afforded the 2-acetylphenols **3a–f** (Scheme 1, Table 1). The synthesis of chloro-^{21e} and acetoxy-substituted^{21f} salicylates by [3+3] cyclizations of 1,3-bis(silyl enol ethers) with appropriate 3-silvloxyalk-2-en-1-ones has been previously reported. The cyclization of 1,3-bis(silyl enol ether) 2 with 1d and 1e proceeded with very good regioselectivity, which can be explained as previously reported.^{20,21i} Treatment of the acetylphenols with $HC(OEt)_3$ and $HClO_4$ afforded the chromones 4a-f. During the formation of 4f, the acetoxy group was cleaved to give a hydroxyl group. The Me₃SiOTf-mediated condensation of 4a-f with 1-ethoxy or 1-methoxy-1,3-bis(trimethylsilyloxy)buta-1,3-diene (5a,b) gave the 2,3-dihydrobenzopyrans 6a-f. Treatment of the latter with NEt₃ in EtOH afforded the novel 7-hvdroxy-6Hbenzo[c]chromen-6-ones 7a-f. The formation of the latter can be explained by a domino 'retro-Michael-aldol-lactonization' reaction.¹⁷ The synthesis of compounds **3b**,²² **3c**,²³ and $4c^{24}$ has been previously reported.



In conclusion, we have reported the synthesis of 7-hydroxy-6H-benzo[c]chromen-6-ones based on sequential reactions of 1,3-bis(silyl enol ethers) with 3-silyloxyalk-2-en-1-ones and chromones.

3. Experimental

3.1. General comments

All solvents were dried by standard methods and all reactions were carried out under an inert atmosphere. For the ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra the deuterated solvents indicated were used. Chemical shifts δ are reported in parts per million relative to CHCl₃ (¹H, 7.26 ppm) and CDCl₃ (¹³C, 77.0 ppm) as internal standards. ¹³C NMR spectral assignments are supported by DEPT analyses. Mass spectral data (MS) were obtained by electron ionization (EI, 70 eV), chemical ionization (CI, H₂O), or electrospray ionization (ESI). For preparative scale chromatography silica gel (60–200 mesh) was used. Melting points are uncorrected.

3.2. General procedure for the synthesis of 2-acetylphenols 3a–f

To a stirred CH₂Cl₂ solution (2 mL/mmol) of 1,3-bis(silyl enol ether) **2** (1.0 mmol) and 3-siloxyalk-2-en-1-one **1** (1.0 mmol) was added TiCl₄ (1.0 mmol) at -78 °C under argon atmosphere. The temperature of the reaction mixture was allowed to rise to 20 °C during 20 h and a saturated aqueous solution of NaHCO₃ (10 mL) was added. The organic layer was separated and extracted with diethyl ether (3×30 mL). The combined organic layers were dried (Na₂SO₄), filtered, and the filtrate was concentrated in vacuo. The residue was purified by column chromatography (silica gel, EtOAc/heptane=1:4).

3.2.1. 1-(3-Chloro-2,4-diethyl-6-hydroxyphenyl)ethanone (3a). Starting with 4-chloro-5-(trimethylsilyloxy)hept-4-en-3-one (1a) (1.021 g, 4.3 mmol), 2,4-bis(trimethylsilyloxy)penta-1,3-diene (2) (1.041 g, 4.3 mmol), and TiCl₄ (0.812 g, 4.3 mmol), 3a was obtained (0.490 g, 50%) as

 R^1 R^2 R^3 \mathbb{R}^4 $3(\%)^{a}$ $4 (\%)^{a}$ $6 (\%)^{a}$ $7 (\%)^{a}$ Et Cl Et Me 50 80 77 28 (48) a b Me Me Et 51 70 65 22 (42) Me с Me Н Me Et 40 84 68 24 (46) $-CH_{2})_{4}-$ 78 50 d Me Et 36 61 20 69 73 35 (60) Me е Me $-(CH_2)_3-$ Me OAc Me Me 42 f 70 68 33 (40) Me OH Me Me f

^a Yields of isolated products; the synthesis of compounds **3b**,²² **3c**,²³ and **4c**²⁴ has been previously reported; values in brackets: yields based on recovered starting material.



Scheme 1. Synthesis of 7-hydroxy-6*H*-benzo[*c*]chromen-6-ones 7a–f: (a) TiCl₄, CH₂Cl₂, -78 °C; (b) HC(OEt)₃, HClO₄ (70%), reflux, 12 h; (c) (1) Me₃SiOTf (1.3 equiv), 20 °C, 1 h; (2) **5a**,**b** (1.3 equiv), CH₂Cl₂, $0 \rightarrow 20$ °C, 12 h; (3) HCl (10%); (d) NEt₃ (2.0 equiv), EtOH, 20 °C, 12 h.

Table 1. Products and yields

a yellow solid; mp 60 °C. ¹H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 10.40 (s, 1H, OH), 6.74 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 3.00 (q, 2H, *J*=7.6 Hz, CH₂), 2.75 (q, 2H, *J*=7.3 Hz, CH₂), 2.67 (s, 3H, CH₃), 1.32–1.19 (m, 6H, CH₃). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 205.8 (CO), 157.9 (C–OH), 148.7, 141.6 (C), 125.8 (C–Cl), 122.8 (C), 116.8 (CH), 32.8 (CH₃), 28.3, 26.0 (CH₂), 14.7, 13.7 (CH₃). IR (Nujol, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 3229 (w), 1678 (m), 1225 (s), 1081 (s), 856 (w). MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%) 226 (M⁺, 34), 211 (100), 193 (17), 173 (10). Anal. Calcd for C₁₂H₁₅O₂Cl (226.0): C 63.57, H 6.62; found: C 63.97, H 6.57.

3.2.2. 1-(6-Hydroxy-2,3,4-trimethylphenyl)ethanone

(3b). The synthesis of 3b has been previously reported.²² Starting with 3-methyl-4-(trimethylsilyloxy)pent-3-en-2one (1b) (0.500 g, 2.68 mmol), 2 (0.653 g, 2.68 mmol), and TiCl₄ (0.506 g, 2.68 mmol), 3b (0.241 g, 51%) was obtained as a slight yellow solid; mp 62 °C. ¹H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 10.87 (s, 1H, OH), 6.66 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 2.58 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.41 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.26 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.12 (s, 3H, CH₃). ¹³C NMR (62 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 206.3 (CO), 157.7, 144.2, 136.4, 128.1, 122.3 (C), 116.6 (CH), 32.7, 21.5, 20.2, 15.0 (CH₃). IR (Nujol, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 3191 (m), 2975 (s), 1661 (m), 1450 (s), 1304 (m), 845 (s). MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%) 178 (M⁺, 30), 163 (100), 135 (8), 91 (12), 44 (14). Anal. Calcd for C₁₁H₁₄O₂ (178.1): C 74.15, H 7.86; found: C 74.00, H 7.96.

3.2.3. 1-(6-Hydroxy-2,4-dimethylphenyl)ethanone (3c). The synthesis of 3c has been previously reported.²³ Starting with 4-trimethylsilyloxy-pent-3-en-2-one (1b) (1.000 g, 5.81 mmol), 2 (1.417 g, 5.81 mmol), and TiCl₄ (1.098 g, 5.81 mmol), 3b (0.380 g, 40%) was obtained as a slight yellow solid; mp 42 °C.

3.2.4. 1-(2-Hydroxy-4-methyl-5,6,7,8-tetrahydronaphthalen-1-yl)ethanone (3d). Starting with 1-(2-trimethylsilyloxycyclohex-1-enyl)ethanone (**1d**) (0.500 g, 2.35 mmol), **2** (0.573 g, 2.35 mmol), and TiCl₄ (0.444 g, 2.35 mmol), **3d** (0.172 g, 36%) was obtained as a brownish solid; mp 55 °C. ¹H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 11.49 (s, 1H, OH), 6.67 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 2.93 (t, 2H, *J*=6.4 Hz, CH₂), 2.64 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.57 (t, 2H, *J*=6.7 Hz, CH₂), 2.19 (s, 3H, CH₃), 1.87–1.68 (m, 4H, CH₂). ¹³C NMR (62 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 206.1 (CO), 158.9, 145.1, 137.6, 127.3, 121.0 (C), 117.2 (CH), 33.4 (CH₃), 31.3, 26.6, 22.9, 22.6 (CH₂), 20.4 (CH₃). IR (Nujol, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 3410 (w), 2950 (s), 1629 (m), 1460 (s), 1340 (s), 1298 (m). MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%) 204 (M⁺, 64), 189 (100), 161 (43), 146 (15), 44 (39). HRMS (EI) calcd for C₁₃H₁₆O₂ [M]⁺: 204.1145; found: 204.1141.

3.2.5. 1-(5-Hydroxy-7-methylindan-4-yl)ethanone (3e). Starting with 2-(1-trimethylsilyloxy-ethylidene)cyclopentanone (1a) (1.000 g, 5.04 mmol), 2 (1.230 g, 5.04 mmol), and TiCl₄ (0.952 g, 5.04 mmol), **3e** (0.200 g, 20%) was obtained as a yellow solid; mp 58 °C. ¹H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 12.18 (s, 1H, OH), 6.74 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 2.92 (t, 2H, *J*=7.3 Hz, CH₂), 2.83 (t, 2H, *J*=7.6 Hz, CH₂), 2.66 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.48 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.07 (quint, 2H, *J*=7.6 Hz, CH₂). ¹³C NMR (62 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 205.8 (CO), 161.8. 152.0, 135.4, 134.1, 120.3 (C), 111.6 (CH), 33.8 (CH₂), 33.0 (CH₃), 31.5, 24.3 (CH₂), 20.5 (CH₃). IR (Nujol, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 2952 (s), 1622 (w), 1470 (s), 1353 (s), 1234 (w), 841 (w). MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%) 190 (M⁺, 40), 175 (100), 115

(12), 91 (16), 43.0 (24). HRMS (EI) calcd for $C_{12}H_{14}O_2$ [M]⁺: 190.0988; found: 190.0985.

3.2.6. 1-[3-(Acetoxy)-6-hydroxy-2,4-dimethylphenyl]ethanone (**3f**). Starting with **1f** (1.005 g, 4.37 mmol), **2** (1.066 g, 4.37 mmol), and TiCl₄ (0.825 g, 4.37 mmol), **3f** (0.410 g, 42%) was obtained as a yellow oil. ¹H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 11.80 (s, 1H, OH), 6.71 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 2.61 (s, 3H, CH₃). 2.34 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.31 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.1 (s, 3H, CH₃). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 205.5, 169.1(CO), 159.5, 141.0, 138.6, 130.4, 121.2 (C), 118.3 (CH), 33.3, 20.7, 17.5, 16.5 (CH₃). IR (KBr, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 3407 (br), 2929 (w), 1760 (s), 1198 (s), 908 (w). MS (EI, 70 eV): *m*/*z* (%) 222 (M⁺, 9), 180 (84), 165 (100), 43 (23). HRMS (EI) calcd for C₁₂H₁₄O₄ [M]⁺: 222.0887; found: 222.0881.

3.3. General procedure for the synthesis of chromones 4a-f

To ethanone **3** (1.0 equiv) were slowly added triethyl orthoformate (20 equiv) and perchloric acid (70%, 1.3 equiv) and the reaction mixture was refluxed for 20 h at 80 °C. After cooling to 20 °C, the reaction mixture was filtered and washed with cold water. The organic layer was separated and the aqueous layer was extracted with CH_2Cl_2 (3×30 mL). The combined organic layers were washed with water, dried (Na₂SO₄), filtered, and the filtrate was concentrated in vacuo. The residue was purified by column chromatography (silica gel).

3.3.1. 6-Chloro-5,7-diethylchromen-4-one (4a). Starting with **3a** (0.302 g, 1.33 mmol), triethyl orthoformate (3.936 g, 26.60 mmol, 20 equiv), and perchloric acid (70%) (0.172 g, 1.72 mmol), **4a** (0.251 g, 80%) was obtained as a colorless solid; mp 80 °C. ¹H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.68 (d, 1H, *J*=6.1 Hz, CH), 7.18 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 6.23 (d, 1H, *J*=5.8 Hz, CH), 3.55 (q, 2H, *J*=7.3 Hz, CH₂), 2.85 (q, 2H, *J*=7.6 Hz, CDCl₃): δ 178.4 (CO), 156.5 (C), 153.1 (CH), 148.0, 144.2, 131.7, 121.0 (C), 116.3, 114.4 (CH), 28.0, 24.3 (CH₂), 1.3.7, 13.3 (CH₃). IR (KBr, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 3436 (br), 2970 (w), 1648 (s), 1436 (s), 1254 (s), 843 (s). MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%) 236 (M⁺, 89), 219 (100), 193 (20), 115 (11). Anal. Calcd for C₁₃H₁₃O₂Cl (236.0): C 66.10, H 5.55; found: C 65.97, H 5.63.

3.3.2. 5,6,7-Trimethylchromen-4-one (**4b**). Starting with **3b** (0.202 g, 1.15 mmol), triethyl orthoformate (3.400 g, 23.00 mmol), and perchloric acid (70%) (0.152 g, 1.50 mmol), **4b** (0.151 g, 70%) was obtained as a white solid; mp 124 °C. ¹H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.64 (d, 1H, *J*=5.8 Hz, CH), 7.07 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 6.20 (d, 1H, *J*=5.7 Hz, CH), 2.83 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.37 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.23 (s, 3H, CH₃). ¹³C NMR (62 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 180.0 (CO), 156.0 (C), 153.0 (CH), 143.0, 138.5, 133.2, 121.3 (C), 116.2, 114.1 (CH), 21.6, 17.3, 15.2 (CH₃). IR (KBr, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 3438 (br), 2925 (w), 1647 (s), 1428 (s), 1236 (s), 1001 (s), 848 (s). MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%) 188 (M⁺, 100), 173 (57), 145 (9), 91 (7). Anal. Calcd for C₁₂H₁₂O₂ (188.0): C 76.60, H 6.38; found: C 76.20, H 6.31.

3.3.3. 5,7-Dimethylchromen-4-one (4c). The synthesis of **4c** has been previously reported.²⁴ Starting with **3c**

(0.175 g, 1.07 mmol), triethyl orthoformate (3.502 g, 21.34 mmol), and perchloric acid (70%) (0.140 g, 1.40 mmol), **4c** (0.156 g, 84%) was obtained as a brownish solid; mp 58 °C. ¹H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.66 (d, 2H, *J*=5.8 Hz, CH), 7.04 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 6.92 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 6.20 (d, 2H, *J*=6.1 Hz, CH), 2.80 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.38 (s, 3H, CH₃). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 179.6 (CO), 158.1 (C), 153.5 (CH), 143.7, 140.7 (C), 129.2 (CH), 121.0 (C), 116.3, 114.5 (CH), 22.7, 21.5 (CH₃). IR (KBr, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 3432 (br), 2925 (m), 1648 (s), 1350 (s), 1239 (s), 827 (s). MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%) 174 (M⁺, 100), 159 (12), 145 (30), 91 (36), 39 (21). Anal. Calcd for C₁₁H₁₀O₂ (174.1): C 75.58, H 5.74; found: C 75.23, H 5.80.

3.3.4. 6-Methyl-7,8,9,10-benzo[f]chromen-1-one (4d). Starting with 3d (0.150 g, 0.73 mmol), triethyl orthoformate (2.161 g, 14.60 mmol), and perchloric acid (0.095 g, 0.95 mmol), 4d (0.122 g, 78%) was obtained as a white solid; mp 70 °C. ¹H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.66 (d, 1H, J=5.7 Hz, CH), 7.07 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 6.23 (d, 1H, J=6.1 Hz, CH), 3.45 (t, 2H, J=6.4 Hz, CH₂), 2.64 (t, 2H, J=5.4 Hz, CH₂), 2.31 (s, 3H, CH₃), 1.80–1.77 (m, 4H, CH₂). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 179.9 (CO), 156.2 (C), 153.3 (CH), 143.6, 139.7, 133.3, 120.9 (C), 116.5, 114.7 (CH), 30.1, 27.8, 23.1, 22.5 (CH₂), 20.8 (CH₃). IR (KBr, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 3437 (br), 2925 (s), 1620 (s), 1605 (s), 1455 (s), 1232 (s), 850 (m). MS (EI, 70 eV): m/z (%) 214 (M⁺, 100), 199 (80), 181 (29), 131 (33), 69 (51). Anal. Calcd for C₁₄H₁₄O₂ (214.1): C 78.85, H 6.94; found: C 78.70, H 6.30.

3.3.5. 4-Methyl-2,3-dihydro-1H-6-oxacyclopenta[a]naphthalen-9-one (4e). Starting with 3e (0.240 g, 1.30 mmol), triethyl orthoformate (3.863 g, 26.10 mmol), and perchloric acid (0.170 g, 1.70 mmol), 4e (0.180 g, 69%) was obtained as a colorless solid; mp 130 °C. ¹H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.70 (d, 1H, J=6.1 Hz, CH), 7.03 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 6.21 (d, 1H, J=5.8 Hz, CH), 3.50 (t, 2H, J=7.6 Hz, CH₂), 2.81 (t, 2H, J=7.6 Hz, CH₂), 2.33 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.15 (p, 2H, J=7.6 Hz, CH₂). ¹³C NMR (62 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 179.4 (CO), 157.0 (C), 154.6 (CH), 144.6, 141.3, 140.7, 133.9 (C), 116.4, 113.9 (CH), 34.0, 29.3, 24.0 (CH₂), 20.3 (CH₃). IR (KBr, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 3438 (br), 2914 (w), 1662 (s), 1603 (s), 1230 (m), 849 (m). MS (EI, 70 eV) m/z (%) 199 (M⁺, 100), 184 (5), 128 (12), 115 (7). HRMS (EI, 70 eV) calcd for $C_{13}H_{11}O_2$ [M]⁺: 199.0754; found: 199.0747.

3.3.6. 6-Hydroxy-5,6-dimethylchromen-4-one (4f). Starting with **3f** (0.205 g, 0.90 mmol), triethyl orthoformate (2.666 g, 18.01 mmol), and perchloric acid (70%) (0.117 g, 1.17 mmol), **4f** (0.120 g, 70%) was obtained as a colorless solid; mp 140 °C. ¹H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.67 (d, 1H, *J*=5.8 Hz, CH), 7.10 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 6.20 (d, 1H, *J*=7.1 Hz, CH), 2.81 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.36 (s, 3H, CH₃). ¹³C NMR (62 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 177.0 (CO), 154.8 (CH), 149.5, 148.5, 131.6, 121.7, 119.4 (C), 117.0, 113.0 (CH), 17.7, 13.9 (CH₃). IR (Nujol, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 3410 (br), 2950 (s), 1642 (w), 1634 (w), 1294 (w), 1280 (w). MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%) 190 (M⁺, 94), 161 (56), 147 (54), 43 (100). HRMS (EI, 70 eV) calcd for C₁₁H₁₀O₃ [M]⁺: 190.0624; found: 190.0621.

3.4. General procedure for the synthesis of 4-(chroman-2-yl)-3-oxobutyrates 6a–f

To chromone **4** (1.0 equiv) was added Me₃SiOTf (1.3 equiv) at 20 °C. After stirring for 1 h, CH₂Cl₂ (8 mL) and the 1,3bis(silyl enol ether) **5** (1.3 equiv) were added at 0 °C. The mixture was stirred for 12 h at 20 °C and was subsequently poured into an aqueous solution of hydrochloric acid (10%). The organic layer was separated and the aqueous layer was extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (3×80 mL). The combined organic layers were washed with water, dried (Na₂SO₄), filtered, and the filtrate was concentrated in vacuo. The residue was purified from polar side-products by column flash chromatography (silica gel, *n*-hexane/EtOAc=1:1) to give **6a–f**. Products **6a–f** were isolated and characterized and subsequently transformed into **7a–f**.

3.4.1. 4-(6-Chloro-5,7-diethyl-4-oxochroman-2-yl)-3oxobutyric acid methyl ester (6a). Starting with 4a (0.212 g, 0.89 mmol), TMSOTf (0.256 g, 1.15 mmol), and 1-methoxy-1,3-bis(trimethylsilyloxy)buta-1,3-diene (5a) (0.300 g, 1.15 mmol), 6a (0.240 g, 77%) was obtained as a brownish solid; mp 72 °C. ¹H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 6.73 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 4.95–4.84 (m, 1H, CH chain), 3.76 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 3.56 (s, 2H, CH₂), 3.32–3.27 (m, 2H, CH₂), 3.14 (dd, 1H, ${}^{2}J=17.0$ Hz, ${}^{3}J=7.3$ Hz, CH₂), 2.90 (dd, 1H, $^{2}J=17.0$ Hz, $^{3}J=7.1$ Hz, CH₂), 2.79–2.70 (m, 4H, CH₂), 1.22 (t, 3H, J=7.6 Hz, CH₃), 1.16 (t, 3H, J=7.3 Hz, CH₃). ¹³C NMR (62 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 199.0, 191.4, 160.9 (CO), 150.3, 148.1, 148.5, 145.5, 145.4 (C), 115.9, 73.0 (CH), 53.0 (OCH₃), 50.0, 47.7, 44.4, 28.5, 24.7 (CH₂), 14.0 (2C, CH₃). IR (KBr, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 3437 (br), 2977 (m), 1746 (s), 1677 (s), 1417 (s), 1194 (s), 867 (m). MS (EI, 70 eV): m/z (%) 352 (M⁺, 78), 320 (14), 237 (100), 167 (40), 115 (9). Anal. Calcd for C₁₈H₂₁O₅Cl (352.0): C 61.27, H 5.95; found: C 61.19, H 6.10.

3.4.2. 3-Oxo-4-(5,6,7-trimethyl-4-oxochroman-2-yl)butyric acid ethyl ester (6b). Starting with 4b (0.13 g, 0.70 mmol), TMSOTf (0.20 g, 0.91 mmol), and 1-ethoxy-1,3-bis(trimethylsilyloxy)buta-1,3-diene (**5b**) (0.25 g. 0.91 mmol), **6b** (0.145 g, 65%) was obtained as a yellow solid; mp 56 °C. ¹H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 6.63 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 4.90–4.79 (m, 1H, CH), 4.20 (q, 2H, J=7.0 Hz, CH₂), 3.53 (s, 2H, CH₂), 3.15 (dd, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ =16.7 Hz, ${}^{3}J$ =7.3 Hz, CH₂), 2.85 (dd, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ =16.7 Hz, ${}^{3}J$ =7.3 Hz, CH₂), 2.72–2.70 (m, 2H, CH₂), 2.67 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.58 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.26 (s, 3H, CH₃), 1.28 (t, 3H, J=7.3 Hz, CH₃). ¹³C NMR (62 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 199.4, 193.2, 166.8 (CO), 159.9, 145.0, 139.7, 129.6, 118.0 (C), 116.2, 72.4 (CH), 61.6, 50.0, 47.5, 44.4 (CH₂), 21.7, 17.5, 14.9, 14.0 (CH₃). IR (KBr, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 3435 (br), 2982 (w), 1741 (s), 1677 (s), 1271 (s), 1100 (m), 857 (w). MS (EI, 70 eV): m/z (%) 318 (M⁺, 60), 272 (20), 203 (9), 189 (42), 162 (100), 91 (16). HRMS (EI, 70 eV) calcd for C₁₈H₂₂O₅ [M]⁺: 318.1462; found: 318.1458. Anal. Calcd for C18H22O5 (318.0): C 67.92, H 6.91; found: C 68.44, H 6.75.

3.4.3. 4-(5,7-Dimethyl-4-oxochroman-2-yl)-3-oxobutyric acid ethyl ester (6c). Starting with 4c (0.228 g, 1.30 mmol), TMSOTf (0.375 g, 1.70 mmol), and 1-ethoxy-1,3-bis(trimethylsilyloxy)buta-1,3-diene (5b) (0.465 g, 1.70 mmol), 6c (0.265 g, 68%) was obtained as a yellow

oil. ¹H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 6.61 (s, 2H, Ar-H), 4.93– 4.82 (m, 1H, CH), 4.21 (q, 2H, *J*=7.3 Hz, CH₂), 3.53 (s, 2H, CH₂), 3.14 (dd, 1H, ²*J*=16.7 Hz, ³*J*=7.3 Hz, CH₂), 2.85 (dd, 1H, ²*J*=16.7 Hz, ³*J*=7.3 Hz, CH₂), 2.71–2.67 (m, 2H, CH₂), 2.58 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.27 (s, 3H, CH₃), 1.28 (t, 3H, *J*=7.3 Hz, CH₃). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 199.3, 192.2, 166.5 (CO), 162.07, 146.0, 141.9 (C), 126.2 (CH), 117.2 (C), 116.3, 73.1 (CH), 61.9, 50.3, 47.8, 44.2 (CH₂), 23.0, 22.0, 14.5 (CH₃). IR (Nujol, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 3436 (br), 2979 (m), 1744 (s), 1614 (s), 1326 (s), 1029 (s), 846 (w). MS (EI, 70 eV): *m*/*z* (%) 304 (M⁺, 71), 189 (34), 175 (100), 148 (96), 91 (40). Anal. Calcd for C₁₇H₂₀O₅ (304.1): C 67.67, H 6.57; found: C 67.84, H 6.61.

3.4.4. 4-(6-Methyl-1-oxo-2,3,7,8,9,10-hexahydro-1Hbenzo[f]chromen-3-yl)-3-oxobutyric acid ethyl ester (6d). Starting with 4d (0.092 g, 0.43 mmol), TMSOTf (0.124 g, 0.56 mmol), and 1-ethoxy-1,3-bis(trimethylsilyloxy)buta-1,3-diene (5b) (0.153 g, 0.56 mmol), 6d (0.091 g, 61%) was obtained as a yellow oil. ¹H NMR (keto/ enol=10:1, 250 MHz, CDCl₃, only keto tautomer was listed): δ 6.63 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 4.91–4.80 (m, 1H, CH), 4.21 (q, 2H, J=7.3 Hz, CH₂), 3.53 (s, 2H, CH₂), 3.17-3.0 (m, 1H, CH₂), 2.85 (dd, 1H, ${}^{2}J=16.3$ Hz, ${}^{3}J=7.1$ Hz, CH₂), 2.70-2.67 (m, 2H, CH₂), 2.31 (s, 3H, CH₃), 1.19-1.17 (m, 2H, CH₂), 1.73–1.66 (m, 6H, CH₂), 1.28 (t, 3H, J=7.0 Hz, CH₃). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 199.3, 192.7, 166.7 (CO), 159.9, 145.6, 140.7, 130.0, 117.1 (C), 116.3, 72.4 (CH), 61.3, 49.9, 47.3, 44.3, 30.9, 26.8, 23.3, 22.6 (CH₂), 20.41, 14.03 (CH₃). IR (Nujol, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 3437 (br), 2925 (s), 1620 (s), 1605 (s), 1455 (s), 1232 (s), 850 (m). MS (EI, 70 eV): m/z (%) 344 (M⁺, 73), 298 (15), 272 (17), 214 (100), 188 (85), 91 (11). Anal. Calcd for C₂₀H₂₄O₅ (344.2): C 69.73, H 6.97; found: C 69.72, H 7.16.

3.4.5. 4-(9-Methyl-8-oxo-1,2,3,6,7,8-hexahydro-5-oxacyclopenta[b]naphthalen-6-yl)-3-oxabutyric acid methyl ester (6e). Starting with 4e (0.100 g, 0.54 mmol), TMSOTf (0.155 g, 0.70 mmol), and 1-methoxy-1,3-bis(trimethylsilyloxy)buta-1,3-diene (5a) (0.182 g, 0.70 mmol), 6e (0.125 g, 73%) was obtained as a yellow solid; mp 68 °C. ¹H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 6.59 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 4.93–4.82 (m, 1H, CH), 3.76 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 3.57 (s, 2H, CH₂), 3.28 (t, 2H, J=7.9 Hz, CH₂), 3.18 (dd, 1H, ²J=16.7 Hz, ³J=7.3 Hz, CH₂), 2.88 (dd, 1H, ²J=16.5 Hz, ³J=7.3 Hz, CH₂), 2.72-2.66 (m, 4H, CH₂), 2.24 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.15-2.06 (m, 2H, CH₂). ¹³C NMR (62 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 199.4, 192.4, 167.2 (CO), 160.8, 148.6, 146.4, 142.8, 138.0 (C), 116.6, 73.5 (CH), 53.0 (OCH₃), 50.0, 47.8, 43.8, 34.7, 30.5, 25.2 (CH₂), 21.0 (CH₃). IR (KBr, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 3435 (br), 2982 (w), 1741 (s), 1677 (s), 1271 (s), 1100 (m), 857 (w). MS (EI, 70 eV): m/z (%) 316 (M⁺, 59), 284 (15), 200 (100), 174 (50), 115 (12). HRMS (EI, 70 eV) calcd for C₁₈H₂₀O₅ [M]⁺: 316.1305; found: 316.1303.

3.4.6. Methyl 4-(3,4-dihydroxy-5,7-dimethyl-4-oxo-2*H*-chromen-2-yl)-3-oxobutanoate (6f). Starting with 4f (0.082 g, 0.45 mmol), TMSOTf (0.129 g, 0.58 mmol), and 1-methoxy-1,3-bis(trimethylsilyloxy)buta-1,3-diene (5a) (0.150 g, 0.58 mmol), 6f (0.093 g, 68%) was obtained as a yellow oil. ¹H NMR (keto/enol=10:3, 250 MHz, CDCl₃, only keto tautomer was listed): δ 6.69 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 4.95–

4.77 (m, 1H, ring CH), 3.75 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 3.56 (s, 2H, chain CH₂), 3.19–3.07 (m, 1H, ring CH₂), 2.91–2.80 (m, 1H, ring CH₂), 2.72–2.66 (m, 2H, chain CH₂), 2.55 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.42 (s, 3H, CH₃). ¹³C NMR (62 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 199.2, 192.7, 169.0 (CO), 159.5 (C–OH), 147.1, 138.9, 133.4, 133.1 (C), 117.7, 73.1 (CH), 53.0 (OCH₃), 50.0, 47.8, 44.6 (CH₂), 17.6, 14.6 (CH₃). IR (Nujol, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 3476 (br), 2955 (w), 1748 (s), 1614 (s), 1196 (s), 1073 (m), 862 (w). MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%) 306 (M⁺, 97), 274 (18), 191 (51), 164 (100), 135 (10). HRMS (EI, 70 eV) calcd for C₁₆H₁₈O₆ [M]⁺: 306.1098; found: 306.1097.

3.5. General procedure for the synthesis of 7-hydroxy-6*H*-benzo[*c*]chromen-6-ones 7a–f

To an EtOH solution (10 mL) of **6** was added NEt₃ (2.0 equiv) and the mixture was refluxed for 12 h at 80 °C. After cooling down to 20 °C, an aqueous solution of hydrochloric acid (1 M) and Et₂O (50 mL) was added. The organic layer was separated and the aqueous layer was extracted with Et₂O (3×100 mL). The combined organic layers were washed with water, dried (Na₂SO₄), filtered, and the filtrate was concentrated in vacuo. The residue was purified by column chromatography (silica gel, *n*-hexane/EtOAc=20:1 \rightarrow 3:1) to give product **7**.

3.5.1. 3-Chloro-2,4-diethyl-8-hydroxy-10H-phenanthren-9-one (7a). Starting with 6a (0.170 g, 0.48 mmol) and NEt₃ (0.097 g, 0.96 mmol), **7a** (0.041 g, 28%; 48% based on recovered starting material) was obtained as a colorless solid; mp 140 °C. Starting material 6a (0.070 g) was recovered. ¹H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 11.70 (s. 1H, OH). 8.14-8.06 (m, 2H, Ar-H), 7.55 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 7.47 (dd, 1H, J=6.4 Hz, J=2.7 Hz, Ar-H), 3.30 (q, 2H, J=7.3 Hz, CH₂), 2.82 (q, 2H, J=7.6 Hz, CH₂), 1.50 (t, 3H, J=7.3 Hz, CH₃), 1.28 (t, 3H, J=7.3 Hz, CH₃). ¹³C NMR (62 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 165.7, 163.2, 150.0, 145.0, 140.2 (C), 137.0 (CH), 135.8, 133.0, 117.3 (C), 116.7, 116.5, 116.0 (CH), 107.0 (C), 27.6, 26.2 (CH₂), 13.3, 12.7 (CH₃). IR (Nujol, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 3430 (br), 2910 (s), 1678 (s), 1224 (m), 1081 (w), 856 (w). MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%) 302 (M⁺, 100), 287 (44), 267 (20), 152 (15), 57 (20). HRMS (EI, 70 eV) calcd for C₁₇H₁₅O₃Cl [M]⁺: 302.0704; found: 302.0704.

3.5.2. 7-Hydroxy-1,2,3-trimethylbenzo[*c*]chromen-6-one (7b). Starting with **6b** (0.120 g, 0.37 mmol) and NEt₃ (0.076 g, 0.75 mmol), **7b** (0.021 g, 22%; 42% based on recovered starting material) was obtained as a white solid; mp 182 °C. Starting material (**6b**) (0.040 g) was recovered. ¹H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 11.68 (s, 1H, OH), 7.68 (d, 1H, *J*=7.9 Hz, Ar-H), 7.66 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 7.06–7.03 (m, 2H, Ar-H), 2.71 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.38 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.29 (s, 3H, CH₃). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 166.2, 162.8, 152.2, 149.9, 139.9 (C), 136.9 (CH), 135.0, 134.0, 117.9 (C), 116.6, 116.4, 115.9 (CH), 107.3 (C), 21.6, 21.5, 16.7 (CH₃). IR (KBr, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 2952 (s), 1671 (w), 1477 (s), 1371 (s), 1238 (w), 817 (w). MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%) 254 (M⁺, 100), 239 (32), 211 (47), 149 (19), 91 (5). HRMS (EI, 70 eV) calcd for C₁₆H₁₄O₃ [M]⁺: 254.0937; found: 254.0940.

3.5.3. 7-Hydroxy-1,3-dimethylbenzo[*c*]-6-one (7c). Starting with 6c (0.091 g, 0.30 mmol) and NEt₃ (0.060 g,

0.60 mmol), **7c** (0.017 g, 24%; 46% based on recovered starting material) was obtained as a white solid; mp 180 °C. Starting material (**6c**) (0.042 g) was recovered. ¹H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 11.79 (s, 1H, OH), 7.80 (d, 1H, *J*=7.6 Hz, Ar-H), 7.70 (t, 1H, *J*=8.2 Hz, Ar-H), 7.08 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 7.31 (d, 1H, *J*=7.0 Hz, Ar-H), 7.30 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 7.25 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 2.82 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.40 (s, 3H, CH₃). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 166.2, 162.8, 152.2, 149.4, 140.1, 136.8, 136.7 (C), 136.6, 130.6, 116.6, 116.2, 115.7 (CH), 115.2, 106.3 (C), 25.4, 20.9, 16.7 (CH₃). IR (Nujol, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 3410 (br), 2930 (s), 1675 (m), 1460 (s), 1225 (w), 814 (w). MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%) 240 (M⁺, 100), 197 (15), 165 (10), 111 (21), 97 (30). HRMS (EI, 70 eV) calcd for C₁₅H₁₂O₃ [M]⁺: 240.0781; found: 240.0781.

3.5.4. 4-Hydroxy-8-methyl-9,10,11,12-tetrahydro-6-oxabenzo[*c*]**phenanthren-5-one** (7d). Starting with 6d (0.072 g, 0.20 mmol) and NEt₃ (0.041 g, 0.40 mmol), 7d (0.028 g, 50%) was obtained as a slight yellow solid; mp 115 °C. ¹H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 11.82 (s, 1H, OH), 7.78–7.66 (m, 2H, Ar-H), 7.08–7.03 (m, 2H, Ar-H), 3.45 (t, 2H, *J*=6.1 Hz, CH₂), 2.84 (t, 2H, *J*=5.4 Hz, CH₂), 2.31 (s, 3H, CH₃), 1.89–1.77 (m, 4H, CH₂). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 169.6, 163.0, 149.4, 139.0, 137.4 (C), 136.6 (CH), 123.9, 118.5, 118.2 (C), 116.8, 115.9 (CH), 107.2 (C), 33.3, 30.9, 23.8, 22.7 (CH₂), 20.5 (CH₃). IR (Nujol, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 3130 (br), 1719 (w), 1663 (w), 1098 (w), 700 (w). MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%) 280 (M⁺, 100), 265 (25), 214 (15), 149 (13), 57 (18). HRMS (EI, 70 eV) calcd for C₁₈H₁₆O₃ [M]⁺: 280.1094; found: 280.1090.

3.5.5. 8-Hydroxy-4-methyl-2,3-dihydro-1H-6-oxacyclopenta[c]phenanthren-7-one (7e). Starting with 6e (0.100 g, 0.31 mmol) and NEt₃ (0.063 g, 0.63 mmol), 7e was obtained (0.030 g, 35%; 60% based on recovered starting material) as a colorless solid; mp 202 °C. Starting material (6e) (0.041 g) was recovered. ¹H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 11.74 (s, 1H, OH), 7.68 (t, 1H, J=7.0 Hz, Ar-H), 7.63 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 7.06-7.03 (m, 2H, Ar-H), 3.42 (t, 2H, J=7.3 Hz, CH₂), 2.90 (t, 2H, J=7.9 Hz, CH₂), 2.34 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.30–2.18 (m, 2H, CH₂). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 181.6, 165.9, 162.6, 150.0, 141.4, 140.6, 136.8 (C), 135.8, 115.3, 114.6, 114.6 (CH), 106.2 (C), 35.1, 29.5, 23.8 (CH₂), 18.5 (CH₃). IR (Nujol, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 3420 (br), 2910 (s), 1653 (w), 1320 (w), 1229 (w), 846 (w). MS (EI, 70 eV): m/z (%) 266 (M⁺, 100), 251 (24), 207 (10), 165 (8), 57 (10). HRMS (EI, 70 eV) calcd for $C_{17}H_{14}O_3$ [M]⁺: 266.0937; found: 266.0930.

3.5.6. 2,7-Dihydroxy-1,3-dimethyl-6*H*-benzo[*c*]chromen-6-one (7f). Starting with 6f (0.120 g, 0.41 mmol) and NEt₃ (0.083 g, 0.82 mmol), 7f (0.035 g, 33%; 40% based on recovered starting material) was obtained as a slight brownish solid mp 190 °C. Starting material (6f) (0.020 g) was recovered. ¹H NMR (250 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 11.69 (s, 1H, OH), 8.65 (s, 1H, OH), 7.87–7.77 (m, 2H, Ar-H), 7.12 (s, 1H, Ar-H), 7.09 (dd, 1H, *J*=8.2, 7.3 Hz, Ar-H), 2.64 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.29 (s, 3H, CH₃). ¹³C NMR (62 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 165.3, 161.8, 151.0, 144.5 (C), 137.2 (CH), 136.6, 129.2, 122.8 (C), 117.6, 117.5, 116.3, 115.6 (CH), 106.3 (C), 17.3, 17.0 (CH₃). IR (Nujol, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ 3415 (br), 2940 (s), 1635 (m), 1240 (s), 1120 (m), 810 (w). MS (EI, 70 eV): m/z (%) 256 (M⁺, 100), 213 (5), 207 (10), 165 (8), 57 (10). HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₁₅H₁₃O₄ [M+H]⁺: 257.08084; found: 257.08069.

Acknowledgements

We thank Dr. M. Lalk for his help with the HRMS measurements. Financial support by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, the BASF AG, and by the state of Mecklenburg-Vorpommern (Landesforschungsschwerpunkt 'Neue Wirkstoffe und Screeningverfahren') is gratefully acknowledged.

References and notes

- 1. Sidwell, W. T. L.; Fritz, H.; Tamm, C. *Helv. Chim. Acta* 1971, 54, 207.
- 2. Tamm, C. Arzneim.-Forsch. 1972, 22, 1776.
- 3. Raistrick, H.; Stilkings, C. E.; Thomas, R. *Biochemistry* **1953**, *55*, 421.
- 4. Pero, R. W.; Harvan, D.; Blois, M. C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1973, 14, 945.
- Römpp Lexikon Naturstoffe; Steglich, W., Fugmann, B., Lang-Fugmann, S., Eds.; Thieme: Stuttgart, 1997.
- Schmidt, J. M.; Tremblay, G. B.; Page, M.; Mercure, J.; Feher, M.; Dunn-Dufault, R.; Peter, M. G.; Redden, P. R. J. Med. Chem. 2003, 46, 1289.
- Pandey, J.; Jha, A. K.; Hajela, K. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2004, 12, 2239.
- (a) Sayer, J. M.; Haruhiko Yagi, H.; Wood, A. W.; Conney, A. H.; Jerina, D. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1982**, 104, 5562;
 (b) Geevanada, Y. A.; Gunawardana, P.; Kumar, N. S.; Sultanbawa, M. U. S. Phytochemistry **1979**, 18, 1017.
- 9. (a) McGee, L. R.; Confalone, P. N. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 53, 3695; (b) Hart, D. J.; Mannino, A. Tetrahedron 1996, 52, 3841; (c) Fischer, C.; Lipata, F.; Rohr, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 7818 and references cited therein.
- 10. Hurtley, W. R. H. J. Chem. Soc. 1929, 1870.
- 11. Bringmann, G.; Reuscher, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 5249.
- Alo, B. I.; Kandil, A.; Patil, P. A.; Sharp, M. J.; Siddiqui, M. A.; Snieckus, V.; Joseph, P. D. J. Org. Chem. **1991**, *56*, 3763.
- 13. Nguyen, V. T. H.; Langer, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 1013.
- Zhou, Q. J.; Worm, K.; Dolle, R. E. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 5147.
- 15. Review: Harris, T. M.; Harris, C. M. Tetrahedron 1977, 33, 2159.
- 16. Harris, T. M.; Hay, J. V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 1631.
- 17. Appel, B.; Saleh, N. N. R.; Langer, P. Chem.—Eur. J. 2006, 12, 1221.
- 18. For a review of 1,3-bis(silyl enol ethers), see: Langer, P. *Synthesis* **2002**, 441.
- Lee, Y.-G.; Ishimaru, K.; Iwasaki, H.; Ohkata, K.; Akiba, K. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 2058.
- For [3+3] cyclizations of 1,3-bis(silyl enol ethers), see: (a) Chan, T.-H.; Brownbridge, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 3534; (b) Brownbridge, P.; Chan, T.-H.; Brook, M. A.; Kang, G. J. Can. J. Chem. 1983, 61, 688.
- For [3+3] cyclizations from our laboratory, see: (a) Dede, R.; Langer, P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 9177; (b) Bose, G.; Nguyen, V. T. H.; Ullah, E.; Lahiri, S.; Görls, H.; Langer, P. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 9128; (c) Nguyen, V. T. H.;

Langer, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 815; (d) Nguyen, V. T. H.; Bellur, E.; Appel, B.; Langer, P. Synthesis 2006, 1103; (e) Ahmed, Z.; Langer, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 417; (f) Ahmed, Z.; Fischer, C.; Spannenberg, A.; Langer, P. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 4800; (g) Nguyen, V. T. H.; Bellur, E.; Langer, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 113; (h) Mamat, C.; Pundt, T.; Schmidt, A.; Langer, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 2183; (i) Nguyen, V. T. H.; Langer, P. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 7674.

- 22. Hanifin, J. W.; Cohen, E. J. Org. Chem. 1971, 36, 910.
- (a) Bensari, A.; Zaveri, N. T. Synthesis 2003, 267; (b) Clark, J. H.; Miller, J. M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1977, 2063.
- 24. Eiden, F.; Teupe, E.-G.; Leister, H. P. Arch. Pharm. (Weinheim, Ger.) 1981, 314, 347.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9701-9704

Synthesis and inclusion capability of a β-cyclodextrintetrathiafulvalene derivative

Georgiana G. Surpateanu,^a David Landy,^a Catalin N. Lungu,^a Sophie Fourmentin,^a Gheorghe Surpateanu,^{a,*} Céline Réthoré^b and Narcis Avarvari^{b,*}

^aLaboratoire de Synthèse Organique et Environnement, EA 2599, Université du Littoral Côte d'Opale, 145, avenue Maurice Schumann,

59140 Dunkerque, France

^bLaboratoire de Chimie, Ingénierie Moléculaire et Matériaux d'Angers, UMR 6200, Université d'Angers, UFR Sciences, Bât. K, 2 Bd. Lavoisier, 49045 Angers Cedex, France

> Received 25 April 2006; revised 7 July 2006; accepted 25 July 2006 Available online 17 August 2006

Abstract—The synthesis of 4,5-ethylenedithio-4'-[6-deoxy- β -cyclodextrin-6-yl-aminocarbonyl]-tetrathiafulvalene **3** is reported. Dominantly, the structure of **3** has been established on the basis of mass spectrometry, ROESY and ¹H NMR spectra, combined with a theoretical MM3 study, indicating an 'open-cavity structure'. The sensing ability of **3** and the formation constant of the complex [(**3**)-(1-adamantanol)] have been evaluated experimentally by UV–vis spectroscopy and theoretically by the MM3 docking procedure method. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

During the past decade much effort has been devoted to developing analysis systems for the detection of chemical and biological compounds, without any modification of the analytes.¹⁻⁵ Some chemically modified cyclodextrins (CDs) form relatively stable host-guest complexes, due to their inclusion capability, with a large variety of organic compounds.^{6,7} Such derivatives might be useful for constructing molecule-sensing systems.^{8–13} In previous papers we reported the synthesis^{14–17} and sensing abilities^{18,19} towards volatile organic compounds (VOC) of a new class of fluorescent sensors based on β -cyclodextrin fragment (β -CD) and indolizine unit. On the other hand, electrochemical sensors based on tetrathiafulvalene (TTF), a redox active unit extensively studied in the field of conducting molecular materials,²⁰ and various receptors such as crown ethers,²¹ calix-arenes²² or calix-pyrroles²³ have proved their efficiency in the sensing of anions or metallic cations. Therefore, the covalent association of the cyclodextrin platform with a TTF derivative appears to be particularly attractive in the prospective of controlling the host TTF-cyclodextrin-guest interaction through an electrochemical switch. At our knowledge, only two reports in the literature deal with covalent TTF-

cyclodextrin derivatives,²⁴ prepared as precursors for Langmuir–Blodgett films, whereas inclusion TTF–cyclodextrin complexes have been used as mediators in the glucose–glucose oxidation reaction.²⁵ We report herein the synthesis and characterization of a new type of sensor consisting of β -CD and TTF units covalently linked, together with its sensing ability towards the 1-adamantanol.

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Synthesis

The covalent link between the β -CD and TTF units has been performed upon reaction of 6-deoxy-6-aminocyclodextrin 1^{26} and 4,5-ethylenedithio-4'-chlorocarbonyl-tetrathiafulvalene (EDT-TTF-COCl) 2 in homogenous phase in dry DMF, under argon, thus providing the mixed β -CD–TTF derivative 3 (Scheme 1). Indeed, the reaction of 2 with various primary amines has been described as a straightforward method for the preparation of EDT-TTF-amides.²⁷ The chemical structure of 3 has been established by NMR and mass spectra. In the latter, the presence of $[M^++23]$ at 1477 and $[\beta$ -CD+CO+23]⁺ at 1185 fragments prove undoubtedly the proposed molecular structure. In order to assign all the chemical shifts of the protons, the ¹H NMR spectra have been performed in two different solvents, e.g., DMSO- d_6 and D_2O . The ROESY 2D spectrum, measured in D₂O, shows clearly the lack of interaction between the TTF fragment and the CD cavity, very likely because of

Keywords: β-Cyclodextrine; Tetrathiafulvalene; Inclusion; 1-Adamantanol; Open cavity.

^{*} Corresponding authors. Tel.: +33 3 28 65 82 54; fax: +33 3 28 23 76 05 (G.S.); tel.: +33 2 41 73 50 84; fax: +33 2 41 73 54 05 (N.A.); e-mail addresses: surpatea@univ-littoral.fr; narcis.avarvari@univ-angers.fr

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.088

the short covalent link between the TTF and the CD, thus preventing the inclusion of the former in the latter.



Scheme 1. Synthesis of 4,5-ethylenedithio-4'-[6-deoxy-β-cyclodextrin-6-yl-aminocarbonyl]-tetrathiafulvalene **3**.

2.2. Inclusion of 1-adamantanol

The evaluation of the host inclusion ability towards 1-adamantanol has been carried out by UV–vis spectroscopy combined with the well-known direct titration method. For a 1:1 molar ratio, the calculation of the formation constant $K_{\rm f}$ was developed as follows:

 $HOST + GUEST \rightleftharpoons HOST/GUEST$

$$K_{\rm f} = \frac{[{\rm HOST}/{\rm GUEST}]}{[{\rm HOST}]^*[{\rm GUEST}]} \tag{1}$$

$$\kappa_{\rm f} = \frac{[\rm HOST/GUEST]}{([\rm GUEST]_{\rm T} - [\rm HOST/GUEST]) - ([\rm HOST]_{\rm T} - [\rm HOST/GUEST])}$$
(2)

$$\begin{split} \left[\text{HOST/GUEST}\right] &= -\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\left[\left(\frac{1}{K_{\text{f}}} + \left[\text{HOST}\right]_{\text{T}} + \left[\text{GUEST}\right]_{\text{T}} \right)^2 - 4\left[\text{HOST}\right]_{\text{T}}\left[\text{GUEST}\right]_{\text{T}} \right]} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{K_{\text{f}}} + \left[\text{HOST}\right]_{\text{T}} + \left[\text{GUEST}\right]_{\text{T}} \right) \end{split}$$
(3)

where K_f and T stand for formation constant and total, respectively. For a given value of K_f the [HOST/GUEST] concentration is known, thus allowing the calculation of the molecular absorptivity of the inclusion compound. An algorithm treatment was then applied to minimize the difference of the spectral characteristics over the various solutions.

The absorbance of the host was recorded in function of different concentrations of the added guest. The spectral variations, although weak, lead to well defined isobestic points. The data fit well with a 1:1 binding isotherm, especially for the 265–280 nm range concerned by the strongest spectral modifications. The resulting value of the formation constant, amounting at 1538 M⁻¹, shows that the newly synthesized β -CD–TTF derivative still possesses inclusion properties, which could eventually vary upon changing the TTF oxidation state (Figs. 1 and 2).

2.3. Molecular modelling

The docking of the guest (1-adamantanol) with respect to the locked β -CD unit has been performed using three dummy



Figure 1. First derivative of the UV spectra of the TTF modified β -cyclodextrin in the absence and presence of increasing concentrations of 1-adamantanol.



Figure 2. Adjustment, in function of the guest concentration, between the experimental area of the first derivative of absorbance (discrete points) and the theoretical values (continuous line) according to a 1:1 equilibrium.

atoms, in such a way that the molecule of 1-adamantanol crosses the cyclodextrin ring while making a continuous rotation (Fig. 3).

Two regiochemical ways E1 and E2 have been considered. By A and B are notified the two atoms from 1-adamantanol taken into account in defining distances A-D2 and B-D2, also the dihedral angles A-D1-D2-D3-D4 and B-D1-D2-D3.



Figure 3. Docking and regiochemical ways.



Figure 4. Complex CD-TTF(3)-1-adamantanol.

The most stable configuration of the inclusion complex CD–TTF $\mathbf{3}$ with the 1-adamantanol, obtained by the MM3 method, is shown in Figure 4.

The computed complexation energy ΔE , corresponding to the difference between the potential energy of the inclusion complex and the sum of their individual components in their optimized ground states, amounts at -10.92 Kcal/mol. Such a value is in good agreement with those for other host-guest complexes.^{19,28}

3. Conclusions

A water soluble β -cyclodextrin–TTF derivative has been synthesized and characterized. Its inclusion properties towards the guest 1-adamantanol have been experimentally and theoretically determined. The compound described herein represents the first step in the elaboration of a new class of water soluble electroactive sensing systems. The inclusion of other molecules, as well as the TTF electrochemical response, is currently under investigation in our groups.

4. Experimental

4.1. General comments

¹H NMR spectra were recorded with a Bruker AM 400 spectrometer with tetramethylsilane (TMS) as an internal standard. Chemical shift values δ are reported in parts per million and coupling constants *J* are in hertz. The following abbreviations have been used: s (singlet), d (doublet), m (multiplet), C (cyclodextrin). Mass spectra were measured using a Platform II Micromass Apparatus. IR spectra were recorded on a Perkin–Elmer instrument. Melting point was obtained with a Reichert Thermopan apparatus and is uncorrected. Chromatographic separation was carried out on Sephadex G15.

4.2. Synthesis of 4,5-ethylenedithio-4'-[6-deoxy-β-cyclo-dextrin-6-yl-aminocarbonyl]-tetrathiafulvalene 3

In a 100-mL round-bottomed flask 0.567 g (0.5 mmol) 6-deoxy-6-aminocyclodextrin (1) was dissolved in dry DMF (35 mL). Then, 0.178 g (0.5 mmol) solid 4,5-ethylenedithio-4'-chlorocarbonyl-tetrathiafulvalene was gradually added under stirring. To the stirred reaction mixture pyridine (0.08 mL) in DMF (5 mL) was added over a period of 15 min using a dropping funnel. Stirring under argon and warming (65 °C) of the reaction mixture were continued for 14 h. After cooling the mixture was poured drop wise into acetone (100 mL). The resulting precipitate was collected and washed with acetone. The crude solid was dissolved in distilled water (50 mL), filtered and then concentrated to provide 10 mL of solution, which was purified on a Sephadex G-15 column to give the compound **3** as a yellow-orange powder. Yield 47%. Mp= 220° C, dec. IR (KBr, cm⁻¹): 3390, 1634 ($\nu_{C=0}$), 1385, 1156, 1029. ¹H NMR (DMSO*d*₆): δ 7.99 (m, 1H, NH), 6.69 (s, 1H, =CH), 5.92–5.75 (m, 14H, -OH-2_C, -OH-3_C), 4.98-4.80 (m, 7H, H-1_C), 4.60-4.42 (m, 8H, –O–CH_{2C}–, –OH-6_C), 3.85–3.10 (m, 44H, H-2_C, H-4_C, H-3_C, H-5_C, H-6^{A,B}_C, S– CH_2 – CH_2 –S). ¹H NMR (D₂O): δ 8.01–7.85 (m, 1H, NH), 7.03 (s, 1H, =CH), 5.05-4.90 (m, 7H, CH-1_C), 4.74-4.63 (H₂O+-OH $2_{C}, 3_{C}, 6_{C}$), 3.97–3.73 (m, 28H, CH– $3_{C}, 5_{C}, 6_{C}^{AB}$), 3.57–3.51 (m, 14H, CH-2_C,4_C), 3.53–3.44 (m, 4H, S–CH₂–CH₂–S). MS (ES⁺, cone 40) m/z (%): 1447 (M+23) (15%), 1157 (CD-6-yl-NH+23) (80%), 1185 (CD-6-yl-NH-CO+23) (100%). Anal. calcd for C₅₁H₇₅NO₃₅S₆: C, 42.11; H, 5.20; S, 13.23. Found: C, 40.56; H, 4.85; S, 12.64.

4.3. UV-vis spectroscopy

Spectra were recorded at 298 K using a Perkin–Elmer Lambda 2S double beam spectrometer and a quartz cell with optical path length of 1 cm. The compounds were dissolved in phosphate buffer at pH 5.8. All spectra were used in the derivative form in order to avoid the influence of diffraction on the titration experiment.

4.4. Molecular modelling

Compound 3 and 1-adamantanol were built starting from data provided by the Cambridge Structural Data Base Center. The structural manipulations on β -CD were made using the CAChe library²⁹ on PC-Computer. The study of compound **3** was performed by applying a general procedure of multiconformational search with the MM3 force field.³⁰ The potential energy variation (ΔE) depending on the variation of the dihedral angles (defined between the TTF and cyclodextrin moieties) is recorded with rotational increments of 15°. The minimum value of ΔE is chosen according to the curve scribing. The analysis was developed taking into account all the exocyclic single bonds in the compound 3. Then, the docking of the guest (1-adamantanol) with respect to the locked β -CD unit has been performed using three dummy atoms, one centrally placed in the inner cavity of the cyclodextrin ring and the two others in opposite sites towards the guest (Fig. 3). Two parameters, i.e., the host/ guest distance and the orientation of 1-adamantanol inside the cyclodextrin cavity, are submitted to systematic variations (0.1 Å for the distance, 10° for the dihedral), the energy being evaluated by MM3. The resulting conformations are minimized at each step of the docking simulation, thus allowing the remaining intermolecular variables to be taken into account.

Acknowledgements

Financial supports from the CNRS, Ministère de l'Education et de la Recherche (grant for C.R.), University of Angers and University of Dunkerque are gratefully acknowledged.

References and notes

- 1. Ueno, A. Supramol. Chem. 1996, 31-36.
- 2. Dunbar, R. A.; Bright, F. Supramol. Chem. 1994, 93-99.
- 3. Narita, M.; Hamada, F. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 2000, 823–832.
- 4. Matsumura, S.; Sakamoto, S.; Ueno, A.; Mihara, H. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2000**, 1781–1788.
- Hossain, A.; Matsumura, S.; Kanai, T.; Hamasaki, K.; Mihara, H.; Ueno, A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 2000, 1527–1533.
- 6. Connors, K. A. Chem. Rev. 1997, 97, 1325-1357.
- Uekama, K.; Hirayama, F.; Irie, T. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 2045– 2076.
- 8. Lehn, J. M. Supramolecular Chemistry; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 1995.
- 9. Chen, C.; Wagner, H. Science 1998, 279, 851-853.
- De Silva, A. P.; Gunaratne, H. Q. N.; Gunnlaugsson, T.; Huxley, A. J. M.; McCoy, C. P.; Rademacher, J. T.; Rice, T. E. *Chem. Rev.* **1997**, *97*, 1515–1566.
- Prodi, L.; Bollete, F.; Monalti, M.; Zaccheroni, N. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2000, 205, 59–83.
- 12. James, T. D.; Samanjurama Sandanayake, K. R. A.; Sinkai, S. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **1996**, 1911–1922.
- Tong, A. J.; Yanauchi, A.; Hayashita, T.; Zang, A. Y.; Smith, B. D.; Teramae, N. Anal. Chem. 2001, 73, 1530–1536.
- Lungu, N. C.; Depret, A.; Delattre, F.; Surpateanu, G. G.; Cazier, F.; Woisel, P.; Shirali, P.; Surpateanu, G. J. Fluorine Chem. 2005, 126, 393–396.
- Becuwe, M.; Delattre, F.; Surpateanu, G. G.; Cazier, F.; Woisel, P.; Garçon, G.; Shirali, P.; Surpateanu, G. *Heterocycl. Commun.* 2005, 11, 355–360.

- Delattre, F.; Woisel, P.; Surpateanu, G.; Bria, M.; Cazier, F.; Decock, P. *Tetrahedron* 2004, 60, 1557–1562.
- 17. Delattre, F.; Woisel, P.; Surpateanu, G.; Cazier, F.; Blach, P. *Tetrahedron* **2005**, *61*, 3939–3945.
- Landy, D.; Surpateanu, G. G.; Fourmentin, S.; Blach, P.; Decock, P.; Surpateanu, G. Internet Electron. J. Mol. Des. 2005, 4, 545–555.
- Delattre, F.; Woisel, P.; Bria, M.; Surpateanu, G. Carbohydr. Res. 2005, 340, 1706–1713.
- (a) Segura, J. L.; Martin, N. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 1372–1409; (b) Yamada, J.-I. TTF Chemistry: Fundamentals and Applications of Tetrathiafulvalene; Springer: Berlin and Heidelberg, 2004.
- (a) Le Derf, F.; Mazari, M.; Mercier, N.; Levillain, E.; Trippé, G.; Riou, A.; Richomme, P.; Becher, J.; Garín, J.; Orduna, J.; Gallego-Planas, N.; Gorgues, A.; Sallé, M. *Chem.—Eur. J.* **2001**, 7, 447–455; (b) Blesa, M.-J.; Zhao, B.-T.; Allain, M.; Le Derf, F.; Sallé, M. *Chem.—Eur. J.* **2006**, *12*, 1906–1914.
- (a) Zhoa, B.-T.; Blesa, M.-J.; Mercier, N.; Le Derf, F.; Sallé, M. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 6254–6257; (b) Zhao, B.-T.; Blesa, M.-J.; Mercier, N.; Le Derf, F.; Sallé, M. New J. Chem. 2005, 29, 1164–1167; (c) Zhao, B.-T.; Blesa, M.-J.; Mercier, N.; Le Derf, F.; Sallé, M. Supramol. Chem. 2005, 17, 465–468.
- 23. Nielsen, K. A.; Jeppesen, J. O.; Levillain, E.; Becher, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 187–191.
- (a) Le Bras, Y.; Sallé, M.; Leriche, P.; Mingotaud, C.; Richomme, P.; Moller, J. *J. Mater. Chem.* **1997**, *7*, 2393– 2396; (b) Sallé, M.; Le Bras, Y.; Andreu, R.; Leriche, P.; Mingotaud, C.; Gorgues, A. Synth. Met. **1998**, *94*, 47–48.
- (a) Zhao, S.; Luong, J. H. T. Anal. Chim. Acta 1993, 282, 319– 327; (b) Schmidt, P. M.; Brown, R. S.; Luong, J. H. T. Chem. Eng. Sci. 1995, 50, 1867–1876.
- Hamasaki, A.; Ikeda, H.; Nakamura, A.; Ueno, A.; Toda, F.; Suzuki, I.; Osa, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 5035–5043.
- 27. (a) Heuzé, K.; Fourmigué, M.; Batail, P. J. Mater. Chem. 1999, 9, 2373–2379; (b) Devic, T.; Avarvari, N.; Batail, P. Chem.— Eur. J. 2004, 10, 3697–3707.
- Guo, Q.-X.; Luo, S.-H.; Liu, Y.-C. J. Inclusion Phenom. 1998, 30, 173–182.
- 29. CAChe, Work System, 6.01, 2003.
- (a) Surpateanu, G. G.; Vergoten, G.; Surpateanu, G. J. Mol. Struct. 2000, 526, 143–151; (b) Surpateanu, G. G.; Vergoten, G.; Surpateanu, G. J. Mol. Struct. 2001, 559, 263–271; (c) Surpateanu, G. G.; Delattre, F.; Woisel, P.; Vergoten, G.; Surpateanu, G. J. Mol. Struct. 2003, 645, 29–36.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9705-9712

On the mechanism of conversion of 4-carboxy-3,4-dihydro-3phenyl-1(2*H*)-isoquinolones to indeno[1,2-*c*]isoquinolines by thionyl chloride

Xiangshu Xiao,^a Andrew Morrell,^a Phillip E. Fanwick^b and Mark Cushman^{a,*}

^aDepartment of Medicinal Chemistry and Molecular Pharmacology and the Purdue Cancer Center, School of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN 47907, USA ^bDepartment of Chemistry, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN 47907, USA

Received 10 March 2006; revised 20 July 2006; accepted 24 July 2006

Available online 21 August 2006

Abstract—It has been known for a long time that thionyl chloride can effectively mediate the transformation of 4-carboxy-3,4-dihydro-3-phenyl-1(2*H*)-isoquinolones to indeno[1,2-*c*]isoquinolines. The mechanism of this unique transformation, however, remains to be established. Evidence is presented to demonstrate that (1) the two-electron dehydrogenation precedes Friedel–Crafts cyclization and (2) the two-electron dehydrogenation occurs via H-4 deprotonation and subsequent O-sulfinylation of the lactam moiety instead of C-sulfinylation of the carbon α to the carboxyl group.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

In 1978, the direct transformation of *cis* acid **1** to indeno-[1,2-*c*]isoquinoline **2** by thionyl chloride was reported.¹ Since the establishment of compound **2** as a novel non-camptothecin topoisomerase I inhibitor,² a number of analogs of **2** have been synthesized using this thionyl chloride-mediated oxidation/Friedel–Crafts cyclization methodology.^{3–9} Despite its effectiveness in providing access to different substituted indenoisoquinolines, the exact mechanism of the thionyl chloride-mediated oxidation/Friedel–Crafts cyclization of **1** is still not established. Herein, detailed studies are described on the mechanism of this conversion employing differentially substituted substrate analogs to support a mechanism in which dehydrogenation precedes Friedel–Crafts cyclization and the lactam functionality plays an essential role in the dehydrogenation process.



Keywords: Thionyl chloride; Oxidation; Indenoisoquinoline; Intramolecular Friedel–Crafts reaction.

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.072

2. Results and discussion

To determine if SOCl₂-mediated oxidation can proceed without prior Friedel-Crafts acylation, cis acid 7 with a less-activated 3-phenyl ring than 1 was designed and synthesized (Scheme 1). Condensation of 3,4-dimethoxyhomophthalic anhydride $(6)^1$ with Schiff base 5, prepared from MOM-protected aldehyde 4 and MeNH₂, yielded the cis acid 7, whose relative stereochemistry was determined by the observed 6.2 Hz coupling constant for the two methine protons.¹⁰ Treatment of the *cis* acid 7 with $SOCl_2$ gave three isolated compounds 8, 9, and 10 in 11, 31, and 28% yields, respectively. Therefore, it is clear that the SOCl₂-mediated dehydrogenation step can proceed without prior Friedel-Crafts cyclization. Previous studies indicated that the dehydrogenated intermediate derived from 1 could undergo Friedel-Crafts cyclization in the presence of thionyl chloride to afford 2, but the Friedel-Crafts product derived from 1 did not undergo dehydrogenation to yield 2 with thionyl chloride.¹ These results, in combination with the present study, make it clear that dehydrogenation precedes the Friedel-Crafts acylation during the conversion of 1 to 2 by thionyl chloride. What remains to be determined is the mechanism of the dehydrogenation step.

Compounds **9** and **10** are novel macrocyclic systems containing 16-membered and 24-membered rings with either two or three benzene rings, respectively. Interestingly, the chemical shifts of the four protons in the substituted benzene

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 765 494 1465; fax: +1 765 494 6790; e-mail: cushman@pharmacy.purdue.edu



Scheme 1.

ring C of macrodilide **9** are different from each other¹¹ and one of the protons is significantly shifted upfield to 5.60 ppm. The C and C' rings are equivalent so that the eight protons on the two rings appear as four doublets of doublets. In order to understand the unusual ¹H NMR spectrum of this compound, the geometry was optimized at the AM1 theory level in Gaussian03.¹² It is reasonable to assume that the optimized AM1 structure (Fig. 1) would provide a valid model on which to base the interpretation of the ¹H NMR data. Due to the differential shielding effect from the C' ring, the two pairs of protons on the C ring are no longer identical, and vice versa. Furthermore, since the proton labeled 'a' in Figure 1 is located directly over the ring current from ring C', it experiences an unusually strong shielding effect and thus appears more upfield in the ¹H NMR spectrum. The



Figure 1. AM1 optimized geometry of compound 9.

NMR results indicate that the conformational mobility of the macrodilide ring of **9** is limited by the π - π stacking interaction of the two aromatic rings, and this conclusion is also consistent with the AM1 calculation (Fig. 1). The predominant formation of this macrodilide in the reaction mixture is likely due to the effect of a combination of predisposed orientation of 3-phenyl and 4-carboxyl groups in **8**¹³ and product stability rendered by the π - π stacking interaction of the C and C' rings, which have an appropriate distance of 3.45 Å for stacking.¹⁴

Originally, we proposed the oxidation step involving Mechanism 1 as shown in Scheme 2 on the basis of the reported SOCl₂ dehydrogenation reactions of substrates lacking lactam functionality.¹ However, two alternative Mechanisms 2 and 3 involving participation of the lactam functionality are also intriguing,¹⁵ especially because Mechanism 1 entails the formation of a quaternary carbon in a very sterically congested environment. In order to distinguish these mechanisms, two interrupting analogs 17¹⁶ and 18 were designed and synthesized. When 17 was treated with SOCl₂ at room temperature for 5 h, the typical time frame to convert cis-1 to $\mathbf{2}^{1}$, followed by methanol work up, only ester $\mathbf{19}^{16}$ was obtained quantitatively. However, prolonged reaction of 17 with SOCl₂ for 36 h resulted in the formation of 18% chlorinated compound 20 and 77% of ester 19 (Scheme 3). The failure to observe the formation of **21**, or a derivative of it, argues against Mechanism 2 (Scheme 2). Based on the relatively high pK_a of H-3 compared to H-4, which is doubly activated by both carboxyl group and lactam, Mechanism 2 requiring deprotonation at H-3 in the presence of H-4 is also not favored.



To avoid the complications resulting from the nucleophilic aromatic rings present in **17**, a simplified analog **18** was designed and synthesized (Scheme 4). Ketimine formation between acetophenone and methylamine in the presence of TiCl₄¹⁷ afforded **24**, which was condensed with homophthalic anhydride (**25**) to give a pair of diastereomers **26** and **18** in 16 and 3% yields, respectively. The corresponding methyl esters were furnished by treating the individual acids with TMSCHN₂ in MeOH–benzene. The relative configurations of **18**, **26**, **27**, and **28** were determined primarily by the chemical shift differences of H-4, 3-Me, and 4-COOMe due to the shielding effect of the 3-phenyl ring and the electronwithdrawing effect of the 4-carbonyl (Table 1).^{18,19} The structure of compound **28** was further confirmed by single crystal X-ray analysis (see Supplementary data). Mechanism 1



Mechanism 2



Mechanism 3



Scheme 2.





When acid 18 was treated with $SOCl_2$ at room temperature for 5 h, followed by methanol treatment, the only product formed was the ester 28. On the other hand, when the reaction time of SOCl₂ treatment was prolonged to 36 h, a minor product 29(5%) was also formed besides the ester 28(92%). The formation of cyclized product 29 is very informative as it suggests that C-4 must become sp²-hybridized before



Scheme 4.

Table 1. Chemical shift differences (ppm) between 18, 26, 27, and 28

Compound	H-4	3-Me	4-COOMe	
18	3.82	1.66	N/A	
26	4.12	1.86	N/A	
27	4.18	1.81	3.62	
28	3.75	1.58	3.14	

cyclization instead of cyclizing from the original sp³-hybridization state, which does not cyclize as evidenced by the failure to form any cyclized product derived from 17, and failure to form **30** from **1** under similar treatment.¹ The failure to form even a trace of the sulfinate ester 22 and formation of 29 suggests that Mechanism 3 is the most likely one accounting for the oxidation step mediated by SOCl₂.

Further evidence to support Mechanism 3 comes from the reactions of methanesulfinyl chloride²⁰ with various esters (Scheme 5). Reaction of the enolate derived from ester 31 with methanesulfinyl chloride resulted in the formation of dehydrogenated product 32 in 75% yield. On the other hand, treatment of methyl 3-phenylpropionate (33) with NaHMDS followed by methanesulfinyl chloride gave methyl sulfoxide 34 diastereoselectively, whose structure was confirmed by single crystal X-ray analysis (see Supplementary data).

The formation of **34** is expected since elimination of sulfinic acid usually is $slow^{21,22}$ and requires high temperature compared to elimination of selenic acid.^{23,24} If the oxidation reaction were to involve Mechanism 1, then similar treatment of ester 28 with methanesulfinyl chloride would generate the corresponding methyl sulfoxide. However, this treatment only resulted in the recovery of starting material. These observations indicate the mechanism shown in Scheme 6 for the formation of 29. The acyl chloride 35 undergoes a reversible reaction with SOCl2 to give O-sulfinilated species **36**, whose C-4 is in an sp² hybridization state, followed by cyclization to afford 37. Chloride addition and elimination of sulfur monoxide from 37 provide the observed chloride 29.

More direct evidence to support the participation of the amide functionality in the oxidation process is the



Scheme 5.



Scheme 6.

observation that treatment of 2,3-diphenyl-propionic acid (38) with SOCl₂, followed by MeOH, only resulted in the formation of the corresponding methyl ester 39 (Scheme 7). No oxidation product was observed in this case. The acid 38 is a simplified analog of 1 lacking the lactam functionality, and the inability of 38 to undergo the oxidation reaction indicates lactam participation in the oxidation of 1 by SOCl₂.



Scheme 7.

3. Conclusions

The transformation from *cis* acid 1 to indenoisoquinoline 2 by thionyl chloride involves a two-electron dehydrogenation followed by Friedel–Crafts cyclization. Although Mechanism 1 (Scheme 2) has been proposed for most of the

oxidations mediated by thionyl chloride, $^{25-31}$ Mechanism 3 involving deprotonation at H-4 and subsequent O-sulfinylation of the amide is the most likely one accounting for the dehydrogenation of *cis* acid **1** based on the present experimental data presumably due to the sterics and the presence of an additional amide functionality.

4. Experimental

4.1. 4-Methoxymethoxybenzaldehyde (4)³²

Method A: a solution of NaOH (1.3 g in 16 mL H₂O) was added to a stirred solution of 4-hydroxybenzaldehyde (2.0 g, 16.4 mmol) and $\text{Adogen}^{\text{(B)}}$ (1.3 g) in CH_2Cl_2 (50 mL). Then MOM-Cl (1.98 g, 24.5 mmol) was added. The resulting biphasic mixture was stirred at room temperature for 20 h. CH₂Cl₂ (100 mL) was added and the organic phase was separated and then washed successively with 1 N HCl (2×25 mL), H₂O (2×25 mL), and brine (2×25 mL) and dried over Na₂SO₄. The solution was filtered and evaporated in vacuo and the resulting residue was subjected to flash column chromatography, eluting with n-hexane-ethyl acetate (10:1), furnishing **4** as a colorless oil (1.2 g, 45%): ¹H NMR $(300 \text{ MHz}, \text{CDCl}_3) \delta 9.87 \text{ (s, 1H)}, 7.80 \text{ (d, } J=8.7 \text{ Hz}, 2\text{H}),$ 7.11 (d, J=8.7 Hz, 2H), 5.22 (s, 2H), 3.46 (s, 3H); ESIMS m/z (rel intensity) 167 (MH⁺, 100). Method B: 4-hydroxybenzaldehyde (2.000 g, 16.37 mmol) was dissolved in dry DMF (50 mL) and cooled to 0 °C. Sodium hydride (60% dispersion in mineral oil) (0.786 g, 19.65 mmol) was carefully added and the reaction mixture was allowed to stir at 0 °C for 30 min. MOM-Cl (1.582 g, 19.65 mmol) was added dropwise and the reaction mixture was allowed to stir at 0 °C for 1 h, then at room temperature for 1 h. The reaction was quenched with the addition of saturated aq NH₄Cl (50 mL) and the solution was extracted with EtOAc (3×25 mL). The combined organic layers were washed with saturated aq K_2CO_3 (3×25 mL), saturated aq NH₄Cl (3×25 mL), and brine (25 mL). The organic layer was dried over sodium sulfate, filtered, and concentrated to provide a crude yellow oil that was purified by flash column chromatography (SiO_2) , eluting with a gradient of hexanes to 30% EtOAc/hexanes,

to provide a colorless oil (2.374 g, 87%) identical to the material furnished by Method A.

4.2. (4-Methoxymethoxy-benzylidene)methylamine (5)

Anhydrous MgSO₄ (1.8 g) and aldehyde **4** (817.5 mg, 4.92 mmol) were added sequentially to a stirred solution of MeNH₂ (2 M in methanol, 3.0 mL, 6.0 mmol) and Et₃N (1 mL, 7.39 mmol) in CHCl₃ (10 mL). The resulting mixture was stirred at room temperature for 18 h. CH₂Cl₂ (50 mL) was added and the solution was washed with H₂O $(2 \times 10 \text{ mL})$ and brine $(2 \times 10 \text{ mL})$. The organic phase was dried over Na₂SO₄, filtered, and concentrated in vacuo giving 5 as a colorless oil (882.8 mg, 100%): ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.19 (s, 1H), 7.62 (d, J=8.7 Hz, 2H), 7.03 (d, J=8.7 Hz, 2H), 5.18 (s, 2H), 3.46 (s, 6H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 161.7, 159.1, 130.2, 129.3 (2C), 116.1 (2C), 94.2, 56.1, 48.1; IR (KBr) 2938, 1652, 1607, 1510, 1237, 1153, 1081, 1003 cm⁻¹; ESIMS *m/z* (rel intensity) 180 (MH⁺, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₀H₁₃NO₂: C, 67.02; H, 7.31; N, 7.82. Found: C, 67.37; H, 7.18; N, 7.59.

4.3. *cis*-4-Carboxy-6,7-dimethoxy-3-(4-methoxymethoxy-phenyl)-2-methyl-1-oxo-1,2,3,4-tetrahydroisoquinoline (7)

Anhydride 6 (269 mg, 1.2 mmol) was added in one portion to a stirred solution of imine 5 (217.2 mg, 1.2 mmol) in CHCl₃ (1.2 mL). The solution became clear and 3 h later a light yellow precipitate formed in the reaction mixture. The precipitate was collected and washed with CHCl₃ (1 mL) giving 7 as an off-white powder (173 mg, 36%): mp 218–220 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO- d_6) δ 7.51 (s, 1H), 7.11 (s, 1H), 6.96 (d, J=8.7 Hz, 2H), 6.87 (d, J=8.7 Hz, 2H), 5.12 (s, 2H), 5.01 (d, J=6.2 Hz, 1H), 4.59 (d, J=6.2 Hz, 1H), 3.82 (s, 3H), 3.75 (s, 3H), 3.32 (s, 3H), 2.87 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, DMSO-d₆) δ 170.8, 163.0, 156.5, 151.2, 147.7, 130.1, 128.9 (2C), 127.2, 121.5, 115.8 (2C), 110.8, 109.8, 93.6, 62.6, 55.6, 55.5 (2C), 47.5, 33.4; ESIMS *m/z* (rel intensity) 402 (MH⁺, 100); IR (film) 2939, 1739, 1596, 1511, 1489, 1287, 1230, 1147, 1079, 754. 624 cm⁻¹. Anal. Calcd for $C_{21}H_{23}NO_7 \cdot H_2O$: C, 60.14; H, 6.01; N, 3.34. Found: C, 60.45; H, 5.64; N, 3.36.

4.4. 4-Carboxy-1,2-dihydro-3-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-6,7dimethoxy-2-methyl-1-oxo-isoquinoline (8), dilide (9) and trilide (10)

Acid **7** (39.5 mg, 0.098 mmol) was treated with thionyl chloride (0.4 mL) at room temperature for 4 h. Then excess thionyl chloride was evaporated in vacuo and benzene (3×3 mL) was added and evaporated in vacuo. The residue was subjected to flash column chromatography, eluting with CHCl₃–MeOH (100:0–4:1), to provide a white powder **8** (4 mg) and a mixture of **9** and **10**. The mixture of **9** and **10** was further purified by preparative TLC on silica gel [CHCl₃–MeOH (50:1)] giving **9** (10 mg) and **10** (9 mg) as white powders. Product **8**: mp>254 °C (dec). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆) δ 9.90 (br s, 1H), 7.87 (s, 1H), 7.40 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.05 (s, 1H), 6.86 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 2H), 3.89 (s, 3H), 3.84 (s, 3H), 3.18 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 168.2, 160.6, 158.0, 153.2, 148.9,

141.1, 130.6 (2C), 128.3, 124.8, 117.8, 115.2 (2C), 112.9, 107.3, 104.3, 55.6 (2C), 33.5; IR (KBr) 3489, 3441, 3137, 2956, 1685, 1609, 1512, 1274, 1225, 1176 cm⁻¹; ESIMS m/z (rel intensity) 356 (MH⁺, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₉H₁₇NO₆·1.5H₂O: C, 59.68; H, 5.27; N, 3.66. Found: C, 59.93; H, 5.05; N, 3.51. Product 9: mp 383-385 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.85 (s, 2H), 7.60 (dd, J=8.4, 2.4 Hz, 2H), 7.45 (dd, J=8.4, 2.4 Hz, 2 H), 7.29 (dd, J=8.1, 2.1 Hz, 2H), 7.23 (s, 2H), 5.60 (dd, J=8.1, 2.1 Hz, 2H), 4.02 (s, 6H), 4.00 (s, 6H), 3.35 (s, 6H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 165.9 (2C), 161.7 (2C), 154.1 (2C), 150.8 (2C), 149.9 (2C), 142.6 (2C), 133.2 (2C), 131.0 (2C), 130.4 (2C), 128.3 (2C), 123.8 (2C), 122.7 (2C), 118.8 (2C), 110.7 (2C), 108.2 (2C), 103.7 (2C), 56.3 (2C), 34.2 (2C), 29.7 (2C); ESIMS m/z (rel intensity) 1349 (2M+H⁺, 53), 675 (MH⁺, 100); IR (film) 2963, 2905, 1732, 1651, 1609, 1502, 1415, 1260, 1094, 1019, 799, 703 cm⁻¹. Anal. Calcd for C₃₈H₃₀N₂O₁₀: C, 67.65; H, 4.48; N, 4.15. Found: C, 67.34; H, 4.46; N, 3.98. Product **10**: mp 402–404 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.87 (s, 3H), 7.58 (s, 3H), 7.36 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 6H), 7.04 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 6H), 4.03 (s, 9H), 3.95 (s, 9H), 3.31 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 167.5 (3C), 162.2 (3C), 157.4 (3C), 154.0 (3C), 149.7 (3C), 142.5 (3C), 130.7 (6C), 129.0 (3C), 126.3 (3C), 118.5 (3C), 116.0 (6C), 112.5 (3C), 107.9 (3C), 104.2 (3C), 56.3 (6C), 34.5 (3C); ESIMS m/z (rel intensity) 1012 (MH+, 100); IR (film) 2921, 2851, 1722, 1647, 1610, 1501, 1422, 1312, 1267, 1200, 1147, 1053, 1023 cm⁻¹. Anal. Calcd for C₅₇H₄₅N₃O₁₅: C, 67.65; H, 4.48; N, 4.15. Found: C, 67.46; H, 4.32; N, 3.96.

4.5. *cis*-3-(2-Chloro-4,5-methylenedioxyphenyl)-1,2,3,4tetrahydro-6,7-dimethoxy-4-methoxycarbonyl-2,4-dimethyl-1-oxo-isoquinoline (20)

SOCl₂ (1 mL) was added to a stirred solution of acid 17 (10 mg, 0.025 mmol) at room temperature. The resulting mixture was stirred at room temperature for 36 h and then the excess SOCl₂ was evaporated under reduced pressure. The resulting residue was treated with MeOH (5 mL) and the reaction mixture was heated under reflux for 2 h. Methanol was evaporated and the residue was separated by preparative TLC, developing with CHCl₃-MeOH (100:1), yielding compound 20 (2 mg, 18%) and ester 19 (8 mg, 77%). Compound 20 was isolated as a viscous oil that became a white solid upon standing: mp 145–146 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.70 (s, 1H), 6.78 (s, 1H), 6.75 (s, 1H), 6.41 (s, 1H), 5.88 (d, J=1.2 Hz, 1H), 5.86 (d, J=1.2 Hz, 1H), 5.18 (s, 1H), 3.95 (s, 3H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 3.51 (s, 3H), 3.00 (s, 3H), 1.78 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 172.8, 162.7, 152.2, 148.3, 148.2, 147.1, 132.9, 128.4, 125.6, 120.2, 110.4, 109.9, 109.2, 107.7, 102.0, 65.5, 56.1, 52.2, 34.1, 29.7; IR (film) 3451, 2925, 2854, 1736, 1651, 1602, 1508, 1479, 1283, 1237, 1120, 1038, 928, 782 cm⁻¹; ESIMS m/z (rel intensity) 450 (³⁷Cl-MH⁺, 34), 448 (³⁵Cl-MH⁺, 100); HRESIMS *m/z* calcd for 448.1163, found 448.1161.

4.6. Phenylethylidene-*N*-methylamine (24)³³

MeNH₂ (2.0 M in THF, 15 mL, 30 mmol) was added to a stirred solution of acetophenone (**23**) (1.2 g, 10 mmol) in toluene (10 mL) at -10 °C. A solution of TiCl₄ (0.55 mL,

5 mmol) in toluene (2 mL) was then added dropwise to the reaction mixture. The reaction mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature and then heated at 90 °C for 2 h. After cooling to room temperature, the reaction mixture was allowed to stand overnight, filtered, and washed with toluene (100 mL). Evaporation of toluene yielded **24** as a blood-red oil (1.0 g, 76%): ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.71–7.76 (m, 2H), 7.33–7.40 (m, 3H), 3.34 (s, 3H), 2.23 (s, 3H); IR (film) 3057, 2961, 1635, 1445, 1285, 1026, 761, 694; EIMS *m/z* (rel intensity) 133 (MH⁺, 8), 118 (100), 91 (33), 77 (88), 51 (62).

4.7. *cis*-4-Carboxy-1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-2,3-dimethyl-3-phenyl-1-oxo-isoquinoline (18) and *trans*-4-carboxy-1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-2,3-dimethyl-3-phenyl-1-oxoisoquinoline (26)

Homophthalic anhydride (25) (520 mg, 3.2 mmol) was added to a stirred solution of ketimine 24 (427 mg, 3.2 mmol) in CHCl₃ (4 mL) at room temperature. The mixture was heated at reflux for 5 h. CHCl₃ was evaporated and the residue was subjected to flash column chromatography, eluting with CHCl₃ and CHCl₃-MeOH (10:1), yielding acid 18 (150 mg, 16%) and acid 26 (30 mg, 3%). Product **18**: a white solid, mp>200 °C (dec). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.14 (d, J=6.6 Hz, 1H), 7.35–7.45 (m, 4H), 7.07-7.22 (m, 4H), 3.82 (s, 1H), 2.83 (s, 3H), 1.66 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 174.2, 165.9, 140.0, 133.0, 132.1, 128.9, 128.6, 128.5, 128.4 (2C), 128.0, 127.2, 127.0 (2C), 64.9, 58.3, 32.4, 24.0; IR (film) 2983, 1727, 1622, 1575, 1385, 1165, 1028, 760, 703; ESIMS m/z (rel intensity) 296 (MH⁺, 100); HRESIMS m/z calcd for 296.1287, found 296.1281. Product **26**: a white solid, mp>186 $^{\circ}$ C (dec). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.06 (d, J=6.6 Hz, 1H), 7.08– 7.30 (m, 7H), 6.98-7.00 (m, 1H), 4.12 (s, 1H), 3.10 (s, 3H), 1.86 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 173.4, 165.8, 142.7, 132.6, 132.0, 129.2, 128.8 (2C), 128.5 (2C), 127.5, 127.0, 125.3 (2C), 63.0, 57.1, 29.3, 25.4; IR (film) 3406, 2983, 1723, 1626, 1575, 1381, 1218, 1029, 762, 700; ESIMS m/z (rel intensity) 296 (MH⁺, 100); HRESIMS m/z calcd for 296.1287, found 296.1287.

4.8. *trans*-1,2,3,4-Tetrahydro-4-methoxycarbonyl-2,3dimethyl-1-oxo-3-phenylisoquinoline (27) and *cis*-1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-4-methoxycarbonyl-2,3-dimethyl-1oxo-3-phenylisoquinoline (28)

TMSCHN₂ (2.0 M in hexane, 25 µL, 0.044 mmol) was added to a stirred suspension of acid 18 or 26 (10 mg, 0.033 mmol) in MeOH-benzene (1:3.5 mL) at room temperature. The resulting mixture was stirred at room temperature for 30 min and the solution became clear. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the residue was subjected to flash column chromatography, eluting with CHCl3-MeOH (20:1), yielding a white solid (10 mg, 99%). Product 28: a chunk crystal (from n-hexane-EtOAc), mp 174-175 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.10 (dd, J=6.0, 3.3 Hz, 1H), 7.17-7.34 (m, 7H), 7.00 (dd, J=6.0, 3.3 Hz, 1H), 3.75 (s, 1H), 3.14 (s, 3H), 2.77 (s, 3H), 1.58 (s, 3 H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 170.3, 165.6, 140.7, 133.1, 132.0, 128.8, 128.7, 128.5 (3C), 128.0, 127.1, 126.8 (2C), 65.1, 58.5, 52.0, 32.3, 23.9; ESIMS m/z (rel intensity) 310 (MH+, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₉H₁₉NO₃: C, 73.77; H, 6.19; N, 4.53. Found: C, 74.02; H, 6.36; N, 4.39. Summary of X-ray crystal data: $C_{19}H_{11}NO_3$; FW=309.37; a=11.4459(3) Å; b=7.8559(2) Å; c=18.1780(5) Å; $\beta=104.6058(17)^\circ$; vol= 1581.70(7) Å³; monoclinic; space group *P*21/*n*; *Z*=4; crystal size=0.41×0.39×0.35 mm; GOF=1.071; $R(F_o)=0.039$, $Rw(F_o^2)=0.107$. Product **27**: a white solid, mp 153–154 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.10 (td, *J*=6.3, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.12–7.33 (m, 7H), 6.95 (dd, *J*=6.9, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 4.18 (s, 1H), 3.62 (s, 3H), 3.12 (s, 3H), 1.81 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 170.6, 165.5, 142.9, 132.8, 131.8, 129.2, 128.7 (2C), 128.5, 128.3, 127.5, 126.7, 125.4 (2C), 63.3, 57.4, 52.4, 30.4, 24.8; ESIMS *m/z* (rel intensity) 310 (MH⁺, 100); HRESIMS *m/z* calcd for 310.1443, found 310.1444.

4.9. 12-Chloro-5,6,12,13-tetrahydro-6,13-dimethyl-5,11dioxo-11*H*-indeno[1,2-*c*]isoquinoline (29)

The acid 18 (90 mg, 0.3 mmol) was treated with SOCl₂ (2 mL) at room temperature for 36 h. Then the excess SOCl₂ was evaporated to afford a residue, which was immediately dissolved in anhydrous MeOH (2 mL). The mixture was stirred at room temperature for 2 h. MeOH was removed in vacuo and the residue was subjected to flash column chromatography, eluting with *n*-hexane–EtOAc (3:1), yielding ester 28 (87 mg, 92%) and 29 (5 mg, 5%). Product 29: a white solid, mp 158–160 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.11 (d, J=7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.76 (d, J=7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.67 (t, J=7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.59 (t, J=7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.52 (td, J=7.5, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 7.44 (t, J=7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.41 (td, J=7.5, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 3.39 (s, 3H), 1.83 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) § 163.5, 159.1, 142.9, 135.9 (2C), 133.7, 132.8, 131.8, 129.8, 129.6, 128.9, 128.1, 125.1, 123.8, 76.8, 67.1, 30.4, 26.8; ESIMS *m/z* (rel intensity) 312 (³⁵ClMH⁺, 100), $314(^{37}CIMH^+, 31)$; HRESIMS *m/z* calcd for C₁₈H₁₄³⁵CINO₂ 311.0713, found 311.0720.

4.10. 6,7-Dimethoxy-4-methoxycarboxy-*N***-methyl-3**-(3',4'-methylenedioxyphenyl)-1(2*H*)-isoquinolone (32)

n-BuLi (0.16 mL, 2.5 M in hexane, 0.39 mmol) was slowly added to a stirred solution of ester 31 (129 mg, 0.32 mmol) in THF (2 mL) at -78 °C. The resulting solution was then stirred at -78 °C for 15 min and then a solution of methanesulfinyl chloride (32 mg, 0.32 mmol) in THF (0.5 mL) was added. The reaction mixture was stirred at -78 °C for 1 h. The reaction was guenched by slow addition of a saturated solution of NH₄Cl (5 mL) and the product was extracted with CHCl₃ (3×20 mL). The combined organic layers were washed with H_2O (2×5 mL) and brine (2×5 mL). The organic solution was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, filtered, and concentrated. The residue was subjected to flash column chromatography, eluting with CHCl₃, yielding 32 as a light yellow solid (92 mg, 72%), which displayed identical physical data with an authentic sample of 32 obtained differently.15

4.11. (±)-Methyl 2(*R*)-benzyl-2-(*S*)-methanesulfinyl-3-oxo-5-phenylpentanoate (34)

NaHMDS (3.04 mL, 1.0 M in THF, 3.04 mmol) was slowly added to a stirred solution of ester **33** (415 mg, 2.53 mmol) in THF (5 mL) at -78 °C. The resulting solution was then stirred at -78 °C for 30 min when methanesulfinyl chloride

(299 mg, 3.04 mmol) was added. The reaction mixture was then stirred at -78 °C for 1 h. The reaction was quenched by slow addition of H₂O (5 mL) and the product was extracted with EtOAc (3×30 mL). The combined organic layers were washed with H₂O (2×10 mL) and brine (2×10 mL). The organic solution was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, filtered, and concentrated. The residue was subjected to flash column chromatography, eluting with n-hexane-EtOAc (4:1), yielding a white solid 34 as colorless needles (320 mg, 71%): mp 119–120 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.20–7.36 (m. 10H), 3.83 (d, J=13.8 Hz, 1H), 3.71 (s, 1H), 3.46 (d, J=13.8 Hz, 1H), 3.08–3.21 (m, 2H), 2.95–3.03 (m, 2H), 2.41 (s, 3H). Summary of X-ray crystal data: C₂₀H₂₂O₄S; FW= 358.46; a=24.0662(7) Å; b=6.2232(2) Å; c=26.5189(9) Å; $\beta = 111.6340(15)^{\circ}$; vol=3691.9(2) Å³; monoclinic; space group *P*121/*n*1; *Z*=8; crystal size=0.50×0.31×0.13 mm; GOF=1.018; $R(F_0)=0.039$, $Rw(F_0^2)=0.088$. Anal. Calcd for C₂₀H₂₂O₄S: C, 67.01; H, 6.19; S, 8.95. Found: C, 66.74; H, 6.02; O, 8.66.

4.12. Methyl 2,3-diphenyl-propanoate (39)³³

Thionyl chloride (1 mL) was added to acid **38** (116 mg, 0.5 mmol) at room temperature. The mixture was stirred at room temperature for 12 h. Excess thionyl chloride was removed under reduced pressure. The residue was treated with methanol (2 mL) and stirred at room temperature for 2 h. Methanol was removed under reduced pressure giving a colorless oil (120 mg, 100%): ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 6.99–7.20 (m, 10H), 3.75 (dd, *J*=9.0, 6.9 Hz, 1H), 3.45 (s, 3H), 3.31 (dd, *J*=13.8, 8.7 Hz, 1H), 2.91 (dd, *J*=13.8, 6.9 Hz, 1H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 173.6, 138.9, 138.5, 128.8 (2C), 128.5 (2C), 128.2 (2C), 127.8 (2C), 127.3, 126.2, 53.5, 51.8, 39.7.

4.13. X-ray crystallographic data for 28 and 34

Crystallographic data (excluding structure factors) for the compounds **28** and **34** have been deposited with the Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre as supplementary publication numbers CCDC 601047 and 601048, respectively. Copies of the data can be obtained, free of charge, on application to CCDC, 12 Union Road, Cambridge CB2 1EZ, UK [fax: +44 1223 336033 or e-mail: deposit@ccdc.cam.ac.uk].

Acknowledgements

This work was made possible by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) through support of this work with Research Grant UO1 CA89566. This research was conducted in a facility constructed with support from Research Facilities Improvement Program Grant Number C06-14499 from the National Center for Research Resources of the National Institutes of Health.

Supplementary data

ORTEP drawings and crystallographic information files of compounds 28 and 34. ¹H NMR spectra of compounds 9, 10, 20, 27–29, and 39. Supplementary data associated with

this article can be found in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.072.

References and notes

- 1. Cushman, M.; Cheng, L. J. Org. Chem. 1978, 43, 3781-3783.
- Kohlhagen, G.; Paull, K.; Cushman, M.; Nagafuji, P.; Pommier, Y. *Mol. Pharmacol.* **1998**, *54*, 50–58.
- Strumberg, D.; Pommier, Y.; Paull, K.; Jayaraman, M.; Nagafuji, P.; Cushman, M. J. Med. Chem. 1999, 42, 446–457.
- Cushman, M.; Jayaraman, M.; Vroman, J. A.; Fukunaga, A. K.; Fox, B. M.; Kohlhagen, G.; Strumberg, D.; Pommier, Y. *J. Med. Chem.* 2000, *43*, 3688–3698.
- Jayaraman, M.; Fox, B. M.; Hollingshead, M.; Kohlhagen, G.; Pommier, Y.; Cushman, M. J. Med. Chem. 2002, 45, 242–249.
- Nagarajan, M.; Xiao, X.; Antony, S.; Kohlhagen, G.; Pommier, Y.; Cushman, M. J. Med. Chem. 2003, 46, 5712–5724.
- Xiao, X.; Antony, S.; Kohlhagen, G.; Pommier, Y.; Cushman, M. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2004, 12, 5147–5160.
- Xiao, X.; Antony, S.; Kohlhagen, G.; Pommier, Y.; Cushman, M. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 7495–7501.
- Morrell, A.; Antony, S.; Kohlhagen, G.; Pommier, Y.; Cushman, M. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2004, 14, 3659–3663.
- 10. Cushman, M.; Cheng, L. J. Org. Chem. 1978, 43, 286-288.
- Koike, L.; Marsaioli, A. J.; Reis, F. D. M. J. Org. Chem. 1981, 46, 2385–2389.
- 12. Frisch, M. J.; Trucks, G. W.; Schlegel, H. B.; Scuseria, G. E.; Robb, M. A.; Cheeseman, J. R.; Montgomery, J. A., Jr.; Vreven, T.; Kudin, K. N.; Burant, J. C.; Millam, J. M.; Iyengar, S. S.; Tomasi, J.; Barone, V.; Mennucci, B.; Cossi, M.: Scalmani, G.: Rega, N.: Petersson, G. A.: Nakatsuji, H.: Hada, M.; Ehara, M.; Toyota, K.; Fukuda, R.; Hasegawa, J.; Ishida, M.; Nakajima, T.; Honda, Y.; Kitao, O.; Nakai, H.; Klene, M.; Li, X.; Knox, J. E.; Hratchian, H. P.; Cross, J. B.; Adamo, C.; Jaramillo, J.; Gomperts, R.; Stratmann, R. E.; Yazyev, O.; Austin, A. J.; Cammi, R.; Pomelli, C.; Ochterski, J. W.; Ayala, P. Y.; Morokuma, K.; Voth, G. A.; Salvador, P.; Dannenberg, J. J.; Zakrzewski, V. G.; Dapprich, S.; Daniels, A. D.; Strain, M. C.; Farkas, O.; Malick, D. K.; Rabuck, A. D.; Raghavachari, K.; Foresman, J. B.; Ortiz, J. V.; Cui, Q.; Baboul, A. G.; Clifford, S.; Cioslowski, J.; Stefanov, B. B.; Liu, G.; Liashenko, A.; Piskorz, P.; Komaromi, I.; Martin, R. L.; Fox, D. J.; Keith, T.; Al-Laham, M. A.; Peng, C. Y.; Nanayakkara, A.; Challacombe, M.; Gill, P. M. W.; Johnson, B.; Chen, W.; Wong, M. W.; Gonzalez, C.; Pople, J. A. Gaussian 03, Revision B.05 ed; Gaussian: Pittsburgh, PA, 2003.
- Rowan, S. J.; Hamilton, D. G.; Brady, P. A.; Sanders, J. K. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 2578–2579.
- Sinnokrot, M. O.; Valeev, E. F.; Sherrill, C. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 10887–10893.
- 15. Xiao, X.; Cushman, M. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 6496-6498.
- Xiao, X.; Miao, Z.-H.; Antony, S.; Pommier, Y.; Cushman, M. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2005, 15, 2795–2798.
- 17. Weingarten, H.; Chupp, J. P.; White, W. A. J. Org. Chem. 1967, 32, 3246–3249.
- Cushman, M.; Abbaspour, A.; Gupta, Y. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 2873–2879.
- Portugal, J.; Cashman, D. J.; Trent, J. O.; Ferrer-Miralles, N.; Przewloka, T.; Fokt, I.; Priebe, W.; Chaires, J. B. *J. Med. Chem.* 2005, *48*, 8209–8219.
- Youn, J. H.; Herrmann, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1986, 27, 1493– 1494.

- 21. Jones, D. N.; Mundy, D.; Whitehouse, R. D. J. Chem. Soc. D 1970, 86–87.
- Reich, H. J.; Wollowitz, S.; Trend, J. E.; Chow, F.; Wendelborn, D. F. J. Org. Chem. 1978, 43, 1697–1705.
- 23. Davis, F. A.; Jenkins, L. A.; Billmers, R. L. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 1033–1040.
- 24. Ruano, J. L. G.; Tito, A.; Peromingo, M. T. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 981–987.
- 25. Oka, K. Synthesis 1981, 661-687.
- Hammershoi, A.; Hartshorn, R. M.; Sargeson, A. M. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 4525–4530.

- 27. Creary, X.; Tricker, J. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 4907-4911.
- 28. Feng, S. X.; Panetta, C. A.; Graves, D. E. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 612–616.
- 29. Krubsack, A. J.; Higa, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1968, 5149-5152.
- Büchi, G.; Lukas, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1964, 86, 5654– 5658.
- 31. Okumura, Y. J. Org. Chem. 1963, 28, 1075-1079.
- 32. Bartle, K. D.; Edwards, R. L.; Jones, D. W.; Mir, I. J. Chem. Soc. C 1967, 413–419.
- 33. Sano, T.; Horiguchi, Y.; Toda, J.; Imafuku, K.; Tsuda, Y. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **1984**, *32*, 497–503.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9713-9717

Dibromomethane as one-carbon source in organic synthesis: total synthesis of (±)-canadensolide

Yung-Son Hon^{a,b,*} and Cheng-Han Hsieh^a

^aDepartment of Chemistry and Biochemistry, National Chung Cheng University, Chia-Yi 62102, Taiwan, ROC ^bInstitute of Chemistry, Academia Sinica, Nankang, Taipei 11529, Taiwan, ROC

> Received 19 May 2006; revised 20 July 2006; accepted 21 July 2006 Available online 17 August 2006

Abstract—A diastereoselective total synthesis of (\pm) -canadensolide is described. The key step is to introduce the α -methylene group by the ozonolysis of mono-substituted alkenes followed by reaction with a preheated mixture of CH₂Br₂–Et₂NH. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

We have reported that the ozonolysis of mono-substituted alkenes **1** followed by reaction with a preheated mixture of CH₂Br₂–Et₂NH affords α -substituted acroleins **2** in good yields.¹ The α -substituted acroleins **2** were easily oxidized by NaClO₂ and then treated with CH₂N₂ to give α -substituted acrylate **3** in excellent yields (Scheme 1).² This methodology was also applied to prepare the α -methylene lactones with different ring sizes from the corresponding alkenol.³



Scheme 1.

Various bioactive α -methylene- γ -butyrolactones and bislactones have been isolated from microorganisms and some specific examples are shown in Figure 1.⁴ The structures **4–6** contain α -methylene, β -carboxylic acid, and γ -alkyl groups in different chain lengths. Both the β - and γ -substituents are *trans* to each other. We have successfully applied the methodology described in Scheme 1 in the total synthesis of the (\pm)- and (–)-methylenolactocin (**4**).⁴

Naturally occurring bislactones such as canadensolide (7),⁵ xylobovide (8),⁶ and sporothriolide (9)⁷ are metabolites of

Penicillium canadense, Xylaria obovata, and Sporothrix sp., respectively. They are closely related natural products that differ simply in the length of their side chain (Fig. 1). The interest in these compounds lies not only in their significant biological activities but also their unique stereochemical features. The fungicidal activity of canadensolide (7), the phytotoxic activity of xylobovide (8), and the antibacterial, fungicidal, algicidal, and herbicidal activities of sporothriolide (9) are noteworthy. These compounds contain all cis stereochemistry of the three adjacent methine protons and the alkyl substituent is interestingly situated in the sterically less accessible concave face. These structures have received considerable attention as synthetic targets, with several reported total syntheses of canadensolide,^{8,9} xylobovide,¹⁰ and sporothriolide¹¹ appearing in the literature.

In continuation of our interest in the synthetic applications of the α -methylenation methodology in natural product synthesis,⁴ we want to develop a general synthetic pathway, which is applicable to prepare natural products **7–9**. In this article, our effort in the stereoselective total synthesis of canadenso-lide (**7**) will be described.



Figure 1. Natural products with β,γ -disubstituted- α -methylene- γ -butyrolactone moiety and α -methylene-furofurandione moiety.

Keywords: Canadensolide; α -Methylene- γ -butyrolactones; Bislactones; α -Methylenation.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +886 5 2720411x66412; fax: +886 5 2721040; e-mail: cheysh@ccu.edu.tw

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.066
2. Results and discussions

2.1. The retrosynthetic analysis of bislactone-type natural product

The retrosynthetic analysis of bislactone-type natural product **A** is shown in Figure 2. The bislactone **A** should be easily prepared by the bislactonization of the diester **B**. The methyl a preheated mixture of CH_2Br_2 and Et_2NH afforded acrolein **15** in 70% yield. The acrolein **15** was oxidized by sodium chlorite in the presence of a chlorine scavenger (i.e., 2-methyl-2-butene) to give the corresponding acrylic acid, which was subsequently treated with CH_2N_2 to give methyl acrylate **16** in 79% yield. Acid-catalyzed cyclization of methyl acrylate **16** in methanol gave *cis*- β , γ -disubstituted- γ -butyrolactone **17**, which was confirmed by the ¹H NMR



Figure 2. Retrosynthetic analysis of the total synthesis of bislactone natural products.

acrylate **B** should be easily prepared from allylacetate **C** by our methodology as shown in Scheme 1. The stereoselective introduction of the α -stereogenic center of compound **C** from the allylation of the dianion of β -hydroxy ester **D** is a well known procedure in the literature.¹² The *syn*- β hydroxy- γ -alkoxy ester **D** formed from the Lewis acidcatalyzed addition of the silyl enol ether **F** to α -alkoxy aldehyde **E** via chelation-controlled intermediate should be a diastereoselective process (Fig. 2).¹³

2.2. The total synthesis of canadensolide

The readily available α -benzyloxyhexanal (10)¹⁴ undergoes aldol additions with trimethylsilyl ketene acetal 11 catalyzed by TiCl₄ at -78 °C to give the chelation-controlled 1,2asymmetric induction¹³ syn product 12 in 77% yield (Scheme 2). Essentially only one of two possible diastereomers is formed. The allylation of β -hydroxy ester 12 following the procedure of Frater¹² gave the 2,3-*anti*- β -hydroxy ester 13 in 61% yield. The acetylation of the secondary alcohol 13 gave the corresponding acetate 14 in 91% yield. The ozonolysis of terminal olefin 14 followed by addition of of the crude product. However, we found that compound **17** undergoes isomerization to the endocyclic olefin **18** during the silica gel column chromatography. Fortunately, the debenzylation of the crude product **17** with a stoichiometric amount of SnCl_4^{15} was tried and canadensolide (**7**) was isolated in 77% yield for two steps as a white solid. Presumably, the isomerization to the extended conjugated product is a facile process only for the monocyclic compound **17** but not the bicyclic compound **7**.

3. Conclusions

The special features of our synthetic design are described as follows. The relative stereochemistry of γ - and δ -substituents was established by the TiCl₄-catalyzed aldol reaction via chelation-controlled intermediate. The relative stereochemistry of β - and γ -substituents was established by the stereoselective allylation of the dianion of β -hydroxy ester **12**. Furthermore, the α -methylene- γ -butyrolactone moiety was derived from the corresponding terminal alkene by the methodology developed in our laboratory (Fig. 3). We



Scheme 2. Reagents and conditions: (i) TiCl₄, $-78 \degree C$, CH₂Cl₂, 8 h; (ii) (a) 2.2 equiv LDA, $-78 \degree C$, 6 h; (b) H₂C=CHCH₂Br; (iii) Ac₂O, Et₃N, cat. DMAP; (iv) (a) O₃, CH₂Cl₂, $-78 \degree C$; (b) preheated mixture of Et₂NH and CH₂Br₂, 2 h; (v) (a) NaClO₂, *t*-BuOH, NaH₂PO₄·2H₂O, MeCH=CMe₂, 8 h; (b) CH₂N₂; (vi) cat. MeCOCl, MeOH, 24 h; (vii) SnCl₄, CH₂Cl₂, reflux, 2.5 h; (viii) silica gel column chromatography.



Figure 3. Summary of the special features of our natural product synthesis.

complete the total synthesis of canadensolide (7) in nine operation steps in 18% overall yield starting from α -benzyloxy aldehyde **10**.

Our synthetic design should be extendable to the total synthesis of xylobovide (8) and sporothriolide (9) by replacing the α -substituent of compound 10 from *n*-butyl to ethyl and *n*-hexyl, respectively.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

All reactions were carried out under nitrogen. Unless otherwise noted, materials were obtained from commercial suppliers and used without further purification. Melting points were determined by using a Thomas-Hoover melting point apparatus and were uncorrected. The ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on a Bruker Avance DPX400 spectrometer, and chemical shifts were given in parts per million downfield from tetramethylsilane (TMS). IR spectra were taken with a Perkin-Elmer 682 spectrophotometer and only noteworthy absorptions were listed. Mass spectra were measured on a Micromass Trio-2000 GC-MS spectrometer (National Chiao-Tung University) by electronic impact at 70 eV (unless otherwise indicated). High Resolution Mass Spectroscopy (HRMS) was measured on a Finnigan/Thermo Quest MAT (National Chung Hsing University) mass spectrometer. 3-Nitrobenzyl alcohol (NBA) was used as FAB Mass matrix. Compound 10 was prepared by the reported procedure.14

4.2. (3*S**,4*S**)-4-(Benzyloxy)-3-hydroxyoctanoic acid methyl ester (12)

To a mixture of aldehyde **10** (1.2 g, 5.82 mmol) and enol silyl ether **11** (1.02 g, 6.98 mmol) in 23 mL of CH₂Cl₂ was added TiCl₄ (6.4 mmol, 6.4 mL, 1.0 M in CH₂Cl₂) by syringe pump at -78 °C over 1 h. The reaction mixture was warmed to rt and continued to stir for another 8 h. The reaction mixture was neutralized slowly by saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ at 0 °C and extracted with CH₂Cl₂. The organic layer was dried over Na₂SO₄, filtered, and concentrated to give the crude product. The crude product was purified by silica gel column chromatography to give β-hydroxy ester **12** (1.26 g, 4.49 mmol) as a pale yellow oil in 77% yield. *R_f*=0.39 (hexane/EtOAc=5:1); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ 7.28–7.38 (m, 5H, Ph-H), 4.64 (ABq, *J*=11.4 Hz, 1H, $-CH_2$ Ph), 4.08–4.14 (m, 1H, -CHOH), 3.68 (s, 3H, OMe),

3.37 (td, J=6.1 and 4.1 Hz, 1H, -CHOBn), 2.70 (d, J=5.8 Hz, 1H, OH), 2.53–2.55 (m, 2H, -CH₂CO₂Me), 1.32–1.67 (m, 6H), 0.91 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 3H, -CH₂CH₃); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz) δ 172.8, 138.2, 128.3, 127.8, 127.7, 80.8, 72.2, 69.0, 51.6, 38.0, 29.4, 27.6, 22.8, 13.9; IR (thin film, NaCl plates): 3471, 2953, 2930, 2859, 1736, 1455, 1437, 1275, 1170, 1072, 736, 699 cm⁻¹; FAB Mass (*m*/*z*): 281 (M⁺+l, 30), 280 (M⁺, 0.2), 263 (4), 249 (2), 173 (12), 91 (100); HRMS calcd for C₁₆H₂₄O₄: 280.1675, found: 280.1673.

4.3. (2*R**,3*S**,4*S**)-2-Allyl-4-(benzyloxy)-3-hydroxy-octanoic acid methyl ester (13)

n-Butyllithium (4.9 mL, 7.85 mmol, 1.6 M in hexane) was added to a stirring solution of diisopropylamine (1.10 mL, 7.85 mmol) in THF (12 mL) at -78 °C. To the LDA solution, β -hydroxy ester **11** (1.0 g, 3.57 mmol) in 5 mL of THF was added at -78 °C and stirred at this temperature for 1 h. At -78 °C, a mixture of allyl bromide (0.37 mL, 4.27 mmol) and HMPA (1.2 mL) in THF (4.8 mL) was added to the reaction mixture. After stirring at -78 °C for 1 h, the reaction mixture was partitioned between 40% ethyl acetate/petroleum ether and saturated aqueous NH₄Cl. The combined organic phase was dried (Na_2SO_4), concentrated, and chromatographed on silica gel column to afford product 13 (698 mg, 2.44 mmol) in 61% yield as a colorless oil. TLC $R_f = 0.58$ (hexane/EtOAc=5:1). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ 7.29–7.37 (m, 5H, Ph-H), 5.62–5.73 (m, 1H, –CH=CH₂), 5.01–5.07 (m, 2H, -CH=CH₂), 4.66 (ABq, J=11.4 Hz, 1H, -CH₂Ph), 4.42 (ABq, J=11.4 Hz, 1H, -CH₂Ph), 3.70 (ddd, J=9.4, 5.8, and 2.7 Hz, 1H, -CHOH), 3.54 (s. 3H, OMe),3.38 (ddd, J=7.7, 5.2, and 2.6 Hz, 1H, -CHOBn), 2.85 (d, J=9.5 Hz, 1H, OH), 2.64 (dt, J=9.0 and 5.8 Hz, 1H, -CHCO₂Me), 2.22-2.41 (m, 2H, -CH₂CH=CH₂), 1.29-1.64 (m, 6H), 0.91 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 3H, $-CH_2CH_3$); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz) δ 174.8, 138.1, 134.7, 128.4, 127.9, 127.7, 117.2, 79.3, 72.8, 71.5, 51.6, 48.5, 33.8, 29.3, 27.6, 22.9, 14.0; IR (thin film, NaCl plates): 3481, 2953, 2932, 2861, 1736, 1455, 1437, 1267, 1195, 1167, 1069, 916, 734, 699 cm⁻¹; FAB Mass (m/z): 321 (M⁺+l, 31), 320 (M⁺, 0.2), 281 (28), 213 (32), 207 (21), 147 (28), 91 (100), 73 (42); HRMS calcd for C₁₉H₂₈O₄: 320.1988, found: 320.1990.

4.4. (2*R**,3*S**,4*S**)-3-Acetoxy-2-allyl-4-(benzyloxy)octanoic acid methyl ester (14)

To a solution of the alcohol **13** (500 mg, 1.56 mmol), *N*,*N*-dimethylaminopyridine (DMAP, 19.0 mg, 0.156 mmol) and Et₃N (0.26 mL, 1.87 mmol) in 3.1 mL of CH₂Cl₂ was added acetic anhydride (0.17 mL, 1.87 mmol) at rt and stirred for 2 h. The reaction mixture was concentrated and chromatographed on silica gel column to afford the acetate **14** (515 mg, 1.42 mmol) in 91% yield as a pale yellow oil. TLC R_f =0.67 (hexane/EtOAc=3:1). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ 7.28–7.37 (m, 5H, Ph-H), 5.67–5.69 (m, 1H, –CH=CH₂), 5.24 (dd, *J*=8.3 and 3.7 Hz, 1H, –CHOAc), 4.99–5.03 (m, 2H, –CH=CH₂), 4.64 (ABq, *J*=11.7 Hz, 1H, –CHOAc), 3.52 (td, *J*=6.4 and 3.7 Hz, 1H, –CHOBn), 2.96 (td, *J*=8.3 and 6.3 Hz, 1H, –CHCO₂Me), 2.24–2.28 (m, 2H, –CH₂CH=CH₂), 2.03 (s, 3H, –COCH₃), 1.28–1.51

(m, 6H), 0.88 (t, J=7.2 Hz, 3H, $-CH_2CH_3$); ${}^{13}C$ NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz) δ 172.9, 169.9, 138.0, 134.2, 128.3, 127.9, 127.7, 117.3, 77.3, 73.4, 71.7, 51.4, 46.5, 32.8, 29.2, 27.4, 22.6, 20.8, 13.8; IR (thin film, NaCl plates): 2954, 2935, 2871, 1746, 1455, 1436, 1372, 1233, 1169, 1026, 918, 736, 699 cm⁻¹; EI Mass (m/z): 362 (M⁺, 1), 255 (74), 177 (24), 155 (20), 143 (65), 135 (40), 123 (45), 105 (93), 91 (100), 77 (49), 55 (19); HRMS calcd for C₂₁H₃₀O₅: 362.2093, found: 362.2101.

4.5. (2*S**,3*R**,4*R**)-3-Acetoxy-4-(benzyloxy)-2-(1-formylvinyl)octanoic acid methyl ester (15)

A two-necked flask fitted with a glass tube to admit ozone, a CaCl₂ drying tube, and a magnetic stirring bar were charged with terminal alkene 14 (400 mg, 1.10 mmol) in CH_2Cl_2 (20 mL). The flask was cooled to -78 °C and ozone was bubbled through the solution. When the solution turned blue, ozone addition was stopped. Nitrogen was passed through the solution until the blue color was discharged. A mixture of Et₂NH (0.62 mL, 16.7 mmol) and CH₂Br₂ (1.2 mL, 5.6 mmol) was heated to 55 °C for 1.5 h to give a yellow solution and then cooled to rt. To a solution of ozonide in CH₂Cl₂ generated above was added a preheated mixture of Et₂NH and CH₂Br₂ at -78 °C. After the addition, the cooling bath was removed and the reaction mixture was stirred at rt. The reaction was complete in 2.5 h and the reaction mixture was concentrated. To the crude mixture, ether was added and most of the ammonium salts were precipitated out. After filtration, the filtrate was concentrated, chromatographed on the silica gel column to give the desired acrolein 15 (290 mg, 0.77 mmol) in 70% vield as a pale yellow oil; TLC $R_f=0.32$ (hexane/EtOAc=5:1). ^{1}H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ 9.40 (s, 1H, CHO), 7.26–7.35 (m, 5H, Ph-H), 6.59 (s, 1H, -C=CH₂), 6.14 (s, 1H, -C=CH₂), 5.52 (dd, J=8.8 and 3.8 Hz, 1H, -CHOAc), 4.49 (ABq, J=11.5 Hz, 1H, -CH₂Ph), 4.42 (ABq, J=11.5 Hz, 1H, $-CH_2$ Ph), 4.20 (d, J=8.8 Hz, 1H, -CHCO₂Me), 3.64 (s, 3H, OMe), 3.44 (ddd, J=7.2, 5.5, and 3.8 Hz, 1H, -CHOBn), 2.05 (s, 3H, -COCH₃), 1.28-1.49 (m, 6H), 0.87 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 3H, $-CH_2CH_3$); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz) δ 191.9, 170.7, 169.9, 144.2, 137.9, 136.5, 128.2, 127.7, 127.5, 77.8, 72.7, 71.6, 52.1, 43.2, 29.1, 27.5, 22.5, 20.8, 13.8; IR (thin film, NaCl plates): 2955, 2934, 2870, 1747, 1696, 1455, 1435, 1372, 1232, 1168, 1027, 914, 734, 699 cm⁻¹; FAB Mass (*m/z*): 376 $(M^+, 1), 316 (17), 284 (88), 270 (16), 230 (51), 210 (65),$ 199 (81), 177 (90), 157 (98), 139 (91), 125 (95), 109 (22), 91 (100), 65 (84), 55 (27); HRMS calcd for C₂₁H₂₉O₆ (M⁺+1): 377.1964, found: 377.1956.

4.6. (2*R**)-[(1*S**,2*S**)-1-Acetoxy-2-(benzyloxy)hexyl]-**3**-methylenesuccinic acid dimethyl ester (16)

To a solution of acrolein **15** (200 mg, 0.53 mmol), *tert*-butyl alcohol (2.7 mL), and 2-methyl-2-butene (0.18 mL, 111.7 mg, 1.59 mmol) was added dropwise a solution of sodium chlorite (110.7 mg, 1.21 mmol) and sodium dihydrogenphosphate dihydrate (163.7 mg, 1.06 mmol) in 0.8 mL of water. The pale yellow reaction mixture was stirred at rt for 2.5 h. The reaction mixture was concentrated, the residue then dissolved in 1.6 mL of water, and this extracted with 6 mL of hexane. The aqueous layer was acidified to pH 3

with 2 N HCl and extracted with two 5 mL portions of ether. The combined ether layers were washed with 6 mL of water, dried with Na₂SO₄, concentrated to give the crude carboxylic acid. To a solution of α -substituted acrylic acid in 2 mL of CH₂Cl₂ was added a solution of CH₂N₂ in ethyl ether at rt. The progress of the reaction should be monitored carefully by TLC. Excess of the CH₂N₂ will cause further 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition on the double bond. The reaction mixture was concentrated and the residue was chromatographed on silica gel column to give methyl acrylate 16 (171 mg, 0.42 mmol) as a pale vellow oil in 79% vield. TLC $R_f=0.6$ (hexane/EtOAc=3:1). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ 7.27-7.35 (m, 5H, Ph-H), 6.38 (s, 1H, $-C = CH_2$), 5.90 (s, 1H, $-C = CH_2$), 5.59 (dd, J = 9.0 and 3.4 Hz, 1H, -CHOAc), 4.51 (ABq, J=11.5 Hz, 1H, $-CH_2Ph$), 4.41 (ABq, J=11.5 Hz, 1H, $-CH_2Ph$), 4.17 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 1H, -CHCO₂Me), 3.68 (s, 3H, OMe), 3.65 (s, 3H, OMe), 3.49 (td, J=6.4 and 3.4 Hz, 1H, -CHOBn), 2.05 (s, 3H, -COCH₃), 1.28-1.35 (m, 6H), 0.86 (t, J=7.1 Hz, 3H, $-CH_2CH_3$; ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz) δ 171.1, 170.0, 166.0, 138.1, 135.2, 128.8, 128.1, 127.5, 127.4, 77.9, 72.9, 71.6, 52.1, 47.2, 29.0, 27.4, 22.5, 20.8, 13.8; IR (thin film, NaCl plates): 2953, 2932, 2860, 1748, 1455, 1436, 1372, 1229, 1172, 1027, 917, 736, 699 cm⁻¹; EI Mass (m/z): 406 (M⁺, 5), 375 (18); HRMS calcd for C₂₂H₃₀O₇: 406.1992, found: 406.1990.

4.7. (2*R**)-[(1*R**)-1-(Benzyloxy)pentyl]-2,5-dihydro-4-methyl-5-oxofuran-3-carboxylic acid methyl ester (18)

To a mixture of acetoxy-acrylate 16 (40 mg, 0.098 mmol) in 1 mL of MeOH was added a catalytic amount of acetyl chloride (2 µL, 29 µmol) and stirred at rt for 24 h. The reaction mixture was concentrated to give the crude α -methylene- γ -butyrolactone 17. The crude product 17 was chromatographed on silica gel column to give the isomerized product 18 (29.3 mg, 0.088 mmol) in 90% yield as a pale yellow oil. TLC $R_f=0.33$ (hexane/EtOAc=10:1); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ 7.14-7.35 (m, 5H, Ph-H), 5.10-5.11 (m, 1H, CHOCO), 4.50 (ABq, J=11.9 Hz, 1H, -CH₂Ph), 4.27 (ABq, J=11.9 Hz, 1H, $-CH_2$ Ph), 3.89 (td, J=7.0 and 1.7 Hz, 1H, -CHOBn), 3.75 (s, 3H, OMe), 2.16 (d, J=2.0 Hz, 3H, =CCH₃), 1.28–1.49 (m, 6H), 0.92 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 3H, -CH₂CH₃); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz) δ 172.8, 162.6, 144.7, 138.3, 137.8, 128.3, 127.6, 81.9, 76.4, 72.3, 52.2, 31.2, 27.9, 22.6, 13.9, 10.8; IR (thin film, NaCl plates): 2955, 2931, 2862, 1768, 1728, 1455, 1438, 1339, 1225, 1098, 1026, 737, 699 cm⁻¹; EI Mass (m/z): 332 (M⁺, 1), 258 (58), 215 (88), 199 (66), 187 (69), 156 (95), 145 (52), 127 (56), 124 (88), 105 (100), 91 (97), 65 (73), 55 (63); HRMS calcd for C₁₉H₂₄O₅: 332.1624, found: 332.1626.

4.8. $(3aS^*, 6R^*, 6aR^*)$ -6-Butyl-tetrahydro-3-methylenefuro[3,4-*b*]furan-2,4-dione [i.e., (±)-canadensolide] (7)

To a solution of acetoxy-acrylate **16** (40 mg, 0.098 mmol) in 1 mL of MeOH was added a catalytic amount of acetyl chloride (2 μ L, 29 μ mol) and stirred at rt for 24 h. The reaction mixture was neutralized by NaHCO₃, filtered, and the filtrate was concentrated to give the crude α -methylene- γ -butyrolactone **17**. To a solution of the crude product **17** in 2 mL of anhydrous CH₂Cl₂ was added SnCl₄ (0.1 mmol, 0.1 mL,

1 M in CH₂Cl₂) at rt. The solution was refluxed for 2.5 h, and then saturated aqueous NaHCO3 was added at 0 °C. The mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂ and the organic layer was washed with brine and dried over Na₂SO₄. After filtration of the mixture and evaporation of the solvent, the crude product was purified by silica gel column chromatography to afford 15.9 mg of canadensolide (7) as a white solid in 77% yield. TLC $R_f=0.68$ (hexane/EtOAc=1:2), mp 95.3– 96.7 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ 6.47 (d, J=2.0 Hz, 1H, $-C=CH_2$), 5.16 (d, J=1.9 Hz, 1H, $-C=CH_2$), 5.15 (dd, J=6.8 and 4.7 Hz, 1H, -CHOCO), 4.65 (ddd, J=7.6, 6.6, and 4.8 Hz, 1H, -CHOCO), 4.01 (dt, J=6.7 and 2.0 Hz, 1H, -CHCO₂), 1.40-1.90 (m, 6H), 0.94 (t, J=7.2 Hz, 3H, -CH₂CH₃); 13 C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz) δ 172.1, 167.4, 129.9, 127.2, 82.8, 77.2, 46.2, 28.5, 27.5, 22.4, 13.8; IR (thin film, NaCl plates): 2954, 2928, 2858, 1762, 1664, 1464, 1363, 1306, 1269, 1118, 1069, 934, 727 cm⁻¹; EI Mass (m/z): 211 (M⁺+1, 1), 156 (12), 124 (30), 110 (45), 96 (100), 85 (16), 68 (53), 55 (18); HRMS calcd for C₁₁H₁₅O₄ (M⁺+1): 211.0970, found: 211.0975.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to the National Science Council, National Chung Cheng University, and Academia Sinica for financial support.

References and notes

- (a) Hon, Y. S.; Chang, F. J.; Lu, L. *Chem. Commun.* 1994, 2041–2042; (b) Hon, Y. S.; Chang, F. J.; Lu, L.; Lin, W. C. *Tetrahedron* 1998, 54, 5233–5246; (c) Hon, Y. S.; Hsu, T. R.; Chen, C. Y.; Lin, Y. H.; Chang, F. R.; Hsieh, C. H.; Szu, P. H. *Tetrahedron* 2003, 59, 1509–1520.
- 2. Hon, Y. S.; Lin, W. C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 7693-7696.
- Hon, Y. S.; Liu, Y. W.; Hsieh, C. H. Tetrahedron 2004, 60, 4837–4860.
- (a) Hon, Y. S.; Hsieh, C. H.; Liu, Y. W. *Tetrahedron* 2005, 61, 2713–2723 and the references cited therein; (b) Hon, Y. S. *Chemistry (The Chinese Chem. Soc., Taipei)* 1996, 54, 95–102.
- McCorkindale, N. J.; Wright, J. L. C.; Brain, P. W.; Clarke, S. M.; Hutchinson, S. A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1968**, 9, 727–730.
- Abate, D.; Abraham, W. R.; Meyer, H. Phytochemistry 1997, 44, 1443–1448.
- Krohn, K.; Ludewig, K.; Aust, H. J.; Draeger, S.; Schulz, B. J. Antibiot. 1994, 47, 113–118.

- 8. The α -methylenation was the last step in the total synthesis of canadensolide, see: (a) Al-Abed, Y.; Naz, N.; Mootoo, D.; Voelter, W. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 8641-8642; (b) Nubbemeyer, U. Synthesis 1993, 1120-1128; (c) Honda, T.; Kobayashi, Y.; Tsubuki, M. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 1211-1222; (d) Honda, T.; Kobavashi, Y.; Tsubuki, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 4891-4894; (e) Tochtermann, W.; Schroeder, G. R.; Snatzke, G.; Peters, E. M.; Peters, K.; Von Schnering, H. G. Chem. Ber. 1988, 121, 1625-1636; (f) Tsuboi, S.; Muranaka, K.; Sakai, T.; Takeda, A. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 4944-4946; (g) Anderson, R. C.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 4786-4790; (h) Sakai, T.; Yoshida, M.; Kohmoto, S.; Utaka, M.; Takeda, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1982, 23, 5185-5188; (i) Tsuboi, S.; Fujita, H.; Muranaka, K.; Seko, K.; Takeda, A. Chem. Lett. 1982, 51, 1909-1912; (j) Anderson, R. C.; Fraser-Reid, B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1978, 35, 3233-3236; (k) Kato, M.; Kageyama, M.; Tanaka, R.; Kuwahara, K.; Yoshikoshi, A. J. Org. Chem. 1975, 40, 1932-1941.
- The exocyclic methylene group was introduced in the earlier step of the total synthesis of canadensolide, see: (a) Lertvorachon, J.; Thebtaranonth, Y.; Thongpanchang, T.; Thongyoo, P. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 4692–4694; (b) Lertvorachon, J.; Meepowpan, P.; Thebtaranonth, Y. Tetrahedron 2001, 66, 14341–14358; (c) Sharma, G. V. M.; Krishnudu, K.; Rao, S. M. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1995, 6, 543–548; (d) Sharma, G. V. M.; Vepachedu, S. R. Tetrahedron 1991, 47, 519–524; (e) Carlson, R. M.; Oyler, A. R. J. Org. Chem. 1976, 41, 4065–4069.
- The total synthesis of xylobovide, see: Yu, M.; Lynch, V.; Pagenkopf, B. L. Org. Lett. 1998, 54, 2563–2566.
- The total synthesis of sporothriolide and 4-*epi*-ethisolide, see: Sharma, G. V. M.; Krishnudu, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1995**, *36*, 2661–2664.
- (a) Taber, D. F.; You, K. K.; Rheingold, A. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 547–556; (b) Frater, G. Helv. Chim. Acta 1979, 62, 2825–2828.
- (a) Reetz, M. T.; Kesseler, K. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 5436– 5438; (b) Reetz, M. T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1984, 23, 556–569; (c) Reetz, M. T.; Kesseler, K.; Jung, A. Tetrahedron 1984, 40, 4327–4336; (d) Reetz, M. T.; Kesseler, K.; Schmidtberger, S.; Wenderoth, B.; Steinbach, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1983, 22, 989–990.
- Midland, M. M.; Koops, R. W. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 5058– 5065.
- Mukaiyama, T.; Shiina, I.; Iwadare, H.; Saitoh, M.; Nishimura, T.; Ohkawa, N.; Sakoh, H.; Nishimura, K.; Tani, Y.; Hasegawa, M.; Yamada, K.; Saitoh, K. *Chem.—Eur. J.* **1999**, *5*, 121–161.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9718–9725

The synthesis of heterocyclic derivatives from pyran-2-ones and hydrazine hydrate. Ammonium cerium(IV) nitrate as an efficient oxidant in pyridazine chemistry

Franc Požgan, Slovenko Polanc and Marijan Kočevar*

Faculty of Chemistry and Chemical Technology, University of Ljubljana, Aškerčeva 5, SI-1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia

Received 24 April 2006; revised 4 July 2006; accepted 20 July 2006 Available online 10 August 2006

Dedicated to Professor Miha Tišler on the occasion of his 80th birthday

Abstract—A novel reaction of 3-amino-2*H*-pyran-2-ones and their fused derivatives with hydrazine hydrate leading to the corresponding pyridazine derivatives is reported. Further oxidation with ammonium cerium(IV) nitrate (CAN, from Cerium(IV) Ammonium Nitrate) yields a collection of pyridazine-3-carboxylates. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Pyridazines and fused pyridazines are of considerable interest because of their synthetic utility¹ and important pharmacological activities,² many of them related to the cardiovascular system. 1,4-Dihydropyridazine derivatives including their carboxylic esters can be obtained in the cycloaddition reactions of 1,2,4,5-tetrazines with different dienophiles,³ by the reaction of aminocarbonylazoalkenes with β -tricarbonyl compounds,⁴ via the cycloaddition of diazomethane to cyclopropenes,⁵ etc. Since the 1,4-dihydropyridazine system represents an intermediate for aromatized pyridazines, a plethora of inorganic and organic oxidants have been found to readily dehydrogenate dihydropyridazines.^{3c,d,4,5,6} Among them, CAN,⁷ a powerful one-electron oxidant, which has already shown great utility in carboncarbon^{7a} or carbon-heteroatom^{7b} bond-forming reactions, was previously used as a reagent for the cleavage of the hydrazine moiety of carbohydrazides.⁸ Recently, we have also reported on its applicability as an oxidant for 1,4,6,7,8,9hexahydro-5H-pyridazino[4,3-c]azepine-3-carboxylic acid hydrazides in the presence of an alcohol, where both the pyridazine moiety and the carbohydrazido group were successfully oxidized, resulting in the corresponding aromatic pyridazine esters.9 The main advantages of CAN are its experimental simplicity, easy handling, non-toxicity, and solubility in many common organic solvents.

Many transformations of pyran-2-ones with nucleophilic reagents yielding different types of products have been investigated.¹⁰ As part of our continuing interest in the transformations of pyran-2-one derivatives with hydrazine and its derivatives¹¹ we preliminarily reported on a new conversion of pyrano [3,2-c] azepines with hydrazine hydrate into representatives of pyridazino[4,3-c]azepines.^{11e} The presence of a free amino group at position 3 in the starting pyran-2-ones was found to be crucial for the synthesis of pyridazine derivatives, because all other fused pyran-2ones, possessing a benzoyl-protected amino group, led in the reaction with hydrazine hydrate (or its derivatives) to different products: to fused pyridine derivatives,11a,b in some cases the reaction took place at the side group, 11b,d,g,h in other cases β -heteroaryl- α , β -didehydro- α -amino acid derivatives were obtained.^{11c,h,i} In this paper we report on the exploration of the scope and limitations of the reaction starting from a variety of 2H-pyran-2-ones and fused pyran-2-ones, bearing a free amino group at position 3, with hydrazine hydrate into representatives of the pyridazine system, which were further oxidized by CAN toward different types of pyridazines.

2. Results and discussion

In the first stage we examined the preparation of 1,4-dihydropyridazines **2**, containing a fused polymethylene chain, by the reaction of fused pyran-2-ones **1** with hydrazine hydrate (Scheme 1). The reaction of cyclooctene-fused pyran-2-one **1b** with hydrazine hydrate, when using similar conditions to those that we preliminarily applied for the

Keywords: Heterocycles; Pyridazine-3-carbohydrazides; Esters; Dehydrogenation; Oxidation; Ammonium cerium(IV) nitrate.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +386 1 2419230; fax: +386 1 2419220; e-mail: marijan.kocevar@fkkt.uni-lj.si

transformation of pyrano[3,2-*c*]azepines,^{11e} was not complete after 9 h, as indicated by TLC. On the other hand, when the reactions of **1a**,**b** were carried out in boiling hydrazine hydrate, which served as the reagent and as a solvent, pure dihydropyridazine derivatives **2a**,**b** were isolated after a short reaction time (20 min) with good-to-excellent yields (up to 88%).



Scheme 1. Synthesis of cycloalkene-fused pyridazines.

¹H NMR spectra of **2a** and **2b** in DMSO- d_6 solutions revealed that these compounds have the 1,4-dihydropyridazine structure and no trace of any other tautomer was observed. In fact, a characteristic two-proton signal appeared at ~2.85 ppm (A₂ system) for methylene protons at position 4, whereas 1-H protons showed a resonance around 9 ppm. Compounds 2 are sensitive to oxidation from the air in solution, as well as in the crystalline form, and readily transformed into their aromatic analogues 3. Thus, stirring of the compounds **2a.b** for 24 h in methylene chloride (or methanol) at room temperature in the presence of air afforded 3a.b in a quantitative yield, whereas in the crystalline form after 24 h an ~90% aromatization of the compound 2b took place. This transformation can be considerably reduced by storing compounds 2 in an argon atmosphere at low temperature. For example, with the compound 2b, after three months at approximately -30 °C in a closed bottle under argon atmosphere only an approximately 5% conversion into 3b was observed. It has been reported that dihydropyridazines are reactive toward molecular oxygen, normally forming the corresponding aromatic pyridazines;¹² however, in certain cases they gave hydroperoxides and endoperoxides.^{12a} With our compounds, though, we were not able to detect or isolate any other intermediate: only pyridazine derivatives 3 were obtained as the final products. Additionally, we could accelerate the above dehydrogenation by bubbling oxygen into the refluxed mixture of 2b in methanol; in this particular case the reaction was completed within 4 h to give 3b. When bubbling oxygen in the presence of 50 mass % of activated carbon (DARCO[®] KB)¹³ the reaction was finished in 3 h to give quantitatively 3b. Compounds 2 can also be smoothly oxidized with CAN in a methanolic solution to give the pyridazine esters 4 in 85% (4a) and 98% (4b) yields. In the course of this reaction the formation of the ester from the hydrazide is accompanied by a concomitant aromatization of the 1,4dihydropyridazine ring.

In contrast to our previous observation of the behavior of pyrano[3,2-c] azepines in a reaction with hydrazine hydrate,^{11e} the reaction of the isomeric pyrano[2,3-c] azepine derivative **5** with 5 equiv of hydrazine hydrate in boiling ethanol led to the 9a-hydroxypyridazino[3,4-c] azepine derivative **8** with a high yield (Scheme 2).



Scheme 2. Pyrano[2,3-*c*]azepine **5** as a synthon for pyridazino[3,4-*c*]azepines.

The structure of the compound **8** was established on the basis of its NMR spectroscopic data. The two- and three-bond H, C connectivities, obtained from the HMBC measurement, strongly support the 9a-hydroxy-4,4a,5,6,7,8,9,9a-octahydro-1*H*-pyridazino[3,4-*c*]azepine structure; namely, 1-H, 8-H, the methylene protons at position 4 (4-CH_aH_b protons not being chemically and magnetically equivalent), and the hydroxy group correlate with 9a-C (78.7 ppm) in the HMBC spectrum, whereas the 1-H and 4-CH_aH_b protons correlate with 3-C (135.5 ppm), thus revealing an azepinefused pyridazine skeleton and not an open-ring intermediate **7** (or its tautomer) (Fig. 1).

Compound 8 has been found to readily eliminate a water molecule when treated with aqueous HCl in absolute ethanol, thus giving the 4,5,6,7,8,9-hexahydro-1*H*-pyridazino[3,4*c*]azepine derivative 9. Treatment of the compound 8 with 6 equiv of CAN in an alcoholic solution led to the isolation of the fused pyridazine esters 10 in moderate yields (55– 59%). Alternatively, the esters 10 can also be prepared by the oxidation of the compound 9 with CAN, as shown in



Figure 1. A part of the ¹H-¹³C HMBC spectrum of the compound 8.

the case of the methyl ester **10a**. On the basis of the above results we can assume that an acidic medium catalyzes the elimination of a water molecule from the compound **8** during the oxidation with CAN, thus initially giving the 1,4-dihydropyridazine intermediate, which is further dehydrogenated and transformed to the aromatic pyridazine esters **10** as the final products. The described method is very convenient for the preparation of pyridazino[3,4-*c*]azepines for which, to our knowledge, only two representatives have been previously described.¹⁴

Bearing in mind the above results of the fused pyran-2-ones, we decided to focus our attention on studies of the susceptibility of non-fused 2*H*-pyran-2-ones **11** to nucleophilic attack by a hydrazine molecule (Scheme 3, Table 1).



Scheme 3. Reaction of 2H-pyran-2-ones 11 with hydrazine.

Due to the absence of a fused ring in the compounds **11**, after the opening of the lactone ring with hydrazine the formation of a more flexible intermediate might be expected; this might then open up possibilities for different reactions. For example, one might expect that such an open-ring system would not be prone to cyclization, thus allowing an attack of additional hydrazine molecule(s). Indeed, when 6-substituted 2*H*-pyran-2-ones **11a** and **11b** were allowed to react with boiling hydrazine hydrate for 20 min the products **14a** and **14b** were isolated in 76 and 67% yields, respectively. The product **14b** was also accompanied by a small quantity

Table 1. Reaction of 2H-pyran-2-ones 11 with hydrazine

Entry	Starting 11	t	Products (yield, %) ^a
1	11a	20 min ^b	14a (76)
2	11b	20 min ^b	14b (67)+15b (17)
3	11c	22 h ^c	15c $(41)^d$ + 16c $(7)^d$
4	11c	4.5 h ^e	15c $(71)^{d}$

^a Yields of isolated products are given.

^b Hydrazine hydrate used as a solvent.

^c Five equivalents of $N_2H_4 \cdot H_2O$ in ethanol.

^d Yield after isolation by column chromatography.

^e Five equivalents of $N_2H_4 \cdot H_2O$ in butanol.

(17%) of the 1,4-dihydropyridazine derivative 15b. On the other hand, after refluxing the 2H-pyran-2-one 11c in the presence of 5 equiv of hydrazine hydrate using ethanol or butanol as a solvent, we isolated the 1,4-dihydropyridazine derivative 15c, which in ethanol was accompanied by the aromatic pyridazine 16c (entries 3 and 4, Table 1). Compounds 14a,b can easily eliminate a hydrazine molecule, when applying acidic conditions (10 mol % of TsOH in aqueous solution), to give 15a,b in 90 and 71% yields, respectively. Compounds 15 have been found to be sensitive to the oxygen in air. For example, if **15b** was stirred in methylene chloride for 24 h at room temperature, a conversion into the aromatic pyridazine 16b was observed in more than 95% (according to the ¹H NMR spectrum). On the other hand, 1,4-dihydropyridazine 15c was found to be more resistant toward such oxidation in air; 72-h-stirring of its methanolic solution at room temperature resulted only in negligible formation of the aromatic analogue 16c (as indicated by TLC). Aromatization was successfully accomplished by 7-h-bubbling of oxygen into the refluxed mixture of 15c and 50 mass % of activated carbon (DARCO[®] KB) in methanol. For comparison, in the absence of activated carbon, but just bubbling oxygen into the refluxed mixture for 10 h, a conversion of about 40% of 15c took place.

The structures of the compounds 14 were determined on the basis of microanalyses, mass spectra, and NMR data. The mass spectra of the compounds 14a and 14b only showed peaks after the elimination of a hydrazine molecule $(MH^+-N_2H_4 \text{ or } M^+-N_2H_4)$, thus indicating that they contain in their structure a labile hydrazine moiety. In the HMBC spectrum of the compound 14a, the *ortho* protons of the phenyl group and the 2-H correlate with the 6-C of the pyridazine ring, thus supporting the 2,3,4,5-tetrahydropyridazine structure (Fig. 2).

Additionally, it has been reported previously that the imine fragments of 2,3,4,5-tetrahydro-3-pyridazine carboxylic acid derivatives show characteristic signals at $\delta_C \approx 140 \text{ ppm.}^{15}$ This is in agreement with our observation for the compound **14a**, where the resonance signal for 6-C appears at 140.9 ppm. Furthermore, the 2-H as well as the methylene protons at positions 4 and 5 of the pyridazine



Figure 2. A part of the ¹H-¹³C HMBC spectrum of the compound 14a.

ring in compound **14a** correlate with the 3-C. This carbon atom shows a resonance at 71.9 ppm, which is consistent with the chemical shift of a quaternary sp^3 carbon atom deshielded by the neighboring heteroatoms.¹⁶

The formation of the products 14 and 15 from 11 might be explained as follows. We assume that after the opening of the lactone ring of the 2*H*-pyran-2-ones 11 with hydrazine, yielding the intermediate 12, the attack of two additional hydrazine molecules at the electrophilic C==O and C==N groups of 12 takes place, thus leading to the α , δ -dihydrazono-hydrazide derivative 13 as an intermediate. Furthermore, compounds 14 could be formed from 13 by the cyclization of the amino group of the δ -hydrazone moiety with the C==N group of α -hydrazone. After the elimination of a hydrazine molecule from 14 the dihydropyridazine 15 is finally formed in a 1,4-dihydro tautomeric form.

To demonstrate the utility of the compounds 14 and 15, we treated them with 6–8 equiv of CAN in the presence of methanol and, after isolation by extraction, pyridazine-3-carboxylic esters 17a-c were obtained as the sole products in a 79–93% yield (Table 2). It is obvious that an oxidation of the hydrazide function was accompanied by an acid-catalyzed elimination of hydrazine from compounds 14 (as mentioned above), and the dehydrogenation of a 1,4-di-hydropyridazine ring.

In all the above transformations with CAN a 1,4-dihydropyridazine ring was dehydrogenated in addition to the oxidation of the carbohydrazide moiety. The latter reaction toward the corresponding esters proceeds probably via acyl diimides as intermediates and eventually also via the formation of the acyl cation as discussed previously.⁸

On the other hand, to our knowledge, the oxidation of the 1,4-dihydropyridazine ring has not yet been rationalized. It seems reasonable to propose a tentative pathway related to those depicted for oxidations of 1,4-dihydropyridines.¹⁷ Oxidation of a 1,4-dihydropyridazine **18** with CAN is presumably initiated by a single electron transfer to Ce(IV) generating a resonance stabilized radical cation **19** (Scheme 4), which then loses a proton to give a stabilized radical **20**. In the subsequent oxidation the protonated pyridazine **21** is

Table 2. Oxidation of compounds 14 and 15 with CAN in the presence of methanol



Starting 14 or 15	Product (yield, %) ^b
14a	17a (93) ^c
14b	17b (89) ^c
15b	17b $(84)^d$
15c	17c (79) ^d
	Starting 14 or 15 14a 14b 15b 15c

^a Reaction time after the addition of the entire amount of compound **14** or **15** to the mixture of CAN in methanol.

^b Yields of isolated products are given.

^c Eight equivalents of CAN used.

^d Six equivalents of CAN used.

produced and further transformed to the aromatized derivative **22**.



Scheme 4. Dehydrogenation of the 1,4-dihydropyridazine ring with Ce(IV).

3. Conclusion

We have presented a new transformation of a variety of 2*H*-pyran-2-ones and fused pyran-2-ones with hydrazine hydrate into the corresponding 1,4-dihydropyridazine derivatives. We found that different pyran-2-ones required different reaction conditions for successful transformation to the pyridazine system. We have also shown that CAN is able to serve as a very useful oxidant for the carbohydrazide moiety as well as for the dehydrogenation of the 1,4-di-hydropyridazine ring. Since it was previously shown that representatives of 2,3,4,5-tetrahydropyridazine-3-carboxylic acids and their derivatives possess a variety of biological activities,^{2,15} the reported method and transformation might be of interest for the further design of similar novel compounds.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

Compounds 1 and 11 were prepared from 3-benzoylaminosubstituted pyran-2-one derivatives by a known method.^{18,19} Compound 5 was prepared as described in the literature.^{11d} All other reagents and solvents were used as obtained from commercial suppliers. Melting points are uncorrected. ¹H NMR spectra were recorded at 29 °C using TMS as an internal standard. ¹³C NMR spectra are referenced against the central line of DMSO- d_6 at δ =39.5 ppm and CDCl₃ at δ =77.0 ppm. TLC was carried out on silica-gel TLC cards. Column chromatography was carried out with silica-gel 60 (220–440 mesh).

4.2. General procedure for the preparation of pyridazines 2a,b, 14a,b, and 15b

A mixture of $1a,b^{18}$ or $11a,b^{18}$ (2 mmol) and hydrazine hydrate (1.5 g, 98%, 29.36 mmol) was refluxed for 20 min and then evaporated under reduced pressure. A mixture of water/ methanol (5:1) (3 mL) in the case of 2a or water (3 mL) in the case of 2b was added to the residue. Upon cooling, the precipitated yellow solid was filtered off and washed with

a small amount of water to give 2a (or 2b). For 14a,b, methanol (3 mL) was added to the residue, and upon cooling the white solid product 14a,b was filtered off. After the separation of 14a the filtrate was concentrated to 50% of its volume under reduced pressure to give an additional quantity of 14a. The filtrate after the filtration of 14b was evaporated to dryness, and diethyl ether (1.5 mL) was added to the residue. Upon cooling, a yellow solid 15b was filtered off.

4.3. General procedure for the preparation of pyridazines 8, 15c, and 16c

A mixture of 5^{11d} or $11c^{18}$ (2 mmol), hydrazine hydrate (511 mg, 98%, 10 mmol), and absolute ethanol (8 mL) was refluxed for 5 h (for 8) or for 22 h (for 15c/16c). For the preparation of pure 15c the solution of 11c and hydrazine hydrate in butanol (8 mL) was refluxed for 4.5 h. The solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure. For 8, methanol (4 mL) was added to the solid residue and, upon cooling, a white solid was filtered off and washed with a small amount of methanol. For the separation of the mixture 15c/16c column chromatography (ethyl acetate/MeOH 25:1) of the solid residue was applied. For the isolation of pure 15c (in the case where butanol was used as a solvent) column chromatography (ethyl acetate/MeOH 25:1) was applied.

4.4. Transformation of 8 to 9

A mixture of **8** (241 mg, 1 mmol), aqueous hydrochloric acid (200 mg, 9%), and absolute ethanol (5 mL) was refluxed for 0.5 h. The reaction mixture was evaporated, water (5 mL) was added to the residue and the mixture was neutralized with solid NaHCO₃. Upon cooling, the precipitate was filtered off and washed with water to give **9** (203 mg, 91%) as a yellow solid.

4.5. Transformation of 14 to 15

A mixture of **14a,b** (1 mmol), *p*-toluenesulfonic acid (19 mg, 0.1 mmol), and water (3 mL) was refluxed for 15 min. Upon cooling, the precipitate was collected by filtration and washed with a small amount of water, affording **15a,b** as yellow solids. Yields: **15a** (194 mg, 90%), **15b** (139 mg, 71%).

4.6. Aromatization of 1,4-dihydropyridazine derivatives 2 and 15

A solution of **2** or **15b** (1 mmol) in MeOH or CH_2Cl_2 (4 mL) was stirred at room temperature in the presence of air for 24 h. The solvent was evaporated in vacuo to afford **3** in a quantitative yield. In the case of **15b**, over 95% conversion to **16b** occurred as indicated on the basis of ¹H NMR spectrum of the crude product. By bubbling oxygen into the refluxed mixture of **15c** (50 mg, 0.216 mmol) and activated charcoal DARCO[®] KB (Aldrich) (25 mg) in methanol (4 mL) for 7 h a complete conversion to **16c** was observed.

4.7. General procedure for the oxidation of the pyridazine derivatives 2, 8, 9, 14, and 15 with CAN

To a stirred mixture of CAN (6–8 mmol; see Schemes 1 and 2, and Table 2) in methanol (10–15 mL) at room temperature

2, **8**, **9**, **14** or **15** (1 mmol) was added over a period of 10–20 min. The stirring was continued for 0.25–0.5 h, then the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure, the solid residue was treated with water (10 mL), and the aqueous mixture was extracted with methylene chloride (6×10 mL). The collected organic layers were dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄ and evaporated to give **4**, **10** or **17**. In the case of **4a**, further purification by column chromatography (CHCl₃/ MeOH 25:1) was applied.

4.8. Analytical and spectroscopic data of products

4.8.1. 4,5,6,7,8,9-Hexahydro-1*H*-cyclohepta[*c*]pyridazine-3-carbohydrazide (2a). Mp 80–84 °C (MeOH/H₂O). IR (KBr): 3376, 2918, 1648, 1608, 1504 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 1.47 (m, 4H), 1.63 (m, 2H), 1.99 (m, 2H), 2.12 (m, 2H), 2.86 (s, 2H), 4.20 (s, 2H), 8.74 (s, 1H), 8.96 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 25.5, 26.3, 26.9, 28.9, 30.8, 32.3, 103.0, 131.6, 135.5, 164.5. EI-MS: *m*/*z* (%) 208 (M⁺, 15), 192 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₀H₁₆N₄O: C, 57.67; H, 7.74; N, 26.90. Found: C, 57.69; H, 8.01; N, 27.25.

4.8.2. 1,4,5,6,7,8,9,10-Octahydrocycloocta[*c*]**pyridazine-3-carbohydrazide** (**2b**). Mp 93–94 °C (MeOH/H₂O). IR (KBr): 3356, 2920, 2849, 1626, 1497 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 1.44 (m, 8H), 2.03 (m, 2H), 2.15 (m, 2H), 2.83 (s, 2H), 4.20 (s, 2H), 8.74 (s, 1H), 9.04 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 24.3, 25.8, 25.9, 26.0, 27.2, 28.9, 29.1, 100.6, 131.4, 133.0, 164.6. EI-MS: *m*/*z* (%) 222 (M⁺, 15), 206 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₁H₁₈N₄O: C, 59.44; H, 8.16; N, 25.20. Found: C, 59.64; H, 8.34; N, 25.50.

4.8.3. 6,7,8,9-Tetrahydro-5*H***-cyclohepta[***c***]pyridazine-3carbohydrazide (3a). Mp 172.8–173.4 °C (EtOAc). IR (KBr): 3307, 3256, 3206, 2935, 2923, 2854, 1682, 1668, 1632, 1585, 1501 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-***d***₆): \delta 1.63 (m, 4H), 1.84 (m, 2H), 2.90 (m, 2H), 3.24 (m, 2H), 4.64 (s, 2H), 7.88 (s, 1H), 10.23 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, DMSO-***d***₆): \delta 25.9, 26.7, 31.3, 33.4, 35.8, 124.4, 143.8, 151.7, 161.7, 166.7. EI-MS:** *m/z* **(%) 206 (M⁺, 99.5), 148 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₀H₁₄N₄O: C, 58.24; H, 6.84; N, 27.16. Found: C, 58.54; H, 7.00; N, 26.89.**

4.8.4. 5,6,7,8,9,10-Hexahydrocycloocta[*c*]**pyridazine-3-carbohydrazide (3b).** Mp 168–171 °C (EtOAc). IR (KBr): 3310, 3248, 3202, 2931, 2858, 1679, 1631, 1505 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 1.31 (m, 4H), 1.73 (m, 4H), 2.87 (m, 2H), 3.16 (m, 2H), 4.69 (br s, 2H), 7.91 (s, 1H), 10.22 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 25.1, 25.2, 30.0, 30.5, 30.9, 31.6, 124.7, 142.1, 151.6, 161.7, 165.3. EI-MS: *m*/*z* (%) 220 (M⁺, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₁H₁₆N₄O: C, 59.98; H, 7.32; N, 25.44. Found: C, 59.94; H, 7.56; N, 25.60.

4.8.5. Methyl 6,7,8,9-tetrahydro-5*H*-cyclohepta[*c*]pyridazine-3-carboxylate (4a). Mp 58.5–59.2 °C (Et₂O). IR (KBr): 3045, 2920, 2848, 1729 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 1.65 (m, 4H), 1.86 (m, 2H), 2.90 (m, 2H), 3.26 (m, 2H), 3.94 (s, 3H), 7.97 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 25.8, 26.5, 31.3, 33.2, 35.9, 52.6, 126.7, 143.4, 150.0, 164.5, 167.5. EI-MS: *m/z* (%)

206 (M⁺, 18), 148 (100). Anal. Calcd for $C_{11}H_{14}N_2O_2$: C, 64.06; H, 6.84; N, 13.58. Found: C, 64.31; H, 7.01; N, 13.41.

4.8.6. Methyl 5,6,7,8,9,10-hexahydrocycloocta[*c*]pyridazine-3-carboxylate (4b). Mp 60–62 °C (Et₂O). IR (KBr): 2940, 2911, 2859, 1715 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 1.31 (m, 4H), 1.73 (m, 4H), 2.87 (m, 2H), 3.19 (m, 2H), 3.94 (s, 3H), 8.00 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 25.0, 25.2, 29.8, 30.4, 30.8, 31.7, 52.6, 127.1, 141.7, 149.8, 164.5, 166.1. EI-MS: *m*/*z* (%) 220 (M⁺, 30), 162 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₂H₁₆N₂O₂: C, 65.43; H, 7.32; N, 12.72. Found: C, 65.18; H, 7.53; N, 13.01.

4.8.7. 9a-Hydroxy-9-oxo-4,4a,5,6,7,8,9,9a-octahydro-1*H*-pyridazino[3,4-*c*]azepine-3-carbohydrazide (8). Mp 166–169 °C (MeOH/DMF). IR (KBr): 3318 br, 1678, 1656, 1616, 1507 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 1.24 (m, 1H), 1.38 (m, 1H), 1.64 (m, 1H), 1.79 (m, 3H), 2.56 (dd, *J*=17.3, 4.7 Hz, 1H), 2.95 (m, 1H), 3.42 (m, 1H), 4.16 (br s, 2H), 6.24 (s, 1H), 7.72 (s, 1H), 8.05 (dd, *J*=ca. 3.7 and 7.6 Hz, 1H), 8.77 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 24.3, 28.9, 31.4, 31.9, 41.0, 78.7, 135.5, 163.9, 172.7. EI-MS: *m/z* (%) 241 (M⁺, 30), 163 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₉H₁₅N₅O: C, 44.81; H, 6.37; N, 29.03. Found: C, 45.06; H, 6.43; N, 29.32.

4.8.8. 9-Oxo-4,5,6,7,8,9-hexahydro-1*H*-pyridazino[3,4*c*]azepine-3-carbohydrazide (9). Mp 196–198 °C (MeOH/ DMF). IR (KBr): 3392, 3333, 3317, 3291, 3212, 1659, 1640 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 1.82 (m, 2H), 2.34 (m, 2H), 2.90 (s, 2H), 3.09 (m, 2H), 4.27 (s, 2H), 8.15 (dd, $J_1 \approx J_2 \approx 5.0$ Hz, 1H), 8.92 (s, 1H), 9.02 (br s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 27.1, 27.7, 33.1, 40.2, 113.6, 127.5, 132.5, 163.2, 164.2. EI-MS: *m/z* (%) 223 (M⁺, 29), 163 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₉H₁₃N₅O₂: C, 48.42; H, 5.87; N, 31.37. Found: C, 48.42; H, 6.16; N, 31.66.

4.8.9. Methyl 9-oxo-6,7,8,9-tetrahydro-5*H*-pyridazino[3,4-*c*]azepine-3-carboxylate (10a). Mp 206–208 °C (EtOH). IR (KBr): 3196, 3075, 1742, 1665, 1584 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 1.93 (m, 2H), 2.92 (m, 4H), 3.98 (s, 3H), 8.24 (s, 1H), 8.63 (dd, $J_1 \approx J_2 \approx 5.7$ Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 27.0, 28.3, 37.4, 53.0, 127.9, 138.9, 151.4, 158.3, 164.0, 166.5. EI-MS: *m*/*z* (%): 221 (M⁺, 27), 163 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₀H₁₁N₃O₃: C, 54.29; H, 5.01; N, 19.00. Found: C, 54.36; H, 5.18; N, 19.16.

4.8.10. Ethyl 9-oxo-6,7,8,9-tetrahydro-5*H*-pyridazino[3,4-*c*]azepine-3-carboxylate (10b). Mp 210–212 °C (EtOH). IR (KBr): 3200, 3090, 2931, 1720, 1668 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 1.39 (t, *J*=7.1 Hz, 3H), 1.95 (m, 2H), 2.93 (m, 4H), 4.46 (q, *J*=7.1 Hz, 2H), 8.23 (s, 1H), 8.64 (dd, $J_1 \approx J_2 \approx 5.9$ Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 14.0, 27.0, 28.3, 37.5, 61.9, 127.8, 138.9, 151.5, 158.3, 163.5, 166.5. EI-MS: *m/z* (%) 235 (M⁺, 4), 163 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₁H₁₃N₃O₃: C, 56.16; H, 5.57; N, 17.86. Found: C, 56.03; H, 5.74; N, 17.94.

4.8.11. 3-Hydrazino-6-phenyl-2,3,4,5-tetrahydropyridazine-3-carbohydrazide (14a). Mp 108–111 °C (pyridine). IR (KBr): 3306, 3264, 3164, 1667, 1603, 1498 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO- d_6): δ 1.90 (m, 2H), 2.50 (m, 2H), 3.31 (br s, 2H), 4.10 (br s, 1H), 4.26 (br s, 2H), 7.29 (m, 4H), 7.62 (m, 2H), 9.03 (br s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, DMSO- d_6): δ 19.5, 24.9, 71.9, 123.9, 127.2, 128.0, 138.3, 140.9, 171.2. FABMS: m/z (%) 217 (MH⁺-N₂H₄, 52), 185 (100). HRMS (EI) calcd for C₁₁H₁₂N₄O (M⁺-N₂H₄) 216.1011, found 216.1017. Anal. Calcd for C₁₁H₁₆N₆O: C, 53.21; H, 6.50; N, 33.85. Found: C, 53.49; H, 6.68; N, 33.54.

4.8.12. 6-*tert*-**Butyl-3**-hydrazino-2,3,4,5-tetrahydropyridazine-3-carbohydrazide (14b). Mp 108–109 °C (pyridine). IR (KBr): 3305, 3267, 3170, 2962, 1666, 1608, 1507 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 1.02 (s, 9H), 1.67 (m, 2H), 2.07 (m, 2H), 3.20 (br s, 2H), 3.93 (br s, 1H), 4.21 (br s, 2H), 6.44 (s, 1H), 8.91 (br s, 1H). FABMS: *m/z* (%) 197 (MH⁺-N₂H₄). HRMS (EI) calcd for C₉H₁₆N₄O (M⁺-N₂H₄) 196.1324, found 196.1330. Anal. Calcd for C₉H₂₀N₆O: C, 47.35; H, 8.83; N, 36.81. Found: C, 47.09; H, 8.83; N, 37.10.

4.8.13. 6-Phenyl-1,4-dihydropyridazine-3-carbohydrazide (15a). Mp 162–164 °C (EtOAc/MeOH). IR (KBr): 3368, 3318, 3203, 1670, 1653, 1628, 1506 cm^{-1.} ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO- d_6): δ 3.06 (d, J=3.9 Hz, 2H), 4.31 (s, 2H), 4.89 (dt, J=2.3, 3.9 Hz, 1H), 7.38 (m, 3H), 7.50 (m, 2H), 8.93 (s, 1H), 9.75 (d, J=2.3 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, DMSO- d_6): δ 21.1, 92.0, 125.3, 128.3, 128.4, 132.8, 133.8, 138.5, 164.0. EI-MS: m/z (%) 216 (M⁺, 26), 200 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₁H₁₂N₄O: C, 61.10; H, 5.59; N, 25.91. Found: C, 61.09; H, 5.79; N, 25.62.

4.8.14. 6-*tert*-Butyl-1,4-dihydropyridazine-3-carbohydrazide (15b). Mp 144–146.5 °C (EtOAc/light petroleum). IR (KBr): 3391, 3372, 3304, 3274, 3205, 2961, 1672, 1621, 1499 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 1.07 (s, 9H), 2.85 (d, *J*=3.6 Hz, 2H), 4.24 (br s, 2H), 4.30 (dt, *J*=2.6, 3.6 Hz, 1H), 8.72 (s, 1H), 9.17 (d, *J*=2.6 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 20.6, 27.9, 32.6, 87.0, 132.0, 147.0, 164.2. EI-MS: *m/z* (%) 196 (M⁺, 33), 180 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₉H₁₆N₄O: C, 55.08; H, 8.22; N, 28.55. Found: C, 54.95; H, 8.45; N, 28.80.

4.8.15. 4-Methyl-6-(pyridin-2-yl)-1,4-dihydropyridazine-3-carbohydrazide (15c). Mp 130–132.5 °C (EtOAc/light petroleum). IR (KBr): 3385, 3314, 3202, 1660, 1634, 1594 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 0.96 (d, *J*=6.5 Hz, 3H), 3.60 (dq, *J*=6.5, 6.5 Hz, 1H), 4.32 (s, 2H), 5.71 (dd, *J*=2.2, 6.5 Hz, 1H), 7.37 (ddd, *J*=1.4, 4.9, 7.0 Hz, 1H), 7.80 (ddd, *J*=1.4, 1.4, 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.85 (ddd, *J*=1.8, 7.0, 7.6 Hz, 1H), 8.57 (ddd, *J*=1.4, 1.8, 4.9 Hz, 1H), 9.00 (s, 1H), 9.71 (d, *J*=2.2 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 19.5, 24.8, 100.4, 119.1, 123.3, 135.8, 137.1, 137.2, 148.4, 149.8, 163.5. EI-MS: *m/z* (%) 231 (M⁺, 36), 216 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₁H₁₃N₅O: C, 57.13; H, 5.67; N, 30.28. Found: C, 57.20; H, 5.69; N, 29.91.

4.8.16. 6*-tert*-**Butylpyridazine-3**-**carbohydrazide** (16b). Mp 109–111 °C (Et₂O). IR (KBr): 3387, 3325, 2962, 1671, 1601, 1515 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 1.42 (s, 9H), 4.68 (br s, 2H), 7.96 (d, *J*=8.9 Hz, 1H), 8.08 (d, J=8.9 Hz, 1H), 10.30 (br s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, DMSO- d_6): δ 29.6, 36.9, 124.7, 125.3, 151.1, 161.6, 171.2. EI-MS: m/z (%) 194 (M⁺, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₉H₁₄N₄O: C, 55.65; H, 7.27; N, 28.85. Found: C, 55.83; H, 7.42; N, 28.85.

4.8.17. 4-Methyl-6-(pyridin-2-yl)pyridazine-3-carbohydrazide (16c). Mp 177.5–180 °C (MeOH). IR (KBr): 3314 br, 1661, 1626, 1580, 1503 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO- d_6): δ 2.56 (d, J=1 Hz, 3H), 4.69 (s, 2H), 7.59 (ddd, J=1.1, 4.8, 7.7 Hz, 1H), 8.05 (ddd, J=1.8, 7.7, 7.9 Hz, 1H), 8.47 (q, J=1 Hz, 1H), 8.57 (ddd, J=1.1, 1.1, 7.9 Hz, 1H), 8.78 (ddd, J=1.1, 1.8, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 10.06 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, DMSO- d_6): δ 18.1, 121.3, 125.3, 126.2, 137.7, 138.1, 149.7, 152.4, 154.9, 157.7, 163.8. EI-MS: m/z (%) 229 (M⁺, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₁H₁₁N₅O: C, 57.63; H, 4.84; N, 30.55. Found: C, 57.91; H, 5.04; N, 30.24.

4.8.18. Methyl 6-phenylpyridazine-3-carboxylate (17a). Mp 194–197 °C (MeOH/H₂O). IR (KBr): 3062, 2952, 1717, 1575, 1442, 1409 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 4.10 (s, 3H), 7.56 (m, 3H), 8.00 (d, *J*=8.9 Hz, 1H), 8.17 (m, 2H), 8.24 (d, *J*=8.9 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 53.2, 123.9, 127.6, 128.0, 129.2, 130.9, 135.4, 150.0, 160.7, 164.7. EI-MS: *m/z* (%) 214 (M⁺, 45), 156 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₂H₁₀N₂O₂: C, 67.28; H, 4.71; N, 13.08. Found: C, 67.15; H, 4.84; N, 12.88.

4.8.19. Methyl 6-*tert*-butylpyridazine-3-carboxylate (17b). Mp 115–116.5 °C (MeOH/H₂O). IR (KBr): 2963, 1721, 1576, 1448, 1359, 1298 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 1.42 (s, 9H), 3.97 (s, 3H), 7.98 (d, *J*=8.9 Hz, 1H), 8.14 (d, *J*=8.9 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 29.5, 37.0, 52.7, 124.3, 127.7, 149.4, 164.3, 171.9. EI-MS: *m*/*z* (%) 194 (M⁺, 15), 152 (100). HRMS calcd for C₁₀H₁₄N₂O₂ 194.1055, found 194.1060. Anal. Calcd for C₁₀H₁₄N₂O₂: C, 61.84; H, 7.27; N, 14.42. Found: C, 61.56; H, 7.39; N, 14.85.

4.8.20. Methyl 4-methyl-6-(pyridin-2-yl)pyridazine-3carboxylate (17c). Mp 106.5–108 °C (EtOAc/light petroleum). IR (KBr): 1719, 1579, 1441, 1379 cm^{-1.} ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO- d_6): δ 2.58 (d, J=0.8 Hz, 3H), 3.99 (s, 3H), 7.60 (ddd, J=1.1, 4.8, 7.7 Hz, 1H), 8.07 (ddd, J=1.8, 7.7, 7.9 Hz, 1H), 8.53 (q, J=ca. 0.8 Hz, 1H), 8.60 (ddd, J=1.1, 1.1, 7.9 Hz, 1H), 8.79 (ddd, J=1.1, 1.8, 4.8 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, DMSO- d_6): δ 18.5, 52.7, 121.6, 125.5, 126.3, 137.7, 139.2, 149.8, 152.0, 152.5, 158.1, 165.2. EI-MS: m/z (%) 229 (M⁺, 35), 171 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₂H₁₁N₃O₂: C, 62.87; H, 4.84; N, 18.33. Found: C, 62.66; H, 5.02; N, 18.25.

Acknowledgements

We thank the Ministry of Higher Education, Science, and Technology of the Republic of Slovenia as well as the Slovenian Research Agency for financial support (P1-0230-0103). Dr. B. Kralj and Dr. D. Žigon (Center for Mass Spectroscopy, 'Jožef Stefan' Institute, Ljubljana, Slovenia) are gratefully acknowledged for mass measurements.

References and notes

- 1. (a) Coates, W. J. Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry II: Pyridazines and their Benzo Derivatives; Katritzky, A. R., Rees, C. W., Scriven, E. F. V., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1996; Vol. 6, pp 1-91; (b) Kolar, P.; Tišler, M. Adv. Heterocycl. Chem. 1999, 75, 167-241; (c) Mátyus, P.; Maes, B. U. W.; Riedl, Z.; Hajós, G.; Lemière, G. L. F.; Tapolcsánvi, P.; Monsieurs, K.: Éliás, O.: Dommisse, R. A.: Kraisovszky, G. Synlett 2004, 1123-1139; (d) Haider, N.; Holzer, W. Science of Synthesis; Yamamoto, Y., Ed.; Thieme: Stuttgart, 2004; Vol. 16, pp 125-249; (e) Haider, N.; Holzer, W. Science of Synthesis; Yamamoto, Y., Ed.; Thieme: Stuttgart, 2004; Vol. 16, pp 251-313; (f) Groziak, M. P. Progress in Heterocyclic Chemistry; Gribble, G. W., Joule, J. A., Eds.; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 2004; Vol. 16, pp 347-384; (g) Groziak, M. P. Progress in Heterocyclic Chemistry; Gribble, G. W., Joule, J. A., Eds.; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 2005; Vol. 17, pp 304-336.
- (a) Heinisch, G.; Kopelent-Frank, H. Progress in Medicinal Chemistry: Pharmacologically Active Pyridazine Derivatives. Part 2; Ellis, G. P., Luscombe, D. K., Eds.; Elsevier Science B.V.: Amsterdam, 1992; Vol. 29, pp 141–183; (b) Gelain, A. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 2005, 42, 395–400.
- (a) Avram, M.; Dinulescu, I. G.; Marica, E.; Nenitzescu, C. D. *Chem. Ber.* 1962, 95, 2248–2253; (b) Kotschy, A.; Novák, Z.; Vincze, Z.; Smith, D. M.; Hajós, G. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1999, 40, 6313–6316; (c) Balci, M.; Saraçoğlu, N.; Menzek, A. *J. Org. Chem.* 2003, 68, 7009–7015; (d) González-Gómez, J. C.; Santana, L.; Uriarte, E. *Tetrahedron* 2005, 61, 4805–4810.
- Attanasi, O. A.; Filippone, P.; Fiorucci, C.; Foresti, E.; Mantellini, F. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 9880–9887.
- Razin, V. V.; Yakovlev, M. E.; Shataev, K. V.; Selivanov, S. I. Russ. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 40, 1027–1032.
- (a) Seitz, G.; Kämpchen, T.; Overheu, W. Arch. Pharm. 1978, 311, 786–795; (b) Stetter, H.; Jonas, F. Chem. Ber. 1981, 114, 564–580; (c) Ban, T.; Nagai, K.; Miyamoto, Y.; Harano, K.; Yasuda, M.; Kanematsu, K. J. Org. Chem. 1982, 47, 110– 116; (d) Heinisch, G.; Waglechner, R. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1984, 21, 1727–1731; (e) Hoferichter, R.; Seitz, G.; Waßmuth, H. Chem. Ber. 1989, 122, 711–714; (f) Pippich, S.; Bartsch, H. Heterocycles 1996, 43, 1967–1979; (g) Klindert, T.; Seitz, G. Synth. Commun. 1996, 26, 2587–2596; (h) Görlitzer, K.; Behrje, H. Pharmazie 1996, 51, 528–536.
- (a) Nair, V.; Mathew, J.; Prabhakaran, J. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **1997**, 26, 127–132; (b) Nair, V.; Panicker, S. B.; Nair, L. G.; George, T. G.; Augustine, A. *Synlett* **2003**, 156–165; (c) Dhakshinamoorthy, A. *Synlett* **2005**, 3014–3015.
- Štefane, B.; Kočevar, M.; Polanc, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1999, 40, 4429–4432.
- Požgan, F.; Polanc, S.; Kočevar, M. Synthesis 2003, 2349– 2352.
- (a) Ellis, G. P. Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry: Pyrans and Fused Pyrans: (ii) Reactivity; Katritzky, A. R., Rees, C. W., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1984; Vol. 3, pp 647–736; (b) Ram, V. J.; Srivastava, P. Curr. Org. Chem. 2001, 5, 571–599; (c) Hepworth, J. D.; Heron, B. M. Progress in Heterocyclic Chemistry; Gribble, G. W., Joule, J. A., Eds.; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 2005; Vol. 17, pp 33–62.
- For selected examples, see: (a) Kočevar, M.; Polanc, S.; Tišler, M.; Verček, B. *Heterocycles* 1990, *30*, 227–230; (b) Trebše, P.; Polanc, S.; Kočevar, M.; Šolmajer, T.; Golič Grdadolnik, S. *Tetrahedron* 1997, *53*, 1383–1390; (c) Vraničar, L.; Polanc,

S.; Kočevar, M. *Tetrahedron* 1999, 55, 271–278; (d) Trebše, P.;
Vraničar, L.; Mušič, I.; Polanc, S.; Stevens, W. C.; Kočevar, M. *Heterocycles* 2000, 53, 1111–1120; (e) Kafka, S.; Trebše, P.;
Polanc, S.; Kočevar, M. *Synlett* 2000, 254–256; (f) Ješelnik,
M.; Varma, R. S.; Polanc, S.; Kočevar, M. *Chem. Commun.* 2001, 1716–1717; (g) Ješelnik, M.; Varma, R. S.; Polanc, S.;
Kočevar, M. *Green Chem.* 2002, 4, 35–38; (h) Vraničar, L.;
Meden, A.; Polanc, S.; Kočevar, M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2002, 675–681; (i) Vraničar, L.; Požgan, F.; Polanc, S.; Kočevar, M. Amino Acids 2003, 24, 273–280.

- (a) Satish, S.; Mitra, A.; George, M. V. *Tetrahedron* 1979, *35*, 277–285;
 (b) Baker, J.; Hedges, W.; Timberlake, J. W.; Trefonas, L. M. *J. Heterocycl. Chem.* 1983, *20*, 855–859;
 (c) Baumann, L.; Seitz, G. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1991, *32*, 5949–5952.
- Nakamichi, N.; Kawashita, Y.; Hayashi, M. Synthesis 2004, 1015–1020.
- Berger, U.; Dannhardt, G.; Obergrusberger, R. Arch. Pharm. 1982, 315, 428–437.

- (a) Hughes, P.; Clardy, J. J. Org. Chem. **1989**, *54*, 3260–3264;
 (b) Aspinall, I. H.; Cowley, P. M.; Mitchell, G.; Raynor, C. M.; Stoodley, R. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 **1999**, 2591–2599.
- Ceraulo, L.; Lamartina, L.; Migliara, O.; Petruso, S.; Sprio, V. *Heterocycles* 1983, 20, 551–556.
- (a) Mashraqui, S. H.; Karnik, M. A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 4895–4898;
 (b) Varma, R. S.; Kumar, D. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, *40*, 21–24.
- 18. Starting compounds **1a** and **1b** were prepared from the corresponding ketones (cycloheptanone and cyclooctanone), *N*,*N*-dimethylformamide dimethyl acetal, and hippuric acid by a modification of the method described in Ref. 19a, followed by the removal of the benzoylamino group using the method described in Ref. 19b. 3-Amino-2*H*-pyran-2-ones **11** were prepared from previously known 3-benzoylamino-2*H*-pyran-2-ones by the known method.^{19b}
- (a) Kepe, V.; Kočevar, M.; Polanc, S. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1996, 33, 1707–1710; (b) Kočevar, M. Acta Chim. Slov. 1996, 43, 143–152.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9726-9734

Regioselective dehydrogenation of 3,4-dihydropyrimidin-2(1*H*)-ones mediated by ceric ammonium nitrate

P. Shanmugam and P. T. Perumal*

Organic Chemistry Division, Central Leather Research Institute, Chennai 600 020, Tamilnadu, India

Received 13 April 2006; revised 4 July 2006; accepted 20 July 2006 Available online 17 August 2006

Abstract—Ceric ammonium nitrate (CAN) has been explored for the regioselective oxidation of 3,4-dihydropyrimidin-2(1*H*)-ones (DHPMs). Interestingly, we obtained ethyl 2,4-dioxo-6-phenyl-tetrahydropyrimidin-5-carboxylates as the major products during the oxidation of DHPMs by CAN/AcOH at 80 °C. The reaction afforded a mixture of products while employing CAN in organic solvents without additives. However, the regioselective dehydrogenated product, ethyl 6-methyl-4-aryl(alkyl)-pyrimidin-2(1*H*)-one-5-carboxylate was obtained by performing the reaction with NaHCO₃. The single crystal X-ray crystallography of ethyl 6-methyl-4-(2-phenyl)-pyrimidin-2(1*H*)-one-5-carboxylate revealed that the oxidized product existed in amidic form rather than aromatized enol form of pyrimidines. The efficiency of the present protocol enabled the synthesis of structurally diverse pyrimidines in moderate to good yields under milder reaction conditions. (© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The pyrimidine core possesses potential biological applications.^{1a,b} The pyrimidine derivative MKC-442 is already in clinical trials and similar compounds are expected to inhibit the HIV virus.^{1c} A series of pyrazolo[1,5-*a*]pyrimidines derivatives were shown to be potent and orally active corticotropin-releasing factor receptor antagonists.^{1d} Nucleosides containing the 5-substituted pyrimidine moiety have been demonstrated to inhibit growth of murine mammary carcinoma and HIV virus.² Pyrimidine based molecules with extended π -systems exhibited interesting fluorescent properties.^{3a} Kang et al. employed readily accessible multifunctionalized pyrimidine templates for diversity-oriented synthesis.^{3b}

Recently, various protocols have been utilized for the synthesis of pyrimidines.⁴ The synthesis of pyrimidin-2(1*H*)ones by oxidation of DHPMs (Scheme 1) has rarely been explored.^{5a} Unlike a large number of oxidizing agents available for achieving nearly quantitative transformation of Hantzsch dihydropyridine (DHPs) to pyridine,^{5b,c} the regioselective oxidation of DHPMs is not easy.^{5a} A few available literature procedures required large volumes of highly acidic and corrosive reagents or multistep strategies.^{6a,7a–c} CuCl₂/ TBHP/K₂CO₃^{7d} and Jone's reagent^{7e} were employed for the above conversion, but they failed to yield the desired regioselective products for oxidatively sensitive functionalities. Consequently, it is of interest to synthesize structurally diverse pyrimidines by oxidizing DHPMs under mild conditions.



Scheme 1. Oxidation of DHPMs into pyrimidin-2(1H)-ones.

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Screening oxidants for the regioselective oxidation of DHPMs

It is well known that DHPMs are structurally similar to DHPs.^{5a} Oxidants^{8a-j} that efficiently convert the DHPs into pyridine were screened for the conversion of 3,4-dihydropyrimidin-2(1*H*)-ones to pyrimidin-2(1*H*)-ones. But DHPMs are highly stable toward powerful oxidants such as PCC, MnO₂, KMnO₄ adsorbed on clay, chloranil, DDQ, Pd/C, and sodium nitrate in acetic acid.^{6a} In addition we found that MTO,^{8c} RuCl₃ (5 mol %)/O₂ in AcOH (room temperature),^{8d} Br₂,^{8e} sulfur,^{8g} FeCl₃ (in CH₃OH and CH₂Cl₂ under room temperature and reflux),⁸ⁱ FeCl₃/AcOH (room temperature), and FeCl₃/AcOH/H₂O (1:1, room temperature) were inefficient to dehydrogenate **1a**. Concd HNO₃,^{8a} MnO₂,^{8b}

Keywords: Oxidation; Pyrimidines; 3,4-Dihydropyrimidin-2(1*H*)-ones; Ceric ammonium nitrate.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +91 44 24911386; fax: +91 44 24911589; e-mail: ptperumal@hotmail.com

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.063

Bi(NO₃)₃, FeCl₃, IBX,^{8j} and CAN^{8h} afforded **2a** with moderate selectivity. Among them CAN was found to be selective and its application in organic synthesis is promising (Fig. 1).⁹ FeCl₃ and CAN furnished reasonable amount of 2,4-dioxo-6-phenyl-tetrahydropyrimidin-5-carboxylates as well (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Screening of oxidants for the conversion of **1a** to **2a**. ^aIsolated yield. ^bThe stoichiometry of oxidants was employed as used in literature for 1,4-dihydropyridine. ^{8a-j} And **3a** was formed in 21, 30, 10, and 33% yields, respectively, for the corresponding oxidants CAN+CH₃COCH₃, FeCl₃+acetonitrile, FeCl₃+heat+MWI, and CAN+AcOH+Ac₂O.

2.2. Synthesis of 2,4-dioxo-6-phenyl-tetrahydropyrimidin-5-carboxylates

Initially, AcOH was chosen as solvent because it dissolved DHPMs completely and is widely employed during the oxidation of DHPs.^{8d,f,i,10} The addition of CAN to a stirred solution of **1a** in acetic acid did not afford the expected dehydrogenated product at ambient temperature (Scheme 2). However, the reaction furnished an unstable salt of acetic acid and **1a** in solution and was decomposed to **1a** during the workup. The trifluoroacetate salt of 4-anisyl-DHPM was trapped and characterized by NMR in solution. Ce(IV)'s inability to dehydrogenate **1a** in AcOH at room temperature might be due to coordination of **1a** with acetic acid.



Scheme 2. CAN mediated oxidation of DHPMs in AcOH.

Serendipitously, an unusual oxidation–dealkylation product, **3a**, ethyl 2,4-dioxo-6-phenyl-tetrahydropyrimidin-5-carboxylate, formed at 80 °C (Scheme 2). The ¹H NMR spectrum of product (**3a**) showed two new peaks with an integration of one proton each between 10 and 12 ppm. The characteristic peaks corresponding to NH(3), CH(4), and 6-methyl protons of the starting material (**1a**) (δ 8.9, 5.2, and 2.3 ppm, respectively) were absent. The *m*/*z* value of products **3a–i** is the same as DHPMs.

Therefore, an X-ray structure of **3g** was further needed to confirm the structure of the product (Fig. 2).¹¹ Since **3a** exhibited structural resemblance with anti-HIV agents, ^{1c,2} **1b–i** have been subjected to typical oxidation and the reactions afforded **3b–i** in reasonable yields (Table 1).



Figure 2. XRD structure of 3g, ORTEP diagram.

Table 1. Oxidation of DHPM mediated by CAN in AcOH

$ \begin{array}{c} O & Ar \\ 3 & 3 \\ R^2 & 5 \\ & 5 \\ & 6 \\ & 6 \\ & R^1 \end{array} $	5 equiv CAN AcOH F Ar, 80 °C	$\begin{array}{c} O & Ar \\ & 6 \\ R^2 & NH 1 \\ O & N \\ & 0 \\ R^1 \end{array}$
1 (a-i)		3 (a-i)

Product	Ar	R^1	R ²	Time (h)	Yield (%) ^a
3a	C ₆ H ₅	Н	OEt	1.5	61
3b	3-NO ₂ -C ₆ H ₄	Me	OEt	1.5	65
3c	2-NO ₂ -C ₆ H ₄	Н	OEt	1.0	55
3d	3-NO ₂ -C ₆ H ₄	Н	OEt	1.0	57
3e	4-Cl-C ₆ H ₄	Н	OEt	2.0	68
3f	1-Naphthyl	Н	OEt	2.0	65
3g	4-Cl-C ₆ H ₄	Me	OEt	1.0	62
3h	2,4-Cl ₂ -C ₆ H ₃	Н	Ph	2.5	63
3i	$4-\text{MeO-C}_6\text{H}_4$	Н	OEt	1.5	68

^a The reaction was conducted using 1 mmol of DHPM and 5 mmol of CAN in 7 mL of acetic acid at 80 °C.

2.3. Trapping of 1i as trifluoroacetate salt

To confirm the formation of a salt in acetic acid, we have dissolved **1i** in trifluoroacetic acid and a small amount of TMS was added to the solution. The ¹H NMR spectrum of **5** in solution showed that the CH(4) of the product has been shifted 0.5 ppm to downfield. The quaternary N(3) of **5** has no redox reaction with Ce^{4+} due to the unavailability of the N(3) lone pair electrons. This might be the reason that stirring with CAN in acetic acid at room temperature did not yield the expected product. The complex was labile at higher temperature and yielded **3i** at 80 °C.

Independently prepared 2i has been converted into the corresponding tetrahydropyrimidin-2,4(1*H*,3*H*)-dione 3i at room temperature mediated by CAN/AcOH confirming the protonation of 1i (Scheme 3).



Scheme 3. Trapping of 1i as trifluoroacetate salt in solution.

2.4. Mechanistic considerations

The mechanism of dehydrogenation mediated by Ce^{4+} expected to be the same as that of dihydropyridine.¹² But the dealkylation of 6-methyl pyrimidin-2(1*H*)-ones, **2** to **3** was uncertain; however, it was believed to proceed through nitrolic acid intermediate and hydrolysis of the same produced **3a**–i.^{7b} We have proposed a tentative mechanism for the formation of products (Scheme 4).



Scheme 4. Mechanistic outlines for the formation of 3a-i.

Despite the oxidation of **1a** to **3a** by CAN/AcOH, the regioselective oxidation to **2a** was not achieved. The following conditions (Scheme 5) were additionally screened to obtain **2a** exclusively but the formation of **3a** was inevitable. To our interest, the reaction mixture was acidic (pH=2) after addition of CAN in aqueous acetone. The decomposition of CAN during oxidation might generate nitric acid and a similar kind of observation has recently been reported in literature for high acidity of solution.¹³ Presumably, as with CAN/ AcOH, the acidic medium has facilitated the conversion of **2a** into **3a**.



Scheme 5. CAN mediated oxidation of DHPMs.

2.5. Regioselective oxidation of DHPMs

To oxidize DHPMs regioselectively, we have demonstrated a new procedure herein using NaHCO₃ as buffering agent at -5 to 0 °C under Ar atmosphere. In a typical example, addition of CAN (3 equiv) to a mixture of **1a** and NaHCO₃ (5 equiv) suspended in acetone under inert atmosphere at ice-cold conditions followed by stirring the reaction mixture at ambient temperature for 1 h afforded **2a**.⁶

This methodology has been successfully employed to electron rich and deficient substrates (2c, 2k, 2m, 2o, and 2i) with satisfactory yields (Table 2). In addition, this methodology was found to be successful for higher homologues of aryl groups of DHPM to form 2j and 2l. The ¹H NMR spectrum of the product showed the absence of CH(4) and NH(3) peaks. The identity of C-4, C-6, and substituted aromatic

Table 2. Regioselective oxidation of DHPM mediated by CAN



Product	R ³	\mathbb{R}^2	R^1	Time (h)	Yield (%) ^{a,b}
2a	C ₆ H ₅	OEt	Н	1	83 ⁶
2j	4-Biphenyl	OEt	Н	1.5	79
2k	2-Cl-C ₆ H ₄	OEt	Н	1	85
2c	2-NO2-C6H4	OEt	Н	1	80
21	3-HO-C ₆ H ₄	OEt	Н	1	81
2m	4-MeO-C ₆ H ₄	OMe	Н	1.5	83
2n	C ₆ H ₅	OEt	Me	0.5	85 ⁷⁶
20	4-MeO-C ₆ H ₄	OEt	Me	3	69
2i	4-MeO-C ₆ H ₄	OEt	Н	1	81

^a The reaction was conducted using 1 mmol of DHPM, 3 mmol of CAN, and 5 mmol of NaHCO₃ in 10 mL of acetone at -5 to 0 °C.

' Isolated yield.

carbons (asterisks) of **2a**, **2c**, **2i** and **2j–2m** was difficult to locate in the ¹³C NMR spectrum due to tautomerization of NH(1) to N(3) in solution (Fig. 3a and b).^{7b} N(1)-Alkyl substituted pyrimidin-2(1*H*)-ones, **2n** and **2o**, have no tautomerization in solution (Fig. 3c) and the ¹³C NMR spectrum contained all peaks. The X-ray structure of **2k**¹⁴ has confirmed that CONH group existed as amide form in solid state unlike reported as enol form (Fig. 4).^{7d}



Figure 3. Tautomerism of pyrimidines in solution.



Figure 4. XRD structure of 2k, ORTEP diagram.

2.6. Synthesis of structurally diverse pyrimidines

To prove the mildness and efficacy of the procedure, we have subjected 4-alkyl DHPM (Table 3, entry 1) to the typical reaction conditions and the corresponding pyrimidin-2(1H)-one **4a** was obtained in good yield. It is noteworthy to mention here that other method furnished a lower yield or the dealkylated product.^{5c,7d,e} The current procedure did not affect the Ph- and CF₃-groups at C-6 of DHPM (entries 2 and 3).^{7d} Furthermore, highly regioselective dehydrogenation was achieved by subjecting 6-bromomethylene DHPM to the typical oxidation procedure (entry 4).

Notably, N(3)-acylated DHPM afforded the typical 3,4-dehydrogenated product 2c (entry 5). DHPMs bearing bulky aryl groups furnished the corresponding oxidized products in reasonable yields (entries 6 and 7). Cyclohexane-fused and indenone-fused DHPMs yielded 4g and 4h (entries 8 and 9) in a short span of time. Oxidation of bisaryl DHPM (1y) under CAN in AcOH medium resulted in 4i.

In conclusion, the highly regioselective oxidation did not affect sensitive or bulky aryl or alkyl pendant groups of pyrimidin-2(1*H*)-ones. Pyrimidines with extensive π -conjugation, **2j**, **4b**, **4e**, **4f**, **4h**, and **4i**, may be used for the preparation of photonic materials.^{3a} The unexpected formation of **3a**–**i** deserves further investigation.

Table 3. Synthesis of structurally diverse pyrimidines, 4a–i and 2c via CAN mediated oxidation of DHPMs at different conditions

Entry	Reactant	Time (h)	Product (yield) ^{a,b}
1	C_2H_5O H_5O H_7O H_7O H_7O H_7O H_7O H_7O H_7O	2	C_2H_5O H_5O $H_4a(82)$
2	$C_{2}H_{5}O \xrightarrow{\text{O} \text{Ar}} NH$ $R \xrightarrow{\text{N}} O$ H $Ar = MeOC_{6}H_{4}, R = Ph$ $1q$	4	$\begin{array}{c} O & Ar \\ C_2H_5O & & \\ R & N \\ H \\ \end{array}$
3	$C_{2}H_{5}O \xrightarrow{Ar}_{NH} NH$ $R \xrightarrow{N}_{H}O$ $Ar = MeOC_{6}H_{4}, R = CF_{3}$ $1r$	4	$C_{2}H_{5}O \xrightarrow{Ar} N$ $R \xrightarrow{N} O$ $4c(76)$
4	C_2H_5O Br NH H 1s	2	$C_{2}H_{5}O$ Br H H H H H H H H
5	C_2H_5O N H N H N O N O N O N O N O O N O O N O O O N O O O O O O O O O O	3	$C_2H_5O \xrightarrow[H]{} NO_2$ NO_2
6	$C_{2}H_{5}O$ NH NH $N-N$ R $R = H$ $1u$	6	C_2H_5O Ar R R 4e(71)
7	Ar = R = Me 1v	6	4f (65)
8	$\begin{array}{c} O \\ X \\ Y \\ -X - Y - CH_2 - (CMe_2) - CH_2 \\ 1w \end{array}$	1	0 Ph N X. Y N H 4g(61)

Table 3. (continued)



^a Isolated yield.

^b The reaction was conducted using 1 mmol of DHPM, 3 mmol of CAN, and 5 mmol of NaHCO₃ in 10 mL of acetone at -5 to 0 °C.

^c The reaction was conducted using 1 mmol of DHPM and 10 mmol of CAN in 15 mL of acetic acid at 80 °C.

3. Experimental

3.1. General introduction

Melting points were determined in open capillary tubes and were uncorrected. IR measurements were carried out using KBr pellets in FTIR. The ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded in 500, 400, and 300 MHz high-resolution NMR spectrometers with TMS as an internal standard. All NMR spectra of pyrimidin-2(1*H*)-ones were recorded in CDCl₃. ¹H NMR of 4-anisylpyrimidinonium acetate (**5**) was recorded by dissolving ethyl 4-anisylpyrimidin-2(1*H*)-one-5-carboxylate in trifluoroacetic acid using TMS as an internal standard. Mass spectra were obtained in EI ionization mode at 70 eV. TLC was performed on precoated Polygram sheets. Column chromatography was carried out using 100–200 mesh silica gel or flash-column with 200–400 mesh silica gel.

3.2. Experimental procedure for the synthesis of **3,4-dihydropyrimidin-2**(1*H*)-ones

All the DHPMs needed for oxidation were prepared by using reported procedure and purified through column chromatography before subjecting to dehydrogenation. The column purified samples furnished better yields over re-crystallized DHPMs. Ethyl 6-bromomethylene-4-phenyl-pyrimidin-2(1H)-one-5-carboxylate (1s) was prepared by the addition of Br₂ in CHCl₃ to the stirred solution of ethyl 6-methyl-4-phenylpyrimidin-2(1*H*)-one-5-carboxylate at 0 °C. The DHPMs (1q, 1r, 1w, and 1x) were prepared by reported procedures. ¹⁵ 4-Pyrazolyl 3,4-dihydropyrimidin-2(1H)-ones (1u)^{15c} were prepared by pyrazole aldehyde (1 mmol), ethyl acetoacetate (1.2 mmol), urea (1.2 mmol), and phosphotungstic acid (0.1 mmol) in methanol at reflux conditions. N(3)-Acetyl-4-(2-nitrophenyl)-3,4-dihydropyrimidin-2(1H)one-5-carboxylate ester (1t) was prepared by stirring the reaction of corresponding DHPM in acetic anhydride in an oil bath for 2 h at 120 °C and re-crystallized in ethanol. Bis-DHPM (1y) was prepared using classical Biginelli conditions involving 1 mmol of terephthalaldehyde, 3 mmol of urea, and 5 mmol of ethyl acetoacetate at reflux in acidified ethanol.15a-d

3.3. Experimental procedure for oxidation of 3,4-dihydropyrimidin-2(1*H*)-ones

3.3.1. Optimization of oxidation of DHPMs by various oxidants. The regioselective oxidation of ethyl 6-methyl-4-phenyl-3,4-dihydropyrimidin-2(1H)-one-5-carboxylate, **1a** was optimized by employing various oxidants and experimental procedure was strictly followed as described for the oxidation of dihydropyridine.^{8a-j}

3.3.2. Oxidation of DHPM by CAN in acetic acid (3a-i). Ethyl 2,4-dioxo-6-phenyl-tetrahydropyrimidin-5-carboxylate (3a): a 50 mL round bottom flask containing magnetic bar was charged with 1a (1 mmol, 0.260 g) and acetic acid (7 mL). To this solution, ceric ammonium nitrate (5 mmol, 2.740 g) was added in one portion. The solution was stirred at 80 °C for appropriate time (Table 2) until TLC showed the complete disappearance of 1a. Then the reaction mixture was poured into crushed ice, neutralized with NaHCO₃, and extracted with CHCl₃ (3×20 mL). The organic extracts were pooled up, washed with brine solution, dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and concentrated in vacuum to afford 0.230 g of 3a as crude product. The column purification of crude product using 1:1 petroleum ether and ethyl acetate vielded 0.160 g of 3a as colorless crystalline solid. The same procedure was followed for preparation of 4i except 10 mmol of CAN was employed.

3.3.2.1. Ethyl 2,4-dioxo-6-phenyl-1,2,3,4-tetrahydropyrimidin-5-carboxylate (3a). Mp: 224–226 °C. IR (KBr): 1236, 1420, 1600, 1630, 1675, 1705, 3257, 3340 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: δ 0.83 (t, *J*=6.9 Hz, 3H), 3.87 (q, *J*=6.9 Hz, 2H), 7.40 (d, *J*=6.9 Hz, 2H), 7.45 (doublet of triplet, *J*=1.6 and 6.9 Hz, 2H), 7.50 (doublet of triplet, *J*=7.6 and 2.2 Hz, 1H), 11.42 (s, 1H, D₂O-exchangeable), 11.46 (s, 1H, D₂O-exchangeable). ¹³C NMR: δ 13.4, 60.5, 106.5, 127.6, 128.4, 130.6, 131.5, 150.2, 153.5, 161.1, 163.9. EIMS (*m*/*z*): 260 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₃H₁₂N₂O₄: C, 60.00; H, 4.65; N, 10.76. Found: C, 59.93; H, 4.61; N, 10.82.

3.3.2.2. Ethyl **2,4-dioxo-3-methyl-6-(3-nitrophenyl)**-**1,2,3,4-tetrahydropyrimidin-5-carboxylate** (**3b**). Mp: 234–237 °C. IR (KBr): 1232, 1415, 1607, 1635, 1670, 1702, 3255 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: δ 0.86 (t, J=6.9 Hz, 3H), 3.16 (s, 3H), 3.89 (q, J=6.9 Hz, 2H, CH₃CH₂), 7.40 (d, J=8.6 Hz, 1H), 7.51 (doublet of triplet, J=1.7 and 6.9 Hz, 2H), 7.9 (d, J=8.6 Hz, 1H), 11.77 (s, 1H, D₂O-exchangeable). ¹³C NMR: δ 14.0, 27.4, 61.4, 106.6, 129.1, 129.3, 130.3, 131.7, 136.1, 138.3, 151.2, 160.8, 164.4, 167.0. EIMS (m/z): 319 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₄H₁₃N₃O₆: C, 52.67; H, 4.10; N, 13.16. Found: C, 52.58; H, 4.03; N, 13.21.

3.3.2.3. Ethyl 2,4-dioxo-6-(2-nitrophenyl)-1,2,3,4-tetrahydropyrimidin-5-carboxylate (3c). Mp: 230–233 °C. IR (KBr): 1234, 1425, 1605, 1634, 1670, 1705, 3257, 3340 cm^{-1.} ¹H NMR: δ 0.71 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 3H, *CH*₃CH₂), 3.71 (q, *J*=7.5 Hz, 2H, CH₃CH₂), 7.59 (doublet of doublet, *J*=1.2 and 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.75 (doublet of triplet, *J*=8.6 and 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.83 (doublet of triplet, *J*=1.2 and 7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.85 (doublet of doublet, *J*=1.1 and 8.0 Hz, 1H), 11.55 (s, 1H, D₂O-exchangeable), 11.71 (s, 1H, D₂Oexchangeable). ¹³C NMR: δ 13.9, 60.7, 105.4, 125.0, 128.2, 130.9, 132.1, 135.2, 146.9, 150.5, 155.0, 161.2, 163.2. EIMS (m/z): 305 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₃H₁₁N₃O₆: C, 51.15; H, 3.63; N, 13.77. Found: C, 51.19; H, 3.61; N, 13.69.

3.3.2.4. Ethyl **2,4-dioxo-6-(3-nitrophenyl)-1,2,3,4-tetrahydropyrimidin-5-carboxylate (3d).** Mp: 243–245 °C. IR (KBr): 1237, 1421, 1603, 1633, 1674, 1705, 3259, 3340 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: δ 0.85 (t, *J*=6.8 Hz, 3H), 3.90 (q, *J*=6.8 Hz, 2H), 7.44 (t, *J*=7.4 and 8.0 Hz, 1H), 7.89 (d, *J*=7.4 Hz, 1H), 8.3 (m, 1H), 8.38 (doublet of doublet, *J*=2.3 and 8.0 Hz, 1H), 11.58 (s, 1H, D₂O-exchangeable), 11.66 (s, 1H, D₂O-exchangeable). ¹³C NMR: δ 14.0, 61.3, 107.5, 123.5, 125.8, 130.8, 133.7, 135.1, 147.9, 150.7, 152.6, 161.6, 164.1. EIMS (*m*/*z*): 305 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₃H₁₁N₃O₆: C, 51.15; H, 3.63; N, 13.77. Found: C, 51.09; H, 3.64; N, 13.81.

3.3.2.5. Ethyl **2,4-dioxo-6-(4-chlorophenyl)-1,2,3,4-tetrahydropyrimidin-5-carboxylate (3e).** Mp: 240–242 °C. IR (KBr): 1231, 1418, 1603, 1621, 1673, 3251, 3342 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: δ 0.86 (t, *J*=6.8 Hz, 3H), 3.89 (q, *J*=6.8 Hz, 2H), 7.43 (d, *J*=8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.58 (d, *J*=8.3 Hz, 2H), 11.51 (s, 2H). EIMS (*m*/*z*): 294 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₃H₁₁ClN₂O₄: C, 52.98; H, 3.76; N, 9.51. Found: C, 52.85; H, 3.69; N, 9.55.

3.3.2.6. Ethyl 2,4-dioxo-6-(1-naphthyl)-1,2,3,4-tetrahydropyrimidin-5-carboxylate (3f). Mp: 224–226 °C. IR (KBr): 1235, 1421, 1604, 1631, 1673, 1706, 3258, 3342 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: δ 0.32 (t, *J*=6.9 Hz, 3H, *CH*₃*CH*₂), 3.48–3.60 (quartet of quartet, *J*=6.9 Hz, 2H, *CH*₃*CH*₂), 7.5 (d, *J*=6.9 Hz, 1H), 7.52 (s, *J*=8.0 Hz, 1H), 7.54 (quintet, *J*=2.9, 3.5, and 1.7 Hz, 2H), 7.81 (sextet, *J*=2.9, 3.5, and 6.9 Hz, 1H), 7.95 (sextet, *J*=3.5, 2.9, and 6.9 Hz, 1H), 8.02 (d, *J*=7.9 Hz, 1H), 11.50 (s, 1H, D₂O-exchangeable), 11.54 (s, 1H, D₂O-exchangeable). ¹³C NMR: δ 13.5, 60.4, 108.5, 125.4, 125.6, 126.1, 126.8, 127.1, 127.6, 128.7, 129.2, 140.2, 148.3, 150.7, 154.3, 161.7, 163.8. EIMS (*m*/*z*): 310 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₇H₁₄N₂O₄: C, 65.80; H, 4.55; N, 9.03. Found: C, 65.81; H, 4.56; N, 9.02.

3.3.2.7. Ethyl **2,4-dioxo-3-methyl-6-(4-chlorophenyl)1,2,3,4-tetrahydropyrimidin-5-carboxylate** (**3g**). Mp: 230–232 °C. IR (KBr): 1236, 1419, 1600, 1630, 1673, 1704, 3257 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: δ 1.06 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 3H), 3.65 (s, 3H), 4.08 (q, *J*=7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.43 (s, 4H), 10.42 (s, 1H, D₂O-exchangeable). ¹³C NMR: δ 13.8, 27.5, 62.0, 107.7, 129.0, 129.1, 129.3, 138.0, 149.9, 151.9, 160.5, 164.0. EIMS (*m*/*z*): 308 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₄H₁₃ClN₂O₄: C, 54.47; H, 4.24; N, 9.07. Found: C, 54.43; H, 4.23; N, 9.06.

3.3.2.8. 5-Benzoyl-2,4-dioxo-6-(2,4-dichlorophenyl)pyrimidin-2(1*H*)-one (3h). Mp: >300 °C. IR (KBr): 1235, 1419, 1605, 1628, 1676, 3255, 3341 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: δ 7.38 (t, *J*=7.4 and 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.42 (m, 2H), 7.57 (d, *J*=7.4 Hz, 1H), 7.82 (d, *J*=7.7 Hz, 1H), 8.2 (d, *J*=10.2 Hz, 1H), 8.27 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR: δ 117.6, 128.5, 130.04, 133.5, 134.0, 134.8, 137.7, 138.5, 139.5, 142.3, 152.4, 154.8, 160.0, 167.5, 174.3. EIMS (*m*/*z*): 361 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₇H₁₀Cl₂N₂O₃: C, 56.53; H, 2.79; N, 7.76. Found: C, 56.57; H, 2.79; N, 7.76.

3.3.2.9. Ethyl **2,4-dioxo-6-(4-anisyl)-1,2,3,4-tetra**hydropyrimidin-5-carboxylate (3i). Mp: 228–230 °C. IR (KBr): 1241, 1421, 1603, 1629, 1675, 1701, 3261 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: δ 1.05 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 3H), 3.84 (s, 3H), 4.13 (q, *J*=7.5 Hz, 2H), 6.95 (d, *J*=9.2 Hz, 2H), 7.41 (d, *J*=7.2 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR: δ 13.8, 56.1, 62.1, 101.0, 108.1, 114.5, 124.5, 130.3, 147.1, 147.9, 156.2, 162.2, 164.4. EIMS (*m*/*z*): 290 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₄H₁₄N₂O₅: C, 57.93; H, 4.86; N, 9.65. Found: C, 57.86; H, 4.78; N, 9.69.

3.3.3. Trapping of 1i as trifluoroacetate salt in solution. Compound **1i** (30 mg) was dissolved in trifluoroacetic acid (1.5 mL) and a drop of TMS was added to the solution as internal reference. ¹H NMR of the solution was recorded in JEOL 500 MHz instrument with 16 scans. TLC of the solution showed disappearance of **1i** and a new spot above the starting material. The dissolution of **1i** in DMSO- d_6 or CDCl₃ and (trifluoro)acetic acid did not form salt in solution.

Compound 5: ¹H NMR (CF₃COOH, TMS): 1.17 (t, J= 6.9 Hz, 3H), 2.42 (s, 3H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 4.07 (q, J=6.9 Hz, 2H), 5.49 (s, 1H), 6.97 (d, J=8.6 Hz, 2H), 7.32 (d, J=8.6 Hz, 2H), 8.32 (s, 1H).

Compound **1j**: ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆): 1.08 (t, *J*=6.9 Hz, 3H), 2.24 (s, 3H), 3.71 (s, 3H), 3.98 (q, *J*=6.9 Hz, 2H), 5.10 (s, 1H), 6.86 (d, *J*=8.6 Hz, 2H), 7.13 (d, *J*=8.6 Hz, 2H), 7.65 (s, 1H), 9.15 (d, 1H).

3.3.4. Highly regioselective oxidation of DHPMs mediated by CAN. Ethyl 6-methyl-4-phenyl-pyrimidin-2(1*H*)one-5-carboxylate: a 50 mL round bottom flask containing magnetic bar was charged with **1a** (1 mmol, 0.260 g), NaHCO₃ (5 mmol, 0.420 g), and 10 mL of acetone. To this suspension was added CAN (3 mmol, 1.65 g) in water for 1 h stirred at -5 °C under argon atmosphere. The stirring continued overnight at room temperature and the reaction mixture was diluted with CHCl₃ (20 mL) and decanted. The residue was washed with CHCl₃ (2×30 mL). The combined CHCl₃ layer was neutralized, washed with NaCl solution, dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and column chromatographed using 1:1 mixture of ethyl acetate/petroleum ether to afford 0.214 g of **2a**. The same reaction when conducted without using NaHCO₃ yielded a mixture of **2a** and **3a**.

3.3.4.1. Ethyl 6-methyl-4-phenyl-pyrimidin-2(1*H*)one-5-carboxylate (2a). Mp: 216–218 °C. IR (KBr): 1410, 1625, 1655, 1705, 3420 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: δ 0.68 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 3H), 2.45 (s, 3H, 6-Me), 3.80 (q, *J*=7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.31 (d, *J*=7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.36 (t, *J*=6.9 Hz, 1H), 7.45 (d, *J*=6.9 Hz, 2H), 7.47 (t, *J*=6.3 Hz, 1H), 11.71 (s, 1H, D₂O-exchangeable). ¹³C NMR: δ 13.6, 19.1, 60.9, 109.2, 127.5, 129.4, 129.7, 130.7, 139.7, 156.6, 162.5, 164.7. EIMS (*m*/*z*): 258 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₄H₁₄N₂O₃: C, 65.11; H, 5.46; N, 10.85. Found: C, 65.09; H, 5.54; N, 10.24.

3.3.4.2. Ethyl 6-methyl-4-biphenyl-pyrimidin-2(1*H*)one-5-carboxylate (2j). Mp: 178–179 °C. IR (KBr): 1412, 1624, 1655, 1703, 3423 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: δ 0.98 (t, *J*=6.9 Hz, 3H), 2.45 (s, 3H), 3.12 (q, *J*=6.9 Hz, 2H), 7.32 (t, *J*=7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.41 (t, *J*=7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.53 (d, *J*=8.5 Hz, 2H), 7.66 (d, *J*=7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.68 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 1H), 11.35 (s, 1H, D₂O-exchangeable). ¹³C NMR: δ 14.3, 61.5, 108.3, 126.2, 127.8, 128.3, 129.6, 129.7, 130.1, 139.6, 142.7, 146.7, 156.7, 158.0, 164.3, 174.6. EIMS (*m*/*z*): 334 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for $C_{20}H_{18}N_2O_3$: C, 71.84; H, 5.43; N, 8.38. Found: C, 71.76; H, 5.21; N, 8.73.

3.3.4.3. Ethyl 6-methyl-4-(2-chlorophenyl)-pyrimidin-2(1*H***)-one-5-carboxylate (2k). Mp: 164–166 °C. IR (KBr): 1106, 1422, 1505, 1658, 1713, 1732, 2827, 3147, 3345 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: \delta 0.69 (t,** *J***=6.8 Hz, 3H), 2.49 (s, 3H), 3.80 (q,** *J***=6.8 Hz, 2H), 7.37–7.45 (m, 4H), 11.53 (s, 1H, NH). ¹³C NMR: \delta 13.6, 19.1, 60.9, 109.5, 127.5, 129.4, 129.7, 130.0, 130.7, 140.1, 155.3, 162.5, 164.7, 172.1. EIMS (***m***/***z***): 292 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₄H₁₃ClN₂O₃: C, 57.44; H, 4.48; N, 9.57. Found: C, 57.32; H, 4.42; N, 9.55.**

3.3.4.4. Ethyl 6-methyl-4-(2-nitrophenyl)-pyrimidin-2(1*H***)-one-5-carboxylate (2c). Mp: 180–182 °C. IR (KBr): 1208, 1421, 1543, 1641, 1693, 1715, 2827, 3345 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: \delta 0.67 (t,** *J***=7.5 Hz, 3H), 2.49 (s, 3H), 3.78 (q,** *J***=7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.40 (d,** *J***=7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.67 (t,** *J***=7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.77 (t,** *J***=7.5 Hz, 1H), 8.17 (d,** *J***= 8.1 Hz, 1H), 11.50 (s, 1H, NH). ¹³C NMR: \delta 13.7, 20.5, 61.0, 107.5, 124.6, 129.7, 130.5, 134.05, 134.7, 146.6, 152.3, 162.2, 164.3, 173.3. EIMS (***m***/***z***): 303 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₄H₁₃N₃O₅: C, 55.45; H, 4.32; N, 13.86. Found: C, 55.32; H, 4.27; N, 13.74.**

3.3.4.5. Ethyl 6-methyl-4-(3-hydroxyphenyl)-pyrimidin-2(1*H***)-one-5-carboxylate (2l). Mp: 180–182 °C. IR (KBr): 1132, 1463, 1643, 1693, 3204, 3421 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: \delta 0.82 (t,** *J***=6.5 Hz, 3H), 2.4 (s, 3H), 3.9 (q,** *J***=6.5 Hz, 2H), 6.8 (m, 3H), 7.2 (t, 7.5 Hz, 1H), 9.7 (s, 1H), 11.32 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR: \delta 13.8, 21.1, 61.4, 102.6, 114.8, 117.7, 118.7, 128.5, 129.9, 146.5, 157.7, 160.1, 163.2, 172.4. EIMS (***m***/***z***): 274 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₄H₁₄N₂O₄: C, 61.31; H, 5.14; N, 10.21. Found: C, 61.28; H, 5.16; N, 10.20.**

3.3.4.6. Methyl 6-methyl-4-(4-methoxyphenyl)-pyrimidin-2(1*H*)-one-5-carboxylate (2m). Mp: 180–181 °C. IR (KBr): 1228, 1456, 1547, 1660, 1681, 1715, 2827, 3348 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: δ 2.32 (s, 3H), 3.57 (s, 3H), 3.77 (s, 3H), 6.97 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.40 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 2H), 12.23 (s, 1H, D₂O-exchangeable). ¹³C NMR: δ 19.2, 52.6, 55.9, 102.3, 114.3, 116.4, 130.0, 136.1, 156.3, 161.7, 167.4, 174.2. EIMS (*m*/*z*): 274 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₄H₁₄N₂O₄: C, 61.31; H, 5.14; N, 10.21. Found: C, 61.28; H, 5.08; N, 10.13.

3.3.4.7. Ethyl 1,6-dimethyl-4-phenyl-pyrimidin-2(1*H***)one-5-carboxylate (2n). Mp: 212–213 °C. IR (KBr): 1103, 1197, 1286, 1439, 1494, 1616, 1679, 1722, 2990 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: \delta 1.14 (t,** *J***=7.6 Hz, 3H, CH₃CH₂), 2.41 (s, 3H), 3.35 (s, 3H, N-Me), 3.97 (q,** *J***=7.6 Hz, 2H, CH₃CH₂), 7.38 (t,** *J***=6.8 Hz, 2H), 7.41 (t,** *J***=7.6 and 2.3 Hz, 1H), 7.54 (t,** *J***=6.9 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR: \delta 13.8, 20.2, 39.3, 61.0, 108.8, 127.9, 128.6, 130.5, 137.1, 153.1, 155.3, 163.5, 173.5. EIMS (***m***/***z***): 272 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₅H₁₆N₂O₃: C, 66.16; H, 5.92; N, 10.29. Found: C, 66.08; H, 5.83; N, 10.17.**

3.3.4.8. Ethyl 1,6-dimethyl-4-(4-methoxyphenyl)-pyrimidin-2(1*H***)-one-5-carboxylate (20). Mp: 140–142 °C. IR (KBr): 1231, 1453, 1549, 1662, 1683, 1720, 3351 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: \delta 0.85 (t,** *J***=6.7 Hz, 3H), 2.38 (s, 3H), 3.46 (s, 3H),** 3.73 (s, 3H), 3.92 (q, J=6.8 Hz, 2H), 6.77 (d, J=9.2 Hz, 2H), 7.4 (d, J=9.2 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR: δ 13.6, 18.1, 33.1, 55.4, 61.8, 111.5, 113.7, 129.8, 130.3, 155.9, 158.4, 161.7, 167.3, 169.8. EIMS (m/z): 302 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₆H₁₈N₂O₄: C, 63.56; H, 6.00; N, 9.27. Found: C, 63.44; H, 5.92; N, 9.31.

3.3.4.9. Ethyl 6-methyl-4-(4-methoxyphenyl)-pyrimidin-2(1*H***)-one-5-carboxylate (2i). Mp: 172–173 °C. IR (KBr): 1132, 1463, 1643, 1693, 3220 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: \delta 0.9 (t,** *J***=6.5 Hz, 3H), 2.3 (s, 3H), 3.81 (s, 3H), 3.93 (q,** *J***=6.8 Hz, 2H), 6.8 (m, 2H), 7.2 (t,** *J***=8.4 Hz, 2H), 9.7 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR: \delta 13.8, 21.1, 55.2, 61.4, 102.6, 114.8, 118.7, 128.5, 129.9, 146.5, 157.7, 160.1, 172.1. EIMS (***m***/***z***): 288 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₅H₁₆N₂O₄: C, 62.49; H, 5.59; N, 9.72. Found: C, 62.35; H, 5.52; N, 9.70.**

3.3.4.10. Ethyl 6-methyl-4-(2-propyl)-pyrimidin-2(1*H***)one-5-carboxylate (4a). Mp: 232–234 °C. IR (KBr): 1131, 1455, 1642, 1688, 3205, 3433 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: \delta 1.34 (t,** *J***=7.5 Hz, 3H), 1.39 (d,** *J***=6.8 Hz, 6H), 2.45 (s, 3H), 3.15 (m,** *J***=6.8 Hz, 1H), 4.32 (q,** *J***=7.5 Hz, 2H), 13.65 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR: \delta 14.2, 21.1, 29.7, 61.9, 112.5, 145.6, 159.6, 163.1, 173.6. EIMS (***m***/***z***): 224 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₁H₁₆N₂O₃: C, 58.91; H, 7.19; N, 12.49. Found: C, 58.68; H, 7.12; N, 12.42.**

3.3.4.11. Ethyl 4-(4-methoxyphenyl)-6-phenyl-pyrimidin-2(1*H***)-one-5-carboxylate (4b). Mp: 153–154 °C. IR (KBr): 1163, 1238, 1328, 1446, 1517, 1599, 1668, 1709, 2280, 2808, 2984, 3213 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: \delta 0.85 (t,** *J***=6.8 Hz, 3H), 3.82 (s, 3H), 3.90 (q,** *J***=6.8 Hz, 2H), 6.94 (d,** *J***=9.2 Hz, 1H), 7.00 (d,** *J***=8.5 Hz, 1H), 7.40 (m,** *J***=6.9 and 7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.49 (d,** *J***=3.8 Hz, 1H), 7.58 (t,** *J***=8.5 Hz, 2H), 8.01 (q,** *J***=8.5 and 9.2 Hz, 2H), 13.32 (s, 1H, D₂O-exchangeable). ¹³C NMR: \delta 13.5, 55.4, 61.9, 106.5, 114.2, 128.6, 129.2, 129.6, 130.2, 138.5, 139.7, 150.2, 158.2, 162.2, 162.9, 174.1. EIMS (***m***/***z***): 350 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₂₀H₁₈N₂O₄: C, 68.56; H, 5.18; N, 8.00. Found: C, 68.49; H, 5.12; N, 8.02.**

3.3.4.12. Ethyl 4-(4-methoxyphenyl)-6-trifluoromethyl-pyrimidin-2(1*H*)-one-5-carboxylate (4c). Mp: 136–138 °C. IR (KBr): 1017, 1127, 1162, 1210, 1299, 1509, 1605, 1699, 1739, 3188 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: δ 1.15 (t, *J*=6.8 Hz, 3H), 3.85 (s, 3H), 4.17 (q, *J*=6.8 Hz, 2H), 7.05 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.54 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 2H), 11.50 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR: δ 13.7, 55.6, 62.8, 109.5, 114.9, 122.0 (q, *J*=275 Hz), 130.2, 138.6, 155.6 (q, *J*=34 Hz), 161.2, 163.2, 164.1, 174.2. EIMS (*m*/*z*): 342 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₅H₁₃F₃N₂O₄: C, 52.64; H, 3.83; N, 8.18. Found: C, 52.59; H, 3.77; N, 8.19.

3.3.4.13. Ethyl 6-bromomethyl-4-phenyl-pyrimidin-2(1*H*)-one-5-carboxylate (4d). Mp: 181–182 °C. IR (KBr): 1125, 1468, 1651, 1689, 3253, 3455 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: δ 0.86 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 3H), 3.84 (s, 2H, CH₂Br), 3.93 (q, *J*=7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.42 (m, 2H), 7.59 (t, *J*=6.8 Hz, 3H), 13.52 (s, 1H, D₂O-exchangeable, NH). ¹³C NMR: δ 13.5, 25.9, 55.5, 105.3, 128.1, 128.7, 130.2, 140.5, 158.1, 162.3, 166.8, 173.1. EIMS (*m*/*z*): 337 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₄H₁₃BrN₂O₃: C, 49.87; H, 3.89; N, 8.31. Found: C, 49.78; H, 3.92; N, 8.27.

9733

3.3.4.14. Ethyl 6-methyl-4-(4-(4-bromophenyl)-1-phenyl-1*H*-pyrazolyl)-pyrimidin-2(1*H*)-one-5-carboxylate (4e). Mp: 221–223 °C. IR (KBr): 1058, 1464, 1645, 1693, 3258 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: δ 0.78 (t, *J*=6.8 Hz, 3H), 2.34 (s, 3H), 3.67 (q, *J*=6.8 Hz, 2H), 7.32 (t, *J*=7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.43 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.49 (t, *J*=7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.56 (d, *J*=7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.89 (d, *J*=7.6 Hz, 2H), 8.77 (s, 1H), 12.39 (s, 1H, NH(3)). ¹³C NMR: δ 13.7, 20.2, 61.2, 105.7, 119.0, 124.2, 126.5, 128.5, 130.1, 130.3, 131.2, 132.1, 132.6, 148.3, 149.8, 156.5, 162.3, 163.9, 174.9. EIMS (*m/z*): 479 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₂₃H₁₉BrN₄O₃: C, 57.63; H, 4.00; N, 11.69. Found: C, 57.58; H, 3.92; N, 11.67.

3.3.4.15. Ethyl 1,6-dimethyl-4-(1-pyrenyl)-pyrimidin-2(1*H***)-one-5-carboxylate (4f). Mp: 231–232 °C. IR (KBr): 1109, 1463, 1649, 1703 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: \delta 1.24 (t,** *J***= 6.7 Hz, 3H), 2.61 (s, 3H), 3.71 (s, 3H), 4.11 (q,** *J***=7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.93 (t,** *J***=7.5 and 6.8 Hz, 1H), 7.99 (t,** *J***=7.5 Hz, 1H), 8.03 (t,** *J***=8.6 and 8 Hz, 2H), 8.09 (s, 1H), 8.15 (m, 4H). ¹³C NMR: \delta 12.8, 18.5, 33.4, 61.4, 114.0, 124.3, 124.4, 124.5, 125.6, 125.7, 125.8, 126.3, 127.3, 128.1, 128.5, 130.8, 131.3, 132.1, 133.3, 155.8, 159.4, 166.2, 172.7. EIMS (***m***/***z***): 398 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₂₅H₂₂N₂O₃: C, 75.36; H, 5.57; N, 7.03. Found: C, 75.31; H, 5.31; N, 7.12.**

3.3.4.16. 7,7-Dimethyl-4-phenyl-7,8-dihydroquinazoline-2,5(1*H,6H***)-dione (4g). Mp: 196–198 °C. IR (KBr): 1092, 1323, 1640, 1722, 2956, 3208 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: \delta 1.35 (s, 6H), 2.58 (s, 2H), 2.88 (s, 2H), 7.01 (q,** *J***=1.7, 5.2, and 7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.40 (q,** *J***=1.7 and 5.2 Hz, 3H), 11.83 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR: \delta 25.4, 28.3, 32.1, 48.1, 54.1, 108.5, 126.6, 127.8, 128.0, 138.8, 152.3, 167.7, 172.2, 194.8. EIMS (***m***/***z***): 268 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₆H₁₆N₂O₂: C, 71.62; H, 6.01; N, 10.44. Found: C, 71.58; H, 5.96; N, 10.46.**

3.3.4.17. 4-Phenyl-1*H***-indeno[1,2-***d***]pyrimidin-2,5dione (4h).** Mp: 210–212 °C. IR (KBr): 1276, 1378, 1459, 1576, 1617, 1659, 1723, 2854, 2923, 3484 cm^{-1.} ¹H NMR: δ 7.60 (t, *J*=6.8 Hz, 2H), 7.65 (q, *J*=7.5 and 6.3 Hz, 2H), 7.71 (t, *J*=7.5 and 6.3 Hz, 1H), 7.82 (d, *J*=7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.89 (d, *J*=7.5 Hz, 2H), 8.11 (d, *J*=6.8 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR: δ 106.2, 120.8, 121.5, 126.7, 128.3, 128.9, 130.1, 132.1, 133.7, 135.2, 143.5, 151.2, 157.4, 173.9, 187.5. EIMS (*m*/*z*): 274 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₁₇H₁₀N₂O₂: C, 74.44; H, 3.67; N, 10.21. Found: C, 74.38; H, 3.61; N, 10.20.

3.3.4.18. Ethyl 3-methyl-6-{4-[1-methyl-5-(ethoxy-carbonyl)-2,6-dioxo-1,2,3,6-tetrahydro-pyrimidine-4-yl]-phenyl}-2,4-dioxo-1,2,3,4-tetrahydropyrimidine-5-carboxylate (4i). Mp: >260 °C. IR (KBr): 1050, 1510, 1620, 1690, 3248 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR: δ 0.97 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 6H), 3.17 (s, 6H), 3.93 (q, *J*=7.5 Hz, 4H), 7.54 (s, 4H), 11.90 (s, 2H). ¹³C NMR: δ 14.2, 27.4, 61.5, 112.5, 122.3, 128.5, 131.7, 152.9, 153.0, 161.5, 164.1. EIMS (*m*/*z*): 470 (M⁺). Anal. calcd for C₂₂H₂₂N₄O₈: C, 56.17; H, 4.71; N, 11.91. Found: C, 56.03; H, 4.59; N, 11.95.

Acknowledgements

One of the authors (P.S.) would like to thank Council of Scientific and Industrial Research, New Delhi for financial support.

References and notes

- (a) Brown, D. J. *The Pyrimidines*; Interscience: New York, NY, 1994; (b) Majumdar, K. C.; Das, U.; Jana, N. K. *J. Org. Chem.* **1998**, *63*, 3550 and more references therein; (c) Rizzo, R. C.; Tirado-Rives, J.; Jorgensen, W. L. *J. Med. Chem.* **2001**, *44*, 145; (d) Chen, C.; Wilcoxen, K. M.; Huang, C. Q.; Xie, Y.-F.; McCarthy, J. R.; Webb, T. R.; Zhu, Y.-F.; Saunders, J.; Liu, X.-J.; Chen, T.-K.; Bozigian, H.; Grigoriadis, D. E. *J. Med. Chem.* **2004**, *47*, 4787.
- (a) Raic-Malic, S.; Svedruzic, D.; Vazivoda, T.; Marunovic, A.; Hergold-Brundic, A.; Nagl, A.; Balzarini, J.; Clercq, E. D.; Mintas, M. J. Med. Chem. 2000, 43, 4806; (b) Zhou, W.; Gumina, G.; Chong, Y.; Wang, J.; Schinazi, R. F.; Chu, C. K. J. Med. Chem. 2004, 47, 3399; (c) Barral, K.; Courcambeck, J.; Pepe, G.; Balzarini, J.; Neyts, J.; Clercq, E. D.; Camplo, M. J. Med. Chem. 2005, 48, 450.
- (a) Itami, K.; Yamazaki, D.; Yoshida, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 15396; (b) Kang, F.-A.; Kodah, J.; Guan, O.; Li, X.; Murray, W. V. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 1957.
- 4. (a) Wong, K.; Hung, T. S.; Lin, Y.; Wu, C.; Lee, G.; Peng, S.; Chou, C. H.; Su, Y. O. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 513; (b) Porcheddu, A.; Giacomelli, G.; De Luca, L.; Ruda, A. M. J. Comb. Chem. 2004, 6, 105; (c) Cesar, J. J. Comb. Chem. 2005, 7, 517; (d) Rombouts, F. J. R.; Fridkin, G.; Lubell, W. D. J. Comb. Chem. 2005, 7, 589.
- (a) Kappe, C. O. *Tetrahedron* 1993, 49, 6937; (b) Lavilla, R. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2002, 1142; (c) Sausins, A.; Duburs, G. *Heterocycles* 1988, 27, 291.
- (a) Eynde, J. J.; Audiart, N.; Canonne, V.; Michel, S.; Van Haverbeke, Y.; Kappe, C. O. *Heterocycles* **1997**, *45*, 1967.
- (a) Slavinskaya, V. A.; Duburs, G.; Sile, D.; Kreile, D.; Khanina, E. L. USSR Patent 632,695, 1978; *Chem. Abstr.* **1979**, *90*, 121631y; (b) Puchala, A.; Belaj, F.; Bergman, J.; Kappe, C. O. J. Heterocycl. Chem. **2001**, *38*, 1345; (c) Vanden Eynde, J. J.; Labuche, N.; Haverbeke, Y. V.; Tietze, L. ARKIVOC **2003**, 22; (d) Yamamoto, K.; Chen, Y. G.; Buono, F. G. Org. Lett. **2005**, *7*, 4673; (e) Dondoni, A.; Massi, A.; Minghini, E.; Sabbatini, S.; Bertolasi, V. J. Org. Chem. **2003**, *68*, 6172.
- (a) Vogel's Text Book of Practical Organic Chemistry, 5th ed.; Longman: London, 1997; p 1168; (b) Delgado, F.; Alvarez, C.; Garcia, O.; Penieres, G.; Marquez, C. Synth. Commun. 1991, 21, 2137; (c) Espenson, J. H. Chem. Commun. 1999, 479; (d) Mashraqui, S. H.; Kamik, M. Synthesis 1998, 713; (e) Snyder, C. A.; Thorn, M. A.; Klijanowicz, J. E.; Southwick, P. L. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1982, 19, 603; (f) Mashraqui, S. H.; Karnik, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 4895; (g) Varma, R. S.; Kumar, D. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1999, 1755; (h) Pftizer, J. R. Synthesis 1990, 689; (i) Lu, J.; Bai, Y.; Wang, Z.; Yabg, B.; Li, W. Synth. Commun. 2001, 31, 2625; (j) Shibuya, M.; Ito, S.; Takahashi, M.; Iwabuchi, Y. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 4303.
- 9. Nair, V.; Mathew, J.; Prabhakaran, J. J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1997, 127.
- Nakamichi, N.; Kawashita, Y.; Hayashi, M. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 3955.
- 11. Crystal analysis for **3g**: MF: $C_{14}H_{13}CIN_2O_4$, formula weight: 308.71, crystal system: monoclinic, space group: *P21/n*, cell length: *a* 9.5074, *b* 15.158, *c* 9.882, cell angle: α 90°, β 94.149°, γ 90°. Volume (cubic angstroms): 1420.4(5), *Z*: 4, temperature: 293(2) K, absorption coefficient: 0.28. Calculated

density: 1.444, reflections collected/unique 2653/2497 [R(int)=0.0169] R indices (all data) R1=0.0672, wR2= 0.0979. Final R indices [$I>2\sigma(I)$] R1=0.0377, wR2=0.0861. Crystallographic data was submitted in Cambridge Crystallographic Centre and CCDC no. is 26952.

- 12. Anniyappan, M.; Muralidharan, D.; Perumal, P. T. *Tetrahedron* **2002**, *58*, 5069.
- 13. Caruso, T.; Bedini, E.; Castrob, C. D.; Parrillib, M. *Tetrahedron* **2006**, *62*, 2350.
- Compound 2c: MF: C₁₄H₁₃ClN₂O₃, formula weight: 292.71, crystal system: monoclinic, space group: C 2/c, cell length:

a 11.391, *b* 9.324, *c* 27.37, cell angle: α 90°, β 93.267°, γ 90°. Cell volume (cubic angstroms): 2902.23, *Z*: 4, temperature: 293(2) K. Crystallographic data was submitted in Cambridge Crystallographic Centre and CCDC no. is 26950.

 (a) Shanmugam, P.; Sabastein, C.; Perumal, P. T. Indian J. Chem., Sect. B 2004, 43, 135; (b) Shanmugam, P.; Annie, G.; Perumal, P. T. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 2003, 40, 879; (c) Sivaprasad, G.; Perumal, P. T. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 2005, 42, 863; (d) Shanmugam, P.; Perumal, P. T. J. Chem. Res(s). 2003, 601.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9735-9741

Synthesis and complexation studies of intra annularly linked bicyclic cyclophanes

Perumal Rajakumar* and Rajagopal Kanagalatha

Department of Organic Chemistry, University of Madras, Guindy Campus, Chennai 600 025, Tamil Nadu, India

Received 1 February 2006; revised 4 July 2006; accepted 20 July 2006 Available online 17 August 2006

Abstract—The cyclophanes derived from 2,6-bis(chloromethyl)benzoquinone and suitable dithiols were reduced with sodium dithionate and then further coupled with various dibromides to give intra annularly linked bicyclic cyclophanes, which forms charge transfer complexes with TCNQ and TCNE.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Pre-organization¹ of macrocycles plays a vital role in many biological mechanisms such as enzyme–substrate activity,² protein folding,³ antisense application⁴ and molecular recognition.⁵ Hart and Vinod⁶ have reported various novel cyclophanes with a *m*-terphenyl unit embedded within a cavity lined by three aryl rings. Stoddart and Spencer⁷ have reported the synthesis of chiral macrobicyclic cyclophanes. Chiral Binol based cyclophanes^{8,9} and bicompartmental bicyclic cyclophanes¹⁰ have also been recently reported. However, to the best of our knowledge, the synthesis of self-complementary bicompartmental bicyclic cyclophanes remains to be explored. Hence, we report herein the synthesis and characterization of bicompartmental self-complementary cyclophanes **10–13** and **19–22** with electron rich and electron deficient counterparts.



Keywords: Cyclophanes; Bicompartmental; Self-complimentary; Electron rich; Electron deficient.

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.064

Compd	А	В	\mathbb{R}^1	R^2	R ³	R^4
10	m-	m-	Me	OMe	Me	OMe
11	<i>m</i> -	<i>m</i> -	Me	OMe	NO_2	OAc
12	<i>m</i> -	0-	Me	OMe	H-	H-
13	<i>m</i> -	Binol	Me	OMe	_	_
19	0-	0-	H-	H-	H-	H-
20	0-	<i>m</i> -	H-	H-	Me	OMe
21	0-	<i>m</i> -	H-	H-	NO_2	OAc
22	0-	Binol	H-	H-	—	—

2. Results and discussion

In order to synthesize bicompartmental self-complementary cyclophane **10**, 2 equiv of methyl *p*-hydroxybenzoate was treated with 1 equiv of 4-methyl 2,6-bis-(bromomethyl)anisole¹¹ in the presence of K_2CO_3 in DMF to give diester **1** in 93% yield. Reduction of diester with LiAlH₄ gave diol **2**, which on further reaction with PBr₃ gave dibromide **3** in 92% yield. The thiouronium salt derived from dibromide **3** and thiourea, on hydrolysis with KOH in THF/H₂O gave dithiol **4** in 78% yield. The structure of the dithiol **4** has been confirmed from the spectral and analytical data.

Treatment of equimolar amounts of dithiol **4** and 2,6-bis-(chloromethyl)benzoquinone in EtOH/benzene under high dilution conditions¹² gave thiacyclophane **5** in 54% yield. Thiacyclophane **5** was found to be unstable and hence complete characterization could not be carried out.

Reduction of thiacyclophane **5** with sodium dithionate in EtOAc at 0 °C afforded cyclophane **6** in 50% yield. The sulfide bonds in cyclophane **6** are not affected during the course of reaction. In the ¹H NMR spectrum of cyclophane **6**, the methyl and methoxy protons appeared as singlets at δ 2.06 and 3.16. Further the *S*-methylene and *O*-methylene protons

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +91 44 22351269; fax: +91 44 22352494; e-mail: perumalrajakumar@hotmail.com



Scheme 1. Reagents and conditions: (i) methyl *p*-hydroxybenzoate, K_2CO_3 , DMF, 60 °C, 48 h; (ii) LiAlH₄, THF, 60 °C, 12 h; (iii) PBr₃, CH₂Cl₂, 0 °C, 12 h; (iv) thiourea, THF, 60 °C, 12 h; (v) KOH, 60 °C, 12 h, THF/H₂O (1:1); (vi) EtOH/benzene, rt, 24 h; (vii) Na₂S₂O₄, EtOAc, 0 °C, 3 h.

appeared as two singlets at δ 3.77 and 5.22 for eight and four protons, respectively, in addition to the aromatic protons (Scheme 1).

Treatment of cyclophane **6** with dibromide **3**, in the presence of K₂CO₃ in dry acetone at room temperature for 120 h afforded the annularly linked bicyclic cyclophane **10** in 18% yield (Scheme 2). The ¹H NMR spectrum of electron rich bicompartmental cyclophane **10** showed two singlets for methyl and methoxy protons at δ 2.32 and 3.80 and *S*-methylene and *O*-methylene protons as singlets at δ 4.60 and δ 5.08, respectively, in addition to the aromatic protons.



Scheme 2.

By similar methodology, electron rich cyclophane **6** was treated with various dihalides such as dibromides 7^{13} and **8**,¹⁴ and chiral dichloride 9^{15} to give the bicompartmental cyclophanes **11** and **12** and chiral cyclophane **13** in 16, 16 and 19% yield, respectively. Bicompartmental cyclophanes **11–13** were characterized by spectroscopic and analytical data (Scheme 2).

Attention was then focused on the synthesis of bicompartmental cyclophanes **19–22** by similar methodology. Dibromide **8** was obtained from *o*-xylenyl dibromide by the known procedure.¹⁴ Treatment of dibromide **8** with thiourea in THF afforded the thiouronium salt, which on hydrolysis with KOH in THF/H₂O gave dithiol **16** in 65% yield. Treatment of equimolar amounts of dithiol **16** with 2,6-bis-(chloromethyl)benzoquinone in EtOH/benzene under high dilution conditions gave neutral thiacyclophane **17** in 40% yield. Thiacyclophane **17** could not be completely characterized due to its instability. Reduction of cyclophane **17** with sodium dithionate in EtOAc at 0 °C afforded cyclophane **18** in 35% yield (Scheme 3).

Treatment of cyclophane **18** with dibromide **8** in dry acetone and in the presence of K_2CO_3 at room temperature for 120 h afforded the bicompartmental cyclophane **19** in 19% yield. In the ¹H NMR spectrum, bicompartmental cyclophane **19** showed two *S*-methylene protons as two singlets at δ 4.09 and 4.55 and *O*-methylene protons as another singlet at



Scheme 3. Reagents and conditions: (i) methyl *p*-hydroxybenzoate, K₂CO₃, DMF, 60 °C, 48 h; (ii) LiAlH₄, THF 60 °C, 12 h; (iii) PBr₃, CH₂Cl₂, 0 °C, 12 h; (iv) thiourea, THF, 60 °C, 12 h; (v) KOH, 60 °C, 12 h, THF/H₂O (1:1); (vi) EtOH/benzene, rt, 24 h; (vii) Na₂S₂O₄, EtOAc, 0 °C, 3 h.

 δ 5.15 in addition to aromatic protons. Using similar methodology, cyclophane **18** was treated with various dihalides such as dibromides **3** and **7**¹³ and chiral dichloride **9**¹⁵ to give bicompartmental cyclophanes **20** and **21** and bicompartmental chiral cyclophane **22** in 17, 19 and 10% yield, respectively (Scheme 4).

Scheme 4

Bicompartmental cyclophanes **20–22** were characterized by spectroscopic and analytical data.

Semi empirical calculations based on MOPAC (AM_1) have been carried out for the bicompartmental cyclophane **10– 13** and **19–22** and show that the two cyclophane rings are perpendicular to each other. It also reveal that the central benzene ring through which both the macrocyclic rings are connected lies in a perpendicular plane (Figs. 1 and 2).



Figure 1. Energy minimization of cyclophane 10: heat of formation of cyclophane 10 15.0752 kcal/mol.



Figure 2. Energy minimization of cyclophane 19: heat of formation of cyclophane 19 16.7920 kcal/mol.

Cyclophanes **10**, **19**, **20** and **21** show UV–vis absorption maxima at 318, 276 and 288 nm in DMF solvent medium. However the acceptors TCNQ and TCNE show absorption maxima at 410 and 322 nm, respectively, in the same solvent. Cyclophanes **10**, **19**, **20** and **21** form charge transfer complexes with TCNQ as evident by the appearance of absorption maxima at 751, 775 and 850 nm, respectively. The equilibrium constant for the charge transfer complexation of **21** with TCNQ was observed at 850 nm (Fig. 3). Cyclophane **21** also formed a charge transfer complex with TCNE, as indicated by absorption at 825 and 849 nm, respectively. The charge transfer complexation of **21** with TCNE was observed at 848 nm (Fig. 4).



Figure 3. Charge transfer complexation behaviour of cyclophane 21 with variable concentration of TCNQ.



Figure 4. Charge transfer complexation behaviour of cyclophane 21 with variable concentration of TCNE.

The stability constants of the charge transfer complexes for cyclophanes **10**, **19**, **20** and **21** with acceptors TCNQ and TCNE were also determined (Table 1).

It is noteworthy to mention that cyclophane **21** forms a strong charge transfer complex with TCNQ (K_c^{AD} 1343 M⁻¹ and ε^{AD} 2.19×10⁵). By comparing the stability constants of the CT complexes derived from cyclophanes **10**, **19**, **20** and **21** and TCNQ and TCNE it is clear that the cavity size has no significant influence on the stability of the charge transfer complexes.

 Table 1. Stability constants for the charge transfer complexes of 10, 19, 20

 and 21 with accepters TCNQ and TCNE

Cyclophane	Г	CCNQ]	TCNE
	$K_{\rm c}^{\rm AD}$	ε^{AD}	$K_{\rm c}^{\rm AD}$	ε^{AD}
10	183	5.9×10^{5}	222	5.2×10^{3}
19	147	2.17×10^{5}	189	2.0×10^{6}
20	128	2.0×10^{5}	287	2.27×10^{3}
21	1343	2.19×10^{5}	170	1.0×10^{4}

In conclusion, we have synthesized a new class of bicompartmental cyclophanes with electron rich, electron deficient and neutral macrocyclic units and made a preliminary study on their CT complexation ability with electron poor guest molecules TCNQ and TCNE.

3. Experimental

3.1. General

All melting points are uncorrected. The IR spectra were recorded using Shimadzu FT-IR 8000 Infrared Spectrometer. The ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on JEOL GSX 500 NMR Spectrometer at 500 and 125 MHz, respectively, and coupling constants (*J*) are expressed in hertz, using TMS as an internal standard. The Mass spectra were recorded using a JEOL mass Spectrometer (EI, 70 eV). THF was freshly distilled from Na/benzene kettle before use. The column chromatography was performed using silica gel (Acme, 100–200 mesh). The organic layer extracts were dried using anhydrous sodium sulfate. The dibromide 7 and the dichloride **15** were prepared according to literature procedures.^{13–15}

3.2. General procedure for the synthesis of diesters

Dibromide (2.0 equiv) and methyl *p*-hydroxybenzoate (2.2 equiv) were stirred with K_2CO_3 (5.0 equiv) in dry DMF (25 mL) at 60 °C for 48 h. The reaction mixture was poured into water (2 L) and stirred. The resulting precipitate was filtered, washed with water (3×150 mL) and dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (350 mL). The organic layer was washed with NaOH solution (5% w/v, 2×100 mL), dried over Na₂SO₄ and evaporated to give a residue that was purified by column chromatography using hexane/CHCl₃ (4:1) as eluent.

3.2.1. Diester 1. Colourless solid; yield 93%; R_f 0.6 (hexane/ CHCl₃ 4:1); mp 197–201 °C; IR (cm⁻¹) 1679 (C=O); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 8.01 (4H, d, J 8.8 Hz, Ph), 7.29 (2H, s, Ph), 7.02 (4H, d, J 8.8 Hz, Ph), 5.14 (4H, s, CH₂OPh), 3.89 (6H, s, COOMe), 2.74 (3H, s, OMe), 2.34 (3H, s, Me); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 180.2, 170.1, 166.7, 134.3, 133.9, 129.2, 128.9, 128.8, 114.3, 65.5, 65.1, 63.1, 20.9; m/z 450 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₂₆H₂₆O₇: C, 69.33; H, 5.78. Found: C, 69.34; H, 5.79.

3.2.2. Diester 14. Colourless solid; yield 90%; R_f 0.5 (hexane/CHCl₃1:1); mp 82–85 °C; IR (cm⁻¹) 1715 (C=O); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.19–7.65 (4H, m, Ph), 7.10 (4H, d, *J* 8.4 Hz, Ph), 6.71 (4H, d, *J* 8.4 Hz, Ph), 5.12 (4H, s, CH₂OPh), 3.82 (6H, s, COOMe); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 180.3, 165.0, 144.2, 140.2, 130.9, 127.9, 127.7, 122.5, 64.7, 51.5; m/z 406 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for $C_{24}H_{22}O_6$: C, 70.94; H, 5.42. Found: C, 70.95; H, 5.43.

3.3. General procedure for the synthesis of diols

To a solution of the appropriate diester (1.0 equiv) in dry THF (300 mL) was added LiAlH₄ (2.2 equiv) at 0 °C in portions. The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 1 h and then run into Na₂SO₄ · 10H₂O (40 g) and stirred. The reaction mixture was then digested on a water bath for 20 min and then filtered. The inorganic residue was further extracted with THF (200 mL) using a Soxhlet apparatus. The combined THF fractions were evaporated to give the diol. The crude product was purified by column chromatography using hexane/CHCl₃ (1:1) as eluent.

3.3.1. Diol 2. Colourless solid; yield 90%; R_f 0.3 (hexane/ CHCl₃ 1:1); mp 183–185 °C; IR (cm⁻¹) 3340 (br, OH); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.29 (4H, d, *J* 8.7 Hz, Ph), 7.25 (2H, s, Ph), 6.98 (4H, d, *J* 8.7 Hz, Ph), 6.32 (2H, s, OH), 5.07 (4H, s, CH₂OH), 4.61 (4H, s, CH₂OPh), 3.81 (3H, s, OMe), 2.32 (3H, s, Me); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 158.3, 154.4, 134.2, 133.3, 130.7, 129.8, 128.6, 114.8, 65.1, 65.0, 63.0, 20.8; m/z 394 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₂₄H₂₆O₅: C, 73.10; H, 6.60. Found: C, 73.11; H; 6.61.

3.3.2. Diol 15. Colourless solid; yield 90%; R_f 0.4 (hexane/CHCl₃ 1:1); mp 194–198 °C (lit. 196 °C).¹⁴

3.4. General procedure for the synthesis of dibromides

To a stirred solution of diol (1.0 equiv) in dry CH_2Cl_2 (120 mL), PBr₃ (3.0 equiv) was added and the reaction mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 12 h. The reaction mixture was poured into water (500 mL) and the organic layer was extracted with water (3×150 mL) followed by brine (200 mL) and then dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄. The solvent was evaporated in vacuo to give dibromide, which was purified by recrystallization from hexane/ CH_2Cl_2 (3:1).

3.4.1. Dibromide 3. Colourless solid; yield 92%; R_f 0.7 (hexane/CHCl₃ 3:1); mp 160–164 °C; IR (cm⁻¹) 2924, 1610, 1218, 1009, 770; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.33 (4H, d, *J* 8.6 Hz, Ph), 7.25 (2H, s, Ph), 7.21 (4H, d, *J* 8.6 Hz, Ph), 4.51 (4H, s, CH₂OPh), 4.44 (4H, s, CH₂Br), 3.97 (3H, s, OMe), 2.28 (3H, s, Me); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 154.4, 132.9, 131.6, 130.7, 130.6, 121.0, 120.8, 116.2, 62.3, 39.8, 27.8, 20.7; *m*/*z* 520 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₂₄H₂₄O₃Br₂: C, 55.38; H, 4.62. Found: C, 55.39; H, 4.63.

3.4.2. Dibromide 8. Colourless solid; yield 92%; R_f 0.65 (hexane/CHCl₃ 3:1); mp 136–139 °C (lit. 134 °C).¹⁴

3.5. General procedure for the synthesis of dithiols

A stirred solution of the dibromide (1.0 equiv) and thiourea (2.2 equiv) in THF (150 mL) was refluxed for 12 h. The mixture was cooled and the thiouronium salt was filtered and dried. The salt was dissolved in H₂O/THF (1:1) under nitrogen and KOH (2.2 equiv) was added. The reaction mixture was refluxed under nitrogen for 12 h, cooled and carefully quenched with 4 M HCl (40 mL). The solvent was removed

in vacuo and the crude product was purified by column chromatography using hexane/CHCl₃ (4:1) to give the corresponding dithiol.

3.5.1. Dithiol 4. Colourless solid; yield 78%; R_f 0.5 (hexane/CHCl₃ 1:3); mp 105–110 °C; IR (cm⁻¹) 2958, 1628, 1230, 1000, 664; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.26 (4H, d, *J* 8.4 Hz, Ph), 7.19 (2H, s, Ph), 6.95 (4H, d, *J* 8.4 Hz, Ph), 5.04 (4H, s, CH₂OPh), 3.85 (3H, s, *OMe*), 3.77 (4H, d, *J* 7.6 Hz, CH₂SH), 2.23 (3H, s, *Me*), 1.92 (2H, t, *J* 7.6 Hz, SH); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 158.0, 154.0, 133.6, 131.0, 130.1, 130.0, 129.3, 115.0, 65.4, 63.1, 62.9, 21.0; m/z 426 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₂₄H₂₆O₃S₂: C, 67.60; H, 6.10. Found: C, 67.61; H, 6.11.

3.5.2. Dithiol 16. Colourless solid; yield 65%; R_f 0.6 (hexane/CHCl₃ 1:3); mp 155–158 °C; IR (cm⁻¹) 2962, 1609, 1616, 1201, 1112, 701; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.09 (4H, d, J 8.8 Hz, Ph), 7.21–7.35 (4H, m, Ph), 6.76 (4H, d, J 8.8 Hz, Ph), 4.99 (4H, s, CH₂OPh), 3.53 (4H, d, J 7.3 Hz, CH₂SH), 1.12 (2H, t, J 7.1 Hz, CH₂SH); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 130.5, 130.2, 129.6, 128.6, 151.1, 115.0, 114.8, 68.1, 59.7; *m*/z 382 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₂₂H₂₂O₂S₂: C, 69.11; H, 5.76. Found: C, 69.12; H, 5.77.

3.6. General procedure for the synthesis of cyclophanes

A solution containing an equimolar amount of dithiol (1.0 equiv) and dichloride (1.0 equiv) in nitrogen degassed benzene (200 mL) was added dropwise over the period of 8 h to a well stirred solution of KOH (1.2 equiv) in dry ethanol (800 mL). After the addition was complete, the reaction mixture was stirred for 12 h and then evaporated to dryness. The residue was purified by column chromatography using hexane/CHCl₃ (1:1) as eluent.

3.6.1. Cyclophane 5. Pale yellow solid; yield 54%; R_f 0.45 (hexane/CHCl₃ 1:1); mp 143–147 °C; IR (cm⁻¹) 1716 (C=O).

3.6.2. Cyclophane 17. Pale yellow solid; yield 40%; R_f 0.5 (hexane/CHCl₃ 1:1); mp 154–159 °C; IR (cm⁻¹) 1715 (C=O).

3.7. General procedure for dithionate reduction

To a solution of cyclophane (1.0 equiv) in ethyl acetate (25 mL) was added $Na_2S_2O_4$ (2.2 equiv) in H₂O (15 mL) at 0 °C. The reaction mixture was stirred for 3 h and then evaporated to dryness. The residue was extracted with ethyl acetate (2×100 mL), washed with water (3×150 mL) and dried over anhydrous Na_2SO_4 . Evaporation of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography using CHCl₃/MeOH (49:1).

3.7.1. Cyclophane 6. Colourless solid; yield 50%; R_f 0.55 (CHCl₃/MeOH 3:1); mp 189–192 °C; IR (cm⁻¹) 3280 (br, OH); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.15 (2H, s, Ph), 7.04 (2H, s, Ph), 6.81 (2H, s, OH), 6.76 (4H, d, J 8.4 Hz, Ph), 6.68 (4H, d, J 8.4 Hz, Ph), 5.22 (4H, s, CH₂OPh), 3.77 (8H, s, CH₂SPh), 3.16 (3H, s, OMe), 2.06 (3H, s, Me); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 166.9, 162.4, 154.6, 134.5, 131.9, 131.7, 131.1, 129.4, 128.9, 122.9, 114.4, 65.2, 63.2, 62.2, 52.0, 20.9; m/z

560 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for $C_{32}H_{32}S_2O_5$: C, 68.57; H, 5.71. Found: C, 68.58; H, 5.72.

3.7.2. Cyclophane 18. Colourless solid; yield 35%; R_f 0.6 (CHCl₃/MeOH 3:1); mp 167–170 °C; IR (cm⁻¹) 3442 (br, OH); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.33 (4H, d, J 8.4 Hz, Ph), 7.25 (4H, m, Ph), 7.16 (2H, s, Ph), 6.94 (4H, d, J 8.4 Hz, Ph), 6.37 (2H, s, OH), 5.04 (4H, s, CH₂OPh), 3.98 (4H, s, CH₂SPh), 2.29 (4H, s, CH₂SPh); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 167.6, 152.1, 145.6, 133.1, 132.2, 129.2, 126.3, 125.8, 82.7, 40.8, 29.7, 27.4, 27.2; *m/z* 516 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₃₀H₂₈S₂O₄: C, 69.77; H, 5.43. Found: C, 69.78; H, 5.44.

3.8. General procedure for the synthesis of bicompartmental cyclophanes

A solution of cyclophane (1.0 equiv) and dihalide (1.0 equiv) was stirred with K_2CO_3 (4.0 equiv) in dry acetone for 120 h. The reaction mixture was then acidified with 4 M HCl (10 mL) and evaporated to dryness. The residue was extracted with CH_2Cl_2 (3×100 mL) and dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄. Evaporation of the organic layer gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography using hexane/CHCl₃ (1:4) to give the corresponding bicompartmental cyclophane.

3.8.1. Bicompartmental cyclophane 10. Colourless solid; yield 18%; R_f 0.55 (hexane/CHCl₃ 3:1); mp 190–192 °C; IR (cm⁻¹) 2915, 1650, 1550, 1300, 1235, 1019, 665; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.30 (8H, d, *J* 8.4 Hz, Ph), 7.28 (4H, s, Ph), 7.25 (2H, s, Ph), 6.99 (8H, d, *J* 8.4 Hz, Ph), 5.80 (12H, s, CH₂OPh), 4.60 (8H, s, CH₂SPh), 3.80 (6H, s, OMe), 2.32 (6H, s, Me); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) 158.4, 154.2, 134.3, 133.3, 130.8, 129.9, 128.1, 114.9, 114.7, 71.6, 65.4, 65.2, 65.1, 63.1, 59.8, 21.0; m/z 918 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₅₆H₅₄O₈S₂: C, 73.20; H, 5.88: Found: C, 73.21; H, 5.89.

3.8.2. Bicompartmental cyclophane 11. Colourless solid; yield 16%; R_f 0.5 (hexane/CHCl₃ 3:1); mp 182–185 °C; IR (cm⁻¹) 2980, 1728, 1609, 1520, 1308, 1212, 666; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.30 (4H, d, *J* 8.6 Hz, Ph), 7.25 (4H, m, Ph), 7.21 (4H, d, *J* 8.6 Hz, Ph), 7.15 (2H, s, Ph), 6.82 (4H, d, *J* 8.6 Hz, Ph), 5.13 (4H, s, CH₂OPh), 4.66 (4H, s, CH₂OPh), 5.13 (4H, s, CH₂OPh), 4.66 (4H, s, CH₂OPh), 4.10 (4H, s, CH₂SPh), 4.09 (4H, s, CH₂SPh), 3.97 (3H, s, COOMe), 3.80 (3H, s, OMe), 2.27 (3H, s, Me); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) 168.0, 152.8, 133.6, 133.1, 132.8, 132.4, 131.3, 131.0, 130.1, 129.8, 129.4, 128.9, 128.8, 127.5, 124.3, 124.0, 117.9, 115.3, 114.1, 111.2, 68.3, 38.8, 32.0, 29.5, 23.8, 23.1, 22.8; *m*/z 979 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₅₆H₅₁O₁₁S₂N: C, 68.78; H, 5.22; N, 1.43. Found: C, 68.79; H, 5.21; N, 1.44.

3.8.3. Bicompartmental cyclophane 12. Colourless solid; yield 16%; R_f 0.6 (hexane/CHCl₃ 3:1); mp123–126 °C; IR (cm⁻¹) 2958, 1653, 1206, 658; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 8.80 (4H, m, Ph), 7.50 (4H, d, J 8.4 Hz, Ph), 7.45–7.47 (4H, m, Ph), 7.41 (4H, d, J 8.4 Hz, Ph), 7.32 (4H, d, J 8.4 Hz, Ph), 7.12 (4H, d, J 8.4 Hz, Ph), 5.92 (4H, s, CH₂OPh), 4.33 (4H, s, CH₂OPh), 4.00 (4H, s, CH₂OPh), 3.98 (8H, s, CH₂SPh), 3.34 (3H, s, OMe), 2.04 (3H, s, Me); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 152.7, 151.7, 130.8, 129.5, 128.3, 127.8, 127.3, 126.9, 126.3, 125.9, 124.5, 124.4, 124.1, 123.8, 121.2,

118.2, 117.9, 115.5, 46.2, 44.1, 42.8, 40.7, 40.5, 40.3, 38.2; m/z 874 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₅₄H₅₀O₇S₂: C, 74.14; H, 5.72. Found: C, 74.15; H, 5.73.

3.8.4. Bicompartmental cyclophane 13. Colourless solid; yield 19%; R_f 0.55 (hexane/CHCl₃ 3:1); $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ -108 (*c* 0.2, CHCl₃); mp 175–178 °C; IR (cm⁻¹) 2915, 1729, 1646, 1201, 693; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 8.06 (2H, s, Ph), 8.02 (2H, s, Ph), 7.90–7.95 (4H, m, Binol *H*), 7.8 (4H, d, *J* 8.4 Hz, Ph), 7.41–7.44 (4H, m, Binol *H*), 7.12 (4H, d, *J* 8.4 Hz, Ph), 5.95 (4H, s, CH₂OPh), 4.45 (4H, s, CH₂OPh), 3.79 (4H, s, CH₂SPh), 3.78 (4H, s, CH₂SPh), 3.71 (3H, s, OMe), 2.09 (3H, s, Me); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 172.1, 152.6, 133.6, 133.4, 131.8, 131.3, 130.9, 130.7, 130.2, 129.4, 128.4, 128.2, 128.1, 127.7, 127.4, 127.2, 127.1, 126.9, 126.7, 126.3, 126.1, 125.9, 46.3, 42.9, 40.7, 40.6, 40.3, 28.2; *m/z* 926 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₅₆H₄₆O₉S₂: C, 72.57; H, 4.97. Found: C, 72.58; H, 4.98.

3.8.5. Bicompartmental cyclophane 19. Colourless solid; yield 19%; R_f 0.65 (hexane/CHCl₃ 3:1); mp 106–108 °C; IR (cm⁻¹) 2914, 1620, 1190, 997, 670; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.51 (4H, d, *J* 5.4 Hz, Ph), 7.37 (4H, d, *J* 5.4 Hz, Ph), 7.05 (4H, d, *J* 8.4 Hz, Ph), 6.91 (4H, d, *J* 8.4 Hz, Ph), 5.15 (12H, s, CH₂OPh), 4.55 (4H, s, CH₂SPh), 4.09 (4H, s, CH₂SPh); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 166.9, 162.4, 154.6, 134.5, 131.9, 131.7, 131.1, 129.4, 128.9, 114.4, 65.6, 65.2, 52.0, 30.1; *m/z* 830 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₅₂H₄₆O₆S₂: C, 75.18; H, 5.54. Found: C, 75.19; H, 5.55.

3.8.6. Bicompartmental cyclophane 20. Colourless solid; yield 17%; R_f 0.55 (hexane/CHCl₃ 3:1); mp 134–136 °C; IR (cm⁻¹) 2952, 1610, 1200, 1005, 665; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.39–7.40 (2H, s, Ph), 7.33 (4H, d, *J* 8.6 Hz, Ph), 7.25 (2H, s, Ph), 7.21 (4H, d, *J* 8.6 Hz, Ph), 7.15 (4H, m, Ph), 6.82 (4H, d, *J* 8.6 Hz, Ph), 6.77 (4H, d, *J* 8.6 Hz, Ph), 4.55 (4H, s, CH₂OPh), 4.50 (8H, s, CH₂OPh), 4.43 (4H, s, CH₂SPh), 4.37 (4H, s, CH₂SPh), 3.97 (3H, s, OMe), 3.80 (3H, s, Me); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 170.4, 162.9, 162.8, 158.2, 154.6, 154.4, 142.7, 142.5, 134.7, 132.8, 132.5, 131.3, 131.2, 130.7, 130.5, 121.1, 121.0, 120.8, 62.7, 62.3, 60.5, 39.8, 32.5, 27.8, 20.7; m/z 874 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₅₄H₅₀O₇S₂: C, 74.14; H, 5.72. Found: C, 74.15; H, 5.73.

3.8.7. Bicompartmental cyclophane 21. Colourless solid; yield 19%; R_f 0.6 (hexane/CHCl₃ 3:1); mp 157–160 °C; IR (cm⁻¹) 2928, 1720, 1650, 1525, 1358, 1218, 628; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.83 (4H, m, Ph), 7.59 (4H, m, Ph), 7.57 (4H, d, *J* 6.9 Hz, Ph), 7.52 (4H, d, *J* 6.9 Hz, Ph), 6.99 (4H, d, *J* 8.4 Hz, Ph), 6.66 (4H, d, *J* 8.4 Hz, Ph), 4.29 (4H, s, CH₂OPh), 3.98 (4H, s, CH₂OPh), 3.86 (8H, s, CH₂SPh), 2.47 (3H, s, COOMe); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) 163.4, 156.2, 140.1, 134.1, 132.9, 132.6, 132.0, 131.9, 130.5, 130.3, 129.9, 129.3, 129.2, 124.0, 115.8, 114.2, 113.9, 103.7, 77.6, 68.1, 67.9, 59.7, 53.4, 49.3, 35.0; *m*/z 933 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₅₄H₄₇O₁₀S₂N: C, 69.45; H, 5.04. Found: C, 69.46; H, 5.05.

3.8.8. Bicompartmental cyclophane 22. Colourless solid; yield 10%; R_f 0.5 (hexane/CHCl₃ 3:1); $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ -120 (*c* 0.2, CHCl₃); mp 118–120 °C; IR (cm⁻¹) 2958, 1710, 1201, 998, 706; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.95 (4H, d, *J* 9.2 Hz, Ph),

7.87–7.89 (4H, m, Binol *H*), 7.38 (2H, s, Ph), 7.36 (4H, d, *J* 9.2 Hz, Ph), 7.32–7.33 (4H, m, Ph), 7.30–7.31 (2H, m, Binol *H*), 7.28–7.29 (2H, m, Binol *H*), 7.25 (4H, s, Binol *H*), 5.11 (4H, s, *CH*₂OPh), 3.95 (4H, s, *CH*₂SPh), 3.38 (4H, s, *CH*₂SPh); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 188.2, 155.2, 153.2, 152.8, 152.0, 149.7, 146.3, 137.6, 136.0, 136.4, 135.8, 133.5, 132.8, 129.1, 128.9, 127.6, 127.5, 127.4, 127.2, 123.1, 83.3, 80.7, 80.2, 80.1, 27.8; *m/z* 882 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₅₄H₄₂O₈S₂: C, 73.47; H, 4.76. Found: C, 73.48; H, 4.77.

3.9. Complexation studies

Charge transfer complexation studies were carried out by preparing a 1×10^{-6} M solution of cyclophanes 10, 19, 20 and **21** with gradual addition of acceptor (2 mg) in DMF solvent (10 mL). Gradual addition of TCNQ to cyclophanes 10, 19, 20 and 21 rapidly increased the intensity of charge transfer bands at 751, 775 and 850 nm. The equilibrium constant was measured at 850 nm only. The equilibrium constant for the CT complex derived from 10, 19, 20 and 21 with TCNE was measured at 849 nm though absorption bands were also observed at 825 and 849 nm. Absorbance was measured at a suitable wavelength while the concentration of TCNQ and TCNE was varied and the concentration of the cyclophane receptor was kept constant. Plot of D_0/A $(D_0$ is the concentration of cyclophane and A is the concentration of acceptor) versus $1/A_0$ (A_0 is the absorbance of the complex at charge transfer transition) gave a straight line that indicated that the stoichiometry of the complex was 1:1. Applying Benesi-Hildebrabd equation, the reciprocal of the intercept on the Y-axis was used to provide ϵ^{AD} (ε of the donor-acceptor complex) and from the slope of the line K_c^{AD} (equilibrium constant of the donor-acceptor complex) was calculated. From this data the stability constants of the charge transfer complexes of cyclophanes 10, 19, 20 and 21 with the acceptors TCNQ and TCNE were determined.

Acknowledgements

R.K.L. thanks CSIR, New Delhi for financial assistance and for the award of SRF. The authors thank, RSIC, IIT Madras, CLRI, Chennai for recording NMR spectra, Mrs. K. Krishnaveni, University of madras for recording mass spectra and Ms Asharani, University of Madras for recording UV spectra.

References and notes

- (a) Miller, M. T.; Bachmann, B. O.; Townend, C. A.; Rosenzwig, A. C. *Nat. Struct. Biol.* 2001, *8*, 684; (b) Golden, B. L.; Gooding, A. R.; Podell, E. R.; Cech, T. R. *Science* 1999, 282, 259.
- Severin, K.; Lee, D. H.; Kennan, A. J.; Ghadiri, M. R. *Nature* 1997, 389, 706.
- 3. Myers, J. K.; Oas, T. G. Nat. Struct. Biol. 2001, 8, 552.
- Toplova, M. G.; Tereshko, V.; Inamathi, G. B.; Cook, P. D.; Manoharan, M.; Egli, M. *Nat. Struct. Biol.* **1999**, *6*, 535.
- Burke, S. D.; Zhao, Q.; Schuster, M. C.; Kiessling, L. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 123, 4518.
- 6. Vinod, T. K.; Hart, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 3250.

- 7. Spencer, N.; Stoddart, J. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 5286.
- (a) Rajakumar, P.; Srisailas, M. *Tetrahedron* 2001, *57*, 9749;
 (b) Rajakumar, P.; Srisailas, M. *Tetrahedron* 2002, *43*, 1909;
 (c) Rajakumar, P.; Srisailas, M. *Tetrahedron* 2003, *59*, 5373;
 (d) Rajakumar, P.; Dhanasekaran, M. *Tetrahedron* 2002, *58*, 1355;
 (e) Rajakumar, P.; Murali, V. *Tetrahedron* 2000, *56*, 7795.
- 9. Rajakumar, P.; Selvam, S.; Dhanasekaran, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2005, 46, 6127.
- 10. Rajakumar, P.; Srisailas, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 2885.
- Kumar, S.; Hundal, M. S.; Hundal, G.; Singh, P.; Bhalla, V.; Singh, H. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1998, 925.
- 12. Rajakumar, P.; Srisailas, M.; Kanagalatha, R. *Tetrahedron* **2003**, *58*, 5365.
- 13. Srisailas, M. Ph.D. thesis, University of Madras, 2002.
- 14. Rajakumar, P.; Murali, V. Tetrahedron 2004, 60, 2351.
- 15. Chuan Feng, C.; Gai Jiao, J.; Ji Sheng, L.; Deo Den, Z. Chin. Chem. Lett. **1998**, *9*, 931.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9742–9750

Oxidative cleavage of ribofuranose 5-(*α***-hydroxyphosphonates):** a route to erythrofuranose-based nucleoside phosphonic acids

Šárka Králíková, Miloš Buděšínský, Ivana Tomečková and Ivan Rosenberg*

Institute of Organic Chemistry and Biochemistry, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, Flemingovo nám. 2, 166 10 Praha 6, Czech Republic

> Received 21 November 2005; revised 4 July 2006; accepted 20 July 2006 Available online 17 August 2006

Abstract—We report here an oxidative cleavage of (5*R*)- and (5*S*)-ribofuranosyl-5-*C*-phosphonate derivatives with periodate anion under both strong acidic and neutral conditions. In both cases, only (5*R*)-configured compound underwent the expected oxidation reaction and afforded the desired (4*R*)-erythrofuranosylphosphonate, whereas the second epimer, (5*S*)-ribofuranosyl-5-*C*-phosphonate did not provide the corresponding (4*S*)-erythrofuranosylphosphonate derivative. This different behavior of epimers toward oxidative cleavage is an important phenomenon. The obtained (4*R*)-erythrofuranosylphosphonate was used for the preparation of phosphonate mimic of adenosine 5'-phosphate via classical nucleosidation reaction. Condensation of the protected shortened AMP analogue with adenosine derivatives, however, provided only the 2',5'-linked ApA analogue. Study on hybridization of the modified 2'-5' ApA with polyU revealed its ability to form stable triplex-like complex, similar to natural 2'-5' r(ApA) and 3'-5' r(ApA). NMR spectroscopy study showed that the erythrofuranose part of the phosphonate nucleotide unit of modified 2'-5' ApA was predominantly in the C2'-endo conformation, which is characteristic for B-DNA. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Structurally diverse isopolar phosphonate nucleotide analogues containing a bridging P-C bond have attracted our attention for many years.¹⁻⁷ This class of compounds, known as nucleoside phosphonic acids, represents a pool of potential antimetabolites exhibiting absolute stability against phosphomonoesterase and nucleotidase cleavage.⁸ Some of these compounds have already found clinical use as potent antivirals.^{9–11} The search for novel nucleotide analogues can reveal new biologically active compounds capable of discriminating between cellular and viral or tumor enzymes of nucleic acid metabolism, which could be used as antiviral and/or anticancer agents. In addition, novel phosphonate nucleotide analogues can be used for the construction of isopolar chimeric oligonucleotides containing nuclease-stable internucleotide linkages,⁷ for instance, similar to already prepared phosphonate 2',5'-oligoadenylates, which are potent, enzyme stable RNase L activators¹² intended for RNase L-mediated cleavage of pathogenic RNA.13

Here we present the synthesis of the isopolar, nonisosteric AMP analogue **13**, a representative of a new class of modified nucleoside 5'-phosphates, the structure of which

resembles the features of the earlier reported nucleoside phosphonic acids $1^{14,15}$ and $2^{16,17}$ (Fig. 1), and the *ribo* ApA dimer **18a** with the isopolar, shortened phosphonate internucleotide linkage.



Figure 1.

2. Results and discussion

The strategy for the synthesis of **13** originated from the suitably protected ribofuranosyl-5-*C*-phosphonate derivative **7a**, the key compound obtained by a four-step synthesis from 1,2:5,6-di-*O*-isopropylidene- α -D-allofuranose (**3**).¹⁸ Benzoylation of **3** afforded compound **4**, which was selectively deprotected in 60% aqueous acetic acid at 50 °C to give **5**. Oxidation of the vicinal diol of **5** with sodium periodate in aqueous acetone resulted in the aldehyde **6**. Subsequent addition of diethyl phosphite to aldehyde **6** in the presence of triethylamine provided a 1:1 epimeric mixture of (*R*)- and (*S*)-5-*C*-phosphonates **7a** and **7b**, respectively, in an overall 54% yield (Scheme 1). The epimers were

Keywords: AMP analogue; Nucleoside phosphonic acid; Sugar phosphonate; Periodate oxidation; NMR conformational analysis.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +420 220 183 381; fax: +420 220 183 578; e-mail: ivan@uochb.cas.cz

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter @ 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.056



Scheme 1. (i) Benzoylcyanide, CH₃CN, TEA; (ii) 60% aq acetic acid, 50 °C, 3 h; (iii) NaIO₄, 70% aq acetone, 0 °C, 8 h; (iv) HP(O)(OEt)₂, TEA, DCM, 80 °C, 24 h; (v) (a) HIO₄, 50% aq dioxane, 60 °C, 3 days; (b) 0.1 M TEAB; (vi) Ac₂O, DMAP, pyridine, 16 h, rt; (vii) silylated 6-*N*-benzoyladenine, SnCl₄, CH₃CN, 24 h, rt; (viii) 1 M NaOH, 48 h, rt; (ix) Me₃SiBr, CH₃CN, 24 h, rt. Yields of compounds **4**, **5**, and **6** were estimated from TLC (compounds were used for further reaction step without purification).

separated by silica gel chromatography and subjected to subsequent oxidative cleavage separately. to depend on the time of oxidation of **7a**, workup of **9a**, and conditions for acetylation of **9a** to **10**.

2.1. Oxidative cleavage of 7a (Scheme 1)

Hydrolysis of the 1,2-O-isopropylidene group of 7a and subsequent oxidative cleavage of the C1-C2 bond, performed in one step by aqueous periodic acid, led to an equilibrium mixture of 8 and 9a in which the 3-O-formyl group protects the acyclic form 8 (if present) from further oxidative cleavage of the C4-C5 bond. We attempted to verify the presence of the 3-O-formyl group in the product (8 or 9a) but neither treatment with 0.1 M TEAB in aqueous dioxane¹⁹ nor heating in 80% aqueous pyridine²⁰ changed the mobility on TLC or RP HPLC. It did not seem that the 3-O-formyl group in 8 could survive in strongly acidic conditions during several days' treatment with aqueous periodic acid. Thus, we concluded that the nascent acyclic form 8 has to undergo a very fast cyclization reaction to furanose 9a. Then both the formyl derivative 9a and the deformylated compound 9b are resistant against oxidative cleavage by periodic acid. Since the subsequent acetylation resulted in the expected acetyl derivative 10 in good yield, the final product of oxidative cleavage of 7a with periodic acid must have been predominantly the furanose 9b.

Note: the transformation of compound **9b** to **10**, which we performed several times has resulted in several cases in pure β -anomer of **10** (3-*O*-acetyl-2-*O*-benzoyl) but in several cases also in an anomeric mixture of both 3-*O*-acetyl-2-*O*-benzoyl and 2-*O*-acetyl-3-*O*-benzoyl regioisomers. We believe that each of these isomers afforded, after nucleosidation and deprotection, the identical product. The formation of the regioisomers (migration of the benzoyl group) seems

2.2. Oxidative cleavage of 7b (Scheme 1)

On the other hand, treatment of **7b** with periodic acid to obtain **14** caused a total decomposition of compound **7b** with the formation of a very complex mixture of derivatives. Application of a two-step procedure²⁰ using 90% aqueous TFA for hydrolysis of 1,2-*O*-isopropylidene group in **7b** in the first step, and then, after removal of TFA, sodium periodate oxidative cleavage in the second step also led to a total decomposition of **7b**. Under the same conditions, the epimer **7a** reacted as smoothly as with periodic acid alone and following acetylation provided a comparable yield of product **10**.

The nature of the very different reactivities of 7a and 7b toward periodic acid (or TFA-sodium periodate²⁰) is not quite clear. The explanation for this phenomenon could perhaps be seen in the equilibrium between acyclic structure 7c and its furanose form, which can be shifted in favor of the acyclic compound 7c. Under such conditions, hydrolysis of the 3-O-formyl group in the acyclic structure 7c leads to 7d and this compound, bearing a C3-C4 vicinal diol, is immediately cleaved by periodic acid (or sodium periodate) (Scheme 2). It can be speculated that the cleavage of the O-formyl group could proceed in an oxidative manner via the extremely labile carbonic acid monoester (R-OCOOH) but, more likely, groupings like P=O or hydrated C1 aldehyde $CH(OH)_2$ in 7c could facilitate the formyl group hydrolysis via intramolecular participation due to a favorable conformation (Scheme 2). Similarly, the different reactivity of epimers 7a and 7b toward acetolysis was described recently; whereas the epimer 7a provided the expected

product, the second epimer **7b** afforded a mixture of compounds.²¹



Scheme 2. Proposed mechanisms of periodate degradation of (*S*)-configured 5-hydroxyphosphonate 7c.

Concerning the different reactivity of 7a and 7b toward periodate oxidation, the separation of epimers 7a and 7b does not seem to be, from a practical point of view, too advantageous since the yield of 10, when the reaction was carried out with an epimeric mixture, varied in the range of 38-51% whereas with pure epimer 7a, it was 65-73%.

The nucleosidation reaction of the sugar phosphonate 10 with silvlated 6-N-benzoyladenine in the presence of SnCl₄ provided a mixture of products in which the expected derivative 11 was not recognized. Therefore, the mixture was treated with concentrated aqueous ammonia to remove acyl-protecting groups, and the adenine-containing compounds were desalted on Dowex 50. A mixture of diethyland monoethyl ester 12a and 12b was obtained as the only products in a low yield of 13-20%. Diester 12a was converted to the monoester 12b by treatment with dilute sodium hydroxide and compound 12b was isolated on Dowex 1 by a gradient elution with acetic acid in water. With respect to the low yield, the nucleosidation reaction, a weak point of the synthesis, still remains open for improvement. Replacement of tin tetrachloride by trimethylsilyl triflate in the nucleosidation reaction did not provide any of the expected products 12a and 12b. Compound 12b was transformed into the free phosphonic acid 13 by treatment with bromotrimethylsilane in the presence of 2,6-lutidine to prevent potential furanose ring cleavage. Ion exchange chromatography on Dowex 1 afforded the pure free phosphonic acid 13.

Since compound 13 is a 'shortened' nucleotide analogue, its incorporation into an oligonucleotide chain was considered to be very interesting with respect to hybridization properties of the modified chain. Shortening of the internucleotide linkage renders the chain with reduced number of degrees of freedom, which could positively influence hybridization ability as it was found recently for another type of shortened linkage.²² For the study of changes induced by the presence of a modified internucleotide linkage, the dimers, as the shortest oligonucleotides capable of base-stacking and base-pairing, have been employed as model compounds.^{23,24} For the synthesis of modified ApA dimers 18a and 18b, the monoester **12b** was benzoylated by *N*-benzoyltetrazole²⁵ to yield a mixture of fully and partially benzoylated phosphonates 15a and 15b, which was resolved by silica gel chromatography. Derivative 15a was converted into the protected phosphonic acid 16 by bromotrimethylsilane treatment, and this compound was condensed with a mixture of 2'(3')-O-acetyl derivatives 17 in pyridine using DCC. Deprotection in concentrated ammonia and chromatography on Dowex 1 in acetate form afforded only the 2'-5' regioisomer 18a in a low yield (15%). No 3'-5' regioisomer 18b was isolated. Concerning the ratio of the 2'-O- and 3'-O-

acetyl derivatives of 17, we found by NMR for regioisomers at the beginning of the condensation and after 48 h of standing in pyridine solution practically identical ratios (31:69 and 29:71, respectively). Since we still reasoned that 3'-5'dimer 18b was not obtained due to both low yield of condensation and relatively low content of 2'-O-acetyl regioisomer in the mixture of acetyl derivatives 17, we prepared compounds 19a and 19b in which the 2'-hydroxyl was protected with nonmigrating, alkali-stable tetrahydropyranyl and 1-(2chloroethoxy)ethyl groups, respectively, and condensed them with 16. Surprisingly, also in this case we did not obtain the expected 3'-5' isomer **18b**. Neither higher concentration of the reactants nor the presence of DMAP gave rise to the product 18b. Concerning the formation of the phosphonate anhydride 20 as the primary product in the DCC-induced condensation, and its further activation by DCC, it can be concluded that the DCC-activated anhydride 20 cannot be attacked, due to a steric hindrance, by the 3'-hydroxyl of compounds 19a and 19b. We did not find any other reasonable explanation for this phenomenon.

2.3. Conformational features of dimer 18a

Strong NOE contacts between H-8 of the adenine, and H-2' and H-3' of the furanose ring in both nucleoside residues indicate the preferred *anti* conformation of both adenine moieties. The only interresidual NOE contact was observed between H-2'and H-8 that is commonly used for sequential assignment in oligonucleotides. From the vicinal proton couplings in the furanose rings (Table 2), a generalized Karplus-Haasnoot equation,²⁶ and the two-state pseudorotation model we could establish for dimer 18a (Scheme 3) in aqueous solution a similar population of C3'-endo and C2'-endo form (ratio \approx 58:42) for 'upper' furanose ring (residue A), whilst for the 'lower' furanose ring (residue B) the C2'endo form significantly prevails (ratio C3'-endo:C2'-endo≈ 14:86). For comparison, in natural ribo ApA dimers (for NMR data see Tables 1-3) we estimated the ratios of C3'-endo:C2'-endo form to be approximately 45:55 for 'upper' ring and 55:45 for 'lower' ring in the case of 2'-5' r(ApA), and \approx 58:42 for both rings in 3'-5' r(ApA). The dimer 18a differs from natural *ribo* ApA dimers mainly in the preference for the C2'-endo conformation in the 'lower' ring with a phosphonate group in position C4'.

Concerning the conformational features of the prepared dimer 18a, we have subjected it to a study of hybridization properties with polyU to compare them with those of natural 2'-5' r(ApA) and 3'-5' r(ApA) isomers. The hypochromic effect of the complexes [18a*polyU] at various ratios of 18a and polyU was measured at 260 nm in the presence of Mg²⁺ ions at 3 °C, and at total base concentration of 0.15 mM. The obtained mixing curve exhibited a local minimum at 1A:2U ratio, indicating triplex-like complex formation (curve not shown). The same stoichiometry was found for both natural ApA dimers. The thermal characteristics of the complex [polyU*18a*polyU] exhibited only single transition profile suggesting direct dissociation of pseudo triplex structure into individual strands. Shortening of the internucleotide linkage in ApA analogue 18a does not influence the complex stability in comparison with natural phosphodiester linkage. Under experimental conditions, the $T_{\rm m}$ value of the complex is 15 °C and lies very close



Scheme 3. (i) N-Benzoyltetrazole, DMAP, DMF, 55 $^{\circ}$ C; (ii) Me₃SiBr, CH₃CN, 24 h, rt; (iii) (a) 16, DCC, pyridine, 5 days, rt; (b) 1 M TBAF in THF, 16 h, rt; (c) concd aq ammonia, 48 h, rt; (iv) (a) 16 and 17a or 17b, DCC, pyridine, 5 days, rt; (b) 1 M TBAF in THF, 16 h, rt; (c) concd aq ammonia, 48 h, rt; (d) aq 0.1 M HCl, 16 h, rt.

Table 1. Proton NMR chemical shifts

Compd	Solv.	H-1′	H-2′	H-3′	H-4′	H-5′	H-5″	H-2	H-8	Other protons
13	D ₂ O+NaOD	5.81	4.75	4.33	4.08	_	_	8.67	8.22	
7a	DMSO	5.91	4.88	5.20	4.63	4.16	_	_	_	5'-OH: 6.10; 2×OEt: 3.95 (4H),
										1.15 (3H), 1.09 (3H); <i>i</i> -Pr: 1.41 (3H), 1.26 (3H); B ₇ : 8.01 (2H)
										7.65 (1H), 7.54 (1H)
7b	DMSO	5.90	4.90	4.96	4.43	3.99	—	—	—	5'-OH: 5.85; 2×OEt: 4.05 (4H),
										1.22 (3H), 1.21 (3H); <i>i</i> -Pr: 1.42 (2H), 1.26 (2H); P_{77} ; 8.02
										(2H), 7.70 (1H), 7.56 (1H)
10	DMSO	6.27	5.53	5.69	4.57	_	_	_	_	2×OAc: 2.10 (3H), 1.96 (3H);
										Bz: 8.03 (2H), 7.71 (1H),
										7.57 (2H); 2×OEt: 4.09 (4H), 1.25 (3H) 1.245 (3H)
	CDCl ₃	6.34	5.64	5.90	4.44	_	_	_	_	$2 \times OAc: 2.15 (3H), 2.01 (3H); Bz:$
										8.04 (2H), 7.62 (1H), 7.48 (2H);
101	DMGO	5.00	1.02	4.2.4	4.15			9.50	0.24	2×OEt: 4.20 (4H), 1.35 (6H)
120	DMSO	5.99	4.02	4.34	4.15	_	_	8.50	0.24	OEt: 3.93 (2H) = 1.16 (3H)
	D_2O	6.11	4.79	4.60	4.30	_	_	8.53	8.18	OEt: 3.98 (2H), 1.24 (3H)
18a residue A	D_2O	6.17	5.16	4.61	4.24	3.90	3.77	7.72	8.06	_
18a residue B	_	5.60	4.41	4.49	4.26			8.11	8.21	—
2'-5' ApA residue A	D_2O	5.79	4.62	4.60	4.31	3.85	3.7	7.86	8.19	—
2'-5' ApA residue B		5.92	4.53	4.46	4.32	4.32	4.14	8.01	8.13	—

Table 2. Coupling constants of protons

Compd	Solv.			Proton	-proton				Prot	ton-phospl	norus	
		1',2'	2',3'	3',4'	4′,5′	4',5″	5',5"	1′,P	2′,P	3′,P	4′,P	5′,P
13	D_2O	7.4	5.3	2.2	_	_	_			7.2	6.2	
7a	DMSO	3.9	5.6	7.6	2.4	_	_				3.9	13.0
7b	DMSO	3.8	5.1	8.5	2.7	_	_				2.7	13.0
10	DMSO	1.2	4.6	7.6	_	_	_			13.8	1.0	
	CDCl ₃	1.4	4.7	8.0	_	_	_			14.2	0.9	
12b	DMSO	7.6	4.6	1.6	_	_	_	2.0		6.1	3.5	
	D_2O	6.7	5.1	3.1	_			1.2		7.8	4.3	
18a residue A	D_2O	4.1	5.3	5.5	2.2	3.2	13.1		9.3			
18a residue B	D_2O	6.9	4.8	2.4	_	_	_			7.4	5.4	
2'-5' ApA residue A	D_2O	3.5	5.0	5.0	2.5	3.6	13.1			9.0		
2'-5' ApA residue B	D_2O	4.1	5.1	5.4	2.5	3.8	12.2					3.8

Compd	Solv.				Ch	emical shift (coup	ling constants J((C,P))					
		C-1′	C-2′	C-3/	C-4′	C-5/	10-d	üt	C-2	C-4	C-5	C-6	C-8
7a ^a	DMSO	104.79	78.00	79.52 (12.7)	71.30	66.32 (165.0)	62.48 (6.8)	16.44 (5.9)		I			
7b ^b	DMSO	104.79	77.15	78.20 (2.4)	72.24 (9.8)	65.70 (165.0)	62.21 (0.8) 62.68 (6.8) 62 10 (6.8)	16.38 (5.9) 16.69 (5.9) 16.62 (5.0)	I	I			Ι
10 ^c	CDCl ₃	98.31	74.11	70.51	75.41	I	02.10 (0.0) 63.41 (5.9) 64.57 (5.0)	10.02 (J.9) 16.40 (5.9) 16.40 (5.0)	Ι	I	I	Ι	
12b	DMSO	87.32	74.53	71.15 (6.8)	81.38 (155.3)		(6.2) (5.3) (61.22) (6.3)	10.40 (J.9) 16.71 (4.9)	156.48	151.32	119.25	156.48	140.26
12b	D_2O	89.27 (4.4)	77.88 (3.4)	73.93 (5.4)	83.97 (158.2)		64.57 (5.9)	18.93 (5.9)	155.57	152.01	121.28	158.30	142.85
18a residue A	D_2O	91.32 (6.4)	81.16 (6.3)	79.07 (2.9)	87.61	63.77			155.60	151.06	120.86	158.12	143.64
18a residue B	D_2O	88.76 (3.9)	73.27	73.56 (7.3)	84.88 (157.2)				154.66	150.33	120.77	157.47	141.91
2'-5' ApA residue A	$\overline{D_20}$	87.23	72.55	73.09	83.24	60.23			151.55	147.76	118.26	154.58	138.51
2'-5' ApA residue B	D_2O	88.77	73.88	68.98	82.37	64.04			152.12	147.13	117.78	154.45	139.47
^a Additional signals, C	Bz: 165.22,	133.82, 129.70 (2	2), 129.57, 128.5	$(7 (2); >C(CH_3)_2$: 112.57, 27.19, 20	5.94.							
^c Additional signals, C	×0Ac: 169.48	1.24.10, 129.82 (J 21, 169.06, 20.91,	, 20.33; OBz: 16	54.89, 133.72, 129	9.79 (2), 128.71, 10 9.79 (2), 128.71, 1	28.58 (2).							

 Table 3. Carbon-13 NMR data

to the $T_{\rm m}$ values of both 2'-5' and 3'-5' natural *ribo* (ApA) dimers, which are 13 and 16 °C, respectively.²³

3. Conclusion

Only (R)-epimer of the erythrofuranosyl-4-C-phosphonate has been prepared via periodic acid-mediated oxidative cleavage of an epimeric mixture of the pentofuranosyl-5-C-phosphonate derivatives. We proposed a mechanism for explaining different reactivities of starting (5R)- and (5S)pentofuranosylphosphonates toward oxidation. The usefulness of the prepared sugar phosphonate derivative for the synthesis of novel nucleoside phosphonic acids was proved at the nucleosidation reaction with protected adenine giving an isopolar, nonisosteric AMP analogue. Besides, the corresponding 2'-5'-linked diadenosine monophosphate analogue was prepared and its hybridization properties were evaluated. NMR spectroscopy study of the dimer showed that the sugar part of the ribo-configured phosphonate nucleotide unit was predominantly in the C2'-endo conformation, which is characteristic for B-DNA and not for RNA. The obtained results suggest that a thorough study on the synthesis of nucleoside phosphonic acids with various nucleobases, their 2'- and 3'-deoxy derivatives, and also their incorporation into longer oligonucleotides seems to be fully justified and highly desirable.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

Unless stated otherwise, the solvents were concentrated at 40 °C using a rotary evaporator. The products were dried over phosphorus pentoxide at 40-50 °C and 13 Pa. The course of the reactions was followed by TLC on silica gel Merck and Fluka UV 254 foils and the products were visualized by UV monitoring. Preparative column chromatography (PLC) was performed on silica gel (40-60 µm, Fluka) whereby the amount of sorbent used was 20-40 times the weight of the mixture separated. Elution was performed at the linear flow rate of 2-4 cm min⁻¹. For TLC and PLC runs, the following solvent systems were used (v/v): tolueneethyl acetate 1:1 (T), chloroform-ethanol 9:1 (C), ethyl acetate-acetone-ethanol-water 4:1:1:1 (H1) and 12:2:2:1 (H3), 2-propanol-concentrated aqueous ammonia-water 7:1:2 (IPAW). The HPLC analyses were performed on a LC 5000 liquid chromatograph (INGOS, Czech Republic) using Luna C18 5 μ m reverse phase column (4.6×150 mm; Phenomenex), by gradient of methanol in 0.1 M triethylammonium acetate buffer. Mass spectra (m/z) were recorded on ZAB-EQ (VG Analytical) instrument, using FAB in both positive and negative modes (ionization by Xe, accelerating voltage 8 kV) with glycerol-thioglycerol (3:1) and 2-hydroxyethyldisulfide as matrices. ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were measured on Varian Unity 500 instrument (¹H at 500 MHz, ¹³C at 125.7 MHz) in DMSO (referenced to the solvent signals $\delta_{\rm H}$ =2.50 and $\delta_{\rm C}$ =39.7), CDCl₃ (referenced to TMS), and D₂O (referenced to DSS). Signals in the ¹H NMR spectra were assigned to protons on the basis of chemical shifts, observed multiplicities, and homonuclear 2D-COSY experiments. Chemical shifts and interaction constants were obtained from a first-order spectra analysis as read from expanded records. The exchange of hydroxyl protons for deuterium was carried out using several drops of tetradeuterioacetic acid. Assignments of signals in ¹³C NMR spectra were accomplished on the basis of J-modulated spectra (APT) enabling to discriminate between C, CH, CH₂, and CH₃ signals, and in some cases confirmed by ¹H, ¹³C-correlated HMQC spectra. The ¹H and ¹³C NMR data are summarized in Tables 1–3.

4.2. (5*RS*)-3-*O*-Benzoyl-1,2-*O*-isopropylidene-D-ribo-furanos-5-*C*-ylphosphonate (7a, 7b)

1.2:5.6-di-O-isopropylidene- α -D-allofuranose¹⁸ 3 The (13.01 g, 50 mmol) was treated with benzoylcyanide (7.21 g, 55 mmol) and triethylamine (0.695 mL, 5 mmol) in acetonitrile (60 mL) at 0 °C under exclusion of moisture (TLC in T-1) overnight. The reaction mixture was quenched by addition of methanol (5 mL) and the solvent was evaporated in vacuo. The residue was dissolved in chloroform and the organic layer was washed several times with water. After evaporation of solvent, the benzoyl derivative 4 was treated with 60% aqueous acetic acid (600 mL) at 50 °C for 3 h (TLC in T-1 and C-1). The acid was evaporated in vacuo, the residue was taken into chloroform (300 mL), and the organic layer was washed with saturated aqueous solution of NaCl (250 mL). The layers were separated by centrifugation, the organic layer was washed with water $(4 \times 250 \text{ mL})$, dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and evaporated. The residue was dissolved in 70% aqueous acetone (650 mL) and to this solution, saturated aqueous solution of sodium periodate (12.84 g, 60 mmol) was added at 0 °C. Resulting solution was stirred for 8 h at rt (TLC in C-1) and, after cooling the mixture in an ice bath, the suspension was filtered through Celite. Filtration cake was washed with acetone, and the combined filtrates were evaporated. The residue was re-dissolved in acetone (200 mL) and the rest of sodium iodate was filtered off. Crude aldehyde 6 was co-distilled with dry toluene, dissolved in dichloromethane (50 mL), and treated with diethyl phosphite (7.74 mL, 60 mmol) and triethylamine (2.78 mL, 20 mmol) at 80 °C for 24 h (TLC in T-1 and C-1). The solvent was evaporated in vacuo and the crude epimeric phosphonates 7a and 7b were purified on silica gel using elution with a linear gradient of ethyl acetate in toluene. Yield: 1.27 g (5%) of **7a**, 1.82 g (7%) of **7b**, and 10.72 g (42%) of the mixture of 7a and 7b. HR-FAB calcd for C₁₉H₂₈O₉P (M+H)⁺: 431.1471; found: 431.1470. Compound 7a: ν_{max} (KBr) 3430 (w, br, OH), 3243 (m, OH), 3072 (w, C-H), 2986 (m, CH₃), 2876 (w, CH₃), 1251 (s, P=O), 1219 (m), 1206 (m), 1131 (s, COCOC), 1032 (vs, POC), 1480 (w, OCH₂CH₃), 1602 (w), 1584 (w), 1492 (w), 1452 (w), 1731 (m, C=O), 1724 (s, C=O), 1275 (s, C=O), 1217 (s, $C(CH_3)_2$), 1098 (m, COCOC), 1002 (m), 688 (w) cm⁻¹. Compound **7b**: ν_{max} (KBr) 3506 (w, br, OH), 3272 (m, OH), 3066 (w, C-H), 2992 (m, CH₃), 2871 (w, CH₃), 1256 (s, P=O), 1236 (s, P=O), 1219 (m), 1206 (m), 1152 (s, COCOC), 1033 (vs, POC), 1601 (w), 1583 (w), 1492 (w), 1452 (w), 1731 (m, C=O), 1720 (s, C=O), 1711 (s, C=O), 1282 (s, C=O), 1100 (s, COCOC), 999 (m), 692 (w) cm⁻¹. Compound **7a**: $\delta_{\rm H}$ (500 MHz, DMSO) 8.01 (2H, m, ortho-Ar-H), 7.65 (1H, m, para-Ar-H), 7.54 (2H, meta-Ar-H), 6.10 (1H, br s, OH), 5.91 (1H, d, J=3.9 Hz, H-1'), 5.20 (1H, dd, J=7.6, 5.6 Hz, H-3'), 4.88 (1H, dd, J=5.6, 3.9 Hz, H-2'), 4.63 (1H, ddd, J=7.6, 3.9, 2.4 Hz, H-4'), 4.16 (1H, J=13.0, 2.4 Hz, H-5'), 3.95 (4H, q, J=7.0 Hz, 2×OCH₂), 1.41 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.26 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.15 (3H, t, J=7.0 Hz, OCH₂CH₃), 1.09 (3H, t, J=7.0 Hz, OCH₂CH₃); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (125.7 MHz, DMSO) 165.22, 133.82, 129.70 (2), 129.57, 128.97 (2), 112.57, 104.79, 79.52 (d, J=12.7 Hz), 78.00, 71.30, 66.32 (d, J=165.0 Hz), 62.48 (d, J=6.8 Hz), 62.21 (d, J=6.8 Hz), 27.19, 26.94, 16.44 (d, J=5.9 Hz), 16.38 (d, J=4.4 Hz). Compound **7b**: $\delta_{\rm H}$ (500 MHz, DMSO) 8.02 (2H, m, ortho-Ar-H), 7.70 (1H, m, para-Ar-H), 7.56 (2H, meta-Ar-H), 5.85 (1H, br s, OH), 5.90 (1H, d, J=3.8 Hz, H-1'), 4.96 (1H, dd, J=8.5, 5.1 Hz, H-3'), 4.90 (1H, dd, J=5.1, 3.8 Hz, H-2'), 4.43 (1H, dt, J=8.5, 2.7, 2.7 Hz, H-4'), 3.99 (1H, J=13.0, 2.7 Hz, H-5'), 4.05 (4H, q, J=7.0 Hz, 2×OCH₂), 1.42 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.26 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.22 (3H, t, J=7.0 Hz, OCH₂CH₃), 1.21 (3H, t, J=7.0 Hz, OCH₂CH₃); δ_C (125.7 MHz, DMSO) 165.48, 134.16, 129.82 (2), 129.35, 129.25 (2), 112.68, 104.79, 78.20 (d, J=2.4 Hz), 77.15, 72.24 (d, J=9.8 Hz), 68.68 (d, J=6.8 Hz), 62.10 (d, J=6.8 Hz), 27.06, 26.91, 16.69 (d, J=5.9 Hz), 16.62 (d, J=5.9 Hz). For ¹H and ¹³C NMR data see Tables 1–3.

4.3. (4*R*)-Diethyl-[1,3-di-*O*-acetyl-2-*O*-benzoyl-Derythrofuranos-4-yl]phosphonate (10)

Periodic acid dihydrate (0.99 g, 4.35 mmol) was added to a solution of phosphonate 7a (1.25 g, 2.9 mmol) in 50% aqueous dioxane (20 mL), and the reaction mixture was heated at 60 °C in the dark for 1–3 days (TLC in C-1). The solution was treated with Dowex 1×2 in acetate form (10 mL) under stirring for 10 min to remove periodate and iodate anions, the resin was filtered off, washed with 50% dioxane (30 mL). and the combined filtrates were evaporated. The residue was co-distilled several times with water to remove acetic acid, and finally treated with 0.1 M TEAB (30 mL) for 20 min. The aqueous solution was evaporated to dryness, the crude **9b** was co-distilled with methanol $(3 \times 50 \text{ mL})$, dried with pyridine $(3 \times 10 \text{ mL})$, and treated with acetic anhydride (1.21 mL, 12.8 mmol) and DMAP (20 mg) in pyridine (12 mL) overnight (TLC in C-1). The reaction mixture was quenched by addition of water (1 mL) at 0 °C, the solvent was evaporated in vacuo, and the crude product 10 was purified on silica gel by elution with a linear gradient of acetone in toluene. Yield: 940 mg (73%, yellow oil) of **10** (β -anomer). HR-FAB calcd for $C_{19}H_{26}O_{10}P$ (M+H)⁺: 445.1264; found: 445.1273. δ_H (500 MHz, CDCl₃) 8.04 (2H, m, ortho-Ar-H), 7.62 (1H, m, para-Ar-H), 7.48 (2H, meta-Ar-H), 6.34 (1H, d, J=1.4 Hz, H-1'), 5.90 (1H, ddd, J=14.2, 8.0, 4.7 Hz, H-3'), 5.64 (1H, dd, J=4.7, 1.4 Hz, H-2'), 4.44 (1H, dt, J=8.0, 0.9 Hz, H-4'), 4.20 (4H, q, J=7.0 Hz, 2×OCH₂), 2.15 (3H, s, OAc), 2.01 (3H, s, OAc), 1.35 (6H, t, J=7.0 Hz, $2 \times OCH_2CH_3$); δ_C (125.7 MHz, CDCl₃) 169.21, 169.06, 164.89, 133.72, 129.79 (2), 128.71, 128.58 (2), 98.31, 75.41, 74.11, 70.51, 64.57 (d, J=5.9 Hz), 63.41 (d, J=5.9 Hz), 16.40 (2C, d, J=5.9 Hz), 20.91, 20.33. For ¹H and ¹³C NMR data see Tables 1–3.

4.4. (4*R*)-Ethyl-[1-(adenin-9-yl)-1-deoxy-β-D-erythrofuranos-4-yl]phosphonate (12b)

6-*N*-Benzoyladenine (598 mg, 2.5 mmol) in hexamethyldisilazane (HMDS) (25 mL, 118 mmol) was refluxed in the presence of chlorotrimethylsilane (2.5 mL, 20 mmol) under stirring and exclusion of moisture for 10 h. Volatiles were removed under reduced pressure and the resulting oil was codistilled with xylene $(2 \times 15 \text{ mL})$ and acetonitrile $(2 \times 15 \text{ mL})$ to remove traces of HMDS and xylene, respectively. A solution of diethyl phosphonate 10 (940 mg, 2.1 mmol) (dried by co-distillation with toluene and acetonitrile) in acetonitrile (6 mL) was added via septum under argon to the silvlated adenine derivative followed by the addition of tin tetrachloride (0.24 mL, 2 mmol). The mixture was kept at rt for 24 h (TLC in C-1, H-1). The reaction mixture was then diluted with pyridine (1 mL) and toluene (20 mL) and stirred overnight. The thick suspension (precipitated complex of tin tetrachloride with pyridine) was filtered through Celite, washed with chloroform, and the solvents were removed under diminished pressure. The residue was treated with aqueous 1 M NaOH (50 mL) at rt for 48 h to remove the acyl-protecting groups and one ethyl ester group from 12a (TLC in C-1, H-1). The solution was neutralized by addition of Dowex 50 (H^+), the monoethyl ester **12b** was eluted with 2.5% aqueous ammonia, and the crude product 12b was purified on Dowex 1×2 (CH₃COO⁻) column (elution with a linear gradient of 0-0.5 M aqueous acetic acid). Yield: 160 mg (16%, related to 7a) of ethyl phosphonate 12b. HR-FAB calcd for $C_{11}H_{17}N_5O_6P$ (M+H)⁺: 346.0917; found: 346.0913. δ_H (500 MHz, DMSO) 8.50 (1H, s, H-2), 8.24 (1H, s, H-8), 5.69 (1H, br s, OH), 5.61 (1H, s, OH), 5.99 (1H, dd, J=7.6, 2.0 Hz, H-1'), 4.62 (1H, dd, J=7.6, 4.6 Hz, H-2'), 4.34 (1H, ddd, J=6.1, 4.6, 1.6 Hz, H-3'), 4.15 (1H, dd, J=3.5, 1.6 Hz, H-4'), 3.93 (2H, q, J=7.0, 2×OCH₂), 1.16 (3H, t, J=7.0 Hz, OCH₂CH₃); δ_{C} (125.7 MHz, DMSO) 156.48 (2), 151.32, 140.26, 119.25, 87.32, 81.38 (d, J=155.3 Hz), 74.53, 71.15 (d, J=6.8 Hz), 61.22 (d, J=6.3 Hz), 16.71 (d, J=4.9 Hz). For ¹H and ¹³C NMR data see Tables 1–3.

4.5. (4*R*)-[1-(Adenin-9-yl)-1-deoxy-β-D-erythrofuranos-4-yl]phosphonic acid (13)

Carefully dried phosphonate 12b (142 mg, 0.41 mmol) was treated with bromotrimethylsilane (0.32 mL, 2.46 mmol) and 2,6-lutidine (0.29 mL, 2.46 mmol) in acetonitrile (5 mL) at rt for 20 h (TLC in C-1, H-1). The reaction mixture was concentrated in vacuo, 2 M TEAB (2 mL) was added, and the resulting solution was evaporated to dryness. The crude phosphonic acid 13 was purified on Dowex 1×2 (CH₃COO⁻ form) column (elution with a linear gradient of 0-0.5 M aqueous acetic acid). Conversion into the sodium salt on Dowex 50×2 (Na⁺) and freeze-drying from water afforded 101 mg (78%) of phosphonic acid 13. HR-FAB calcd for $C_9H_{11}N_5O_6P$ (M–H)⁻: 316.0447; found: 316.0443; ν_{max} (KBr) 3407 (s, vbr, OH), 3184 (s, vbr, OH), 2800-2200 (m-w, P-OH), 1691 (vs, NH₃⁺), 1647 (m, NH₂), 1506 (w), 1419 (m), 1330 (w), 1222 (m, br), 1161 (m, br), 1128 (s, br), 785 (w), 721 (w), 643 (w) cm⁻¹. Compound 13: $\delta_{\rm H}$ (500 MHz, D₂O+NaOD) 8.67 (1H, s, H-2), 8.22 (1H, s, H-8), 5.81 (1H, d, J=7.4 Hz, H-1'), 4.75 (1H, dd, J=7.4, 5.3 Hz, H-2'), 4.33 (1H, ddd, J=7.2, 5.3, 2.2 Hz, H-3'), 4.08 (1H, dd, J=6.2, 2.2 Hz, H-4'). For ¹H NMR data see Tables 1 and 2.

4.6. 2'(3')-O-Acetyl-6-N-benzoyl-5'-O-tert-butyldiphenyl-silyladenosine (17)

6-N-Benzoyl-5'-*O*-tert-butyldiphenylsilyladenosine¹ (3 g, 4.92 mmol) was treated at rt with trimethyl orthoacetate

(1 mL, 7.86 mmol) in DCM (50 mL) in the presence of toluenesulfonic acid hydrate (0.19 g, 1 mmol) at rt for 2 h. The resulting clear solution was washed with saturated aqueous solution of sodium hydrogen carbonate, the organic layer was dried over sodium sulfate, and evaporated. The residue was treated with 80% aqueous acetic acid (50 mL) for 30 min, the solution was concentrated in vacuo, and crude **17** was purified on a silica gel column in chloroform–10% ethanol. Yield: 2 g (62%; white foam) of **17** (a mixture of 2'-O-Ac and 3'-O-Ac regioisomers in a ratio 3:7 assigned from NMR). HR-FAB calcd for $C_{35}H_{38}N_5O_6Si$ (M+H)⁺: 652.2591; found: 652.2581.

4.6.1. ¹H NMR (pyridine-d₅). Compound 17, minor regioisomer (2'-O-Ac): 8.87 (1H, s, H-8), 8.77 (1H, s, H-2); 8.23 (2H, m), 7.75 (1H, m), 7.35 (2H, m, CO-C₆H₅), 7.75 (4H, m), 7.30-7.40 (6H, m, Si(C₆H₅)₂), 6.725 (1H, d, J(1',2')=4.1 Hz, H-1'), 6.32 (1H, dd, J(2',1')=4.1 Hz, J(2',3')=5.5 Hz, H-2'), 5.35 (1H, dd, J(3',2')=5.5 Hz. J(3',4')=5.0 Hz, H-3′), 4.56 (1H, ddd. J(4',3')=5.0 Hz, J(4',5')=3.2 Hz, J(4',5'')=4.4 Hz, H-4'), 4.25 (1H, dd, J(5',5'')=11.6 Hz, J(5',4')=3.2 Hz, H-5'), 4.11 (1H, dd, J(5'',5')=11.6 Hz, J(5'',4')=4.4 Hz, H-5''), 1.98 (3H, s, 2'-OAc), 0.99 (9H, s, C(CH₃)₃).

Compound **17**, major regioisomer (3'-O-Ac): 8.83 (1H, s, H-8), 8.78 (1H, s, H-2), 8.24 (2H, m), 7.75 (1H, m), 7.35 (2H, m, CO-C₆H₅), 7.75 (4H, m), 7.30–7.40 (6H, m, Si(C₆H₅)₂), 6.625 (1H, d, J(1',2')=6.0 Hz, H-1'), 5.58 (1H, dd, J(2',1')=6.0 Hz, J(2',3')=5.5 Hz, H-2'), 5.94 (1H, dd, J(3',2')=5.5 Hz, J(3',4')=3.9 Hz, H-3'), 4.59 (1H, q, J(4',3')=3.9 Hz, J(4',5')=4.0 Hz, J(4',5'')=4.5 Hz, H-4'), 4.18 (1H, dd, J(5',5'')=11.5 Hz, J(5',4')=4.0 Hz, H-5'), 4.06 (1H, dd, J(5'',5')=11.5 Hz, J(5'',4')=4.5 Hz, H-5''), 2.06 (3H, s, 2'-OAc), 1.02 (9H, s, C(CH₃)₃).

4.6.2. ¹³C NMR (pyridine- d_5). Compound 17, minor regioisomer (2'-O-Ac): 169.72 (CO(Ac)), 167.40 (N-CO), 151.95 (C-2), 151.67 (C-4), 151.17 (C-6), 142.35 (C-8), 125.52 (C-5), 137.40–127.40 (3×C₆H₅), 86.78 (C-1'), 85.11 (C-4'); 76.05 (C-2'), 68.74 (C-3'), 63.53 (C-5'), 20.10 (CH₃(Ac)), 18.76 and 26.32 (Si-C(CH₃)₃).

Compound **17**, major regioisomer (3'-O-Ac): 169.86 (CO(Ac)), 167.40 (N-CO), 152.47 (C-4), 151.95 (C-2), 151.17 (C-6), 142.02 (C-8), 125.52 (C-5), 137.40–127.40 $(3 \times C_6H_5)$, 88.66 (C-1'), 82.78 (C-4'), 72.51 (C-2'), 72.88 (C-3'), 63.85 (C-5'), 20.27 (CH₃(Ac)), 18.76 and 26.36 (Si-C(CH₃)₃).

4.7. Adenosin-2'-yl-(4*R*)-[1-(adenin-9-yl)-1-deoxy-β-Derythrofuranos-4-yl]phosphonate (18a)

A mixture of phosphonate **12b** (391 mg, 1.13 mmol), aqueous 1.89 M tetraethylammonium hydroxide (0.598 mL, 1.13 mmol), and ethanol (10 mL) was evaporated to dryness, and the residue was dried by co-distillation with ethanol (2×15 mL) and DMF (2×10 mL). Resulting tetraethylammonium salt of the phosphonate **12b** was treated with benzoyltetrazole (1.18 g, 6.8 mmol) in DMF (10 mL) in the presence of DMAP (0.83 g, 6.8 mmol) at 55 °C under exclusion of moisture until the starting compound disappeared (ca. 24 h, TLC in H-1). The reaction mixture was quenched

by addition of methanol (0.5 mL) and the solvent was evaporated in vacuo. The residue was treated with 60% aqueous pyridine overnight to destroy the mixed anhydride. The solvent was evaporated in vacuo, and the residue was partitioned between chloroform (150 mL) and 1 M TEAB (3×100 mL). The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄ and the crude product **15a** was purified on silica gel (elution with a linear gradient of H-3 in ethyl acetate followed by H-1 in H-3). Yield: 299 mg (40%) of **15a** and 141 mg (24%) of **15b**. HR-FAB calcd for C₃₂H₂₉N₅O₉P (M+H)⁺: 658.1703; found: 658.1704.

4.7.1. Preparation of protected phosphonic acid 16. The carefully dried phosphonate **15b** (265 mg, 0.4 mmol) was treated with bromotrimethylsilane (0.26 mL, 2.0 mmol) and 2,6-lutidine (0.23 mL, 2.0 mmol) in acetonitrile (4 mL) at rt for 48 h (TLC in H-1). The reaction mixture was concentrated in vacuo, 2 M TEAB (2 mL) was added, the solution was evaporated, and the product **16** was purified by reversed-phase chromatography (elution with a linear gradient of methanol in water). Yield: 190 mg (75%) of triethyl-ammonium salt of **16**. HR-FAB calcd for $C_{30}H_{25}N_5O_9P$ (M+H)⁺: 630.1390; found: 630.1383.

4.7.2. Preparation of dimer 18a. A mixture of triethylammonium salt of the phosphonic acid 16 (190 mg, 0.3 mmol) and 2'(3')-O-acetyl-6-N-benzoyl-5'-O-tert-butyldiphenylsilyladenosine (17) (254 mg, 0.4 mmol) was treated with DCC (619 mg, 3 mmol) in pyridine (4 mL) at rt overnight and then concentrated to a thick oil that was set aside at rt for 5 days (disappearance of the starting phosphonic acid 16. TLC in H-1). Reaction mixture was diluted with 60% aqueous pyridine (10 mL) and, after 2 h of standing, concentrated in vacuo. The residue was co-distilled with ethanol $(2 \times 20 \text{ mL})$ and toluene $(2 \times 10 \text{ mL})$, and finally treated, under stirring and exclusion of moisture, with 0.5 M TBAF in tetrahydrofuran (5 mL, 2.5 mmol) at rt for 16 h (TLC in H-1). The reaction mixture was diluted with concentrated aqueous ammonia (50 mL), the suspension was stirred at rt for 3 days, and then evaporated to dryness. The residue in 50% aqueous ethanol (20 mL) was deionized (removal of tetra-n-butylammonium cations) on Dowex 50×2 (Et₃NH⁺), the resin was filtered off, washed with aqueous ethanol, and the combined filtrates were concentrated. The residue was suspended in 3% aqueous ammonia (50 mL) under sonication, dicyclohexylurea was filtered off, the filtrate was evaporated, and the crude dimer 18a was purified on Dowex 1×2 (CH₃COO⁻) column (elution with a linear gradient of aqueous 0-0.5 M acetic acid). Conversion into the sodium salt on Dowex 50 \times 2 (Na⁺) and freeze-drying from water afforded 26 mg (15%) of 2',5'-isomer 18a. HR-FAB calcd for $C_{19}H_{24}N_{10}O_9P$ (M+H)⁺: 567.1466; found: 567.1469. $\nu_{\rm max}$ (KBr) 3401 (s, br, OH), 3192 (br, OH), 1646 (vs, NH₂), 1602 (m), 1578 (m), 1507 (w), 1420 (w), 1333 (m), 1216 (m, br, P=O), 1068 (s, br, C-OH), 797 (w), 725 (w), 648 (w), 550 (w, br, POC) cm⁻¹. Compound **18a**: $\delta_{\rm H}$ (500 MHz, D₂O) 8.21 (1H, s, H-8 (res. B)), 8.11 (1H, s, H-2 (res. B)), 8.06 (1H, s, H-8 (res.A)), 7.72 (1H, s, H-2 (res.A)), 6.17 (1H, d, J=4.1 Hz, H-1' (res. A)), 5.60 (1H, d, J=6.9 Hz, H-1' (res. B)), 5.16 (1H, ddd, J=9.3, 5.3, 4.1 Hz, H-2' (res. A)), 4.61 (1H, dd, J=5.5, 5.3 Hz, H-3' (res. A)), 4.49 (1H, ddd, J=7.4, 4.8, 2.4 Hz, H-3' (res. B)), 4.41 (1H, dd, J=6.9, 4.8 Hz, H-2' (res. B)), 4.26 (1H, dd, J=5.4, 2.4 Hz, H-4' (res. B)), 4.24 (1H, ddd, J=5.5, 3.2, 2.2 Hz, H-4' (res. A)), 3.90 (1H, dd, J=13.1, 2.2 Hz, H-5' (res. A)), 3.77 (1H, dd, J=13.1, 3.2 Hz, H-5" (res. A)); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (125.7 MHz, D₂O) 158.12, 157.47, 155.60, 154.66, 151.06, 150.33, 143.64, 141.91, 120.86, 120.77, 91.32 (d, J=6.4 Hz), 88.76 (d, J=3.9 Hz), 87.61, 84.88 (d, J=157.2 Hz), 81.16 (d, J=6.3 Hz), 79.07 (d, J=2.9 Hz), 73.56 (d, J=7.3 Hz), 73.27, 63.77. For ¹H and ¹³C NMR data see Tables 1–3.

4.8. 6-*N*-Benzoyl-5'-*O*-tert-butyldiphenylsilyl-2'-*O*-(tetrahydropyran-2-yl)adenosine (19a)

6-N-Benzoyl-2'-O-(tetrahydropyran-2-yl)adenosine²⁷ (0.456 g, 1 mmol) was treated with *tert*-butylchlorodiphenylsilane (0.3 mL, 1.15 mmol) in pyridine (3 mL) at rt for 48 h (TLC in C-1). The reaction mixture was quenched by addition of methanol (0.2 mL) followed by triethylamine (0.2 mL, 1.4 mmol), the resulting suspension was diluted with ethyl acetate (20 mL), filtered, the precipitate was washed with ethyl acetate, and the combined filtrates were concentrated in vacuo. The residue was applied on a silica gel column in chloroform and the compound was eluted with a linear gradient of ethanol in chloroform $(0 \rightarrow 10\%)$. Yield: 0.645 g (93%, white foam) of **19a** (a mixture of diastereoisomers). HR-FAB calcd for C₃₈H₄₄N₅O₆Si (M+H)⁺: 694.3061; found: 694.3052. Compound **19a**: $\delta_{\rm H}$ (500 MHz, DMSO) mixture of two diastereoisomers in the ratio $\sim 1:1$; most of the signals are doubled: 11.20 (2H, br s, NH), 8.655 (1H, s), 8.65 (1H), 8.60 (1H, s), 8.59 (1H, s, H-2 and H-8), 8.05 (4H, m), 7.70-7.50 (13H, m), 7.50-7.30 (13H, m, 2×C₆H₅ (TBDPS) and C₆H₅ (N-Bz)), 6.235 (1H, d, J=5.6 Hz), 6.23 (1H, d, J=6.0 Hz, H-1'), 5.41 (1H, d, J= 5.5 Hz), 5.26 (1H, d, J=5.8 Hz, 3'-OH), 4.96 (1H, t, J= 5.5 Hz), 4.95 (1H, t, J=5.1 Hz, H-2'), 4.76 (1H, dd, J=3.7, 2.7 Hz), 4.66 (1H, t, J=3.5 Hz), 3.40 (2H, m), 3.28 (1H, m), 3.13 (1H, m), 1.90-1.20 (12H, m, OTHP), 4.52 (1H, m), 4.51 (1H, m, H-3'), 4.12 (1H, m), 4.115 (1H, m, H-4'), 3.96 (1H, dd), 3.955 (1H, dd, J=11.2, 3.5 Hz, H-5'a), 3.82 (1H, dd), 3.815 (1H, dd, J=11.2, 4.5 Hz, H-5'b), 0.98 (18H, s, t-Bu).

4.9. 6-*N*-Benzoyl-5'-*O*-tert-butyldiphenylsilyl-2'-*O*-[1-(2-chloroethoxy)ethyl]adenosine (19b)

6-N-Benzoyl-2'-O-[1-(2-chloroethoxy)ethyl]adenosine²⁸ (0.487 g, 1 mmol) was treated with tert-butylchlorodiphenylsilane (0.3 mL, 1.15 mmol) in pyridine (3 mL) at rt for 48 h (TLC in C-1). The workup of the reaction mixture was performed as described for 19a. Yield: 0.609 g (85%, white foam) of 19b (a mixture of diastereoisomers). HR-FAB calcd for C₃₇H₄₃ClN₅O₆Si (M+H)⁺: 716.2671; found: 716.2679. Compound **19b**: $\delta_{\rm H}$ (500 MHz, DMSO) mixture of two diastereoisomers in the ratio $\sim 1.7:1$. Major diastereoisomer: 11.25 (1H, br s, NH), 8.68 (1H, s), 8.62 (1H, H-2 and H-8), 8.05 (2H, m), 7.70–7.30 (13H, m, 2×C₆H₅ (TBDPS) and C₆H₅ (N-Bz)), 6.193 (1H, d, J=5.6 Hz, H-1'), 5.38 (1H, d, J=5.6 Hz, 3'-OH), 4.935 (1H, br t, J=5.2 Hz, H-2'), 4.88 (1H, q, J=5.4 Hz), 3.70-3.40 (4H, m), 1.24 (3H, d, J=5.4 Hz, 2'-O-CH(CH₃)-CH₂CH₂Cl), 4.47 (1H, br q, H-3'), 4.12 (1H, br q, H-4'), 3.987 (dd, 1H, J=11.5, 4.1 Hz, H-5'a), 3.847 (1H, dd, J=11.5, 4.9 Hz, H-5'b), 0.97 (9H, s, t-Bu). Minor diastereoisomer: 11.25 (1H, br s,
NH), 8.64 (1H, s), 8.62 (1H, H-2 and H-8), 8.05 (2H, m), 7.70–7.30 (13H, m, $2 \times C_6H_5$ (TBDPS) and C_6H_5 (N-Bz)), 6.186 (1H, d, J=5.1 Hz, H-1'), 5.44 (1H, d, J=6.0 Hz, 3'-OH), 4.949 (1H, br t, J=5.1 Hz, H-2'), 4.55 (1H, br q, H-3'), 4.24 (1H, q, J=5.4 Hz), 3.70–3.40 (4H, m), and 1.19 (3H, d, J=5.4 Hz, (2'-O-CH(CH₃)-CH₂CH₂Cl)), 4.10 (1H, br q, H-4'), 3.989 (1H, dd, J=11.5, 3.9 Hz, H-5'a), 3.837 (1H, dd, J=11.5, 5.1 Hz, H-5'b), 0.99 (18H, s, *t*-Bu).

Acknowledgements

Support by grant nos. 203/04/P273, 203/05/0827, and 202/ 05/0628 (Czech Science Foundation), and under Research project Z40550506 is gratefully acknowledged. Authors are indebted to Dr. Zdeněk Točík of this Institute for valuable discussion, and the staff of the Department of organic analysis of this Institute for measurements of HR mass and IR spectra, and elemental analysis.

References and notes

- Endová, M.; Masojídková, M.; Buděšínský, M.; Rosenberg, I. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 11151–11186.
- Endová, M.; Masojídková, M.; Buděšínský, M.; Rosenberg, I. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 11187–11208.
- Králíková, Š.; Buděšínský, M.; Masojídková, M.; Rosenberg, I. Nucleosides Nucleotides Nucleic Acids 2000, 19, 1159–1183.
- Králíková, Š.; Buděšínský, M.; Masojídková, M.; Rosenberg, I. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 955–958.
- Rejman, D.; Masojídková, M.; De Clercq, E.; Rosenberg, I. Nucleosides Nucleotides Nucleic Acids 2001, 20, 1497–1522.
- Králíková, Š.; Masojídková, M.; Buděšínský, M.; Rosenberg, I. Nucleosides Nucleotides Nucleic Acids 2003, 22, 329–347.
- Rosenberg, I. Frontiers in Nucleosides and Nucleic Acids; Schinazi, R. F., Liotta, D. C., Eds.; IHL: Tucker, GA, 2005; pp 519–548.
- Scheit, K. H. Nucleotide Analogues. Synthesis and Biological Function; Wiley-Interscience: New York, NY, 1980.
- De Clercq, E.; Holý, A.; Rosenberg, I.; Sakuma, T.; Balzarini, J.; Maudgal, P. C. *Nature* 1986, 323, 464–467.

- Holý, A.; Rosenberg, I. Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun. 1987, 52, 2801–2809.
- Holý, A.; Gunter, J.; Dvořáková, H.; Masojídková, M.; Andrei, G.; Snoeck, R.; Balzarini, J.; De Clercq, E. *J. Med. Chem.* **1999**, *42*, 2064–2068.
- Páv, O.; Protivínská, E.; Pressová, M.; Collinsová, M.; Jiráček, J.; Snášel, J.; Masojídková, M.; Buděšínský, M.; Rosenberg, I. J. Med. Chem. 2006, 49, 3955–3962.
- 13. Xu, Z.; Kuang, M.; Okicki, J. R.; Cramer, H.; Chaudhary, N. *Antiviral Res.* **2004**, *61*, 195–206.
- Parikh, J. R.; Wolf, M. E.; Burger, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1957, 79, 2778–2781.
- Raju, N.; Smee, D. F.; Robins, R. K.; Vaghefi, M. M. J. Med. Chem. 1989, 32, 1307–1313.
- Otmar, M.; Rosenberg, I.; Masojídková, M.; Holý, A. Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun. 1993, 58, 2159–2179.
- Otmar, M.; Rosenberg, I.; Masojídková, M.; Holý, A. Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun. 1993, 58, 2180–2196.
- 18. Specha, M. Helv. Chim. Acta 1993, 76, 1832-1846.
- 19. Smrt, J. Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun. 1982, 47, 2157-2169.
- 20. Kofoed, T.; Pedersen, E. B. *Nucleosides Nucleotides* **1995**, *14*, 345.
- Králíková, Š.; Buděšínský, M.; Masojídková, M.; Rosenberg, I. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 4917–4932.
- Králíková, Š.; Buděšínský, M.; Novotná, M.; Páv, O.; Liboska, R.; Rosenberg, I. 16th International Round Table on Nucleosides, Nucleotides and Nucleic Acids, Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA. September 12–16. In *Abstract Book*; 2004; p 229.
- 23. Pressová, M.; Endová, M.; Točík, Z.; Liboska, R.; Rosenberg, I. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1998**, *8*, 1225–1230.
- Hanuš, J.; Barvík, I.; Ruszová-Chmelová, K.; Štěpánek, J.; Turpin, P.-Y.; Bok, J.; Rosenberg, I.; Petrová-Endová, M. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2001, 29, 5182–5194.
- Bhat, B.; Sanghvi, Y. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 8811– 8814.
- Haasnoot, C. A. G.; de Leeuw, F. A. A. M.; de Leeuw, H. P. M.; Altona, C. Org. Magn. Reson. 1981, 15, 43–52.
- 27. Markiewicz, W. T.; Biala, E.; Kierzek, R. Bull. Pol. Acad. Sci., Chem. 1984, 32, 433–451.
- Sakatsume, O.; Yamaguchi, T.; Ishikawa, M.; Hirao, I.; Miura, K.; Takaku, H. *Tetrahedron* **1991**, *47*, 8717–8728.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9751-9757

Radical mediated stereoselective synthesis of (4*R*,8*R*)-4,8-dimethyldecanal, an aggregation pheromone of *Tribolium* flour beetles

Yoko Kameda and Hajime Nagano*

Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, Ochanomizu University, Otsuka, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 112-8610, Japan

Received 22 June 2006; revised 14 July 2006; accepted 14 July 2006 Available online 21 August 2006

Abstract—(4R,8R)-4,8-Dimethyldecanal, a common aggregation pheromone of *Tribolium* flour beetles, has been synthesized from (*R*)-2,3-*O*-isopropylideneglyceraldehyde in 11 steps and 7% overall yield. The key step in the synthesis is the highly diastereoselective chelation-controlled radical reaction of ethyl (4S,5R)-4-benzyloxy-5,6-(isopropylidenedioxy)-2-methylenehexanoate with ethyl (*R*)-5-iodo-3-methylpentanoate performed in the presence of 7 equiv of MgBr₂·OEt₂.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The 1,5-*syn*-dimethylalkyl motif is ubiquitous in many natural products such as tocopherols, several insect pheromones, and membrane lipids of archaebacteria. The stereoselective construction of the structural motif is therefore of particular interest^{1–3} and we intend to apply the chelation-controlled radical reaction of γ -benzyloxy- α -methylenecarboxylic acid ester I yielding *syn*-adduct III, recently developed in our laboratory,⁴ to the synthesis of these natural products (Scheme 1). The highly *syn*-selective addition of alkyl iodide R²I to I is referred to the H-atom transfer to the outside face of radical center in the sharply folded seven-membered chelate intermediate II.^{4c-e}

We now report the radical mediated stereoselective synthesis of (4R,8R)-4,8-dimethyldecanal (1), a common aggregation pheromone produced by the male flour beetles of *Tribolium castaneum*, *Tribolium confusum*, *Tribolium freemani*, and *Tribolium madens* (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae).^{5,6} The pheromone possessing a 1,5-dimethylalkyl motif would be

synthesized by using the radical addition of alkyl iodide **IV** to optically active γ -benzyloxy- α -methylenecarboxylic acid ester **I** followed by the reduction of the ethoxycarbonyl group to a methyl group (Scheme 2).

The first synthesis of (4R,8R)-4,8-dimethyldecanal (1) and three other stereoisomers from (*R*)-citronellol and (*R*)-citronellic acid has established that the absolute configuration of the pheromone is (4R,8R).^{7,8} Since the identification of the structure, several stereoselective syntheses of the pheromone 1 have been reported.⁹

2. Results and discussion

Scheme 3 shows the synthetic route of (4R,8R)-4,8-dimethyldecanal (1) starting from (*R*)-2,3-*O*-isopropylideneglyceraldehyde (2), which is prepared from 1,2:5,6-di-*O*isopropylidene-D-mannitol.¹⁰ The Reformatsky reaction of aldehyde 2 with ethyl 2-(bromomethyl)propeonate (3) gave an inseparable diastereomeric mixture of γ -hydroxy



Scheme 1. Chelation-controlled diastereoselective radical reactions of α -methylene- γ -oxycarboxylic acid esters I with alkyl iodides R²I yielding synadducts III.

Keywords: Tribolium flour beetle; Pheromone; (*4R*,*8R*)-4,8-Dimethyldecanal; Radical reaction; 1,3-Asymmetric induction. * Corresponding author. Fax: +81 3 5978 5715; e-mail: nagano@cc.ocha.ac.jp

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter \odot 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.054



(4R,8R)-4,8-dimethyldecanal (1)

Scheme 2. Synthetic plan of (4R,8R)-4,8-dimethyldecanal (1).



(4R,8R)-4,8-dimethyldecanal (1)

Scheme 3. Synthetic route of (4R,8R)-4,8-dimethyldecanal (1). Reagents: (a) Zn, THF, aq NH₄Cl; (b) PhCH₂Br, Ag₂O, toluene; (c) n-Bu₃SnH, Et₃B, $MgBr_2 \cdot OEt_2, CH_2Cl_2; (d) LiAlH_4, diethyl ether; (e)$ *p* $-TsCl, pyridine, CH_2Cl_2; (f) LiAlH_4, diethyl ether; (g) H_2, Pd-C, ethanol; (h) PhOC(=S)Cl, pyridine, CH_2Cl_2; (i)$ *n* $-Bu_3SnH, AIBN, toluene, 85 °C; (j) 1 mol dm⁻³ HCl, THF-H_2O (1:1); (k) NaIO_4, aq CH_3CN.$

esters **4** and **5** in a ratio of 2.8:1.¹¹ Treatment of the mixture with benzyl bromide and silver oxide gave a mixture of benzyl ethers 6 and 7, which was easily separated by silica gel column chromatography to give 6 in 26% yield from 1,2:5,6-di-O-isopropylidene-D-mannitol. To assign unambiguously the stereochemistry of the newly formed chiral center in the Reformatsky reaction,¹¹ the benzyl ethers 6 and 7 were transformed into δ -lactones 8 and 9, respectively, and their NOE experiments were performed (Scheme 4). For the lactone 9, NOE enhancements of γ -H (6.2%) and δ -H (8.5%) were observed by irradiating δ -H and γ -H, respectively, while for the lactone 8, irradiation of γ -H and δ -H did not enhance the signals of their vicinal methine protons. The NOE difference spectra of the δ -lactones 8 and 9 thus established the stereochemistry of 6 and 7 as 4,5-anti and 4,5-syn, respectively.



Scheme 4. Determination of the configurations of 6 and 7.

The radical reaction of the major diastereomer **6** with 1iodo-3-methylbutane (**10**) was at first performed under the reaction conditions used in our previous work⁴ [iodide **10** (3 equiv), *n*-Bu₃SnH (2 equiv), Et₃B (1 equiv), MgBr₂·OEt₂ (3 equiv) in CH₂Cl₂ at 0 °C] to give the 2,4-*syn*-adduct **11** and 2,4-*anti*-adduct **12** in 63% yield and 14:1 diastereomer ratio. In order to ameliorate the stereoselectivity, the radical reaction was then performed using 7 equiv of MgBr₂·OEt₂. The diastereoselectivity and yield were improved to **11**/ **12**>50:1 and 73%, respectively.

In our previous work,^{4c} we confirmed the seven-membered chelate ring formation of the starting material **I** (R¹=Ph) by the complexation experiment with 3 equiv of MgBr₂·OEt₂ in CDCl₃. The large difference in chemical shift increments $\Delta \delta = [\delta_{\rm H}$ (substrate+MgBr₂·OEt₂)- $\delta_{\rm H}$ (substrate)] by adding the Lewis acid between the diastereotopic β -methylene protons suggests the formation of bidentate complexation. However, in the complexation experiment of **6** with 3 equiv of MgBr₂·OEt₂, only slight chemical shift increments were observed. The results of the complexation experiment of **6** with 7 equiv of MgBr₂·OEt₂ are shown in Figure 1. The large $\Delta \delta$ values suggest that the addition of 7 equiv of the Lewis acid is required to achieve the chelate ring formation and the highly diastereoselective radical addition reaction.¹²

The radical addition of ethyl (*R*)-5-iodo-3-methylpentanoate $(13)^{13}$ to 6, i.e., the key step in the synthesis of (4R,8R)-4,8-



Figure 1. $\Delta\delta$ values (ppm) for the substrate **6.** $\Delta\delta_{H}=\delta_{H}$ (substrate **6**+MgBr₂·OEt₂) $-\delta_{H}$ (substrate **6**). The δ_{H} (substrate **6**+MgBr₂·OEt₂) value was obtained after sonication of **6** with 7 equiv of MgBr₂·OEt₂ in CDCl₃.

dimethyldecanal (1), was carried out using 7 equiv of MgBr₂·OEt₂. The desired 2,4-*syn*-adduct 14 was obtained in 71% yield and >96% de. The ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR spectra of α -methoxy- α -(trifluoromethyl)phenylacetates 24 and 25, which were transformed from 14 via the corresponding alcohol 23, did not show the epimerization of aldehyde 2 during the Reformatsky reaction of 2 with 3 (Scheme 5).



Scheme 5. Reagents: (a) H₂, Pd–C, ethanol; (b) (R)-(-)- α -methoxy- α -(trifluoromethyl)phenylacetyl chloride, 4-dimethylaminopyridine, pyridine; (c) (S)-(+)- α -methoxy- α -(trifluoromethyl)phenylacetyl chloride, 4-dimethylaminopyridine, pyridine.

The diester 14 was then reduced with lithium aluminium hydride to give the corresponding diol 16 in 89% yield. The tosylation of the diol with *p*-toluenesulfonyl chloride followed by the reduction with lithium aluminium hydride gave compound 18 in 76% yield. The hydrogenolysis of 18 over Pd–C gave alcohol 19 quantitatively. The alcohol was then treated with phenyl chlorothionoformate to give phenoxythiocarbonyl ester 20, which was then reduced under radical conditions using AIBN and n-Bu₃SnH to give compound **21** in 71% two-step yield. The acid catalyzed hydrolysis of **21** followed by the oxidative cleavage of the resulting diol 22 with sodium periodate gave (4R,8R)-4,8dimethyldecanal (1), as an oil, $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ -5.7 (c 1.0, CHCl₃) (lit.^{7b} $[\alpha]_D^{22.5}$ -7.3 (c 2.04, CHCl₃)), in 85% two-step yield. The IR, ¹H NMR, ¹³C NMR, and MS spectral data of the synthetic aldehyde 1 were identical with those of (4R, 8R)and (4S,8S)-4,8-dimethyldecanals reported in the literatures.7,9,14

We have thus synthesized (4R,8R)-4,8-dimethyldecanal (1) from (*R*)-2,3-*O*-isopropylideneglyceraldehyde (2) in 11 steps and 7% overall yield.

3. Conclusion

We have synthesized (4R,8R)-4,8-dimethyldecanal (1) from (*R*)-2,3-*O*-isopropylideneglyceraldehyde (2), easily prepared from D-mannitol, in 11 steps and 7% overall yield. The key step in the synthesis is the highly diastereoselective chelation-controlled radical reaction of γ -benzyloxy- α -methylenecarboxylic acid ester **6** and ethyl (*R*)-5-iodo-3-methylpentanoate (13) performed in the presence of 7 equiv of MgBr₂·OEt₂.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

¹H NMR spectra were recorded on a JEOL GSX-400 (400 MHz) spectrometer with CDCl₃ as the solvent and tetramethylsilane as an internal standard. ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on the instrument operating at 100.5 MHz with CDCl₃ as the solvent and internal standard (δ 77.0). IR spectra were taken on a SIMADZU FTIR-8700 spectrometer. Mass spectra (EI⁺) were obtained on a JEOL JMS-700 mass spectrometer. Precoated Merck Kieselgel 60 F₂₅₄ and Kanto silica gel 60 (spherical neutral) were used for thin layer chromatography and column chromatography, respectively.

4.1.1. Ethyl (4S,5R)- and (4R,5R)-4-hydroxy-5,6-(isopropylidenedioxy)-2-methylenehexanoates (4) and (5). (R)-2,3-O-Isopropylideneglyceraldehyde (2) was prepared 1.2:5.6-di-*O*-isopropylidene-D-mannitol (2.87 g. from 10.9 mmol) following the reported procedures.¹⁰ To a solution of the aldehyde 2 in THF (36 cm^3) were added ethyl 2-(bromomethyl)propeonate (3) (5.95 g, 30.8 mmol), saturated aqueous NH₄Cl (57 cm³), and activated zinc powder (3.34 g, 51.3 mmol) and the mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 3 h. The product was extracted with ethyl acetate and the extract was washed with saturated brine and then dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate. The solvent was evaporated in vacuo and the residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel [eluent: hexane-ethyl acetate (8:1)] to give an inseparable mixture of 4 and 5 (3.38 g, 63% yield from 1,2:5,6-di-O-isopropylidene-D-mannitol; 4/5=2.8:1) as an oil. MS m/z 229 (M⁺-Me, 68%), 143 (94), 123 (71), 101 (100); HRMS calcd for $C_{11}H_{17}O_5$ [M⁺-Me] 229.1076, found 229.1082. *Major diastereomer* **4**. ¹H NMR δ 1.32 (3H, t, J=7.2 Hz, CH₃), 1.36 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.43 (3H, s, CH₃), 2.37 (1H, ddd, J=14.2, 8.4, 0.8 Hz, CHHC=CH₂), 2.70 (1H, ddd, J=14.2, 3.6, 0.8 Hz, CHHC=CH2), 2.86 (1H, d, J=3.6 Hz, OH), 3.75-4.10 (4H, m, CH(-O)CHOH, CO₂CH₂CH₃), 4.21 (1H, dd, J=14.2, 7.0 Hz, CHHO), 4.25 (1H, dd, J=14.2, 7.0 Hz, CHHO), 5.74 (1H, d, J=1.6 Hz, C=CHH), 6.29 (1H, d, J=1.2 Hz, C=CHH); ¹³C NMR δ 14.20, 25.30, 26.67, 36.15, 61.19, 65.94, 71.28, 78.10, 109.12, 128.00, 136.92, 167.89. Minor diastereomer 5. ¹H NMR δ 1.31 (3H, t, J=7.2 Hz, CH₃), 1.37 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.44 (3H, s, CH₃), 2.41-2.49 (2H, m, CH₂C=CH₂), 2.86 (1H, d, J=3.6 Hz, OH), 3.75-4.10 (4H, m, CH(-O)CHOH, CO₂CH₂CH₃), 4.20 (1H, dd, J=14.2, 6.8 Hz, CHHO), 4.23 (1H, dd, J=14.2, 6.8 Hz, CHHO), 5.72 (1H, d, J=1.6 Hz, C=CHH), 6.28 (1H, d, J=1.2 Hz, C=CHH); ¹³C NMR

 δ 14.22, 25.30, 26.58, 36.77, 60.93, 66.00, 70.62, 78.40, 109.36, 127.69, 136.64, 167.08.

4.1.2. Ethyl (4S,5R)- and (4R,5R)-4-benzyloxy-5,6-(isopropylidenedioxy)-2-methylenehexanoates (6) and (7). To a solution of alcohols 4 and 5 (29.2 mg, 0.12 mmol) in toluene (2 cm^3) were added benzyl bromide (0.05 cm^3) , 0.36 mmol) and freshly prepared silver oxide (84.5 mg, 0.36 mmol). The mixture was stirred at room temperature for 48 h and then filtered through a pad of Celite. The filtrate was evaporated in vacuo and the residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel [eluent: hexane-ethyl acetate (20:1)] to give 6 (14 mg) and 7 (8.3 mg), and 6 (12.3 mg). Major diastereomer 6. $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ +22.0 (c 1.95, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR δ 1.28 (3H, t, J=7.0 Hz, CH₃), 1.35 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.43 (3H, s, CH₃), 2.46 (1H, dd, J=14.2, 7.8 Hz, CHHC=CH₂), 2.72 (1H, ddd, J=14.2, 4.4, 0.8 Hz, CHHC=CH₂), 3.73 (1H, m, CH-O), 3.90 (1H, dd, J=7.8, 6.0 Hz, CHH-O), 4.03 (1H, d, J=7.8, 6.4 Hz, CHH-O), 4.12 (1H, dd, J=10.5, 6.0 Hz, CH-O), 4.16 (2H, q, J=7.0 Hz, CH₂-O), 4.59 (2H, s, PhCH₂O), 5.68 (1H, d, J=1.2 Hz, C=CHH), 6.23 (1H, d, J=1.2 Hz, C=CHH), 7.28–7.32 (5H, m, Ph); 13 C NMR δ 14.24, 25.36, 26.56, 34.25, 60.72, 66.00, 72.98, 77.42, 77.82, 109.12, 127.50, 127.63, 127.78, 128.17, 136.91, 138.16, 166.91; MS m/z 319 (M⁺-Me, 26%), 233 (95), 101 (58), 91 (100); HRMS calcd for C₁₈H₂₃O₅ [M⁺-Me] 319.1545, found 319.1552. Minor diastereomer 7. ¹H NMR δ 1.28 (3H, t, J=7.2 Hz, CH₃), 1.37 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.45 (3H, s, CH₃), 2.42-2.52 (2H, m, CH₂C=CH₂), 3.63 (1H, m, CH–O), 3.79 (1H, dd, J=8.0, 7.3 Hz, CHH-O), 3.99 (1H, d, J=8.0, 6.5 Hz, CHH-O), 4.13-4.23 (3H, m, CH-O, CH₂-O), 4.59 (1H, d, J=11.7 Hz, PhCHH-O), 4.70 (1H, d, J=11.7 Hz, PhCHH-O), 5.69 (1H, d, J=1.2 Hz, C=CHH), 6.23 (1H, d, J=1.6 Hz, C=CHH), 7.26-7.36 (5H, m, Ph); ¹³C NMR δ 14.24, 25.47, 26.53, 34.09, 60.72, 65.88, 72.93, 77.95, 78.05, 109.30, 127.41, 127.83, 127.88, 128.11, 136.64, 138.38, 166.80. MS m/z 319 (M⁺-Me, 25%), 233 (94), 101 (54), 91 (100); HRMS calcd for C₁₈H₂₃O₅ [M⁺-Me] 319.1545, found 319.1597.

4.1.3. (5S,6R)-5-Benzyloxy-6-hydroxymethyl-3-methylenetetrahydropyran-2-one (8). To a solution of 6 (18.2 mg, 0.054 mmol) in THF-H₂O $(4:1, 1 \text{ cm}^3)$ was added trifluoroacetic acid at 0 °C. The solution was stirred at room temperature overnight and then the product was extracted with ethyl acetate and the extract was washed with saturated brine and dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate. Concentration of the solution gave a crude product, which was used without further purification. To a solution of the crude product in benzene (1 cm³) was added catalytic amount of *p*-toluenesulfonic acid. The mixture was stirred at room temperature overnight. The solvent was evaporated in vacuo and the residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel [eluent: hexane-ethyl acetate (2:1)] to give 8 (6.9 mg, 51%) as an oil. ¹H NMR δ 2.66 (1H, m, CHHCHOBn), 3.03 (1H, m, CHHCHOBn), 3.85 (1H, m, CHOBn), 3.86 (1H, dd, J=12.3, 3.4 Hz, CHHOH), 3.93 (1H, dd, J=12.3, 3.4 Hz, CHHOH), 4.34 (1H, dt, J=7.8, 3.4 Hz, CHCH₂OH), 4.60 (1H, d, J=11.5 Hz, PhCHH), 4.68 (1H, d, J=11.5 Hz, PhCHH), 5.65 (1H, m, C=CHH), 6.46 (1H, m, C=CHH), 7.30–7.39 (5H, m, Ph); ¹³C NMR δ 33.16, 61.74, 70.14, 71.50, 82.14, 127.72, 128.06,

128.52, 130.18, 131.19, 137.20, 164.53; MS m/z 248 (M⁺, 14%), 124 (15), 97 (41), 91 (100); HRMS calcd for C₁₄H₁₆O₄ [M⁺] 248.1049, found 248.1055.

4.1.4. (5R,6R)-5-Benzyloxy-6-hydroxymethyl-3-methylenetetrahydropyran-2-one (9). To a solution of 7 (12.9 mg, 0.039 mmol) in THF-H₂O $(4:1, 1 \text{ cm}^3)$ was added trifluoroacetic acid at 0 °C. The solution was stirred at room temperature overnight and then the product was extracted with ethyl acetate and the extract was washed with saturated brine and dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate. Evaporation of the solvent in vacuo gave the product, which was used without further purification. To a solution of the product in benzene (1 cm^3) was added catalytic amount of *p*-toluenesulfonic acid. The mixture was stirred at room temperature overnight. The solvent was evaporated in vacuo and the residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel [eluent: hexane-ethyl acetate (2:1)] to give 9 (3.5 mg, 37%) as an oil. ¹H NMR δ 2.65 (1H, m, CHHCHOBn), 3.07 (1H, dd, J=16.4, 3.9 Hz, CHHCHOBn), 3.78 (1H, dd, J=11.9, 5.1 Hz, CHHOH), 3.93 (1H, m, CHOBn), 3.99 (1H, dd, J=11.9, 6.6 Hz, CHHOH), 4.42 (1H, d, J=12.1 Hz, PhCHH), 4.45 (1H, m, CHCH₂OH), 4.66 (1H, d, J=12.1 Hz, PhCHH), 5.63 (1H, m, C=CHH), 6.52 (1H, m, C=CHH), 7.28-7.38 (5H, m, Ph); ¹³C NMR δ 31.88, 62.42, 69.33, 70.22, 82.00, 127.69, 128.09, 128.53, 130.31, 130.57, 137.03, 164.16; MS m/z 248 (M⁺, 7%), 124 (18), 97 (27), 91 (100); HRMS calcd for C₁₄H₁₆O₄ [M⁺] 248.1049, found 248.1058.

4.1.5. Ethyl (2R)-2-[(2S,3R)-2-benzyloxy-3,4-(isopropylidenedioxy)butyl]-6-methyl-heptanoate (11). To a solution of α -methylene ester 6 (21.5 mg, 0.064 mmol) in dry CH_2Cl_2 (1.3 cm³) was added MgBr₂·OEt₂ (117 mg, 0.45 mmol) under N₂ and the mixture was stirred at room temperature for 15 min. To the suspension cooled to 0 °C were added 1-iodo-3-methylbutane (10) (0.026 cm^3) , 0.19 mmol), *n*-Bu₃SnH (0.036 cm³, 0.13 mmol), and Et₃B $(0.064 \text{ cm}^3, 1.0 \text{ mol dm}^{-3} \text{ in hexane})$. The mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 6 h. KF and water were added and the mixture was stirred at room temperature overnight. After filtration through a pad of Florisil, the filtrate was evaporated in vacuo and the residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel [2 g; eluent: hexane then hexane–ethyl acetate (30:1)] to give a mixture of **11** and **12** (19 mg, 73%) yield; 11/12>50:1) as an oil. ¹H NMR δ 0.85 (6H, d, J=6.3 Hz, 2×CH₃), 1.22 (3H, t, J=7.0 Hz, CH₃), 1.13-1.65 (8H, m, CHHCH(CH₂)₃CH(CH₃)₂), 1.35 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.42 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.95 (1H, ddd, J=14.2, 11.3, 3.0 Hz, CHH), 2.68 (1H, m, CHC=O), 3.52 (1H, m, CH-O), 3.88 (1H, dd, J=8.0, 7.6 Hz, CHH–O), 4.00–4.14 (4H, m, CHH-O, CH-O, CH₂-O), 4.55 (1H, d, J=11.0 Hz, PhCHH), 4.65 (1H, d, J=11.0 Hz, PhCHH), 7.26–7.34 (5H, m, Ph); ¹³C NMR δ 14.39, 22.57, 22.66, 25.02, 25.33, 26.59, 27.84, 33.72, 33.98, 38.77, 41.54, 60.13, 66.06, 73.36, 77.62, 77.73, 109.04, 127.54, 127.85, 128.23, 138.34, 176.09; MS m/z 391 (M⁺-Me, 13%), 305 (76), 101 (32), 91 (100); HRMS calcd for C₂₃H₃₅O₅ [M⁺-Me] 391.2485, found 391.2504.

4.1.6. Diethyl (2*R*,6*S*)-2-[(2*S*,3*R*)-2-benzyloxy-3,4-(isopropylidenedioxy)butyl]-6-methyl-1,8-octanedioate (14). The radical reaction of **6** (83 mg, 0.25 mmol) with iodide 13 (210 mg, 0.78 mmol) in the presence of MgBr₂·OEt₂ (453 mg, 1.75 mmol) as described above gave 14 (85 mg, 71% yield; 96% de) as an oil. $[\alpha]_D^{23} - 3.0$ (c 2.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR δ 0.91 (3H, d, J=6.3 Hz, CH₃), 1.22 (3H, t, J=7.3 Hz, CH₃), 1.25 (3H, t, J=7.3 Hz, CH₃), 1.35 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.42 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.13–1.62 (7H, m), 1.92–1.99 (2H, m, CH₂C=O), 2.07 (1H, dd, J=14.7, 7.8 Hz, CHH), 2.26 (1H, dd, J=14.7, 5.8 Hz, CHH), 2.65 (1H, m, CHC=O), 3.52 (1H, m, CHOBn), 3.86 (1H, dd, J=8.0, 6.5 Hz, CHH-O), 4.00-4.16 (6H, m, CH-O, CHH-O, $2 \times CH_2 = 0$, 4.55 (1H, d, J = 11.0 Hz, PhCHH), 4.64 (1H, d, J=11.0 Hz, PhCHH), 7.27-7.34 (5H, m, Ph); ¹³C NMR δ 14.41, 19.75, 24.64, 25.36, 26.65, 30.30, 33.59, 33.95, 36.57, 41.49, 41.87, 60.13, 60.20, 66.08, 73.34, 77.59, 77.68, 109.02, 127.51, 127.80, 128.19, 138.25, 172.94, 175.85; MS m/z 463 (M⁺-Me, 22%), 377 (95), 285 (46), 101 (45), 91 (100); HRMS calcd for C₂₆H₃₉O₇ [M⁺-Me] 463.2695, found 463.2740.

4.1.7. (2R,6S)-2-[(2S,3R)-2-Benzyloxy-3,4-(isopropylidenedioxy)butyl]-6-methyloctane-1,8-diol (16). To a solution of diester 14 (248 mg, 0.52 mmol) in dry diethyl ether (13 cm^3) was added lithium aluminium hydride (3.3 equiv) at 0 °C and the mixture was stirred at room temperature for 12 h. To the mixture cooled to 0 °C were added dropwise water, then 15% aqueous sodium hydroxide. After filtration through a pad of Celite, the filtrate was dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate. The solvent was evaporated in vacuo and the residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel [eluent: hexane-ethyl acetate (2:1)] to give diol 16 (181 mg, 89%) as an oil. $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ –0.52 (*c* 2.2, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR δ 0.88 (3H, d, J=6.3 Hz, CH₃), 1.36 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.11-1.40 (7H, m, (CH₂)₃CH), 1.43 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.44–1.64 (4H, m, 2×CH₂), 1.73 (1H, m, CH), 3.42 (1H, dd, J=11.2, 6.4 Hz, CH-O), 3.51 (1H, dd, J=11.2, 4.4 Hz, CH-O), 3.63-3.72 (3H, m, CH–O, CH₂–O), 3.86–4.18 (3H, m, CH–O, CH₂– O), 4.61 (1H, d, J=11.3 Hz, PhCHH), 4.71 (1H, d, J=11.3 Hz, PhCHH), 7.26-7.37 (5H, m, Ph); ¹³C NMR δ 19.71, 24.26, 25.28, 26.55, 29.36, 32.26, 33.54, 37.18, 39.91, 61.10, 65.63, 66.31, 72.80, 78.05, 109.02, 127.79, 127.96, 128.38, 137.87; MS m/z 379 (M⁺-Me, 4%), 185 (91), 101 (24), 91 (100); HRMS calcd for C₂₂H₃₅O₅ [M⁺-Me] 379.2485, found 379.2516.

4.1.8. (2R,3S,5R,9S)-3-Benzyloxy-1,2-(isopropylidenedioxy)-9-methyl-11-(p-toluenesulfonyloxy)-5-(p-toluenesulfonyloxymethyl)undecane (17). To a solution of diol 16 (181 mg, 0.46 mmol) in dry CH_2Cl_2 (7 cm³) were added pyridine (0.3 cm^3) and *p*-toluenesulfonyl chloride (879 mg, 4.6 mmol) at 0 °C. The solution was stirred at room temperature overnight. After dilution with water, the product was extracted with chloroform. The extract was washed with water, saturated sodium hydrogencarbonate solution, and saturated brine, and then dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate. The solvent was evaporated in vacuo and the residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel [eluent: hexane-ethyl acetate (6:1)] to give tosylate 17 (294 mg, 91%) as an oil. $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ -7.5 (c 2.1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR δ 0.74 (3H, d, J=6.1 Hz, CH₃), 0.97–1.48 (10H, m), 1.34 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.41 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.60 (1H, m, CH), 1.80 (1H, m, CH), 2.44 (3H, s, CH₃), 2.45 (3H, s, CH₃), 3.49 (1H, m, CH–O), 3.77 (1H, dd, J=9.8, 4.9 Hz, CH–O), 3.83 (2H, m, CH-O), 3.97-4.11 (4H, m, CH-O), 4.45 (1H,

d, J=11.7 Hz, PhCHH), 4.67 (1H, d, J=11.7 Hz, PhCHH), 7.25–7.38 (9H, m, Ar), 7.73 (2H, d, J=8.3 Hz, Ar), 7.78 (2H, d, J=8.3 Hz, Ar); ¹³C NMR δ 19.01, 21.69, 23.74, 25.23, 26.45, 29.10, 31.78, 32.44, 33.91, 35.67, 36.61, 65.70, 68.88, 71.92, 72.88, 76.06, 78.11, 108.98, 127.66, 127.77, 127.78, 127.84, 128.29, 129.75, 132.75, 133.01, 138.13, 144.58, 144.66.

4.1.9. (2R,3S,5R,9R)-3-Benzyloxy-1,2-(isopropylidenedioxy)-5,9-dimethylundecane (18). To a solution of tosvlate 17 (134.3 mg, 0.19 mmol) in dry diethyl ether (10 cm^3) was added lithium aluminium hydride (3.3 equiv) at 0 °C. The mixture was stirred at room temperature for 12 h. To the mixture cooled to 0 °C were added dropwise water and then 15% aqueous sodium hydroxide. After filtration through a pad of Celite, the filtrate was dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate. The solvent was evaporated in vacuo and the residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel [eluent: hexane-ethyl acetate (40:1)] to give **18** (57.3 mg, 83%) as an oil. $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ -6.6 (*c* 1.8, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR δ 0.83 (6H, d, J=6.4 Hz, 2×CH₃), 0.85 (3H, t, J=7.3 Hz, CH₃), 1.03–1.66 (12H, m, 5×CH₂, 2×CH), 1.37 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.43 (3H, s, CH₃), 3.70 (1H, dt, J=10.0, 3.4 Hz, CHOBn), 3.94 (1H, dd, J=7.8, 7.3 Hz, CHH-O), 4.02 (1H, dd, J=7.8, 6.3 Hz, CHH-O), 4.10 (1H, m, CH-O), 4.59 (1H, d, J=11.2 Hz, PhCHH), 4.77 (1H, d, J=11.2 Hz, PhCHH), 7.27-7.34 (5H, m, Ph); ¹³C NMR δ 11.47, 19.31, 19.41, 24.42, 25.43, 26.53, 29.12, 29.49, 34.42, 36.87, 38.25, 39.43, 65.59, 73.41, 76.62, 79.08, 108.84, 127.47, 127.74, 128.23, 138.66; MS m/z 347 (M⁺-Me, 16%), 261 (23), 101 (73), 91 (100); HRMS calcd for C₂₂H₃₅O₃ [M⁺-Me] 347.2587, found 347.2578.

4.1.10. (2R,3S,5R,9R)-1,2-(Isopropylidenedioxy)-5,9dimethylundecan-3-ol (19). A solution of 18 (47.2 mg, 0.13 mmol) in dry ethanol (5 cm³) was stirred with Pd-C (35.5 mg, 0.032 mmol) under hydrogen atmosphere at room temperature for 12 h. The mixture was filtered through a pad of Celite and the filtrate was concentrated in vacuo to give **19** in quantitative yield. $[\alpha]_{D}^{23} - 0.73$ (c 1.86, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR δ 0.84 (3H, d, J=6.4 Hz, CH₃), 0.85 (3H, t, J=7.3 Hz, CH₃), 0.90 (3H, d, J=6.8 Hz, CH₃), 1.05-1.69 (12H, m, 5×CH₂, 2×CH), 1.37 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.43 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.92 (1H, br s, OH), 3.87-4.02 (4H, m, CH2-O, CH-O, CHOH); ¹³C NMR δ 11.47, 19.09, 19.30, 24.43, 25.37, 26.52, 29.18, 29.48, 34.42, 36.88, 38.24, 39.70, 64.44, 68.29, 79.15, 108.83; MS m/z 257 (M⁺-Me, 100%), 229 (18), 101 (13); HRMS calcd for C₁₅H₂₉O₃ [M⁺-Me] 257.2117, found 257.2121.

4.1.11. (*2R*,*3S*,*5R*,*9R*)-3-Phenoxythiocarbonyloxy-1,2-(isopropylidenedioxy)-5,9-dimethylundecane (20). To a solution of alcohol **19** (55.5 mg, 0.20 mmol) in dry CH₂Cl₂ (3 cm³) were added dry pyridine (0.050 cm³, 0.60 mmol) and *O*-phenyl chlorothionoformate (0.032 cm³, 0.23 mmol) at 0 °C. The solution was stirred at room temperature for 3 h. The reaction mixture was then washed with water, saturated sodium hydrogencarbonate solution, and saturated brine, and then dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate. The solvent was evaporated in vacuo and the residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel [eluent: hexane–ethyl acetate (60:1)] to give phenoxythiocarbonyl ester **20** (62.1 mg, 75%) as an oil. $[\alpha]_{D}^{23} - 18.7$ (c 1.74, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR δ 0.85 (3H, d, *J*=6.4 Hz, CH₃), 0.86 (3H, d, *J*=6.4 Hz, CH₃), 0.98 (3H, d, *J*=6.8 Hz, CH₃), 1.22–1.43 (10H, m, 4×CH₂, 2×CH), 1.39 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.48 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.62 (1H, m, CH), 1.84 (1H, ddd, *J*=14.1, 10.0, 3.9 Hz, CH), 3.94 (1H, dd, *J*=8.3, 6.4 Hz, CH–O), 4.12 (1H, m, CH–O), 4.33 (1H, m, CH–O), 5.69 (1H, m, PhOC(=S)OCH), 7.09–7.44 (5H, m, Ph); ¹³C NMR δ 11.49, 19.32, 19.78, 24.37, 25.32, 26.32, 29.03, 29.51, 34.42, 36.83, 37.36, 37.86, 65.55, 76.91, 82.48, 109.86, 121.87, 126.47, 129.41, 153.28, 195.09; MS *m*/*z* 393 (M⁺–Me, 10%), 254 (54), 239 (56), 197 (32), 179 (47), 149 (48), 127 (100), 123 (45), 101 (55), 97 (47), 69 (95); HRMS calcd for C₂₂H₃₃O₄S [M⁺–Me] 393.2099, found 393.2053.

4.1.12. (2S,5R,9R)-1,2-(Isopropylidenedioxy)-5,9dimethylundecane (21). To a solution of 20 (23.8 mg, 0.059 mmol) in dry toluene (2 cm^3) were added *n*-Bu₃SnH (0.027 cm³, 0.12 mmol) and AIBN (12.8 mg, 0.064 mmol). The mixture was stirred at 85 °C for 3 h. KF and water were then added and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature overnight. After filtration though a pad of Florisil, the filtrate was evaporated in vacuo and the residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel to give **21** (14.1 mg, 95%) as an oil. $[\alpha]_{D}^{23}$ +10.8 (c 1.95, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR δ 0.84 (3H, d, J=6.9 Hz, CH₃), 0.85 (3H, t, J=7.6 Hz, CH₃), 0.87 (3H, d, J=6.3 Hz, CH₃), 1.08–1.45 (13H, m, 5×CH₂, 3×CH), 1.36 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.41 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.68 (1H, m, CH), 3.52 (1H, m, CH-O), 4.02-4.07 (2H, m, CH₂-O); ¹³C NMR δ 11.48, 19.32, 19.67, 24.47, 25.81, 27.02, 29.50, 31.17, 32.82, 32.90, 34.44, 36.95, 37.19, 69.58, 76.49, 108.52; MS m/z 241 $(M^+-Me, 100\%)$, 101 (9); HRMS calcd for $C_{15}H_{29}O_2$ [M⁺-Me] 241.2246, found 241.2218.

4.1.13. (2S,5R,9R)-5,9-Dimethyl-1,2-undecanediol (22). To a solution of 21 (32.1 mg, 0.12 mmol) in THF-H₂O $(1:1, 2 \text{ cm}^3)$ was added 1 mol dm⁻³ HCl at 0 °C. The solution was stirred at room temperature overnight. The reaction mixture was then extracted with ethyl acetate. The extract was washed with saturated brine, and then dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate. The solvent was evaporated in vacuo and the residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel [eluent: hexane–ethyl acetate (3:1)] to give **22** (24.0 mg, 89%) as an oil. $[\alpha]_{D}^{23}$ –3.4 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR δ 0.84 (3H, d, J=5.9 Hz, CH₃), 0.85 (3H, t, J=7 Hz, CH₃), 0.87 (3H, d, J=6.8 Hz, CH₃), 1.06–1.45 (14H, m, 6×CH₂, 2×CH), 2.02 (1H, br s, OH), 2.13 (1H, br s, OH), 3.45 (1H, m, CHOH), 3.66–3.68 (2H, m, CH₂OH); ¹³C NMR δ 11.48, 19.32, 19.63, 24.51, 29.50, 30.75, 32.73, 32.87, 34.44, 36.96, 37.34, 66.89, 72.66; MS m/z 185 (M⁺-CH₂OH, 100%), 111 (43), 97 (64), 83 (56), 69 (50); HRMS calcd for C₁₂H₂₅O [M⁺-CH₂OH] 185.1905, found 185.1854.

4.1.14. (*4R*,*8R*)-4,8-Dimethyldecanal (1). To a solution of **22** (24.0 mg, 0.11 mmol) in aqueous acetonitrile (60%, 2 cm^3) was added NaIO₄ (18.4 mg, 0.079 mmol) at 0 °C and the mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 1 h. The reaction mixture was then filtered through a pad of Celite and extracted with chloroform. The extract was washed with water and saturated brine, and then dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate. The solvent was evaporated in vacuo and the residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel

[eluent: hexane–ethyl acetate (60:1)] to give (4*R*,8*R*)-4,8-dimethyldecanal (1) (18.5 mg, 91%) as an oil. $[\alpha]_{L^3}^{23}$ –5.6 (*c* 1.1, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 2961, 2929, 2714, 1712, 1463, 1379 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR δ 0.84 (3H, d, *J*=6.3 Hz, CH₃), 0.85 (3H, d, *J*=7.2 Hz, CH₃), 0.88 (3H, d, *J*=5.6 Hz, CH₃), 1.04–1.14 (12H, m, 5×CH₂, 2×CH), 2.40–2.46 (2H, m, CH₂CH=O), 9.78 (1H, t, *J*=1.2 Hz, CH=O); ¹³C NMR δ 11.47, 19.30, 19.45, 24.43, 28.92, 29.48, 32.46, 34.43, 36.88, 37.07, 41.77, 202.95; MS *m*/*z* 184 (M⁺, 1%), 140 (67), 111 (42), 85 (54), 81 (57), 70 (90), 57 (100); HRMS calcd for C₁₂H₂₄O [M⁺] 184.1827, found 184.1802.

4.1.15. a-Methoxy-a-(trifluoromethyl)phenylacetate 24. ¹H NMR δ 0.88 (3H, d, J=6.3 Hz, CH₃), 1.00–1.40 (4H, m), 1.25 (3H, t, J=7.3 Hz, CH₃), 1.29 (3H, t, J=7.0 Hz, CH₃), 1.33 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.41 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.46–1.60 (1H, m), 1.65 (1H, ddd, J=14.1, 10.7, 3.4 Hz), 1.89 (1H, m), 1.99 (1H, ddd, J=14.1, 11.9, 2.4 Hz), 2.05 (1H, dd, J=15.1, 7.8 Hz), 2.15-2.25 (1H, m), 2.23 (1H, dd, J=14.6, 5.9 Hz), 3.59 (3H, s, OCH₃), 3.76 (1H, dd, J=8.3, 6.4 Hz, CHH-O), 3.99 (1H, dd, J=8.3, 6.4 Hz, CHH-O), 4.12 (2H, q, J=7.3 Hz, CH₂-O), 4.17 (2H, q, J=7.0 Hz, CH₂-O), 4.22 (1H, m, CH-O), 5.13 (1H, m, CH-O), 7.39-7.43 (3H, m, Ph), 7.57–7.60 (2H, m, Ph); ¹³C NMR δ 14.30, 14.34, 19.61, 24.34, 24.94, 26.21, 30.14, 32.28, 33.18, 36.26, 41.02, 41.78, 55.54, 60.15, 60.59, 65.58, 74.30, 76.23, 77.20, 109.75, 127.36, 128.31, 129.58, 132.03, 165.90, 173.01, 175.06.

4.1.16. *α***-Methoxy**-*α*-(trifluoromethyl)phenylacetate **25.** ¹H NMR δ 0.91 (3H, d, J=6.4 Hz, CH₃), 1.13 (1H, m), 1.25 (3H, t, J=7.0 Hz, CH₃), 1.20–1.35 (3H, m), 1.27 (3H, t, J=67.0 Hz, CH₃), 1.30 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.36 (3H, s, CH₃), 1.43 (1H, m), 1.56–1.64 (1H, m), 1.69 (1H, ddd, J=14.1, 10.2, 39 Hz), 1.92 (1H, m), 2.03–2.13 (2H, m), 2.25 (1H, dd, J=15.0, 6.0 Hz), 2.39 (1H, m), 3.69 (1H, dd, J=8.5, 6.9 Hz, CHH–O), 3.52 (3H, s, OCH₃), 3.91 (1H, dd, J=8.5, 6.4 Hz, CHH–O), 4.10 (1H, m, CH–O), 4.12 (2H, q, J=6.4 Hz, CH₂–O), 4.16 (2H, q, J=7.0 Hz, CH₂–O), 5.14 (1H, m, CH–O), 7.39–7.43 (3H, m, Ph), 7.57–7.60 (2H, m, Ph); ¹³C NMR δ 14.29, 14.35, 19.67, 24.43, 25.17, 26.26, 30.18, 33.08, 33.27, 36.37, 41.26, 41.81, 55.36, 60.16, 60.63, 65.93, 74.34, 76.35, 109.69, 127.55, 128.26, 128.38, 129.66, 131.62, 165.90, 173.01, 174.96.

References and notes

- 1. Bell, S.; Wüstenberg, B.; Kaiser, S.; Menges, F.; Netscher, T.; Pfaltz, A. *Science* **2006**, *311*, 642–644.
- (a) Mori, K. *Tetrahedron* **1989**, *45*, 3233–3298; (b) Mori, K. *The Total Synthesis of Natural Products*; ApSimon, J., Ed.; Wiley: New York, NY, 1992; Vol. 9, pp 1–534.
- (a) Boucher, Y.; Kamekura, M.; Doolittle, W. F. Mol. Microbiol. 2004, 52, 515–527; (b) Eguchi, T. Yuki Gosei Kagaku Kyokaishi 2005, 63, 1069–1079.

- (a) Nagano, H.; Toi, S.; Yajima, T. Synlett **1999**, 53–54; (b) Nagano, H.; Matsuda, M.; Yajima, T. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 **2001**, 174–182; (c) Nagano, H.; Toi, S.; Hirasawa, T.; Matsuda, M.; Hirasawa, S.; Yajima, T. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 **2002**, 2525–2538; (d) Nagano, H.; Ohkouchi, H.; Yajima, T. Tetrahedron **2003**, 59, 3649–3663; (e) Yajima, T.; Okada, K.; Nagano, H. Tetrahedron **2004**, 60, 5683–5693.
- 5. For the isolation of (4*R*,8*R*)-4,8-dimethyldecanal (1), see:
 (a) Suzuki, T. Agric. Biol. Chem. 1980, 44, 2519–2520;
 (b) Suzuki, T. Agric. Biol. Chem. 1981, 45, 1357–1363;
 (c) Suzuki, T.; Nakakita, H.; Kuwahara, Y. Appl. Entomol. Zool. 1987, 22, 340–347;
 (d) Arnaud, L.; Lognay, G.; Verscheure, M.; Leenaers, L.; Gaspar, C.; Haubruge, E. J. Chem. Ecol. 2002, 28, 523–532.
- For the biosynthesis of (4*R*,8*R*)-4,8-dimethyldecanal (1), see: Kim, J.; Matsuyama, S.; Suzuki, T. J. Chem. Ecol. 2005, 31, 1381–1400.
- For the synthesis of four possible stereoisomers of 4,8-dimethyldecanal and the absolute configuration of the pheromone, see: (a) Suzuki, T.; Mori, K. Appl. Entomol. Zool. 1983, 18, 134–136; (b) Mori, K.; Kuwahara, S.; Ueda, H. Tetrahedron 1983, 39, 2439–2444; (c) Levinson, H. Z.; Mori, K. Naturwissenschaften 1983, 70, 190–192.
- The natural pheromone of *T. castaneum* is suggested to be an 8:2 mixture of (4*R*,8*R*)- and (4*R*,8*S*)-4,8-dimethyldecanals because the mixture is about 10 times more active than (4*R*,8*R*)isomer alone. Suzuki, T.; Kozaki, J.; Sugawara, R.; Mori, K. *Appl. Entomol. Zool.* **1984**, *19*, 15–20.
- For other syntheses of (4R,8R)-4,8-dimethyldecanal (1), see:

 (a) Mori, K.; Kato, M.; Kuwahara, S. Liebigs Ann. Chem.
 1985, 861–865;
 (b) Nguyen, Kong Hao; Ceskis, B.; Mavrov, M. V.; Moiseenkov, A. M.; Serebryakov, E. P. Zh. Org. Khim.
 1987, 23, 498–503;
 (c) Nguyen, Kong Hao; Mavrov, M. V.; Serebryakov, E. P. Zh. Org. Khim.
 1987, 23, 498–503;
 (c) Nguyen, Kong Hao; Mavrov, M. V.; Serebryakov, E. P. Zh. Org. Khim.
 1987, 23, 498–503;
 (c) Nguyen, Kong Hao; Mavrov, M. V.; Serebryakov, E. P. Zh. Org. Khim.
 1987, 23, 1649–1653;
 (d) Ceskis, B.; Lebedeva, K. V.; Moiseenkov, A. M. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Khim.
 1988, 865–871;
 (e) Mavrov, M. V.; Nguyen, Cong Hao; Serebryakov, E. P. Bioorg. Khim.
 1989, 15, 123–126;
 (f) Fuganti, C.; Grasselli, P.; Servi, S.; Hoegberg, H. E. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1988, 3061–3065;
 (g) Chênevert, R.; Desjardins, M. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 1219–1222;
 (h) Sankaranarayanan, S.; Sharma, A.; Chattopadhyay, S. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2002, 13, 1373–1378.
- Schmid, C. R.; Bryant, J. D.; Dowlatzedah, M.; Phillips, J. L.; Prather, D. E.; Schantz, R. D.; Sear, N. L.; Vianco, C. S. *J. Org. Chem.* **1991**, *56*, 4056–4058.
- (a) Chattopadhyay, A.; Salaskar, A. *Synthesis* **2000**, 561–564;
 (b) Bhalay, G.; Clough, S.; McLaren, L.; Sutherland, A.; Willis, C. L. *J. Chem. Soc.*, *Perkin Trans. 1* **2000**, 901–910.
- Férmeier, S.; Griep-Raming, J.; Hayen, A.; Metzger, J. O. Chem.—Eur. J. 2005, 11, 5545–5554.
- (a) Beifuss, U.; Tietze, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2000, 41, 9759– 9763; (b) Kolb, M.; Barth, J. *Synth. Commun.* 1981, 11, 763–967.
- Zarbin, P. H. G.; Cruz, W. de O.; Ferreira, J. T. B. J. Braz. Chem. Soc. 1998, 9, 511–513.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9758-9768

Synthesis of calix[4]arene(amido)monocrowns and their photoresponsive derivatives

Har Mohindra Chawla,* Suneel Pratap Singh and Shailesh Upreti

Department of Chemistry, Indian Institute of Technology, Hauz Khas, New Delhi-110 016, India

Received 31 January 2006; revised 24 June 2006; accepted 13 July 2006 Available online 21 August 2006

Abstract—A series of new calix[4]arene(amido)mono-crown compounds have been synthesized through aminolysis of calix[4]arene esters and intramolecular cyclization of the intermediates. The title compounds were converted into their nitro and azo substituted derivatives to provide novel photoresponsive molecular receptors for transition metal ions. Single crystal X-ray analysis of calix[4]arene(ethyleneamido)-mono-crown (**2a**) revealed that the compound is present in a cone conformation with an amido loop that caps the lower rim of calix[4]arene cavity to result in stacking along axis *a* and axis *c* to provide supramolecular aggregates in the solid state. Evaluation of synthesized macrocycles in the solution phase for recognition of transition metal cations (Cr^{3+} , Fe^{2+} , Co^{2+} , Ni^{2+} , Cd^{2+} , Pb^{2+} , Hg^+ , Hg^{2+} , Pd^{2+} , and Pt^{2+}) by UV–visible spectroscopy revealed that *p-tert*-butyl-calix[4]arene mono-(amidocrown) **1c** selectively shows a blue shift at 38 nm on interaction with Hg^+ ions.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Calix[*n*]arenes (n=4-20) are phenolic [1_n]-*metacyclophanes that are known to provide useful building blocks for hollow molecular architectures with functionalizable hydrophilic and hydrophobic sites.¹ Calixarenes containing –CONH– groups at their hydrophilic end possess inherent hydrogen bond possibilities akin to those present in neutral peptides and proteins² and possibly can resolve some complex issues in molecular recognition. Literature search on calixarene based molecular receptors revealed that <i>p-tert*-butyl-calix[4]arene tetraethyl acetate, on treatment with mono-amines, provides amido calix[4]arenes in good yield. However, when the mono-amines are replaced by diamines

and triamines, the same reaction provides double amido bridged calix[4]arenes³ (Fig. 1). Recently, it has been suggested that the latter series of compounds results from a regioselective but sequential reaction of one of the amino functions of the diamine with the ester function followed by an intramolecular nucleophilic reaction of the remaining amino group with ester functions as depicted in Figure 1.³ The reaction of calix[4]arene tetraethyl acetate should, therefore, lead to possible proximal or distal calix[4]arene mono-(amido)crowns, bis(amido)crowns, and alkyl amino amido methoxy calix[4]arenes. Since no other product could be isolated in the published experiments, the proposed pathway based upon precedents in esterification reactions of calix[4]arenes remains a conjecture. In this paper, we report



Figure 1. Proposed mechanism for the synthesis of 1,2,3,4-bis-amide-bridge calix[4]arenes.

Keywords: Calix[n]arenes; Diazotization; Nitration; Aminolysis.

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +91 11 26591517; fax: +91 11 26591502; e-mail addresses: hmchawla@chemistry.iitd.ernet.in; mohindrachawla@hotmail.com

the synthesis of *p-tert*-butyl-calix[4]arene mono-(amidocrown) derivatives and their debutylated analogs to suggest a plausible mechanism for the reaction and to obtain photoresponsive derivatives of calix[4]amidocrowns for recognition of transition metal ions. The structures of the calix[4]arene(amido) crowns were established by spectroscopic and single crystal X-ray diffraction analyses.

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Characterization of the products

5,11,17,23-Tetra(*p-tert*-butyl)-25,27-di(ethoxycarbonylmethoxy)-26,28-dihydroxy-calix[4]arene (1) and 25,27-di-(ethoxycarbonylmethoxy)-26,28-dihydroxy-calix[4]arene (2) were synthesized by refluxing the corresponding calix[4]arene with ethyl bromoacetate in the presence of K_2CO_3 in acetone for 15 h.⁴ When 1 and 2 were refluxed with different diamines in a mixture of toluene and methanol (Scheme 1) for a period of 24 h, they were converted into 1a-2e, which could be isolated by recrystallization from the solvents mentioned in Section 4.



Scheme 1. Synthesis of calix[4]arene(amido)mono-crown derivatives. Reagents: 20 equiv, diamine $(H_2N-R_2-NH_2)$, toluene/MeOH (1:1), refluxing, 24 h.

The structures of **1a–1e** and **2a–2e** were established by the analysis of their ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra as well as other NMR experiments. For instance, the molecular structure of **2b** could be confirmed by the analysis of its two dimensional HSQC spectrum (Fig. 2). It was determined that the pair of doublets at δ 4.18 and 3.51 for ArCH₂Ar protons in the ¹H NMR spectrum could be correlated with the signal at δ 31.17 in its ¹³C NMR spectrum. A multiplet at δ 6.74–6.81 region in the ¹H NMR spectrum for ArH_{para} protons correlated well with two signals at δ 120.4 and 126.3 in the ¹³C NMR spectrum of **2b**. Similarly, two doublets at δ 6.88 and 7.14 for ArH_{meta} protons observed in the ¹H NMR spectrum correlated well with the two signals at 129.0 and 129.5 ppm in the ¹³C NMR spectrum of **2b**. This specific correlation pattern indicated that **2b** is a symmetrical compound



Figure 2. (a) Molecular structure and ¹H NMR spectrum of 2b; (b) HSQC spectrum of 2b in CDCl₃ at 25 °C and 300 MHz.

in its cone conformation. Similarly, the presence of a pair of doublets for $ArCH_2Ar$ protons in the ¹H NMR spectra of synthesized derivatives and only one signal for methylene carbon in the range of 29–32 ppm in their ¹³C NMR spectra suggested that the synthesized calix[4]arene(amido)-mono-crowns were in a symmetrical cone conformation in solution.⁵

When 2a-2d were reacted with HNO₃/CH₃COOH, they gave products, which were identified as their nitro derivatives 3a-3d (Scheme 2, route a).⁶

Compound **3a** exhibited prominent signals at δ 9.41 and 8.14 for hydroxyl and amide protons, while signals for aromatic protons appeared at δ 8.27, 7.28, and 6.95. The ArOCH₂– protons appeared at δ 4.57 while ArCH₂Ar and –NHCH₂ protons appeared at δ 4.26 and 3.82, and δ 3.51, respectively (Fig. 3). These data suggested that **3a** possessed a symmetric cone structure. A prominent downfield shift in the position of hydroxyl signal suggested that nitro groups were present at positions *para* to the hydroxyl groups. Similarly, other compounds of the series (**3b–3d**) could be characterized by their ¹H NMR spectra.



Scheme 2. Synthesis of *p*-nitro calix[4]arene(amido)mono-crown derivatives Reagents: (i) 20 equiv, diamine, toluene/MeOH (1:1), refluxing, 24 h; (ii) 100% nitric acid, glacial acetic acid/dichloromethane (1:1), 0 °C, 10 min.



Figure 3. Molecular structure and ¹H NMR spectrum of 3a.

The same nitro substituted derivatives could also be obtained by nitration of 25,27-di(ethoxycarbonylmethoxy)-26,28-dihydroxy-calix[4]arene (2) followed by aminolysis with diamines as depicted in Scheme 2, but it was determined that nitration of amidocrowns (route a) resulted in better yields of **3a** and **3b**. When the compounds were less soluble in dichloromethane (e.g., **2c** and **2d**), the reaction gave lower yields of the products (**3c** and **3d**). In such cases, route b was determined to be a better pathway for obtaining products in good yields.

To confer chromogenicity of calix[4]arene(amido)monocrown derivatives for ionic and molecular recognitions, compounds **2a–2d** were also reacted with diazotized 3-aminopyridine under basic conditions to provide mixtures of compounds, which could be separated by column chromatography to give **4a**, **4b**, **5a**, **5b**, **6a**, and **6b** in moderate yields⁷ as described in Section 4 (Scheme 3).

The ¹H NMR spectra of **4a–6b** suggested them to be (pyridylazo)calix[4]arene(amido)mono-crown derivatives. For instance, **4b** exhibited broad signals at δ 8.94 and 8.38 for



Scheme 3. Synthesis of (pyridylazo)calix[4]arene(amido)mono-crown derivatives. Reagents: (i) diazonium salt obtained from 3-aminopyridine, DMF/MeOH (8:5), CH₃COONa, 0–5 °C, 3 h.

hydroxyl and amide group protons in its ¹H NMR spectrum, while 3-azopyridyl protons appeared at δ 9.15, 8.65, 8.10, and 7.44, calix[4]arene core aromatic protons appeared at δ 7.81, 7.19, and 6.99. The ArOCH₂–, ArCH₂Ar, and –NHCH₂ protons could be observed at δ 4.65, 4.25, and 3.73, respectively, in its ¹H NMR spectrum (Fig. 4). The pattern of a pair of doublets for methylene protons suggested that **4b** was present in its cone conformation. Assignment of different NMR signals has been indicated in Figure 4. Similarly, other (pyridylazo)calix[4]arene(amido)monocrown derivatives could be characterized.



Figure 4. Molecular structure and ¹H NMR spectrum of 4b.

2.2. X-ray crystal structural analysis of the calix[4]arene (ethyleneamido)crown (2a)

The ORTEP diagram of **2a** is shown in Figure 5a. The torsion angles φ and χ around ArCH₂Ar bonds about C7, C14, C21, and C28 are 77.5°(12), -100.6°(°(12), 98.3°(12), -78.0°(13), 74.4°(12), -103.9°(12), 100.7°(11), and -78.5°(13), respectively. This alternate \pm sequence is characteristic for the cone conformation.⁸ All the four aromatic rings are planar with a maximum deviation of 0.022 Å from a least square plane. The connecting methylene carbon



Figure 5. (a) ORTEP diagram showing labeling of atoms in 2a (hydrogens and solvent molecule have been omitted for clarity); (b) intramolecular hydrogen bonding in 2a; (c) the content of a single unit cell.

(b)

atoms C7, C14, C21, and C28 form an approximate plane where alternate carbon atoms lie ± 0.136 and ± 0.137 Å above and below the plane. The interplanar angles found between this plane (hypothetical plane along methylene carbons C7, C14, C21, and C28) and the rings A(C1-C6), B(C8-C13), C(C15-C20), D(C22-C27) are 40.39°(1), $73.62^{\circ}(1), 35.19^{\circ}(2), 71.95^{\circ}(1)$, respectively. The interplanar angle between the pairs A and C is determined to be $75.57(2)^{\circ}$ while it is 34.45(2)° between ring B and D. Thus, two opposite rings B and D are almost parallel while rings A and C are almost perpendicular to each other. The O…O separation between O(1) and O(3), and O(2) and O(4) is 3.151 and 4.542 Å, respectively. Likewise, the O…O distance between adjacent phenolic oxygens O(1)-O(2), O(2)-O(3), O(3)-O(4), O(4)–O(1) is 2.879, 2.735, 2.851, and 2.705 Å, respectively. Both the O2-C34-C33-O6 and O4-C29-C30-O5 are trans thereby making both the carbonyl groups exo with respect to the calixarene cavity.

(a)

The main deciding factor for determining the conformation of this molecule is the presence of four intramolecular Hbond (H···O) interactions (Fig. 5b) given in Table 1. The protons of the nitrogen atoms N1 and N2 point inward to the calixarene cavity and are bound to the phenolic oxygens of the calixarene through hydrogen bonds. The contents of the unit cell are shown in Figure 5c.

Table 1. Intramolecular H-bonding interactions of 2a

S.no.	D−H···A	D-H(Å)	H…A(Å)	D…A(Å)	$\angle D – H \cdots A(^{\circ})$
1	01–H1···O4	0.820	2.121	2.706	128.12
2	O3–H3···O2	0.820	1.937	2.734	163.77
3	N1–H1A···O3	0.860	2.500	3.356	173.23
4	N2–H2···O1	0.860	2.519	3.338	159.56

D = Donor, A = Acceptor.

C24

05

Dimer formation via tail to tail (Fig. 6a) and head to head (Fig. 6b) has been observed in the X-ray diffraction pattern of 2b. Two sets of intermolecular hydrogen bonds among C31-H31A···O3' [C-H···O=2.705 Å] and a prominent C-H- π interaction between C31-H31B and ring C'

(3.147 Å) bring the ethyleneamido crown ring much closer to the plane of ring C, which results in a tail to tail dimer (Fig. 6a). A set of a strong intermolecular C–H– π interaction between *para*-hydrogen of ring D' (C24'-H24') with ring B (3.080 Å) and ortho-hydrogens of ring D', i.e., C23'-H23' with ring A (3.432 Å) and C25'-H25' with ring C (3.008 Å), seems to be responsible for the formation of head to head dimer (Fig. 6b). A weak intermolecular hydrogen bond between C34-H34B···O5' (2.669 Å) was associated with the formation of a long supramolecular chain in the solid state (Fig. 6c, Fig. 7).

(c)

2.3. Discussion

It has earlier been proposed that aminolysis of the cone conformation of 25,26,27,28-tetra(ethoxycarbonylmethoxy)calix[4]arene with diamine to yield bisamido-calix[4]arenes (Fig. 1)³ proceeds through a distally substituted intermediate to yield 25,27-bis(amino alkyl amido methoxy)-26,28-bis(ethoxycarbonylmethoxy)-calix[4]arene (Fig. 8a). Consequently, the reaction of diamine with diester derivatives of calix[4]arenes should result in a 25,27-bis(amino alkyl amido methoxy)-26,28-bishydroxycalix[4]arenes (Fig. 8b). However, it has been observed that the reaction gives only the mono-(amido)crown derivatives. This suggests that the reaction of diamines with 25,26,27,28-tetra-(ethoxycarbonylmethoxy)calix[4]arene would have also proceeded in a manner different from the previously proposed reaction of amine with calix[4]arene ethyl acetates.

The formation of proximally substituted calix[4]arene(bisamido)crowns can be considered to proceed stepwise via aminolysis to yield the alkyl amino amido methoxy calix[4]arenes followed by intramolecular cyclization as depicted in Figure 9. The possibility of intermolecular reaction of intermediate aminoamides could be discounted as biscalix[4]arenes could not be isolated or detected in the reaction mixture (FABMS analysis). This conclusion was confirmed by repeating the reaction with excess of diamine (40 equiv) when the reaction resulted in the synthesis of calix[4]arene mono-(amidocrown) derivatives in very good yield. The aminolysis reaction of calix[4]arene ester with diamines



Figure 6. (a) A tail to tail dimer; (b) a head to head dimer; (c) supramolecular aggregates along c axis (intermolecular interactions are shown as dotted lines).



Figure 7. (a) Stacking of molecules along a axis; (b) stacking of molecules along c axis to yield supramolecular aggregates with disordered chloroform.



Figure 8. Ester derivatives with pendant amine groups.

can, therefore, lead to monoamido crown compounds or proximally substituted bisamido crown compounds as depicted in Figure 9. Thus, one of the ester groups in the tetraester (**A**) can be envisaged to get aminolyzed to yield mono-amide (**B**) when reacted with diamines in first step. This intermediate can be considered to react with the neighboring ester group to form a calix[4]arene (monoamido)crown (**C**) in second step, which can further react in a similar fashion to provide proximally bridged calix[4]arene(bisamido)crowns (**E**). Alternatively, the mono-amide (**B**) formed in the first step can further react with the diamine to provide a di-amide (**F**), which in turn can give calix[4]arene monoamido crown (**D**) or proximally bridged calix[4]arene-(bisamido)crowns (**E**). It was interesting to note that the nitration of calix[4]arene mono-(amido)crown derivatives (2a-2d) with 5 equiv of HNO₃ (100%) in CH₃COOH/dichloromethane was determined to be complete within 5 min at room temperature to yield **3a–3d** (monitored by TLC). When the reaction was continued for more than 10 min, it gave a complex mixture while prolonged reaction almost always resulted in the degradation of calixarene framework. Again when the reaction was not conducted under dry conditions, it resulted in the hydrolysis of the ester function in **2a–2d**.

3. Preliminary investigation of synthesized calix[4]amidocrowns for ionic recognition

In order to obtain insight into the affinity of the synthesized calix[4]amidocrowns for metal ions, the changes in their λ_{max} upon interaction with a variety of hard and soft metal cations were investigated. The affinity of calix[4]amidocrowns (1c, 2b) and chromogenic calix[4]amidocrowns (4a, 4b and 6a, 6b) for group I (Li⁺, Na⁺, K⁺, Cs⁺, and Rb⁺), group II (Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, and Ba²⁺), and transition metal cations (Cr³⁺, Fe²⁺, Co²⁺, Ni²⁺, Cu²⁺, Ag⁺, Cd⁺⁺, Pb⁺⁺, Hg⁺, Hg²⁺, Pd²⁺, and Pt²⁺) was examined in solution using methanol as the solvent. The changes in λ_{max} of these chromoion-ophores upon addition of various cations are listed in Table 2. Fig. 10 depicts the change in wavelength of absorption



Figure 9. Mechanistic possibilities for the synthesis of proximally bridged calix[4]arene-bis-(amidocrown) derivatives from calix[4]arene tetraester.

of the synthesized compounds on addition of different alkali metal salts. Calix[4]arene (amido)crowns (**4a**, **4b** and **6a**, **6b**) were found to exhibit a red shift at about 130 nm accompanied by a profound color change on addition of excess of alkali metal ions with the appearance of a new absorption band near 500 nm. These changes could be ascribed to the basicity of the alkali metal carbonates, which tends to ionize the phenolic hydroxyls.

Table 2. Observed $\Delta \lambda_{max}$ (nm) of synthesized compounds on addition of 100 equiv. of metal ions

No.	1c	2b	4a	4b	6a	6b
λ_{max} (nm)	214, 281 ^a	215, 276 ^a	257, 360 ^a	273, 361 ^a	273, 361 ^a	269, 365 ^a
Salts	Μ	letal-induce	d waveleng	th changes	$(\Delta \lambda_{\rm max}, {\rm nn})$	n)
Li ⁺	nc ^b	nc	+137	+138	+138	nc
Na^+	nc	nc	+133	+137	+138	+114
K^+	nc	nc	+134	+137	+138	+113
Rb^+	nc	nc	+134	+137	+138	+117
Cs ⁺	nc	nc	+130	+133	+133	+131
Mg^{2+}	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc
Ca ²⁺	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc
Ba ²⁺	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc
Cr ³⁺	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc
Fe ³⁺	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc
Co ²⁺	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc
Ni ²⁺	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc
Cu ²⁺	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc
Hg ⁺	-38	-4	+16	+16	+17	+15
Cd^{2+}	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc
Ag ⁺	nc	nc	nc	+14	nc	nc
Pb^{2+}	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc
Pd ²⁺	nc	nc	+10	+6	nc	nc
Pt^{2+}	nc	-12	nc	nc	nc	nc

^a Metal-induced wavelength changes have been shown with regard to this absorption peak.

^b nc = no change.

A selective but significant interaction was observed when Hg⁺ metal ion interacted with a dilute solution of calix[4]arene(amido)crown 1c. A blue shift at 38 nm could be observed when excess of Hg⁺ (Fig. 11a) was added to a solution of 1c in methanol. The observed change ($\Delta \lambda_{max}$, nm) in the absorption maxima of synthesized derivatives (1c, 2b, 4a, 4b, 6a, and 6b) on addition of 100 equiv of various transition metal ions has been tabulated in Table 2. It is clear from Table 2 that 1c and 2b have the capability to interact with Hg⁺. These ionophores did not give any shift in the λ_{max} when interacted with other transition metal ions examined (Fig. 11b) (a marginal shift with platinum was observed in the case of 2b). No interference from other ions could be observed in the present study. The inference that the interaction is due to the mercurous ions and not due to nitrate ions was confirmed by examining the effect of addition of tetrabutyl ammonium nitrate to a methanolic solution of **1c** when no shift in its λ_{max} or its intensity was observed.

We conclude that the reaction of di(ethoxycarbonylmethoxy)calix[4]arenes with diamines results in the formation of calix[4]arene(amido)mono-crown compounds through aminolysis followed by an intramolecular cyclization reaction. The calix[4]arene(amido)mono-crown compounds could be nitrated with HNO₃ (100%, obtained from the distillation of a mixture of HNO₃ and H₂SO₄)/glacial acetic acid to provide nitro substituted calix[4]arene(amido)mono-crown compounds. They can also be converted to their azo calix[4]arene(amido)mono-crown compounds to provide additional hydrophilic and hydrophobic cavities at the lower rim and upper rim of calix[4]arenes, which can be tailored for sensing toxic and precious metal ions. Further work to modify calix[4]arene(amido) crown compounds for end use applications is in progress. 9764



Figure 10. (a) UV–visible spectra of **4a** and shifts in its λ_{max} upon the addition of 100 equiv of alkali metal salts; (b) UV–visible spectra of **4b** and shifts in its λ_{max} upon the addition of 100 equiv of alkali metal salts; (c) UV–visible spectra of **6a** and shifts in its λ_{max} upon the addition of 100 equiv of alkali metal salts; (d) UV–visible spectra of **6b** and shifts in its λ_{max} upon the addition of 100 equiv of alkali metal salts; (d) UV–visible spectra of **6b** and shifts in its λ_{max} upon the addition of 100 equiv of alkali metal salts; (d)



Figure 11. (a) UV-visible spectra of **1c** and shifts in its λ_{max} upon the addition of 100 equiv of Hg⁺ metal salts; (b) UV-visible spectra of **2b** and shifts in its λ_{max} upon the addition of 100 equiv of Pt²⁺ metal salts.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

All the reagents used in the study were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich or Merck and were chemically pure. The solvents used were distilled. Column chromatography was performed on silica gel (60-120 mesh) obtained from Merck. ¹H NMR, ¹³C NMR, DEPT-135, and HSQC spectra were recorded on a 300 MHz Bruker DPX 300 instrument at room temperature using tetramethylsilane (TMS) at 0.00 as an internal standard. IR spectra were recorded on a Nicolet Protégé 460 spectrometer in KBr disks while X-ray data were recorded using a Bruker SMART CCD single crystal diffractometer. UV-visible spectra were obtained on a Perkin-Elmer (Lambda-3B) recording spectrophotometer. The FAB mass spectra were recorded on a JEOL SX 102/DA-6000 Mass spectrometer/Data System using Argon/Xenon (6 kV, 10 mA) as the FAB gas. Melting points were determined on an electrothermal melting point apparatus obtained from M/S Toshniwal and were uncorrected.

4.2. Preparation of starting materials

p-tert-Butylcalix[4]arene, calix[4]arene, 5,11,17,23-tetra (*p-tert*-butyl)-25,27-di(ethoxycarbonylmethoxy)-26,28-dihydroxy-calix[4]arene (1), 25,27-di(ethoxycarbonylmethoxy)-26,28-dihydroxy-calix[4]arene (2), and 5,17-dinitro-25,27-di(ethoxycarbonylmethoxy)-26,28-dihydroxy-calix[4]arene (3) were synthesized as described previously.⁴ The analytical data for compounds **1a**, **1c**, and **2c** were found to be same as reported earlier.⁹

4.3. General procedure for the synthesis of calix[4]arene(amido)mono-crown derivatives

Diesters (1, 2) and diamines (20-30 equiv) were taken in toluene:methanol (1:1 ratio) and refluxed for 24 h. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure to yield yellowish semisolid (or solid), which was dissolved in chloroform or ethyl acetate and washed with 1 N H_2SO_4 followed by washing with water. The organic layer was collected and evaporated to dryness under reduced pressure to yield calix[4]arene(amido)mono-crown derivatives as white solids, which were further purified by recrystallization from CHCl₃/CH₃OH or CH₃OH/H₂O. Pure compounds could be isolated by leaving the recrystallizing mixture overnight at 0 $^{\circ}$ C.

4.3.1. Compound 1a. White solid, yield: 92%, mp>232 °C (decomp.). IR (KBr, ν_{max}/cm^{-1}): 3366, 2958, 1689. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ in ppm): 8.58 (br t, 2H, CON*H*), 8.29 (s, 2H, O*H*), 7.06 (s, 4H, Ar*H*), 7.04 (s, 4H, Ar*H*), 4.53 (s, 4H, OC*H*₂), 4.16 (d, 4H, *J*=13.2 Hz, ArC*H*₂Ar), 3.67 (br d, 4H, NHC*H*₂), 3.49 (d, 4H, *J*=13.2 Hz, ArC*H*₂Ar), 1.24 (s, 18H, C(C*H*₃)₃), 1.15 (s, 18H, C(C*H*₃)₃). FABMS *m*/*z*: 789 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₅₀H₆₄N₂O₆: C, 76.11; H, 8.18; N, 3.55. Found: C, 76.25; H, 8.20; N, 3.61. UV (λ_{max} , MeOH): 223, 280, 288 nm.

4.3.2. Compound 1b. White solid, yield: 88% mp>285 °C (decomp.). IR (KBr, ν_{max}/cm^{-1}): 3369, 2958, 1684. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ in ppm): 8.02 (br t, 2H, NH), 7.13 (s, 4H, ArH), 6.77 (s, 4H, ArH), 6.75 (s, 2H, OH), 4.50 (s, 4H, OCH₂), 4.14 (d, 4H, *J*=13.5 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.57 (br s, 4H, NCH₂), 3.44 (d, 4H, *J*=13.5 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 1.75 (br s, 4H, NCH₂CH₂), 1.31 (s, 18H, C(CH₃)₃), 0.90 (s, 18H, C(CH₃)₃). FABMS *m*/*z*: 817 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₅₂H₆₈N₂O₆: C, 76.44; H, 8.39; N, 3.43. Found: C, 76.61; H, 8.37; N, 3.49. UV (λ_{max} , MeOH): 208, 282, 287 nm.

4.3.3. Compound 1c. White solid, yield: 72%, mp 185 °C. IR (KBr, ν_{max}/cm^{-1}): 3430, 2958, 1673. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ in ppm): 8.89 (br s, 1H, NH), 8.35 (br t, 2H, NH), 8.03 (br s, 2H, NH), 7.13 (s, 4H, ArH), 7.11 (s, 4H, ArH), 4.54 (s, 4H, OCH₂), 4.19 (d, 4H, J=12.3 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.57 (br s, 4H, CONHCH₂CH₂), 3.46 (d, 4H, J=12.3 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.57 (br s, 4H, CONHCH₂CH₂), 1.15 (s, 18H, C(CH₃)₃), 1.09 (s, 18H, C(CH₃)₃). FABMS *m*/*z*: 832 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₅₂H₆₉N₃O₆: C, 75.06; H, 8.36; N, 5.05. Found: C, 75.29; H, 8.38; N, 5.15. UV (λ_{max} , MeOH): 221, 281, 287 nm.

4.3.4. Compound 1d. White solid, yield: 56%. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ in ppm): 8.88 (br s, 2H, OH), 8.33 (br t, 2H, NH), 8.03 (br s, 2H, NH), 7.13 (d, 4H, ArH), 7.11 (s, 4H, ArH), 4.54 (s, 4H, OCH₂), 4.22 (d, 4H, J=12.9 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.67 (br s, 4H, CONHCH₂), 3.50 (d, 4H, J=12.9 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.24 (br m, 8H, CONHCH₂CH₂NHCH₂), 1.17 (s, 18H, C(CH₃)₃), 1.02 (s, 18H, C(CH₃)₃). FABMS *m*/*z*: 875 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₅₄H₇₄N₄O₆: C, 74.11; H, 8.52; N, 6.40. Found: C, 74.34; H, 8.54; N, 6.47. UV (λ_{max} , MeOH): 220, 282, 288 nm.

4.3.5. Compound 1e. White solid, yield: 48%, mp 180 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ in ppm): 8.03 (br t, 2H, NH), 7.79 (s, 2H, OH), 7.13 (s, 4H, ArH), 6.67 (s, 4H, ArH), 4.48 (s, 4H, OCH₂), 4.16 (d, 4H, *J*=13.2 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.45 (br s, 4H, NCH₂), 3.39 (d, 4H, *J*=13.2 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 1.78 (br s, 4H, NHCH₂CH₂CH₂), 1.25 (s, 18H, C(CH₃)₃), 1.03 (br s, 4H, NHCH₂CH₂CH₂), 0.87 (s, 18H, C(CH₃)₃). FABMS *m*/*z*: 845 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₅₄H₇₂N₂O₆: C, 76.74; H, 8.59; N, 3.31. Found: C, 76.95; H, 8.57; N, 3.23. UV (λ_{max} , MeOH): 220, 281, 288 nm.

4.3.6. Compound 2a. White solid, yield: 83%, mp 352 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ in ppm): 8.43 (br s, 2H, NH), 8.26 (s, 2H, OH), 7.03 (d, 4H, *J*=7.5 Hz, ArH), 6.96 (d, 4H, *J*=7.5 Hz, ArH), 6.82 (t, 2H, *J*=7.5 Hz, ArH), 6.68 (t, 2H, *J*=7.5 Hz, ArH), 4.49 (s, 4H, OCH₂), 4.10 (d, 4H, *J*=13.2 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.63 (br s, 4H, NCH₂), 3.46 (d, 4H, *J*=13.2 Hz, ArCH₂Ar). FABMS *m*/*z*: 565 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₃₄H₃₂N₂O₆: C, 72.32; H, 5.71; N, 4.96. Found: C, 72.48; H, 5.71; N, 4.86. UV (λ_{max} , MeOH): 218, 276, 283 nm.

4.3.7. Compound 2b. White solid, yield: 82%, mp 260 °C (decomp.). IR (KBr, ν_{max}/cm^{-1}): 3410, 3355, 1683. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ in ppm): 7.71 (br t, 2H, NH), 7.15 (s, 2H, OH), 7.14 (d, 4H, *J*=7.2 Hz, ArH), 6.88 (d, 4H, *J*=7.2 Hz, ArH), 6.81–6.74 (m, 4H, ArH), 4.51 (s, 4H, OCH₂), 4.18 (d, 4H, *J*=13.2 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.63 (br s, 4H, NCH₂), 3.51 (d, 4H, *J*=13.2 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 1.77 (br s, 4H, NCH₂CH₂). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃, δ in ppm): 168.0, 152.2, 150.3, 132.1, 129.5, 129.0, 127.6, 126.3, 120.4 (ArCH, ArC, CONH), 74.9 (OCH₂), 37.6 (CONHCH₂), 31.1 (ArCH₂Ar), 25.0 (CONHCH₂CH₂). FABMS *m*/*z*: 593 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₃₆H₃₆N₂O₆: C, 72.95; H, 6.12; N, 4.73. Found: C, 72.69; H, 6.13; N, 4.78. UV (λ_{max} , MeOH): 218, 276, 282 nm.

4.3.8. Compound 2c. White solid, yield: 76%, mp 265 °C. IR (KBr, ν_{max}/cm^{-1}): 3405, 3350, 1680. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO- d_6 , δ in ppm): 9.02 (br s, 1H, NH), 8.73 (br t, 2H, CONH), 8.03 (s, 2H, OH), 7.19 (d, 4H, J=7.5 Hz, ArH), 7.06 (d, 4H, J=7.5 Hz, ArH), 6.85 (t, 2H, J=7.5 Hz, ArH), 6.66 (t, 2H, J=7.5 Hz, ArH), 4.53 (s, 4H, OCH₂), 4.22 (d, 4H, J=12.9 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.67 (br s, 4H, CONHCH₂), 3.50 (d, 4H, J=12.9 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.67 (br s, 4H, CONHCH₂), 3.50 (d, 4H, J=12.9 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.30 (br s, 4H, CONHCH₂CH₂). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, DMSO- d_6 , δ in ppm): 170.6, 152.3, 134.0, 129.7, 129.3, 127.9, 126.4, 120.3 (ArCH, ArC, CONH), 74.4 (OCH₂), 47.3, 36.2, 30.9 (CONHCH₂CH₂, ArCH₂Ar). FABMS *m/z*: 608 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₃₆H₃₇N₃O₆: C, 75.15; H, 6.14; N, 6.91. Found: C, 75.32; H, 6.12; N, 6.97. UV (λ_{max} , MeOH): 210, 276, 282 nm.

4.3.9. Compound 2d. White solid, yield: 51%, mp 210 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ in ppm): 9.05 (br s, 2H, NH), 8.54 (br t, 2H, CONH), 8.10 (s, 2H, OH), 7.15 (d, 4H, *J*=7.5 Hz, Ar*H*), 6.86 (t, 2H, *J*=7.5 Hz, Ar*H*), 6.76 (d, 4H, *J*=7.5 Hz, Ar*H*), 6.62 (t, 2H, *J*=7.5 Hz, Ar*H*), 4.58 (s, 4H, OCH₂), 4.32 (d, 4H, *J*=12.9 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.69 (br s, 4H, CONHCH₂), 3.51 (d, 4H, *J*=12.9 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.24 (br s, 8H, CONHCH₂CH₂NHCH₂). FABMS *m/z*: 651(M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₃₈H₄₂N₄O₆: C, 70.13; H, 6.51; N, 8.61. Found: C, 70.30; H, 6.53; N, 8.65. UV (λ_{max} , MeOH): 216, 276, 283 nm.

4.3.10. Compound 2e. White solid, yield: 26%, mp 290 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ in ppm): 8.73 (br s, 2H, NH), 8.01 (s, 2H, OH), 7.01 (d, 4H, *J*=7.2 Hz, ArH), 6.88 (d, 4H, *J*=7.2 Hz, ArH), 6.76 (t, 2H, *J*=7.2 Hz, ArH), 6.66 (t, 2H, *J*=7.2 Hz, ArH), 4.51 (s, 4H, OCH₂), 4.07 (d, 4H, *J*=13.2 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.44 (br s, 4H, NCH₂), 3.40 (d, 4H, *J*=13.2 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 1.70 (br s, 8H, NHCH₂CH₂CH₂). FABMS *m*/*z*: 621 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₃₈H₄₀N₂O₆: C, 73.53; H, 6.50; N, 4.51. Found: C, 73.79; H, 6.51; N, 4.57. UV (λ_{max} , MeOH): 218, 277, 284 nm.

4.4. General procedure for the synthesis of nitro substituted calix[4]arene(amide)mono-crown analogs

4.4.1. Route-A. To a solution of corresponding calix[4]arene(amide)mono-crown (**2a**, **2b**, **2d**, and **2e**) in a mixture of dichloromethane and glacial acetic acid was added 100% HNO₃ at 0 °C. The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 5–10 min after which it was poured into water. The water layer was extracted with dichloromethane, the organic layer was washed with water, and then evaporated. Recrystallization of the residue from chloroform/methanol produced sufficiently pure compounds for characterization through spectroscopy.

4.4.2. Route-B. Dinitro diester derivative (**3**) and diamine (20–30 equiv) in toluene:ethanol (1:1 ratio) were refluxed for 24 h. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure to yield a yellowish solid, which was dissolved in chloroform or ethyl acetate and washed with $1 \text{ N H}_2\text{SO}_4$ followed by washing with water. The organic layer was collected and evaporated to dryness under reduced pressure to yield nitro substituted calix[4]arene(amido)mono-crown derivatives as yellowish solids.

4.4.2.1. Compound 3a. Yellow solid, yield: 78%, mp>220 °C (decomp.). IR (KBr, ν_{max}/cm^{-1}): 3376, 1687, 1520, 1442, 1338. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ in ppm): 9.41 (s, 2H, OH), 8.27 (s, 4H, ArH), 8.14 (br s, 2H, NH), 7.28 (d, 4H, J=5.7 Hz, ArH), 6.97 (t, 2H, J=5.7 Hz, ArH), 4.57 (s, 4H, OCH₂), 4.26 (d, 4H, J=12.9 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.82 (d, 4H, J=12.9 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.51 (br s, 4H, NCH₂). FABMS *m*/*z*: 655 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₃₄H₃₀N₄O₁₀: C, 62.38; H, 4.62; N, 8.56. Found: C, 62.54; H, 4.60; N, 8.59.

4.4.2.2. Compound 3b. Yellow solid, yield: 80%, mp>220 °C (decomp.). IR (KBr, ν_{max}/cm^{-1}): 3410, 3355, 1683. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ in ppm): 8.17 (s, 2H, OH), 8.11 (s, 4H, ArH), 7.31 (br s, 2H, NH), 6.99 (d, 2H, J=7.2 Hz, ArH), 6.92 (t, 2H, J=7.2 Hz, ArH), 4.65 (s, 4H, OCH₂), 4.22 (d, 4H, J=13.2 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.66 (br s, 4H, NCH₂), 3.62 (d, 4H, J=13.2 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 1.77 (br s, 4H, NCH₂CH₂). FABMS *m*/*z*: 683 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₃₆H₃₄N₄O₁₀: C, 63.34; H, 5.02; N, 8.21. Found: C, 63.61; H, 5.00; N, 8.25.

4.4.2.3. Compound 3c. Yellow solid, yield: 77%, mp>220 °C (decomp.). IR (KBr, ν_{max}/cm^{-1}): 3394, 1655, 1592, 1464, 1263. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO- d_6 , δ in ppm): 8.31 (D₂O exchangeable, br s, 2H, OH), 8.24 (br s, 4H, ArH_{nitro}), 7.80 (D₂O exchangeable, br t, 2H, NH), 7.17 (br d, 4H, ArH), 6.90 (br t, 2H, ArH), 4.47–2.91 (br m, 21H, CH₂, NH). FABMS m/z: 698 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₃₆H₃₅N₅O₁₀: C, 61.97; H, 5.06; N, 10.04. Found: C, 62.02; H, 5.05; N, 10.08.

4.4.2.4. Compound 3d. Yellow solid, yield: 58%, mp>220 °C (decomp.). IR (KBr, ν_{max}/cm^{-1}): 3390, 1659, 1547, 1464, 1259. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆, δ in ppm): 8.38 (D₂O exchangeable, br s, 2H, OH), 8.26 (br s, 4H, Ar*H*_{nitro}), 7.82 (D₂O exchangeable, br t, 2H, N*H*), 7.17 (br d, 4H, Ar*H*), 6.95 (br t, 2H, Ar*H*), 4.50–2.82 (br m, 26H, CH₂, NH). DEPT-135 NMR (75 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆,

δ in ppm): 129.5, 125.4, 124.4 (Ar*C*H), 73.1 (OCH₂), 46.4, 42.3, 35.3, 30.9 (NH*C*H₂, Ar*C*H₂Ar). FABMS *m*/*z*: 741 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₃₈H₄₀N₆O₁₀: C, 61.61; H, 5.44; N, 11.35. Found: C, 61.81; H, 5.46; N, 11.40.

4.5. General procedure for the synthesis of (pyridylazo)calix[4]arene(amido)mono-crown derivatives

The pyridyl diazonium chloride solutions were prepared by the addition of an aqueous solution of sodium nitrite (1.5 equiv of amine) into a solution of 3-aminopyridine (3 equiv of calix[4]arene(amido)mono-crown) in concd HCl (10-20 equiv) and distilled water (5-10 ml) at 0-5 °C. The diazotized 3-aminopyridine solution was slowly added into an ice-cold (0-5 °C) solution of calix[4]arene(amido)mono-crown in dimethylformamide/methanol (8:5) and sodium acetate (pH 7–9) with constant stirring to give a dark red suspension. The reaction mixture was stirred for 3 h at 0-5 °C and then for 30 min at room temperature. The suspension was poured into water, acidified with concd HCl to give a yellow to dark red precipitate, which was filtered to give a mixture of products. The mixture was then separated by column chromatography (silica gel) to give substituted (pyridylazo)calix[4]arene(amido)mono-crown derivatives.

4.5.1. Compound 4a. This was separated by column chromatography of the crude mixture by using chloroform/methanol (9.9:0.1) as the eluant as a yellowish solid, yield: 28%, mp>240 °C (decomp.). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ in ppm): 9.08 (s, 1H, PyH), 8.88 (s, 1H, OH), 8.58 (d, 1H, J=7.5 Hz, PyH), 8.37 (br s, 2H, NH), 8.25 (s, 1H, OH), 8.02 (d, 1H, J=8.1 Hz, PyH), 7.72 (s, 2H, ArH), 7.35 (dd, 1H, J=4.8 Hz, PyH), 7.10–6.63 (m, 9H, ArH), 4.57 (t, 4H, OCH₂), 4.17 (d, 4H, J=13.5 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 4.11 (d, 2H, J=13.5 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.63 (br s, 4H, NCH₂), 3.62 (d, 2H, J=13.2 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.50 (d, 2H, J=13.2 Hz, ArCH₂Ar). FABMS *m*/*z*: 670 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₃₉H₃₅N₅O₆: C, 69.94; H, 5.27; N, 10.46. Found: C, 69.78; H, 5.29; N, 10.49. UV (λ_{max} , MeOH): 257, 360 nm.

4.5.2. Compound 4b. This was separated by column chromatography using chloroform/methanol (9.9:0.1) as the eluant as a yellowish solid, yield: 58%, mp>240 °C (decomp.). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ in ppm): 9.15 (s, 2H, PyH), 8.94 (s, 2H, OH), 8.65 (br s, 2H, PyH), 8.43 (broad s, 2H, NH), 8.10 (d, 2H, *J*=8.1 Hz, PyH), 7.81 (s, 2H, ArH), 7.44 (dd, 2H, *J*=4.8 Hz, PyH), 7.19 (d, 4H, *J*=7.8 Hz, ArH), 6.99 (t, 2H, *J*=7.5 Hz, ArH), 4.65 (s, 4H, OCH₂), 4.25 (d, 4H, *J*=13.5 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.74 (s, 4H, NCH₂), 3.73 (d, 4H, *J*=13.5 Hz, ArCH₂Ar). FABMS *m/z*: 775 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₄₄H₃₈N₈O₆: C, 68.21; H, 4.94; N, 14.46. Found: C, 68.01; H, 4.96; N, 14.51. UV (λ_{max} , MeOH): 263, 360 nm.

4.5.3. Compound 5a. This was obtained by column chromatography using chloroform/methanol (9.9:0.1) as the eluant in the form of a yellowish solid, yield: 7%, mp>240 °C (decomp.). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ in ppm): 9.14 (s, 1H, PyH), 8.88 (s, 1H, OH), 8.58 (d, 1H, *J*=7.5 Hz, PyH), 8.37 (br s, 2H, NH), 8.25 (s, 1H, OH), 8.02 (d, 1H, *J*=8.1 Hz, PyH), 7.72 (s, 2H, ArH), 7.35 (dd, 1H, *J*=4.8 Hz, PyH), 7.10–6.63 (m, 9H, ArH), 4.51 (s, 4H, OCH₂), 4.18 (d, 4H, *J*=13.2 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.63 (br s, 4H, NCH₂), 3.51 (d,

4H, J=13.2 Hz, ArC H_2 Ar), 1.77 (br s, 4H, NCH $_2$ C H_2). FABMS m/z: 698 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₄₁H₃₉N₅O₆: C, 69.94; H, 5.27; N, 10.04. Found: C, 69.78; H, 5.28; N, 9.98.

4.5.4. Compound 5b. This was obtained by column chromatography using chloroform/methanol (9.9:0.1) as the eluant as a yellowish solid, yield: 28%, mp>240 °C (decomp.). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ in ppm): 9.15 (s, 2H, PyH), 8.94 (s, 2H, OH), 8.65 (br s, 2H, PyH), 8.43 (br s, 2H, NH), 8.10 (d, 2H, *J*=8.1 Hz, PyH), 7.81 (s, 2H, ArH), 7.44 (dd, 2H, *J*=4.8 Hz, PyH), 7.19 (d, 4H, *J*=7.8 Hz, ArH), 6.99 (t, 2H, *J*=7.5 Hz, ArH), 4.51 (s, 4H, OCH₂), 4.18 (d, 4H, *J*=13.2 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.63 (br s, 4H, NCH₂), 3.51 (d, 4H, *J*=13.2 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 1.77 (br s, 4H, NCH₂CH₂). FABMS *m/z*: 803 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₄₆H₄₂N₈O₆: C, 68.81; H, 5.27; N, 13.96. Found: 68.72; H, 5.29; N, 13.76.

4.5.5. Compound 6a. This was purified by column chromatography using chloroform/methanol (9.9:0.1) as the eluant as a red solid, yield: 27%, mp>240 °C (decomp.). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO- d_6 , δ in ppm): 9.10 (s, 1H, PyH), 8.64 (s, 1H, OH), 8.61 (d, 1H, J=2.7 Hz, PyH), 8.24–8.16 (br m, 4H, OH and NH), 8.05 (d, 1H, J=8.1 Hz, PyH), 7.70 (s, 2H, ArH), 7.38 (dd, 1H, J=4.5 Hz, PyH), 7.07–6.71 (m, 9H, ArH), 4.48 (dd, 4H, J=5.1 Hz, OCH₂), 4.11 (d, 4H, J=13.2 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.91–3.31 (br m, 8H, CONHCH₂CH₂), 3.54 (d, 2H, J=13.5 Hz, ArCH₂Ar), 3.43 (d, 2H, J=13.5 Hz, ArCH₂Ar). FABMS m/z: 713 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₄₁H₄₀N₆O₆: C, 69.09; H, 5.66; N, 11.79. Found C, 68.90; H, 5.64; N, 11.76. UV (λ_{max} , MeOH): 273, 361 nm.

4.5.6. Compound 6b. This was separated by column chromatography using chloroform/methanol (9.8:0.2) as the eluant as a red solid, yield: 51%, mp>240 °C (decomp.). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO- d_6 , δ in ppm): 9.17 (s, 2H, PyH), 8.73 (s, 2H, OH), 8.68 (d, 2H, *J*=3.3 Hz, PyH), 8.28–8.16 (br m, 3H, NH), 8.13 (d, 2H, *J*=8.4 Hz, PyH), 7.77 (s, 4H, ArH), 7.46 (dd, 2H, *J*=5.1 Hz, PyH), 6.97 (d, 4H, *J*=8.4 Hz, PyH), 6.83 (t, 2H, *J*=8.4 Hz, PyH), 4.57 (s, 4H, OCH₂), 4.18–3.82 (br m, 12H, ArCH₂Ar and CONHCH₂CH₂), 3.56 (d, 4H, *J*=13.8 Hz, ArCH₂Ar). FABMS *m*/*z*: 818 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₄₆H₄₃N₉O₆: C, 67.55; H, 5.30; N, 15.41. Found C, 67.42; H, 5.28; N, 15.37. UV (λ_{max} , MeOH): 269, 365 nm.

4.6. X-ray structure determination of 2a

The crystals of **2a** were obtained when the compound was crystallized from CHCl₃/CH₃OH (9:1). X-ray crystal data for **2a**—C₃₄H₃₂N₂O₆·CCl₃, *M*=682.98, triclinic, *a*= 10.170(11) Å, *b*=12.208(13) Å, *c*=14.442(16) Å, *α*= 112.667(19)°, β =95.41(2)°, γ =90.08(2)°, *V*=1646(3) Å³, *Z*=2, *Dc*=1.378 gcm⁻³, μ (Mo K α)=0.327 mm⁻¹, GOF = 1.065, space group = *P*-1. Intensity data were collected up to θ =40° by using 2 θ scanning mode with graphite filtered Mo K α radiation (λ =0.71073) on a 0.219×0.168× 0.098 mm³ crystal at 298 K. A total of 8897 reflections were measured, 3075 were independent and of which 1463 [*I*>2(*I*]] were observed. The structure was solved by direct methods and refined by full matrix least-square techniques on *F*² using SHELXTL. All the nonhydrogen atoms were refined anisotropically. The solvent molecule present in

exocyclic fashion was highly disordered. C–H hydrogen atoms were placed in geometrically calculated positions by using a riding model. SADABS was applied for absorption correction. Final *R* indices $[I>2\sigma(I)]R1=0.0987$, wR2=0.2044, and *R* indices (all data) R1=0.1600, wR2=0.2435was found for 3075 observed reflections, 0 restraints, and 444 parameters. The apparently high value for *R* factor probably originates from the disorder due to the solvent. Torsion angles and H-bonding were calculated by using PARST. Crystal data have been deposited at the Cambridge Crystallographic Data Center, under reference CCDC 281639.

4.7. General procedures for UV-visible experiments

All the UV–visible experiments were carried out in methanol unless otherwise specified. Any shifts in the UV–visible spectra of the synthesized compound were recorded on addition of metal salt (100 equiv) solutions. Carbonates-(Li⁺, Na⁺, K⁺, Rb⁺, Cs⁺, Ag⁺), Chlorides-(Mg²⁺, Ca²⁺, Ba²⁺, Cr³⁺, Fe²⁺, Cd²⁺, Pb²⁺, Hg²⁺, Pd²⁺, and Pt²⁺), acetate (Co²⁺, Ni²⁺, Cu²⁺), and nitrate (Hg⁺) salts were used for the UV–visible experiments.

Acknowledgements

We thank the C.S.I.R. for a senior research fellowship (to S.P.S) and D.S.T and D.B.T, Govt. of India for financial assistance. We also thank Sophisticated Analytical Instrumentation Facility, Central Drug Research Institute, Lucknow for the mass spectra reported in this paper and DST-FIST grant for single crystal CCD X-ray facility at Indian Institute of Technology, New Delhi.

Supplementary data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.047.

References and notes

- (a) Gutsche, C. D. Calixarenes: Monographs in Supramolecular Chemistry; Stoddart, J. F., Ed.; The Royal Society of Chemistry: Cambridge, UK, 1989; (b) Kumar, S.; Chawla, H. M.; Varadrajan, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 7073–7075; (c) Kumar, S.; Chawla, H. M.; Varadrajan, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 2495–2498; (d) Chawla, H. M.; Santra, A. Synth. Commun. 2001, 31, 2605–2611; (e) Arora, V.; Chawla, H. M.; Santra, A. Tetrahedron 2002, 58, 5591–5597; (f) Kumar, S.; Chawla, H. M.; Varadrajan, R. Tetrahedron 2003, 59, 7481– 7484; (g) Chawla, H. M.; Pant, N.; Srivastava, B. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 7259–7262.
- (a) Abidi, R.; Oueslati, I.; Amri, H.; Thuery, P.; Nierlich, M.; Asfari, Z.; Vicens, J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42*, 1685–1689; (b) Oueslati, I.; Abidi, R.; Thuery, P.; Nierlich, M.; Asfari, Z.; Harrowfield, J.; Vicens, J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 8263– 8267; (c) Chen, Q. Y.; Chen, C. F. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2005**, *46*, 165–168; (d) Tumcharern, G.; Tuntulani, T.; Coles, S. J.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Kilburn, J. D. Org. Lett. **2003**, *5*, 4971– 4974; (e) Chen, Y. Y.; Chen, Y. K. Org. Lett. **2000**, *2*, 743– 745; (f) Oueslati, I.; Abidi, R.; Amri, H.; Thuery, P.; Nierlich,

M.; Asfari, Z.; Harrowfield, J.; Vicens, J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 8439–8443.

- Wu, Y.; Shen, X. P.; Duan, C. Y.; Liu, Y. J.; Xu, Z. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 5749–5752.
- 4. (a) Gutsche, C. D. Org. Synth. 1990, 68, 234–243; (b) Gutsche, C. D.; Iqbal, M.; Steward, D. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 742–745;
 (c) Creaven, B. S.; Deasy, M.; Gallagher, J. F.; Mcginley, J.; Murry, B. A. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 8883–8887; (d) Verboom, W.; Durie, A.; Egberink, R. J. M.; Asfari, Z.; Reinhoudt, D. N. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 1313–1316.
- Jaime, C.; Mendoza, J. D.; Prados, P.; Nieto, P. M.; Sanchez, C. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 3372–3376.
- (a) Kumar, S.; Chawla, H. M.; Varadrajan, R. *Tetrahedron* 2004, 60, 1001–1005;
 (b) Kumar, S.; Kurur, N. D.; Chawla, H. M.; Varadarajan, R. *Synth. Commun.* 2001, 31, 775–779.
- (a) Arora, V.; Chawla, H. M.; Francis, T.; Nanda, M.; Singh, S. P. Indian J. Chem. 2003, 42A, 3041–3044; (b) Chakrabarti, A.;

Chawla, H. M.; Francis, T.; Upreti, S. *Tetrahedron* **2006**, *62*, 1150–1157; (c) Chawla, H. M.; Singh, S. P.; Upreti, S. *Tetrahedron* **2006**, *62*, 2901–2911; (d) Deligoz, H.; Ercan, N. *Tetrahedron* **2002**, *58*, 2881–2884; (e) Chawla, H. M.; Srinivas, K. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. **1994**, 2593–2594; (f) Chawla, H. M.; Srinivas, K. J. Org. Chem. **1996**, *61*, 8464–8467.

- (a) Arora, V.; Chawla, H. M.; Hundal, G. J. Chem. Crystallogr.
 2004, 34, 465–469; (b) Ugozzoli, F.; Andreetti, G. D. J. Inclusion Phenom. Mol. Recognit. Chem. 1992, 13, 337–348.
- (a) Ostaszewski, R.; Stevens, T. W.; Verboom, W.; Reinhoudt, D. N. *Recl. Trav. Chim. Pays-Bas* **1991**, *110*, 294–298; (b) Bohmer, V.; Ferguson, G.; Gallaghar, J. F.; Lough, A. J.; Mckervey, M. A.; Madigan, E.; Moran, M. B.; Philips, J.; Williams, G. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 **1993**, 1521–1527; (c) Banthia, S.; Samanta, A. Org. Biomol. Chem. **2005**, *8*, 1428–1434.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9769-9777

Effect of a perfluorocyclopentene core unit on the structures and photoluminescence of fluorene- and anthracene-based compounds

Mijung Han,^a Sooyong Lee,^a Jonghwa Jung,^b Ki-Min Park,^b Soon-Ki Kwon,^b Jaejung Ko,^{c,*} Phil Ho Lee^{a,*} and Youngjin Kang^{a,*}

^aNational Research Laboratory of Catalytic Organic Reaction, Division of Science Education and Department of Chemistry,

Kangwon National University, Chuncheon 200-701, Republic of Korea

^bResearch Institute of Natural Sciences, Department of Chemistry and School of Nano & Advanced Materials Engineering and ERI,

Gyeongsang National University, Chinju 660-701, Republic of Korea

^cDepartment of Chemistry, Korea University, Jochiwon, Chungnam 339-700, Republic of Korea

Received 7 June 2006; revised 30 June 2006; accepted 11 July 2006 Available online 17 August 2006

Abstract—A novel series of blue luminescent compounds, in which three identical functional groups, such as fluorene, anthracene, and spirobifluorene, are linked distortedly around a perfluorocyclopentene core, have been synthesized and characterized. The introduction of a perfluorocyclopentene linkage into the molecular framework leads to an enhancement of the photoluminescence (PL) efficiency and thermal stability. All compounds exhibit intense blue photoluminescence, which has been attributed to fluorene- or anthracene-based $\pi \rightarrow \pi^*$ transitions. The maximum emission wavelengths of all compounds at room temperature are in the region of 420-480 nm, with higher PL quantum efficiencies than in 9,10-diphenylanthracene. The electroluminescent (EL) properties of compound 4, 1,2-bis(9,9'-spirobifluoren-2-yl)-3,3,-4,4,5,5-hexafluorocyclopentene, were investigated. A multilayer EL device with the configuration of ITO/2TNATA(60 nm)/NPB(20 nm)/ ADN:2%-compound-4(35 nm)/Alq₃(20 nm)/LiF(2 nm)/Al has been successfully fabricated.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Luminescent organic/organometallic materials are currently of great interest due to their various applications in photochemistry,¹ organic light-emitting diodes (OLEDs),² and chemical sensors for small molecules.³ Among these organic materials, fluorene and/or anthracene-based compounds have been regarded as excellent fluorescent materials because of their ability to achieve high thermal stability as well as high photoluminescent (PL) efficiency.⁴ Fluorene and/or anthracene-based compounds, in particular, are often used as emitting materials in electroluminescent (EL) devices.⁵ Based on previous reports, promising low molecular weight emitter for use in OLEDs should have an appropriate HOMO/LUMO band gap as compared to those of the electron- and hole-transporting materials, high photoluminescent quantum yield (Φ_{PL}), good film-forming properties, and durability to heat during the vacuum deposition.⁶ The $\Phi_{\rm PI}$ is a major interest associated with the improvement of EL device efficiency, since the two properties are generally related.⁷ With the aim of increasing PL efficiency, several approaches have been introduced. These include the attachment of strongly fluorescent units,^{5j} such as anthracene, fluorene, and pyrene to the molecular framework, the extension of π -conjugation⁸ and the combination of host–guest functions by energy transfer.^{5i,9} Especially, the introduction of electron-withdrawing groups, such as fluoro- or cyano groups, renders a molecule with high PL efficiency by interor intramolecular interactions despite of the diminution of the HOMO and LUMO levels.¹⁰ Moreover, it is well known that the fluorine groups bound to molecular frameworks enhance a molecule's thermal stability and enable it to sublime easily without decomposition.¹¹

During our ongoing effort on the development of a variety of luminescent materials, we have observed that the presence of a linker between two chromophores has a remarkable influence on the thermal and photophysical properties.¹² The perfluorocyclopentene moiety as a linker was chosen for following reasons: (i) in EL devices performance using low-weight molecules, the molecules should be easily sublimed thermally stable, and have high PL efficiency, as the fabrication of these devices is generally performed by vacuum deposition at high temperature. Based on previous reports, compounds bearing fluorinated functional groups are satisfactory to these considerations. (ii) Photochromic materials, such as diarylethene, have recently attracted

Keywords: Perfluorocyclopentene; Optical properties; X-ray structure; OLEDs.

Corresponding authors. Tel.: +82 33 250 6737; fax: +82 33 242 9598 (Y.K.); e-mail: kangy@kangwon.ac.kr

^{0040-4020/\$ -} see front matter © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.065

2. Result and discussion

2.1. Syntheses and structures

age formation, optical data storage, and optical switching.¹³ Dithienylethene derivatives were not only regarded as promising photochromic compounds, but they also showed high thermal stability and excellent fatigue-resistant properties. In diarylethene systems, the perfluorocyclopentene unit could play a key role in the alteration of confomers and photophysical properties.¹³ Therefore, we expected that the combination of highly fluorescent fluorene or anthracene groups and fluorinated functional groups would be the best way to develop efficient emitting materials and satisfy above considerations. (iii) The introduction of two bulky triphenylamine moieties into the dithienvlethene framework increases the population of the antiparallel conformer of the molecule, leading to higher conversion of a photocyclization reactions.^{13a} Very high quantum efficiency is shown for these molecules in photocyclization reactions (Φ_{o-c}), however, the study on OLED performance using their derivatives still remains scarce. Herein, we describe the results of our investigation on the preparation, structural characterization, electrochemical behavior, optical properties, and the fabrication of multilayer light-emitting devices of a series of fluorene and anthracene derivatives based on perfluorocyclopentene.

interest in view of their potential applications for visible im-

To develop new molecules with high fluorescence quantum efficiency, we have designed and synthesized a novel class of compounds based on diarylethene. The synthetic routes to 1-4 are given in Scheme 1. These compounds were prepared by the addition of octafluorocyclopentene to the corresponding lithiated compound, prepared from the reaction of a small excess of *n*-BuLi and the bromoarene at -78 °C. The standard workup and crystallization from CH₂Cl₂/hexane gives the titled compounds as pure pale yellow or colorless solids in moderate yields (69-82%). In addition, to evaluate the effect of a perfluorocyclopentene ring on structural features and photoluminescence, we have synthesized an aromatic analogue of compound 1, compound 5, through Pd-mediated Suzuki coupling. All compounds are stable in air and soluble in common organic solvents but only slightly soluble in hexane and pentane. The structures of 1-5 have been characterized by ¹H NMR, ¹³C NMR, and elemental analyses, including X-ray diffraction analysis of 1 and 5. In order for molecular organic materials to be useful in EL devices, they should be thermally and morphologically



Scheme 1. Synthetic routes of 1–5. Reagents and conditions: (i) *n*-BuLi/THF at -78 °C, octafluorocyclopentene (0.5 equiv); (ii) K₂CO₃, benzyltrimethyl-ammoniumchloride, Pd(PPh₃)₄ (5 mol %), toluene.

Table 1. Thermal properties of 1-5

Compound	$T_{\rm g}$ /°C	$T_{\rm m}/^{\circ}{\rm C}$
1	_	116
2	_	93
3	_	365
4	115	273
5	_	173

stable.¹⁷ Therefore, we performed DSC experiments to investigate the glass-transition temperatures and phase transitions for compounds 1-5. Well-resolved melting transitions were observed in all cases (Table 1).

Compounds 1-3 did not show glass transition during either the first or second heating cycle. The melting transitions of 1, 2, and 3 are at 116, 93, and 365 °C, respectively. This suggests that the combination of the perfluorocyclopentene linkage and anthracene unit leads to a dramatic increase in melting transition. In contrast, the first heating cycle of 4 revealed high glass-transition temperature at 115 °C without any crystallization transition, followed by melting at 273 °C. The glass transition observed is likely attributable to a nonplanar structure and the spiro-linked bifluorene moieties of 4. All compounds showed consistent and fully reproducible DSC diagrams during two cycles of heating and cooling, indicating that these compounds are thermally stable up to their melting points at least. The high glass-transition temperature of 4 makes it potentially useful for applications in EL devices.

To better understand the solid-state nature, single crystal X-ray diffraction analysis was conducted for 1 and 5. Colorless crystals of 1 and 5 suitable for X-ray analysis were obtained by the slow evaporation in CH_2Cl_2 and hexane. The crystal structures and selected bond lengths and angles of 1 and 5 are presented in Figures 1 and 2, respectively.



Figure 1. Molecular structure of 1 with atom labeling schemes and 50% thermal ellipsoids. Selected bond distances and angles: F(1)-C(1) 1.359(4), F(2)-C(1) 1.355(4), F(3)-C(2) 1.344(3), F(4)-C(2) 1.341(3), F(5)-C(3) 1.367(3), F(6)-C(3) 1.354(3), C(4)-C(16) 1.475(4), C(5)-C(33) 1.484(4), F(1)-C(1)-F(2) 105.8(2), F(3)-C(2)-F(4) 107.9(2), F(5)-C(3)-F(6) 105.9(2), C(16)-C(4)-C(5)-C(33) 7.5(5).



Figure 2. Molecular structure of 5 with atom labeling schemes and 50% thermal ellipsoids. Selected bond distances and angles: F(1)-C(20) 1.352(2), F(2)-C(21) 1.356(2), C(11)-C(18) 1.494(3), C(18)-C(23), 1.411(3), C(23)-C(24) 1.492(3), C(11)-C(18)-C(23)-C(24) 9.4(4).

As shown in Figure 1, two fluorene groups connected by the hexafluorocyclopentene linker in compound 1 are twisted with respect to each other, and the hexafluorocyclopentene ring is not coplanar with either of the two fluorene rings. Interestingly, the dihedral angles between hexafluorocyclopentene ring and two fluorene rings are not the same (54.3(1)° and 29.3(1)° for the C1–C5 ring and the C33 or C16 fluorene rings, respectively) and the dihedral angle between the two fluorene rings is $50.38(5)^\circ$. The nonplanarity of 1 is clearly caused by the steric hindrance between C32-H and C17-H atoms. The bond lengths C5-C33 and C4-C16 are 1.484(4) and 1.475(4) Å, respectively, and the torsion angle of C33-C5-C4-C16 is 7.5(5)°, similar to those of previously reported diarylethene compounds.¹⁸ Compound **1** has several intermolecular interactions that appear to direct the expanded packing of the solid-state structure. The packing diagram (see Supplementary data) displays puckered 2-D sheets of molecules with slipped C-H···F intermolecular interactions (C9...F1, 3.602(4) Å; C9-H9-F1, 171.8°; C28…F2, 3.298(4) Å; C28–H28–F2, 128.4°; C15…F5, 3.305(3)Å; C15–H15–F5, 148.6°). Moreover, a F···C π interaction (F4...C5) also exists between two adjacent sheets, with a distance of ca. 3.160(3) Å. Additional intermolecular interactions, such as π - π stacking, were not found in the packing structure of 1.

For compound **5**, the bond lengths of C11–C18 and C23– C24 are 1.494(3) and 1.492(3) Å, respectively, the torsion angle of C11–C18–C23–C24 is 9.4(4)°, and the dihedral angle between two fluorene rings is $54.95(3)^\circ$, which are slightly longer and larger than those of compound **1**. The differences of these values between **1** and **5** may be caused by the fact that the geometry of the linker between the two fluorene moieties changes from a pentagon to hexagon. This geometrical change leads to a reduction in the linkage angle from 72° to 60°. In contrast to **1**, the dihedral angles in **5** between the phenyl ring and the two fluorene rings are almost identical (48.82(6)° and 44.80(7)° between the phenyl ring and C11 or C24 fluorene ring, respectively). Several intermolecular interactions are also observed in crystal packing. The distances between the carbon (C9, C12, C15C, and C32) and the fluorine (F1, F2) atoms on two adjacent molecules are in the range of approximately 2.59–2.64 Å. The packing diagram (see Supplementary data) of **5** displays a 1-D column-like structure along the *b*-axis, using the C-H…F intermolecular interactions.

Although compounds **1** and **5** have similar arrangements and intermolecular interactions in the crystal lattice, it is noteworthy that the perfluorocyclopentene ring of compound **1** has considerable conjugation with two fluorene groups, as indicated by their much smaller dihedral angles $(29.3(1)^{\circ} 35.7(1)^{\circ})$ with the perfluorocyclopentene ring relative to those of compound **5**. Both compounds **1** and **5** have interesting spatial arrangements in the crystal lattice. The fluorene groups linked by cyclopentene are oriented in the same direction, despite the presence of bulky alkyl groups at the fluorene 9-position.

2.2. Optical and electrochemical properties

The absorption and photoluminescence spectra in dilute solution and in the solid state (thin film) are depicted in Figures 3 and 4, respectively. Table 2 summarizes the optical data of 1-5.

The optical band gaps of all compounds were determined by their corresponding absorption threshold in thin films. UVvis spectra of 1, 2, and 4 exhibit intense absorption band between 250 and 400 nm ($\varepsilon > 23,800 \text{ mol}^{-1} \text{ dm}^3 \text{ cm}^{-1}$), indicating that the electronic transitions are mostly fluorenecentered π - π *. For compound 3, the absorption spectrum exhibits the characteristic vibrational pattern of the isolated anthracene group at 353, 370, and 409 nm. The absorption patterns of 1, 2, and 4 are similar in the 280-450 nm region. To examine the effect of the perfluorocyclopentene linkage on the electronic transition, we measured the absorption spectrum of 5, in which perfluorocyclopentene is replaced by 1,2-difluorobenzene, under the same conditions. Interestingly, the maximum peak observed for 5 exhibits a significant blue shift (λ_{max} =392 nm) relative to those of 1, 2, and 4. In addition, the UV edge in 5 appears at much higher energy than in 1, 2, and 4. This result can be explained by strong π (fluorene) conjugation associated with π (perfluorocyclopentene) in 1, 2, and 4. Considering these observations,



Figure 3. Absorption and emission spectra of 1 and 5 in CH_2Cl_2 at room temperature; compound 1 (blue), compound 5 (black), respectively.



Figure 4. Absorption and emission spectra of 1 and 5 in thin film at room temperature; compound 1 (blue), compound 5 (black), respectively.

Table 2. Optical and electrochemical data for 1-5

Compound	λ_{abs} (nm)		$\lambda_{PL} (nm)$		$arPsi_{ ext{PL}}$	E_{g}^{opt}
	Solution	Film	Solution	Film		(eV)
1	332, 353	323	455	458	>0.95	3.06
2	335	321	451	456	>0.95	3.19
3	353, 370, 392	362, 383, 409	421	501	0.41	2.76
4	328	309	459	461	0.90	3.09
5	312	314	392	421	>0.95	3.50

perfluorocyclopentene unit has a significant effect on the electronic transition energies. The emission spectra of compounds 1–5 in solution and as thin films at room temperature are dominated by fluorescence in the region of 400-550 nm, as supported by less than 1 ns lifetime in excited state. The emissions of all compounds in thin films, prepared by spin coating from a CH₂Cl₂/toluene solution onto a quartz plate, exhibit red-shifts of 5-20 nm to those in dilute solution. These red-shifts observed in the solid state are likely attributable to the difference in dielectric constant of the environment.¹⁹ For compounds 1, 2, and 4, the λ_{max} values of emission spectra in both solution and thin films are similar (\sim 460 nm in thin films), and still red-shifted relative to 5. This result can be also explained by correlating the electronic and structural effects due to the perfluorocyclopentene unit. To further investigate the electronic effects caused by the addition of perfluorocyclopentene unit, cyclic votammetry experiments were carried out using ferrocene (Fc/Fc⁺) as the internal standard. Due to the limited range available in CH₂Cl₂, and inability of our instrument to measure reliable reduction potentials in the range of -2.4 to -3.5 V, we have obtained only the reliable oxidation potentials for 1 and 5. The electrochemical behavior in aryl-substituted fluorene analogues has been described such that the irreversible oxidative and reductive processes involve the fluorene and various aryl-substituents, respectively.⁴ Molecular orbital calculations for 1 and 5 provide evidence that the HOMO levels are mostly due to fluorene-based π -orbitals involving some π -orbital contributions from the linker. Upon the anodic sweep in a solvent mixture of CH₂Cl₂ and CH₃CN, irreversible oxidations are observed at 0.86 and 0.89 V for 1 and 5, respectively. However, similar onset potentials of 1 and 5 appear at 0.75 and 0.74 V, respectively (see Supplementary data). These electrochemical behaviors indicate that the electron-withdrawing effect from the

perfluorocyclopentene unit does not have a significant influence on the HOMO energy levels, as compared to 1,2difluorobenzene. The reductive process of the fluorene derivatives was also shown to be due to the fluorine, and is affected by the various substituents bound to the fluorene moiety. More effective conjugation stabilizes the LUMO, leading to a decreased reduction potential. Although we could not observe the reductive process, the reduction potential of 1 should be lower relative to compound 5, as supported by the structural data and the optical absorption threshold. Another fact affecting the nature of the luminescence in molecular materials is intermolecular interactions in the solid state. There were $F \cdots C\pi$ interactions in crystal packing for 1, while the intermolecular interactions, such as those of C–F, C–H, and π – π stacking, were not observed in 5. In general, effective intermolecular interactions contribute to red-shifted absorption and emission energies, leading to lower band gaps. Therefore, the red-shifted absorption and emission maxima for 2 could be attributed to the increase of π -orbital conjugation between the perfluorocyclopentene and fluorene rings as well as the presence of intermolecular interactions in the solid state. Based on our observations and above elucidations, we believe that the observed red-shifted absorption and emission spectra of compound 1 are likely due to the strong electron-withdrawing effect of the perfluorocyclopentene unit and the more extended conjugation. The PL efficiencies of 1, 2, and 4 were noteworthy. It has been well known that DPA (9,10-diphenylanthracene) is regarded as a standard for blue fluorescence with a $\Phi_{\rm PL}$ of 0.95.²⁰ As compared to that of DPA, compounds 1, 2, and 4 show high PL quantum efficiency and increase in the order 2>1>4>3. The extended conjugation and the lack of thermal vibrations caused by strong C-F bonds may be responsible for the enhanced PL efficiencies. To gain a deeper insight into the electronic and luminescent properties, we performed ab initio calculations (level of calculation B3LYP/3-21G*) on 1 and 5 employing the Gaussian 98 package.²¹ The geometrical parameters employed in the calculations were taken from their structural data. A contour plot showing the electron density of highest occupied molecular orbitals (HOMO's), second HOMO's, lowest unoccupied molecular orbitals (LUMO's), and second LUMO's for compounds 1 and 5 along with the orbital energy for each levels is depicted in Figure 5. As one may see, the HOMOs and LUMOs of both compounds are similar. The HOMOs of both compounds are dominated by π -orbitals of fluorene but involve some contribution of the π -orbital on the perfluorocyclopentene or benzene moiety. The second HOMO of 1 shows that the π -orbitals of fluorene overlap with the π -orbitals of the ethene unit in the perfluorocyclopentene ring. In contrast, an effective π -orbital overlap between the benzene and fluorene units in the second HOMO level for 5 was not observed. The effective overlap of the HOMO level for 1 certainly should lead to the decrease of the HOMO energy level relative to that of 5. Although the surfaces of the LUMOs of both compounds are similar (fluorene-based π^* orbitals), the π^* orbitals contribution of the perfluorocyclopentene ring for 1 is greater than that of the difluorobenzene ring of 5. It is noteworthy that the perfluorocyclopentene ring greatly influences the LUMO levels, as compared to the benzene moiety. The energy differences between 1 and 5 in the LUMO level is 0.026 Hartree (16.315 kcal/mol), while in the HOMO level



Figure 5. Diagram showing the surfaces and energies of second HOMOs, HOMOs, LUMOs, and second LUMOs for 1 and 5.

is 0.009 Hartree (5.648 kcal/mol). This result provides support to the evidence that the perfluorocyclopentene unit in 1 plays a key role in the diminution of LUMO energy, bringing about a smaller band gap energy relative to 5.

The band gaps between the HOMO and LUMO are 3.81 eV (325 nm) for 1 and 4.12 eV (301 nm) for 5, which are in agreement with their corresponding UV-vis spectra. Judging from these calculations, the luminescence observed in 1–4 is indeed believed to originate from fluorene-based π - π * transitions from the perfluorocyclopentene linkage.

2.3. Electroluminescence properties

The electroluminescence (EL) properties of compound **4**, as a representative, were investigated because compound **4** showed high glass-transition temperature. We fabricated a multilayer device with the configuration of ITO/2TNATA (60 nm)/NPB(20 nm)/ADN:2%-compound-**4**(35 nm)/Alq₃ (20 nm)/LiF(2 nm)/Al. The layers of the device consist of



Figure 6. PL (thin film) and EL spectra of 4. (device structure: ITO/ 2TNATA(60 nm)/NPB(20 nm)/ADN:2%-compound-4(35 nm)/Alq₃(20 nm)/ LiF(2 nm)/Al).

ITO as the anode, 2TNATA as the hole injection layer, NPN as the hole-transporting layer, AND:2%-compound-4 as the emitter, Alq₃ as the electron transporting layer, LiF as the electron injection layer, and Al as the cathode, respectively. In this study, we chose ADN as the host material, which is a prototypical host with a wide band gap for blue OLEDs. In the EL device, compound 4 displays a blue emission at λ_{max} =458 nm with a shoulder at 438 nm, as shown in Figure 6.

The dominant peak originates from compound 4, while the shoulder originates from the ADN. The emission observed in the EL device support the suggestion that an incomplete energy transfer from the host to the dopant occurs at the 2 wt %-doped level. The operating voltage (defined as 20 mA/cm²) of the device is observed at 9 V, which is relatively high. The ability to trap charges in the emissive layer is considered as one of the most important factors in determining the operating voltage.²² Effective charge trapping by the dopants gives rise to increasing driving voltages in OLEDs. If the dopant material functions as a hole trap, the HOMO level of the dopant could be above that of the host material. In other words, materials having a lower oxidation potential can function as effective hole trapping materials in OLEDs.²⁷ Therefore, the high operating voltage observed is very likely to stem from the effective hole trapping caused by perfluorocyclopentene unit. The luminescence efficiency of 0.82 cd/A (1120 cd/m²), with CIE coordinates of x=0.169and y=0.146, at a current density of 95 mA/cm² and a voltage of 12 V was achieved, as shown in Figure 7.

More detailed I-V-L characteristics are deposited in electronic supplementary material. The low efficiency in the EL device could be due to the poor of energy transfer between the host and dopant. Although the efficiency is low, we believe that high efficiency should be achieved by changing the concentration of compound **4**. Energy transfers, in general, are quite sensitive upon doping concentration, complete energy transfers tend to emerge at higher doping levels. Further improvement and optimization of EL devices using compound **4** are being investigated in our laboratory.



Figure 7. Luminance versus voltage characteristics of 4-doped devices.

3. Conclusions

In summary, a series of perfluorocyclopentene-based luminescent compounds have been synthesized and characterized, including their photo- and electroluminescent spectra and electrochemical properties, and the nature of their solid-state structures. The perfluorocyclopentene linkage incorporated with fluorene, anthracene, or spiro-bifluorene moieties can give rise to several distinct characteristics, impacting their solid-state structures, the electrochemical behavior, and photoluminescence. As expected, fluorine atoms on the perfluorocyclopentene ring induce strong intermolecular interaction between two adjacent molecules, leading to high PL efficiency. Moreover, this functional group considerably perturbed the absorption, redox potentials, and photo- and electroluminescent efficiency. In particular, lower HOMO and LUMO energies than those of related compounds were observed, indicating that the perfluorocyclopentene linkage induced a relative ease of hole trapping and the diminution of the band gap. Compound 4, containing spiro-bifluorene unit, exhibits a bright blue emission in a multilayered EL device.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

All experiments were performed under dry N_2 atmospheres using standard Schlenk techniques. All solvents were freshly distilled over appropriate drying reagents prior to use. The starting materials 2-bromo-9,9'-diethylfluorene, 2-bromo-9,9'-dihexylfluorene, and 2-bromo-9,9'-spirobifluorene were prepared according to the literature procedures.⁴ For general experimental details, see the electronic supplementary material.

4.2. Fluorescence quantum yield measurements

The relative quantum yields of PL (Φ_{PL}) for all compounds were determined relative to 9,10-diphenylanthracene (Φ_{PL} = 0.95) as the standard in THF or CH₂Cl₂ at 298 K. A range of concentrations of solution of all compounds and standard were measured such that absorbances were less than 0.10 at the excitation wavelength (λ_{ex} =360 nm). The fluorescence quantum yield was then measured by the previously known process. $^{\rm 14}$

4.3. X-ray crystallographic analysis

Suitable crystals of 1 and 5 were obtained from slow vapor diffusion of benzene/hexane (1:1) into solutions of 1 or 5 in CH₂Cl₂. The crystals of 1 and 5 were attached to glass fibers and mounted on a Bruker SMART diffractometer equipped with graphite monochromated Mo K α (λ = 0.71073 Å) radiation, operating at 50 kV and 30 mA, and a CCD detector; 45 frames of two-dimensional diffraction images were collected and processed to obtain the cell parameters and orientation matrix. All data collections were performed at 173 K. The data collection 2θ ranges for 1 and 5 are 3.32–52.74 and 3.54–56.64, respectively. The first 50 frames were retaken after complete data collection and compared. Both crystals showed no significant decay and no corrections were applied for the decay. The raw data were processed to give structure factors using the SAINT program.¹⁵ Each structure was solved by direction methods and refined by full matrix least squares against F^2 for all data using SHELXTL software (version 5.10).¹⁶ All non-hydrogen atoms in compounds 1 and 5 were anisotropically refined. All hydrogen atoms were placed in idealized positions and refined using a riding model. The crystal system in compound 1 belongs to the monoclinic and $P2_1/c$ space group. One methyl carbon atom of the ethyl groups at the 9-position of the fluorene unit in compound 1 is disordered. The disordered carbon atom was modeled successfully and its contribution to structure factor was included. The crystal system in compound 5 belongs to the triclinic P-1 space group. Crystal data for 1 and 5 are summarized in Table 3. The refined atomic coordinates and anisotropic thermal parameters are included electronic supplementary data. Crystallographic data for the structure reported here have been deposited with the Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre (deposition no. CCDC-609630 for 1, CCDC-609631 for 5). The data can be obtained free of charge via http://www.ccdc. cam.ac.uk./perl/catreq/catreq.cgi (or from the CCDC, 12 Union Road, Cambridge CB2 1EZ, UK; fax: +44 1223 336033; e-mail: deposit@ccdc.cam.ac.uk).

Table 3. Crys	stallographic	data for	1 and 5
---------------	---------------	----------	---------

	1	5
Formula	C ₃₉ H ₃₄ F ₆	$C_{40}H_{36}F_2$
$M_{ m W}$	616.66	554.69
<i>T</i> /K	173(2)	173(2)
Crystal system	Monoclinic	Triclinic
Space group	$P2_1/c$	P-1
a/Å	9.5813(4)	8.5214(10)
b/Å	22.8232(10)	11.8260(14)
c/Å	14.6165(6)	15.5735(18)
α/deg		78.631(2)
β/deg	97.4790(10)	83.042(2)
γ/deg		81.673(2)
V/Å ³	3169.1(2)	1515.4(3)
Z	4	2
μ (Mo K α)/mm ⁻¹	0.098	0.077
Crystal size/mm	0.35×0.30×0.30	0.30×0.30×0.20
Reflections collected	18442	9779
Independent reflections	6437	6809
Goodness-of-fit on F^2	1.153	0.992
Final R1, wR2 $[I > 2\sigma(I)]$	0.0770, 0.1638	0.0573, 0.1252
(All data)	0.1007, 0.1752	0.1225, 0.1522

4.4. Fabrication of electroluminescent devices

The glass substrate, pre-coated with indium-tin-oxide (ITO), was cleaned by an ultrasonic bath of acetone, followed by 2-propanol. Surface treatment was carried out by exposing ITO to a UV-ozone plasma. An OLED using AND (9,10bis(2-naphthyl)anthracene) as host material was fabricated as follows. The hole-injecting layer, a 60 nm thick film of 2TNATA (4,4',4"-tris[N-(2-naphthyl)-N-phenylamino)triphenylamine) was deposited on the ITO surface by high vacuum thermal evaporation, and a 20 nm thickness of NPB (N,N'-di(naphthalen-1-yl)-N,N'-diphenylbenzidine) as holetransporting layer was deposited onto the 2TNATA. Compound 4 was 2 wt % doped into a host AND layer by thermal co-evaporation on the NPB layer. A 20 nm thick Alq₃ (tris(8-hydroxyquinolinato)aluminum(III)) layer was then deposited as an electron transporting layer. Finally, LiF (2 nm) and Al (100 nm) were deposited on top of the organic layers by thermal evaporation. The fabricated multilayer organic light-emitting device had the structure of ITO/ 2TNATA(60 nm)/a-NPB(20 nm)/ADN-compound 4(35 nm)/ Alq₃(20 nm)/LiF(2 nm)/Al(100 nm).

4.5. General syntheses of 1-4

A solution of *n*-BuLi (1.44 mmol, 1.6 M in hexane) was added slowly to the corresponding bromoarenes (1.2 mmol) in THF (25 mL) at -78 °C and stirred for 30 min. To this solution was added octafluorocyclopentene (0.25 mL, 0.6 mmol). Upon addition of octafluorocyclopentene to the lithiated solutions, the color changed rapidly from pale yellow to brown. The reaction mixture was warmed slowly to ambient temperature and stirred overnight. The reaction mixture was poured into water and repeatedly extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (3–50 mL). The combined organic layer was dried over MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated under reduced pressure. The pure corresponding compounds were isolated by chromatographic workup.

4.5.1. 1,2-Bis(9,9'-diethylfluoren-2-yl)-3,3,4,4,5,5-hexa-fluorocyclopentene (1). Yield: 67% (eluent: hexane, R_f =0.15); mp 113–115 °C MS(EI): m/z=618 [M]⁺. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ : 7.67–7.65 (2H, m), 7.60 (2H, d, J=7.81 Hz), 7.35–7.28 (10H, m), 1.94–1.80 (8H, m), 0.24 (12H, t, J=7.34 Hz), ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz) δ : 150.3, 150.2, 143.5, 140.3, 139.6, 128.4, 128.0, 127.0, 126.5, 123.9, 122.9, 120.1, 119.9, 116.6, 56.2, 32.4, 8.4 (C–F resonances not located). Anal. Calcd for C₃₉H₃₄F₆: C, 75.96; H, 5.56. Found: C, 75.81; H, 5.44.

4.5.2. 1,2-Bis(9,9'-dihexylfluoren-2-yl)-3,3,4,4,5,5-hexa-fluorocyclopentene (2). Yield: 67% (eluent: hexane, R_f =0.35); mp 100–103 °C. MS(EI): m/z=841 [M]⁺. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ : 7.64–7.62 (2H, m), 7.58 (2H, d, *J*=7.86 Hz), 7.34–7.29 (10H, m), 1.90–1.74 (8H, m), 1.09–1.03 (8H, m), 1.01–0.94 (16H, m), 0.75 (12H, t, *J*=7.07 Hz), 0.52–0.51 (8H, m), ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz) δ : 151.1, 151.0, 143.1, 139.8, 128.3, 128.0, 126.9, 126.4, 123.8, 122.8, 120.2, 119.9, 55.2, 40.2, 31.5, 29.6, 23.6, 22.5, 13.9 (C–F resonances not located). Anal. Calcd for C₅₅H₆₆F₆: C, 78.54; H, 7.91. Found: C, 78.48; H, 7.85.

4.5.3. 1,2-Bis(anthracen-9-yl)-3,3,4,4,5,5-hexafluorocyclopentene (3). The pure compound **3** was obtained by the recrystallization from CH₂Cl₂ and hexane. Yield: 59%; mp 362–364 °C. MS(EI): m/z=528 [M]⁺. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ : 8.23 (4H, d, J=8.82 Hz), 8.11 (s, 2H), 7.66 (4H, t, J=8.45 Hz), 7.42 (4H, t, J=7.71 Hz), 7.28 (4H, t, J=8.03 Hz), ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz) δ : 130.7, 130.0, 129.6, 128.9, 128.4, 126.1, 125.2 (C–F resonances not located). Anal. Calcd for C₃₃H₁₈F₆: C, 75.00; H, 3.43. Found: C, 74.87; H, 3.39.

4.5.4. 1,2-Bis(9,9'-spirobifluoren-2-yl)-3,3,4,4,5,5-hexa-fluorocyclopentene (4). Yield: 70% (eluent: ethylacetate/hexane (1/20:v/v), R_f =0.25); mp 275–277 °C. MS(EI): m/z= 804 [M]⁺. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ : 7.82 (2H, d, J= 7.66 Hz), 7.73 (4H, d, J=7.63 Hz), 7.60 (2H, d, J=8.02 Hz), 7.40 (2H, t, J=7.49 Hz), 7.25 (6H, t, J=7.11 Hz), 7.15 (2H, t, J=7.51 Hz), 7.08 (4H, t, J=7.50 Hz), 6.66 (2H, d, J=7.59 Hz), 6.55 (4H, d, J=7.53 Hz), 6.50 (2H, s), ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz) δ : 149.6, 148.8, 147.6, 143.8, 141.5, 140.2, 128.9, 128.7, 127.9, 127.8, 127.7, 126.8, 124.9, 123.9, 123.8, 120.6, 120.2, 119.9, 65.7, 53.4, 31.6, 22.6, 14.1 (C–F resonances not located). Anal. Calcd for C₅₅H₃₀F₆: C, 82.08; H, 3.76. Found: C, 82.05; H, 3.59.

4.5.5. Synthesis of 1,2-difluoro-4,5-bis(9,9'-diethvlfluoren-2-yl)benzene (5). Aqueous K₂CO₃ (2.0 M, 3.0 mL) and benzyltrimethylammoniumchloride (30.6 mg, 0.165 mmol) were added to a solution of 1,2-dibromo-4,5-difluorobenzene (444.7 mg, 1.648 mmol) and 2-(9.9-diethyl-9H-fluoren-2-yl)-4,4,5,5-tetramethyl-[1,3,2]dioxaborolane (1435 mg, 4.12 mmol) in toluene (17 mL). The mixture was degassed and tetrakis(triphenylphosphine)palladium (76 mg, 4 mol %) was added in one portion under an atmosphere of N_2 . The reaction mixture was refluxed for 24 h. After the solution cooled, the solvent was evaporated under vacuum and then extracted with CH₂Cl₂. The solution was washed with brine and H₂O, and then dried over MgSO₄. Evaporation of the solvent, followed by column chromatography from hexane, afforded titled product. Yield: 61% (eluent: hexane, $R_f = 0.15$; mp 175–177 °C. MS(EI): m/z = 554 [M]⁺. ¹H ŇMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ: 7.61–7.59 (2H, m), 7.50 (2H, d, J=8.03 Hz), 7.34 (2H, t, J=9.64 Hz), 7.28-7.26 (6H, m), 1.89–1.75 (8H, m), 0.22 (12H, t, J=7.23 Hz), ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz) δ: 150.1, 149.8, 141.0, 140.5, 138.5, 137.8, 128.7, 127.1, 126.8, 124.4, 122.8, 119.6, 119.3, 119.3, 119.2, 119.2, 119.1, 56.0, 32.5, 8.5 (C-F resonances not located). Anal. Calcd for C₄₀H₃₀F₂: C, 86.61; H, 6.54. Found: C, 86.55; H, 6.59.

Acknowledgements

We thank Dr. Bong Ook, Kim (Gracel Display Inc.) for device fabrication. This research was supported by a grant (F0004021) from Information Display R&D Center, one of the 21st Century Frontier R&D Program funded by the Ministry of Commerce, Industry and Energy of Korean government. This work was partially supported by Korea Research Foundation Grant funded by Korea Government (MOEHRD, Basic Research Promotion Fund) (KRF-2005-015-C00232).

Supplementary data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.07.065.

References and notes

- (a) Paw, W.; Cummings, S. D.; Mansour, M. A.; Connick, W. B.; Geiger, D. K.; Eisenberg, R. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* **1998**, *171*, 125; (b) Cummings, S. D.; Eisenberg, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1996**, *118*, 1949; (c) Huertas, S.; Hissler, M.; McGarrah, J. E.; Lachicotte, R. J.; Eisenberg, R. *Inorg. Chem.* **2001**, *40*, 1183; (d) Hissler, M.; Connick, W. B.; Geiger, D. K.; McGarrah, J. E.; Lipa, D.; Lachicotte, R. J.; Eisenberg, R. *Inorg. Chem.* **2000**, *39*, 447.
- (a) Tang, C. W.; Vanslyke, S. A. Appl. Phys. Lett. 1987, 51, 913;
 (b) Baldo, M. A.; O'Brien, D. F.; You, Y.; Shoustikov, A.; Sibley, S.; Thompson, M. E.; Forrest, S. R. Nature 1998, 395, 151; (c) O'Brien, D. F.; Baldo, M. A.; Thompson, M. E.; Forrest, S. R. Appl. Phys. Lett. 1999, 74, 442; (d) Kwong, R. C.; Sibley, S.; Dubovoy, T.; Baldo, M. A.; Forrest, S. R.; Thompson, M. E. Chem. Mater. 1999, 11, 3709; (e) Kwong, R. C.; Laman, S.; Thompson, M. E. Adv. Mater. 2000, 12, 1134; (f) Chen, C. J.; Shi, J. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1998, 171, 161; (g) Hu, N. X.; Esteghamatian, M.; Xie, S.; Popovic, Z.; Hor, A. M.; Ong, B.; Wang, S. Adv. Mater. 1999, 11, 17.
- 3. (a) Mansour, M. A.: Connick, W. B.: Lachicotte, R. J.: Gysling, H. J.; Eisenberg, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 1329; (b) Kunugi, Y.; Mann, K. R.; Miller, L. L.; Exstrom, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 589; (c) Fung, E. Y.; Olmstead, M. M.; Vickery, J. C.; Balch, A. L. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1998, 171, 151; (d) Vickery, J. C.; Olmstead, M. M.; Fung, E. Y.; Balch, A. L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1997, 36, 1179; (e) De Santis, G.; Fabbrizzi, L.; Licchelli, M.; Poggi, A.; Taglietti, A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1996, 35, 202; (f) de Silva, A. P.; Gunaratne, H. Q. N.; Rice, T. E. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1996, 35, 2116; (g) Houlne, M. P.; Agent, T. S.; Kiefer, G. F.; McMillan, K.; Bornhop, D. J. Appl. Spectrosc. 1996, 10, 225; (h) Wong, K. H.; Chan, M. C. W.; Che, C. M. Chem.-Eur. J. 1999, 5, 2845; (i) Wong, W. Y.; Choi, K. H.; Cheah, K. W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 113; (j) Liu, H. Q.; Cheung, T. C.; Che, C. M. Chem. Commun. 1996, 1039; (k) Pang, J.; Marcotte, E. J.-P.; Seward, C.; Brown, R. S.; Wang, S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 4042.
- 4. Liu, X.-M.; He, C.; Huang, J.; Xu, J. *Chem. Mater.* **2005**, *17*, 434 and references cited therein.
- 5. (a) Saitoh, A.; Yamada, N.; Yashima, M.; Okinaka, K.; Senoo, A.; Ueno, K.; Tanaka, D.; Yashiro, R. SID 04 Digest 2004, 35, 150; (b) Shen, W.-J.; Dodda, R.; Wu, C.-C.; Wu, F.-I.; Liu, T.-H.; Chen, C. H.; Shu, C.-F. Chem. Mater. 2004, 16, 930; (c) Kim, Y.-H.; Shin, D.-C.; Kwon, S.-K. Adv. Mater. 2001, 13, 1690; (d) Li, Y.; Fung, M. K.; Xie, Z.; Lee, S.-T.; Hung, L.-S.; Shi, J. Adv. Mater. 2002, 14, 1317; (e) Shih, H.-T.; Lin, C.-H.; Shih, H.-H.; Cheng, C.-H. Adv. Mater. 2002, 14, 1409; (f) Danel, K.; Huang, T.-H.; Lin, J. T.; Tao, Y.-T.; Chuen, C.-H. Chem. Mater. 2002, 14, 3860; (g) Tao, S. L.; Hong, Z. R.; Peng, Z. K.; Ju, W. G.; Zhang, X. H.; Wang, P. F.; Wu, S. K.; Lee, S. T. Chem. Phys. Lett. 2004, 397, 1; (h) Benmansour, H.; Shioya, T.; Sato, Y.; Bazan, G. C. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2003, 13, 883; (i) Shi, J.; Tang, C. W. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2002, 80, 3201; (j) Tao, S.; Peng, Z.; Zhang, X.; Wang, P.; Lee, C.-S.; Lee, S.-T. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2005, 15, 1716.

- (a) Hung, L. S.; Chen, C. H. *Mater. Sci. Eng. R.* 2002, *39*, 143 and references cited therein; (b) *Organic Electroluminescent Materials and Derivatives*; Miyata, S., Nalwa, H. S., Eds.; Gordan and Breach: New York, NY, 1997; (c) Hide, F.; Diaz-Garcia, M. A.; Schartz, B. J.; Heeger, A. J. Acc. Chem. Res. 1997, *30*, 430.
- Vamvounis, G.; Schulz, G. L.; Holdcroft, S. *Macromolecules* 2004, 37, 8897.
- 8. Lee, J. H.; Hwang, D. H. Chem. Commun. 2003, 2836.
- 9. Shi, J.; Tang, C. W. Appl. Phys. Lett. 1997, 70, 1665.
- An, B.-K.; Lee, D.-S.; Lee, J.-S.; Park, Y.-S.; Song, H.-S.; Park, S. Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 10232.
- (a) Heidenhain, S. B.; Sakamoto, Y.; Suzuki, T.; Miura, A.; Fujikawa, H.; Mori, T.; Tokito, S.; Taga, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 10240; (b) Sakamoto, Y.; Suzuki, T.; Miura, A.; Fujikawa, H.; Mori, T.; Tokito, S.; Taga, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 1832.
- Kang, Y.; Park, K.-M.; Kwon, S.-K.; Ko, J. Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst. 2006, 444, 157.
- (a) Irie, M. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 1685 and references cited therein; (b) Tsujioka, T.; Masuda, K. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2003, 83, 4978; (c) Tsujioka, T.; Kondo, H. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2003, 83, 937.
- 14. Demas, J. N.; Crosby, G. A. J. Phys. Chem. 1971, 75, 991.

- 15. Bruker, SMART and SAINT: Area Detector Control and Integration Software Ver. 5.0; Bruker Analytical X-ray Instruments: Madison, WI, 1998.
- Bruker, SHEXTL: Structure Determination Programs Ver. 5.16; Bruker Analytical X-ray Instruments: Madison, WI, 1998.
- 17. Lee, S. H.; Jang, B.-B.; Kafafi, Z. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 9071.
- Choi, H.; Lee, H.; Kang, Y.; Kim, E.; Kang, S. O.; Ko, J. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 8291.
- Salbeck, J.; Yu, N.; Bauer, J.; Weissortel, F.; Estgen, H. Synth. Met. 1997, 91, 209.
- Lakowicz, J. R. Principles of Fluorescence Spectroscopy; Kluwer Academic: New York, NY, 1996.
- 21. Frisch, M. J., et al. *Gaussian 98, revision A6*; Gaussian: Pittsburgh, PA, 1999.
- (a) Lane, P. A.; Palilis, L. C.; O'Brien, D. F.; Giebeler, C.; Cadby, A. J.; Lidzey, D. G.; Campbell, A. J.; Blau, W.; Bradley, D. D. C. *Phys. Rev. B* 2001, *63*, 235206; (b) O'Brien, D. F.; Giebeler, C.; Fletcher, R. B.; Cadby, A. J.; Palilis, L. C.; Lidzey, D. G.; Lane, P. A.; Bradley, D. D. C.; Blau, W. *Synth. Met.* 2001, *116*, 379; (c) Gong, X.; Ostrowski, J. C.; Moses, D.; Bazan, G. C.; Heeger, A. J. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* 2003, *13*, 439; (d) Nuesch, F.; Berner, D.; Tutis, E.; Schaer, M.; Ma, C.; Wang, X.; Zhang, B.; Zuppiroli, L. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* 2005, *15*, 323.